World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 January 20; 11(1): 1-14





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 1 January 20, 2021

META-ANALYSIS

Epidemiological burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 infected children 1

Saha S, Saha S



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 1 January 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Doaa El Amrousy, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Pediatric, Tanta University Hospital, Tanta 31511, Egypt. doaamoha@yahoo.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Yun-Xiaojian Wu; Production Department Director: Xiang Li, Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204						
GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287						
GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240						
PUBLICATION ETHICS https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288						
PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208						
ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE						
STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS						
ONLINE SUBMISSION						

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of WJM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 January 20; 11(1): 1-14

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i1.1

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

META-ANALYSIS

Epidemiological burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 infected children

Sumanta Saha, Sujata Saha

ORCID number: Sumanta Saha 0000-0003-0996-8846; Sujata Saha 0000-0003-2009-6786.

Author contributions: Sumanta Saha prepared the concept and design, performed the data analysis, and drafted the manuscript; Sujata Saha hard edited the manuscript; both authors contributed to the study selection and risk of bias assessment and agree with the content of the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors do not have any conflict of interest to declare.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement:

The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works

Sumanta Saha, National Institute of Epidemiology, Ayapakkam, Chennai, Tamil Nadu 600077, India

Sujata Saha, Department of Mathematics, Mankar College, Mankar 713144, India

Corresponding author: Sumanta Saha, MPH, DNB, MBBS, Doctor, National Institute of Epidemiology, Ayapakkam, Chennai, Tamil Nadu 600077, India. sumanta.saha@uq.net.au

Abstract

BACKGROUND

In the ongoing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, when children remain home-confined secondary to the closure of schools, little is known of the burden of the parents being their index case.

AIM

To determine the prevalence of parents being the index case of COVID-19 infected children.

METHODS

A database search in PubMed and Scopus ensued to recruit studies reporting the index case information of COVID-19 infected individuals aged \leq 18. The reviewed articles' quality evaluation included the use of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's tool. A random-effect meta-analysis ensued to determine the prevalence of the parent being and not-being the index case. Heterogeneity was assessed by I² and Chi² statistics. The publication bias was evaluated by funnel plots and Egger's test.

RESULTS

Overall, this review included 13 eligible studies sourcing data from 622 children of 33 nations. Study designs were heterogeneous and primarily included descriptive reports (38.4%). The prevalence of parent being the index case was 54% (95%CI: 0.29-0.79; *I*²: 62.3%, *Chi*² *P* < 0.001). In > 70% of children, their indexcase parent was symptomatic due to COVID-19 at the time of infection transmitting. Studies for which a risk of bias assessment was possible were of fair quality.

CONCLUSION

There is a substantial global burden of parents being the index case of COVID-19 infected children, and frequently these parents are symptomatic. Therefore, from



on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: India

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: December 3, 2020 Peer-review started: December 3, 2020

First decision: December 11, 2020 Revised: December 17, 2020 Accepted: December 27, 2020 Article in press: December 27, 2020 Published online: January 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Carnevale S, Konakci G, Pan SL S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



a public health perspective, early detection of these parents is crucial.

Key Words: COVID-19 pandemic; COVID-19; Index case epidemiology; Patient zero epidemiology; Pediatrics

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: During the ongoing coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic situation, while schools remain closed and children primarily stay at home, the prevalence of parent to child COVID-19 transmissibility remains unknown. Therefore, this meta-analysis chiefly quantifies this epidemiological burden. Globally, this burden was substantial (about 54%) and was highest in Asia. The majority of these parents (> 70%) were symptomatic. This study highlights the public health importance of early detection of COVID-19 infected parent index cases to decrease transmission to their wards.

Citation: Saha S, Saha S. Epidemiological burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 infected children. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(1): 1-14

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i1/1.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i1.1

INTRODUCTION

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) epidemic that originated in China as a pandemic^[1]. By August 2020, the toll of COVID-19 cases crossed 22 million globally^[2]. Our knowledge of COVID-19 has increased at a remarkably fast pace as new research findings became available. Nevertheless, COVID-19 has been less well studied in children, as their reported number of cases, disease severity, and fatality have been less than the adults^[3,4]. However, as the testing of the disease increased in different nations and because young children often fail to use face masks effectively^[5], the COVID-19 cases in children are rising and it can be severe in children with comorbidities like congenital heart disease and malnutrition^[6]. The inability of the children to report their symptoms or contact history is a major challenge in identifying pediatric COVID-19 infection^[7]. In the ongoing pandemic scenario, while children often stay at home with parents as schools remain closed in various nations^[8], the household transmission risk of the infection from their parents remain high. Moreover, contemporary research^[4] has primarily focused on the possibility of children being the index case and not on the other way around when parents can be the index case. Consequently, it's imperative to investigate the vulnerability of children's infectivity from their parents.

Therefore, in this study, we primarily quantified the epidemiologic burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 transmission in children.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This review report adheres to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guideline^[9] and is registered in the PROSPERO (CRD 42020209006)^[10].

Inclusion criteria

Population: COVID-19 diagnosed children aged ≤ 18 .

Study design: Articles reporting the index cases of the above study population was incorporated. Publications of all types including experimental and observational studies, case reports, case series, letters, descriptive reports, and editorials were eligible.

aishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Exclusion criteria

Studies were excluded if its study population included pregnant females.

Search strategy

The search for title and abstract of articles published in the English language took place in the PubMed and Scopus databases irrespective of the publication date and geographical boundary. The last date of the search was Sep 12, 2020. We also searched the Google search engine and the bibliography of the reviewed articles. The search terms used to search the PubMed were: "index case*" OR "index patient*" OR "patient zero" AND child* OR pediatric* OR infant OR toddler OR Adolescent and "Syndrome Coronavirus 2" OR "coronavirus" OR "COVID-19" OR "COVID 19."

Study selection, data abstraction, and risk of bias assessment

Following the uploading of the database search results to the Rayyan systematic review software^[11] and successive duplicate elimination, we skimmed the remaining excerpts while matching these against the eligibility criteria. Articles likely to meet these criteria or when decision-making was not possible by reading the title and abstracts only, a full-text reading ensued. Salient features like the study design, inclusion criteria, COVID-19 diagnostic method of children and their index case, relation to the index case, the symptom and death information of the index case, and the number of COVID-19 positive children were abstracted using a pre-piloted form.

The risk of bias assessment (RoB) evaluation categorized each study as good, fair, or poor utilizing the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's tool^[12]. For case reports, descriptive reports (not categorizable to any study design), letters, and editorials, we did not perform RoB assessment as validated tools to appraise such articles don't exist. We independently selected studies, abstracted data, and assessed the RoB, and resolved all disagreements by discussion. For experimental studies, the RoB assessment was planned by the Cochrane tool^[13]; however, it was not used as the reviewed studies did not include a clinical trial.

Meta-analysis

Using the random-effect (DerSimonian and Laird) meta-analysis (exact binomial method with Freeman-Tukey double arcsine transformation), we estimated the weighted overall and subgroup prevalence of parents being the index case of COVID-19 infected children. Subgrouping was done by continent, country, COVID-19 diagnostic method used in children and their index case, and the index case's symptom status (symptomatic versus asymptomatic) and death. Heterogeneity was assessed by I² (catego-rized as low, moderate, or high at values of 25%, 50%, and 75%)^[14] and *P* value of *Chi*² statistics (statistically significant at P < 0.1). Exploring the reasons for heterogeneity were not necessary as it was moderate. The publication bias judgment included the use of funnel plots and Egger's test, and sensitivity analysis repeated the meta-analysis while dropping a study each time.

Analytic software Stata (version 16) was used to perform analysis. P < 0.05 and 95% confidence interval (CI) estimate the statistical significance.

RESULTS

Scope of the review

The database search retrieved 51 citations. After eliminating the duplicates, out of the 30 articles skimmed, we read 22 manuscripts in full-text and finally reviewed 13 studies^[15-27] published in 2020 (Figure 1). These articles chiefly constituted of descriptive reports (38.4%) and case series (23.1%). Other article variants were crosssectional study (15.4%), research letter (15.4%), and case report (7.7%). Cumulatively, the studies sourced data of 622 children of 33 nations from four continents (Asia, Europe, North America, and South America).

Primarily the COVID-19 infection in the children was diagnosed by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) (99.7%). The index case was mainly an immediate family member or unknown person (96%) for children whose index case was not their parent (n = 276). Table 1 depicts the salient features of the reviewed articles.

Risk of bias assessment

The cross-sectional and case-series studies were of fair quality (Table 2).



Saha S et al. Parent index cases in COVID-19

Table 1 Sa	lient features of	of the review	ved studies										
			t Study design		Inclusion criteria	COVID-19 diagnosis confirmation in children	Age of	No. of childre	COVID-19 infected n with index case	COVID-19 infec	ted index case/s'		
Ref.	Country	Continent		Study period (2020)			infected children with index case	Parent	Not-parent ¹	Age	COVID-19 diagnosis Ascertainment	Symptoms around the time of contact with children	Death due to COVID- 19 ²
Götzinger et al ^[15] , 2020	21 European nations except France ³	Europe	Case series	1 Apr-24 Apr	≤ 18 yr SARS-CoV- 2 infected individuals	RT-PCR	Median age 5 yr (IQR 5-12)	324	24 (sibling); 234 (immediate family member or unknown)	Unclear	History	Unclear	Unclear
Kim	South Korea	Asia	Cross-	20 Jan- 6	≤ 18 yr SARS-CoV- 2 infosted	RT-PCR	15 yr	0	1 (sibling)	16 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic	No
2020			sectional	Apr	individuals			0	1 [unknown (not parent or sibling)]	Unclear	Unclear	Unclear	Unclear
Luo <i>et al</i> ^[20] , 2020	China	Asia	Case report	NA	NA	RT-PCR	Average 7 yr	2	0	39 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic	No
Merza <i>et al</i> ^[21] , 2020	Iraq	Asia	Case series	18 Mar- 07 April	Hospitalized conformed COVID-19 cases	RT-PCR	Average 11 yr	3	0	45 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic	No
Silva et al ^[22] , 2020	Brazil	South America	Descriptive report	NA	NA	Rapid test	Average 10.5 yr	2	0	2 index cases: Male: 51 yr; female: 42 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic (both)	No
Song <i>et al</i> ^[23] , 2020	China	Asia	Descriptive report	NA	NA	RT-PCR	Average 3.94 yr	5	0	Parents ($n = 3$): Average age 40.33 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic	No
								0	2 (grandparent)	Grandparent (<i>n</i> = 1): 60 yr		Symptomatic	No
Torres <i>et al</i> ^[24] , 2020	Chile	South America	Cross- sectional	NA	All school staff and randomly selected students	RT-PCR	Unclear	0	7 (school staff)	Unclear	RT-PCR	Unclear	Unclear
Yang <i>et al</i> ^[25] , 2020	Taiwan	Asia	Descriptive report	NA	NA	RT-PCR	11 yr	0	1 (grandparent)	85 yr	RT-PCR	Symptomatic	Yes
Yung <i>et al</i> ^[26] , 2020	Singapore	Asia	Case series	5 Mar-30 Apr	Paediatric household contacts of confirmed COVID-19 cases	RT-PCR	Unclear	7 ⁴	2 (grandparent or another adult except parent) ⁵	Unclear	RT-PCR	Unclear	Unclear

Zhang <i>et al</i> ^[27] , 2020	China	Asia	Research letter	28 Jan-15 Mar	Secondary COVID- 19 cases	RT-PCR	Average 3 yr	2	0	Unclear	RT-PCR	One case: Mild symptoms. Other case: Moderate symptom	Unclear
Danis <i>et al</i> ^[17] , 2020	France	Asia	Descriptive report	NA	NA	RT-PCR	9 yr	0	1 (a visitor/tourist)	Unclear	RT-PCR	Yes	No
James <i>et al</i> ^[18] , 2020	United States	North America	Descriptive report	NA	NA	RT-PCR	≤ 18 yr	0	2 (a pastor and his wife)	Two index cases aged 56 and 57 yr	RT-PCR	During contact: Initially asymptomatic, then symptomatic	No
Jung <i>et al^[19],</i> 2020	South Korea	Asia	Research letter	NA	NA	RT-PCR	Average 5.5 yr	1	0	The mother: 40 yr	RT-PCR	During contact asymptomatic (symptomatic after RT-PCR diagnosis)	No
								0	1 (another patient who stayed in the same room)	For 9 years old: Unclear	Unclear	Unclear	Unclear

¹In parenthesis the COVID-19 infected child/children's relation to the index case.

²Upto the time period for which index case data reported or at the time of contact-whichever reported in the reviewed studies.

³Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom. ⁴Either mother or father the index case; another non-parent may be an index case for some of the children.

⁵May also have a parent index case. RT-PCR: Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; NA: Not applicable; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019.

Prevalence estimates

The overall weighted prevalence of parents being the index case of COVID-19 in children was 54% (95%CI: 0.29-0.79; *I*²: 62.3%, *Chi*² *P* < 0.001) (Figure 2). Continent-wise this was highest in Asia (75%; 95%CI: 0.45-0.97), followed by Europe (58%; 95%CI: 0.52-0.63). The index cases' RT-PCR-based COVID-19 diagnosis (60%; 95%CI: 0.20-0.94) was four percentage point higher than a history-based diagnosis (56%; 95%CI: 0.52-0.60). The prevalence of parent-index-case being symptomatic or not dying due to COVID-19 was about 73% each at the time of disease transmission to their children (Table 3).

The crude prevalence of parents not being the index case was 46% (95%CI: 0.21-0.71; I^2 : 62.3%; *Chi*² P < 0.01) (Figure 3). It was substantial in the North (100%) and South (89%) United States. Only 27.0% (95%CI: 0.00-0.67; I^2 : 44.3%) of these cases were symptomatic (Table 4).

Heterogeneity and publication bias

Overall, the heterogeneity was moderate. The funnel plots (Figures 4 and 5) and the Egger's test (index case parent: P = 0.198; index case non-parent: P = 0.488) were not

Table 2 Risk of bias assessment using National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's tool^[12]

Study design: Case series

Ref.			1. Wa or ob state	as the study quo jective clearly d?	estion a i	2. Was the study population clearly and fully described, including a case definition?	3. Were the c consecutive?	4. V ases sub cor	Vere the jects nparable?	5. Was the intervention clearly described?	6. Were the outcome measures clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?	7. Was the length of follow-up adequate?	8. Were statisti methoo well- descrit	e the cal 9. W ds resu well- bed? desc	ere the Its ribed?	Quality rating (Good, fair, or poor)
Götzin	ger <i>et al</i> ^[15] , :	2020	Yes		Ŋ	Yes	CD	Yes		NA	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes		Fair
Merza	et al ^[21] , 2020	0	Yes		Ŋ	Yes	CD	Yes		NA	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes		Fair
Yung e	t al ^[26] , 2020		Yes		Ŋ	Yes	Yes	Yes		NA	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes		Fair
Study	design: Cro	ss-sectional s	tudy													
Ref.	1. Was the research question or objective in this paper clearly stated?	2. Was the study population clearly specified and defined?	3. Was the participation rate of eligible persons at least 50%?	4. Were all the subjects selected or recruited from the same or similar populations (including the same time period)? Were inclusion and exclusion criteria for being in the study prespecified and applied uniformly to all participants?	5. Was a sample s justifica power descript or varia and effe estimate provide	a 6. For the size analyses in tion, this paper, were the tion, exposure(s) nce of interest ect measured es prior to the d? outcome(s) being measured?	7. Was the timeframe sufficient so that one could reasonably expect to see an association between exposure and outcome if it existed?	8. For exposures that can vary in amount or level, did the study examine different levels of the exposure as related to the outcome (<i>e.g.</i> , categories o exposure measured as continuous variable)?	9. Were the exposure measures (independent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?	10. Was the exposure(s) assessed more than once over time?	11. Were the outcome measures (dependent variables) clearly defined, valid, reliable, and implemented consistently across all study participants?	12. Were the outcome assessors blinded to the exposure status of participants?	13. Was loss to follow- up after baseline 20% or less?	14. Were key potential confounding variables measured and adjusted statistically for their impact on the relationship between exposure(s) and outcome(s)?	Qualit (Good poor)	y rating , fair, or
Kim et al ^[16] , 2020	Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	No	No	No	NA	Yes	NA	CD	NA	NA	No	Fair	

Torres Yes	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	No	No	NA	Yes	NA	CD	NA	NA	No	Fair
et al [24]														
2020														

CD: Can't determine; NA: Not applicable.

suggestive of any small study effect.

Sensitivity analysis

On dropping a study each time and repeating the meta-analysis, the prevalence estimates of the parent being the index case ranged between 49%-65%.

DISCUSSION

Altogether, we reviewed the data of 622 children from four different continents. The parents were the index cases in a substantial proportion of COVID-19 infected children and were highest in Asia. In seven out of ten COVID-19 infected children, the index parent case was symptomatic at the time of disease acquiring.

During this COVID-19 pandemic, schools remain closed in several nations, presuming that it would minimize the risk of transmission of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 from children to adults^[8]. Henceforth, children across the globe primarily remain at home, which increases their odds of getting COVID-19 from their parent/s since the latter are at risk of acquiring the disease from the community due to their required outdoor activities. As our findings suggest that a considerable proportion of the parents were the index cases of COVID-19 transmission to their children, their early detection and isolation is crucial to ensure early intervention. However, as we observed the highest global burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 in children in Asian nations, isolation of infected parents may not be unchallenging in these countries since many households lack an adequate number of rooms. Notably, the cities are more population-dense in Asia than those in the rest of the globe^[28].

Strengths and limitations

The chief rigor of this study is its novelty to review an unexplored area of COVID-19 literature. Besides, the evidence synthesized in this paper is likely to be comprehensive as the database search criteria did not restrict to any geographic boundary or date range. Additionally, as we did not exclude from meta-analysis the studies with zero numerators, our estimates plausibly did not compromise with the sample size and power of the analysis. However, there are a few weaknesses in our paper. Mostly the

Table 3 Subgroup wise weighted prevalence of parent being the index case in coronavirus disease 2019 infected children

Prevalence of COVID-19 infected children with parents being the index case

Subgroup	Category	Number of	Number of COVID-19 positive	Number of COVID- 19 positive children with	Weighted COVID-19 children w being the i	prevalence of positive ith parent index case	95% prediction	Heterogeneity measures		
		studies	children	index case	%	95%CI	mervai	₽ (%)	Q (<i>P</i> value)	
Continent	Asia	8	28	20	75.0	0.45-0.97	0.1-1.0	31.8	0.17	
	Europe	2	583	324	58.0	0.52-0.63	Inestimable	-	-	
	North America	1	2	0	0.0	0.00-0.84	Inestimable	-	-	
	South America	2	9	2	11.0	0.00- 0.47	Inestimable	-	-	
Country	21 European nations except France ¹	1	582	324	56.0	0.52-0.60	Inestimable	-	-	
	France	1	1	0	0.0	0.00-0.98	Inestimable	-	-	
	Brazil	1	2	2	100.0	0.16-1.00	Inestimable	-	-	
	Chile	1	7	0	0.0	0.00-0.41	Inestimable	-	-	
	China	3	11	9	87.0	0.54-1.00	Inestimable	-	-	
	Iraq	1	3	3	100.0	0.29-1.00	Inestimable	-	-	
	Singapore	1	9	7	78.0	0.40-0.97	Inestimable	-	-	
	South Korea	2	4	1	18.0	0.00-0.77	Inestimable	-	-	
	Taiwan	1	1	0	0.0	0.00-0.98	Inestimable	-	-	
	United States	1	2	0	0.0	0.00-0.84	Inestimable	-	-	
COVID-19	RT-PCR	12	620	344	50.0	0.24-0.76	0.0-1.0	63.4	0	
children	Rapid Method	1	2	2	100.0	0.16-1.00	Inestimable	-	-	
COVID-19	RT-PCR	10	36	21	60.0	0.20-0.94	0.0-1.0	69.0	0.00	
index case	History	1	582	324	56.0	0.52-0.60	Inestimable	-	-	
	Unclear	2	4	1	18.0	0.00-0.77	Inestimable	-	-	
COVID-19 index	Symptomatic	8	20	14	73.0	0.33-1.00	0.0-1.0	44.2	0.08	
presentation	Unclear	5	602	332	36.0	0.06-0.72	0.0-1.0	77.2	0.00	
COVID-19 index	Died	1	1	0	0.0	0.00-0.98	Inestimable	-	-	
patient mortality	Not died	6	17	12	74.0	0.29-1.00	0.0-1.0	48.5	0.08	
	Unclear	6	604	334	44.0	0.13-0.78	0.0-1.0	74.1	0.00	
Overall	NA	13	622	346	54.0	0.29-0.79	0.0-1.0	62.3	0.00	

¹Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom. RT-PCR: Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; NA: Not applicable; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019.

reviewed articles were not of any particular study design to allow a proper risk of bias assessment. Furthermore, distinguishing index-parents by gender or biological origin (*i.e.*, blood relation or stepparent) was impossible due to the lack of reporting of this information in the reviewed articles. Finally, for deaths among index cases, as we made estimates depending on the period for which the articles reported their data, we could not account for COVID-19-related deaths in them that might have happened beyond this period.

Baishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 4 Subgroup wise weighted prevalence of parent not being the index case in coronavirus disease 2019 infected children

Prevalence of COVID-19 infected children with parents not being the index case

Subgroup	Category	Number of studies	Number of COVID-19 positive	Number of COVID- 19 positive children with parent not being	Weighted p COVID-19 p children wi not being t case	prevalence of positive th parent he index	95% prediction interval	Heterogeneity measures	
			Cinicien	the index case	%	95% CI		₽ (%)	Q (<i>P</i> value)
Continent	Asia	8	28	8	25.0	0.03-0.55	0.0-0.9	31.8	0.17
	Europe	2	583	259	42.0	0.37-0.48	Inestimable	-	-
	North America	1	2	2	100.0	0.16-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
	South America	2	9	7	89.0	0.53-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
Country	21 European nations except France ¹	1	582	258	44.0	0.40-0.48	Inestimable	-	-
	France	1	1	1	100.0	0.03-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
	Brazil	1	2	0	0.0	0.00-0.84	Inestimable	-	-
	Chile	1	7	7	100.0	0.59-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
	China	3	11	2	13.0	0.00-0.46	Inestimable	-	-
	Iraq	1	3	0	0.0	0.00-0.71	Inestimable	-	-
	Singapore	1	9	2	22.0	0.03-0.60	Inestimable	-	-
	South Korea	2	4	3	82.0	0.23-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
	Taiwan	1	1	1	100.0	0.03-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
	United States	1	2	2	100.0	0.16-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
COVID-19	RT-PCR	12	620	276	50.0	0.24-0.76	00-1.0	63.4	0.00
children	Rapid method	1	2	0	0.0	0.00-0.84	Inestimable	-	-
COVID-19	RT-PCR	10	36	15	40.0	0.06-0.80	0.0-1.0	68.9	0.00
index case	History	1	582	258	44.0	0.40-0.48	Inestimable	-	-
	Unclear	2	4	3	82.0	0.23-1.00	Inestimable	-	-
COVID-19 index	Symptomatic	8	20	6	27.0	0.00-0.67	0.0-1.0	44.3	0.08
presentation	Unclear	5	602	270	64.0	0.28-0.94	0.0-1.0	77.2	0.00
Overall	NA	13	622	276	46.0	0.21-0.71	0.0-1.0	62.3	0.00

¹Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Norway, Portugal, Slovakia, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, and the United Kingdom. RT-PCR: Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; NA: Not applicable; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019.

Implications

At present, while we are still learning about the transmission dynamics of COVID-19 in children, this study provides a preliminary estimate of the epidemiological burden of the parents being their index case. Our findings emphasize the importance of isolating COVID-19 positive parents when they are living with their children in the same household to break the chain of transmission. Moreover, as most index case parents were symptomatic, early COVID-19 testing in adults, particularly in those residing with their wards is mandated, to ensure early diagnosis and isolation.

Baishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Saha S et al. Parent index cases in COVID-19



Figure 1 PRISMA diagram^[9].



Proportion

Figure 2 Forest plot depicting the overall weighted prevalence of parent being the index case in coronavirus disease 2019 infected children. The diamond is centred on the summary of the prevalence estimate, and the width indicates the corresponding 95% confidence interval. CI: Confidence interval.

CONCLUSION

In COVID-19 infected children, parents are frequently the index cases than any other individual. A considerable proportion of these parents are expected to be symptomatic when they transmit the disease to their wards. In this context, early detection of COVID-19 infected parents is likely to be a chief public health initiative.



Figure 3 Forest plot depicting the overall weighted prevalence of parent not being the index case in coronavirus disease 2019 infected children. The diamond is centred on the summary of the prevalence estimate, and the width indicates the corresponding 95% confidence interval. CI: Confidence interval.



Figure 4 Funnel plot. Outcome: Parent being the index case of COVID-19 infected children.



Baishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com





ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Presently little is known about the global epidemiological burden of parent-to-child coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) disease transmissibility.

Research motivation

As children primarily remain at home with their parents due to the closure of schools across the globe (presumably to prevent community transmission of COVID-19 by children), it is crucial to know their domestic vulnerability to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection from their parents.

Research objectives

This study chiefly aimed to determine the pooled weighted prevalence of COVID-19 infection among children when the parent/s were their index cases.

Research methods

This meta-analysis incorporated articles reporting about the index case of COVID-19 infected \leq 18 years old children by searching electronic databases. Besides data abstraction and critical appraisal of these studies, using random-effects meta-analysis, the weighted pooled prevalence of parents being and not-being the index case of the COVID-19 infected children was estimated.

Research results

This review included 13 studies published in 2020, reporting about 622 children from Asia, Europe, North America, and South America. Appraisable studies were fair in quality. The crude prevalence of parents being and not being the index cases of COVID-19 infected children were 54% (95%CI: 0.29-0.79; l^2 : 62.3%, $Chi^2 P < 0.001$) and 46% (95%CI: 0.21-0.71; l^2 : 62.3%; $Chi^2 P < 0.01$), respectively. For the former, on subgrouping by continent, the greatest burden was observed in Asia (75%), and most parents were symptomatic (73%).

Research conclusions

During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, a substantial proportion of the COVID-19 infected children acquired the disease from their parents, and the majority of these parents were symptomatic from SARS-CoV-2 infection.

Research perspectives

This research depicts a substantial global burden of parents being the index cases of COVID-19 infected children. It highlights the critical importance of early detection of these index cases.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 - 11 March 2020 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Sep 20]. Available from: https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-mediabriefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020
- 2 Coronavirus Update (Live): 25, 229,932 Cases and 847,706 Deaths from COVID-19 Virus Pandemic - Worldometer [Internet]. [cited 2020 Aug 30]. Available from: https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/#countries
- Ludvigsson JF. Systematic review of COVID-19 in children shows milder cases and a better prognosis than adults. Acta Paediatr 2020; 109: 1088-1095 [PMID: 32202343 DOI: 10.1111/apa.15270]
- 4 Ludvigsson JF. Children are unlikely to be the main drivers of the COVID-19 pandemic A systematic review. Acta Paediatr 2020; 109: 1525-1530 [PMID: 32430964 DOI: 10.1111/apa.15371]
- Wei M, Yuan J, Liu Y, Fu T, Yu X, Zhang ZJ. Novel Coronavirus Infection in Hospitalized Infants 5 Under 1 Year of Age in China. JAMA 2020; 323: 1313-1314 [PMID: 32058570 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.2131]
- Jiang Y, Lu XX, Jin RM, Zheng YJ, Xu BP, Xie ZD, Liu ZS, Lin LK, Shang YX, Shu SN, Bai Y, Lu M, Lu G, Deng JY, Luo WJ, Xiong LJ, Liu M, Cui XX, Ye LP, Gao LW, Wang YY, Wang XF, Li JF, Wang TY, Jiang RM, Li XW, Zhao DC, Shao JB, Yang YH, Shen KL. Novel coronavirus infections: standard/protocol/guideline recommendations for the diagnosis, prevention and control of the 2019 novel coronavirus infection in children (the second edition). Zhongguo Shiyong Erke Linchuang Zazhi 2020; 35: 143-150 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.2095-428X.2020.02.012]
- 7 Lifen Y, Dai Zhenyuan DM, Yang Z, Wanqiu D, Li P, Yating L, Zhuanggui C. Suggestions for medical staff from department of pediatrics during the treatment of 2019-nCoV infection/pneumonia. J NEW Med 2020; 51: 77 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.0253-9802.2020.02.001]
- Munro APS, Faust SN. Children are not COVID-19 super spreaders: time to go back to school. Arch 8 Dis Child 2020; 105: 618-619 [PMID: 32371442 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319474]
- 9 Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, Clarke M, Devereaux PJ, Kleijnen J, Moher D. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 2009; 62: e1-34 [PMID: 19631507 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006]
- Saha S, Saha S. The prevalence of parents being the index case of COVID-19 infection in children 10 and adolescents. [Internet]. PROSPERO 2020 CRD42020209006 [cited 2020 Oct 2]. Available from: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42020209006
- Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for 11 systematic reviews. Syst Rev 2016; 5: 210 [PMID: 27919275 DOI: 10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4]
- Study Quality Assessment Tools | National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) [Internet]. 12 [cited 2020 Jun 14]. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-qualityassessment-tools
- Higgins JPT GS (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 13 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. [Internet]. Cochrane Collab.2011 [cited 2020 Aug 27]. Available from: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/v5.1/
- 14 Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003; 327: 557-560 [PMID: 12958120 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557]
- 15 Götzinger F, Santiago-García B, Noguera-Julián A, Lanaspa M, Lancella L, Calò Carducci FI, Gabrovska N, Velizarova S, Prunk P, Osterman V, Krivec U, Lo Vecchio A, Shingadia D, Soriano-Arandes A, Melendo S, Lanari M, Pierantoni L, Wagner N, L'Huillier AG, Heininger U, Ritz N, Bandi S, Krajcar N, Roglić S, Santos M, Christiaens C, Creuven M, Buonsenso D, Welch SB, Bogyi M, Brinkmann F, Tebruegge M; ptbnet COVID-19 Study Group. COVID-19 in children and adolescents in Europe: a multinational, multicentre cohort study. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020; 4: 653-661 [PMID: 32593339 DOI: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30177-2]
- 16 Kim J, Choe YJ, Lee J, Park YJ, Park O, Han MS, Kim JH, Choi EH. Role of children in household transmission of COVID-19. Arch Dis Child 2020 [PMID: 32769089 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2020-319910]
- Danis K, Epaulard O, Bénet T, Gaymard A, Campoy S, Botelho-Nevers E, Bouscambert-Duchamp 17 M, Spaccaferri G, Ader F, Mailles A, Boudalaa Z, Tolsma V, Berra J, Vaux S, Forestier E, Landelle C, Fougere E, Thabuis A, Berthelot P, Veil R, Levy-Bruhl D, Chidiac C, Lina B, Coignard B, Saura C; Investigation Team. Cluster of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) in the French Alps, February 2020. Clin Infect Dis 2020; 71: 825-832 [PMID: 32277759 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa424]
- 18 James A, Eagle L, Phillips C, Hedges DS, Bodenhamer C, Brown R, Wheeler JG, Kirking H. High



COVID-19 Attack Rate Among Attendees at Events at a Church - Arkansas, March 2020. MMWR *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2020; **69**: 632-635 [PMID: 32437338 DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6920e2]

- 19 Jung J, Hong MJ, Kim EO, Lee J, Kim MN, Kim SH. Investigation of a nosocomial outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019 in a paediatric ward in South Korea: successful control by early detection and extensive contact tracing with testing. Clin Microbiol Infect 2020; 26: 1574-1575 [PMID: 32593744 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.06.021]
- 20 Luo Y, Trevathan E, Qian Z, Li Y, Li J, Xiao W, Tu N, Zeng Z, Mo P, Xiong Y, Ye G. Asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Household Contacts of a Healthcare Provider, Wuhan, China. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26: 1930-1933 [PMID: 32330112 DOI: 10.3201/eid2608.201016]
- Merza MA, Haleem Al Mezori AA, Mohammed HM, Abdulah DM. COVID-19 outbreak in Iraqi 21 Kurdistan: The first report characterizing epidemiological, clinical, laboratory, and radiological findings of the disease. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020; 14: 547-554 [PMID: 32408119 DOI: 10.1016/j.dsx.2020.04.047]
- Silva JHD, Oliveira EC, Hattori TY, Lemos ERS, Terças-Trettel ACP. Description of COVID-19 22 cluster: isolation and testing in asymptomatic individuals as strategies to prevent local dissemination in Mato Grosso state, Brazil, 2020. Epidemiol Serv Saude 2020; 29: e2020264 [PMID: 32725053 DOI: 10.5123/s1679-49742020000400005]
- Song R, Han B, Song M, Wang L, Conlon CP, Dong T, Tian D, Zhang W, Chen Z, Zhang F, Shi M, 23 Li X. Clinical and epidemiological features of COVID-19 family clusters in Beijing, China. J Infect 2020; 81: e26-e30 [PMID: 32335171 DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.018]
- Torres JP, Piñera C, De La Maza V, Lagomarcino AJ, Simian D, Torres B, Urquidi C, Valenzuela 24 MT, O'Ryan M. SARS-CoV-2 antibody prevalence in blood in a large school community subject to a Covid-19 outbreak: a cross-sectional study. Clin Infect Dis 2020 [PMID: 32649743 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa955]
- 25 Yang MC, Hung PP, Wu YK, Peng MY, Chao YC, Su WL. A three-generation family cluster with COVID-19 infection: should quarantine be prolonged? Public Health 2020; 185: 31-33 [PMID: 32526560 DOI: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.043]
- 26 Yung CF, Kam KQ, Chong CY, Nadua KD, Li J, Tan NWH, Ganapathy S, Lee KP, Ng KC, Chan YH, Thoon KC. Household Transmission of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 from Adults to Children. J Pediatr 2020; 225: 249-251 [PMID: 32634405 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.07.009]
- Zhang W, Cheng W, Luo L, Ma Y, Xu C, Qin P, Zhang Z. Secondary Transmission of Coronavirus 27 Disease from Presymptomatic Persons, China. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26: 1924-1926 [PMID: 32453686 DOI: 10.3201/eid2608.201142]
- Un-Habitat. Planning and design for sustainable urban mobility: Global report on human 28 settlements 2013 [Internet]. 2013. Available from: http://mirror.unhabitat.org/pmss/getElectronicVersion.aspx?nr=3503&alt=1 [DOI: 10.4324/9781315857152]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 March 20; 11(2): 15-22





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Methodology

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 2 March 20, 2021

MINIREVIEWS

Olfactory dysfunction in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides: A review of the 15 literature

Pendolino AL, Kaura A, Navaratnam AV, Pendolino M, Bianchi G, Unadkat S, Ottaviano G, Randhawa PS, Andrews PJ



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 2 March 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Niccola Funel, MSC, PhD, PhD, Department of Translational Research and The New Technologies in Medicine and Surgery, Division of Surgical Pathology, University of Pisa, Italy, Via Paradisa 2, 56124, Pisa, Italy. niccola.funel@phd.unipi.it

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Methodology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2222-0682 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
September 26, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Gerhard Litscher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
March 20, 2021	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
СОРУРІСНТ	
© 2021 Brichideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com
© 2021 Dasindeng Fublishing Group Inc	https://www.topublishing.com

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WIM

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 March 20; 11(2): 15-22

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i2.15

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Olfactory dysfunction in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodyassociated vasculitides: A review of the literature

Alfonso Luca Pendolino, Anika Kaura, Annakan V Navaratnam, Monica Pendolino, Gerolamo Bianchi, Samit Unadkat, Giancarlo Ottaviano, Premjit S Randhawa, Peter J Andrews

ORCID number: Alfonso Luca Pendolino 0000-0002-6348-5303; Anika Kaura 0000-0003-3563-5164: Annakan V Navaratnam 0000-0001-7387-9464; Monica Pendolino 0000-0000-0000-0001; Gerolamo Bianchi 0000-0000-0000-0002; Samit Unadkat 0000-0003-4929-7178; Giancarlo Ottaviano 0000-0003-2433-4761; Premjit S Randhawa 0000-0002-3024-3543; Peter J Andrews 0000-0001-5731-3276.

Author contributions: Pendolino AL designed the study, performed the literature search and wrote the paper; Kaura A prepared the table and reviewed the paper; Navaratnam AV, Pendolino M, Bianchi G. Unadkat S. Randhawa PS and Ottaviano G reviewed the paper; Andrews PJ coordinated the writing of the paper and reviewed the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

There is no conflict of interest associated with any of the senior author or other co-authors contributed their efforts in this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution

Alfonso Luca Pendolino, Anika Kaura, Annakan V Navaratnam, Samit Unadkat, Premjit S Randhawa, Peter J Andrews, Department of Ear, Nose and Throat, Royal National ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals, London WC1E 6DG, United Kingdom

Alfonso Luca Pendolino, Anika Kaura, Peter J Andrews, Ear Institute, University College London, London WC1X 8EE, United Kingdom

Monica Pendolino, Gerolamo Bianchi, Division of Rheumatology, Department of Locomotor System, ASL 3, Genoa 16121, Italy

Giancarlo Ottaviano, Department of Neurosciences DNS, Otolaryngology Section, University of Padua, Padua 35128, Italy

Corresponding author: Alfonso Luca Pendolino, MD, Academic Fellow, Surgeon, Department of Ear, Nose and Throat, Royal National ENT and Eastman Dental Hospitals, 47-49 Huntley Street, Bloomsbury, London WC1E 6DG, United Kingdom. alfonso.pendolino@nhs.net

Abstract

Olfactory dysfunction (OD) has been described in patients with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides (AAV), but the underlying mechanisms are not completely understood. The causes of altered smell function can generally be divided into conductive, sensorineural or others. To date no specific treatment is available for AAV-related OD and the efficacy of currently available options has not been explored. The aim of this review is to provide an overview of the causes that may lead to OD in patients with AAV. Current available treatments for OD and possible options in patients with AAV presenting with smell impairment are also mentioned.

Key Words: Smell; Olfactory dysfunction; Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitis diseases; Granulomatosis with polyangiitis; Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis; Microscopic polyangiitis

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: December 19, 2020 Peer-review started: December 19, 2020

First decision: December 31, 2020 Revised: January 2, 2021 Accepted: February 19, 2021 Article in press: February 19, 2021 Published online: March 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Rolla G S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



Core Tip: Olfactory dysfunction may develop during the course of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides. Typically, this is caused by a combination of active and chronic sinonasal inflammation causing necrosis and atrophic changes in the nasal mucosa, sensorineural involvement as well as other systemic factors. Systemic treatment of the vasculitis, control of coexisting rhinosinusitis, and management of nasal complications are recommended and could lead to an improvement in olfactory function.

Citation: Pendolino AL, Kaura A, Navaratnam AV, Pendolino M, Bianchi G, Unadkat S, Ottaviano G, Randhawa PS, Andrews PJ. Olfactory dysfunction in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides: A review of the literature. World J Methodol 2021; 11(2): 15-22

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i2/15.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i2.15

INTRODUCTION

The antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA)-associated vasculitides (AAV) are multi-system autoimmune disorders, characterised by necrotising inflammation of the small to medium sized vessels with the presence of serum antibodies targeting cytoplasmic components of neutrophils. These antibodies specifically target proteinase 3 (PR3) and myeloperoxidase (MPO), contributing to a cytoplasmic or perinuclear pattern in indirect immunofluorescence staining respectively.

The American College of Rheumatology in 1990 classified granulomatous diseases into either granulomatosis with polyangiitis (GPA) and eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis (EGPA)^[1,2]. Further to this, definitions for AAV were formulated at the Chapel Hill Consensus Conference in 1994 and later revised in 2012 and comprise GPA, EGPA and microscopic polyangiitis^[3].

Ear, nose and throat involvement has been reported to be the second most common site after the lungs, and often precedes the diagnosis of AAV by many months^[4]. The nose and paranasal sinuses, in particular, are the most frequently affected sites in the head and neck, representing 64% to 80% of the cases. Of importance, the nose has been shown to be the only affected site in about 30% of the GPA patients and hence a high index of suspicion is warranted^[5].

Common manifestations of AAV in the nose include epistaxis, crusting and nasal polyps, or septal perforation and saddle nose deformity in the more severe cases. Impairment of sense of smell has also been described in patients with AAV, but the mechanisms underlying the olfactory dysfunction (OD) are not completely understood.

The aim of this review is to provide an overview of the causes that can lead to OD in patients with AAV. Current available treatments for OD and possible options in patients with AAV presenting with smell impairment are also mentioned.

CURRENT FINDINGS ON OLFACTORY DYSFUNCTION IN ANCA-ASSOCIATED VASCULITIDES

The involvement of the olfactory system in AAV has been reported by several authors, even if most of the available findings refer to GPA. Subjective assessment of olfaction and taste showed that patients with GPA are aware of their diminished chemosensory functions^[6]. Göktas et al^[7] found that chemical senses (*i.e.* olfactory, gustatory and trigeminal functions) are affected consistently and to a similar extent in GPA patients when they are assessed by means of psychophysical tests (e.g. Sniffin' sticks or the University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test)^[7]. Proft et al^[8] observed that 75% of their patients with GPA were found to be hyposmic at Sniffin' sticks; a similar prevalence of olfactory impairment (74%) in GPA patients was also reported by Zycinska et al^[9]. In a retrospective analysis conducted on 230 GPA patients, Kühn et al^[10] found that the majority of them were hyposmic (62%) with only 18% showing a preserved sense of smell (normosmia) and 20% having a complete smell loss



(anosmia). Fasunla et al^[6] found that GPA patients were hyposmic with reduced scores in all the olfactory subset tests (identification, discrimination and threshold) when compared to the sex and age-matched healthy control group. These finding were later replicated by other authors^[8,9,11].

Very little has been published on olfactory dysfunction in EGPA patients. In 2014 Tallab et al^[12] reported a case of EGPA presenting with total loss of sense of smell measured by University of Pennsylvania Smell Identification Test, which appeared before the onset of other disease symptoms, suggesting that OD may precede the clinical symptoms^[12].

To the best of our knowledge no cases of OD have been described in patients with microscopic polyangiitis.

CAUSES OF OLFACTORY DYSFUNCTION

The lower scores found by several authors in both the identification, discrimination and threshold olfactory subsets tests^[8,9] may suggest that mechanisms leading to OD in AAV could be multifactorial^[13].

Causes of altered olfactory function can generally be divided into: (1) Conductive, which include recurrent sinonasal inflammation, crusting, granuloma formation, bone structure damage, necrosis or atrophic changes in the mucous membrane; (2) Sensorineural, with a central or a peripheral neural involvement (focal ischemic changes and cranial nerve damage); and (3) Other factors, including systemic factors, concurrent surgery, the use of local (antibiotic ointments) or systemic immunosuppressive drugs^[11].

However, and this is probably the most common situation, OD may result as a combination of two or more of the previously described mechanisms. Table 1 summarises the causes and mechanisms involved in the development of AAV-OD.

OLFACTORY DYSFUNCTION DUE TO CONDUCTIVE CAUSES

Sinonasal involvement has been reported to be the most frequent ear, nose and throat manifestation in patients with GPA^[14]. Nasal ulceration, crusting and scarring are frequently seen in patients with AAV, especially in GPA^[10], and in turn may cause a mechanical obstruction for odorants to reach the olfactory cleft, thus contributing to an altered sense of smell. However, Proft et al^[8] found no correlation between OD and the aforementioned nasal manifestations, indicating that the decrease in olfactory function could be a consequence of the inflammatory disease in the nose rather than the local manifestation (bloody nasal discharge, crusts, granulomata). Similarly, none of the patients with localised disease had a higher degree of OD^[11]. Therefore, active and chronic inflammation (rhinosinusitis) in GPA patients seems to be the more likely cause for the reported OD^[9]. Due to the peculiar location of the olfactory fibres in the nose, smell impairment can result as an extension of the mucosal inflammation in the olfactory cleft and to the olfactory receptor cells. Reduction of sense of smell, in fact, is frequently reported in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis (CRS) and it is one of the main symptoms that can aid diagnosis of CRS^[14]. As a confirmation of that, OD has been found to be common in GPA patients with increased crusting, pathological granulation but also a higher Lund-MacKay score (a score used for radiologic staging of CRS)^[9].

Additionally, the colonisation of the affected nasal mucosa with bacteria such as Staphylococcus aureus may lead to recurrent nasal infections and further nasal inflammation. Having said that, no correlation between olfactory function and colonisation with Staphylococcus aureus was found^[15].

Finally, septal perforations (commonly found in the more severe cases of GPA) can potentially cause OD by altering the flow of air and odour molecules into the olfactory cleft. However, Fasunla et al^[6] did not identify any significant difference in olfactory performance assessed by means of Sniffin' Sticks (TDI score) between patients with or without septal perforation^[6].

OLFACTORY DYSFUNCTION DUE TO SENSORINEURAL CAUSES

Cranial nerve involvement in patients with AAV is widely described^[16-18]. In particular,



Table 1 Ca dysfunctio	uses and me	chanisms involved in the development of antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides olfactory						
Ref.	Population	Findings						
Conductive	causes							
Laudien <i>et al</i> ^[11] , 2009	76 GPA patients	No correlation between localised disease and a higher degree of olfactory dysfunction						
Laudien <i>et al</i> ^[15] , 2010	89 GPA patients	No correlation between olfactory function and colonisation with Staphylococcus aureus						
Fasunla et al ^[6] , 2012	16 GPA patients	No difference in the olfactory performance between patients with and without septal perforation						
Proft <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014	44 GPA patients	Decrease in olfactory function could be a consequence of the inflammatory disease in the nose rather than the local manifestations (bloody nasal discharge, crusting, granulomata)						
Zycinska <i>et al^[9],</i> 2016	43 GPA patients	Active and chronic sinonasal inflammation (rhinosinusitis) in GPA patients seems to be the more likely cause for the reported olfactory dysfunction. Olfactory dysfunction is more common in GPA patients with increased crusting, pathological granulation but also a higher Lund-MacKay score						
Sensorineural causes								
Fauci <i>et al</i> ^[17] , 1983	85 GPA patients	Cranial nerve involvement reported in 7.4% of GPA patients						
Nishino <i>et al^[18],</i> 1993	324 GPA patients	Cranial nerves involvement reported in 6.5% of GPA patients even if first cranial nerve was rarely involved						
Other factor	°S							
Laudien <i>et al</i> ^[11] , 2009	76 GPA patients	GPA patients receiving local mupirocin treatment showed no olfactory dysfunction. No correlation between kidney involvement and smell function						
Göktas <i>et al</i> ^[7] , 2010	9 GPA patients	Neither the disease duration nor the age appear to influence smell function						
Fasunla et al ^[6] , 2012	16 GPA patients	No correlation between kidney involvement and smell function. GPA patients with and without past history of sinonasal operations did not show any significant difference in sense of smell						
Proft <i>et al</i> ^[8] , 2014	44 GPA patients	GPA patients with elevated CRP values showed lower scores from smell tests. GPA patients with a higher extent of damage showed a tendency for reduced scores only for the threshold, but not for the identification, the discrimination or the total score (TDI score). No correlation between kidney involvement and smell function. GPA patients under therapy with azathioprine showed significantly lower scores only for odour discrimination. GPA patients undergoing low-dose GC therapy showed a tendency for lower thresholds scores compared to patients without GC therapy						
Tallab <i>et al</i> ^[12] , 2014	1 EGPA patient	Subjective improvement of smell function after immunosuppressive therapy						

GPA: Granulomatosis with polyangiitis; EGPA: Eosinophilic granulomatosis with polyangiitis; CRP: C-reactive protein; GC: Glucocorticoids.

GPA has repeatedly been associated with peripheral and cranial nerve neuropathies^[16]. Fauci *et al*^[17] found that 7.4% (8/85) of GPA patients had cranial nerve involvement whereas Nishino *et al*^[18] reported a lower prevalence of 6.5% in their retrospective series of 324 GPA patients. Nevertheless, involvement of the first cranial nerve seems to be rare^[18]. Theoretically, the olfactory nerve may be either involved by (1) Continuity, especially from nasal and skull base granulomas that can influence the neural transduction in afferent pathways; (2) By vasculitic involvement of small vessels surrounding the cranial nerves, resulting in mononeuritis multiplex; and (3) By the adverse influences of the disease on neurotransmitter systems involved in sensory modulation^[12,18].

Baishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

OTHER FACTORS INFLUENCING OLFACTORY FUNCTION

As with other autoimmune diseases, systemic factors could contribute to a lowering of the chemosensory function^[19-21]. The active autoimmune processes and the linked cytokine secretion can potentially create a pro-inflammatory environment which can lead to olfactory neuronal damage, subsequent neuronal apoptosis^[22] and finally leading to an olfactory function limitation. This hypothesis is supported by previous data from mice models, which showed that proinflammatory cytokines, like the tumour necrosis factor, can directly alter olfactory neuron function^[23] and suppress neuroepithelial regeneration^[24]. Moreover, lower scores from smell tests have been reported in GPA patients with elevated C-reactive protein values^[8]. However, due to the lack of data in GPA patients undergoing olfactory epithelial biopsies, no definitive conclusions can be drawn on the role of immunologic mechanisms in OD in GPA patients or, more generally, in AAV.

Renal insufficiency is known to alter sense of smell^[25] and renal function is commonly impaired in patients with AAV. Thus, this could account for OD in AAV patients. However, even though some authors have observed that non-AAV patients with chronic renal failure show OD with lower identification, discrimination and thresholds scores^[25,26], no correlation between kidney involvement and smell function was found in GPA patients^[6,8,11]. Similarly, no correlation between other organ involvement (eyes, ear, nose, throat, lung, or kidneys) and olfactory function has been reported in the same population^[8,11].

The role of disease severity and duration in olfactory impairment is still not clear. Proft *et al*^[8] found that GPA patients with a higher extent of damage (measured by the Vasculitis Damage Index score) showed a tendency for reduced scores only for the threshold, but not for the identification, the discrimination or the total score (TDI score) at Sniffin' sticks. Conversely, neither the disease duration nor the age appear to influence smell function^[7].

Drug-induced OD has been widely described^[27-29]. Damage to the chemosensory functions secondary to immunomodulatory drugs has been reported by different authors although the exact mechanism through which these drugs can induce olfactory damage is unclear. An impairment of fast regenerating tissue (olfactory epithelium) by chemotherapeutic agents has been hypothesised^[8,30]. Furthermore, the role of the tumour necrosis factor-alpha-inhibitors or methotrexate on smell was investigated in patients suffering from rheumatoid arthritis but no significant differences in smell between users and non-users of these medications were found^[31]. Nevertheless, GPA patients under therapy with azathioprine showed significantly lower scores only for odour discrimination at the Sniffin' sticks subtest^[8]. Conversely, Tallab et al^[12] reported a subjective improvement of smell and taste function after immunosuppressive therapy in a patient with EGPA.

Mupirocin is commonly used as a topical antibiotic in AAV patients presenting with crusting and recurrent nasal infections. In this regard, no olfactory dysfunction was observed by Laudien et al^[11] in 25 GPA patients receiving local mupirocin treatment.

Oral glucocorticoids (GC) represent a keystone in medical treatment in patients with AAV. While systemic GC improve the sense of smell in patients with rhinosinusitis^[28] and high dose GC is used to treat olfactory disorders^[32,33], low-dose GC has been shown to probably reduce the peripheral olfactory function^[31]. Proft *et al*^[8] found that GPA patients undergoing low-dose GC therapy showed a tendency for lower thresholds scores compared to patients without GC therapy. Similarly, low-dose GC in rheumatoid arthritis significantly affects thresholds and TDI scores, but not odour identification and discrimination^[31].

Finally, the prolonged and complicated wound healing observed in some AAV patients undergoing nasal surgery could lead to an impairment of the chemosensory function. However, Fasunla *et al*^[6] did not find any significant difference in sense of smell when GPA patients with and without past history of sinonasal operations were compared.

CURRENT AVAILABLE TREATMENTS

To date no specific treatment is available for AAV-related OD and the efficacy of treatment options currently adopted for smell impairment has not been explored. Moreover, the lack of a deep understanding of the underlying mechanisms leading to smell loss in this category of patients is limiting the development of more targeted therapies.



In our experience, if a patient presents with nasal crusting or epistaxis, control of the nasal manifestations should be first achieved to rule out any mechanical obstruction (conductive cause) leading to smell impairment. If polyps or mucosal oedema are present, the use of GC, either systemically or topical, should be considered in order to reduce the inflammatory component^[33]. However, while indications for oral GC for OD in AAV patients may be reviewed in light of the previously described findings^[8,31], the use of topical GC should be weighed up in patients presenting with crusting and epistaxis due to the possibility of an increased risk of bleeding and mucosal dryness with subsequent crusting and local infections. Management of septal perforations, either conservatively or surgically^[34,35], should be considered due to the possible relationship between airflow alteration and the consequent obstacle for odour molecules to reach the olfactory cleft. Importantly, if surgical closure of the perforation is planned, it should only be performed when the disease is in remission so as to minimise complications^[34].

Smell training can also be considered a potential therapy in AAV patients reporting persistent smell impairment, especially where no other conductive causes can be identified. It is a cost-effective and safe therapy which involves repeated and deliberate sniffing of a set of odorants (commonly lemon, rose, cloves, and eucalyptus) for 20 s each, at least twice a day for a minimum of 3 mo. Smell training is currently recommended in patients with olfactory loss from several aetiologies, even if its effectiveness in patients with AAV has not been explored so far^[33].

Other treatments, including phosphodiesterase inhibitors, intranasal calcium buffers, vitamin A, zinc or multivitamins have been described but they are not routinely recommended because of the lack of sufficient evidence^[33].

CONCLUSION

This review confirms that OD may develop during the course of AAV. The current literature suggests that olfactory impairment is more frequent in patients with GPA, although a possible bias related to the scarcity of papers about smell loss in patients with EGPA and MPA must be taken into account.

Several mechanisms can lead to smell loss in AAV patients, and in most cases, this arises from a combination of different causes. Systemic treatment of the vasculitis, control of a coexisting rhinosinusitis, and management of nasal complications may improve olfactory function, and should be considered in all patients. To date no specific treatment for olfactory improvement in this particular group of patients has been identified. In the future, cytological and histological studies of the affected olfactory mucosa should be encouraged in order to better understand the mechanisms underlying the OD in AAV.

REFERENCES

- Leavitt RY, Fauci AS, Bloch DA, Michel BA, Hunder GG, Arend WP, Calabrese LH, Fries JF, Lie JT, Lightfoot RW Jr. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of Wegener's granulomatosis. Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33: 1101-1107 [PMID: 2202308 DOI: 10.1002/art.1780330807]
- 2 Masi AT, Hunder GG, Lie JT, Michel BA, Bloch DA, Arend WP, Calabrese LH, Edworthy SM, Fauci AS, Leavitt RY. The American College of Rheumatology 1990 criteria for the classification of Churg-Strauss syndrome (allergic granulomatosis and angiitis). Arthritis Rheum 1990; 33: 1094-1100 [PMID: 2202307 DOI: 10.1002/art.1780330806]
- Jennette JC, Falk RJ, Bacon PA, Basu N, Cid MC, Ferrario F, Flores-Suarez LF, Gross WL, Guillevin L, Hagen EC, Hoffman GS, Jayne DR, Kallenberg CG, Lamprecht P, Langford CA, Luqmani RA, Mahr AD, Matteson EL, Merkel PA, Ozen S, Pusey CD, Rasmussen N, Rees AJ, Scott DG, Specks U, Stone JH, Takahashi K, Watts RA. 2012 revised International Chapel Hill Consensus Conference Nomenclature of Vasculitides. Arthritis Rheum 2013; 65: 1-11 [PMID: 23045170 DOI: 10.1002/art.37715
- Wojciechowska J, KręCicki T. Clinical characteristics of patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis and microscopic polyangiitis in ENT practice: a comparative analysis. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital 2018; 38: 517-527 [PMID: 30623897 DOI: 10.14639/0392-100X-1776]
- Alam DS, Seth R, Sindwani R, Woodson EA, Rajasekaran K. Upper airway manifestations of granulomatosis with polyangiitis. Cleve Clin J Med 2012; 79 Suppl 3: S16-S21 [PMID: 23203639 DOI: 10.3949/ccjm.79.s3.04]
- Fasunla JA, Hundt W, Lutz J, Förger F, Thürmel K, Steinbach S. Evaluation of smell and taste in patients with Wegener's granulomatosis. Eur Arch Otorhinolarvngol 2012; 269: 179-186 [PMID:



21748655 DOI: 10.1007/s00405-011-1691-y]

- 7 Göktas O, Cao Van H, Fleiner F, Lacroix JS, Landis BN. Chemosensory function in Wegener's granulomatosis: a preliminary report. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2010; 267: 1089-1093 [PMID: 20043173 DOI: 10.1007/s00405-009-1184-4]
- 8 Proft F, Steinbach S, Dechant C, Witt M, Reindl C, Schulz S, Vielhauer V, Hilge R, Laubender RP, Manger K, Nüsslein H, Wendler J, Schuch F, Schulze-Koops H, Grunke M. Gustatory and olfactory function in patients with granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's). Scand J Rheumatol 2014; 43: 512-518 [PMID: 25204208 DOI: 10.3109/03009742.2014.915056]
- Zycinska K, Straburzynski M, Nitsch-Osuch A, Krupa R, Hadzik-Błaszczyk M, Cieplak M, Wardyn 9 K. Prevalence of Olfactory Impairment in Granulomatosis with Polyangiitis. Adv Exp Med Biol 2016; 878: 1-7 [PMID: 26269029 DOI: 10.1007/5584_2015_164]
- 10 Kühn D, Hospowsky C, Both M, Hey M, Laudien M. Manifestation of granulomatosis with polyangiitis in head and neck. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2018; 36 Suppl 111: 78-84 [PMID: 29799391]
- 11 Laudien M, Lamprecht P, Hedderich J, Holle J, Ambrosch P. Olfactory dysfunction in Wegener's granulomatosis. Rhinology 2009; 47: 254-259 [PMID: 19839246 DOI: 10.4193/Rhin08.159]
- 12 Tallab HF, Doty RL. Anosmia and hypogeusia in Churg-Strauss syndrome. BMJ Case Rep 2014; 2014 [PMID: 24825557 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2014-203959]
- Whitcroft KL, Cuevas M, Haehner A, Hummel T. Patterns of olfactory impairment reflect 13 underlying disease etiology. Laryngoscope 2017; 127: 291-295 [PMID: 27556251 DOI: 10.1002/lary.26229]
- 14 Fokkens WJ, Lund VJ, Hopkins C, Hellings PW, Kern R, Reitsma S, Toppila-Salmi S, Bernal-Sprekelsen M, Mullol J, Alobid I, Terezinha Anselmo-Lima W, Bachert C, Baroody F, von Buchwald C, Cervin A, Cohen N, Constantinidis J, De Gabory L, Desrosiers M, Diamant Z, Douglas RG, Gevaert PH, Hafner A, Harvey RJ, Joos GF, Kalogjera L, Knill A, Kocks JH, Landis BN, Limpens J, Lebeer S, Lourenco O, Meco C, Matricardi PM, O'Mahony L, Philpott CM, Ryan D, Schlosser R, Senior B, Smith TL, Teeling T, Tomazic PV, Wang DY, Wang D, Zhang L, Agius AM, Ahlstrom-Emanuelsson C, Alabri R, Albu S, Alhabash S, Aleksic A, Aloulah M, Al-Qudah M, Alsaleh S, Baban MA, Baudoin T, Balvers T, Battaglia P, Bedoya JD, Beule A, Bofares KM, Braverman I, Brozek-Madry E, Richard B, Callejas C, Carrie S, Caulley L, Chussi D, de Corso E, Coste A, El Hadi U, Elfarouk A, Eloy PH, Farrokhi S, Felisati G, Ferrari MD, Fishchuk R, Grayson W, Goncalves PM, Grdinic B, Grgic V, Hamizan AW, Heinichen JV, Husain S, Ping TI, Ivaska J, Jakimovska F, Jovancevic L, Kakande E, Kamel R, Karpischenko S, Kariyawasam HH, Kawauchi H, Kjeldsen A, Klimek L, Krzeski A, Kopacheva Barsova G, Kim SW, Lal D, Letort JJ, Lopatin A, Mahdjoubi A, Mesbahi A, Netkovski J, Nyenbue Tshipukane D, Obando-Valverde A, Okano M, Onerci M, Ong YK, Orlandi R, Otori N, Ouennoughy K, Ozkan M, Peric A, Plzak J, Prokopakis E, Prepageran N, Psaltis A, Pugin B, Raftopulos M, Rombaux P, Riechelmann H, Sahtout S, Sarafoleanu CC, Searyoh K, Rhee CS, Shi J, Shkoukani M, Shukuryan AK, Sicak M, Smyth D, Sindvongs K, Soklic Kosak T, Stjarne P, Sutikno B, Steinsvag S, Tantilipikorn P, Thanaviratananich S, Tran T, Urbancic J, Valiulius A, Vasquez de Aparicio C, Vicheva D, Virkkula PM, Vicente G, Voegels R, Wagenmann MM, Wardani RS, Welge-Lussen A, Witterick I, Wright E, Zabolotniy D, Zsolt B, Zwetsloot CP. European Position Paper on Rhinosinusitis and Nasal Polyps 2020. Rhinology 2020; 58: 1-464 [PMID: 32077450 DOI: 10.4193/Rhin20.600]
- Laudien M, Gadola SD, Podschun R, Hedderich J, Paulsen J, Reinhold-Keller E, Csernok E, Ambrosch P, Hellmich B, Moosig F, Gross WL, Sahly H, Lamprecht P. Nasal carriage of Staphylococcus aureus and endonasal activity in Wegener s granulomatosis as compared to rheumatoid arthritis and chronic Rhinosinusitis with nasal polyps. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2010; 28: 51-55 [PMID: 20412703]
- de Groot K, Schmidt DK, Arlt AC, Gross WL, Reinhold-Keller E. Standardized neurologic 16 evaluations of 128 patients with Wegener granulomatosis. Arch Neurol 2001; 58: 1215-1221 [PMID: 11493161 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.58.8.1215]
- 17 Fauci AS, Haynes BF, Katz P, Wolff SM. Wegener's granulomatosis: prospective clinical and therapeutic experience with 85 patients for 21 years. Ann Intern Med 1983; 98: 76-85 [PMID: 6336643 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-98-1-76]
- 18 Nishino H, Rubino FA, DeRemee RA, Swanson JW, Parisi JE. Neurological involvement in Wegener's granulomatosis: an analysis of 324 consecutive patients at the Mayo Clinic. Ann Neurol 1993; 33: 4-9 [PMID: 8388187 DOI: 10.1002/ana.410330103]
- 19 Delaney P, Henkin RI, Manz H, Satterly RA, Bauer H. Olfactory sarcoidosis. Report of five cases and review of the literature. Arch Otolaryngol 1977; 103: 717-724 [PMID: 588127 DOI: 10.1001/archotol.1977.00780290053006
- 20 Rasmussen N, Brofeldt S, Manthorpe R. Smell and nasal findings in patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome. Scand J Rheumatol Suppl 1986; 61: 142-145 [PMID: 3473623]
- Shoenfeld N, Agmon-Levin N, Flitman-Katzevman I, Paran D, Katz BS, Kivity S, Langevitz P, 21 Zandman-Goddard G, Shoenfeld Y. The sense of smell in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2009; 60: 1484-1487 [PMID: 19404932 DOI: 10.1002/art.24491]
- 22 Ge Y, Tsukatani T, Nishimura T, Furukawa M, Miwa T. Cell death of olfactory receptor neurons in a rat with nasosinusitis infected artificially with Staphylococcus. Chem Senses 2002; 27: 521-527 [PMID: 12142328 DOI: 10.1093/chemse/27.6.521]
- 23 **Sultan B**, May LA, Lane AP. The role of TNF-α in inflammatory olfactory loss. *Laryngoscope* 2011; 121: 2481-2486 [PMID: 21882204 DOI: 10.1002/lary.22190]



- Turner JH, Liang KL, May L, Lane AP. Tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibits olfactory regeneration 24 in a transgenic model of chronic rhinosinusitis-associated olfactory loss. Am J Rhinol Allergy 2010; 24: 336-340 [PMID: 21243089 DOI: 10.2500/ajra.2010.24.3498]
- 25 Frasnelli JA, Temmel AF, Quint C, Oberbauer R, Hummel T. Olfactory function in chronic renal failure. Am J Rhinol 2002; 16: 275-279 [PMID: 12422973]
- Griep MI, Van der Niepen P, Sennesael JJ, Mets TF, Massart DL, Verbeelen DL. Odour perception 26 in chronic renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1997; 12: 2093-2098 [PMID: 9351071 DOI: 10.1093/ndt/12.10.2093]
- 27 Doty RL, Shah M, Bromley SM. Drug-induced taste disorders. Drug Saf 2008; 31: 199-215 [PMID: 18302445 DOI: 10.2165/00002018-200831030-00002]
- 28 Doty RL, Bromley SM. Effects of drugs on olfaction and taste. Otolaryngol Clin North Am 2004; 37: 1229-1254 [PMID: 15563912 DOI: 10.1016/j.otc.2004.05.002]
- 29 Henkin RI. Drug-induced taste and smell disorders. Incidence, mechanisms and management related primarily to treatment of sensory receptor dysfunction. Drug Saf 1994; 11: 318-377 [PMID: 7873092 DOI: 10.2165/00002018-199411050-00004]
- 30 Wickham RS, Rehwaldt M, Kefer C, Shott S, Abbas K, Glynn-Tucker E, Potter C, Blendowski C. Taste changes experienced by patients receiving chemotherapy. Oncol Nurs Forum 1999; 26: 697-706 [PMID: 10337648]
- 31 Steinbach S, Proft F, Schulze-Koops H, Hundt W, Heinrich P, Schulz S, Gruenke M. Gustatory and olfactory function in rheumatoid arthritis. Scand J Rheumatol 2011; 40: 169-177 [PMID: 21077800 DOI: 10.3109/03009742.2010.517547]
- Steinbach S, Hundt W, Zahnert T. [The sense of smell in daily life]. Laryngorhinootologie 2008; 87: 32 657-68; quiz 669 [PMID: 18726864 DOI: 10.1055/s-2008-1077547]
- Hummel T, Whitcroft KL, Andrews P, Altundag A, Cinghi C, Costanzo RM, Damm M, Frasnelli J, 33 Gudziol H, Gupta N, Haehne A, Holbrook E, Hong SC, Hornung D, Hüttenbrink KB, Kamel R, Kobayashi M, Konstantinidis I, Landis BN, Leopold DA, Macchi A, Miwa T, Moesges R, Mullol J, Mueller CA, Ottaviano G, Passali GC, Philpott C, Pinto JM, Ramakrishnan VJ, Rombaux P, Roth Y, Schlosser RA, Shu B, Soler G, Stjärne P, Stuck BA, Vodicka J, Welge-Luessen A. Position paper on olfactory dysfunction. Rhinol Suppl 2017; 54: 1-30 [PMID: 29528615 DOI: 10.4193/Rhino16.248]
- Pendolino AL, Unadkat S, Zhang H, Pendolino M, Bianchi G, Randhawa PS, Andrews PJ. The role 34 of surgery in antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody-associated vasculitides affecting the nose and sinuses: A systematic review. SAGE Open Med 2020; 8: 2050312120936731 [PMID: 32676189 DOI: 10.1177/2050312120936731]
- 35 Unadkat SN, Pendolino AL, Kwame I, Swift A, Pusey C, Gantous A, Andrews PJ. Nasal reconstructive surgery for vasculitis affecting the nose: our two-centre international experience. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2020; 277: 3059-3066 [PMID: 32623509 DOI: 10.1007/s00405-020-06180-8]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 23-109





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journul Methodology

World Journal of

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 3 May 20, 2021

REVIEW

- Epidemiological link between obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and cancer 23 Fernandez CJ, George AS, Subrahmanyan NA, Pappachan JM
- 46 Molecular diagnosis in cat allergy Popescu FD, Ganea CS, Panaitescu C, Vieru M

MINIREVIEWS

Concise review of stereotactic irradiation for pediatric glial neoplasms: Current concepts and future 61 directions

Sager O, Dincoglan F, Demiral S, Uysal B, Gamsiz H, Colak O, Ozcan F, Gundem E, Elcim Y, Dirican B, Beyzadeoglu M

- 75 Rationalising animal research synthesis in orthopaedic literature Tsikopoulos K, Sidiropoulos K, Kitridis D, Drago L, Ebnezar R, Lavalette D
- Bowel intussusception in adult: Prevalence, diagnostic tools and therapy 81 Panzera F, Di Venere B, Rizzi M, Biscaglia A, Praticò CA, Nasti G, Mardighian A, Nunes TF, Inchingolo R

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Clinical Trial

88 Comparison of lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures Melek L

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

95 Tocilizumab as treatment for COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis Petrelli F, Cherri S, Ghidini M, Perego G, Ghidini A, Zaniboni A



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 3 May 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Methodology, Rodrigo Valenzuela, PhD, Associated Professor, Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, University of Chile, Independence Av. 1027, Santiago 8380000, Chile. rvalenzuelab@med.uchile.cl

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Methodology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2222-0682 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
September 26, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Gerhard Litscher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
May 20, 2021	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of W J M Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 23-45

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.23

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

Epidemiological link between obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and cancer

Cornelius J Fernandez, Annu Susan George, Nikhila A Subrahmanyan, Joseph M Pappachan

ORCID number: Cornelius J Fernandez 0000-0002-1171-5525: Annu Susan George 0000-0003-2806-958X; Nikhila A Subrahmanyan 0000-0003-0886-5222; Joseph M Pappachan 0000-0003-0886-5255.

Author contributions: Fernandez CJ and George AS performed extensive literature review, drafted the initial manuscript, created the pictures and share the first authorship; Subrahmanyan NA added points with additional literature review, help with the pictures and revision; Pappachan JM conceived the idea, inputted additional scientific points especially the obesity and metabolic aspects of the paper, revised the entire work critically, and approved the final version for publication; all the authors contributed to revision of the paper after peer reviews.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr. Pappachan and co-authors have nothing to declare.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build

Cornelius J Fernandez, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Pilgrim Hospital, United Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Boston PE21 9QS, United Kingdom

Annu Susan George, Department of Medical Oncology, VPS Lakeshore Hospital, Cochin 682040, India

Nikhila A Subrahmanyan, Department of Internal Medicine, Al-Azhar Medical College, Thodupuzha 685605, India

Joseph M Pappachan, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Preston PR2 9HT, United Kingdom

Joseph M Pappachan, Faculty of Science, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester M15 6BH, United Kingdom

Joseph M Pappachan, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, The University of Manchester, Manchester M13 9PL, United Kingdom

Corresponding author: Joseph M Pappachan, MD, FRCP, Consultant, Honorary Professor, Senior Researcher, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Royal Preston Hospital, Sharoe Green Lane, Preston PR2 9HT, United Kingdom. drpappachan@yahoo.co.in

Abstract

There exists a complex interaction between obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and cancer, and an increase in the incidence of cancer is expected with the growing obesity-diabetes pandemic. The association of cancer with diabetes mellitus and obesity appears to be site-specific, the highest risk being for postmenopausal breast cancer, endometrial cancer, and colorectal cancer. Moreover, there is worsening of hyperglycaemia with the onset of cancer, evidencing a bidirectional link between cancer and diabetes mellitus and the need for monitoring for diabetes in cancer survivors. In this review, we look at the epidemiological evidence from observational studies and Mendelian randomization studies linking obesity, diabetes, and cancer, as well as the complex pathophysiological mechanisms involved, including insulin resistance with associated hyperinsulinaemia, the effect of chronic low-grade inflammation, and the effect of various adipokines that are associated with obesity and T2DM. Additionally, we describe the novel therapeutic strategies, based on their role on the discrete pathophysiological mechanisms involved in the tumourigenesis.



upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 13, 2021 Peer-review started: January 13, 2021 First decision: March 1, 2021 Revised: March 2, 2021 Accepted: March 19, 2021 Article in press: March 19, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Cao ZF, Ghobadloo SM S-Editor: FanJR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX



Key Words: Cancer; Obesity; Type 2 diabetes mellitus; Hyperinsulinaemia; Epidemiological link

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Cancer is the second most common cause of death globally, and the complex pathogenic mechanisms in the development of cancer are not yet fully elucidated. The interplay between obesity, type 2 diabetes and some forms of cancer are well known for the past few years. With a steady increase in the obesity and diabetes pandemics, the incidence of cancer is expected to increase exponentially in the coming years. This review discusses the complex pathophysiological mechanisms linking these three major disease entities, to enhance clinician awareness across the globe, and proposes emerging potential therapeutic strategies.

Citation: Fernandez CJ, George AS, Subrahmanyan NA, Pappachan JM. Epidemiological link between obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and cancer. World J Methodol 2021; 11(3): 23-45 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/23.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.23

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the second most common cause of mortality from non-communicable diseases in the world, accounting for nearly 9.6 million deaths in the year 2017[1]. Apart from the excess mortality, cancer also contributed to 233.5 million disabilityadjusted life-years in 2017. The incidence of cancer has been rising, due to a rise in the associated risk factors like aging population, obesity, diabetes mellitus, and lifestylerelated factors. Globally, the incidence of obesity has reached pandemic proportions, irrespective of the socioeconomic status and the age group[2]. Rising proportion of individuals with obesity has been the driving force for the diabetes pandemic[3], the incidence/prevalence of which is increasing at a faster rate in low-income and middleincome countries than in high-income countries[4].

There is plenty of evidence supporting the association between cancer and either obesity or diabetes mellitus on an individual basis. A recent study evaluated the impact of combined obesity and diabetes mellitus on cancer risk, by calculating the population attributable fraction (PAF) of incident cancers attributable to obesity and diabetes mellitus^[5]. They observed that 5.7% of all incident cancers in 2012 were related to the combined effects of diabetes mellitus and obesity. When they limited their calculation to include only twelve adiposity-related cancers (colorectal cancer, postmenopausal breast cancer, endometrial cancer, gallbladder cancer, pancreatic cancer, liver cancer, kidney cancer, ovarian cancer, gastric-cardia cancer, thyroid cancer, multiple myeloma, and oesophageal adenocarcinoma), and six diabetes-related cancers (colorectal cancer, endometrial cancer, breast cancer, gallbladder cancer, pancreatic cancer, and liver cancer), they observed that 13.5%-15.3% of the cancers were attributable to the combined effects of diabetes mellitus and obesity. The study also observed that nearly one-fourth of the diabetes-related cancers and one-third of the adiposity-related cancers, happened due to a rise in prevalence of these risk factors[5].

As the global burden of obesity and diabetes mellitus is going to rise further, the burden of cancer will continue to increase. Therefore, interventions should be done at multiple levels including individual, community, health-care system, and policy making to prevent the development of cancer from these non-communicable diseases. This review will discuss the epidemiological studies linking obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) to cancer and will explore the potential pathophysiological mechanisms linking obesity, and T2DM to cancer.

EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES LINKING OBESITY TO CANCER

The obese population shows an increase in relative risk (RR) for developing various cancers, compared to the non-obese population. A recently published systematic review^[6] using the data collected from a meta-analysis of epidemiological studies observed that the RR was highest for endometrial cancer (2.54; 95%CI: 2.11-3.06)[7], followed by renal cancer (1.77; 95% CI: 1.68-1.87)[8]. This was followed by pancreatic cancer (1.48; 95%CI: 1.15-1.92)[9], breast cancer (1.42; 95%CI: 1.30-1.45)[10], liver cancer (1.35; 95%CI: 1.24-1.47)[11], colorectal cancer (1.32; 95%CI: 1.18-1.48)[12], melanoma (1.31; 95%CI: 1.19-1.44)[13], ovarian cancer (1.30; 95%CI: 1.10-1.50)[14], thyroid cancer (1.29; 95%CI: 1.18-1.41)[15], leukaemia (1.26; 95%CI: 1.17-1.37)[13], prostate cancer (1.16; 95%CI: 1.08-1.24)[16], gastric cancer (1.13; 95%CI: 1.03-1.24)[17], and bladder cancer (1.10; 95%CI: 1.06-1.42)[18]. However, a previous study also noted that the obese population has a low RR of getting lung cancer (0.79; 95%CI: 0.73-0.85) compared to the non-obese population, indicating an inverse association[19]. The RR for squamous cell carcinoma, adenocarcinoma, and small cell carcinoma of the lung were 0.68 (95%CI: 0.58-0.80), 0.79 (95%CI: 0.65-0.96), and 0.99 (95%CI: 0.66-1.48) respectively indicating that obesity is protective against all types of lung cancer among both current and former smokers.

Obesity is associated with an increased risk of some cancers and decreased risk of other cancers, suggesting that the association between obesity and cancer clearly depends on the site of the cancer (site-specific association). This suggests that if the epidemiological studies analysing the relationship between obesity and cancer are not adequately stratified for the site of cancer, the associations with less common cancers can be masked. Nearly 4% of all new cancers can be attributed to overweight and obesity (adiposity-related cancers), in which endometrial, postmenopausal breast, and colorectal cancers account for more than 60%[20]. Worldwide, the population attributable fraction (PAF) of cancer related to high body mass index (BMI) was greater among women compared to men (5.4% vs 1.9%). Moreover, the countries with very high and high human development index (HDI) had higher PAF (5.3% and 4.8%, respectively), compared to countries with moderate and low HDI (1.6% and 1.0%, respectively)[20]. With increasing rates of obesity at younger age, the adiposity-related cancers are detected at a much younger age.

A dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies reported that each 5 kg weight gain is associated with an increase in the RR for postmenopausal endometrial cancer by 39% among hormone replacement therapy (HRT) non-users (RR 1.39; 95%CI: 1.29-1.49) and by 9% among HRT users (RR 1.09; 95%CI: 1.02-1.16)[21]. Similar weight gain is associated with an increase in RR for postmenopausal ovarian cancer by 13% among HRT non-users (RR 1.13; 95% CI: 1.03-1.23), postmenopausal breast cancer by 11% among HRT non-users (RR 1.11; 95%CI: 1.08-1.13), and colorectal cancer by 9% in men (RR 1.09; 95%CI: 1.04-1.13). Weight gain is also associated with a 42% increase in the RR for renal cancer when the highest and lowest level of adult weight gain are compared (RR 1.42; 95%CI: 1.11-1.81)[21]. However, weight gain is not associated with a rise in colorectal cancer in women, premenopausal breast cancer, postmenopausal breast cancer among HRT users, prostate cancer, and thyroid cancer.

A meta-analysis of one hundred and twenty-six observational cohort studies among breast cancer patients reported that each 5 kg of adult weight gain is associated with a 7% increase in postmenopausal breast cancer (RR 1.07; 95% CI: 1.05-1.09), and each 5 kg/m² of gain in BMI is associated with a 17% increase in postmenopausal breast cancer (RR 1.17; 95% CI: 1.11-1.23)[22]. Moreover, each 10 cm increase in waist circumference (WC) and hip circumference (HC), are associated with 11% (RR 1.11; 95%CI: 1.08-1.14) and 6% (RR 1.06; 95% CI: 1.04-1.09) increase in postmenopausal breast cancer, respectively. Furthermore, each 0.1 unit increase in waist-hip ratio is associated with a 10% increase in postmenopausal breast cancer (RR 1.10; 95% CI: 1.05-1.16). The increased risk was noted among hormone receptor positive breast cancers compared to receptor negative breast cancers, and among HRT non-users compared to HRT users. Adult weight gain and BMI gain are not consistently associated with premenopausal breast cancer. Each 5 kg of adult weight loss is associated with a 4% decrease in postmenopausal breast cancer (RR 0.96; 95% CI: 0.88-1.04). The study reported that BMI gain in early adult life (between 18-30 years) is inversely associated with postmenopausal (RR 0.81; 95% CI: 0.75-0.87), and premenopausal (RR 0.86; 95% CI: 0.78-0.96) breast cancer^[22].

Another meta-analysis of seven prospective observational studies comprising of 18668 men and 24751 women with a mean age of 62 and 63 years (respectively), with a median follow-up period of 12 years reported 1656 first-incident adiposity-related


cancers including postmenopausal breast, colorectum, lower oesophagus, gastric, liver, gallbladder, pancreas, endometrium, ovary, and kidney cancers^[23]. The hazard ratios (HR) for first-incident cancers, per standard deviation increment in various adiposity indicators including BMI, WC, HC, and waist-hip ratio (WHR) were calculated. The results were 1.11 (95%CI: 1.02-1.21) for BMI, 1.13 (95%CI: 1.04-1.23) for WC, 1.09 (95%CI: 0.98-1.21) for HC, and 1.15 (95%CI: 1.00-1.32) for WHR. For example, the HR for colorectal cancer for each standard deviation increment in BMI, WC, HC, and WHR are 16%, 21%, 15%, and 20%, respectively. These values are not surprising as WC and WHR are better surrogate markers of visceral fat, than BMI. Moreover, HRT non-users have 20% increased risk per standard deviation of BMI, WC, and HC for getting postmenopausal breast cancer, compared to HRT users[23].

A recent prospective study evaluated the effect of weight gain during adult years with or without metabolic dysfunction on the risk of getting adiposity-related cancers^[24]. The study reported that, compared to people maintaining a stable weight, those with weight gain of greater than 0.45 kg or 1 pound/year was associated with 38% increase in overall cancer risk (HR 1.38; 95% CI: 1.09-1.76), with women (HR 1.39; 95%CI: 1.03-1.87) having higher risk compared to men (HR 1.32; 95%CI: 0.88-2.00). Compared to weight gain without metabolic dysfunction [metabolically healthy obesity; (MHO)], weight gain with metabolic dysfunction increases the overall risk of cancer risk by 77% (HR 1.77; 95%CI: 1.21-2.59), with men (HR 1.85: 95%CI: 1.00-3.44) having higher risk compared to women (HR 1.74; 95%CI: 1.07-2.82). The study also observed that men and women who gained weight during adult life from nonoverweight status at baseline, were associated with 2.18-fold and 1.60-fold overall cancer risk, whereas those who were overweight throughout the study period (from baseline) were associated with statistically non-significant increased cancer risks of 28% (HR 1.28; 95% CI: 0.76-2.14) and 33% (HR 1.33; 95% CI: 0.94-1.88), in men and women, respectively^[24].

Nearly 10%-30% of obese individuals are metabolically healthy with lesser visceral and hepatic fat, greater leg fat, expandable subcutaneous fat, preserved cardiorespiratory fitness, insulin sensitivity, and beta cell/adipose tissue function, and lower inflammatory burden[25]. Though there is no standard definition for MHO, presence of obesity with normal glucose and lipid parameters in the absence of hypertension can be used as a criterion to diagnose MHO. Though the risk for getting T2DM and cardiovascular disease is much lower in MHO people compared to people with metabolically unhealthy obesity (MUO), it is still higher than metabolically healthy lean (MHL) people. Moreover, MHO is a transient phenotype that can progress to develop MUO. Hence, MHO should still be considered as an indication for weight loss interventions[25]. A meta-analysis of eight prospective cohort studies comprising of 12542390 participants compared the incidence of any type of cancer in MHO people in comparison to people with metabolically healthy non-obesity (MHNO)[26]. They reported a significantly higher risk of developing cancer with an odds ratio (OR) of 1.14 (95%CI: 1.05-1.23) compared to MHNO people, and 1.17 (95%CI: 1.01-1.35) compared to MHL people. This suggests that all obese individuals, even in the absence of metabolic dysfunction, should be encouraged to lose weight.

A meta-analysis of 230 cohort studies including over 30 million individuals observed that, though overweight and obesity were associated with an increased risk of all-cause mortality, there was a U-shaped association [27]. The concept that cancer patients with elevated BMI might have improved survival compared to cancer patients with normal BMI is known as 'obesity paradox in cancer'. According to many, the term 'obesity paradox' is misleading as the paradox is due to the limitations of BMI, which relies on height and weight without delineating the distribution of adipocytes or distinguishing between adipose tissue and skeletal muscle. According to them, cancer patients with higher BMI might be having higher levels of protective skeletal muscle mass^[28]. Others consider that, the paradox is due to methodological flaws including reverse causation, selection bias, and confounding^[29]. However, a recent meta-analysis of 203 observational studies including 6320365 participants observed that even though obesity is associated with increased overall mortality, cancer specific mortality, and relapse rate in various cancers, it (obesity) is associated with an apparent protective effect in patients with lung cancer and melanoma[30].

Another meta-analysis of eight population-based cohort studies including 635642 participants who underwent bariatric surgery observed that, bariatric surgery is associated with a significantly reduced incidence of cancer (OR 0.72; 95%CI: 0.59-0.87) overall, and obesity-related cancer in particular (OR 0.55; 95%CI: 0.31-0.96)[31]. However, the reduction in incidence of breast cancer reached statistical significance (OR 0.50; 95%CI: 0.25-0.99), whereas reduction in other cancers did not reach statistical significance. A recent meta-analysis of 21 cohort studies comprising of 304516



participants who underwent bariatric surgery, revealed that bariatric surgery was not only associated with decreased cancer incidence (OR 0.56; 95%CI: 0.46-0.68), but also with decreased cancer mortality (OR 0.56; 95%CI: 0.41-0.75)[32]. The study also observed a significant reduction in breast and endometrial cancers in post-bariatric surgery participants.

Few observational studies reported a controversial observation about an increased incidence of colorectal cancer, in the post-bariatric surgery participants[33]. However, even in these trials, the absolute incidence of colorectal cancer was lower in the bariatric surgery group compared to the obese patients who did not undergo bariatric surgery. The cessation of statin therapy, avoidance of high fibre diet, and changes in colonic microbiome after bariatric surgery could explain a possible increase in the incidence of colorectal cancer in post-bariatric surgery cases.

A large study including 22198 participants who underwent bariatric surgery from the Kaiser Permanente Integrated health data reported a 33% reduction in any cancer incidence (HR 0.67; 95% CI: 0.60-0.74), and 41% reduction in adiposity-related cancer incidence (HR 0.59; 95%CI: 0.51-0.69)[34]. Among the adiposity related cancers, surgery is associated with a statistically significant reduction in postmenopausal breast (HR 0.58; 95%CI: 0.44-0.77), colon (HR 0.59; 95%CI: 0.36-0.97), endometrial (HR 0.50; 95% CI: 0.37-0.67), and pancreatic cancers (HR 0.46; 95% CI: 0.22-0.97), compared to obese patients who did not undergo bariatric surgery. Furthermore, a recent metaanalysis of seven studies including 1213727 participants observed that bariatric surgery reduces colorectal cancer by 36% (RR 0 64, 95%CI: 0.42-0.98)[35].

Epidemiological studies linking diabetes to cancer

Observational studies have consistently reported that people with T2DM have an increased risk for several types of cancers including liver, pancreas, endometrium, colorectal, breast, and bladder, and a decreased risk for prostate cancer. The observed association between T2DM and cancer could either be a causal (caused by hyperinsulinaemia or hyperglycaemia), or be a confounder (arising from common risk factors such as adiposity)[36]. The contributions from obesity and T2DM towards tumourigenesis can be independent as exemplified by prostate cancer, the incidence of which is increased with obesity, but decreased with T2DM. Another example is lung cancer, the incidence of which is lower in obesity, but not altered with T2DM. The contributions of obesity and T2DM towards cancer can have an additive (synergistic) effect or an opposing effect, depending on the site of origin of cancer[6].

An umbrella review of 'meta-analyses of observational studies that examined the association between T2DM and cancer' carefully assessed the robustness of the reported associations, considering the quality of the studies and their substantial heterogeneity[36]. The review observed that only a minority of these reported associations have evidence-base without hints of bias. These observed summary associations in the descending order of random effects include endometrial cancer (1.97; 95%CI: 1.71-2.27), intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma (1.97; 95% CI: 1.57-2.46), colorectal cancer (1.27; 95% CI: 1.21-1.34), and breast cancer (1.20; 95% CI: 1.12-1.28).

A meta-analysis of forty-five observational studies comprising more than eight million participants and 132331 prostate cancer patients revealed a statistically significant inverse association between T2DM and carcinoma of prostate (RR 0.86; 95% CI: 0.80-0.92)[37]. One point supporting the lower incidence of cancer prostate in T2DM is the fact that some men with T2DM with/without obesity have lower androgen levels that results in reduced stimulation of androgen sensitive prostate cancer cells^[38]. Another point supporting the lower incidence of cancer prostate is a lower circulating prostate-specific antigen levels seen in men with T2DM with high hemoglobin A1c and fasting blood glucose in the obese, and men with raised alanine transaminase levels which would delay the diagnosis of cancer prostate[39].

Among cancer patients with pre-existing diabetes mellitus, there is a 41% increase in all-cause mortality (HR 1.41; 95%CI: 1.28-1.55)[40]. A subgroup analysis showed increased all-cause mortality with cancers of endometrium (HR 1.76; 95% CI: 1.34-2.31), breast (HR 1.61; 95%CI: 1.46-1.78), and colorectum (HR 1.32; 95%CI: 1.24-1.41). Another meta-analysis on colorectal cancer patients with pre-existing diabetes mellitus observed that the all-cause mortality was increased by 17% (RR 1.17; 95% CI: 1.09-1.25), and cancer specific mortality by 12% (RR 1.12; 95%CI: 1.01-1.24), compared to colorectal cancer patients without diabetes mellitus[41]. Moreover, presence of preexisting diabetes mellitus was associated with a 51% higher post-operative mortality (OR 1.51; 95% CI: 1.13-2.02) among cancer patients[42]. Cancer patients with preexisting diabetes mellitus exhibited advanced stage of the disease at the time of diagnosis[43], increased risk of cancer recurrence[44], and decreased disease-free survival (RR 1.27; 95%CI: 1.06-1.52)[41].

However, we ought to bear in mind that observational epidemiological studies are susceptible to certain biases including reverse causality bias, detection bias, and depletion of the susceptible^[45]. Mendelian randomization (MR) studies are analytic methods (genetic epidemiological studies) that are used to strengthen the evidence for a causal relationship between an exposure and an outcome. MR studies utilize germline variants obtained from large-scale genome-wide association studies. As these germline variants are determined at the time of birth and remain constant throughout life[46], studies utilizing them will minimize the effects of bias and residual confounding that are observed in observational studies. However, the genetic observational or MR studies have their own strengths and weaknesses. Once the observational and genetic epidemiological studies agree between each other, the results are likely to be more robust.

MR studies have shown that adiposity has a very strong causal association with renal, endometrial, ovarian, oesophageal, pancreatic, and colorectal cancer[46]. Hyperinsulinaemia has a strong association with endometrial, breast, pancreatic and renal cancer risk. Raised circulating insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) levels have a moderate association with breast and prostate cancer risk. Sex hormone dysregulation and puberty timing have a moderate association with breast and endometrial cancer risk; puberty timing has a moderate association with prostate cancer risk. There is only a weak association between hyperglycaemia and various cancers including those of lung, pancreas, endometrium, kidney, and breast. Finally, no association is observed between T2DM and cancers including pancreatic, endometrial, renal cell, and ovarian cancers^[46].

POTENTIAL PATHOPHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS LINKING OBESITY AND DIABETES TO CANCER

Direct effects of hyperinsulinaemia in the pathogenesis of cancer: Insulin

receptor/IGF-receptor signalling

The increased incidence of various cancers including breast, endometrial, and colorectal cancers is observed within few months after the diagnosis of T2DM, or even in the prediabetic phase, indicating that in patients with T2DM, it is the endogenous hyperinsulinaemia, rather than hyperglycaemia, that is associated with an increased risk of cancer[47-50]. Moreover, in breast, colorectal and endometrial cancer patients, the endogenous hyperinsulinaemia is associated with cancer progression, recurrence, and excess mortality [51-54]. Compared to normal cells which preferentially rely on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation, the cancer cells rely on glycolysis, even in the presence of oxygen (aerobic glycolysis), as a source of energy, possibly due to damaged mitochondria in cancer cells and also as a measure to maximize the available energy sources to support the rapid proliferation. This observation, known as the Warburg effect, suggests an increased glucose uptake and increased reliance on glucose metabolism by the cancer cells[55].

Studies have shown that hyperglycaemia alone may not cause development of cancer in the absence of hyperinsulinaemia, indicating that the key driver of cancer initiation and progression in patients with diabetes, and obesity is hyperinsulinaemia^[56]. However, there are multiple other mechanisms involved in cancer initiation and progression. The overall pathophysiological mechanisms linking obesity and diabetes to cancer and the associated intracellular signalling, are illustrated in Figure 1 and the pathophysiological mechanisms linking hyperin-sulinaemia in the tumour microenvironment (TME) to cancer, is represented in the Figure 2.

The insulin/IGF family consists of ligands including insulin, IGF-1, and IGF-2; their tyrosine kinase receptors including insulin receptor-A (IR-A), insulin receptor-B (IR-B), IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), IR-A/IGF-1R hybrid, and IR-B/IGF-1R hybrid; and six IGFbinding proteins (IGFBPs) that bind to IGF-1 and IGF-2, but not to insulin. Only the free IGFs, unbound to IGFBPs, are biologically available for binding to their receptors. As the IGFs bound to IGFBPs are protected from degradation, the IGFBPs maintain a stable serum IGF levels. Hyperinsulinaemia decreases IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-2 levels, thus increasing the levels of bioavailable IGF-1 and IGF-2[57]. Moreover, hyperinsulinaemia increases the IGF-1 level by increasing its hepatic production[58]. Apart from the IGFs that circulate in blood, a significant amount of IGF-2 is also secreted by cancer cells and/or tumour stroma to act on IR-A[59].

The IR signalling exerts both metabolic and mitogenic effects. Among the two isoforms that are formed by differential splicing of the insulin receptor gene (splice



WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 The overall pathophysiological mechanisms linking obesity and diabetes to cancer with associated intracellular signalling. IL-16: Interleukin-16; TNF- α : Tumour necrosis factor- α ; IR: Insulin receptor; IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor-1; IGF-1R: Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor; IGFBP: Insulin-like growth factor binding protein; FFA: Free fatty acid; FFF-R: Free fatty acid receptor; ER- α : Oestrogen receptor- α ; Ob-R: Leptin-receptor; Adipo-R: Adiponectin-receptor; SHBG: Sex hormone binding globulin; TG: Triglyceride; HDL: High density lipoprotein; PI3K: Phosphatidyl-inositol-3-kinase; AKT: Protein kinase B; mTORC1: Mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1); RAS: Rat sarcoma; RAF: Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma; MAPK: Mitogen activated protein kinase; ERK: Extracellular-regulated kinase; JAK2: Janus kinase-2; STAT3: Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; HIF-1 α : Hypoxia inducible factor-1 α ; LKB1: Liver kinase B1; AMPK: Adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase; T2DM: Type 2 diabetes mellitus.

variants), the IR-B is predominantly expressed in the metabolic tissues including liver, skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, and kidney, whereas IR-A is mainly expressed in the foetal and cancer tissues[60]. IR-B predominantly exerts metabolic effects, whereas IR-A predominantly exerts mitogenic effects. The ratio of IR-A to IR-B in the cell is determined by the expression of certain splicing factors in cells. Insulin, IGF-1, and IGF-2 bind to IR-A, and IR-B with different affinities. Insulin binds to IR-A with a 1.7fold greater affinity compared to IR-B (only a modest difference in affinity). IGF-2 binds to IR-A with a 40-fold greater affinity compared to IR-B, whereas IGF-1 binds to IR-A with a 10-fold greater affinity compared to IR-B. Insulin binds only to IR-B or IR-A, not to IGF-1R or hybrid receptors. Both IGF-1 and IGF-2 bind to IGF-1R, hybrid receptors, and to IR-A or IR-B. IR-A has 100-fold higher affinity for IGF-2 compared to IGF-1[60]. Thus, IR-A has high affinity for IGF-2 and low affinity for IGF-1, whereas IR-B has a low affinity for IGF-2 and a very low affinity for IGF-1. High IR-A expression, resulting from altered expression of splicing factors in the cell is detrimental in adult life as it is associated with insulin resistance, dysregulated cell proliferation and cancer^[61].

While normal cells downregulate the IRs in presence of hyperinsulinaemia, many cancer cells upregulate the IRs and IGF-1Rs in presence of hyperinsulinaemia and associated high IGF-1 levels, leading to mitogenic effects, increased cancer growth and metastasis[62,63]. Cancers that overexpress IR-A include breast, endometrial, lung, colorectal, hepatocellular, prostate, ovary, thyroid, and renal cancers[64-66]. Similarly, the cancers that overexpress IGF-1R include colorectal, breast, hepatocellular, and prostate cancers[67]. The loss of function mutations of tumour suppressor genes including *BRCA1*, *p53*, and *PTEN* lead to high IGF-1R expression[68]. Cancers that overexpress IGF-2 include mesenchymal tumours, breast, oesophageal, ovarian, and hepatocellular; tenosynovial giant cell tumours, Wilms' tumour, and Ewing's sarcoma[69].

Under physiological conditions (in people without hyperinsulinaemia), interaction of insulin and IR-B with subsequent stimulation of phosphatidyl-inositol-3kinase/protein kinase B/mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (PI3K /AKT/mTORC1) cascade mediate the anabolic effects of insulin including glucose uptake, glycogen synthesis, protein synthesis, and lipid synthesis. In people with hyperinsulinaemia (associated with high IR-A expression) and in cancer cells (associated with high IR-A expression and raised IGF-2), the interaction of insulin and/or IGF-2 with IR-A and the subsequent activation of rat sarcoma/rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma/mitogen activated protein kinase/extracellular-regulated kinase cascade (RAS/RAF/MAPK/ERK) mediate the mitogenic effects of insulin including cell proliferation, survival, and migration[61]. An imbalance between MAPK and PI3K cascades results in impaired glucose/lipid metabolism in target tissues such as liver, muscle, and adipose tissue with cell proliferation in other tissues[70]. Under physiological conditions the interaction with IR-B is phasic (occurs only in postprandial state) resulting in metabolic effects, whereas under hyperinsulinaemic conditions or in cancer cells the interaction with IR-A is steady or continuous resulting in mitogenic effects^[61].

Indirect effects of hyperinsulinaemia in the pathogenesis of cancer: Oestrogen receptor- α /cytokine/reactive oxidative species

Hyperinsulinaemia is associated with increased expression of aromatase enzyme in the TME resulting in increased oestrogen levels. Furthermore, hyperinsulinaemia is associated with decreased sex hormone-binding globulin levels that will increase the levels of bioavailable oestrogens that act on the tumour cells through oestrogen receptor- α , increasing the risk of oestrogen dependent cancers like breast and endometrial cancers[71]. The oestrogen receptor activation augments the insulin/IGF-mediated mitogenic effects in several cancers including that of breast, prostate, neuroblastoma, and pituitary adenoma[72].

Moreover, in carcinoma of prostate, activation of oestrogen receptors and of androgen receptors located at cell membrane induces IGF-1R upregulation to enhance IGF-1 mediated biological effects[73]. Similarly, in breast cancer, activation of IGF-1R and IR upregulate the non-classical or non-genomic membrane oestrogen receptors to potentiate the mitogenic effects[74,75]. Hyperinsulinaemia is also associated with inflammation in the TME leading to cytokine production and activation of the Janus Kinase-2 and Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription-3 (JAK2-STAT3) and MAPK cascade inside the tumour cells[71]. Insulin upregulates the cellular metabolic activity leading to generation of reactive oxidative species (ROS) and resultant DNA damage, thereby promoting oncogenesis[76].

WJM https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 The pathophysiological mechanisms linking the hyperinsulinaemia in the tumour microenvironment to cancer with the associated intracellular signalling. IL-1β: Interleukin-1β; IL-6: Interleukin-6; TNF-α: Tumour necrosis factor-α; IR-A: Insulin receptor-A; IR-B: Insulin receptor-B; IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor-1; IGF-2: Insulin-like growth factor-2; IGF-1R: Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor; IR-A IGF1-R: Hybrid receptor of IR-A and IGF-1R; IR-B IGF1-R: Hybrid receptor of IR-A and IGF-1R; IGFBP: Insulin-like growth factor binding protein; ER-α: Oestrogen receptor-α; mER: membrane oestrogen receptor; Ob-R: Leptin-receptor; PI3K: Phosphatidyl-inositol-3-kinase; AKT: Protein kinase B; mTORC1: Mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1 (Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1); RAS: Rat sarcoma; RAF: Rapidly accelerated fibrosarcoma; MAPK: Mitogen activated protein kinase; ERK: Extracellular-regulated kinase; JAK2: Janus kinase-2; STAT3: Signal transducer and activator of transcription-3; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor.

White adipose tissue remodelling in the pathogenesis of cancer

The white adipose tissue (WAT) comprising of subcutaneous and visceral adipose tissues, act as an energy reservoir for other organs. In response to over-nutrition and obesity, the adipose tissue undergoes dynamic remodelling characterized by alterations in the adipocyte number (adipocyte hyperplasia) in cases of childhood obesity or size (adipocyte hypertrophy) in cases of adult obesity[77]. The potential pathophysiological mechanisms linking obesity to cancer with special emphasis to WAT remodelling is outlined in the Figure 3. The hypertrophic adipose tissue outgrows its blood supply, leading to hypoxia, adipocyte injury/death, adipose tissue macrophage recruitment and a switch from anti-inflammatory to pro-inflammatory macrophages (M2 to M1 switch)[78]. This leads to increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including tumour necrosis factor-a (TNF-a), interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL- 1β and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and insulin resistance [79].

Pro-inflammatory cytokines propagate the adipose tissue inflammation by recruiting more macrophages (MCP-1)[80]. The macrophages envelope the dead or dying hypertrophic adipocytes to form crown-like structures and these macrophages later become lipid-loaded foam cells[81]. There is increased release of free fatty acids (FFA) from the entrapped adipocytes with subsequent ectopic fat deposition in the liver and skeletal muscle leading to worsening insulin resistance and lipotoxicity[82]. Lipolysis and FFA release from WAT are also stimulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines[83]. The hypertrophic adipocytes exhibit impaired insulin-dependent glucose uptake due to a defect in glucose transporter 4 trafficking, indicating another mechanism for insulin resistance in obese patients with adipocyte hypertrophy, apart from the effect of pro-inflammatory cytokines and ectopic lipid deposition[84].

Pro-inflammatory cytokines generated by chronic low-grade inflammation of WAT can exert direct mitogenic effects via cytokine receptors or indirect mitogenic effects via increased insulin resistance and resultant hyperinsulinaemia. Moreover, the cytokines can activate androgen receptors to promote survival and proliferation of prostate cancer cells in men[85], and can induce the aromatase enzyme to increase the incidence of oestrogen-dependent tumours in the postmenopausal women[86]. The hyperleptinaemia that accompanies WAT inflammation is another inducer of aromatase enzyme[87].

Obesity and hyperinsulinaemia are associated with raised leptin and reduced adiponectin levels. Similarly, hyperleptinaemia and hypoadiponectinaemia are associated with the development of insulin resistance and hyperinsulinaemia[88,89]. The elevated leptin levels activate various cascades like PI3K, MAPK, and predominantly JAK2/STAT3[90]. Leptin induces IL-6 and TNF-a production, thereby sustaining a chronic inflammatory state[91]. It increases the expression of antiapoptotic proteins (X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein), and pro-angiogenic factors including vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and hypoxia-inducible factor-1a (HIF-1a)[92]. On the other hand, adiponectin, acting via liver kinase B1 (LKB1), induces the adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) involved in the induction of cell cycle arrest and inhibition of mTOR activity. Elevated leptin and decreased adiponectin levels are known to be associated with proliferation, survival and migration of cancers including that of breast, colon, endometrium, and prostate[92].

Hypoxia and angiogenesis in the pathogenesis of cancer

The hypertrophic adipose tissue outgrows its blood supply and develops hypoxia. HIF expressed in the hypoxic TME is a dimeric transcription factor having inducible subunits (HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α , or HIF-3 α), and a constitutive subunit (HIF-1 β)[93]. Hypoxia stabilizes HIF-1 α and promotes its association with HIF-1 β . The HIF α -HIF β dimer enters the nucleus leading to activation of the downstream targets. Under hypoxic conditions, HIF-1a promotes tumour angiogenesis by activating the proangiogenic genes [(VEGFA, VEGF receptor-1 (VEGFR1), Angiopoietin (ANGPT), and Ephrin type-A receptor 1 (EphA1)], and inhibiting anti-angiogenic genes (VEGFA, VEGFR1, ANGPT, EphA1)[93]. Tumour angiogenesis is essential for the survival, growth, invasion, and metastasis of malignant lesions.

Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of cancer

The metabolically active adipose tissue is a source of ROS/reactive nitrogen species. The adipose tissue from lean individuals expresses antioxidant enzymes including glutathione peroxidase, catalase, and superoxide dismutase 1, whereas these antioxidant enzymes are downregulated in the adipose tissue from obese individuals^[83]. The oxidative stress is known to cause DNA double strand breaks and other complex DNA alterations^[94]. Low or intermediate levels of oxidative stress





Tumour initiation (Genomic instability) \rightarrow Tumour survival (Angiogenesis, ECM Remodeling) \rightarrow Tumour proliferation \rightarrow Tumour dissemination and Chemoresistance (Epithelial to mesenchymal transition)

Figure 3 The potential pathophysiological mechanisms linking obesity to cancer with special emphasis to the white adipose tissue remodelling. WAT: White adipose tissue; IR: Insulin receptor; IGF-1R: Insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor; ER-a: Oestrogen receptor-a; Ob-R: Leptin-receptor; Adipo-R: Adiponectin-receptor; FFA: Free fatty acid; LD: Lipid droplets; ECM: Extracellular matrix; XIAP: X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis protein; VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor; HIF-1a: Hypoxia inducible factor-1a; GLUT4: Glucose transporter 4.

result in genomic instability associated with the activation of oncogenes, inactivation of tumour suppressor genes, angiogenesis, and mitochondrial dysfunction[95]. Obesity *per* se is associated with increased DNA damage and decreased DNA repair. Oxidative

stress can be a consequence of obesity. Moreover, oxidative stress can be the trigger for obesity by altering the food intake and stimulating WAT deposition[96-98].

In obesity associated WAT inflammation, the inflammatory environment increases the oxidative stress to a level that it results in DNA damage, genomic instability, augmented cell survival, and cell proliferation resulting in the development of cancer^[99]. Increased ROS production has been observed in various cancers. Tumour cells express high levels of antioxidants to detoxify ROS, to establish a redox balance while maintaining a resistance to apoptosis. Though ROS can be pro-tumourigenic in most, they can also be anti-tumourigenic, initiating tumour cell death, especially when the ROS levels exceed the antioxidant threshold of cancer cells[100].

Extracellular matrix alterations in the pathogenesis of cancer

The TME comprises of a cellular and a non-cellular component. The cellular component includes immune cells, fibroblasts, adipocytes, and endothelial cells, whereas the non-cellular structural component, known as the extracellular matrix (ECM) include a meshwork of polymeric proteins like collagen, elastin, and fibronectin. The ECM provides the biochemical and biomechanical environment within which the cancer cells exist[101]. WAT inflammation induces mechanical changes in the ECM, including myofibroblast enrichment with associated increased stiffness that promote tumourigenesis^[102]. Moreover, crosstalk between cancer cells and the microenvironment is an important aspect of tumour progression, as this determines the ability of cancer cells to cross the ECM barrier, access the circulation, and establish metastases^[103]. The biochemical and biomechanical properties of the ECM influence the ability of the cancer cells to modify physiological features (plasticity) to survive in the hostile microenvironment, and to resist therapy through acquisition of stemness characteristics and epithelial to mesenchymal or mesenchymal to epithelial transitions[103,104].

Resistin, visfatin, and lipid droplets in the pathogenesis of cancer

The obesity associated chronic low-grade inflammatory state in the adipose tissue, results in genomic instability contributing to tumourigenesis. Moreover, obesity is associated with aggressive cancers, due to the crosstalk between adipose tissue and tumours during cancer progression[105]. The mature adipocytes supply adipokines and lipids to the proliferating cancer cells, whereas the adipose stromal cells, and the immune cells infiltrate the tumour tissue to secrete various paracrine factors within the TME to aid tumour progression. Presence of high levels of leptin and/or leptinreceptor is associated with poor prognosis in several cancers as evidenced by the presence of invasive tumours, lymph node involvement, distant metastasis, and chemoresistance[106]. Elevated leptin levels can upregulate the IGF-1 level acting at the stage of transcription [107]. Resistin and visfatin acts through their receptors to promote tumour cell proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis, and chemoresistance[108,109].

Obesity is associated with ectopic fat deposition containing FFAs, triglycerides and cholesterol esters in non-adipose tissues. These lipid bodies, known as lipid droplets (LDs), are seen in many cancers, where they are thought to modulate the crosstalk between tumour cells and the cellular component of the TME. LDs are associated with tumour proliferation, chemoresistance, and aggressiveness^[110]. Recently, fatty acid receptors with selectivity towards medium-long chain fatty acids (FFAR4 and FFAR1), and towards short chain fatty acids (FFAR2 and FFAR3) are discovered. FFAR4 is associated with proliferation, survival and migration of various cancers including colorectal, pancreatic and bone cancers[111]. The FFAs mediate the proliferation and metastasis of the tumour cells by activating the PI3K-AKT-mTORC1 pathway[112].

Hyperglycaemia in the pathogenesis of cancer

There are many mechanisms that can contribute to high cancer risk in patients with diabetes. The potential mechanisms, with a special emphasis to the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway, are portrayed in the Figure 4. These mechanisms can be related to antidiabetic medications[113], hormonal changes (exogenous or endogenous hyperinsulinaemia, raised IGF-1, hyperleptinaemia, and hypoadiponectinaemia), chronic inflammatory state associated with diabetes, oxidative stress associated with diabetes, decreased immunological response to cancer cells arising from competitive impairment of ascorbic acid transport into the immune cells by hyperglycaemia[114], enhanced signalling of epidermal growth factor receptor[115], accelerated cell cycle[116], chemoattractant upregulation, such as glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor that is involved in the cancer invasiveness and migration[117], cytokine receptor upregulation and ROS generation by the advanced glycation end products







Figure 4 The potential pathophysiological mechanisms linking diabetes to cancer with special emphasis to the Wnt/β-catenin signalling pathway. IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor-1; IGF-1R: Insulin-like growth factor-1; I

(AGEs)[118], and most importantly enhanced Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway resulting in increased proliferation, survival, invasion, and migration[119]. The raised insulin and IGF-1 levels are associated with overstimulation of MAPK pathway, resistance to PI3K pathway, over-expression of IR-A and activation of IGF-1R[120]. The oxidative stress associated with diabetes can occur through multiple mechanisms: direct effect of hyperglycaemia through glucose metabolism and auto-oxidation, or indirect effect from AGEs, or inflammatory cytokines[120].

Wnt is a family of secreted cysteine-rich glycoprotein ligands that bind to their membrane receptors to activate pathways including non-canonical Wnt-Ca²⁺ pathway, non-canonical planar cell polarity pathway, and canonical Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway[121]. The classification of Wnt family into canonical or non-canonical is based on the presence or absence of β -catenin. In the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, Wnt binds to its membrane co-receptor having Frizzled and lipoprotein receptor-related protein. This inactivates the Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 β (GSK3 β), resulting in β catenin accumulation in the cytoplasm. GSK3 β is an enzyme that phosphorylates the cytosolic β -catenin to trigger degradation of β -catenin by the destruction complex. GSK3 β is thereby considered as a tumour suppressor, due to its ability to inhibit the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway[122].

In the absence of hyperglycaemia, β -catenin accumulated in the cytoplasm cannot be translocated to the nucleus, to induce the expression of Wnt target genes. However, hyperglycaemia induces p300 acetyl transferase to achieve β -catenin acetylation. Moreover, hyperglycaemia inhibits Sirtuin 1 deacetylase activity. These favour formation of lymphoid enhancer factor 1 (LEF1)/ β -catenin/p300 complex and its accumulation inside the nucleus, where it displaces the transcriptional repressor known as T-cell factor (TCF)7L2-corepressor complex, and induce the expression of Wnt target genes (LEF, TCF)[118,123]. These Wnt target genes are involved in initiation, proliferation, senescence bypass, epithelial to mesenchymal transition, and metastasis of tumours[124-127].

Cancer worsens hyperglycaemia

In patients with cancer, the circulating cytokines increases the insulin resistance, decreases the peripheral glucose uptake, increases the hepatic gluconeogenesis, thereby worsens hyperglycaemia. Increased inflammatory cytokines in the TME worsens this hyperglycaemia. Moreover, the product of glycolysis by tumour cells (lactate) stimulates the hepatic gluconeogenesis, further worsening the hyperglycaemia[119]. A recently published study from Korea has shown that cancer can increase the risk of getting subsequent diabetes mellitus in cancer survivors independent of traditional risk factors for diabetes mellitus (HR 1.35; 95%CI: 1.26-1.45)[128]. Though the risk was highest in the first 2 years, it remained high for 10 years following cancer diagnosis (HR 1.19; 95%CI: 1.00-1.43). Though the risk was highest for cancer survivors of pancreatic, kidney, and liver cancers, the risk remained significantly high even for gallbladder, lung, blood, breast, stomach, and thyroid cancers.

Therapeutic strategies for cancer based on the pathophysiological mechanisms

The therapeutic agents based on Wnt/ β -catenin signalling include those that act by inhibiting Wnt ligands, inhibiting Wnt receptors/co-receptors, stabilizing the destruction complex, and inhibiting β -catenin-dependent transcriptional pathway[129]. Moreover, GSK3 β inhibitors are being developed and entering clinical trials as novel cancer treatments due to their ability to inhibit the Wnt/ β -catenin signalling pathway[130]. mTOR participates in multiple signalling pathways to regulate proliferation, autophagy, and apoptosis. Various newly developed mTOR inhibitors are entering clinical studies[112]. The free fatty acid receptors agonists are potential therapeutic agents in the management of cancers of colorectum, and ovary[131,132].

Various inhibitors of MAPK signalling pathway including RAS inhibitors, RAF inhibitors, MAPK inhibitors, and ERK inhibitors have also been recently developed[133]. Three RAF inhibitors and three MAPK inhibitors have received approval for the treatment of late-stage B-RAF harbouring cancers, either alone or in combination with other agents. However, these drugs are associated with intrinsic drug resistance in patients with RAS mutations or acquired drug resistance in patients with B-RAF mutations (after 6-10 mo of treatment). Targeting MAPK and AMPK signalling pathways together represents a promising therapeutic intervention in patients with B-RAF mutation-associated cancers, is dual inhibition of the MAPK and JAK2/STAT3 pathways using a combination of three MAPK pathway inhibitor types



including BRAF inhibitor, MAPK inhibitor, and ERK inhibitor along with either of JAK2 or STAT3 inhibitor[135].

Though PI3K signalling pathway is important in cell proliferation, and survival, the drugs acting on this pathway, including pan-PI3K inhibitors or dual PI3K/mTOR inhibitors are only modestly effective as monotherapy, with a relatively high incidence of side effects. However, isoform selective PI3K inhibitors are undergoing clinical trials with improved specificity and reduced toxicity[136]. Similarly, several AKT inhibitors are currently in various stages of clinical trials for diverse types of malignancies[137]. AMPK acts as tumour suppressor, as it mediates the effects of the LKB1 tumour suppressor by inhibiting mTORC1 production. Though metformin, and fluoxetine can activate AMPK, several small molecular AMPK agonists are under various stages of development and few of them are expected to enter clinical trials within next few vears[138].

As hyperinsulinaemia is the key driver of cancer initiation and progression in patients with diabetes and obesity, drugs that could reduce hyperinsulinaemia could potentially prevent development of cancer. At supra-physiological concentrations, metformin can exert direct anti-proliferative effects. However, at physiological concentrations the anti-proliferative effects are due to its indirect effects including reduction in hyperglycaemia, insulin, IGF-1, and leptin[139]. Clinical trials with the use of metformin in cancer therapy and prevention are ongoing. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPAR γ) is expressed in cancers including breast, prostate, colon, bladder, and thyroid cancers. Preclinical trials have shown that the PPARy agonists have tumour suppressor effect as they are pro-apoptotic, induce autophagy, decrease cancer cell invasion and metastatic potential. However, the results of these clinical trials are disappointing due to their side effect profiles [140].

CONCLUSION

Obesity and T2DM are associated with high risk of cancer, and the strongest associations are for postmenopausal breast and endometrial cancers, and colorectal carcinomas. Mendelian randomization studies have shown that obesity and hyperinsulinaemia have very strong associations with cancer, whereas hyperglycaemia and T2DM have either a weak, or no association with cancer. The relationship between T2DM and cancer is bidirectional, as cancer survivors appear to be susceptible to subsequent new onset diabetes mellitus. Optimal screening strategies for diabetes in cancer survivors should be developed. With the increasing global burden of obesity and diabetes mellitus, the burden of cancer will continue to rise in the coming decades. Interventions at all possible levels, should be done to prevent the development of cancer from these common non-communicable diseases. Pathophysiological studies have shown that hyperinsulinaemia has the primary role in tumourigenesis in the setting of obesity and diabetes, associated with chronic inflammation, and elevated adipokines. In addition, patients with diabetes mellitus exhibit enhanced Wnt/ β catenin signalling pathway as one of the possible pathophysiological mechanisms. Newer therapeutic agents based on pathophysiological mechanisms including Wnt/β catenin, MAPK, PI3K, AMPK and mTOR signalling pathways are undergoing preclinical/clinical trials for the treatment of cancer.

REFERENCES

Global Burden of Disease Cancer Collaboration, Fitzmaurice C, Abate D, Abbasi N, Abbastabar 1 H, Abd-Allah F, Abdel-Rahman O, Abdelalim A, Abdoli A, Abdollahpour I, Abdulle ASM, Abebe ND, Abraha HN, Abu-Raddad LJ, Abualhasan A, Adedeji IA, Advani SM, Afarideh M, Afshari M, Aghaali M, Agius D, Agrawal S, Ahmadi A, Ahmadian E, Ahmadpour E, Ahmed MB, Akbari ME, Akinyemiju T, Al-Aly Z, AlAbdulKader AM, Alahdab F, Alam T, Alamene GM, Alemnew BTT, Alene KA, Alinia C, Alipour V, Aljunid SM, Bakeshei FA, Almadi MAH, Almasi-Hashiani A, Alsharif U, Alsowaidi S, Alvis-Guzman N, Amini E, Amini S, Amoako YA, Anbari Z, Anber NH, Andrei CL, Anjomshoa M, Ansari F, Ansariadi A, Appiah SCY, Arab-Zozani M, Arabloo J, Arefi Z, Aremu O, Areri HA, Artaman A, Asayesh H, Asfaw ET, Ashagre AF, Assadi R, Ataeinia B, Atalay HT, Ataro Z, Atique S, Ausloos M, Avila-Burgos L, Avokpaho EFGA, Awasthi A, Awoke N, Ayala Quintanilla BP, Ayanore MA, Ayele HT, Babaee E, Bacha U, Badawi A, Bagherzadeh M, Bagli E, Balakrishnan S, Balouchi A, Bärnighausen TW, Battista RJ, Behzadifar M, Bekele BB, Belay YB, Belayneh YM, Berfield KKS, Berhane A, Bernabe E, Beuran M, Bhakta N, Bhattacharyya K, Biadgo B, Bijani A, Bin Sayeed MS, Birungi C, Bisignano C, Bitew H, Bjørge T, Bleyer A, Bogale KA, Bojia HA, Borzì AM, Bosetti C, Bou-Orm IR, Brenner H, Brewer JD, Briko AN, Briko NI,



Bustamante-Teixeira MT, Butt ZA, Carreras G, Carrero JJ, Carvalho F, Castro C, Castro F, Catalá-López F, Cerin E, Chaiah Y, Chanie WF, Chattu VK, Chaturvedi P, Chauhan NS, Chehrazi M, Chiang PP, Chichiabellu TY, Chido-Amajuoyi OG, Chimed-Ochir O, Choi JJ, Christopher DJ, Chu DT, Constantin MM, Costa VM, Crocetti E, Crowe CS, Curado MP, Dahlawi SMA, Damiani G, Darwish AH, Daryani A, das Neves J, Demeke FM, Demis AB, Demissie BW, Demoz GT, Denova-Gutiérrez E, Derakhshani A, Deribe KS, Desai R, Desalegn BB, Desta M, Dey S, Dharmaratne SD, Dhimal M, Diaz D, Dinberu MTT, Djalalinia S, Doku DT, Drake TM, Dubey M, Dubljanin E, Duken EE, Ebrahimi H, Effiong A, Eftekhari A, El Sayed I, Zaki MES, El-Jaafary SI, El-Khatib Z, Elemineh DA, Elkout H, Ellenbogen RG, Elsharkawy A, Emamian MH, Endalew DA, Endries AY, Eshrati B, Fadhil I, Fallah Omrani V, Faramarzi M, Farhangi MA, Farioli A, Farzadfar F, Fentahun N, Fernandes E, Feyissa GT, Filip I, Fischer F, Fisher JL, Force LM, Foroutan M, Freitas M, Fukumoto T, Futran ND, Gallus S, Gankpe FG, Gayesa RT, Gebrehiwot TT, Gebremeskel GG, Gedefaw GA, Gelaw BK, Geta B, Getachew S, Gezae KE, Ghafourifard M, Ghajar A, Ghashghaee A, Gholamian A, Gill PS, Ginindza TTG, Girmay A, Gizaw M, Gomez RS, Gopalani SV, Gorini G, Goulart BNG, Grada A, Ribeiro Guerra M, Guimaraes ALS, Gupta PC, Gupta R, Hadkhale K, Haj-Mirzaian A, Hamadeh RR, Hamidi S, Hanfore LK, Haro JM, Hasankhani M, Hasanzadeh A, Hassen HY, Hay RJ, Hay SI, Henok A, Henry NJ, Herteliu C, Hidru HD, Hoang CL, Hole MK, Hoogar P, Horita N, Hosgood HD, Hosseini M, Hosseinzadeh M, Hostiuc M, Hostiuc S, Househ M, Hussen MM, Ileanu B, Ilic MD, Innos K, Irvani SSN, Iseh KR, Islam SMS, Islami F, Jafari Balalami N, Jafarinia M, Jahangiry L, Jahani MA, Jahanmehr N, Jakovljevic M, James SL, Javanbakht M, Jayaraman S, Jee SH, Jenabi E, Jha RP, Jonas JB, Jonnagaddala J, Joo T, Jungari SB, Jürisson M, Kabir A, Kamangar F, Karch A, Karimi N, Karimian A, Kasaeian A, Kasahun GG, Kassa B, Kassa TD, Kassaw MW, Kaul A, Keiyoro PN, Kelbore AG, Kerbo AA, Khader YS, Khalilarjmandi M, Khan EA, Khan G, Khang YH, Khatab K, Khater A, Khayamzadeh M, Khazaee-Pool M, Khazaei S, Khoja AT, Khosravi MH, Khubchandani J, Kianipour N, Kim D, Kim YJ, Kisa A, Kisa S, Kissimova-Skarbek K, Komaki H, Koyanagi A, Krohn KJ, Bicer BK, Kugbey N, Kumar V, Kuupiel D, La Vecchia C, Lad DP, Lake EA, Lakew AM, Lal DK, Lami FH, Lan Q, Lasrado S, Lauriola P, Lazarus JV, Leigh J, Leshargie CT, Liao Y, Limenih MA, Listl S, Lopez AD, Lopukhov PD, Lunevicius R, Madadin M, Magdeldin S, El Razek HMA, Majeed A, Maleki A, Malekzadeh R, Manafi A, Manafi N, Manamo WA, Mansourian M, Mansournia MA, Mantovani LG, Maroufizadeh S, Martini SMS, Mashamba-Thompson TP, Massenburg BB, Maswabi MT, Mathur MR, McAlinden C, McKee M, Meheretu HAA, Mehrotra R, Mehta V, Meier T, Melaku YA, Meles GG, Meles HG, Melese A, Melku M, Memiah PTN, Mendoza W, Menezes RG, Merat S, Meretoja TJ, Mestrovic T, Miazgowski B, Miazgowski T, Mihretie KMM, Miller TR, Mills EJ, Mir SM, Mirzaei H, Mirzaei HR, Mishra R, Moazen B, Mohammad DK, Mohammad KA, Mohammad Y, Darwesh AM, Mohammadbeigi A, Mohammadi H, Mohammadi M, Mohammadian M, Mohammadian-Hafshejani A, Mohammadoo-Khorasani M, Mohammadpourhodki R, Mohammed AS, Mohammed JA, Mohammed S, Mohebi F, Mokdad AH, Monasta L, Moodley Y, Moosazadeh M, Moossavi M, Moradi G, Moradi-Joo M, Moradi-Lakeh M, Moradpour F, Morawska L, Morgado-da-Costa J, Morisaki N, Morrison SD, Mosapour A, Mousavi SM, Muche AA, Muhammed OSS, Musa J, Nabhan AF, Naderi M, Nagarajan AJ, Nagel G, Nahvijou A, Naik G, Najafi F, Naldi L, Nam HS, Nasiri N, Nazari J, Negoi I, Neupane S, Newcomb PA, Nggada HA, Ngunjiri JW, Nguyen CT, Nikniaz L, Ningrum DNA, Nirayo YL, Nixon MR, Nnaji CA, Nojomi M, Nosratnejad S, Shiadeh MN, Obsa MS, Ofori-Asenso R, Ogbo FA, Oh IH, Olagunju AT, Olagunju TO, Oluwasanu MM, Omonisi AE, Onwujekwe OE, Oommen AM, Oren E, Ortega-Altamirano DDV, Ota E, Otstavnov SS, Owolabi MO, P A M, Padubidri JR, Pakhale S, Pakpour AH, Pana A, Park EK, Parsian H, Pashaei T, Patel S, Patil ST, Pennini A, Pereira DM, Piccinelli C, Pillay JD, Pirestani M, Pishgar F, Postma MJ, Pourjafar H, Pourmalek F, Pourshams A, Prakash S, Prasad N, Qorbani M, Rabiee M, Rabiee N, Radfar A, Rafiei A, Rahim F, Rahimi M, Rahman MA, Rajati F, Rana SM, Raoofi S, Rath GK, Rawaf DL, Rawaf S, Reiner RC, Renzaho AMN, Rezaei N, Rezapour A, Ribeiro AI, Ribeiro D, Ronfani L, Roro EM, Roshandel G, Rostami A, Saad RS, Sabbagh P, Sabour S, Saddik B, Safiri S, Sahebkar A, Salahshoor MR, Salehi F, Salem H, Salem MR, Salimzadeh H, Salomon JA, Samy AM, Sanabria J, Santric Milicevic MM, Sartorius B, Sarveazad A, Sathian B, Satpathy M, Savic M, Sawhney M, Sayyah M, Schneider IJC, Schöttker B, Sekerija M, Sepanlou SG, Sepehrimanesh M, Seyedmousavi S, Shaahmadi F, Shabaninejad H, Shahbaz M, Shaikh MA, Shamshirian A, Shamsizadeh M, Sharafi H, Sharafi Z, Sharif M, Sharifi A, Sharifi H, Sharma R, Sheikh A, Shirkoohi R, Shukla SR, Si S, Siabani S, Silva DAS, Silveira DGA, Singh A, Singh JA, Sisay S, Sitas F, Sobngwi E, Soofi M, Soriano JB, Stathopoulou V, Sufiyan MB, Tabarés-Seisdedos R, Tabuchi T, Takahashi K, Tamtaji OR, Tarawneh MR, Tassew SG, Taymoori P, Tehrani-Banihashemi A, Temsah MH, Temsah O, Tesfay BE, Tesfay FH, Teshale MY, Tessema GA, Thapa S, Tlaye KG, Topor-Madry R, Tovani-Palone MR, Traini E, Tran BX, Tran KB, Tsadik AG, Ullah I, Uthman OA, Vacante M, Vaezi M, Varona Pérez P, Veisani Y, Vidale S, Violante FS, Vlassov V, Vollset SE, Vos T, Vosoughi K, Vu GT, Vujcic IS, Wabinga H, Wachamo TM, Wagnew FS, Waheed Y, Weldegebreal F, Weldesamuel GT, Wijeratne T, Wondafrash DZ, Wonde TE, Wondmieneh AB, Workie HM, Yadav R, Yadegar A, Yadollahpour A, Yaseri M, Yazdi-Feyzabadi V, Yeshaneh A, Yimam MA, Yimer EM, Yisma E, Yonemoto N, Younis MZ, Yousefi B, Yousefifard M, Yu C, Zabeh E, Zadnik V, Moghadam TZ, Zaidi Z, Zamani M, Zandian H, Zangeneh A, Zaki L, Zendehdel K, Zenebe ZM, Zewale TA, Ziapour A, Zodpey S, Murray CJL. Global, Regional, and National Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Years of Life Lost, Years Lived With



Disability, and Disability-Adjusted Life-Years for 29 Cancer Groups, 1990 to 2017: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. JAMA Oncol 2019; 5: 1749-1768 [PMID: 31560378 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.2996]

- 2 NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 populationbased measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. Lancet 2017; 390: 2627-2642 [PMID: 29029897 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32129-3]
- 3 NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Rising rural body-mass index is the main driver of the global obesity epidemic in adults. Nature 2019; 569: 260-264 [PMID: 31068725 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-019-1171-x]
- 4 NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (NCD-RisC). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. Lancet 2016; 387: 1513-1530 [PMID: 27061677 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)00618-8]
- Pearson-Stuttard J, Zhou B, Kontis V, Bentham J, Gunter MJ, Ezzati M. Worldwide burden of 5 cancer attributable to diabetes and high body-mass index: a comparative risk assessment. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 2018; 6: e6-e15 [PMID: 29803268 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30150-5]
- 6 Gutiérrez-Salmerón M, Chocarro-Calvo A, García-Martínez JM, de la Vieja A, García-Jiménez C. Epidemiological bases and molecular mechanisms linking obesity, diabetes, and cancer. Endocrinol Diabetes Nutr 2017; 64: 109-117 [PMID: 28440775 DOI: 10.1016/j.endinu.2016.10.005]
- Zhang Y, Liu H, Yang S, Zhang J, Qian L, Chen X. Overweight, obesity and endometrial cancer 7 risk: results from a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Biol Markers 2014; 29: e21-e29 [PMID: 24170556 DOI: 10.5301/jbm.5000047]
- 8 Wang F, Xu Y. Body mass index and risk of renal cell cancer: a dose-response meta-analysis of published cohort studies. Int J Cancer 2014; 135: 1673-1686 [PMID: 24615287 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.28813]
- 9 Alsamarrai A, Das SL, Windsor JA, Petrov MS. Factors that affect risk for pancreatic disease in the general population: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2014; 12: 1635-44. quiz e103 [PMID: 24509242 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2014.01.038]
- 10 Munsell MF, Sprague BL, Berry DA, Chisholm G, Trentham-Dietz A. Body mass index and breast cancer risk according to postmenopausal estrogen-progestin use and hormone receptor status. Epidemiol Rev 2014; 36: 114-136 [PMID: 24375928 DOI: 10.1093/epirev/mxt010]
- 11 Rui R, Lou J, Zou L, Zhong R, Wang J, Xia D, Wang Q, Li H, Wu J, Lu X, Li C, Liu L, Xia J, Xu H. Excess body mass index and risk of liver cancer: a nonlinear dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. PLoS One 2012; 7: e44522 [PMID: 23028553 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0044522]
- 12 Okabayashi K, Ashrafian H, Hasegawa H, Yoo JH, Patel VM, Harling L, Rowland SP, Ali M, Kitagawa Y, Darzi A, Athanasiou T. Body mass index category as a risk factor for colorectal adenomas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Gastroenterol 2012; 107: 1175-85; quiz 1186 [PMID: 22733302 DOI: 10.1038/ajg.2012.180]
- 13 García-Jiménez C, Gutiérrez-Salmerón M, Chocarro-Calvo A, García-Martinez JM, Castaño A, De la Vieja A. From obesity to diabetes and cancer: epidemiological links and role of therapies. Br J Cancer 2016; 114: 716-722 [PMID: 26908326 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2016.37]
- 14 Olsen CM, Green AC, Whiteman DC, Sadeghi S, Kolahdooz F, Webb PM. Obesity and the risk of epithelial ovarian cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Cancer 2007; 43: 690-709 [PMID: 17223544 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2006.11.010]
- 15 Zhao ZG, Guo XG, Ba CX, Wang W, Yang YY, Wang J, Cao HY. Overweight, obesity and thyroid cancer risk: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Int Med Res 2012; 40: 2041-2050 [PMID: 23321160 DOI: 10.1177/030006051204000601]
- 16 Hu MB, Xu H, Bai PD, Jiang HW, Ding Q. Obesity has multifaceted impact on biochemical recurrence of prostate cancer: a dose-response meta-analysis of 36,927 patients. Med Oncol 2014; 31: 829 [PMID: 24390417 DOI: 10.1007/s12032-013-0829-8]
- Lin XJ, Wang CP, Liu XD, Yan KK, Li S, Bao HH, Zhao LY, Liu X. Body mass index and risk of 17 gastric cancer: a meta-analysis. Jpn J Clin Oncol 2014; 44: 783-791 [PMID: 24951830 DOI: 10.1093/jjco/hyu082]
- Qin Q, Xu X, Wang X, Zheng XY. Obesity and risk of bladder cancer: a meta-analysis of cohort 18 studies. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013; 14: 3117-3121 [PMID: 23803089 DOI: 10.7314/apjcp.2013.14.5.3117
- Yang Y, Dong J, Sun K, Zhao L, Zhao F, Wang L, Jiao Y. Obesity and incidence of lung cancer: a 19 meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2013; 132: 1162-1169 [PMID: 22777722 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.27719]
- 20 Arnold M, Pandeya N, Byrnes G, Renehan PAG, Stevens GA, Ezzati PM, Ferlay J, Miranda JJ, Romieu I, Dikshit R, Forman D, Soerjomataram I. Global burden of cancer attributable to high bodymass index in 2012: a population-based study. Lancet Oncol 2015; 16: 36-46 [PMID: 25467404 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71123-4]
- 21 Keum N, Greenwood DC, Lee DH, Kim R, Aune D, Ju W, Hu FB, Giovannucci EL. Adult weight gain and adiposity-related cancers: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. J Natl Cancer Inst 2015; 107 [PMID: 25757865 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/djv088]
- 22 Chan DSM, Abar L, Cariolou M, Nanu N, Greenwood DC, Bandera EV, McTiernan A, Norat T. World Cancer Research Fund International: Continuous Update Project-systematic literature review



and meta-analysis of observational cohort studies on physical activity, sedentary behavior, adiposity, and weight change and breast cancer risk. Cancer Causes Control 2019; 30: 1183-1200 [PMID: 31471762 DOI: 10.1007/s10552-019-01223-w]

- 23 Freisling H, Arnold M, Soerjomataram I, O'Doherty MG, Ordóñez-Mena JM, Bamia C, Kampman E, Leitzmann M, Romieu I, Kee F, Tsilidis K, Tjønneland A, Trichopoulou A, Boffetta P, Benetou V, Bueno-de-Mesquita HBA, Huerta JM, Brenner H, Wilsgaard T, Jenab M. Comparison of general obesity and measures of body fat distribution in older adults in relation to cancer risk: meta-analysis of individual participant data of seven prospective cohorts in Europe. Br J Cancer 2017; 116: 1486-1497 [PMID: 28441380 DOI: 10.1038/bjc.2017.106]
- 24 Chadid S, Singer MR, Kreger BE, Bradlee ML, Moore LL. Midlife weight gain is a risk factor for obesity-related cancer. Br J Cancer 2018; 118: 1665-1671 [PMID: 29895939 DOI: 10.1038/s41416-018-0106-x
- Blüher M. Metabolically Healthy Obesity. Endocr Rev 2020; 41 [PMID: 32128581 DOI: 25 10.1210/endrev/bnaa004]
- 26 Lin CJ, Chang YC, Cheng TY, Lo K, Liu SJ, Yeh TL. The association between metabolically healthy obesity and risk of cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Obes Rev 2020; 21: e13049 [PMID: 32476278 DOI: 10.1111/obr.13049]
- Aune D, Sen A, Prasad M, Norat T, Janszky I, Tonstad S, Romundstad P, Vatten LJ. BMI and all 27 cause mortality: systematic review and non-linear dose-response meta-analysis of 230 cohort studies with 3.74 million deaths among 30.3 million participants. BMJ 2016; 353: i2156 [PMID: 27146380 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.i2156]
- 28 Cespedes Feliciano EM, Kroenke CH, Caan BJ. The Obesity Paradox in Cancer: How Important Is Muscle? Annu Rev Nutr 2018; 38: 357-379 [PMID: 29727593 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-082117-051723]
- 29 Lee DH, Giovannucci EL. The Obesity Paradox in Cancer: Epidemiologic Insights and Perspectives. Curr Nutr Rep 2019; 8: 175-181 [PMID: 31129887 DOI: 10.1007/s13668-019-00280-6]
- Petrelli F, Cortellini A, Indini A, Tomasello G, Zaniboni A. Obesity paradox in patients with cancer: 30 A systematic review and meta-analysis of 6,320,365 patients. medRxiv 2020; 04.28. 20082800 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.04.28.20082800]
- 31 Wiggins T, Antonowicz SS, Markar SR. Cancer Risk Following Bariatric Surgery-Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of National Population-Based Cohort Studies. Obes Surg 2019; 29: 1031-1039 [PMID: 30591985 DOI: 10.1007/s11695-018-3501-8]
- 32 Zhang K, Luo Y, Dai H, Deng Z. Effects of Bariatric Surgery on Cancer Risk: Evidence from Metaanalysis. Obes Surg 2020; 30: 1265-1272 [PMID: 31865552 DOI: 10.1007/s11695-019-04368-4]
- 33 Bruno DS, Berger NA. Impact of bariatric surgery on cancer risk reduction. Ann Transl Med 2020; 8: S13 [PMID: 32309417 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2019.09.26]
- Schauer DP, Feigelson HS, Koebnick C, Caan B, Weinmann S, Leonard AC, Powers JD, Yenumula 34 PR, Arterburn DE. Bariatric Surgery and the Risk of Cancer in a Large Multisite Cohort. Ann Surg 2019; 269: 95-101 [PMID: 28938270 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002525]
- 35 Almazeedi S, El-Abd R, Al-Khamis A, Albatineh AN, Al-Sabah S. Role of bariatric surgery in reducing the risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis. Br J Surg 2020; 107: 348-354 [PMID: 31976551 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11494]
- Tsilidis KK, Kasimis JC, Lopez DS, Ntzani EE, Ioannidis JP. Type 2 diabetes and cancer: umbrella 36 review of meta-analyses of observational studies. BMJ 2015; 350: g7607 [PMID: 25555821 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.g7607]
- 37 Bansal D, Bhansali A, Kapil G, Undela K, Tiwari P. Type 2 diabetes and risk of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis 2013; 16: 151-158, S1 [PMID: 23032360 DOI: 10.1038/pcan.2012.40]
- 38 Fernandez CJ, Chacko EC, Pappachan JM. Male Obesity-related Secondary Hypogonadism -Pathophysiology, Clinical Implications and Management. Eur Endocrinol 2019; 15: 83-90 [PMID: 31616498 DOI: 10.17925/EE.2019.15.2.83]
- 39 Kobayashi M, Mizuno T, Yuki H, Kambara T, Betsunoh H, Nukui A, Abe H, Fukabori Y, Yashi M, Kamai T. Association between serum prostate-specific antigen level and diabetes, obesity, hypertension, and the laboratory parameters related to glucose tolerance, hepatic function, and lipid profile: implications for modification of prostate-specific antigen threshold. Int J Clin Oncol 2020; 25: 472-478 [PMID: 31440861 DOI: 10.1007/s10147-019-01527-6]
- 40 Barone BB, Yeh HC, Snyder CF, Peairs KS, Stein KB, Derr RL, Wolff AC, Brancati FL. Long-term all-cause mortality in cancer patients with preexisting diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 2008; 300: 2754-2764 [PMID: 19088353 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2008.824]
- 41 Mills KT, Bellows CF, Hoffman AE, Kelly TN, Gagliardi G. Diabetes mellitus and colorectal cancer prognosis: a meta-analysis. Dis Colon Rectum 2013; 56: 1304-1319 [PMID: 24105007 DOI: 10.1097/DCR.0b013e3182a479f9
- Barone BB, Yeh HC, Snyder CF, Peairs KS, Stein KB, Derr RL, Wolff AC, Brancati FL. 42 Postoperative mortality in cancer patients with preexisting diabetes: systematic review and metaanalysis. Diabetes Care 2010; 33: 931-939 [PMID: 20351229 DOI: 10.2337/dc09-1721]
- 43 Peairs KS, Barone BB, Snyder CF, Yeh HC, Stein KB, Derr RL, Brancati FL, Wolff AC. Diabetes mellitus and breast cancer outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Oncol 2011; 29: 40-46 [PMID: 21115865 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2009.27.3011]
- Stein KB, Snyder CF, Barone BB, Yeh HC, Peairs KS, Derr RL, Wolff AC, Brancati FL. Colorectal



cancer outcomes, recurrence, and complications in persons with and without diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Dis Sci 2010; 55: 1839-1851 [PMID: 19731028 DOI: 10.1007/s10620-009-0944-8

- 45 Lega IC, Lipscombe LL. Review: Diabetes, Obesity, and Cancer-Pathophysiology and Clinical Implications. Endocr Rev 2020; 41 [PMID: 31722374 DOI: 10.1210/endrev/bnz014]
- Vincent EE, Yaghootkar H. Using genetics to decipher the link between type 2 diabetes and cancer: 46 shared aetiology or downstream consequence? Diabetologia 2020; 63: 1706-1717 [PMID: 32705315 DOI: 10.1007/s00125-020-05228-y]
- 47 Lipscombe LL, Goodwin PJ, Zinman B, McLaughlin JR, Hux JE. Increased prevalence of prior breast cancer in women with newly diagnosed diabetes. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2006; 98: 303-309 [PMID: 16538527 DOI: 10.1007/s10549-006-9166-3]
- 48 Onitilo AA, Stankowski RV, Berg RL, Engel JM, Glurich I, Williams GM, Doi SA. Breast cancer incidence before and after diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus in women: increased risk in the prediabetes phase. Eur J Cancer Prev 2014; 23: 76-83 [PMID: 23571511 DOI: 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e32836162aa]
- Onitilo AA, Berg RL, Engel JM, Glurich I, Stankowski RV, Williams G, Doi SA. Increased risk of 49 colon cancer in men in the pre-diabetes phase. PLoS One 2013; 8: e70426 [PMID: 23936428 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0070426
- 50 Salinas-Martínez AM, Flores-Cortés LI, Cardona-Chavarría JM, Hernández-Gutiérrez B, Abundis A, Vázquez-Lara J, González-Guajardo EE. Prediabetes, diabetes, and risk of breast cancer: a casecontrol study. Arch Med Res 2014; 45: 432-438 [PMID: 24937172 DOI: 10.1016/j.arcmed.2014.06.004]
- 51 Ahern TP, Hankinson SE, Willett WC, Pollak MN, Eliassen AH, Tamimi RM. Plasma C-peptide, mammographic breast density, and risk of invasive breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2013; 22: 1786-1796 [PMID: 24097198 DOI: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-0375]
- Cui P, Chen Y, Waili N, Li Y, Ma C. Associations of serum C-peptide and insulin-like growth 52 factor binding proteins-3 with breast cancer deaths. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0242310 [PMID: 33180852 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242310]
- 53 Jenab M, Riboli E, Cleveland RJ, Norat T, Rinaldi S, Nieters A, Biessy C, Tjønneland A, Olsen A, Overvad K, Grønbaek H, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Linseisen J, Boeing H, Pischon T, Trichopoulos D, Oikonomou E, Trichopoulou A, Panico S, Vineis P, Berrino F, Tumino R, Masala G, Peters PH, van Gils CH, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Ocké MC, Lund E, Mendez MA, Tormo MJ, Barricarte A, Martínez-García C, Dorronsoro M, Quirós JR, Hallmans G, Palmqvist R, Berglund G, Manjer J, Key T, Allen NE, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Cust A, Kaaks R. Serum C-peptide, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-2 and risk of colon and rectal cancers in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. Int J Cancer 2007; 121: 368-376 [PMID: 17372899 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.22697]
- 54 Cust AE, Allen NE, Rinaldi S, Dossus L, Friedenreich C, Olsen A, Tjønneland A, Overvad K, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Linseisen J, Chang-Claude J, Boeing H, Schulz M, Benetou V, Trichopoulou A, Trichopoulos D, Palli D, Berrino F, Tumino R, Mattiello A, Vineis P, Quirós JR, Agudo A, Sánchez MJ, Larrañaga N, Navarro C, Ardanaz E, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Peeters PH, van Gils CH, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Key T, Slimani N, Riboli E, Kaaks R. Serum levels of C-peptide, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-2 and endometrial cancer risk; results from the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Int J Cancer 2007; 120: 2656-2664 [PMID: 17285578 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.22578]
- 55 Liberti MV, Locasale JW. The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem Sci 2016; 41: 211-218 [PMID: 26778478 DOI: 10.1016/j.tibs.2015.12.001]
- 56 Giovannucci E, Harlan DM, Archer MC, Bergenstal RM, Gapstur SM, Habel LA, Pollak M, Regensteiner JG, Yee D. Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. CA Cancer J Clin 2010; 60: 207-221 [PMID: 20554718 DOI: 10.3322/caac.20078]
- 57 Li JB, Wang CY, Chen JW, Feng ZQ, Ma HT. Expression of liver insulin-like growth factor 1 gene and its serum level in patients with diabetes. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10: 255-259 [PMID: 14716834 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v10.i2.255]
- Crowe FL, Key TJ, Allen NE, Appleby PN, Overvad K, Grønbæk H, Tjønneland A, Halkjær J, 58 Dossus L, Boeing H, Kröger J, Trichopoulou A, Zylis D, Trichopoulos D, Boutron-Ruault MC, de Lauzon-Guillain B, Clavel-Chapelon F, Palli D, Berrino F, Panico S, Tumino R, Sacerdote C, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, van Gils CH, Peeters PH, Gram IT, Rodríguez L, Jakszyn P, Molina-Montes E, Navarro C, Barricarte A, Larrañaga N, Khaw KT, Rodwell S, Rinaldi S, Slimani N, Norat T, Gallo V, Riboli E, Kaaks R. A cross-sectional analysis of the associations between adult height, BMI and serum concentrations of IGF-I and IGFBP-1 -2 and -3 in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). Ann Hum Biol 2011; 38: 194-202 [PMID: 20731527 DOI: 10.3109/03014460.2010.507221]
- 59 Vella V, Pandini G, Sciacca L, Mineo R, Vigneri R, Pezzino V, Belfiore A. A novel autocrine loop involving IGF-II and the insulin receptor isoform-A stimulates growth of thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 245-254 [PMID: 11788654 DOI: 10.1210/jcem.87.1.8142]
- 60 Belfiore A, Frasca F, Pandini G, Sciacca L, Vigneri R. Insulin receptor isoforms and insulin receptor/insulin-like growth factor receptor hybrids in physiology and disease. Endocr Rev 2009; 30: 586-623 [PMID: 19752219 DOI: 10.1210/er.2008-0047]
- Belfiore A, Malaguarnera R, Vella V, Lawrence MC, Sciacca L, Frasca F, Morrione A, Vigneri R. 61



Insulin Receptor Isoforms in Physiology and Disease: An Updated View. Endocr Rev 2017; 38: 379-431 [PMID: 28973479 DOI: 10.1210/er.2017-00073]

- 62 Mulligan AM, O'Malley FP, Ennis M, Fantus IG, Goodwin PJ. Insulin receptor is an independent predictor of a favorable outcome in early stage breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2007; 106: 39-47 [PMID: 17221153 DOI: 10.1007/s10549-006-9471-x]
- 63 Harrington SC, Weroha SJ, Reynolds C, Suman VJ, Lingle WL, Haluska P. Quantifying insulin receptor isoform expression in FFPE breast tumors. Growth Horm IGF Res 2012; 22: 108-115 [PMID: 22551578 DOI: 10.1016/j.ghir.2012.04.001]
- Flannery CA, Saleh FL, Choe GH, Selen DJ, Kodaman PH, Kliman HJ, Wood TL, Taylor HS. 64 Differential Expression of IR-A, IR-B and IGF-1R in Endometrial Physiology and Distinct Signature in Adenocarcinoma. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016; 101: 2883-2891 [PMID: 27088794 DOI: 10.1210/jc.2016-1795
- 65 Huang J, Morehouse C, Streicher K, Higgs BW, Gao J, Czapiga M, Boutrin A, Zhu W, Brohawn P, Chang Y, Viner J, LaVallee T, Richman L, Jallal B, Yao Y. Altered expression of insulin receptor isoforms in breast cancer. PLoS One 2011; 6: e26177 [PMID: 22046260 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026177
- Jiang L, Zhu W, Streicher K, Morehouse C, Brohawn P, Ge X, Dong Z, Yin X, Zhu G, Gu Y, 66 Ranade K, Higgs BW, Yao Y, Huang J. Increased IR-A/IR-B ratio in non-small cell lung cancers associates with lower epithelial-mesenchymal transition signature and longer survival in squamous cell lung carcinoma. BMC Cancer 2014; 14: 131 [PMID: 24571613 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2407-14-131
- 67 Yu H, Rohan T. Role of the insulin-like growth factor family in cancer development and progression. J Natl Cancer Inst 2000; 92: 1472-1489 [PMID: 10995803 DOI: 10.1093/jnci/92.18.1472]
- Yakar S, Leroith D, Brodt P. The role of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor axis in 68 tumor growth and progression: Lessons from animal models. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2005; 16: 407-420 [PMID: 15886048 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2005.01.010]
- 69 Livingstone C. IGF2 and cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2013; 20: R321-R339 [PMID: 24080445 DOI: 10.1530/ERC-13-02311
- Vigneri P, Frasca F, Sciacca L, Pandini G, Vigneri R. Diabetes and cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 70 2009; 16: 1103-1123 [PMID: 19620249 DOI: 10.1677/ERC-09-0087]
- Shlomai G, Neel B, LeRoith D, Gallagher EJ. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Cancer: The Role of 71 Pharmacotherapy. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 4261-4269 [PMID: 27903154 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4044]
- 72 Lanzino M, Morelli C, Garofalo C, Panno ML, Mauro L, Andò S, Sisci D. Interaction between estrogen receptor alpha and insulin/IGF signaling in breast cancer. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 2008; 8: 597-610 [PMID: 18991569 DOI: 10.2174/156800908786241104]
- Genua M, Pandini G, Sisci D, Castoria G, Maggiolini M, Vigneri R, Belfiore A. Role of cyclic AMP response element-binding protein in insulin-like growth factor-i receptor up-regulation by sex steroids in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res 2009; 69: 7270-7277 [PMID: 19738069 DOI: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-0088]
- 74 De Marco P, Cirillo F, Vivacqua A, Malaguarnera R, Belfiore A, Maggiolini M. Novel Aspects Concerning the Functional Cross-Talk between the Insulin/IGF-I System and Estrogen Signaling in Cancer Cells. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2015; 6: 30 [PMID: 25798130 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2015.00030]
- 75 McDevitt MA, Glidewell-Kenney C, Jimenez MA, Ahearn PC, Weiss J, Jameson JL, Levine JE. New insights into the classical and non-classical actions of estrogen: evidence from estrogen receptor knock-out and knock-in mice. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2008; 290: 24-30 [PMID: 18534740 DOI: 10.1016/j.mce.2008.04.003]
- Othman EM, Leyh A, Stopper H. Insulin mediated DNA damage in mammalian colon cells and 76 human lymphocytes in vitro. Mutat Res 2013; 745-746: 34-39 [PMID: 23524287 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2013.03.006
- 77 Choe SS, Huh JY, Hwang IJ, Kim JI, Kim JB. Adipose Tissue Remodeling: Its Role in Energy Metabolism and Metabolic Disorders. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2016; 7: 30 [PMID: 27148161 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2016.000301
- Ye J, Gao Z, Yin J, He Q. Hypoxia is a potential risk factor for chronic inflammation and adiponectin reduction in adipose tissue of ob/ob and dietary obese mice. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2007; 293: E1118-E1128 [PMID: 17666485 DOI: 10.1152/ajpendo.00435.2007]
- 79 Rutkowski JM, Stern JH, Scherer PE. The cell biology of fat expansion. J Cell Biol 2015; 208: 501-512 [PMID: 25733711 DOI: 10.1083/jcb.201409063]
- 80 Amano SU, Cohen JL, Vangala P, Tencerova M, Nicoloro SM, Yawe JC, Shen Y, Czech MP, Aouadi M. Local proliferation of macrophages contributes to obesity-associated adipose tissue inflammation. Cell Metab 2014; 19: 162-171 [PMID: 24374218 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.11.017]
- 81 Cinti S, Mitchell G, Barbatelli G, Murano I, Ceresi E, Faloia E, Wang S, Fortier M, Greenberg AS, Obin MS. Adipocyte death defines macrophage localization and function in adipose tissue of obese mice and humans. J Lipid Res 2005; 46: 2347-2355 [PMID: 16150820 DOI: 10.1194/jlr.M500294-JLR200]
- 82 Lee JY, Sohn KH, Rhee SH, Hwang D. Saturated fatty acids, but not unsaturated fatty acids, induce the expression of cyclooxygenase-2 mediated through Toll-like receptor 4. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:



16683-16689 [PMID: 11278967 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M011695200]

- Iyengar NM, Gucalp A, Dannenberg AJ, Hudis CA. Obesity and Cancer Mechanisms: Tumor 83 Microenvironment and Inflammation. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 4270-4276 [PMID: 27903155 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4283
- 84 Kim JI, Huh JY, Sohn JH, Choe SS, Lee YS, Lim CY, Jo A, Park SB, Han W, Kim JB. Lipidoverloaded enlarged adipocytes provoke insulin resistance independent of inflammation. Mol Cell Biol 2015; 35: 1686-1699 [PMID: 25733684 DOI: 10.1128/MCB.01321-14]
- Lonergan PE, Tindall DJ. Androgen receptor signaling in prostate cancer development and 85 progression. J Carcinog 2011; 10: 20 [PMID: 21886458 DOI: 10.4103/1477-3163.83937]
- 86 Irahara N, Miyoshi Y, Taguchi T, Tamaki Y, Noguchi S. Quantitative analysis of aromatase mRNA expression derived from various promoters (I.4, I.3, PII and I.7) and its association with expression of TNF-alpha, IL-6 and COX-2 mRNAs in human breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2006; 118: 1915-1921 [PMID: 16287071 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.21562]
- 87 Iyengar NM, Zhou XK, Gucalp A, Morris PG, Howe LR, Giri DD, Morrow M, Wang H, Pollak M, Jones LW, Hudis CA, Dannenberg AJ. Systemic Correlates of White Adipose Tissue Inflammation in Early-Stage Breast Cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2016; 22: 2283-2289 [PMID: 26712688 DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-2239
- 88 Pérez-Hernández AI, Catalán V, Gómez-Ambrosi J, Rodríguez A, Frühbeck G. Mechanisms linking excess adiposity and carcinogenesis promotion. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2014; 5: 65 [PMID: 24829560 DOI: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00065]
- Leon-Cabrera S, Solís-Lozano L, Suárez-Álvarez K, González-Chávez A, Béjar YL, Robles-Díaz 89 G, Escobedo G. Hyperleptinemia is associated with parameters of low-grade systemic inflammation and metabolic dysfunction in obese human beings. Front Integr Neurosci 2013; 7: 62 [PMID: 23986664 DOI: 10.3389/fnint.2013.00062]
- 90 Fazolini NP, Cruz AL, Werneck MB, Viola JP, Maya-Monteiro CM, Bozza PT. Leptin activation of mTOR pathway in intestinal epithelial cell triggers lipid droplet formation, cytokine production and increased cell proliferation. Cell Cycle 2015; 14: 2667-2676 [PMID: 26017929 DOI: 10.1080/15384101.2015.1041684
- 91 Fenton JI, Hursting SD, Perkins SN, Hord NG. Interleukin-6 production induced by leptin treatment promotes cell proliferation in an Apc (Min/+) colon epithelial cell line. Carcinogenesis 2006; 27: 1507-1515 [PMID: 16597643 DOI: 10.1093/carcin/bgl018]
- 92 Hopkins BD, Goncalves MD, Cantley LC. Obesity and Cancer Mechanisms: Cancer Metabolism. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34: 4277-4283 [PMID: 27903152 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2016.67.9712]
- 93 Jiang X, Wang J, Deng X, Xiong F, Zhang S, Gong Z, Li X, Cao K, Deng H, He Y, Liao Q, Xiang B, Zhou M, Guo C, Zeng Z, Li G, Xiong W. The role of microenvironment in tumor angiogenesis. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2020; 39: 204 [PMID: 32993787 DOI: 10.1186/s13046-020-01709-5]
- 94 Kryston TB, Georgiev AB, Pissis P, Georgakilas AG. Role of oxidative stress and DNA damage in human carcinogenesis. Mutat Res 2011; 711: 193-201 [PMID: 21216256 DOI: 10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2010.12.016
- 95 Crujeiras AB, Díaz-Lagares A, Carreira MC, Amil M, Casanueva FF. Oxidative stress associated to dysfunctional adipose tissue: a potential link between obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus and breast cancer. Free Radic Res 2013; 47: 243-256 [PMID: 23409968 DOI: 10.3109/10715762.2013.772604]
- 96 Furukawa S, Fujita T, Shimabukuro M, Iwaki M, Yamada Y, Nakajima Y, Nakayama O, Makishima M, Matsuda M, Shimomura I. Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest 2004; 114: 1752-1761 [PMID: 15599400 DOI: 10.1172/JCI21625]
- 97 Horvath TL, Andrews ZB, Diano S. Fuel utilization by hypothalamic neurons: roles for ROS. Trends Endocrinol Metab 2009; 20: 78-87 [PMID: 19084428 DOI: 10.1016/j.tem.2008.10.003]
- 98 Higuchi M, Dusting GJ, Peshavariya H, Jiang F, Hsiao ST, Chan EC, Liu GS. Differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells into fat involves reactive oxygen species and Forkhead box O1 mediated upregulation of antioxidant enzymes. Stem Cells Dev 2013; 22: 878-888 [PMID: 23025577 DOI: 10.1089/scd.2012.0306]
- 99 Dang PM, Stensballe A, Boussetta T, Raad H, Dewas C, Kroviarski Y, Hayem G, Jensen ON, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, El-Benna J. A specific p47phox -serine phosphorylated by convergent MAPKs mediates neutrophil NADPH oxidase priming at inflammatory sites. J Clin Invest 2006; 116: 2033-2043 [PMID: 16778989 DOI: 10.1172/JCI27544]
- 100 Moloney JN, Cotter TG. ROS signalling in the biology of cancer. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2018; 80: 50-64 [PMID: 28587975 DOI: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2017.05.023]
- 101 Poltavets V, Kochetkova M, Pitson SM, Samuel MS. The Role of the Extracellular Matrix and Its Molecular and Cellular Regulators in Cancer Cell Plasticity. Front Oncol 2018; 8: 431 [PMID: 30356678 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00431]
- Seo BR, Bhardwaj P, Choi S, Gonzalez J, Andresen Eguiluz RC, Wang K, Mohanan S, Morris PG, 102 Du B, Zhou XK, Vahdat LT, Verma A, Elemento O, Hudis CA, Williams RM, Gourdon D, Dannenberg AJ, Fischbach C. Obesity-dependent changes in interstitial ECM mechanics promote breast tumorigenesis. Sci Transl Med 2015; 7: 301ra130 [PMID: 26290412 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3010467
- Nallanthighal S, Heiserman JP, Cheon DJ. The Role of the Extracellular Matrix in Cancer 103 Stemness. Front Cell Dev Biol 2019; 7: 86 [PMID: 31334229 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00086]
- Scott LE, Weinberg SH, Lemmon CA. Mechanochemical Signaling of the Extracellular Matrix in 104



Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. Front Cell Dev Biol 2019; 7: 135 [PMID: 31380370 DOI: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00135]

- Lengyel E, Makowski L, DiGiovanni J, Kolonin MG. Cancer as a Matter of Fat: The Crosstalk 105 between Adipose Tissue and Tumors. Trends Cancer 2018; 4: 374-384 [PMID: 29709261 DOI: 10.1016/i.trecan.2018.03.004]
- 106 Ray A, Cleary MP. The potential role of leptin in tumor invasion and metastasis. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2017; 38: 80-97 [PMID: 29158066 DOI: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2017.11.002]
- Min DY, Jung E, Kim J, Lee YH, Shin SY. Leptin stimulates IGF-1 transcription by activating AP-1 107 in human breast cancer cells. BMB Rep 2019; 52: 385-390 [PMID: 30293548]
- 108 Sudan SK, Deshmukh SK, Poosarla T, Holliday NP, Dyess DL, Singh AP, Singh S. Resistin: An inflammatory cytokine with multi-faceted roles in cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer 2020; 1874: 188419 [PMID: 32822824 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2020.188419]
- 109 Lin TC. The role of visfatin in cancer proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis, drug resistance and clinical prognosis. Cancer Manag Res 2019; 11: 3481-3491 [PMID: 31114381 DOI: 10.2147/CMAR.S199597]
- 110 Cruz ALS, Barreto EA, Fazolini NPB, Viola JPB, Bozza PT. Lipid droplets: platforms with multiple functions in cancer hallmarks. Cell Death Dis 2020; 11: 105 [PMID: 32029741 DOI: 10.1038/s41419-020-2297-3]
- Senatorov IS, Moniri NH. The role of free-fatty acid receptor-4 (FFA4) in human cancers and 111 cancer cell lines. Biochem Pharmacol 2018; 150: 170-180 [PMID: 29452095 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.02.011]
- 112 Zou Z, Tao T, Li H, Zhu X. mTOR signaling pathway and mTOR inhibitors in cancer: progress and challenges. Cell Biosci 2020; 10: 31 [PMID: 32175074 DOI: 10.1186/s13578-020-00396-1]
- 113 Suh S, Kim KW. Diabetes and Cancer: Cancer Should Be Screened in Routine Diabetes Assessment. Diabetes Metab J 2019; 43: 733-743 [PMID: 31902143 DOI: 10.4093/dmj.2019.0177]
- 114 Krone CA, Ely JT. Controlling hyperglycemia as an adjunct to cancer therapy. Integr Cancer Ther 2005; 4: 25-31 [PMID: 15695475 DOI: 10.1177/1534735404274167]
- 115 Li W, Ma Q, Li J, Guo K, Liu H, Han L, Ma G. Hyperglycemia enhances the invasive and migratory activity of pancreatic cancer cells via hydrogen peroxide. Oncol Rep 2011; 25: 1279-1287 [PMID: 21249318 DOI: 10.3892/or.2011.1150]
- 116 Masur K, Vetter C, Hinz A, Tomas N, Henrich H, Niggemann B, Zänker KS. Diabetogenic glucose and insulin concentrations modulate transcriptome and protein levels involved in tumour cell migration, adhesion and proliferation. Br J Cancer 2011; 104: 345-352 [PMID: 21179032 DOI: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6606050]
- Liu H, Ma Q, Li J. High glucose promotes cell proliferation and enhances GDNF and RET 117 expression in pancreatic cancer cells. Mol Cell Biochem 2011; 347: 95-101 [PMID: 20960036 DOI: 10.1007/s11010-010-0617-0]
- Leclerc E, Vetter SW. The role of S100 proteins and their receptor RAGE in pancreatic cancer. 118 Biochim Biophys Acta 2015; 1852: 2706-2711 [PMID: 26435083 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2015.09.022]
- 119 García-Jiménez C, García-Martínez JM, Chocarro-Calvo A, De la Vieja A. A new link between diabetes and cancer: enhanced WNT/β-catenin signaling by high glucose. J Mol Endocrinol 2014; 52: R51-R66 [PMID: 24049067 DOI: 10.1530/JME-13-0152]
- Ferroni P, Riondino S, Buonomo O, Palmirotta R, Guadagni F, Roselli M. Type 2 Diabetes and 120 Breast Cancer: The Interplay between Impaired Glucose Metabolism and Oxidant Stress. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2015; 2015: 183928 [PMID: 26171112 DOI: 10.1155/2015/183928]
- 121 Gao C, Wang Y, Broaddus R, Sun L, Xue F, Zhang W. Exon 3 mutations of CTNNB1 drive tumorigenesis: a review. Oncotarget 2018; 9: 5492-5508 [PMID: 29435196 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.23695
- Vijay GV, Zhao N, Den Hollander P, Toneff MJ, Joseph R, Pietila M, Taube JH, Sarkar TR, 122 Ramirez-Pena E, Werden SJ, Shariati M, Gao R, Sobieski M, Stephan CC, Sphyris N, Miura N, Davies P, Chang JT, Soundararajan R, Rosen JM, Mani SA. GSK3β regulates epithelialmesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell properties in triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2019; 21: 37 [PMID: 30845991 DOI: 10.1186/s13058-019-1125-0]
- 123 Chocarro-Calvo A. García-Martínez JM, Ardila-González S. De la Vieia A. García-Jiménez C. Glucose-induced β-catenin acetylation enhances Wnt signaling in cancer. Mol Cell 2013; 49: 474-486 [PMID: 23273980 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.11.022]
- 124 Anastas JN, Moon RT. WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2013; 13: 11-26 [PMID: 23258168 DOI: 10.1038/nrc3419]
- 125 Larue L, Luciani F, Kumasaka M, Champeval D, Demirkan N, Bonaventure J, Delmas V. Bypassing melanocyte senescence by beta-catenin: a novel way to promote melanoma. Pathol Biol (Paris) 2009; 57: 543-547 [PMID: 19201106 DOI: 10.1016/j.patbio.2008.11.003]
- Kovacs D, Migliano E, Muscardin L, Silipo V, Catricalà C, Picardo M, Bellei B. The role of Wnt/β-126 catenin signaling pathway in melanoma epithelial-to-mesenchymal-like switching: evidences from patients-derived cell lines. Oncotarget 2016; 7: 43295-43314 [PMID: 27175588 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.9232]
- Brown K, Yang P, Salvador D, Kulikauskas R, Ruohola-Baker H, Robitaille AM, Chien AJ, Moon 127 RT, Sherwood V. WNT/β-catenin signaling regulates mitochondrial activity to alter the oncogenic potential of melanoma in a PTEN-dependent manner. Oncogene 2017; 36: 3119-3136 [PMID:



28092677 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2016.450]

- 128 Hwangbo Y, Kang D, Kang M, Kim S, Lee EK, Kim YA, Chang YJ, Choi KS, Jung SY, Woo SM, Ahn JS, Sim SH, Hong YS, Pastor-Barriuso R, Guallar E, Lee ES, Kong SY, Cho J. Incidence of Diabetes After Cancer Development: A Korean National Cohort Study. JAMA Oncol 2018; 4: 1099-1105 [PMID: 29879271 DOI: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.1684]
- 129 Kim MJ, Huang Y, Park JI. Targeting Wnt Signaling for Gastrointestinal Cancer Therapy: Present and Evolving Views. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 33291655 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12123638]
- 130 Sahin I, Eturi A, De Souza A, Pamarthy S, Tavora F, Giles FJ, Carneiro BA. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta inhibitors as novel cancer treatments and modulators of antitumor immune responses. Cancer Biol Ther 2019; 20: 1047-1056 [PMID: 30975030 DOI: 10.1080/15384047.2019.1595283]
- Bartoszek A, Fichna J, Tarasiuk A, Binienda A, Fabisiak A, Krajewska JB, Mosińska P, Niewinna 131 K, Salaga M. Free Fatty Acid Receptors as New Potential Targets in Colorectal Cancer. Curr Drug *Targets* 2020; **21**: 1397-1404 [PMID: 31721710 DOI: 10.2174/1389450120666191112141901]
- 132 Hopkins MM, Meier KE. Free fatty acid receptor (FFAR) agonists inhibit proliferation of human ovarian cancer cells. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2017; 122: 24-29 [PMID: 28735625 DOI: 10.1016/j.plefa.2017.06.013]
- Najafi M, Ahmadi A, Mortezaee K. Extracellular-signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein 133 kinase signaling as a target for cancer therapy: an updated review. Cell Biol Int 2019; 43: 1206-1222 [PMID: 31136035 DOI: 10.1002/cbin.11187]
- 134 Yuan J, Dong X, Yap J, Hu J. The MAPK and AMPK signalings: interplay and implication in targeted cancer therapy. J Hematol Oncol 2020; 13: 113 [PMID: 32807225 DOI: 10.1186/s13045-020-00949-4
- Zhao K, Lu Y, Chen Y, Cheng J, Zhang W. Dual Inhibition of MAPK and JAK2/STAT3 Pathways 135 Is Critical for the Treatment of BRAF Mutant Melanoma. Mol Ther Oncolytics 2020; 18: 100-108 [PMID: 32637584 DOI: 10.1016/j.omto.2020.06.004]
- Yang J, Nie J, Ma X, Wei Y, Peng Y, Wei X. Targeting PI3K in cancer: mechanisms and advances 136 in clinical trials. Mol Cancer 2019; 18: 26 [PMID: 30782187 DOI: 10.1186/s12943-019-0954-x]
- 137 Kang BW, Chau I. Molecular target: pan-AKT in gastric cancer. ESMO Open 2020; 5: e000728 [PMID: 32948630 DOI: 10.1136/esmoopen-2020-000728]
- Cao W, Li J, Hao Q, Vadgama JV, Wu Y. AMP-activated protein kinase: a potential therapeutic 138 target for triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2019; 21: 29 [PMID: 30791936 DOI: 10.1186/s13058-019-1107-2]
- 139 Mitsuhashi A, Kiyokawa T, Sato Y, Shozu M. Effects of metformin on endometrial cancer cell growth in vivo: a preoperative prospective trial. Cancer 2014; 120: 2986-2995 [PMID: 24917306 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.28853]
- 140 Augimeri G, Giordano C, Gelsomino L, Plastina P, Barone I, Catalano S, Andò S, Bonofiglio D. The Role of PPARy Ligands in Breast Cancer: From Basic Research to Clinical Studies. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32937951 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12092623]



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

W J M

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 46-60

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.46

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

Molecular diagnosis in cat allergy

Florin-Dan Popescu, Carmen Saviana Ganea, Carmen Panaitescu, Mariana Vieru

ORCID number: Florin-Dan Popescu 0000-0001-6316-3155; Carmen Saviana Ganea 0000-0001-5624-730X; Carmen Panaitescu 0000-0001-8749-9972; Mariana Vieru 0000-0001-7396-5688.

Author contributions: Popescu FD, Ganea CS, Panaitescu C and Vieru M contributed intellectually to this work and have read and approved the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin:

Florin-Dan Popescu, Carmen Saviana Ganea, Mariana Vieru, Department of Allergology and Clinical Immunology, "Nicolae Malaxa" Clinical Hospital, Bucharest 022441, Romania

Florin-Dan Popescu, Mariana Vieru, Department of Allergology, "Carol Davila" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Bucharest 022441, Romania

Carmen Panaitescu, Department III Functional Sciences, Physiology Discipline, "Victor Babes" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Timisoara 300041, Romania

Carmen Panaitescu, Center for Gene and Cell Therapies in Cancer Treatment OncoGen-SCJUPB Timisoara, Timișoara 300041, Romania

Corresponding author: Florin-Dan Popescu, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Chief Doctor, Department of Allergology, "Carol Davila" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Sos Vergului 12, Sector 2, Bucharest 022441, Romania. florindanpopescu@ymail.com

Abstract

Domestic cats represent one of the most common sources of indoor allergens. All over the world, many households own cats, whose allergens are persistent and widespread. Cat allergy itself is frequent, and its symptoms vary from rhinoconjunctivitis to life-threatening asthma. In vitro diagnosis using precision medicine allergy immunoassays is important because natural cat dander extracts may differ in quality and quantity of some of the individual allergen components and other molecules. In the component-resolved diagnosis of cat allergy, singleplex and multiplex specific immunoglobulin (Ig) E assays include use of the cat-specific major allergen, secretoglobin Fel d 1 (as a species-specific molecule), other allergen components (such as lipocalins Fel d 4, cross-reacting with other animal similar molecules, and Fel d 7, present in small quantities in natural extracts), and serum albumin Fel d 2 (related to the cat-pork syndrome). IgA Fel d 5 and IgM Fel d 6 are not available as allergen components in the current commercial IgE immunoassays, but they may impair the in vitro diagnostic evaluation of cat allergy because galactose- α 1,3-galactose is an IgE-binding epitope of these native feline allergens. The benefits of molecular-based cat allergy diagnosis are continually evaluated, as the role of recombinant allergen components already known is detailed and new other molecules of interest may be discovered in the future.

Key Words: Feline; Allergens; Component-resolved diagnosis; Immunoglobulin E; Immunoassays



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

46

Romania

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 23, 2021 Peer-review started: January 23, 2021

First decision: February 14, 2021 Revised: February 22, 2021 Accepted: May 10, 2021 Article in press: May 10, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Kang YB S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li X



©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Cats are a common source of allergens for humans, and allergy to these pets are frequent and variable in their clinical manifestations. The benefits of molecular diagnosis in cat allergy include use of the species-specific major allergen Fel d 1, cross-reacting allergen components, including those present in small quantities in natural extracts, while considering molecules that may impair the in vitro allergy diagnosis. The identification and characterization of molecular cat allergens with clinical significance has allowed their use in singleplex and multiplex immunoglobulin E immunoassays for a precision diagnostic approach.

Citation: Popescu FD, Ganea CS, Panaitescu C, Vieru M. Molecular diagnosis in cat allergy. World J Methodol 2021; 11(3): 46-60

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/46.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.46

INTRODUCTION

The domestic cat (Felis domesticus, synonym: Felis catus) is one of the most common sources of indoor allergens, and allergy to cats in humans is the most common mammalian-origin immunoglobulin (Ig) E-mediated hypersensitivity. Cats have been associated with humans for more than 9500 years and are considered nowadays the most popular pets in the world. In past decades, a high incidence of allergy to these furry animals, especially among children and young adults, has been recorded. Cat allergy is currently estimated to affect approximately 1 in 5 adults worldwide. Many households own cats, indicating that there is a high exposure to their allergens. Moreover, the major and most studied cat allergen, Fel d 1, is persistent and ubiquitously present in indoor habitation spaces, dust samples from homes with or without cats, in public buildings and transportation, making allergen avoidance difficult[1-3]. The symptoms of allergy to cats vary from relatively mild rhinoconjunctivitis to potentially life-threatening asthma exacerbations^[2].

Precision medicine allergy immunoassays support the molecular-based diagnosis for cat allergy. Also known as component-resolved diagnostics (CRD), this patient IgE sensitization in vitro molecular-level diagnostic approach uses allergenic components.

To date, eight Felis domesticus molecular allergens have been recognized as Fel d 1 to Fel d 8 by the World Health Organization/International Union of Immunological Societies (WHO/IUIS)[4]: uteroglobin-like protein Fel d 1, serum albumin Fel d 2, cystatin Fel d 3, lipocalins Fel d 4 and Fel d 7, Igs Fel d 5 and Fel d 6, and latherin-like protein Fel d 8. Cat allergens are involved in the molecular mechanisms underlying IgE-mediated allergic sensitization and different cross-reactivities. Representative isoforms are described for these allergens: Fel d 1.0101, Fel d 2.0101, Fel d 3.0101, Fel d 4.0101, Fel d 5.0101, Fel d 6.0101, Fel d 7.0101, Fel d 8.0101, but none is mentioned as such in the commercial IgE immunoassays. Data on the IgE binding epitopes are scarce, with sequence positions mentioned only for Fel d 1. IgE epitope mapping of this dominant cat allergen revealed five sequential/linear epitopes on chain 1/Fel d 1-A and two on chain 2/Fel d 1-B, in addition to a discontinuous/conformational epitope on chain 1[5], the last one being located on the four helices of the Fel d 1 chain 1 spatially juxtaposed upon protein folding.

Currently, the best characterized and available cat allergenic molecules for commercial IgE assays are Fel d 1, Fel d 2, Fel d 4 and Fel d 7. The two types of such allergen components used in singleplex and multiplex immunoassays are recombinant (r) allergens (produced by recombinant DNA technology) and highly purified natural (n) allergens (purified from natural sources)[6]. All are included in the list of cat allergens presented in the European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology Molecular Allergology User's Guide^[7] and in a recent Consensus document on dog and cat allergy[8]. The characteristics of these cat allergens[7-11] are presented in Table 1 together with all other allergenic molecules recognized by the WHO/IUIS database[4].

One major advantage of the CRD is the evaluation of primary sensitization animal source, which is not feasible by using native extracts, and better management of pet



Table 1 Characteristics of cat molecular allergens[7-11] mentioned in the World Health Organization/International Union of Immunological Societies database[4]

Allergen	Biochemical designation	Source of exposure	MW in kDa
Fel d 1 ^{1,2}	Secretoglobin ⁴	Saliva, dander	38
Fel d 2 ^{1,3}	Serum albumin	Dander, serum, urine	69
Fel d 3	Cystatin ⁵	Dander	11
Fel d 4 ^{1,2}	Lipocalin ⁵	Saliva	22
Fel d 5	Immunoglobulin A ⁴	Saliva, serum	400
Fel d 6	Immunoglobulin M ⁴	Saliva, serum	800-1000
Fel d 7 ²	Lipocalin, von Ebner gland protein	Saliva	17.5
Fel d 8	Latherin-like protein	Saliva	24

The World Health Organization/International Union of Immunological Societies is commonly known by its acronym, WHO/IUIS. Fel d 1, Fel d 2, Fel d 4 and Fel d 7 allergens are available in commercial immunoglobulin E immunoassays:

¹Available in singleplex immunoassays as recombinant allergen.

²Available in multiplex immunoassays as recombinant allergen.

³Available in multiplex immunoassays as native purified component.

⁴Presence of glycosylation.

⁵Glycosylation deduced from sequence analysis. MW: Molecular weight.

allergic patients^[1]. The importance of molecular-based diagnosis is continually evaluated, as the role of allergen components already identified in cat allergy is detailed, and new molecules of interest may be discovered.

CAT ALLERGEN COMPONENTS FOR MOLECULAR DIAGNOSIS

A deep understanding of the most important cat allergens is crucial for assessing allergen products for in vitro molecular diagnosis to evaluate in detail the IgE sensitization profile of patients allergic to furry pets. Other allergen proteins, recently identified and defined, must also be discussed for their potential use in CRD in the future.

Fel d 1

The cat major allergen Fel d 1 is a small tetrameric protein composed of two heterodimers, each containing two distinct chains (chain 1, a polypeptide, and chain 2, a glycopeptide with N-linked oligosaccharide composed of triantennary glycans) linked by disulfide bonds in its native form. This allergen is a secreted globular protein belonging to the secretoglobin family. It is homologous with the human Clara cell 10kDa phospholipid-binding protein and the progesterone-binding rabbit uteroglobin (uteroglobinlike protein). Fel d 1's biological function for the cat is not clearly established, initially being discussed that it may have a protective role in cat skin[12-16]. Fel d 1 is probably involved in immunoregulation and intra-species chemical communication, binding with good affinity to some fatty acids and steroids, the best ligands being lauric acid (cat pheromone with effects on social interactions) and androsterone (volatile steroid pheromone). Fel d 1 is a thermostable protein produced in various anatomical areas of cats, mainly by the sebaceous glands and anal sacs, but also by salivary and lacrimal glands. Fel d 1 is primarily found in cat skin and hair follicles. As cats groom, Fel d 1 is distributed on the fur, then shed with hair and dander. It is easily airborne and found in various indoor environments, such as homes with and without cats, hotels, schools, buses and trains, occupational and/or leisure environments, including cinemas, animal facilities, pet shops, farms. Pet owner's clothing is a significant source of allergen dispersal. Up to 60% of airborne Fel d 1 molecules are carried by small particles, of which 75% are more than 5 μ m in diameter and 25% less than 2.5 µm. This allergen is very pervasive indoors, many airborne Fel d 1 settles out within a couple of days of disturbance, but smaller particles can remain airborne for up to two weeks or even longer. Measurement of this secretoglobin allergen levels in settled dust should not be used as a surrogate for airborne exposure. Moreover, the concept of a specific allergen threshold amount of exposure expected to



provoke respiratory symptoms (such as $8 \mu g/g$ of dust) is also probably misleading, mentioning besides that IgE sensitization can occur at much lower Fel d 1 levels [1,3,12,16].

All cats produce Fel d 1 regardless of age, sex, breed, body weight, hair length or housing (indoors vs outdoors). Fel d 1 is produced under testosterone control (male cats produce more Fel d 1 than females if uncastrated and 3-5 times less after neutering, while its production could be restored to pre-neutering levels with exogenous testosterone administration)[1]. In the fur of domestic cats, Fel d 1 levels are significantly higher than those of Fel d 4, and cat-to-cat variability was revealed. The quantity of Fel d 1 on cat hair can range from $1 \mu g/g$ to more than 1770 $\mu g/g$, with high concentrations on hair from the neck region. The hair length does not seem to affect Fel d 1 production. Fel d 1 is also present in cat saliva, but in lower concentrations than Fel d 4. Urine is not a significant source of Fel d 1, but hormonal status affects its urinary levels in male cats, making it possible that litter boxes of intact male cats to be a source of this allergen at home[3,17]. Washing cats is of little benefit, because even if it reduces the amount of Fel d 1 on the skin and fur, the effect does not last long as the amount of Fel d 1 returns to its original level in just 2 d[12]. Feeding cats a diet with an egg product ingredient containing anti-Fel d 1 IgY reduces active Fel d 1 in cat saliva and dander, decreasing the environmental allergen levels [18,19].

The recombinant cat allergen rFel d 1 is produced in an *Escherichia coli* expression system by direct fusion of chain 2 and chain 1. This major allergen accounts for 60%-90% of the total allergenic activity of cat dander extracts, while specific IgE antibodies to rFel d 1 are reported in 90%-98% of European subjects with cat allergy. This is aligned with African data which revealed that nearly 75% of the patients with cat allergy from Zimbabwe have IgE antibodies against rFel d 1[12-15]. Rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus) Ory c 3 secretoglobin from saliva and dander, belonging to the same secretoglobin family, has very low sequence identity with Fel d 1, with no known IgE cross-reactivity^[20]. Sequence similarity of Fel d 1 was reported with the skin brachial gland protein of an arboreal prosimian from Southeast Asia, named low loris (Nycticebus spp). Used for communication and defense when mixed with saliva, this gland protein has induced several cases of anaphylaxis in humans, some lethal, reported after the prosimian bites[21,22].

Fel d 1-related epithelial allergens from the majority of "big cats" (Table 2) are crossreactive with domestic cat Fel d 1[11,23-26]. Sera from cat-allergic patients were analyzed by the first-generation solid-phase isotopic allergosorbent immunoassay using big cat fur extracts, obtained from hair collected by brushing animals (from the Natura Altis Magistra Zoo, Amsterdam, The Netherlands) at the time they were losing their winter fur. All subjects with positive skin test to cat extracts had IgE antibodies reacting with hair extracts from seven Felidae species (lion, Siberian tiger, snow leopard, jaguar, puma, ocelot, serval) but not caracal[23]. Cat-allergic individuals may be uncommonly exposed to such cross-reactive Fel d 1-related allergens in special settings, like zoos, wild parks and circus visits, but only very few cases developed severe allergic reactions upon exposure to lions and tigers in circuses[23-27]. The weight of big cats used in the past in circus entertainment is much greater than that of common domestic cats, and therefore it is likely that they produce large quantities of aeroallergens. Moreover, Siberian tiger hair extract contains 15-times more Fel d 1-like allergens per gram than that of lion[23].

rFel d 1 is available in singleplex and multiplex immunoassays, being considered a marker of genuine cat sensitization. It is presented together with other allergens used in singleplex and multiplex IgE assays [7,8,10,28,29] in patients with cat allergy in Table 3

Fel d 2

The serum albumin Fel d 2 is a minor cat allergen, despite being an important protein in dander. All cats have this allergen. It is an allergen component available as a native purified and recombinant molecule in singleplex and multiplex immunoassays (Table 3). Serum albumin is a large, globular non-glycosylated protein, with α -helical structures stabilized by disulfide bridges. It is synthesized in the liver and represents a main protein constituent of plasma, with important transporter and colloid-osmotic pressure regulating roles. The amino acid identity between cat serum albumin and those of other mammals, such as dog Can f 3, pig Sus s 1, cattle Bos d 6 and horse Equ c 3, is high (75%-85% on average). Fel d 2 is considered a useful biomarker for high risk of cross-reactivity with other serum albumins[29,30-32]. Many patients allergic to cat albumin react to dog and horse albumins. About 15%-25% of cat-allergic patients are sensitized to feline serum albumin. In European allergic patients, monosensitization to Fel d 2 was found in 3.2%-7% [30-33]. There are patients with respiratory



Table 2 Cat Fel d 1 and other cross-reactive Fel d 1-related allergens from big cats (Felidae family)[11,22-25]				
Subfamily	Species	Common name	Allergen	
Felinae	Felis domesticus (Felis catus)	Domestic cat	Fel d 1	
	Leopardus pardalis	Ocelot	Leo p 1	
	Leptailurus serval	Serval	Lep s 1	
	Puma concolor	Puma/cougar	Pum c 1	
Pantherinae	Panthera leo	Lion	Pan l 1	
	Panthera onca	Jaguar	Pan o 1	
	Panthera pardus	Leopard	Pan p 1	
	Panthera tigris longipilis	Siberian tiger	Pan t 1	
	Panthera uncia (Uncia uncia)	Snow leopard	Unc u 1	

Table 3 Allergens used in singleplex and multiplex immunoglobulin E immunoassays in patients with cat allergy[7,8,10,28,29]					
Protein family	Allergen	IgE sensitization biomarker			
Secretoglobins	rFel d 1	Major cat allergen, species-specific biomarker of primary sensitization to cat, as efficient as or even superior compared to natural cat extract in diagnosis			
Lipocalins	rFel d 4	Major cat allergen, biomarker of cross-sensitization to other animal lipocalins, cross-reactive with lipocalins dog rCan f 6, horse rEqu q 1, and mouse nMus m 1			
	rFel d 7	Minor cat allergen, biomarker of cross-sensitization to dog lipocalin, cross-reactive with lipocalin dog rCan f 1			
Serum albumins	n/rFel d 2	Minor cat allergen, biomarker of sensitization to non-human serum albumin, cross-reactive with pork rSus $d1/nSus s1$ (cat-pork syndrome) and other serum albumins bovine nBod d 6, dog nCan f 3, and horse nEqu c 3			
Immunoglobulins	nFel d 5	Minor cat allergens IgA Fel d 5 and IgM Fel d 6 carry α-Gal epitopes involved in the α-Gal syndrome and in impairing cat allergy <i>in vitro</i> diagnostics in parasite-infected patients; α-Gal biomarker: nBos d TG			

Major cat allergen: Allergen recognized by immunoglobulin E antibodies of > 50% of cat allergic patients; Minor allergen: Allergen recognized by < 50% of the allergic population; IgA: Immunoglobulin A; IgM: Immunoglobulin M; a-Gal: Galactose-a-1,3-galactose; TG: Thyroglobulin, bovine.

> allergy who present exclusive IgE sensitization to many serum albumins of furry animals. Regarding the clinical relevance, Fel d 2 sensitization is associated with moderate/severe rhinitis and diagnosis of asthma; it is also associated with severity of respiratory symptoms and with FeNO, as a type 2 biomarker, in young asthmatics. Moreover, high levels of IgE against Fel d 2 are associated with atopic dermatitis in children with cat allergy [34-38]. Fel d 2 is also important in relation to food allergy [1].

> Cat-pork syndrome, described below[39-41], is the main food allergy phenotype in cat-allergic patients and it is secondary to the cross-reactivity of Fel d 2 with other albumins from mammals. This entity consists primarily of IgE-mediated respiratory symptoms following exposure to cats, and secondarily of food allergy symptoms after the ingestion of pork meat; therefore, the term "cat-pork syndrome" seems to be appropriate, although it is also frequently referred to as "pork-cat syndrome". The clinical picture varies from oral itching and urticaria to anaphylaxis. Fatal anaphylaxis after eating wild boar meat has also been reported. Symptoms usually occur within 30-45 min after eating pork meat, and it is not related to tick bites. Although most of the patients report reactions only to pork, some (10%-20%) report reactions to beef as well, including broiled beef intestines, but no one to cow's milk. Because albumin is a heatlabile protein, fresh meat, undercooked or dried and smoked pork are more consistent elicitors. Pork grilled meat, ribs, ham, sausages and hamburger have been mentioned as triggers. Only 1%-3% of patients who are allergic to cats seem to be at risk for allergic reactions to pork consumption, keeping in mind that only one-third of subjects who are IgE-sensitized to porcine serum albumin are likely to present food allergy to pork meat. Identification of the component-specific sensitivity pattern related to catpork syndrome allowed use of the cat albumin Fel d 2 and swine serum albumin nSus s 1 as markers for CRD in this clinical entity. Domestic pig (Sus scrofa domesticus) components nSus s 1 and rSus d 1 are available for IgE singleplex and multiplex immunoassays. These serum albumin molecules also cross-react with dog serum albumin nCan f 3 and bovine serum albumin (BSA) nBos d 6[29,42-45].



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

A new subphenotype of cat-pork syndrome was recently reported as anaphylaxis to BSA-containing surgical tissue adhesive (45% BSA) used as an adjunct for achieving hemostasis during cardiovascular surgery in a patient with asymptomatic long-term home exposure to cat and IgE sensitization to rFel d 1 and nFel d 2, but not to galactose- α 1,3-galactose (α -Gal) containing bovine thyroglobulin. As Fel d 2 sensitization may predict cross-reactivity to nonhuman mammalian serum albumins, preoperative assessment of IgE sensitization to rFel d 2 in cat-allergic patients could be meaningful to avoid bovine and porcine surgical products[46]. BSA contained in culture media used in artificial insemination is an important anaphylaxis risk factor in patients allergic to cats, with sensitization to BSA being another possible cause of allergic reactions to some vaccines[47-49]. Moreover, equine serum albumin (also presenting high sequence identity with Fel d 2) is a causative factor of anaphylaxis to horse serum-based snake antivenom[50].

Feld 3

Fel d 3 cystatin is a minor allergen, unavailable in commercial immunoassays. The prevalence of IgE reactivity to rFel d 3 is about 10%. It belongs to the cystatin superfamily of cysteine protease inhibitors (CPIs), being part of the stefin family. It is a small acidic protein, without cysteine residues or disulfide bonds, and having 80% sequence identity to bovine cystatin. Another animal cystatin with similar low molecular mass is Can f 8[51]. Besides Fel d 3 from cat dander, IgE-reactive cystatins have been identified in the kiwi fruit Actinidia deliciosa (Act d 4), Ambrosia artemisifolia weed pollen (Amb a CPI), and the parasitic nematode Anisakis simplex (Ani s 4). The sequence similarity between phytocystatin Act d 4 and other cystatins is only 13% to Fel d 3, 27% to Ani s 4, and 40% to Amb a CPI[52].

Fel d 4

The lipocalin Fel d 4 is a major allergen synthesized in cat salivary glands and found primarily in saliva in higher concentrations compared with Fel d 1. This cat allergen is involved in feline chemical communication, serving as a kairomone by eliciting defensive behavior in mice. Cat saliva is the main source of this allergen, which is deposited through grooming on the fur. Fel d 4 levels have no relation to hair length and its salivary levels appeared to be greater in neutered than intact female cats due to hormonal influences[6,8,17].

Fel d 4 is available as a recombinant molecule [10,28] in single plex and multiplex immunoassays (Table 3). Lipocalins constitute the largest mammalian allergen family and, despite their highly conserved structure, they have variable sequence identities and cross-reactivities. The Fel d 4 cat allergen molecule has sequence identity of 67% with dog lipocalin Can f 6 and similar to horse lipocalin Equ c 1, which explains the moderate-high risk of cross-reactivity with these clinically significant allergen molecules. This is an argument for using such cross-reactive animal allergen molecules in CRD. Although Equ c 1 was regarded as a horse allergen marker, it should be considered as a highly cross-reactive molecule with the cat and dog lipocalins Fel d 4 and Can f 6. Specific IgE antibodies to Can f 6 are present in nearly 40% of patients sensitized to dogs; however, they are present in 60% of patients sensitized to both cats and dogs, which could be related to sequence identity with Fel d 4. There are patients with selective IgE reactivity to Fel d 4 but not to Equ c 1, and patients with IgE reactivity to Fel d 4 but not to Can f 6. Other major lipocalins, rabbit Ory c 4, domestic guinea pig Cav p 6, rat Rat n 1, and mouse Mus m 1, show identities between 47% and 52%. Fel d 4 shows weak cross-reactivity with the other dog lipocalin Can f 2, having less than 22% of their sequences being identical [29,53-55].

It is generally accepted that Fel d 4 lipocalin is the second most frequent sensitizing feline allergen. IgE reactivity to Fel d 4 is found in up to 63% of cat-sensitized subjects. The majority of children sensitized to Fel d 4 are also sensitized to Fel d 1 but not vice versa. In Central European cat-allergic patients, the sensitization rate to Fel d 4 is inferior to Fel d 1 but higher compared to Fel d 2, while monosensitization to Fel d 4 is scarce. Sensitization to this allergen molecule has relevance to the clinical presentation, as Fel d 4 is associated with the presence of asthma symptoms. Moreover, high levels of IgE to Fel d 4 are also associated with atopic dermatitis in children with cat allergy[29,33-35,56].

Fel d 5 and Fel d 6

IgA Fel d 5 and IgM Fel d 6 are present in high concentrations as Igs in cat saliva[56] and serum, and also in natural cat dander extracts, but are not used as molecular allergen components in the commercial IgE immunoassays. The IgE reactivity was found to be directed at carbohydrates of these Igs (lack of activity to deglycosylated cat



IgA) and to IgM from other animal species (rabbit, mouse, dog, pig, cow and horse) but not to human Igs. α-Gal is an IgE-binding epitope of both cat allergen Igs Fel d 5 and Fel d 6, which are cross-reactive with each other[57-59]. Serum specific IgE antibodies to the α -Gal carbohydrate epitope cause impaired *in vitro* diagnostic evaluation of cat allergy. These specific Igs may be present in patients with cat sensitization but they are not associated with rhinitis or asthma[15,29].

The glycosylated allergen component nFel d 5 present in cat dander extracts is recognized by nearly 40% of cat-sensitized European patients. Less than 20% of African patients with cat allergy have IgE against Fel d 5 compared with 66% among parasite-infected subjects without reported symptoms of cat allergy; of note, the majority (85%) of nonallergic Zimbabwean subjects with schistosomiasis and/or geohelminth infections showed anti- α -Gal IgE antibodies. The greater IgE binding to α -Gal vs Fel d 5 is explained by the lower number of α -Gal epitopes in nFel d 5. There is a strong correlation reported for the IgE antibody levels and cat dander extract, Fel d 5 and α -Gal specifically but not rFel d 1. The α -Gal epitope on IgA Fel d 5 is responsible for IgE anti-α-Gal reactivity to cat epithelia in parasite-infected patients[15]. Moreover, serum IgE antibodies to cat dander extract were detected among African children from rural Kenya without positive skin tests to cat epithelia extract[60], and no significant relationship was found between IgE and positive skin prick test responses to cat among South African children[61]. The α-Gal epitope is present not only on Fel d 5 and Fel d 6 but also on parasites. In addition, IgE antibodies against α -Gal are induced by tick bites. Therefore, nFel d 5 and nFel d 6 are not good markers for cat allergy diagnosis[15].

In order to decipher the problem of a-Gal cross-sensitivity in the cat IgE sensitization in vitro assessment, it is recommended to use at least the reliable rFel d 1 and the a-Gal biomarkers from a molecular perspective[15,29,62]. a-Gal-bearing glycoproteins are used in solid-phase immunoassays as biomarkers. Besides a-Gal coupled to human serum albumin and beef (Bos domesticus) carbonic anhydrase nBos d CA, the most widely used a-Gal markers are the recombinant human/murine chimeric monoclonal antibody cetuximab (2.04 µg α-Gal per mg) and the beef thyroglobulin (5.6 μ g of α -Gal per gram). The performance characteristics in immunoassays of the last two biomarkers are relatively similar[63-67]. The bovine thyroglobulin (Bos d) α -Gal carrying molecule is commonly used in the single plex fluorescence enzyme immunoassay with capsulated cellulose polymer as solidphase [6,28,68]. Regarding the induction of IgE antibodies against α -Gal in humans, bites of hard ticks from the Ixodidae family are the most important primary sensitization source. The prevalence of α-Gal IgE sensitization depends on the degree of exposure to ticks[69,70]. Individuals from rural areas or with forest-related jobs have higher risk of such but only less than 10% of them present features of a-Gal syndrome[63,71-73].

The α-Gal syndrome consists of IgE-mediated allergy to α-Gal presenting as lateonset anaphylaxis after ingestion of pig, beef or lamb meat/viscera, or immediateonset anaphylaxis to parenteral exposure to drugs containing a-Gal, such as cetuximab, snake antivenom, gelatin in plasma volume substitutes, and some vaccines[67,70]. In the α-Gal syndrome, most patients experience a decline in α-Galspecific IgE titers by avoiding tick bites; as such, these levels should be reassessed at regular intervals[74]. The mechanisms by which parasites also induce α-Gal-specific IgE antibodies in subjects with no history of cat allergy are not elucidated but mucosal blood feeding may be involved, such as for urinary blood fluke (Schistosoma haematobium) or intestinal blood-feeding hookworms (Ancylostoma duodenale, Necator americanus)[15]. Keeping in mind that the human blood group B antigen represents a fucosylated α -Gal structure, some studies have revealed that individuals with blood groups AB and B may present a reduced susceptibility to IgE sensitization to a-Gal[<mark>63,73</mark>].

An association of α -Gal syndrome with anaphylaxis to pork kidney and allergic rhinoconjunctivitis with cat sensitization, presenting serum IgE to cat extract but no specific IgE to Fel d 1, has been reported[75]. Although patients allergic to red meat with specific IgE response against α-Gal are considered not to have IgE antibody responses to plant-derived cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants[67], this association is also possible [67,76]. Interestingly, α -Gal and cross-reactive carbohydrate determinants among the N-glycans of salivary glands of ticks were also reported recently[29,77].

Fel d 7

Fel d 7 is available as recombinant cat lipocalin in the singleplex fluorescence enzyme immunoassay with capsulated cellulose polymer solid-phase and the new generation



macroarray nanotechnology-based multiplex immunoassay[10,28] (Table 3). It was reported to bind IgE in approximately 40% of subjects with rhinoconjunctivitis and/or asthma exposed to cats. Almost 20% of patients with Fel d 7-specific IgE do not have detectable IgE against Fel d 1. Fel d 7 is present in small quantities in natural extracts. The concentration of this lipocalin in cat hair extracts is approximately 0.24 µg/mL. Fel d 7 is a von Ebner gland protein isolated from the posterior region of the cat tongue, known to contain lingual salivary glands. It shares a high sequence identity (62%) with the major dog allergen Can f 1, giving it high potential for cross-reactivity with Can f 1. Thus, Fel d 7 may contribute to respiratory allergy symptoms not only in cat but also in dog-allergic patients. Because the concentration of Fel d 7 in cat saliva is about 4 mg/mL, it is plausible that cat licking may be a route for the sensitization to Fel d 7 along with the inhalation of aerosolized allergen[29,78-81].

Fel d 8

Fel d 8 is a distinct latherin-like protein. The frequency of IgE binding of sera from patients with respiratory cat allergy to rFel d 8 is nearly 20%. The IgE binding to Fel d 8 is highly correlated with binding to Fel d 1. Fel d 8 is not usually detected in natural cat dander extracts, being found in the saliva of cats and isolated from their submandibular salivary gland[78]. It has a high degree of homology to horse Equ c 4 and Equ c 5. Equ c 5 is an allergen that binds IgE in 77% of horse-allergic patients, and rEqu c 4 is available in the new macroarray multiplex immunoassay[10,80,81]. Fel d 8 belongs to the lipopolysaccharide-binding protein/bactericidal permeability-increasing family[81] and it is not yet available in the commercial IgE immunoassays.

Other cat allergens

Fel d S100, a calcium-binding protein detected in cat saliva, and Fel d Hp, a haptoglobin detected in blood, are two additional allergens mentioned in the Allergome database[11,81], also not currently available in commercial immunoassays. S100A12 and haptoglobin are undenominated IgE binding proteins. The IgE antibody response to S100A12 is of low prevalence, but the specific IgE titer could be high in some individuals. This is of interest as it suggests inhalation of this calgranulin inflammatory mediator, known to have interspecies activity. IgE binding to plasma haptoglobin is infrequent, but significantly more IgE binding was found in subjects with cat-allergy than in those without allergy. The likely source of exposure to this acute phase protein is saliva from cats with poor gingival hygiene[81].

Because a frequent association between cat and dog sensitization is known for several decades, and a common question is whether this is due to co-sensitization to different allergen components or cross-reactivity between cat and dog allergenic molecules, a short presentation of additional allergens related to this aspect is needed.

Cross-reactivity between cat and dog allergens is usually explained by highsequence homologies or structural similarities between lipocalins Fel d 4 and Can f 6, albumins Fel d 2 and Can f 3, as mentioned above, but recently a cat Niemann-Pick type C2 (Cat-NPC2) allergenic protein, a homologue of Can f 7, was also detected in cat dander extracts. Can f 7 shares 78% sequence identity with Cat-NPC2, and this clearly indicates the possible cross-reactivity between them. rCat-NPC2 can bind specific IgE in at least 14.5% of cat-allergic subjects[82]. This newly identified and characterized animal allergen has the potential of becoming a useful tool for CRD, but it is not yet available in commercial IgE immunoassays. Interestingly, cross-reactivity was observed also between Cat-NPC2 and Der f 2 (also belonging to the NPC2 family of proteins) indicating a possible association between IgE sensitizations to cat, dog and house dust mites[82].

Moreover, a previous report demonstrated the presence of a Fel d 1-like allergen with a molecular weight of 20 kDa in dog dander extracts, which may be responsible for *in vitro* double positivity to cat and dog. The clinical significance of this cross-reactivity is not clear since no patients with IgE cross-reactivity to this Can f CRA (Fel d 1 cross-reactive allergen) revealed clinical symptoms to dogs[83].

Regarding kallikrein allergens, no patterns of cross-reactivity of cat allergens with male dog prostatic kallikrein Can f 5 have been identified to date. Therefore, even if there are few case reports of human seminal plasma allergy in women sensitized to Can f 5 from dog urine and dander[29,84-86], no such cross-reactivity reactions have been published in cat allergic patients.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

MOLECULAR APPROACH TO CAT ALLERGY

The molecular approach to cat allergy involves allergen components used in singleplex and multiplex immunoassays for in vitro diagnosis, presented in Table 3. The designation of allergen names is derived from the source, the first three letters of the genus, the first letter of the species, and a number indicating the chronology of the discovery, for example, Fel d 1 is the first allergen from the domestic cat Felis domesticus^[87]. The common exposure to these allergen molecules includes different indoor settings, such as homes with cats as pets, but also in schools, daycare centers, public buildings, workplaces, and public transport vehicles, particularly if pet ownership is more prevalent in the area[88] because of their transportability on clothing[89]. A popular misconception persists regarding cat allergy related to the belief that certain cat breeds produce less allergens and are 'hypoallergenic' due to their fur type[90]. The major allergen Fel d 1 is produced by the cat's sebaceous glands, and, together with Fel d 4, is detected in the saliva and distributed on the fur by grooming. In common neutered domestic cats, fur length and color or body size did not relate Fel d 1 levels in reservoir dust from homes. Fel d 4 levels are also not related to hair length, however, neutered female cats have higher levels compared to unneutered ones [17,86,91]. There have been attempts to obtain so-called 'allergy-free' transgenic cats characterized by the absence of Fel d 1, by disrupting the coding sequence of the target gene with a specialized construct^[92] or by CRISPR-Cas9mediated genomic editing of Fel d 1[93]. To date, there are no hypoallergenic or allergen-free cats[1].

The diagnosis of cat allergy may seem uncomplicated at first glance, since most patients react to the main allergen molecule Fel d 1, but it is important to keep in mind that the natural cat dander extracts used for diagnosis, while containing this allergen mainly, differ in the quality and quantity of cat individual allergens and other molecules. Moreover, contamination of commercially available animal dander extracts with house dust mite allergens is possible and may induce *in vivo* false-positive responses. CRD using individual allergenic proteins can improve the diagnosis of mammalian pet allergy[56,94-96].

Recombinant and well-defined allergen components have great advantages for CRD immunoassays used to assess IgE sensitization patterns to cat allergen components; these include primary sensitization and presence of allergy, polysensitization and presence of severe allergy, secondary sensitization, cross-reactivity to other furry animals, and irrelevant sensitization [1,86]. In patients suspected of cat allergy, Fel d 1, Fel d 2 and Fel d 4 seem to be the most important allergen components to assess. IgE sensitization to more than three cat allergen molecules in children is superior in predicting future cat symptoms than sensitization to cat extract, and sensitization to the major species-specific allergen is a predictor of cat allergy at adult age[9,29]. Sensitization to Fel d 1 is associated with asthma, and polysensitization (Fel d 1, Fel d 2 and Fel d 4) is associated with both clinical reactivity to cat and also bronchial responsiveness and increased FeNO as a type 2 inflammation biomarker. Asthmatic children with cat allergy have higher Fel d 1-specific IgE levels than children with rhinitis only. Asthma symptoms to cat exposure are associated with specific IgE antibodies to cat allergens Fel d 1 and Fel d 4 in cat-allergic children. Moreover, IgE sensitization to Fel d 2 and Fel d 4 is associated with atopic dermatitis in children with cat allergy [86].

CONCLUSION

The benefits of molecular diagnosis in cat allergy involve the use of the cat-specific major allergen as a species-specific molecule, cross-reacting allergen components, including those present in small quantities in natural extracts, while considering those impairing the *in vitro* allergy diagnosis. Identification and characterization of molecular cat allergens allowed their use in singleplex and multiplex immunoassays for a precision diagnostic approach, with assessing their clinical significance and the association with cat allergy phenotypes and severity[29].

The manifestations of cat allergy vary widely, from rhinitis and conjunctivitis to severe asthma. Other than respiratory and ocular allergy, cat licks can cause contact urticaria upon exposure to the saliva, while cat bites can cause anaphylaxis in patients sensitized to cats[2,97,98]. IgE sensitization to cat epithelia increases the risk of patients to develop asthma or rhinitis. In addition, persistent atopic dermatitis lesions occur more often in patients sensitized to cat dander. There is also clear evidence for the clinical importance of assessing cat allergen components in relation to both α -Gal and

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

cat-pork syndrome[29].

Allergenic molecules induce specific IgE sensitization of mast cells and trigger type 2 allergic inflammation upon re-exposure. The availability of natural purified or recombinant allergens improved the understanding of the molecular mechanisms leading to these immune responses, which vary depending on several structural and biological characteristics of these allergens. In addition, other pro-inflammatory properties of some allergens must be mentioned, including late-phase allergic inflammation induced by non-IgE reactive peptides of Fel d 1 via major histocompatibility complex-restricted T cell activation[99-101].

The molecular approach for cat allergy allows a better understanding of the exposure and immune response to feline allergens, the relationship of these specific IgE responses to symptoms, and their clinical relevance^[29].

Identification of cat allergen-specific IgE antibodies, either bound to mast cells by skin prick tests or in serum by immunoassays, detects IgE sensitization, a condition necessary but not sufficient to make the definitive diagnosis of cat allergy[100]. CRD, with or without in vivo tests, must be used within the framework of a detailed clinical history, because IgE sensitization does not necessarily imply clinically relevant allergy[86,99,100]. A deeper in vitro analysis with the help of IgE immunoassays using molecular allergens creates the bigger picture of the patient IgE sensitization profile in order to assess genuine sensitization, primary sensitization source, co-sensitization, cross-reactivity and allergy risks, including prediction of allergy severity[1,86].

Precision allergy molecular diagnostic applications (PAMD@) in cat allergy involve several molecular allergens used in commercial singleplex and multiplex IgE immunoassays, Fel d 1, Fel d 2, Fel d 4 and Fel d 7, these being the allergenic components currently available on the market[100]. For other native or recombinant allergenic components to be included in such immunoassays used in clinical practice, they must not only be well characterized and experimentally validated, but must also be clinically validated and available from their production point of view. Moreover, the characteristics of the solid-phase of the immunoassay and the manner by which allergenic molecules are coupled are important to reflect their biochemical properties and specific requirements for stability, preserving epitope complexity. Regarding native IgA Fel d 5 and IgM Fel d 6 allergen components with a-Gal IgE-binding epitopes, their use may be associated with analytical errors and impaired in vitro diagnostics in some patients, in such cases bovine thyroglobulin being a good molecular biomarker for α -Gal IgE sensitization[5,15,28,29,86]. Although α -Gal is present on cat Igs, cross-sensitization between cat allergens and the oligosaccharide antigen is not considered clinically relevant[100].

Concerning cat allergen immunotherapy, although some patients may likely benefit more from it, particularly those with moderate-to-severe disease, monosensitized to Fel d 1[102], and a good immune and clinical response to subcutaneous immunotherapy is associated with high doses of major allergens in the cat allergen extracts^[103], more data are required from large trials to obtain more definitive conclusions. Summing-up, cat allergy CRD, recently proposed to be termed as PAMD@ by the updated World Allergy Organization consensus document[100], allows for an accurate and detailed assessment of patients' IgE sensitization profiles and may facilitate individualized management options[88,100].

REFERENCES

- Satyaraj E, Wedner HJ, Bousquet J. Keep the cat, change the care pathway: A transformational approach to managing Fel d 1, the major cat allergen. Allergy 2019; 74 Suppl 107: 5-17 [PMID: 31498459 DOI: 10.1111/all.14013]
- 2 Grönlund H, Adédoyin J, Reininger R, Varga EM, Zach M, Fredriksson M, Kronqvist M, Szepfalusi Z, Spitzauer S, Grönneberg R, Valenta R, Hedlin G, van Hage M. Higher immunoglobulin E antibody levels to recombinant Fel d 1 in cat-allergic children with asthma compared with rhinoconjunctivitis. Clin Exp Allergy 2008; 38: 1275-1281 [PMID: 18477016 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2008.03003.x]
- 3 Portnoy J, Kennedy K, Sublett J, Phipatanakul W, Matsui E, Barnes C, Grimes C, Miller JD, Seltzer JM, Williams PB, Bernstein JA, Bernstein DI, Blessing-Moore J, Cox L, Khan DA, Lang DM, Nicklas RA, Oppenheimer J. Environmental assessment and exposure control: a practice parameter-furry animals. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2012; 108: 223.e1-223. 15 [PMID: 22469456 DOI: 10.1016/j.anai.2012.02.015]
- 4 WHO/IUIS Allergen Nomenclature Sub-committee. Allergen Nomenclature. Database: Allergen Nomenclature. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: http://www.allergen.org/index.php
- Kadam K, Karbhal R, Kulkarni-Kale U, Sawant S, Jayaraman VK. AllerBase: An Allergen



KnowledgeBase. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: http://bioinfo.unipune.ac.in/AllerBase/

- 6 Popescu FD, Vieru M. Precision medicine allergy immunoassay methods for assessing immunoglobulin E sensitization to aeroallergen molecules. World J Methodol 2018; 8: 17-36 [PMID: 30519536 DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v8.i3.17]
- 7 Matricardi PM, Kleine-Tebbe J, Hoffmann HJ, Valenta R, Hilger C, Hofmaier S, Aalberse RC, Agache I, Asero R, Ballmer-Weber B, Barber D, Beyer K, Biedermann T, Bilò MB, Blank S, Bohle B, Bosshard PP, Breiteneder H, Brough HA, Caraballo L, Caubet JC, Crameri R, Davies JM, Douladiris N, Ebisawa M, EIgenmann PA, Fernandez-Rivas M, Ferreira F, Gadermaier G, Glatz M, Hamilton RG, Hawranek T, Hellings P, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Jakob T, Jappe U, Jutel M, Kamath SD, Knol EF, Korosec P, Kuehn A, Lack G, Lopata AL, Mäkelä M, Morisset M, Niederberger V, Nowak-Węgrzyn AH, Papadopoulos NG, Pastorello EA, Pauli G, Platts-Mills T, Posa D, Poulsen LK, Raulf M, Sastre J, Scala E, Schmid JM, Schmid-Grendelmeier P, van Hage M, van Ree R, Vieths S, Weber R, Wickman M, Muraro A, Ollert M. EAACI Molecular Allergology User's Guide. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2016; 27 Suppl 23: 1-250 [PMID: 27288833 DOI: 10.1111/pai.12563]
- 8 Dávila I, Domínguez-Ortega J, Navarro-Pulido A, Alonso A, Antolín-Amerigo D, González-Mancebo E, Martín-García C, Núñez-Acevedo B, Prior N, Reche M, Rosado A, Ruiz-Hornillos J, Sánchez MC, Torrecillas M. Consensus document on dog and cat allergy. Allergy 2018; 73: 1206-1222 [PMID: 29318625 DOI: 10.1111/all.13391]
- Asarnoj A, Hamsten C, Wadén K, Lupinek C, Andersson N, Kull I, Curin M, Anto J, Bousquet J, Valenta R, Wickman M, van Hage M. Sensitization to cat and dog allergen molecules in childhood and prediction of symptoms of cat and dog allergy in adolescence: A BAMSE/MeDALL study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016; 137: 813-21. e7 [PMID: 26686472 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.052]
- 10 Macro Array Diagnostics. ALEX2[®] Allergen List. 2019. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: https://a.storyblok.com/f/69176/x/81f1990ace/alex2_allergen_list_en.pdf
- 11 Mari A, and The Allergome Team and Collaborators. Allergome: The Platform for Allergen Knowledge. Database of Allergenic Molecules: Version 4.0 [Internet]. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: http://www.allergome.org/
- 12 Bonnet B, Messaoudi K, Jacomet F, Michaud E, Fauquert JL, Caillaud D, Evrard B. An update on molecular cat allergens: Fel d 1 and what else? Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2018; 14: 14 [PMID: 29643919 DOI: 10.1186/s13223-018-0239-8]
- 13 Curin M, Weber M, Thalhamer T, Swoboda I, Focke-Tejkl M, Blatt K, Valent P, Marth K, Garmatiuk T, Grönlund H, Thalhamer J, Spitzauer S, Valenta R. Hypoallergenic derivatives of Fel d 1 obtained by rational reassembly for allergy vaccination and tolerance induction. Clin Exp Allergy 2014; 44: 882-894 [PMID: 24552249 DOI: 10.1111/cea.12294]
- Grönlund H, Bergman T, Sandström K, Alvelius G, Reininger R, Verdino P, Hauswirth A, Liderot 14 K, Valent P, Spitzauer S, Keller W, Valenta R, van Hage-Hamsten M. Formation of disulfide bonds and homodimers of the major cat allergen Fel d 1 equivalent to the natural allergen by expression in Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem 2003; 278: 40144-40151 [PMID: 12732623 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M301416200]
- 15 Arkestål K, Sibanda E, Thors C, Troye-Blomberg M, Mduluza T, Valenta R, Grönlund H, van Hage M. Impaired allergy diagnostics among parasite-infected patients caused by IgE antibodies to the carbohydrate epitope galactose-α 1,3-galactose. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011; 127: 1024-1028 [PMID: 21376382 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.01.033]
- 16 Bienboire-Frosini C, Durairaj R, Pelosi P, Pageat P. The Major Cat Allergen Fel d 1 Binds Steroid and Fatty Acid Semiochemicals: A Combined In Silico and In Vitro Study. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32085519 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21041365]
- 17 Kelly SM, Karsh J, Marcelo J, Boeckh D, Stepner N, Santone B, Yang J, Yang WH. Fel d 1 and Fel d 4 Levels in cat fur, saliva, and urine. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018; 142: 1990-1992. e3 [PMID: 30176277 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.07.033]
- Satyaraj E, Li Q, Sun P, Sherrill S. Anti-Fel d1 immunoglobulin Y antibody-containing egg 18 ingredient lowers allergen levels in cat saliva. J Feline Med Surg 2019; 21: 875-881 [PMID: 31310154 DOI: 10.1177/1098612X19861218]
- Satyaraj E, Gardner C, Filipi I, Cramer K, Sherrill S. Reduction of active Fel d1 from cats using an 19 antiFel d1 egg IgY antibody. Immun Inflamm Dis 2019; 7: 68-73 [PMID: 30851084 DOI: 10.1002/iid3.244]
- 20 Hilger C, Kler S, Arumugam K, Revets D, Muller CP, Charpentier C, Lehners C, Morisset M, Hentges F. Identification and isolation of a Fel d 1-like molecule as a major rabbit allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 133: 759-766 [PMID: 23763973 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2013.04.034]
- 21 Ligabue-Braun R, Sachett LG, Pol-Fachin L, Verli H. The Calcium Goes Meow: Effects of Ions and Glycosylation on Fel d 1, the Major Cat Allergen. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0132311 [PMID: 26134118 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0132311]
- Nekaris KA, Moore RS, Rode EJ, Fry BG. Mad, bad and dangerous to know: the biochemistry, 22 ecology and evolution of slow loris venom. J Venom Anim Toxins Incl Trop Dis 2013; 19: 21 [PMID: 24074353 DOI: 10.1186/1678-9199-19-21]
- 23 de Groot H, van Swieten P, Aalberse RC. Evidence for a Fel d I-like molecule in the "big cats" (Felidae species). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990; 86: 107-116 [PMID: 1695231 DOI: 10.1016/s0091-6749(05)80130-7
- 24 Blamoutier P. Fait clinique. Quelque curieux cas d'allergie a divers poils d'animaux. Rev Franç



d'Allergy 1963; 3: 115-116 [DOI: 10.1016/S0370-4688(63)80051-4]

- 25 Feleszko W, Zalewski BM, Kulus M. Unexpected cross-reactivity in a cat-allergy patient. An allergic reaction at the circus. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 2014; 42: 624-625 [PMID: 23972402 DOI: 10.1016/j.aller.2013.06.008]
- 26 Vailes LD, Li Y, Bao Y, DeGroot H, Aalberse RC, Chapman MD. Fine specificity of B-cell epitopes on Felis domesticus allergen I (Fel d I): effect of reduction and alkylation or deglycosylation on Fel d I structure and antibody binding. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994; 93: 22-33 [PMID: 7508462 DOI: 10.1016/0091-6749(94)90229-1]
- Popescu FD, Vieru M, Ganea CS. Allergy risk of exposure to circus tigers in a cat-allergic patient. 27 Allergy 2015; 70(Suppl 101): 326 [DOI: 10.1111/all.12719]
- Thermo Fisher Scientific. Allergen components, native and recombinant, In: Product Catalog 28 2020. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: https://www.abacusdx.com/media/PU_Product%20Catalog_2020.pdf
- 29 Konradsen JR, Fujisawa T, van Hage M, Hedlin G, Hilger C, Kleine-Tebbe J, Matsui EC, Roberts G, Rönmark E, Platts-Mills TA. Allergy to furry animals: New insights, diagnostic approaches, and challenges. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2015; 135: 616-625 [PMID: 25282018 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.08.026]
- 30 Hilger C, Kleine-Tebbe J, van Hage M. Molecular diagnostics in allergy to mammals. In: Kleine-Tebbe J, Jakob T. Molecular Allergy Diagnostics. Springer, Cham 2017: 363-379
- 31 Spitzauer S, Pandjaitan B, Söregi G, Mühl S, Ebner C, Kraft D, Valenta R, Rumpold H. IgE crossreactivities against albumins in patients allergic to animals. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 96: 951-959 [PMID: 8543754 DOI: 10.1016/s0091-6749(95)70233-4]
- Chruszcz M, Mikolajczak K, Mank N, Majorek KA, Porebski PJ, Minor W. Serum albumins-32 unusual allergens. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013; 1830: 5375-5381 [PMID: 23811341 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.06.016
- 33 Ukleja-Sokołowska N, Gawrońska-Ukleja E, Żbikowska-Gotz M, Socha E, Lis K, Sokołowski Ł, Kuźmiński A, Bartuzi Z. Analysis of feline and canine allergen components in patients sensitized to pets. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2016; 12: 61 [PMID: 27956908 DOI: 10.1186/s13223-016-0167-4
- 34 Vachová M, Panzner P, Vlas T, Vítovcová P. Analysis of Sensitization Profiles in Central European Allergy Patients Focused on Animal Allergen Molecules. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2020; 181: 278-284 [PMID: 32018259 DOI: 10.1159/000505518]
- 35 Uriarte SA, Sastre J. Clinical relevance of molecular diagnosis in pet allergy. Allergy 2016; 71: 1066-1068 [PMID: 27108666 DOI: 10.1111/all.12917]
- 36 Liccardi G, Dente B, Restani P, Senna G, Falagiani P, Ballabio C, D'Amato G. Respiratory allergy induced by exclusive polysensitization to serum albumins of furry animals. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 42: 127-130 [PMID: 20648777]
- 37 Reininger R, Swoboda I, Bohle B, Hauswirth AW, Valent P, Rumpold H, Valenta R, Spitzauer S. Characterization of recombinant cat albumin. Clin Exp Allergy 2003; 33: 1695-1702 [PMID: 14656357 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2003.01817.x]
- Tsolakis N, Malinovschi A, Nordvall L, Mattsson L, Lidholm J, Pedroletti C, Janson C, Borres MP, 38 Alving K. Sensitization to minor cat allergen components is associated with type-2 biomarkers in young asthmatics. Clin Exp Allergy 2018; 48: 1186-1194 [PMID: 29575179 DOI: 10.1111/cea.13135
- 39 Sabbah A, Lauret MG, Chène J, Boutet S, Drouet M. [The pork-cat syndrome or crossed allergy between pork meat and cat epithelia (2)]. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1994; 26: 173-174, 177 [PMID: 7522011]
- 40 Popescu FD. Cross-reactivity between aeroallergens and food allergens. World J Methodol 2015; 5: 31-50 [PMID: 26140270 DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v5.i2.31]
- 41 Savi E, Rossi A, Incorvaia C. Cat-pork syndrome: a case report with a thee years follow-up. Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 38: 366-368 [PMID: 17274523]
- 42 Sagawa N, Inomata N, Suzuki K, Sano S, Watanabe Y, Aihara M. Pork-cat syndrome caused by ingestion of beef intestines in an 8-year-old child. Allergol Int 2021 [PMID: 33518407 DOI: 10.1016/j.alit.2020.12.001
- 43 Hilger C, Kohnen M, Grigioni F, Lehners C, Hentges F. Allergic cross-reactions between cat and pig serum albumin. Study at the protein and DNA levels. Allergy 1997; 52: 179-187 [PMID: 9105522 DOI: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.1997.tb00972.x]
- 44 Drouet M, Sabbah A, Le Sellin J, Bonneau JC, Gay G, Dubois-Gosnet C. [Fatal anaphylaxis after eating wild boar meat in a patient with pork-cat syndrome]. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 2001; 33: 163-165 [PMID: 11434195]
- Posthumus J, James HR, Lane CJ, Matos LA, Platts-Mills TA, Commins SP. Initial description of 45 pork-cat syndrome in the United States. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013; 131: 923-925 [PMID: 23352634 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.665]
- Dewachter P, Jacquenet S, Beloucif S, Goarin JP, Koskas F, Mouton-Faivre C. Pork-cat syndrome 46 revealed after surgery: Anaphylaxis to bovine serum albumin tissue adhesive. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2019; 7: 2450-2452 [PMID: 30951882 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.03.036]
- 47 Pagán JA, Postigo I, Rodríguez-Pacheco JR, Peña M, Guisantes JA, Martínez J. Bovine serum albumin contained in culture medium used in artificial insemination is an important anaphylaxis risk factor. Fertil Steril 2008; 90: 2013.e17-2013. e19 [PMID: 18710705 DOI:



10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.05.055

- 48 de Silva R, Dasanayake WMDK, Wickramasinhe GD, Karunatilake C, Weerasinghe N, Gunasekera P, Malavige GN. Sensitization to bovine serum albumin as a possible cause of allergic reactions to vaccines. Vaccine 2017; 35: 1494-1500 [PMID: 28216185 DOI: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.02.009]
- 49 Institute for Vaccine Safety, at Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. Vaccine Excipients. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: https://www.vaccinesafety.edu/Components-Excipients%2021-0115.pdf
- 50 Tan CH, Liew JL, Tan KY, Tan NH. Assessing SABU (Serum Anti Bisa Ular), the sole Indonesian antivenom: A proteomic analysis and neutralization efficacy study. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 37299 [PMID: 27869134 DOI: 10.1038/srep37299]
- 51 Ichikawa K, Vailes LD, Pomés A, Chapman MD. Molecular cloning, expression and modelling of cat allergen, cystatin (Fel d 3), a cysteine protease inhibitor. Clin Exp Allergy 2001; 31: 1279-1286 [PMID: 11529899 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.2001.01169.x]
- 52 Popovic MM, Milovanovic M, Burazer L, Vuckovic O, Hoffmann-Sommergruber K, Knulst AC, Lindner B, Petersen A, Jankov R, Gavrovic-Jankulovic M. Cysteine proteinase inhibitor Act d 4 is a functional allergen contributing to the clinical symptoms of kiwi fruit allergy. Mol Nutr Food Res 2010; 54(3): 373-380 [DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.200900035]
- 53 Yamamoto K, Ishibashi O, Sugiura K, Ubatani M, Sakaguchi M, Nakatsuji M, Shimamoto S, Noda M, Uchiyama S, Fukutomi Y, Nishimura S, Inui T. Crystal structure of the dog allergen Can f 6 and structure-based implications of its cross-reactivity with the cat allergen Fel d 4. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 1503 [PMID: 30728436 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-38134-w]
- Hilger C, van Hage M, Kuehn A. Diagnosis of Allergy to Mammals and Fish: Cross-Reactive vs. Specific Markers. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2017; 17: 64 [PMID: 28831729 DOI: 10.1007/s11882-017-0732-z
- 55 Madhurantakam C, Nilsson OB, Uchtenhagen H, Konradsen J, Saarne T, Högbom E, Sandalova T, Grönlund H, Achour A. Crystal structure of the dog lipocalin allergen Can f 2: implications for cross-reactivity to the cat allergen Fel d 4. J Mol Biol 2010; 401: 68-83 [PMID: 20621650 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.05.043
- 56 Chan SK, Leung DYM. Dog and Cat Allergies: Current State of Diagnostic Approaches and Challenges. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2018; 10: 97-105 [PMID: 29411550 DOI: 10.4168/aair.2018.10.2.97
- 57 Adédovin J, Johansson SG, Grönlund H, van Hage M. Interference in immunoassays by human IgM with specificity for the carbohydrate moiety of animal proteins. J Immunol Methods 2006; 310: 117-125 [PMID: 16507308 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2006.01.001]
- 58 Grönlund H, Adédoyin J, Commins SP, Platts-Mills TA, van Hage M. The carbohydrate galactosealpha-1,3-galactose is a major IgE-binding epitope on cat IgA. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123: 1189-1191 [PMID: 19362358 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.03.011]
- Curin M, Hilger C. Allergy to pets and new allergies to uncommon pets. Allergol Select 2017; 1: 59 214-221 [PMID: 30402618 DOI: 10.5414/ALX01842E]
- Perzanowski MS, Ng'ang'a LW, Carter MC, Odhiambo J, Ngari P, Vaughan JW, Chapman MD, 60 Kennedy MW, Platts-Mills TA. Atopy, asthma, and antibodies to Ascaris among rural and urban children in Kenya. J Pediatr 2002; 140: 582-588 [PMID: 12032526 DOI: 10.1067/mpd.2002.122937
- 61 Calvert J, Burney P. Ascaris, atopy, and exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in rural and urban South African children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 125: 100-5. e1-5 [PMID: 19962746 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.09.010]
- 62 Caraballo L, Valenta R, Puerta L, Pomés A, Zakzuk J, Fernandez-Caldas E, Acevedo N, Sanchez-Borges M, Ansotegui I, Zhang L, van Hage M, Fernández E, Arruda L, Vrtala S, Curin M, Gronlund H, Karsonova A, Kilimajer J, Riabova K, Trifonova D, Karaulov A. The allergenic activity and clinical impact of individual IgE-antibody binding molecules from indoor allergen sources. World Allergy Organ J 2020; 13: 100118 [PMID: 32373267 DOI: 10.1016/j.waojou.2020.100118]
- 63 Platts-Mills TAE, Commins SP, Biedermann T, van Hage M, Levin M, Beck LA, Diuk-Wasser M, Jappe U, Apostolovic D, Minnicozzi M, Plaut M, Wilson JM. On the cause and consequences of IgE to galactose-α-1,3-galactose: A report from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Workshop on Understanding IgE-Mediated Mammalian Meat Allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2020; 145: 1061-1071 [PMID: 32057766 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.01.047]
- 64 Mullins RJ, James H, Platts-Mills TA, Commins S. Relationship between red meat allergy and sensitization to gelatin and galactose-α-1,3-galactose. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012; 129: 1334-1342. e1 [PMID: 22480538 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.02.038]
- **Rispens T**, Derksen NI, Commins SP, Platts-Mills TA, Aalberse RC. IgE production to α -gal is accompanied by elevated levels of specific IgG1 antibodies and low amounts of IgE to blood group B. PLoS One 2013; 8: e55566 [PMID: 23390540 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055566]
- 66 Homann A, Schramm G, Jappe U. Glycans and glycan-specific IgE in clinical and molecular allergology: Sensitization, diagnostics, and clinical symptoms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2017; 140: 356-368 [PMID: 28479330 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.04.019]
- 67 **Popescu FD**, Cristea OM, Ionica FE, Vieru M. Drug allergies due to IgE sensitization to α -Gal. Farmacia 2019; 67: 43-49 [DOI: 10.31925/farmacia.2019.1.6]
- Apostolovic D, Krstic M, Mihailovic J, Starkhammar M, Cirkovic Velickovic T, Hamsten C, van 68 Hage M. Peptidomics of an *in vitro* digested α-Gal carrying protein revealed IgE-reactive peptides.



Sci Rep 2017; 7: 5201 [PMID: 28701697 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-05355-4]

- 69 Wilson JM, Schuyler AJ, Schroeder N, Platts-Mills TA. Galactose-α-1,3-Galactose: Atypical Food Allergen or Model IgE Hypersensitivity? Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2017; 17: 8 [PMID: 28224342 DOI: 10.1007/s11882-017-0672-7]
- 70 Hilger C, Fischer J, Wölbing F, Biedermann T. Role and Mechanism of Galactose-Alpha-1,3-Galactose in the Elicitation of Delayed Anaphylactic Reactions to Red Meat. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 2019; 19: 3 [PMID: 30673913 DOI: 10.1007/s11882-019-0835-9]
- 71 Stoltz LP, Cristiano LM, Dowling APG, Wilson JM, Platts-Mills TAE, Traister RS. Could chiggers be contributing to the prevalence of galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose sensitization and mammalian meat allergy? J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2019; 7: 664-666 [PMID: 30053595 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaip.2018.07.014]
- 72 Fischer J, Lupberger E, Hebsaker J, Blumenstock G, Aichinger E, Yazdi AS, Reick D, Oehme R, Biedermann T. Prevalence of type I sensitization to alpha-gal in forest service employees and hunters. Allergy 2017; 72: 1540-1547 [PMID: 28273338 DOI: 10.1111/all.13156]
- Cabezas-Cruz A, Hodžić A, Román-Carrasco P, Mateos-Hernández L, Duscher GG, Sinha DK, 73 Hemmer W, Swoboda I, Estrada-Peña A, de la Fuente J. Environmental and Molecular Drivers of the α-Gal Syndrome. Front Immunol 2019; 10: 1210 [PMID: 31214181 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01210
- 74 Kim MS, Straesser MD, Keshavarz B, Workman L, McGowan EC, Platts-Mills TAE, Wilson JM. IgE to galactose-α-1,3-galactose wanes over time in patients who avoid tick bites. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2020; 8: 364-367. e2 [PMID: 31520841 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaip.2019.08.045]
- 75 Morisset M, Richard C, Astier C, Jacquenet S, Croizier A, Beaudouin E, Cordebar V, Morel-Codreanu F, Petit N, Moneret-Vautrin DA, Kanny G. Anaphylaxis to pork kidney is related to IgE antibodies specific for galactose-alpha-1,3-galactose. Allergy 2012; 67: 699-704 [PMID: 22494361 DOI: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2012.02799.x]
- Vieru M, Popescu FD, Secueanu A. Evidence of specific IgE to plant-derived cross-reactive 76 carbohydrate determinant in a patient with delayed anaphylaxis to red meat. Clin Transl Allergy 2016; 6(Suppl 2): 38 [DOI: 10.1186/s13601-016-0123-x]
- Park Y, Kim D, Boorgula GD, De Schutter K, Smagghe G, Šimo L, Archer-Hartmann SA, Azadi P. 77 Alpha-Gal and Cross-Reactive Carbohydrate Determinants in the N-Glycans of Salivary Glands in the Lone Star Tick, Amblyomma americanum. Vaccines (Basel) 2020; 8 [PMID: 31936588 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines8010018]
- 78 Smith W, O'Neil SE, Hales BJ, Chai TL, Hazell LA, Tanyaratsrisakul S, Piboonpocanum S, Thomas WR. Two newly identified cat allergens: the von Ebner gland protein Fel d 7 and the latherin-like protein Fel d 8. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2011; 156: 159-170 [PMID: 21576986 DOI: 10.1159/000322879
- Apostolovic D, Sánchez-Vidaurre S, Waden K, Curin M, Grundström J, Gafvelin G, Cirkovic 79 Velickovic T, Grönlund H, Thomas WR, Valenta R, Hamsten C, van Hage M. The cat lipocalin Fel d 7 and its cross-reactivity with the dog lipocalin Can f 1. Allergy 2016; 71: 1490-1495 [PMID: 27289080 DOI: 10.1111/all.12955]
- 80 Goubran Botros H, Poncet P, Rabillon J, Fontaine T, Laval JM, David B. Biochemical characterization and surfactant properties of horse allergens. Eur J Biochem 2001; 268: 3126-3136 [PMID: 11358533 DOI: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2001.02217.x]
- 81 Hales BJ, Chai LY, Hazell L, Elliot CE, Stone S, O'Neil SE, Smith WA, Thomas WR. IgE and IgG binding patterns and T-cell recognition of Fel d 1 and non-Fel d 1 cat allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2013; 1: 656-65. e1-5 [PMID: 24565714 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaip.2013.08.008]
- 82 Zhu DX, Li L, Xu ZQ, Zhang C, Zhang JS, Sun JL, Wei JF. Cat-NPC2, a Newly Identified Allergen, With High Cross-Reactivity to Can f 7. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2021; 13: 122-140 [PMID: 33191681 DOI: 10.4168/aair.2021.13.1.122]
- 83 Reininger R, Varga EM, Zach M, Balic N, Lindemeier AD, Swoboda I, Grönlund H, van Hage M, Rumpold H, Valenta R, Spitzauer S. Detection of an allergen in dog dander that cross-reacts with the major cat allergen, Fel d 1. Clin Exp Allergy 2007; 37: 116-124 [PMID: 17210049 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2006.02611.x]
- Tanaka M, Nakagawa Y, Kotobuki Y, Katayama I. A case of human seminal plasma allergy 84 sensitized with dog prostatic kallikrein, Can f 5. Allergol Int 2019; 68: 259-260 [PMID: 30181013 DOI: 10.1016/j.alit.2018.08.003]
- Mattsson L, Lundgren T, Everberg H, Larsson H, Lidholm J. Prostatic kallikrein: a new major dog 85 allergen. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123: 362-368 [PMID: 19135239 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2008.11.021]
- Schoos AM, Nwaru BI, Borres MP. Component-resolved diagnostics in pet allergy: Current 86 perspectives and future directions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2021; 147: 1164-1173 [PMID: 33444632 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.12.640]
- 87 Zahradnik E, Raulf M. Respiratory Allergens from Furred Mammals: Environmental and Occupational Exposure. Vet Sci 2017; 4 [PMID: 29056697 DOI: 10.3390/vetsci4030038]
- 88 Zahradnik E, Raulf M. Animal allergens and their presence in the environment. Front Immunol 2014; 5: 76 [PMID: 24624129 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00076]
- Arbes SJ Jr, Cohn RD, Yin M, Muilenberg ML, Friedman W, Zeldin DC. Dog allergen (Can f 1) and cat allergen (Fel d 1) in US homes: results from the National Survey of Lead and Allergens in Housing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114: 111-117 [PMID: 15241352 DOI:



10.1016/j.jaci.2004.04.036]

- 90 Morris DO. Human allergy to environmental pet danders: a public health perspective. Vet Dermatol 2010; 21: 441-449 [PMID: 20374569 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3164.2010.00882.x]
- Bastien BC, Gardner C, Satyaraj E. Influence of time and phenotype on salivary Fel d1 in domestic 91 shorthair cats. J Feline Med Surg 2019; 21: 867-874 [PMID: 31135257 DOI: 10.1177/1098612X198509731
- 92 Avner DB, inventor; Charlottesville, VA (US). Method of genetically altering and producing allergy free cats. United States patent US20030177512A1. 2003 Sep 18. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: https://patents.google.com/patent/US20030177512A1/en
- 93 Chapman MD, Spassibojko O, inventors and applicants; Charlottesville, VA (US). Fel d 1 knockouts and associated compositions and methods based on CRISPR-CAS9 genomic editing. International Patent WO 2017152023Al. 2017 Sep 8. [cited 15 January 2021]. Available from: https://patents.google.com/patent/WO2017152023A1/en
- van der Veen MJ, Mulder M, Witteman AM, van Ree R, Aalberse RC, Jansen HM, van der Zee JS. 94 False-positive skin prick test responses to commercially available dog dander extracts caused by contamination with house dust mite (Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus) allergens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 98: 1028-1034 [PMID: 8977501 DOI: 10.1016/s0091-6749(96)80187-4]
- 95 Valenta R, Lidholm J, Niederberger V, Hayek B, Kraft D, Grönlund H. The recombinant allergenbased concept of component-resolved diagnostics and immunotherapy (CRD and CRIT). Clin Exp Allergy 1999; 29: 896-904 [PMID: 10383589 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2222.1999.00653.x]
- van Ree R, van Leeuwen WA, Bulder I, Bond J, Aalberse RC. Purified natural and recombinant Fel 96 d 1 and cat albumin in in vitro diagnostics for cat allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 104: 1223-1230 [PMID: 10589005 DOI: 10.1016/s0091-6749(99)70017-5]
- 97 Maeda Y, Akiyama K. Anaphylaxis after a cat bite. Allergol Int 2012; 61: 511-512 [PMID: 22824972 DOI: 10.2332/allergolint.11-LE-0415]
- 98 Tamagawa-Mineoka R, Katoh N. Atopic Dermatitis: Identification and Management of Complicating Factors. Int J Mol Sci 2020; 21 [PMID: 32290423 DOI: 10.3390/ijms21082671]
- 99 Sastre J. Molecular diagnosis in allergy. Clin Exp Allergy 2010; 40: 1442-1460 [PMID: 20682003 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2010.03585.x]
- Steering Committee Authors; Review Panel Members. A WAO ARIA GA²LEN consensus 100 document on molecular-based allergy diagnosis (PAMD@): Update 2020. World Allergy Organ J 2020; 13: 100091 [PMID: 32180890 DOI: 10.1016/j.waojou.2019.100091]
- 101 Valenta R, Karaulov A, Niederberger V, Gattinger P, van Hage M, Flicker S, Linhart B, Campana R, Focke-Tejkl M, Curin M, Eckl-Dorna J, Lupinek C, Resch-Marat Y, Vrtala S, Mittermann I, Garib V, Khaitov M, Valent P, Pickl WF. Molecular Aspects of Allergens and Allergy. Adv Immunol 2018; 138: 195-256 [PMID: 29731005 DOI: 10.1016/bs.ai.2018.03.002]
- 102 Dhami S, Agarwal A. Does evidence support the use of cat allergen immunotherapy? Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2018; 18: 350-355 [PMID: 29870462 DOI: 10.1097/ACI.00000000000457]
- 103 Uriarte SA, Sastre J. Subcutaneous Immunotherapy With High-Dose Cat and Dog Extracts: A Reallife Study. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2020; 30: 169-174 [PMID: 31132032 DOI: 10.18176/jiaci.0415]



World Journal of W J MMethodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 61-74

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.61

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Concise review of stereotactic irradiation for pediatric glial neoplasms: Current concepts and future directions

Omer Sager, Ferrat Dincoglan, Selcuk Demiral, Bora Uysal, Hakan Gamsiz, Onurhan Colak, Fatih Ozcan, Esin Gundem, Yelda Elcim, Bahar Dirican, Murat Beyzadeoglu

ORCID number: Omer Sager 0000-0001-7866-2598; Ferrat Dincoglan 0000-0002-7668-0976; Selcuk Demiral 0000-0002-3408-0323; Bora Uysal 0000-0002-7288-7005; Hakan Gamsiz 0000-0002-7791-3487; Onurhan Colak 0000-0003-1421-4678; Fatih Ozcan 0000-0002-1965-7067; Esin Gundem 0000-0002-9482-8567; Yelda Elcim 0000-0001-6274-1267; Bahar Dirican 0000-0002-1749-5375; Murat Beyzadeoglu 0000-0003-1035-7209.

Author contributions: Sager O, Dincoglan F, Demiral S, Uysal B, Gamsiz H, Colak O and Ozcan F played significant role in data acquisition, interpretation of data, reviewing and writing of the manuscript; Gundem E, Elcim Y and Dirican B worked on checking the manuscript for important intellectual content; Beyzadeoglu M took part in designing, reviewing and writing of the manuscript and checking the manuscript for important intellectual content; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors state that they have no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and Omer Sager, Ferrat Dincoglan, Selcuk Demiral, Bora Uysal, Hakan Gamsiz, Onurhan Colak, Fatih Ozcan, Esin Gundem, Yelda Elcim, Bahar Dirican, Murat Beyzadeoglu, Department of Radiation Oncology, Gulhane Medical Faculty, University of Health Sciences, Ankara 06018, Turkey

Corresponding author: Omer Sager, MD, Associate Professor, Department of Radiation Oncology, Gulhane Medical Faculty, University of Health Sciences, Gn. Tevfik Saglam Cad, Ankara 06018, Turkey. omersager@gmail.com

Abstract

Brain tumors, which are among the most common solid tumors in childhood, remain a leading cause of cancer-related mortality in pediatric population. Gliomas, which may be broadly categorized as low grade glioma and high grade glioma, account for the majority of brain tumors in children. Expectant management, surgery, radiation therapy (RT), chemotherapy, targeted therapy or combinations of these modalities may be used for management of pediatric gliomas. Several patient, tumor and treatment-related characteristics including age, lesion size, grade, location, phenotypic and genotypic features, symptomatology, predicted outcomes and toxicity profile of available therapeutic options should be considered in decision making for optimal treatment. Management of pediatric gliomas poses a formidable challenge to the physicians due to concerns about treatment induced toxicity. Adverse effects of therapy may include neurological deficits, hemiparesis, dysphagia, ataxia, spasticity, endocrine sequelae, neurocognitive and communication impairment, deterioration in quality of life, adverse socioeconomic consequences, and secondary cancers. Nevertheless, improved understanding of molecular pathology and technological advancements may pave the way for progress in management of pediatric glial neoplasms. Multidisciplinary management with close collaboration of disciplines including pediatric oncology, surgery, and radiation oncology is warranted to achieve optimal therapeutic outcomes. In the context of RT, stereotactic irradiation is a viable treatment modality for several central nervous system disorders and brain tumors. Considering the importance of minimizing adverse effects of irradiation, radiosurgery has attracted great attention for clinical applications in both adults and children. Radiosurgical applications offer great potential for improving the toxicity profile of radiation delivery by focused and precise targeting of well-defined tumors under stereotactic immobilization and image guidance. Herein, we provide a concise review of stereotactic irradiation for



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com
fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: Turkey

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: November 17, 2020 Peer-review started: November 17, 2020 First decision: March 31, 2021 Revised: April 7, 2021 Accepted: April 14, 2021 Article in press: April 14, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Nath J S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



pediatric glial neoplasms in light of the literature.

Key Words: Radiosurgery; Stereotactic irradiation; Stereotactic radiosurgery; Pediatric glioma; Gamma knife; Linear accelerator

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Pediatric gliomas comprise the majority of brain tumors in children. Radiotherapeutic management of pediatric gliomas poses a formidable challenge considering the adverse effects of irradiation for this vulnerable patient population. In this context, efforts have been focused on improving the toxicity profile of radiation delivery. Stereotactic irradiation with stereotactic radiosurgery or stereotactic radiotherapy in a single or few treatment fractions may serve as a viable radiotherapeutic approach to achieve this goal given the high conformality along with steep dose gradients around the target volume allowing for reduced normal tissue exposure under precise immobilization and image guidance.

Citation: Sager O, Dincoglan F, Demiral S, Uysal B, Gamsiz H, Colak O, Ozcan F, Gundem E, Elcim Y, Dirican B, Beyzadeoglu M. Concise review of stereotactic irradiation for pediatric glial neoplasms: Current concepts and future directions. World J Methodol 2021; 11(3): 61-74 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/61.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.61

INTRODUCTION

Brain tumors, which are among the most common solid tumors in childhood, remain a leading cause of cancer-related mortality in pediatric population[1-3]. Gliomas, which may be broadly categorized as low grade glioma (LGG) and high grade glioma (HGG), account for the majority of brain tumors in children[4]. Expectant management, surgery, radiation therapy (RT), chemotherapy, targeted therapy or combinations of these modalities can be used to manage pediatric gliomas. Several patient, tumor and treatment-related characteristics including age, lesion size, grade, location, phenotypic and genotypic features, symptomatology, predicted outcomes and toxicity profile of available therapeutic options should be considered in decision making for optimal treatment^[4-6]. Management of pediatric gliomas poses a formidable challenge to the physicians owing to concerns about treatment induced toxicity. Adverse effects of therapy for this vulnerable patient population may include neurological deficits, hemiparesis, dysphagia, ataxia, spasticity, endocrine sequelae, growth abnormalities, audiovisual toxicity, neurocognitive and communication impairment, deterioration in quality of life, adverse socioeconomic consequences, and secondary cancers^[7-10]. Nevertheless, improved understanding of molecular pathology and technological advancements may improve management of pediatric glial neoplasms. Multidisciplinary management with close collaboration of disciplines including pediatric oncology, surgery, and radiation oncology is warranted to achieve optimal therapeutic outcomes[11-14].

In the context of RT, stereotactic irradiation represents a viable treatment modality for several central nervous system disorders (CNS) and brain tumors[15-19]. Considering the importance of minimizing adverse effects of irradiation, radiosurgery has attracted critical attention for clinical applications in both adults and children. Radiosurgical applications offer great potential for improving the toxicity profile of radiation delivery by focused and precise targeting of well-defined tumors under stereotactic immobilization and image guidance. Herein, we provide a concise review of ste-reotactic irradiation for pediatric glial neoplasms in light of the literature.

STEREOTACTIC IRRADIATION FOR PEDIATRIC HGG

Based on the classification of World Health Organization (WHO) in 2016, HGG comprises glioblastoma, anaplastic astrocytoma, and diffuse midline glioma including



diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG)[20]. Pediatric HGG accounts for approximately 8%-12% of all childhood CNS tumors and it is the leading cause of cancer-related mortality in children under 19 years of age[21-24]. Pediatric HGG usually follows an aggressive disease course which results in morbidity and mortality, however, there are several distinctive features of pediatric HGG regarding natural history, causative genetic mutations, response to treatment, and tumor localization within the brain[6,22,25-28]. While HGG frequently arises from LGG with malignant transformation in adults, this is very uncommon in pediatric patients with differences in genetic and epigenetic features. Similar to adult HGG, surgery is the primary treatment modality for management of pediatric HGG, and the extent of resection is a significant prognostic factor^[29-34]. Surgery alone may be insufficient for optimal management, and adjunctive therapies including RT and chemotherapy are recommended. Gross total resection of HGG is usually difficult owing to the infiltrative nature of the disease and the risk of excessive toxicity particularly when the lesions are located in close vicinity of critical neurovascular structures[22,35,36]. Microscopic tumor cells may still remain even after gross total resection with potential for subsequent recurrence. Due to the increased vulnerability of younger children to adverse effects of ionizing radiation and the relatively favorable disease course, RT is typically deferred for this subgroup of patients under 3 years of age by considering other therapeutic options[37-39]. Never-theless, older children are frequently referred for postoperative RT with concurrent and adjuvant chemotherapy[6,22,29,40]. In the context of RT for pediatric HGG, con-ventional fractionation is common practice owing to lack of superiority of altered fractionation regimens[41-44]. Of note, several series investigated the utility of hypo-fractionated RT regimens especially for DIPG[44-47]. Compared to conventionally fractionated RT delivered over 5 wk to 6 wk, hypofractionated RT schedules may offer reduction in number of anesthesia administrations for patients treated under anesthesia and less burden on patients, parents, and treatment centers.

Radiation dose escalation strategies, combined modality treatment approaches, and incorporation of contemporary RT techniques such as radiosurgery are being investigated to improve the therapeutic ratio for HGG in view of the aggressive disease course and poor treatment outcomes despite intensive management. Stereotactic irradiation is a common RT technique for treatment of adult HGG and several studies support its use for this indication either as part of initial management or as salvage therapy[18,19,48-51]. Data on stereotactic irradiation of HGG have been mostly extracted from the literature including adult patients considering that there is paucity of data about pediatric HGG. Survival after hypofractionation (including radiosurgical treatments) in glioblastoma has been assessed in a recent meta-analysis and systematic review[52]. Meta-analysis of eleven comparative studies regarding first line management of glioblastoma with hypofractionated vs conventionally fractionated irradiation revealed no significant difference between the two fractionation schemes, and hypofractionation has been suggested as a reasonable alternative fractionation scheme for selected patients[52]. In the context of radiosurgery, a phase III randomized trial conducted by the Radiation Therapy Oncology Group reported no survival advantage with the addition of stereotactic irradiation to conventional external beam RT[53]. Nevertheless, there is active investigation on the utility of stereotactic irradiation for achieving improvements in treatment outcomes of patients with HGG. Stereotactic irradiation is an extreme form of focal RT which is used to deliver high doses of radiation in a single or a few fractions to well-defined lesions. Minimal exposure of normal tissues due to steep dose gradients around the target volume may be achieved with radiosurgery. While several studies have reported improved treatment outcomes with incorporation of stereotactic irradiation for adult HGG, there is paucity of data on the utility of radiosurgery for pediatric HGG[54-61].

Giller et al [58] reported outcomes of robotically guided radiosurgery for pediatric brain tumors. Twenty-one patients aged between 8 mo and 16 years received Cyberknife radiosurgery for pilocytic astrocytomas, anaplastic astrocytomas, ependymomas, atypical teratoid/rhabdoid tumors, medulloblastomas, cranio-pharyngiomas, and other pathologies which were deemed unresectable [58]. Local control was achieved in patients with anaplastic astrocytoma, and the authors concluded that Cyberknife radiosurgery could be used for achieving local control of selected pediatric brain tumors with elimination of the requirement for rigid head fixation[58]. In another series of 90 children receiving stereotactic radiosurgery (SRS) for brain tumors at the Joint Center for Radiation Therapy during a 10-year period between 1987 and 1997, 20% of the patients (18 patients) had pediatric HGG[59]. Out of the total 90 patients, 10 patients (11%) had glioblastoma and 8 patients (9%) had anaplastic astrocytoma^[59]. Median progression free survival (PFS) was 12 mo (range: 3-119 mo)



and median 3-year actuarial local control rate was 50% for the 18 patients with glioblastoma and anaplastic astrocytoma^[59]. Four patients receiving SRS as part of initial management were alive and free of progression at 50, 62, 66, and 119 mo, respectively[59]. Baumann et al[60] reported their experience with pediatric radiosurgery in a series of 52 patients. Local control was worse in patients with HGG compared to LGG[60]. Grabb et al[61] assessed the role of SRS in 25 pediatric patients with surgically incurable glial tumors treated between 1988 and 1994. Twelve patients had malignant astrocytomas or ependymomas. While 7 children died of disease with a median survival of 6 mo after SRS, 5 children were alive at 12, 45, 50, 72, and 72 mo after radiosurgical management^[61].

In summary, stereotactic irradiation may be considered as a viable therapeutic strategy for management of adult HGG particularly in the recurrent disease setting. There is scarce literature regarding the utility of stereotactic irradiation for HGG in children, however, this advanced radiotherapeutic technology may offer benefits for pediatric patients and deserves further investigation to improve normal tissue sparing through precise stereotactic localization under image guidance.

STEREOTACTIC IRRADIATION FOR PEDIATRIC LGG

Pediatric LGG is the most common CNS neoplasm among children[5,30]. Most common subtype of pediatric LGG is pilocytic astrocytoma, and other subtypes are diffuse astrocytoma (fibrillary, gemistocytic, or protoplasmic), subependymal giant cell astrocytoma, pilomyxoid astrocytoma, pleomorphic xanthoastrocytoma, ganglioglioma, gangliocytoma, desmoplastic infantile ganglioglioma, and dysembryoplastic neuroepithelial tumor[5,23]. Prognosis for these heterogeneous group of tumors is usually favorable, thus toxicity profile of management is very important[62-65]. Location and extent of disease are critical factors which should be considered in decision making for treatment of pediatric LGG. Other important factors include age, symptomatology, phenotypic and genotypic features, predicted outcomes and toxicity profile of available therapeutic options. Optimal care of patients with pediatric LGG may require incorporation of multimodality management with close collaboration of pediatric oncology, surgery, and radiation oncology disciplines [64,65]. Surgical resection is the principal mode of management for tumors which are amenable to surgery. Observation may be considered after surgical removal of the tumor to spare pediatric patients from potential toxicity of adjunctive therapies. Previous data on pediatric and adult patients have shown improvements in treatment outcomes with incorporation of RT in management of LGG[66,67]. There have been significant advances in the disciplines of pediatric neurosurgery and radiation oncology over the years[12-14]. Despite advances in therapy, irradiation for pediatric brain tumors still remains to be a challenge given the vulnerability of children to adverse RT effects such as neuroendocrine and neurocognitive deficits, growth abnormalities, audiovisual toxicity, deterioration in quality of life, adverse socioeconomic consequences, and secondary cancers [7-10,68]. Nevertheless, optimal surgical management may not be feasible for tumors at critical locations such as the optic pathway, brainstem, basal ganglia, thalamus, hypo-thalamus, and other eloquent brain areas. Therefore, irradiation in the form of radiosurgery or conventionally fractionated RT may be considered in the presence of surgically inaccessible tumors, incomplete excision, or recurrence. Conformal RT techniques, particle therapy, and radiosurgical treatments may offer reduced normal tissue exposure in management of pediatric LGG[68-72]. Among the radiotherapeutic options for treatment of pediatric LGG, stereotactic irradiation offers a viable RT technique. Radiosurgery is a very highly focused form of therapeutic irradiation with the potential of improving the toxicity profile of radiation delivery through steep dose gradients around the target volume. Pilocytic astrocytomas, the most common of pediatric LGG, are typically visualized as welldefined lesions on neuroimaging which renders them more suitable for radiosurgical management. While infiltrative nature of the disease comprises a challenging aspect in radiosurgery for HGG, most LGG lesions with well-defined borders are suitable for treatment with stereotactic irradiation. Several studies including pediatric patients have addressed the utility of stereotactic irradiation in LGG management either as primary, adjuvant, boost or salvage therapy[73-88]. Table 1 shows summarized data from selected series of stereotactic irradiation for LGG including pediatric patients.

Barcia et al^[73] reported their experience with SRS for deeply seated inoperable LGG in a series of 16 patients including 8 children. Histological confirmation of LGG was available for 7 patients, and 12 patients had received prior irradiation. Median age was



Table 1 Selected series of stereotactic irradiation for low grade glioma including pediatric patients

Ref.	Study period	Number of patients	Proportion of pediatric patients (%)	Histology	Setting	Treatment	Dose (Gy)	Age (yr)	Tumor size	Prior irradiation	Follow-up duration	Tumor control or PFS (%)
Barcia et al[73], 1994	1978- 1991	16	50	LGG	Primary or boost therapy	SRS by use of a cobalt source and stereoguide	Mean margin dose 21.7 Gy	Median age 20 yr (range: 4-68 yr)	-	12 patients	Median 50 mo	Tumor control 81
Somaza et al[74], 1996	1990- 1993	9	100	Pilocytic astrocytoma	Adjuvant or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 15 Gy	Mean age 8.6 yr (range: 4-17 yr)	Mean tumor diameter 16 mm	2 patients	Median 19 mo	Tumor control 100
Kida <i>et al</i> [75], 2000	2000	12 (total number of patients in the study is 51)	100	WHO Grade I low grade astrocytoma	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Mean margin dose 12.5 Gy	Mean age 9.8 yr	Mean tumor diameter 25.4 mm	-	Mean 27.6 mo	Tumor control 91.7
Boëthius <i>et al</i> [76], 2002	1978- 1997	19	84.2	Pilocytic astrocytoma	Adjuvant therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 10 Gy	Mean age 10.6 yr (range: 2-60 yr)	Median 2.2 cc	2 patients	Median radiological follow-up 4.7 yr	Tumor control 94.7
Hadjipanayis <i>et al</i> [77], 2003	1987- 2000	49	59	Pilocytic astrocytoma (37 patients) and WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytoma (12 patients)	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 15 Gy	Median age 14 yr (range: 3-52 yr) for patients with pilocytic astrocytoma and median age 25 yr (range: 5-57 yr) for patients with WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytoma	Median 3.3 cc	13 patients	Median 32 mo after SRS	Tumor control 67
Saran <i>et al</i> [<mark>78</mark>], 2002	1994- 1999	14	100	LGG	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	LINAC-based SRT	Total dose 50-55 Gy	Median age 8 yr (range: 5-16 yr)	Median 19.5 cc	0 patient	Median 33 mo	PFS 87 at 3 yr
Marcus et al[79], 2005	1992- 1998	50	-	WHO Grade I-II astrocytoma	Salvage therapy	LINAC-based SRT	Mean total dose 52.2 Gy	Median age 9 yr (range: 2-26 yr)	≤ 5 cm in maximal dimension in all patients	0 patient	Median 6.9 yr	PFS 82.5 at 5 yr, PFS 65 at 8 yr
Wang et al[80], 2006	1993- 2003	21	-	LGG	Primary, boost, adjuvant or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 14.5 Gy	Median age 20 yr (range: 6-70 yr)	Median 2.4 cc	7 patients	Median radiological follow-up 49 mo	Tumor control 67
Kano <i>et al</i> [<mark>81</mark>], 2009	1987- 2006	50	100	Pilocytic astrocytoma	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 14.5 Gy	Median age 10.5 yr (range: 4.2- 17.9 yr)	Median 2.1 cc	5 patients	Median 55.5 mo	PFS 70.8 at 5 yr

Sager O et al. Stereotactic irradiation for pediatric glial neoplasms

Henderson <i>et al</i> [<mark>82</mark>], 2009	1997- 2004	12	-	WHO Grade I LGG (10 patients), WHO Grade II LGG (2 patients)	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 13 Gy	Median age 17.4 yr (range: 5.9- 63 yr)	Median 4.4 cc	4 patients	Median 48.2 mo	PFS 75 at 4 yr
Weintraub et al[<mark>83</mark>], 2012	1989- 2011	24	100	LGG	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 15 Gy	Median age 11 yr (range: 4-18 yr)	Mean 2.4 cc	3 patients	Median imaging follow-up 74 mo	Tumor control 83
Hallemeier et al[84], 2012	1992- 2005	18	33	Pilocytic astrocytoma	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 15 Gy	Median age 23 yr (range: 4-56 yr)	Median 9.1 cc	10 patients	Median 8 yr	PFS 41 at 5 yr
Lizarraga <i>et al</i> [<mark>85</mark>], 2012	1995- 2010	12	41.7	Pilocytic astrocytoma	Salvage therapy	LINAC-based SRS or SRT	Median dose 18.75 Gy for SRS and median dose 50.4 Gy for SRT	Median age 21 yr (range: 5-41 yr)	Median 6.5 cc for SRT and median 1.69 cc for SRS	0 patient	Median 37.5 mo	PFS 73.3 at long term
Simonova <i>et al</i> [86], 2016	1992- 2002	25	100	Pilocytic astrocytoma	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GK-based SRS or SRT	Median margin dose 16 Gy for patients receiving single fraction, median dose 25 Gy for SRT	Median age 13 yr (range: 3-17 yr)	Median 2.7 cc	2 patients	Median 15 yr	PFS 80 at 10 yr
Trifiletti et al[<mark>87</mark>], 2017	1990- 2015	28	-	Pilocytic astrocytoma	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GK-based SRS or SRT	Median margin dose 16 Gy	Median age 17.4 yr (range: 2- 70.3 yr)	Median 1.84 cc	4 patients	Median 5.4 yr	PFS 96 at 6 yr
Gagliardi <i>et al</i> [<mark>88</mark>], 2017	2001- 2014	39	23.8	LGG	As part of initial management or salvage therapy	GKSRS	Median margin dose 15 Gy	Median age 31 yr (range: 9-72 yr)	Median 1.24 cc	8 patients	Median 54.5 mo	PFS 52.8 at 5 yr

LGG: Low grade glioma; SRS: Stereotactic radiosurgery; GKSRS: Gamma knife stereotactic radiosurgery; WHO: World Health Organization; PFS: Progression free survival; LINAC: Linear accelerator; SRT: Stereotactic radiotherapy.

20 years (range: 4-68 years). Cobalt source and stereo guide were used for either primary or boost therapy with a mean margin dose of 21.7 Gy. Complete response was achieved for 8 patients (50%), and tumor shrinkage or stabilization was detected in 5 patients (31%) corresponding to a tumor control rate of 81%. Three patients (19%) who had brainstem glioma succumbed to their disease with no response to SRS. The authors concluded that radiosurgery could serve as an effective therapeutic modality for management of deeply seated LGG[73].

Somaza *et al*[74] from Pittsburgh University investigated the role of gamma knife SRS (GKSRS) in adjuvant treatment of 9 children with deeply seated, growing and unresectable pilocytic astrocytomas. Lesions had a mean diameter of 16 mm and were localized at cerebellar peduncle, dorsolateral pons, midbrain, thalamus, hypothalamus, caudate nucleus, and temporal lobe. Mean margin dose was 15 Gy. At a mean follow-up duration of 19 mo, tumor control was achieved in all patients with

significant tumor shrinkage in 5 patients and no further growth in 4 patients. No patients suffered from early or late toxicity. The authors concluded that GKSRS proved to be safe and effective for management of deeply seated and small volume pilocytic astrocytomas[74].

Kida et al[75] reported long term outcomes of GKSRS in the management of low grade astrocytomas in a large series of 51 patients from Japan. The study included 12 pediatric patients with a mean age of 9.8 years. Tumor control rate was 91.7% for WHO grade I astrocytomas and 87.2% for WHO grade II astrocytomas. Mean margin dose was 12.5 Gy for WHO grade I astrocytomas and 15.7 Gy for WHO grade II astrocytomas. Higher treatment response was achieved in patients ≥ 10 years of age with WHO grade I astrocytomas and for those with follow-up duration exceeding 2 years. The authors concluded that radiosurgery could play an important role in management of low grade astrocytomas and complete cure could be expected at least for some patients[75].

Boëthius et al^[76] from Sweden reported outcomes of 19 patients receiving GKSRS for pilocytic astrocytoma at Karolinska Hospital. Mean age was 10.6 years (range: 2-60 years) and the study group included 16 pediatric patients. Median tumor volume was 2.2 cc. A median marginal dose of 10 Gy was used since majority of tumors were located within or in close vicinity of the brainstem. At a median radiological follow-up duration of 4.7 years and median clinical follow-up duration of 7 years, a satisfactory tumor control rate of 94.7% was achieved despite the relatively lower GKSRS dose[76].

Hadjipanayis et al [77] assessed outcomes of 49 patients (including 29 children) receiving GKSRS at the Pittsburgh University for LGG. Involved locations included the brainstem in 22 patients, thalamus in 6 patients, temporal lobe in 5 patients, cerebellum in 4 patients, frontal lobe in 4 patients, parietal lobe in 3 patients, insular cortex in 1 patient, hypothalamus in 1 patient, third ventricle in 1 patient, corpus callosum in 1 patient, and optic tract in 1 patient. Median age was 14 years (range: 3-52 years) for the 37 patients with pilocytic astrocytoma including 25 children aged ≤ 18 years. Median age was 25 years (range: 5-57 years) for the 12 patients with WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytoma including 4 children aged \leq 18 years. Median margin dose was 15 Gy and 16 Gy for pilocytic astrocytomas and WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytomas, respectively. Overall, serial neuroimaging after GKSRS revealed complete tumor resolution in 11 patients, reduced tumor volume in 12 patients, stable tumor volume in 10 patients, and delayed tumor progression in 16 patients. Out of the 37 patients with pilocytic astrocytoma, tumor control was achieved in 25 patients (68%). Out of the 12 patients with WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytoma, tumor control was achieved in 8 patients (67%). The authors concluded that SRS offers a safe and promising therapeutic modality for management of selected patients with pilocytic astrocytomas or WHO Grade II fibrillary astrocytomas[77].

Saran et al[78] from Royal Marsden Hospital reported outcomes of stereotactically guided conformal radiotherapy (SCRT) in the management of progressive or inoperable pediatric LGG. Median age was 6 years (range: 5-16 years). Fourteen patients received linear accelerator (LINAC)-based SCRT in 30-33 daily fractions, and the total dose was 50-55 Gy. Lesion locations included the optic chiasm in 9 patients, third ventricle in 2 patients, pineal region in 1 patient, craniocervical junction in 1 patient, and hypothalamus in 1 patient. Median tumor volume was 19.5 cc (range: 7.5-180 cc). Median follow-up duration was 33 mo. The 3-year local PFS and overall survival rate following SCRT was 87% and 100%, respectively. The authors concluded that SCRT offers a feasible and high precision technique for stereotactic irradiation of pediatric LGG[78].

Marcus et al^[79] from Dana-Farber Cancer Institute assessed the efficacy of LINACbased stereotactic radiotherapy (SRT) for management of small, localized, pediatric brain tumors. Their prospective study included 50 patients with LGG. Out of the 50 patients, 35 patients had WHO grade I astrocytoma and 15 patients had WHO grade II astrocytoma. Median age was 9 years (range: 2-26 years). Out of the 50 patients, 38 patients had progression after surgery and 12 patients had progression after chemotherapy. Mean total dose for SRT was 52.2 Gy delivered in 1.8-Gy daily fractions. With a median follow-up duration of 6.9 years, PFS rate was 82.5% at 5 years and 65% at 8 years. Overall survival was 97.8% and 82% at 5 and 8 years, respectively. There were 6 cases of local progression all within the primary tumor bed. There was no marginal failure. The authors concluded that SRT offers excellent local control for small, localized LGG in children and limited margins with stereotactic immobilization and planning techniques could be considered to minimize late sequelae in view of no marginal failures in the study [79].

Wang et al[80] reported outcomes of GKSRS for 21 patients with 25 histologically proven low grade astrocytomas treated at the Taipei Veterans General Hospital.



Median age was 20 years (range: 6-70 years). Median margin dose was 14.5 Gy. With a median radiological follow-up duration of 49 mo and median clinical follow-up duration of 67 mo, all patients with pilocytic astrocytoma were free from tumor progression. Complete tumor remission was achieved in 3 patients. PFS rate was 65% at 10 years. The authors suggested reduction in GKSRS dose to prevent excessive toxicity in the setting of combined use of GKSRS and RT. The authors concluded that GKSRS may be utilized for management of selected patients with low grade astrocytomas to achieve durable long term local tumor control rates with acceptable toxicity[80].

Kano *et al*[81] from Pittsburgh University assessed GKSRS outcomes for management of newly diagnosed or recurrent juvenile pilocytic astrocytomas. Their series included 50 pediatric patients with a median age of 10.5 years (range: 4.2-17.9 years). Lesion locations included the cerebellum in 20 patients, brainstem in 13 patients, cerebral hemispheres in 7 patients, basal ganglia in 6 patients, and ventricles in 4 patients. Out of the total 50 patients, only 5 patients had received prior fractionated RT ± chemotherapy. Median margin dose was 14.5 Gy. Median follow-up duration was 55 mo. For the entire series, PFS after GKSRS (including tumor growth and cyst enlargement) was 91.7%, 82.8% and 70.8% at 1, 3 and 5 years, respectively. Univariate analysis revealed that solid lesion, target volume < 8 cc, newly diagnosed disease, and no brainstem involvement were prognostic factors for improved PFS with statistical significance. The authors concluded that treatment response was better in small volume residual solid juvenile pilocytic astrocytomas and GKSRS should be considered if resection is not feasible or in the presence of early recurrence[81].

Henderson *et al*[82] reported the Indiana University experience with GKSRS for low grade astrocytoma management in a series of 12 patients. Median age was 17.4 years (range: 5.9-63 years). A total of 13 lesions were treated using a median margin dose of 13 Gy. With a median follow-up duration of 48.2 mo, 2- and 4-year tumor control rates were 84.6% and 76.9, respectively. Overall survival and PFS rates were 83.3% and 75% at 4 years, respectively. The authors concluded that GKSRS could provide local control for carefully selected patients with unresectable or recurrent low grade astrocytomas[82].

Weintraub *et al*[83] from Virginia University reported outcomes of GKSRS for management of 24 pediatric patients. Median age was 11 years (range: 4-18 years). Out of the 24 patients, 15 patients were diagnosed with WHO grade I astrocytoma and 4 patients were diagnosed with WHO grade II LGG by histopathological assessment. Mean tumor volume was 2.4 cc and median margin dose was 15 Gy. Median radiological follow-up duration was 74 mo and median clinical follow-up duration was 144 mo. Complete resolution of tumor was achieved in 5 patients (21%) and \geq 50% reduction in tumor size was achieved in 18 patients (75%). The authors concluded that GKSRS offers good clinical control of residual or recurrent gliomas in pediatric patients[83].

Hallemeier *et al*[84] reported outcomes of 18 patients (including 6 children) treated with GKSRS for recurrent or unresectable pilocytic astrocytoma at the Mayo Clinic. Median age was 23 years (range: 4-56 years). One or more prior surgical resection was performed in 13 patients (72%). Ten patients (56%) had received previous conventionally fractionated external beam RT and 4 patients (22%) had received prior systemic chemotherapy. Median treatment volume for GKSRS was 9.1 cc. Median margin dose was 15 Gy for previously irradiated patients and 16 Gy for patients without prior RT. Median follow-up duration was 8 years. PFS rates were 65%, 41%, and 17% at 1, 5, and 10 years, respectively. Overall survival rates were 94%, 71%, and 71%, at 1, 5, and 10 years after GKSRS, respectively. Prior external beam RT was found to be associated with inferior overall survival and PFS outcomes. The authors concluded that GKSRS could serve as a meaningful therapeutic option for management of recurrent or unresectable pilocytic astrocytomas when surgery and/or external beam RT fails[84].

Lizarraga *et al*[85] from the University of California reported outcomes of LINACbased stereotactic irradiation for progressive/residual pilocytic astrocytomas in a series of 12 patients (including 5 children < 18 years of age). Median age at the start of stereotactic irradiation was 21 years (range: 5-41 years). All patients had undergone upfront partial surgical debulking as initial management without adjuvant chemotherapy or RT. Salvage stereotactic irradiation was considered in the setting of local progression. LINAC-based SRS was used to treat a median target volume of 1.69 cc in 3 patients with a median dose of 18.75 Gy. LINAC-based SRT with a median total dose of 50.4 Gy was used to treat a median target volume of 6.5 cc in 9 patients. No radiation induced adverse effects were observed in the study, and probabilities of long term PFS and disease specific survival were 73.3% and 91.7%, respectively[85].

Simonova et al [86] from Prag assessed long term outcomes of GK-based SRS or SRT for pilocytic astrocytomas in a series of 25 pediatric patients. Median age was 13 years (range: 3-17 years)[86]. Selection of single fraction or fractionated stereotactic irradiation was based on lesion size, location and proximity to surrounding critical structures. Median target volume was 2.7 cc (range: 0.2-25 cc). Five patients (20%) received single fraction radiosurgery with a median dose of 16 Gy. Twenty patients (80%) received stereotactic irradiation in 5 or 10 fractions using a median dose of 25 Gy. The 10-year overall survival and PFS rates were 96% and 80%, respectively. A significantly better PFS was observed in patients with a planning target volume of 2.7 cc or less. The authors concluded that radiosurgery offers an alternative therapeutic modality for management of small residual or recurrent pilocytic astrocytomas providing long term local control[86].

Trifiletti et al [87] reported outcomes of 28 patients receiving GK-based stereotactic irradiation for management of pilocytic astrocytomas at the University of Virginia. Median age was 17.4 years (range: 2-70.3 years). Single fraction GKSRS was performed in 27 patients, and 1 patient received stereotactic irradiation in 3 fractions. Median tumor volume was 1.84 cc and median margin dose was 16 Gy. Median clinical followup duration was 5.2 years and median radiological follow-up duration was 4.6 years. Local tumor control rate was 93% without adverse radiation effects. Actuarial PFS rates were 96%, 96%, 96%, and 80% at 1, 3, 6, and 12 years, respectively. The authors concluded that SRS offers an appropriate technique for management of pilocytic astrocytomas in the primary or recurrent disease setting with favorable tumor control rates and infrequent clinical toxicity[87].

Gagliardi et al[88] assessed long term outcomes of GKSRS for LGG. Their series of 39 patients included 10 pediatric patients. Median age was 31 years (range: 9-72 years). Most common histology was pilocytic astrocytoma. Median tumor volume was 1.24 cc. Median margin dose was 15 Gy. Median follow-up duration was 54.5 mo. Actuarial PFS rates at 1, 5, and 10 years were 74.9%, 52.8%, and 39.1%, respectively. Assessment of patients' quality of life and functional performance was performed by utilization of standardized functional performance scores and validated subjective health survey questionnaires. Clinical improvement and Karnofsky Performance Status improvement were observed in 52.4% and 45.5% of the patients, respectively. The authors concluded that GKSRS may serve as a viable therapeutic modality for management of LGG which may provide tumor growth control and improve patients' functional performance and quality of life with optimization of social functioning and minimization of disease-related psychological impact[88].

In summary, stereotactic irradiation has been more frequently incorporated into management of pediatric LGG as compared to adult HGG. Pilocytic astrocytoma accounts for the majority of pediatric LGG and may be considered as suitable for radiosurgical treatment with its well-defined borders on neuroimaging. Clearly, several other factors are critical in decision making for stereotactic irradiation of a pediatric patient with LGG. Stereotactic irradiation has been used as primary therapy in the presence of deeply seated lesions at eloquent brain areas, or as a boost treatment in conjunction with conventionally fractionated external beam RT, and more frequently to treat progressive or recurrent pediatric LGG (Table 1)[73-88]. Overall, these series reported favorable tumor control rates with stereotactic irradiation. Improvements have been observed in clinical symptoms, functional performance and quality of life parameters with low rates of severe toxicity. However, there is still room for improvement with the need for accumulation of further robust and high level evidence to consider stereotactic irradiation as a standard part of management for pediatric LGG.

CONCLUSION

Pediatric brain tumors are the most common solid tumors in children which may lead to morbidity and mortality. Gliomas comprise the majority of brain tumors in children. Radiotherapeutic management of gliomas in children poses a formidable challenge considering the adverse effects of irradiation for this vulnerable patient population. In this context, efforts have been focused on improving the toxicity profile of radiation delivery. Stereotactic irradiation with SRS or SRT in a single or few treatment fractions may serve as a viable radiotherapeutic approach to achieve this goal. High conformality along with steep dose gradients around the target volume allows for reduced normal tissue exposure under precise immobilization and image guidance. While conventionally fractionated RT regimens administered over 5 wk to 6 wk may lead to

WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

substantial burden on children particularly when daily anesthesia is needed, radiosurgical approaches allow for abbreviated treatment courses. Also, margin-free strategies may be considered in the setting of stereotactic irradiation with precise immobilization and image guidance for management of well demarcated lesions such as pilocytic astrocytomas[89].

Overall, stereotactic irradiation has been utilized less frequently for HGG and more commonly for LGG in children[58-61,73-89]. Some of the studies reporting data on stereotactic irradiation of pediatric gliomas also included adult patients. Drawing firm conclusions may be confounded by diversities in patient, tumor, and treatment characteristics in studies with limited number of patients and inherent limitations. Nevertheless, available limited data on stereotactic irradiation of pediatric gliomas suggest potential utility of this contemporary approach as part of initial management or for treatment of progressive or recurrent lesions despite the need for further supporting evidence.

In the context of future directions, immunotherapy, identification of driver alterations and introduction of effective targeted therapies may pave the way for innovatory treatment strategies for children with pediatric glial neoplasms[90-93]. There is need for active investigation on development of safe and efficacious therapeutic approaches for management of pediatric glial neoplasms.

REFERENCES

- Cunningham RM, Walton MA, Carter PM. The Major Causes of Death in Children and Adolescents in the United States. N Engl J Med 2018; 379: 2468-2475 [PMID: 30575483 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMsr1804754]
- 2 Faury D, Nantel A, Dunn SE, Guiot MC, Haque T, Hauser P, Garami M, Bognár L, Hanzély Z, Liberski PP, Lopez-Aguilar E, Valera ET, Tone LG, Carret AS, Del Maestro RF, Gleave M, Montes JL, Pietsch T, Albrecht S, Jabado N. Molecular profiling identifies prognostic subgroups of pediatric glioblastoma and shows increased YB-1 expression in tumors. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25: 1196-1208 [PMID: 17401009 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2006.07.8626]
- Packer RJ. Brain tumors in children. Arch Neurol 1999; 56: 421-425 [PMID: 10199329 DOI: 10.1001/archneur.56.4.421]
- 4 Blionas A, Giakoumettis D, Klonou A, Neromyliotis E, Karydakis P, Themistocleous MS. Paediatric gliomas: diagnosis, molecular biology and management. Ann Transl Med 2018; 6: 251 [PMID: 30069453 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2018.05.11]
- 5 Collins KL, Pollack IF. Pediatric Low-Grade Gliomas. Cancers (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 32375301 DOI: 10.3390/cancers12051152]
- 6 Vanan MI, Eisenstat DD. Management of high-grade gliomas in the pediatric patient: Past, present, and future. Neurooncol Pract 2014; 1: 145-157 [PMID: 26034626 DOI: 10.1093/nop/npu022]
- Peng L, Yam PP, Yang LS, Sato S, Li CK, Cheung YT. Neurocognitive impairment in Asian 7 childhood cancer survivors: a systematic review. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2020; 39: 27-41 [PMID: 31965433 DOI: 10.1007/s10555-020-09857-y]
- 8 Wei C, Crowne E. The impact of childhood cancer and its treatment on puberty and subsequent hypothalamic pituitary and gonadal function, in both boys and girls. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 2019; 33: 101291 [PMID: 31327697 DOI: 10.1016/j.beem.2019.101291]
- Weyl-Ben-Arush M. The Price of the Successful Treatment of Pediatric Malignancies. Curr Pediatr 9 Rev 2017; 13: 4-7 [PMID: 27978786 DOI: 10.2174/1573396312666161213103558]
- 10 Kebudi R, Ozdemir GN. Secondary Neoplasms in Children Treated for Cancer. Curr Pediatr Rev 2017; 13: 34-41 [PMID: 27848891 DOI: 10.2174/1573396313666161114233135]
- Rodriguez FJ, Vizcaino MA, Lin MT. Recent Advances on the Molecular Pathology of Glial 11 Neoplasms in Children and Adults. J Mol Diagn 2016; 18: 620-634 [PMID: 27444975 DOI: 10.1016/j.jmoldx.2016.05.005]
- 12 Bindra RS, Wolden SL. Advances in Radiation Therapy in Pediatric Neuro-oncology. J Child Neurol 2016; 31: 506-516 [PMID: 26271789 DOI: 10.1177/0883073815597758]
- Ludmir EB, Grosshans DR, Woodhouse KD. Radiotherapy Advances in Pediatric Neuro-Oncology. 13 Bioengineering (Basel) 2018; 5 [PMID: 30400370 DOI: 10.3390/bioengineering5040097]
- 14 Pollack IF, Agnihotri S, Broniscer A. Childhood brain tumors: current management, biological insights, and future directions. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2019; 23: 261-273 [PMID: 30835699 DOI: 10.3171/2018.10.PEDS18377
- 15 Dincoglan F, Sager O, Uysal B, Demiral S, Gamsiz H, Gündem E, Elcim Y, Dirican B, Beyzadeoglu M. Evaluation of hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy (HFSRT) to the resection cavity after surgical resection of brain metastases: A single center experience. Indian J Cancer 2019; 56: 202-206 [PMID: 31389381 DOI: 10.4103/ijc.IJC 345 18]
- Dincoglan F, Sager O, Demiral S, Gamsiz H, Uysal B, Onal E, Ekmen A, Dirican B, Beyzadeoglu M. 16 Fractionated stereotactic radiosurgery for locally recurrent brain metastases after failed stereotactic radiosurgery. Indian J Cancer 2019; 56: 151-156 [PMID: 31062735 DOI: 10.4103/ijc.IJC_786_18]



- Dincoglan F, Sager O, Gamsiz H, Uysal B, Demiral S, Oysul K, Sirin S, Caglan A, Beyzadeoglu M. 17 Management of patients with ≥4 brain metastases using stereotactic radiosurgery boost after whole brain irradiation. Tumori 2014; 100: 302-306 [PMID: 25076242 DOI: 10.1700/1578.17210]
- 18 Dincoglan F, Beyzadeoglu M, Sager O, Oysul K, Sirin S, Surenkok S, Gamsiz H, Uysal B, Demiral S, Dirican B. Image-guided positioning in intracranial non-invasive stereotactic radiosurgery for the treatment of brain metastasis. Tumori 2012; 98: 630-635 [PMID: 23235759 DOI: 10.1700/1190.13205
- Dincoglan F, Beyzadeoglu M, Sager O, Demiral S, Gamsiz H, Uysal B, Ebruli C, Akin M, Oysul K, 19 Sirin S, Dirican B. Management of patients with recurrent glioblastoma using hypofractionated stereotactic radiotherapy. Tumori 2015; 101: 179-184 [PMID: 25791534 DOI: 10.5301/tj.5000236]
- 20 Louis DN, Perry A, Reifenberger G, von Deimling A, Figarella-Branger D, Cavenee WK, Ohgaki H, Wiestler OD, Kleihues P, Ellison DW. The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary. Acta Neuropathol 2016; 131: 803-820 [PMID: 27157931 DOI: 10.1007/s00401-016-1545-11
- Bondy ML, Scheurer ME, Malmer B, Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Davis FG, Il'yasova D, Kruchko C, 21 McCarthy BJ, Rajaraman P, Schwartzbaum JA, Sadetzki S, Schlehofer B, Tihan T, Wiemels JL, Wrensch M, Buffler PA; Brain Tumor Epidemiology Consortium. Brain tumor epidemiology: consensus from the Brain Tumor Epidemiology Consortium. Cancer 2008; 113: 1953-1968 [PMID: 18798534 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.23741]
- Fangusaro J. Pediatric high grade glioma: a review and update on tumor clinical characteristics and 22 biology. Front Oncol 2012; 2: 105 [PMID: 22937526 DOI: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00105]
- Ostrom QT, Cioffi G, Gittleman H, Patil N, Waite K, Kruchko C, Barnholtz-Sloan JS. CBTRUS 23 Statistical Report: Primary Brain and Other Central Nervous System Tumors Diagnosed in the United States in 2012-2016. Neuro Oncol 2019; 21: v1-v100 [PMID: 31675094 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noz150
- Erker C, Tamrazi B, Poussaint TY, Mueller S, Mata-Mbemba D, Franceschi E, Brandes AA, Rao A, 24 Haworth KB, Wen PY, Goldman S, Vezina G, MacDonald TJ, Dunkel IJ, Morgan PS, Jaspan T, Prados MD, Warren KE. Response assessment in paediatric high-grade glioma: recommendations from the Response Assessment in Pediatric Neuro-Oncology (RAPNO) working group. Lancet Oncol 2020; 21: e317-e329 [PMID: 32502458 DOI: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30173-X]
- 25 Jones C, Karajannis MA, Jones DTW, Kieran MW, Monje M, Baker SJ, Becher OJ, Cho YJ, Gupta N, Hawkins C, Hargrave D, Haas-Kogan DA, Jabado N, Li XN, Mueller S, Nicolaides T, Packer RJ, Persson AI, Phillips JJ, Simonds EF, Stafford JM, Tang Y, Pfister SM, Weiss WA. Pediatric highgrade glioma: biologically and clinically in need of new thinking. Neuro Oncol 2017; 19: 153-161 [PMID: 27282398 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/now101]
- 26 Baker SJ, Ellison DW, Gutmann DH. Pediatric gliomas as neurodevelopmental disorders. Glia 2016; 64: 879-895 [PMID: 26638183 DOI: 10.1002/glia.22945]
- Tamber MS, Rutka JT. Pediatric supratentorial high-grade gliomas. Neurosurg Focus 2003; 14: e1 27 [PMID: 15727422 DOI: 10.3171/foc.2003.14.2.2]
- Broniscer A, Baker SJ, West AN, Fraser MM, Proko E, Kocak M, Dalton J, Zambetti GP, Ellison 28 DW, Kun LE, Gajjar A, Gilbertson RJ, Fuller CE. Clinical and molecular characteristics of malignant transformation of low-grade glioma in children. J Clin Oncol 2007; 25: 682-689 [PMID: 17308273 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.8213]
- Gupta S, Mallick S, Benson R, Haresh KP, Julka PK, Rath GK. Extent of surgical resection and 29 adjuvant temozolomide improves survival in pediatric GBM: a single center experience. Childs Nerv Syst 2017; 33: 951-956 [PMID: 28424876 DOI: 10.1007/s00381-017-3381-6]
- Bilginer B, Hanalioglu S, Turk CC, Narin F, Oguz KK, Soylemezoglu F, Akalan N. Is the Knowledge 30 Pertaining to Adult Glioblastomas Enough for Pediatric Cases? Turk Neurosurg 2017; 27: 279-288 [PMID: 27593770 DOI: 10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.15780-15.1]
- Adams H, Adams HH, Jackson C, Rincon-Torroella J, Jallo GI, Quiñones-Hinojosa A. Evaluating 31 extent of resection in pediatric glioblastoma: a multiple propensity score-adjusted population-based analysis. Childs Nerv Syst 2016; 32: 493-503 [PMID: 26767842 DOI: 10.1007/s00381-015-3006-x]
- 32 McCrea HJ, Bander ED, Venn RA, Reiner AS, Iorgulescu JB, Puchi LA, Schaefer PM, Cederquist G, Greenfield JP. Sex, Age, Anatomic Location, and Extent of Resection Influence Outcomes in Children With High-grade Glioma. Neurosurgery 2015; 77: 443-52; discussion 452 [PMID: 26083157 DOI: 10.1227/NEU.000000000000845]
- Yang T, Temkin N, Barber J, Geyer JR, Leary S, Browd S, Ojemann JG, Ellenbogen RG. Gross total 33 resection correlates with long-term survival in pediatric patients with glioblastoma. World Neurosurg 2013; 79: 537-544 [PMID: 23017588 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2012.09.015]
- Wisoff JH, Boyett JM, Berger MS, Brant C, Li H, Yates AJ, McGuire-Cullen P, Turski PA, Sutton 34 LN, Allen JC, Packer RJ, Finlay JL. Current neurosurgical management and the impact of the extent of resection in the treatment of malignant gliomas of childhood: a report of the Children's Cancer Group trial no. CCG-945. J Neurosurg 1998; 89: 52-59 [PMID: 9647172 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1998.89.1.0052
- 35 Broniscer A, Gajjar A. Supratentorial high-grade astrocytoma and diffuse brainstem glioma: two challenges for the pediatric oncologist. Oncologist 2004; 9: 197-206 [PMID: 15047924 DOI: 10.1634/theoncologist.9-2-197
- Fangusaro J. Pediatric high-grade gliomas and diffuse intrinsic pontine gliomas. J Child Neurol 36 2009; 24: 1409-1417 [PMID: 19638636 DOI: 10.1177/0883073809338960]



- Espiritu AI, Terencio BB, Jamora RDG. Congenital Glioblastoma Multiforme with Long-Term 37 Childhood Survival: A Case Report and Systematic Review. World Neurosurg 2020; 139: 90-96 [PMID: 32298818 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2020.03.212]
- 38 El-Ayadi M, Ansari M, Sturm D, Gielen GH, Warmuth-Metz M, Kramm CM, von Bueren AO. Highgrade glioma in very young children: a rare and particular patient population. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 64564-64578 [PMID: 28969094 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.18478]
- 39 Dufour C, Grill J, Lellouch-Tubiana A, Puget S, Chastagner P, Frappaz D, Doz F, Pichon F, Plantaz D, Gentet JC, Raquin MA, Kalifa C. High-grade glioma in children under 5 years of age: a chemotherapy only approach with the BBSFOP protocol. Eur J Cancer 2006; 42: 2939-2945 [PMID: 16962317 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejca.2006.06.021]
- 40 Liu M, Thakkar JP, Garcia CR, Dolecek TA, Wagner LM, Dressler EVM, Villano JL. National cancer database analysis of outcomes in pediatric glioblastoma. Cancer Med 2018; 7: 1151-1159 [PMID: 29532996 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.1404]
- Mandell LR, Kadota R, Freeman C, Douglass EC, Fontanesi J, Cohen ME, Kovnar E, Burger P, 41 Sanford RA, Kepner J, Friedman H, Kun LE. There is no role for hyperfractionated radiotherapy in the management of children with newly diagnosed diffuse intrinsic brainstem tumors: results of a Pediatric Oncology Group phase III trial comparing conventional vs. hyperfractionated radiotherapy. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1999; 43: 959-964 [PMID: 10192340 DOI: 10.1016/s0360-3016(98)00501-x]
- Fallai C, Olmi P. Hyperfractionated and accelerated radiation therapy in central nervous system 42 tumors (malignant gliomas, pediatric tumors, and brain metastases). Radiother Oncol 1997; 43: 235-246 [PMID: 9215782 DOI: 10.1016/s0167-8140(96)01897-x]
- Freeman CR, Krischer JP, Sanford RA, Cohen ME, Burger PC, del Carpio R, Halperin EC, Munoz 43 L, Friedman HS, Kun LE. Final results of a study of escalating doses of hyperfractionated radiotherapy in brain stem tumors in children: a Pediatric Oncology Group study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1993; 27: 197-206 [PMID: 8407392 DOI: 10.1016/0360-3016(93)90228-n]
- Gallitto M, Lazarev S, Wasserman I, Stafford JM, Wolden SL, Terezakis SA, Bindra RS, Bakst RL. 44 Role of Radiation Therapy in the Management of Diffuse Intrinsic Pontine Glioma: A Systematic Review. Adv Radiat Oncol 2019; 4: 520-531 [PMID: 31360809 DOI: 10.1016/j.adro.2019.03.009]
- Negretti L, Bouchireb K, Levv-Piedbois C, Habrand JL, Dhermain F, Kalifa C, Grill J, Dufour C. 45 Hypofractionated radiotherapy in the treatment of diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma in children: a single institution's experience. J Neurooncol 2011; 104: 773-777 [PMID: 21327862 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-011-0542-4
- Janssens GO, Jansen MH, Lauwers SJ, Nowak PJ, Oldenburger FR, Bouffet E, Saran F, Kamphuis-46 van Ulzen K, van Lindert EJ, Schieving JH, Boterberg T, Kaspers GJ, Span PN, Kaanders JH, Gidding CE, Hargrave D. Hypofractionation vs conventional radiation therapy for newly diagnosed diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma: a matched-cohort analysis. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013; 85: 315-320 [PMID: 22682807 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.04.006]
- 47 Zaghloul MS, Eldebawy E, Ahmed S, Mousa AG, Amin A, Refaat A, Zaky I, Elkhateeb N, Sabry M. Hypofractionated conformal radiotherapy for pediatric diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma (DIPG): a randomized controlled trial. Radiother Oncol 2014; 111: 35-40 [PMID: 24560760 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2014.01.013]
- Shah JL, Li G, Shaffer JL, Azoulay MI, Gibbs IC, Nagpal S, Soltys SG. Stereotactic Radiosurgery 48 and Hypofractionated Radiotherapy for Glioblastoma. Neurosurgery 2018; 82: 24-34 [PMID: 28605463 DOI: 10.1093/neuros/nyx115]
- 49 Prisco FE, Weltman E, de Hanriot RM, Brandt RA. Radiosurgical boost for primary high-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol 2002; 57: 151-160 [PMID: 12125977 DOI: 10.1023/a:1015757322379]
- Gannett D, Stea B, Lulu B, Adair T, Verdi C, Hamilton A. Stereotactic radiosurgery as an adjunct to 50 surgery and external beam radiotherapy in the treatment of patients with malignant gliomas. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 1995; 33: 461-468 [PMID: 7673034 DOI: 10.1016/0360-3016(95)00087-F]
- Loeffler JS, Alexander E 3rd, Shea WM, Wen PY, Fine HA, Kooy HM, Black PM. Radiosurgery as 51 part of the initial management of patients with malignant gliomas. J Clin Oncol 1992; 10: 1379-1385 [PMID: 1325539 DOI: 10.1200/JCO.1992.10.9.1379]
- Trone JC, Vallard A, Sotton S, Ben Mrad M, Jmour O, Magné N, Pommier B, Laporte S, Ollier E. 52 Survival after hypofractionation in glioblastoma: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Radiat Oncol 2020; 15: 145 [PMID: 32513205 DOI: 10.1186/s13014-020-01584-6]
- Souhami L, Seiferheld W, Brachman D, Podgorsak EB, Werner-Wasik M, Lustig R, Schultz CJ, 53 Sause W, Okunieff P, Buckner J, Zamorano L, Mehta MP, Curran WJ Jr. Randomized comparison of stereotactic radiosurgery followed by conventional radiotherapy with carmustine to conventional radiotherapy with carmustine for patients with glioblastoma multiforme: report of Radiation Therapy Oncology Group 93-05 protocol. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2004; 60: 853-860 [PMID: 15465203 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2004.04.011]
- Lipani JD, Jackson PS, Soltys SG, Sato K, Adler JR. Survival following CyberKnife radiosurgery 54 and hypofractionated radiotherapy for newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme. Technol Cancer Res Treat 2008; 7: 249-255 [PMID: 18473497 DOI: 10.1177/153303460800700311]
- Hsieh PC, Chandler JP, Bhangoo S, Panagiotopoulos K, Kalapurakal JA, Marymont MH, Cozzens 55 JW, Levy RM, Salehi S. Adjuvant gamma knife stereotactic radiosurgery at the time of tumor progression potentially improves survival for patients with glioblastoma multiforme. *Neurosurgery* 2005; 57: 684-92; discussion 684 [PMID: 16239880 DOI: 10.1093/neurosurgery/57.4.684]



- Nwokedi EC, DiBiase SJ, Jabbour S, Herman J, Amin P, Chin LS. Gamma knife stereotactic 56 radiosurgery for patients with glioblastoma multiforme. Neurosurgery 2002; 50: 41-6; discussion 46 [PMID: 11844233 DOI: 10.1097/00006123-200201000-00009]
- 57 Fuchs I, Kreil W, Sutter B, Papaethymiou G, Pendl G. Gamma Knife radiosurgery of brainstem gliomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl 2002; 84: 85-90 [PMID: 12379009 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-7091-6117-3_10]
- Giller CA, Berger BD, Pistenmaa DA, Sklar F, Weprin B, Shapiro K, Winick N, Mulne AF, Delp JL, 58 Gilio JP, Gall KP, Dicke KA, Swift D, Sacco D, Harris-Henderson K, Bowers D. Robotically guided radiosurgery for children. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2005; 45: 304-310 [PMID: 15558704 DOI: 10.1002/pbc.20267]
- Hodgson DC, Goumnerova LC, Loeffler JS, Dutton S, Black PM, Alexander E 3rd, Xu R, Kooy H, 59 Silver B, Tarbell NJ. Radiosurgery in the management of pediatric brain tumors. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2001; 50: 929-935 [PMID: 11429220 DOI: 10.1016/s0360-3016(01)01518-8]
- Baumann GS, Wara WM, Larson DA, Sneed PK, Gutin PH, Ciricillo SF, McDermott MW, Park E, 60 Stalpers LJ, Verhey LJ, Smith V, Petti PL, Edwards MS. Gamma knife radiosurgery in children. Pediatr Neurosurg 1996; 24: 193-201 [PMID: 8873161 DOI: 10.1159/000121037]
- Grabb PA, Lunsford LD, Albright AL, Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC. Stereotactic radiosurgery for 61 glial neoplasms of childhood. Neurosurgery 1996; 38: 696-701; discussion 701 [PMID: 8692387 DOI: 10.1227/00006123-199604000-00013]
- Krishnatry R, Zhukova N, Guerreiro Stucklin AS, Pole JD, Mistry M, Fried I, Ramaswamy V, 62 Bartels U, Huang A, Laperriere N, Dirks P, Nathan PC, Greenberg M, Malkin D, Hawkins C, Bandopadhayay P, Kieran MW, Manley PE, Bouffet E, Tabori U. Clinical and treatment factors determining long-term outcomes for adult survivors of childhood low-grade glioma: A populationbased study. Cancer 2016; 122: 1261-1269 [PMID: 26970559 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.29907]
- 63 Bandopadhayay P, Bergthold G, London WB, Goumnerova LC, Morales La Madrid A, Marcus KJ, Guo D, Ullrich NJ, Robison NJ, Chi SN, Beroukhim R, Kieran MW, Manley PE. Long-term outcome of 4,040 children diagnosed with pediatric low-grade gliomas: an analysis of the Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014; 61: 1173-1179 [PMID: 24482038 DOI: 10.1002/pbc.24958]
- 64 Watson GA, Kadota RP, Wisoff JH. Multidisciplinary management of pediatric low-grade gliomas. Semin Radiat Oncol 2001; 11: 152-162 [PMID: 11285553 DOI: 10.1053/srao.2001.21421]
- 65 de Blank P, Bandopadhayay P, Haas-Kogan D, Fouladi M, Fangusaro J. Management of pediatric low-grade glioma. Curr Opin Pediatr 2019; 31: 21-27 [PMID: 30531227 DOI: 10.1097/MOP.000000000000717]
- Shibamoto Y, Kitakabu Y, Takahashi M, Yamashita J, Oda Y, Kikuchi H, Abe M. Supratentorial 66 low-grade astrocytoma. Correlation of computed tomography findings with effect of radiation therapy and prognostic variables. Cancer 1993; 72: 190-195 [PMID: 8508405 DOI: 10.1002/1097-0142(19930701)72:1<190::aid-cncr2820720134>3.0.co;2-y]
- 67 Shaw EG, Daumas-Duport C, Scheithauer BW, Gilbertson DT, O'Fallon JR, Earle JD, Laws ER Jr, Okazaki H. Radiation therapy in the management of low-grade supratentorial astrocytomas. J Neurosurg 1989; 70: 853-861 [PMID: 2715812 DOI: 10.3171/jns.1989.70.6.0853]
- Aloi D, Belgioia L, Barra S, Giannelli F, Cavagnetto F, Gallo F, Milanaccio C, Garrè M, Di Profio S, 68 Di Iorgi N, Corvò R, Neuroendocrine late effects after tailored photon radiotherapy for children with low grade gliomas: Long term correlation with tumour and treatment parameters. Radiother Oncol 2017; 125: 241-247 [PMID: 29037775 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2017.09.034]
- Indelicato DJ, Rotondo RL, Uezono H, Sandler ES, Aldana PR, Ranalli NJ, Beier AD, Morris CG, 69 Bradley JA. Outcomes Following Proton Therapy for Pediatric Low-Grade Glioma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2019; 104: 149-156 [PMID: 30684665 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2019.01.078]
- 70 Müller K. Gnekow A. Falkenstein F. Scheiderbauer J. Zwiener I. Pietsch T. Warmuth-Metz M. Voges J, Nikkhah G, Flentje M, Combs SE, Vordermark D, Kocher M, Kortmann RD. Radiotherapy in pediatric pilocytic astrocytomas. A subgroup analysis within the prospective multicenter study HIT-LGG 1996 by the German Society of Pediatric Oncology and Hematology (GPOH). Strahlenther Onkol 2013; 189: 647-655 [PMID: 23831852 DOI: 10.1007/s00066-013-0357-7]
- Huynh-Le MP, Walker AJ, Burger PC, Jallo GI, Cohen KJ, Wharam MD, Terezakis SA. 71 Management of pediatric intracranial low-grade gliomas: long-term follow-up after radiation therapy. Childs Nerv Syst 2016; 32: 1425-1430 [PMID: 27179530 DOI: 10.1007/s00381-016-3100-8]
- 72 Cherlow JM, Shaw DWW, Margraf LR, Bowers DC, Huang J, Fouladi M, Onar-Thomas A, Zhou T, Pollack IF, Gajjar A, Kessel SK, Cullen PL, McMullen K, Wellons JC, Merchant TE. Conformal Radiation Therapy for Pediatric Patients with Low-Grade Glioma: Results from the Children's Oncology Group Phase 2 Study ACNS0221. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2019; 103: 861-868 [PMID: 30419305 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2018.11.004]
- Barcia JA, Barcia-Salorio JL, Ferrer C, Ferrer E, Algás R, Hernández G. Stereotactic radiosurgery of 73 deeply seated low grade gliomas. Acta Neurochir Suppl 1994; 62: 58-61 [PMID: 7717138 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-7091-9371-6 12
- 74 Somaza SC, Kondziolka D, Lunsford LD, Flickinger JC, Bissonette DJ, Albright AL. Early outcomes after stereotactic radiosurgery for growing pilocytic astrocytomas in children. Pediatr Neurosurg 1996; 25: 109-115 [PMID: 9144708 DOI: 10.1159/000121107]
- 75 Kida Y, Kobayashi T, Mori Y. Gamma knife radiosurgery for low-grade astrocytomas: results of long-term follow up. J Neurosurg 2000; 93 Suppl 3: 42-46 [PMID: 11143261 DOI:



10.3171/jns.2000.93.supplement 3.0042]

- 76 Boëthius J, Ulfarsson E, Rähn T, Lippittz B. Gamma knife radiosurgery for pilocytic astrocytomas. J Neurosurg 2002; 97: 677-680 [PMID: 12507119 DOI: 10.3171/jns.2002.97.supplement_5.0677]
- Hadjipanayis CG, Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC, Lunsford LD. The role of stereotactic radiosurgery 77 for low-grade astrocytomas. Neurosurg Focus 2003; 14: e15 [PMID: 15669811 DOI: 10.3171/foc.2003.14.5.16]
- 78 Saran FH, Baumert BG, Khoo VS, Adams EJ, Garré ML, Warrington AP, Brada M. Stereotactically guided conformal radiotherapy for progressive low-grade gliomas of childhood. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002; 53: 43-51 [PMID: 12007940 DOI: 10.1016/s0360-3016(02)02734-7]
- 79 Marcus KJ, Goumnerova L, Billett AL, Lavally B, Scott RM, Bishop K, Xu R, Young Poussaint T, Kieran M, Kooy H, Pomeroy SL, Tarbell NJ. Stereotactic radiotherapy for localized low-grade gliomas in children: final results of a prospective trial. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2005; 61: 374-379 [PMID: 15667955 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2004.06.012]
- Wang LW, Shiau CY, Chung WY, Wu HM, Guo WY, Liu KD, Ho DM, Wong TT, Pan DH. Gamma 80 Knife surgery for low-grade astrocytomas: evaluation of long-term outcome based on a 10-year experience. J Neurosurg 2006; 105 Suppl: 127-132 [PMID: 18503345 DOI: 10.3171/sup.2006.105.7.127
- Kano H, Niranjan A, Kondziolka D, Flickinger JC, Pollack IF, Jakacki RI, Lunsford LD. Stereotactic radiosurgery for pilocytic astrocytomas part 2: outcomes in pediatric patients. J Neurooncol 2009; 95: 219-229 [PMID: 19468692 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-009-9912-6]
- Henderson MA, Fakiris AJ, Timmerman RD, Worth RM, Lo SS, Witt TC. Gamma knife stereotactic 82 radiosurgery for low-grade astrocytomas. Stereotact Funct Neurosurg 2009; 87: 161-167 [PMID: 19321969 DOI: 10.1159/000209297]
- 83 Weintraub D, Yen CP, Xu Z, Savage J, Williams B, Sheehan J. Gamma knife surgery of pediatric gliomas. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2012; 10: 471-477 [PMID: 23061823 DOI: 10.3171/2012.9.PEDS12257
- 84 Hallemeier CL, Pollock BE, Schomberg PJ, Link MJ, Brown PD, Stafford SL. Stereotactic radiosurgery for recurrent or unresectable pilocytic astrocytoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2012; 83: 107-112 [PMID: 22019245 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.05.038]
- 85 Lizarraga KJ, Gorgulho A, Lee SP, Rauscher G, Selch MT, DeSalles AA. Stereotactic radiation therapy for progressive residual pilocytic astrocytomas. J Neurooncol 2012; 109: 129-135 [PMID: 22644536 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-012-0877-5]
- Simonova G, Kozubikova P, Liscak R, Novotny J Jr. Leksell Gamma Knife treatment for pilocytic 86 astrocytomas: long-term results. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2016; 18: 58-64 [PMID: 26991883 DOI: 10.3171/2015.10.PEDS14443
- 87 Trifiletti DM, Peach MS, Xu Z, Kersh R, Showalter TN, Sheehan JP. Evaluation of outcomes after stereotactic radiosurgery for pilocytic astrocytoma. J Neurooncol 2017; 134: 297-302 [PMID: 28567590 DOI: 10.1007/s11060-017-2521-x]
- Gagliardi F, Bailo M, Spina A, Donofrio CA, Boari N, Franzin A, Fava A, Del Vecchio A, Bolognesi A, Mortini P. Gamma Knife Radiosurgery for Low-Grade Gliomas: Clinical Results at Long-Term Follow-Up of Tumor Control and Patients' Quality of Life. World Neurosurg 2017; 101: 540-553 [PMID: 28216397 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2017.02.041]
- Mohamad O, Wardak Z, Bowers DC, Le AH, Dan T, Abdulrahman R, Gargan L, Klesse L, Weprin 89 B, Swift D, Price A, Ding C, Stojadinovic S, Sklar F, Braga B, Timmerman R. Margin-Free Fractionated Stereotactic Radiation Therapy for Pediatric Brain Tumors. Pract Radiat Oncol 2020; 10: e485-e494 [PMID: 32428764 DOI: 10.1016/j.prro.2020.03.013]
- Duke ES, Packer RJ. Update on Pediatric Brain Tumors: the Molecular Era and Neuro-immunologic 90 Beginnings. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 2020; 20: 30 [PMID: 32564169 DOI: 10.1007/s11910-020-01050-6
- Foster JB, Madsen PJ, Hegde M, Ahmed N, Cole KA, Maris JM, Resnick AC, Storm PB, Waanders 91 AJ. Immunotherapy for pediatric brain tumors: past and present. Neuro Oncol 2019; 21: 1226-1238 [PMID: 31504801 DOI: 10.1093/neuonc/noz077]
- Wang SS, Bandopadhayay P, Jenkins MR. Towards Immunotherapy for Pediatric Brain Tumors. 92 Trends Immunol 2019; 40: 748-761 [PMID: 31229353 DOI: 10.1016/j.it.2019.05.009]
- 93 Sayour EJ, Mitchell DA. Immunotherapy for Pediatric Brain Tumors. Brain Sci 2017; 7 [PMID: 29065490 DOI: 10.3390/brainsci7100137]



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 75-80

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.75

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Rationalising animal research synthesis in orthopaedic literature

Konstantinos Tsikopoulos, Konstantinos Sidiropoulos, Dimitrios Kitridis, Lorenzo Drago, Rakesh Ebnezar, David Lavalette

ORCID number: Konstantinos Tsikopoulos 0000-0001-5923-4782; Konstantinos Sidiropoulos 0000-0002-9627-465X; Dimitrios Kitridis 0000-0002-6063-8650; Lorenzo Drago 0000-0002-5206-540X; Rakesh Ebnezar 0000-0003-4490-5568; David Lavalette 0000-0003-2330-339X.

Author contributions: Tsikopoulos K was involved in the study conceptualization and writing of the original draft; Sidiropoulos K contributed to provision of resources and revising of the article; Kitridis D was involved in the generation of figures and project administration; Drago L, Ebenzar R and Lavalette D supervised this project and contributed to revisions of this paper; all authors reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works

Konstantinos Tsikopoulos, Rakesh Ebnezar, David Lavalette, Orthopaedic Department, Harrogate and District Foundation Trust, Harrogate HG2 7SX, North Yorkshire, United Kingdom

Konstantinos Sidiropoulos, Orthopaedic Department, General Hospital of Serres, Serres 62120, Greece

Dimitrios Kitridis, First Orthopedic Department of Aristotle University, G. Papanikolaou General Hospital, Thessaloniki 55210, Greece

Lorenzo Drago, Laboratory of Clinical Microbiology, Department of Biochemical Sciences for Health, University of Milan, Milan 20164, Italy

Corresponding author: Konstantinos Tsikopoulos, MD, MSc, Doctor, Senior Researcher, Surgeon, Orthopaedic Department, Harrogate and District Foundation Trust, Lancaster Park Road, Harrogate HG2 7SX, North Yorkshire, United Kingdom. kostastsikop@gmail.com

Abstract

Systematic reviews in orthopaedic literature are frequently criticised for offering inconsistent conclusions. On top of that, high-quality randomized human evidence on crucial orthopaedic topics is more often than not lacking. In this situation, pooling animal literature could offer an excellent insight into unanswered critical clinical questions, thus potentially improving healthcare. In this paper, we sought to present the rationale and basic principles governing meta-analysis of animal research. More specifically, we elaborated on the available evidence-based methods to achieve a scientifically sound animal data synthesis. In addition, we discussed result interpretation, strength of recommendations and clinical implications based on the results of these meta-analytic modalities.

Key Words: Meta-analysis; Animal research; Evidence synthesis; in vivo; Orthopaedics

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Relying on the findings of properly conducted meta-analyses of animal research is crucial, particularly in the paucity of human evidence on crucial orthopaedic topics. It is an undeniable fact that authors tend to encounter a great many challenges when conducting this type of research as they have to address several potential sources



on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Orthopedics

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 2, 2021 Peer-review started: January 2, 2021

First decision: January 25, 2021 Revised: February 5, 2021 Accepted: March 12, 2021 Article in press: March 12, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Pérez-Cabezas V S-Editor: Liu M L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



of bias. For that reason, we advocate that readers should critically appraise the findings of animal syntheses papers.

Citation: Tsikopoulos K, Sidiropoulos K, Kitridis D, Drago L, Ebnezar R, Lavalette D. Rationalising animal research synthesis in orthopaedic literature. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(3): 75-80

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/75.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.75

INTRODUCTION

Given the nature and rarity of many orthopaedic diseases, conducting high-quality double-blind randomized control trials is not always feasible. This is particularly true when it comes to addressing a particular orthopaedic surgical intervention. Hence, crucial research questions remain unanswered due to the fact that safe conclusions cannot be drawn purely based on a few underpowered and low-quality individual studies. In this situation, animal evidence could offer valuable information towards delineating the potential of a prevention and/or therapeutic orthopaedic intervention.

The rationale behind synthesizing animal literature is to avoid the potential bias which is commonly detected in narrative literature reviews. To elaborate, selective presentation of individual study findings and incorrect weighting of conclusions can exert a negative impact on the credibility of a systematic review. Rather, by summarizing the results of multiple individual studies a researcher could potentially produce more valid results provided that guidelines governing meta-analyses of animal papers are respected. In this paper, we sought to present the key elements for conducting a high-quality meta-analysis of animal research which could provide a useful insight into unanswered clinical questions in orthopaedics.

PROSPECTIVE ANIMAL REVIEW REGISTRATION AND REPORTING GUIDELINES. ARE THEY NECESSARY?

Regardless of the nature of the subjects utilised in an *in vivo* evidence synthesis, it is strongly advocated that systematic reviews be prospectively registered with a valid database (*e.g.*, PROSPERO). The main reason behind this protocol registration is to increase transparency in reporting and prevent selective outcome reporting issues.

On top of that, abiding by published guidelines for systematic reviews (*e.g.*, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) is of utmost importance given the fact that poor reporting diminishes accuracy and potential usefulness of an animal meta-analysis[1].

CONTROLLED VS UNCONTROLLED DATA SYNTHESIS: IS THERE ANY DIFFERENCE?

From a methodological standpoint, if properly controlled homogenous groups are available, then standard head-to-head meta-analysis can be safely undertaken by using a readily available piece of statistical software [*e.g.*, Review Manager (RevMan)][2]. However, synthesising uncontrolled research represents a different task which can be achieved by means of proportional meta-analysis[3]. It is underlined that although indirect comparisons could be made by comparing overlapping of confidence intervals in the aforementioned type of meta-analysis, safe conclusions on the comparative efficacy of interventions cannot be reached and therefore this approach is not generally recommended.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

LUMPING INTERVENTION GROUPS IN META-ANALYSES OF ANIMAL RESEARCH

One frequently encountered methodological issue in pair-wise meta-analyses is the limited statistical power precluding reliable conclusions to be drawn[4]. To address this issue, lumping intervention groups into valid subgroups with respect to literature classifications [5,6] is recommended. By and large, a crucial point authors need to pay attention to when they elect for the subgroup pathway is the trade-off between statistical power and precision in reporting. We advocate that as long as published guidelines have been followed prior to creating subgroups and sensitivity analysis has been conducted to investigate the impact of subgrouping on the data synthesis, the validity of the findings is not severely compromised.

POOLING DICHOTOMOUS AND CONTINUOUS DATA MEASURING THE SAME OUTCOME. IS IT POSSIBLE?

Encountering a situation where information for the same outcome is presented in some studies as dichotomous data and in other papers by means of a continuous variable is a common phenomenon in animal research. To address this issue, reexpressing standardized mean differences to odds ratios (or the vice versa) is recommended^[7]. Subsequently the generic inverse variance model in RevMan can be utilised to pool those converted data together[7] (Figure 1). Although we recognise this could be a challenging task for a researcher to accomplish, the problem of missing information which may compromise the validity of the meta-analysis results can be overcome^[5].

FEASIBILITY OF EXTRACTING QUANTITATIVE DATA FROM GRAPHICAL PRESENTATIONS

Meticulous data extraction is a crucial element in performing a satisfactory systematic review and meta-analysis. It is a common phenomenon in original papers published a long time ago to present their findings in a graphical manner with no corresponding numerical data. In this situation, taking advantage of the use of an appropriate software tool (e.g., Plot Digitizer and Getdata Graph Digitizer)[8] which allows for reliable digitization of graphs and/or plots is recommended to abstract and subsequently synthesise the required information.

QUALITY ASSESSMENT IN SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS OF ANIMAL PAPERS

Quality appraisal of individual animal studies performed by means well-established tool such as the SYRCLE's Risk of Bias tool[9], ensures consistency and prevents discrepancies in assessing risk of bias in systematic reviews of animal intervention studies. SYRCLE's Risk of Bias tool is an adaptation of the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool which could potentially facilitate transition of animal research into clinical practice. On top of that, due to the relatively standardised use of this instrument in the existing literature, the necessity of improving particular methodological aspects of animal studies can be easily stressed[9]. It should be noted that a graphical quantification of the risk of bias summarising the assessments for each domain could be of essence (Figure 2)[5].

IS PUBLICATION BIAS A COMMON THREAT TO VALIDITY IN LABORA-**TORY ANIMAL RESEARCH?**

It is an undeniable fact that "negative" laboratory animal results more often than not remain unpublished[10]. Therefore, exploration of selective reporting in animal papers appears to be critical. In other words, merely relying on statistical significance may introduce bias in the results of the statistical analysis and potentially threaten the validity of the meta-analysis findings.



				Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Std. Mean Difference	SE	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
1.9.1 Active organic antibiotic coating					
Alt 2006 (Rifampicin–Fosfomycin)	-2.16 0	.91	6.7%	-2.16 [-3.94, -0.38]	
Subtotal (95% CI)	-5.62 1	.55	10.8%	-2.71 [-4.24, -1.18]	•
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.08$; $Chi^2 = 1.06$, $df = 1$ (P	$= 0.30$; $I^2 = 6\%$				•
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.47 (P = 0.0005)$					
102 Active exercise portide continu					
Sinclair 2012 (CSA 12)	1.66 0	E 1	11 10/	166 266 066	-
Subtotal (95% CI)	-1.00 0	.51	11.1%	-1.66 [-2.66, -0.66]	•
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					•
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.25$ (P = 0.001)					
1.9.3 Active inorganic coating					
Cao 2016 (Calcium Oxide)	-2.54 1	.14	5.1%	-2.54 [-4.77, -0.31]	
Subtotal (95% CI)			5.1%	-2.54 [-4.77, -0.31]	\bullet
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.23$ (P = 0.03)					
1.9.4 Conventional passive coating					
Bouloussa 2017 (quaternary ammonium polymer)	-0.12 0	.31	13.7%	-0.12 [-0.73, 0.49]	+
Kose 2015 (HA)	-0.48 0	.56	10.5%	-0.48 [-1.58, 0.62]	
Moojen 2008 (PA)	-0.32 0	.16	15.2%		1
Subtotal (95% CI) Heterogeneity: $T_{2}u^{2} = 0.00$; $Chi^{2} = 0.45$, df = 2 (P	-0.80 1^{2} -0%		39.3%	-0.29 [-0.36, -0.02]	•
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.11$ (P = 0.04)	- 0.00), 1 - 0%				
10 E Passive name, natterned coating					
1.9.5 Passive nano-patterned coating	0.54.0	5.0	10 5%		
Subtotal (95% CI)	-0.34 0	.50	10.5% 10.5%	-0.54 [-1.64, 0.56]	•
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					•
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.96 (P = 0.33)$					
1.9.6 Combined active and nondegradable passi	ve coating				
Kose 2015 (Silver-doped HA)	-0.56 0	.27	14.1%	-0.56 [-1.09, -0.03]	-
Moojen 2008 (PA+Tobramycin)	-1.94 1	.35	4.0%	-1.94 [-4.59, 0.71]	— • +
Subtotal (95% CI)			18.1%	-0.62 [-1.15, -0.08]	◆
Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.00$; $Chi^2 = 1.00$, $df = 1$ (P	$= 0.32$; $I^2 = 0\%$				
Test for overall effect: $Z = 2.26$ (P = 0.02)					
1.9.7 Combined active and biodegradable passiv	/e coating				
Metsemakers 2015 (Doxycyxline-loaded PLEX)	-2.54 1	.37	3.9%	-2.54 [-5.23, 0.15]	
Heterogeneity: Not applicable			3.370	-2.54 [-5.25, 0.15]	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.85$ (P = 0.06)					
1.9.8 Combined active and nano-patterned pass	ive coating				
Cheng 2013 (Nanotubes-Silver)	-12.7 2	.76	1.2%	-12.70 [-18.117.29] 🕇	
Subtotal (95% CI)			1.2%	-12.70 [-18.11, -7.29]	
Heterogeneity: Not applicable					
Test for overall effect: $Z = 4.60 (P < 0.00001)$					
Total (95% CI)			100.0%	-1.19 [-1.80, -0.58]	♦
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.61; Chi ² = 43.51, df = 11	$(P < 0.00001); I^2 = 75\%$			-	
Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.82$ (P = 0.0001)					Favours experimental Favours control
Test for subgroup differences: $Chi^2 = 40.52$, $df = 2$	7 (P < 0.00001), $I^2 = 82.7\%$	5			

Figure 1 Forest plot of standardised mean differences with multiple subgroup analyses is demonstrated. The methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection prevention potential is assessed by means pair-wise meta-analysis in inverse variance mode to consider not only continuous but also dichotomous data in the analysis. Cli Confidence interval; CSA: Cationic steroidal antimicrobial; HA: Hydroxyapatite; SMD: Standardised mean difference; IV: Inverse variance; PA: Periapatite; PLEX: Polymer-lipid encapsulation matrix; SE: Standard error; TiO2 = Titanium dioxide. Citation: Tsikopoulos K, Sidiropoulos K, Kitridis D, Hassan A, Drago L, Mavrogenis A, McBride D. Is coating of titanium implants effective at preventing Staphylococcus aureus infections? A meta-analysis of animal model studies. Int Orthop 2020. Copyright© The Author(s) 2020. Published by Springer Nature Publishing Group[5]. The authors have obtained the permission for figure using from the Springer Nature Publishing Group (Supplementary material).

HIERARCHY OF EVIDENCE-BASED MEDICINE AND BIAS ASSESSMENT

It is highlighted that while a systematic review is generally better than an individual study, a meta-analysis of animal studies should not be placed at the top of the hierarchy in a pyramid that depicts validity[11]. This is because a meta-analysis is as good as the studies identified and included[12]. Nevertheless, in the absence of highquality evidence, relying on the results of a meta-analysis of animal models is advisable provided that caution is exercised due to potential bias.

INTERPRETING RESULTS AND DRAWING CONCLUSIONS

It is worthy of note that prior to drawing meta-analysis conclusions, sample size of the included comparison groups, quality rating of the involved studies, effect sizes, and statistical heterogeneity should be taken into account. On top of that, investigating the



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Quantification of risk of bias assessment enables not only summarising quality appraisal results but also making judgments as to what the future studies should look at. Citation: Tsikopoulos K, Sidiropoulos K, Kitridis D, Hassan A, Drago L, Mavrogenis A, McBride D. Is coating of titanium implants effective at preventing *Staphylococcus aureus* infections? A meta-analysis of animal model studies. *Int Orthop* 2020. Copyright© The Author(s) 2020. Published by Springer Nature Publishing Group[5]. The authors have obtained the permission for figure using from the Springer Nature Publishing Group (Supplementary material).

impact of various sources of clinical heterogeneity by means of a sensitivity analysis (*i.e.*, exclusion of one or more papers from the analysis to assess the impact of a particular confounding factor on the findings of the study) with a view to verify the meta-analysis results is strongly advocated.

CONCLUSION

Despite the abundance of literature on developing meta-analytic skills relating to human data, methodological papers dealing with animal data synthesis are lacking. In the current article, we focused on the technicalities and implications of pooling animal literature which could be particularly useful when investigating the results of orthopaedic surgical interventions in the absence of human evidence. It is worthy of note that due to the experimental nature of animal papers, a certain amount of uncertainty in the meta-analysis conclusions is anticipated. For that reason, we advise caution when it comes to extrapolating the results of this type of research back to human biology.

REFERENCES

- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ* 2009; **339**: b2535 [PMID: 19622551 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.b2535]
- 2 **Review Manager (RevMan).** Version 5.3. Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014
- 3 Lyman GH, Kuderer NM. The strengths and limitations of meta-analyses based on aggregate data.



BMC Med Res Methodol 2005; 5: 14 [PMID: 15850485 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-5-14]

- 4 Thorlund K, Mills EJ. Sample size and power considerations in network meta-analysis. Syst Rev 2012; 1: 41 [PMID: 22992327 DOI: 10.1186/2046-4053-1-41]
- 5 Tsikopoulos K, Sidiropoulos K, Kitridis D, Hassan A, Drago L, Mavrogenis A, McBride D. Is coating of titanium implants effective at preventing Staphylococcus aureus infections? Int Orthop 2020 [PMID: 32761434 DOI: 10.1007/s00264-020-04660-4]
- 6 Romanò CL, Scarponi S, Gallazzi E, Romanò D, Drago L. Antibacterial coating of implants in orthopaedics and trauma: a classification proposal in an evolving panorama. J Orthop Surg Res 2015; 10: 157 [PMID: 26429342 DOI: 10.1186/s13018-015-0294-5]
- 7 Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG. Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Green S. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from: www.handbook.cochrane.org
- Giang HTN, Ahmed AM, Fala RY, Khattab MM, Othman MHA, Abdelrahman SAM, Thao LP, Gabl 8 AEAE, Elrashedy SA, Lee PN, Hirayama K, Salem H, Huy NT. Methodological steps used by authors of systematic reviews and meta-analyses of clinical trials: a cross-sectional study. BMC Med Res Methodol 2019; 19: 164 [PMID: 31349805 DOI: 10.1186/s12874-019-0780-2]
- Hooijmans CR, Rovers MM, de Vries RB, Leenaars M, Ritskes-Hoitinga M, Langendam MW. SYRCLE's risk of bias tool for animal studies. BMC Med Res Methodol 2014; 14: 43 [PMID: 24667063 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-43]
- 10 ter Riet G, Korevaar DA, Leenaars M, Sterk PJ, Van Noorden CJ, Bouter LM, Lutter R, Elferink RP, Hooft L. Publication bias in laboratory animal research: a survey on magnitude, drivers, consequences and potential solutions. PLoS One 2012; 7: e43404 [PMID: 22957028 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043404]
- 11 Murad MH, Asi N, Alsawas M, Alahdab F. New evidence pyramid. Evid Based Med 2016; 21: 125-127 [PMID: 27339128 DOI: 10.1136/ebmed-2016-110401]
- 12 Weir A, Rabia S, Ardern C. Trusting systematic reviews and meta-analyses: all that glitters is not gold! Br J Sports Med 2016; 50: 1100-1101 [PMID: 26968215 DOI: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095896]



World Journal of W J M Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 81-87

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.81

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Bowel intussusception in adult: Prevalence, diagnostic tools and therapy

Francesco Panzera, Beatrice Di Venere, Marina Rizzi, Assunta Biscaglia, Carlos Alberto Praticò, Gennaro Nasti, Andrea Mardighian, Thiago Franchi Nunes, Riccardo Inchingolo

ORCID number: Francesco Panzera 0000-0001-5401-2152; Beatrice Di Venere 0000-0003-2170-8721: Marina Rizzi 0000-0002-4710-6940; Assunta Biscaglia 0000-0002-3979-8852; Carlos Alberto Praticò 0000-0003-4779-3450; Gennaro Nasti 0000-0001-9862-7597; Andrea Mardighian 0000-0002-3632-001X; Thiago Franchi Nunes 0000-0003-0006-3725; Riccardo Inchingolo 0000-0002-0253-5936

Author contributions: All authors equally contributed to this paper with conception and design of the study, literature review and analysis, drafting and critical revision and editing, and final approval of the final version.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors are aware of the content of the manuscript and have no conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the

Francesco Panzera, Marina Rizzi, Department of Endoscopy, "Madonna delle Grazie" Hospital, Matera 75100, Italy

Beatrice Di Venere, Gennaro Nasti, Department of Surgery, "Madonna delle Grazie" Hospital, Matera 75100, Italy

Assunta Biscaglia, Department of Radiology, "Madonna delle Grazie" Hospital, Matera 75100, Italy

Carlos Alberto Pratico, Digestive Endoscopy Unit, Hopital Prive Armand Brillard, Nogent-sur-Marne 94130, France

Andrea Mardighian, Riccardo Inchingolo, Interventional Radiology Unit, "F. Miulli" General Regional Hospital, Acquaviva delle Fonti 70021, Bari, Italy

Thiago Franchi Nunes, Department of Radiology, Santa Casa de Campo Grande, Campo Grande 79010-050, Brazil

Corresponding author: Riccardo Inchingolo, MD, Chief Doctor, Director, Interventional Radiology Unit, "F. Miulli" General Regional Hospital, Via di Santeramo, Acquaviva delle Fonti 70021, Bari, Italy. riccardoin@hotmail.it

Abstract

Intussusception is defined as invagination of one segment of the bowel into an immediately adjacent segment. The intussusception refers to the proximal segment that invaginates into the distal segment, or the intussusception (recipient segment). Intussusception, more common occur in the small bowel and rarely involve only the large bowel. In direct contrast to pediatric etiologies, adult intussusception is associated with an identifiable cause in almost all the symptomatic cases while the idiopathic causes are extremely rare. As there are many common causes of acute abdomen, intussusception should be considered when more frequent etiologies have been ruled out. In this review, we discuss the symptoms, location, etiology, characteristics, diagnostic methods and treatment strategies of this rare and enigmatic clinical entity in adult.

Key Words: Adult intussusception; Bowel invagination; Bowel obstruction; Computed tomography; Laparoscopic surgery; Endoscopy



original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 18, 2021 Peer-review started: January 18, 2021 First decision: February 14, 2021 Revised: February 15, 2021 Accepted: March 18, 2021 Article in press: March 18, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Zhang L S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Intussusception in adult is rare, but its onset is often tumor-related. The diagnosis of intussusception in adult is challenging as a result of the nonspecific signs and symptoms. We herein discuss the epidemiology and the clinical features of bowel intussusception in adult and the role of radiology and surgery in the management of this insidious condition.

Citation: Panzera F, Di Venere B, Rizzi M, Biscaglia A, Praticò CA, Nasti G, Mardighian A, Nunes TF, Inchingolo R. Bowel intussusception in adult: Prevalence, diagnostic tools and therapy. World J Methodol 2021; 11(3): 81-87

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/81.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.81

INTRODUCTION

The term intussusception refers to the invagination of a segment of the gastrointestinal tract into the lumen of an adjacent segment[1]. This condition lead to a transient or permanent bowel obstruction that can evolve even to intestinal ischemia. Intussusception is much more prevalent in children rather than in adult with an overall incidence in the second group of around 2-3 cases per million of the general population per-year^[2].

Adult intussusceptions often onsets as an intermittent cramping abdominal pain associated with signs of bowel obstruction[3]. Diagnosis of intussusception in adult is challenging since the acute abdominal pain is at the same time a non-specific symptom and one of the most frequent complaint reported in the setting of emergency medicine.

Past medical history, physical exam and laboratory test can aid to increase the level of suspicion, but imaging is almost always needed to make diagnosis of bowel intussusception. Although abdominal computed tomography (CT) scan is useful in this setting, it has low specificity in differentiate malignant, benign or idiopathic lead points[4-6].

The optimal management for adult intussusception is still controversial, nevertheless its definitive treatment consists in surgical intervention with appropriate approach depending on the underlying etiology and location.

ETIOLOGY

Any perturbation of the normal pattern of intestinal peristalsis increase the risk of intussusception[7]. As opposed to the pediatric population, adult intussusception is commonly caused by a pathologic lead point; it can be located in the lumen of the bowel, inside the wall or extramural^[8], and its occurrence is associated to an identifiable cause in 80%-90% of symptomatic cases [7,9,10]. The causes of adult intussusception are summarized in Table 1.

Malignant and benign neoplasms account for 60% of cases with a lead point; the remaining non-idiopathic cases are usually caused by postoperative adherences, Crohn's disease, infections, intestinal ulcers, and Meckel diverticulum[7,11].

In a recent systematic review and meta-analysis from Hong et al[12] 1229 adults with intussusception were identified from 40 retrospective case series: Pooled rates of malignant and benign tumors and idiopathic etiologies were 32.9%, 37.4% and 15.1%, respectively.

According to several reports[7-9,11], when dividing etiologies by enteric and colonic location, the small bowel intussusception is more often caused by benign lesions. In contrast, colonic intussusception is more likely to have an underlying malignant lead point (often a colonic adenocarcinoma). When the small bowel intussusception is induced by malignant lesions these are often metastatic disease (i.e., carcinomatosis).

Notably the ileocolic location in adult intussusception is a variant in which almost the totality of cases has a malignant lead point involving the ileocecal valve[9] (Table 2).



Table 1 Causes of adult intussusception									
Benign	Malignant								
Enteric									
Adherences, coeliac disease, Crohn's disease, endometriosis, hamartoma, infections, Kaposi sarcoma, lipoma, Meckel diverticulum, neurofibroma, polyps (inflammatory, adenomatous), stromal tumor, tubercolosis	Adenocarcinoma, carcinoid tumors, leiomyosarcoma, lymphoma, malignant gastrointestinal stromal tumor, metastatic carcinoma, neuroendocrine tumor								
Colonic									
Adherences, inflammatory pseudopolyp, lipoma, polyps (inflammatory, adenomatous)	Adenocarcinoma, lymphoma, sarcoma								
Table 2 Frequent causes of adult intussuscention located to ileocolic site									

Table 2 Frequent causes of addit intussusception located to neocon

Malignant

Adenocarcinoma, metastatic carcinoma, lymphoma, gastrointestinal stromal tumor

PREVALENCE

As previously mentioned, bowel intussusception afflicts children more than adults with an approximate ratio of 20 to 1. In fact intussusception in adult account for < 5% of all cases of intussusception and is found in 1% of patients with bowel obstruction[7], with a surgical report of less than 1 in 1300 abdominal operations[13]. Usually it involves adults, after the fifth decade, with no difference among male and female[8].

The bowel intussusception is commonly classified in four types according to the land-marks of its origin and extension: (1) Enteric type: the intussusception is limited to the small intestine; (2) Ileocolic type: the ileum passes the ileocolic segment, but the appendix does not invaginate; (3) Ileocecal type: the ileocecal portion invaginates into the ascending colon; and (4) Colocolonic type: the intussusception is limited to the colon and rectum (no anal protrusion).

Small bowel is more often involved by intussusception rather than large bowel. Based on the systematic review of Hong *et al*[12] the pooled rates of enteric, ileocolic, and colonic location types account for 49.5%, 29.1%, and 19.9%, respectively.

This predominance of enteric intussusception has its exception in the populations of the central and western Africa in which is most common the cecocolic intussusception (tropical intussusception)[14] probably for the interaction of dietary habits (high-fiber diet), genetics and gut microbiome features.

PATHOPHISIOLOGY AND CLINICAL PRESENTATION

The most common locations involved in intussusception are at the junctions between mobile and fixed segments of the bowel, such as between the freely-moving ileum and the retroperitoneal cecum[8].

Part of a proximal segment of the bowel slides into the next distal section. This event can lead to bowel obstruction and intestinal ischemia. The compromised blood flow to the affected segment can cause necrosis of the intestinal wall with bacterial translocation, peritonitis, sepsis and even perforation. The clinical scenario can be variable but usually characterized by acute intermittent or constant crampy abdominal pain, vomiting and bloating[15,16].

Pain is the most common symptom reported at a rate of up to 80% in several series[11,12,17,18].

The patient present abdominal tenderness and signs of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (*i.e.*, hypothermia or hyperthermia, hypotension, and tachycardia). Fever is usually a sign of the onset of intestinal necrosis. Decreased or absent bowel sounds can be present as well as signs of parietal peritoneal irritation, failure to gas passage, abdominal masses, and diarrhoea even with bloody stool. Laboratory tests usually document increase of leukocytes count and inflammatory markers such as polymerase chain reaction.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

DIAGNOSTIC TOOLS

As already extensively presented in previous studies, the preoperative diagnosis of bowel intussusception raises several questions to the doctor and in this regard, a paper published by Reijnen et al[19] report a preoperative diagnostic rate of 50%.

Intestinal intussusception presents considerable variability in the patient's clinical presentation (abdominal pain, vomiting, nausea) and shows signs of palpable abdominal masses on objective examination.

To make a correct differential diagnosis with other similar intestinal pathologies, it is therefore useful to use radiodiagnostic instruments: abdomen X-ray, small bowel series with barium, abdominal ultrasound, abdominal CT.

Intussusceptions are classified according to location (enteroenteric, ileocolic, ileocecal, or colo-colic) and cause (benign, malignant, or idio-pathic).

The abdomen X-ray (Figure 1) may reveal signs of intestinal obstruction (hydro-air levels, distension of the intestinal tract upstream, unexplained masses) which can occur in different abdominal quadrants depending on the level of obstruction (high or low)[20].

An upper gastrointestinal contrast entero-X-ray may show a "stacked coin" or "coilspring" appearance, while the lower gastrointestinal contrast entero-X-ray, useful in patients with colic or ileus-colic obstruction, may show a "cup-shaped" filling defect or "spiral" or "coil-spring" appearances[20].

Another useful tool is ultrasound, a methodical operator dependent, which can show signs such as the "target" or "doughnut" in the transverse scans (Figure 2), or the "pseudo-kidney" sign or "hay-fork" sign in the longitudinal view[21].

CT is currently considered the gold standard for the intussusception diagnosis. Very sensitive, it can highlight the position, the nature of the mass and the relationship with the surrounding tissues^[20].

The CT scan may help to find a lead-point intussusception that can be localized in the all bowel tract. The CT scan can also demonstrate some pathognomonic radiological aspects as target-like and the sausage-shaped soft tissue mass. These specific findings can be clearly visible or they can remain undetected due to edema; in these cases the classic three-layer appearance and anatomic detail are often lost and so an irregularity mass can show the intussusception. Mesenteric fat and blood vessels are barely visible.

THERAPY

As previously reported, adult's intussusception is frequently cause by a pathologic lead point. For those reasons, treatment of bowel intussusception causing obstruction has typically involved surgery, often with bowel resection, as opposed to the pediatric population. The attempt of hydrostatic reduction in the adult population is not indicated; on the contrary, in the pediatric population this is the treatment of choice in the majority of cases; in fact, in this latter group of age the percentage of surgical treatment is so far less the 10% of the reported cases[22].

In recent series and retrospective review articles [23-26], the evidence that the increased use of cross sectional imaging such as CT has resulted in increment of the radiological diagnosis of intussusception, with a successful nonoperative management in many cases, has led to some degree of controversy regarding optimal management of these patients.

The main issues in the management of adult intussusception are: (1) When proceed with surgical exploration; (2) Once the surgical approach is the treatment of choice, whether attempt intraoperatively reduction or proceed direct to resection of the affected segments; and (3) Once the surgical approach is the treatment of choice, it should be performed open or laparoscopically.

In the most recent review article is reported that surgical exploration is the treatment of choice in case of: (1) Patients with signs and symptoms of acute abdomen; in this scenario abdominal exploration is the gold standard when symptoms of clinical obstruction are reported in association with radiological signs of obstruction, dehydration and increase of white blood cells along with inflammatory markers at laboratory tests; emergency exploration is mandatory in presence of signs of septic shock and peritonism (conditions almost always suggestive of intestinal ischemia); (2) Patients with diagnosis of intussusception with a mass visible on CT scan, also in the absence of clear clinical signs of acute abdomen; and (3) Patients with diagnosis of colonic or ileocolic intussusception, usually associate with neoplasm, also in the



Figure 1 Inflammatory fibroid polyp of the small intestine. A 43-year-old male presenting with abdominal pain and vomiting. A: Abdomen X-ray showed signs of intestinal obstruction with hydro-air levels in the upper guadrants; B: Computed tomography scan confirmed bowel obstruction with presence of "target sign" (orange arrow); C: Mesenteric fat and blood vessels are visible (orange arrow). Surgical resection revealed an inflammatory fibroid polyp of the ileum.



Figure 2 lleocecal valve adenocarcinoma. A 56-year-old female presenting with right iliac fossa pain. A: Ultrasound scan revealed "target sign"; B and C: Computed tomography scan confirmed ielo-colic intussusception, with no signs of bowel obstruction [orange arrow, horizontal (B) and coronal (C)]. Surgical resection revealed an ileocecal valve adenocarcinoma (pT2 N0).

absence of clear clinical signs of acute abdomen. In these setting, preoperative endoscopy can be done in order to confirm the presence of pathology and/or cancer[8].

On the other side, many reports suggest a "wait and see" strategy, with serial clinic and imaging evaluation to ensure spontaneous resolution in entero-enteric intussusceptions without lead point mass and short affected segment (< 3.5 cm)[24-26]. Based on the systematic review of Hong et al[12], it is important to remark that the pooled rate of patients that received this type of conservative treatment is less of 5% and is limited to patient with entero-enteric locations.

Undoubtedly, other controversy remains as to whether reduction of the intussusception should be attempted intraoperatively [27,28].

This controversy is related to the consideration that reducing the intussusception before resection carries risks of perforation and the theoretical possibility of dissemination of malignant cells during the attempt. The other theoretical risks of preliminary manipulation and reduction of an intussuscepted bowel is related to the endangerment of anastomotic complications of the manipulated friable and edematous bowel tissue[16,20].

On the other hand, the reduction of bowel intussusception is useful both to preserve important lengths of small bowel and to prevent possible development of short bowel syndrome, especially when the small bowel is the only tract involved because of its lower rate of association to malignancy [29,30].



On this point, we suggest that simple reduction is acceptable in post-traumatic or idiopathic intussusceptions, where no pathological cause could be identified, obviously after the exclusion of bowel ischaemia or perforation, especially in case of small bowel intussusception. Considering the high rate of primary adenocarcinoma, colonic intussusception should be resected *en bloc* without reduction to avoid potential intraluminal seeding or venous tumor dissemination: a formal resection using appropriate oncologic techniques are recommended, with the construction of a primary anastomosis between healthy and viable tissue. Finally, a selective approach seems appropriate for ileocolic adult intussusception because of its intermediate nature between enteric and colonic sites[11,12,31].

The choice of preforming laparoscopic rather than open procedure depends both on the clinical condition of the patient and on surgeon's laparoscopic experience[8,27].

A standardized laparoscopic technique to approach intussusception is not available, due to the all different possible causes and locations, some tips and tricks are reported in literature[8,32,33]: the pneumoperitoneum establishment must be performed with open laparoscopy at the umbellicum because of the high risk of bowel lesions with the Verres technique. Due to the rarity of the left-side's intussusception is recommend to place the two additional 5-mm ports one in the left lower quadrant and the other suprapubically. If needed, other ports can be placed depending on the location of the pathology. During laparoscopy all four quadrants of the abdomen and the pelvis must be thoroughly explored; once the pathologic segment is found, it can either be resected or eviscerated and dealt with extracorporeally using small incision, depending on surgeon skill and severity of the occlusive syndrome related to intussusception. It is recommended to sample suspected fluid collections for culture as well as to biopsy suspected lesions.

CONCLUSION

Bowel intussusception in adult is a rare condition with acute onset or seldom-elusive progress. Clinicians and surgeons are not supported by designated scoring systems in this challenging diagnosis because of non-specific symptoms, and its preoperative identification is often missed or delayed. On the other hand, intussusception is a surgical emergency associated to high rates of mortality in case of delayed treatment, therefore it is important to think about this less common diagnostic possibility when facing an acute abdominal pain with sign of bowel obstruction.

The management of bowel intussusception in adult remains mainly surgical. The timing and type of approach depends on several factors such as the underlying causes, the severity of clinical presentation, the site and the length and vitality of the bowel segment involved.

Anyway, the increased use of cross sectional imaging has increased the earlydiagnosis of intussusception, in many cases with a successful nonoperative management; such findings led to some questioning about the optimal management of these conditions.

REFERENCES

- 1 Hutchinson J. A successful patient of abdominal section for intussusception. *Proc R Med Chir Soc* 1873; 7: 195-198
- 2 Manouras A, Lagoudianakis EE, Dardamanis D, Tsekouras DK, Markogiannakis H, Genetzakis M, Pararas N, Papadima A, Triantafillou C, Katergiannakis V. Lipoma induced jejunojejunal intussusception. *World J Gastroenterol* 2007; 13: 3641-3644 [PMID: 17659719 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v13.i26.3641]
- 3 **Begos DG**, Sandor A, Modlin IM. The diagnosis and management of adult intussusception. *Am J Surg* 1997; **173**: 88-94 [PMID: 9074370 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9610(96)00419-9]
- 4 Hanan B, Diniz TR, da Luz MM, da Conceição SA, da Silva RG, Lacerda-Filho A. Intussusception in adults: a retrospective study. *Colorectal Dis* 2010; 12: 574-578 [PMID: 19486100 DOI: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2009.01865.x]
- 5 Onkendi EO, Grotz TE, Murray JA, Donohue JH. Adult intussusception in the last 25 years of modern imaging: is surgery still indicated? *J Gastrointest Surg* 2011; 15: 1699-1705 [PMID: 21830152 DOI: 10.1007/s11605-011-1609-4]
- 6 Honjo H, Mike M, Kusanagi H, Kano N. Adult intussusception: a retrospective review. World J Surg 2015; 39: 134-138 [PMID: 25192846 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-014-2759-9]
- 7 Azar T, Berger DL. Adult intussusception. Ann Surg 1997; 226: 134-138 [PMID: 9296505 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-199708000-00003]



- Marsicovetere P, Ivatury SJ, White B, Holubar SD. Intestinal Intussusception: Etiology, Diagnosis, 8 and Treatment. Clin Colon Rectal Surg 2017; 30: 30-39 [PMID: 28144210 DOI: 10.1055/s-0036-1593429
- 9 Zubaidi A, Al-Saif F, Silverman R. Adult intussusception: a retrospective review. Dis Colon Rectum 2006; 49: 1546-1551 [PMID: 16990978 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-006-0664-5]
- Ghaderi H, Jafarian A, Aminian A, Mirjafari Daryasari SA. Clinical presentations, diagnosis and 10 treatment of adult intussusception, a 20 years survey. Int J Surg 2010; 8: 318-320 [PMID: 20359557 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2010.02.013]
- Wang LT, Wu CC, Yu JC, Hsiao CW, Hsu CC, Jao SW. Clinical entity and treatment strategies for 11 adult intussusceptions: 20 years' experience. Dis Colon Rectum 2007; 50: 1941-1949 [PMID: 17846839 DOI: 10.1007/s10350-007-9048-8]
- 12 Hong KD, Kim J, Ji W, Wexner SD. Adult intussusception: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Tech Coloproctol 2019; 23: 315-324 [PMID: 31011846 DOI: 10.1007/s10151-019-01980-5]
- Brill A, Lopez RA. Intussusception In Adults. 2020 Dec 7. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island 13 (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2021 [PMID: 31424848]
- 14 VanderKolk WE, Snyder CA, Figg DM. Cecal-colic adult intussusception as a cause of intestinal obstruction in Central Africa. World J Surg 1996; 20: 341-343; discussion 344 [PMID: 8661842 DOI: 10.1007/s002689900055]
- Lu T, Chng YM. Adult intussusception. Perm J 2015; 19: 79-81 [PMID: 25663210 DOI: 15 10.7812/TPP/14-125]
- Marinis A, Yiallourou A, Samanides L, Dafnios N, Anastasopoulos G, Vassiliou I, Theodosopoulos 16 T. Intussusception of the bowel in adults: a review. World J Gastroenterol 2009; 15: 407-411 [PMID: 19152443 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.15.407]
- 17 Mrak K. Uncommon conditions in surgical oncology: acute abdomen caused by ileocolic intussusception. J Gastrointest Oncol 2014; 5: E75-E79 [PMID: 25083311 DOI: 10.3978/i.issn.2078-6891.2014.044]
- 18 Sarma D, Prabhu R, Rodrigues G. Adult intussusception: a six-year experience at a single center. Ann Gastroenterol 2012; 25: 128-132 [PMID: 24714146]
- 19 Reijnen HA, Joosten HJ, de Boer HH. Diagnosis and treatment of adult intussusception. Am J Surg 1989; 158: 25-28 [PMID: 2662787 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(89)90309-7]
- 20 Eisen LK, Cunningham JD, Aufses AH Jr. Intussusception in adults: institutional review. J Am Coll Surg 1999; 188: 390-395 [PMID: 10195723 DOI: 10.1016/s1072-7515(98)00331-7]
- 21 Boyle MJ, Arkell LJ, Williams JT. Ultrasonic diagnosis of adult intussusception. Am J Gastroenterol 1993; 88: 617-618 [PMID: 8470658]
- Lee EH, Yang HR. Nationwide Population-Based Epidemiologic Study on Childhood Intussusception 22 in South Korea: Emphasis on Treatment and Outcomes. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr 2020; 23: 329-345 [PMID: 32704494 DOI: 10.5223/pghn.2020.23.4.329]
- Kim YH, Blake MA, Harisinghani MG, Archer-Arroyo K, Hahn PF, Pitman MB, Mueller PR. Adult intestinal intussusception: CT appearances and identification of a causative lead point. Radiographics 2006; 26: 733-744 [PMID: 16702451 DOI: 10.1148/rg.263055100]
- 24 Rea JD. Lockhart ME, Yarbrough DE, Leeth RR, Bledsoe SE, Clements RH, Approach to management of intussusception in adults: a new paradigm in the computed tomography era. Am Surg 2007; 73: 1098-1105 [PMID: 18092641 DOI: 10.1177/000313480707301104]
- 25 Lvoff N, Breiman RS, Coakley FV, Lu Y, Warren RS. Distinguishing features of self-limiting adult small-bowel intussusception identified at CT. Radiology 2003; 227: 68-72 [PMID: 12668740 DOI: 10.1148/radiol.2272020455
- Jain P, Heap SW. Intussusception of the small bowel discovered incidentally by computed 26 tomography. Australas Radiol 2006; 50: 171-174 [PMID: 16635037 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1673.2006.01548.x
- 27 Lianos G, Xeropotamos N, Bali C, Baltoggiannis G, Ignatiadou E. Adult bowel intussusception: presentation, location, etiology, diagnosis and treatment. G Chir 2013; 34: 280-283 [PMID: 24629817
- Potts J, Al Samaraee A, El-Hakeem A. Small bowel intussusception in adults. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 28 2014; 96: 11-14 [PMID: 24417823 DOI: 10.1308/003588414X13824511650579]
- 29 Erbil Y, Eminoğlu L, Caliş A, Berber E. Ileocolic invagination in adult due to caecal carcinoma. Acta Chir Belg 1997; 97: 190-191 [PMID: 9381902]
- 30 Yalamarthi S, Smith RC. Adult intussusception: case reports and review of literature. Postgrad Med J 2005; 81: 174-177 [PMID: 15749793 DOI: 10.1136/pgmj.2004.022749]
- 31 Barussaud M, Regenet N, Briennon X, de Kerviler B, Pessaux P, Kohneh-Sharhi N, Lehur PA, Hamy A, Leborgne J, le Neel JC, Mirallie E. Clinical spectrum and surgical approach of adult intussusceptions: a multicentric study. Int J Colorectal Dis 2006; 21: 834-839 [PMID: 15951987 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-005-0789-3]
- 32 Alonso V, Targarona EM, Bendahan GE, Kobus C, Moya I, Cherichetti C, Balagué C, Vela S, Garriga J, Trias M. Laparoscopic treatment for intussusception of the small intestine in the adult. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 2003; 13: 394-396 [PMID: 14712104 DOI: 10.1097/00129689-200312000-00011
- 33 Hackam DJ, Saibil F, Wilson S, Litwin D. Laparoscopic management of intussusception caused by colonic lipomata: a case report and review of the literature. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1996; 6: 155-159 [PMID: 8680642 DOI: 10.1097/00019509-199604000-00015]



WJM

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 88-94

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.88

ISSN 2222-0682 (online) ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Randomized Clinical Trial

Comparison of lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures

Lydia Melek

ORCID number: Lydia Melek 0000-0001-6379-3800.

Author contributions: Melek L solely contributed to the design of the study, implementation of the clinical trial, writing and revision of the manuscript.

Institutional review board

statement: This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the Faculty of Dentistry, Alexandria University, Egypt, and the protocols used in the study were approved by the Research Ethics Committee. Human Subjects Review: Approval Number: IRB 00010556-IORG 0008839 Board Name: Research Ethics Committee, Alexandria Faculty of Dentistry Board Affiliation: Faculty of Dentistry, Alexandria University, Egypt Phone: (+203) 4812201.

Clinical trial registration statement:

The study was registered on clinicaltrials.gov (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT04396054).

Informed consent statement: A

written informed consent was signed by each patient before the operation.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The author declares no conflict of interest.

Lydia Melek, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Alexandria University, Alexandria 21411, Egypt

Corresponding author: Lydia Melek, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Alexandria University, Champolion Street, Alexandria 21411, Egypt. lydia.nabil@dent.alex.edu.eg

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Mandibular fractures constitute about 80.79% of maxillofacial injuries in Alexandria University, either as isolated mandibular fractures or as a part of panfacial fractures. The combination of symphyseal and parasymphyseal fractures represent 47.09% of the total mandibular fractures.

AIM

To compare the effectiveness of lag screws vs double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures.

METHODS

This study is a prospective randomized controlled clinical trial, performed on sixteen patients with anterior mandibular fractures. Patients were divided equally into two groups, each consisting of eight patients. Group 1: Underwent open reduction and internal fixation using two lag screws. Group 2: Underwent open reduction and internal fixation using double Y-shaped plates. The following parameters were assessed: operating time in minutes, pain using a visual analog scale, edema, surgical wound healing for signs and symptoms of infection, occlusion status and stability, maximal mouth opening, and sensory nerve function. Cone beam computed tomography was performed at 3 and 6 mo to measure bone density and assess the progression of fracture healing.

RESULTS

The study included 13 males (81.3%) and 3 females (18.8%) aged 26 to 45 years (mean age was 35.69 ± 6.01 years). The cause of trauma was road traffic accidents in 10 patients (62.5%), interpersonal violence in 3 patients (18.8%) and other causes in 3 patients (18.8%). The fractures comprised 10 parasymphyseal fractures (62.5%) and 6 symphyseal fractures (37.5%). The values of all parameters were comparable in both groups with no statistically significant difference except for the mean bone density at 3 mo postoperatively which was 946.38 ± 66.29 in group



Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

CONSORT 2010 statement: The guidelines of the CONSORT 2010 statement have been adopted.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Dentistry, oral surgery and medicine

Country/Territory of origin: Egypt

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: October 13, 2020 Peer-review started: October 13, 2020 First decision: December 21, 2020 Revised: January 2, 2021 Accepted: March 11, 2021 Article in press: March 11, 2021 Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Fuentes R, Miyamoto I S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: Webster IR P-Editor: Yuan YY



1 and 830.36 ± 95.53 in group 2 (P = 0.015).

CONCLUSION

Both lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates provide favorable means of fixation for mandibular fractures in the anterior region. Fractures fixed with lag screws show greater mean bone density at 3 mo post-operation, indicative of higher primary stability and faster early bone healing. Further studies with larger sample sizes are required to verify these conclusions.

Key Words: Anterior mandibular fractures; Symphyseal fracture; Parasymphyseal fracture; Miniplates; Lag screws; Double Y-shaped plates

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The aim of this study is to compare the effectiveness of lag screws vs double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures in terms of fracture stability and progression of bone healing.

Citation: Melek L. Comparison of lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures. World J Methodol 2021; 11(3): 88-94 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/88.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.88

INTRODUCTION

Mandibular fractures constitute about 80.79% of maxillofacial injuries in Alexandria University, either as isolated mandibular fractures or as a part of panfacial fractures. The combination of symphyseal and parasymphyseal fractures represent 47.09% of the total mandibular fractures[1]. However, this percentage of anterior mandibular fractures in relation to other mandibular fractures is variable among different studies and locations[2].

Lag screws have been described as a reliable, stable and safe method of internal fixation for anterior mandibular fractures. The absence of anatomical hazards, thickness of the bone cortices and curvature of the anterior mandible are all factors contributing to the suitability and success of using lag screws in that region[3].

Miniplates have been widely used for decades for the fixation of mandibular fractures owing to their easy handling and adaptation, in addition to providing functionally stable fixation[4]. Different designs of miniplates, varying from the conventional form by Champy, have been proposed to provide extra stability of the fracture. A biomechanical study has shown that double Y-shaped miniplates provide greater resistance to displacement in comparison to conventional straight miniplates^[5].

The aim of this study is to compare the effectiveness of lag screws vs double Yshaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethic statements

This study is a prospective randomized controlled clinical trial. It was performed on sixteen patients with anterior mandibular fractures, selected from those admitted to the Emergency Department of Alexandria University Hospital. This study followed the Declaration of Helsinki with regard to medical protocol and ethics, and the regional Ethical Review Board of the Faculty of Dentistry, Alexandria University approved the study (Approval Number: IRB 00010556-IORG 0008839). The study was registered on clinicaltrials.gov (ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT04396054). A written informed consent was signed by each patient before the operation.

WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

Patients

The patients were divided equally into two groups, each consisting of eight patients. Assignment of each patient into one of these two groups was carried out using computer random numbers: Group 1: Underwent open reduction and internal fixation using two lag screws; Group 2: Underwent open reduction and internal fixation using double Y-shaped plates.

Inclusion criteria

Patients of both genders aged from 25 to 45 years, suffering from anterior fractures of the mandible (symphyseal or parasymphyseal) were included. Those with old fractures, infected or comminuted fractures were excluded from the current study.

Study design

A thorough clinical examination was performed preoperatively on all patients, in addition to panoramic radiographs. All patients were operated by the same surgeon under general anaesthesia with nasotracheal intubation. Complete disinfection of the oral cavity and face was performed using povidone iodine solution, followed by draping with sterile towels exposing the surgical site. Maxillomandibular fixation was carried out to adjust the occlusion using arch bars and eyelet wiring. After that, an intraoral mandibular vestibular incision was made exposing the fracture line where reduction of the two segments was carried out under direct vision.

In the first group, fixation of the reduced segments was achieved using 2 lag screws (O and M Medical GmbH Eschenweg, Germany). The diameter of the screws was 2.7 mm and the length ranged from 18 to 24 mm. Screw fixation was performed by passage of the screw through a larger gliding hole into a smaller traction hole on each side of the fracture (Figure 1). In the second group, fixation of the reduced segments was achieved using double Y-shaped plates (Stryker-Leibenger, Germany) with 6 monocortical 2.0 mm diameter screws (Figure 2).

After direct fixation was performed in both groups, the incision was closed using layered suturing and the maxillomandibular fixation was removed. Postoperative care for all patients included the following: (1) Each patient received intravenous Cefotaxime 1 mg/12 h (Cefotax, by EIPICO) for one day postoperatively followed by Amoxicillin clavulanate (Augmentin, manufactured by MPU) 1 mg given orally twice daily for the next 5 d; (2) An analgesic anti-inflammatory drug in the form of Diclofenac Sodium (Rheumafen, by GlaxoSmithKline) 75 mg vial up to the second postoperative day was given followed by Diclofenac Potassium (Rheumafen tablets, by GlaxoSmithKline) 50 mg tablets three times daily for the next 5 d; (3) All patients were instructed to use chlorohexidine mouth wash (Hexitol, by an Arabic drug company) for maintenance of good oral hygiene; and (4) Instructions for a soft high calorie diet was given to all patients to be followed for 4 wk postoperatively.

Postoperative follow-up: Patients were followed up on the second, third postoperative days, first and second weeks, then after one, 3 and 6 mo. The following parameters were assessed: operating time in minutes, pain using a visual analog scale, edema, surgical wound healing for signs and symptoms of infection, occlusion status and stability, maximal mouth opening, and sensory nerve function using a dental probe to assess sensory changes along the mental nerve distribution and comparing it to the contralateral side. Cone beam computed tomography was performed at 3 and 6 mo to measure bone density and assess the progression of fracture healing.

Statistical analysis

Data were fed to the computer and analyzed by the appropriate statistical tests using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Science software version 21.0. Significance of the obtained results was set at the 5% level. Qualitative data were described using number and percent. Quantitative data were described using range (minimum and maximum), mean and standard deviation. The independent samples t-test was used to compare the means of quantitative data.

RESULTS

This study was conducted on 16 patients suffering from anterior mandibular fractures. The study included 13 males (81.3%) and 3 females (18.8%) aged 26 to 45 years (mean age was 35.69 ± 6.01 years). The cause of trauma was road traffic accidents in 10 patients (62.5%), interpersonal violence in 3 patients (18.8%) and other causes in 3



WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Symphyseal fracture fixed with two lag screws.



Figure 2 Parasymphyseal fracture fixed with double Y-shaped miniplate.

patients (18.8%). The fractures comprised 10 parasymphyseal fractures (62.5%) and 6 symphyseal fractures (37.5%).

In group 1, patients were treated with open reduction and internal fixation using lag screws and the mean operating time from start of hardware application to end of fixation was 14.38 ± 1.92 min. In group 2, patients were treated with open reduction and internal fixation using double Y-shaped miniplates and the mean operating time was 15.63 ± 1.53 min. The difference between the two groups regarding the mean operating time was statistically insignificant (P > 0.05) (Table 1).

With regard to postoperative edema, only 2 patients in the study sample showed severe edema (12.5%), while all other patients demonstrated mild to moderate edema (87.5%) on the second postoperative day. By the end of the first week, the edema has resolved completely in all patients.

The mean pain intensity in the first postoperative week was 4.125 ± 1.25 in group 1 and 4.75 ± 1.04 in group 2 with no statistically significant difference (*P* = 0.294). Pain was completely resolved by the end of the second week.

The mean maximal mouth opening measured two weeks after surgery was 38.25 ± 2.38 mm in group 1, and 37.63 ± 2.92 mm in group 2 with no statistically significant difference (*P* = 0.646).

The surgical wounds healed uneventfully in all patients in both groups except for one patient in group 2 who had wound dehiscence that was managed conservatively using irrigation and antiseptic mouth washes until secondary intention healing was achieved. No sensory nerve impairment was detected postoperatively in any of the patients in either group. Satisfactory occlusion and normal inter-cuspal relation were evident in all patients except for one patient in group 1 who had slight malocclusion postoperatively, that was managed by selective grinding.



Melek L. Lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates for anterior mandibular fractures

Table 1 Mean operating time									
	Group	n	mean ± SD	t	Significance (2-tailed)				
Operating time	1	8	14.3750 ± 1.92261 min		0.172				
Operating time	2	8	15.6250 ± 1.52947 min	-1.439					

The mean bone density at the fracture line [measured in grey scale using the CBCT OnDemand3DTM software (310 Goddard Way, Suite 250 Irvine, CA, United States, https://www.ondemand3d.com)] at 3 mo postoperatively was 946.38 ± 66.29 in group 1 and 830.36 ± 95.53 in group 2. The difference between the two groups was statistically significant (P = 0.015). At 6 mo postoperatively, the mean bone density in group 1 was 1062.66 ± 63.89 and in group 2, it was 1083.86 ± 82.83, with no statistically significant difference between the 2 groups (Table 2).

DISCUSSION

The current study compared the use of lag screws *vs* double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures and comparable results were found in most evaluated parameters except for a statistically significant higher mean bone density in the lag screw group at 3 mo postoperatively.

The male to female ratio in the study sample showed a marked male predilection (4.33: 1) in agreement with other studies [1,6]. It is suggested that high-speed driving and greater participation in outdoor activities are probably more characteristic in men rather than women in our society, which renders them more susceptible to accidents in that age group. Moreover, in accordance with previous studies, road traffic accidents were the major cause of trauma followed by personal violence and other causes [1,7].

The present study demonstrated a comparable mean operating time in both groups with no statistically significant difference, starting from hardware application to the end of fixation. This is in contrast to other studies which have shown shorter time for lag screw fixation in comparison to miniplates[8,9].

Mean pain score at the end of the first week was numerically (but not statistically) lower in the first group. Bhatnagar *et al*[10] obtained similar results with less pain in the lag screw group, and they explained their findings by the higher stability of the fracture line provided by lag screws in comparison to miniplates and less hardware applied leading to reduced persistent postoperative pain.

No postoperative sensory nerve impairment was detected in either group after fracture fixation, owing to the gentle fracture manipulation, careful dissection of the mental nerve and cautious application of screws in close proximity to the nerve. This is concordant with the results of the study by Agarwal *et al*[11] who did not observe any postoperative nerve deficit and stressed the importance of skills and patience during hardware application in anterior mandibular fractures.

The difference in mean bone density was statistically significant between the two groups at 3 mo post-operation suggestive of early bone healing. This is consistent with previous studies[9,12] using lag screws in fractures of the anterior mandible. This may be due to their compressive effect on the fracture segments, facilitating the progression of primary bone healing. However, by the end of the follow-up period, both groups had comparable mean bone density values indicative of adequate fracture healing and stability. Double Y-shaped miniplates with their special design have shown predictable biomechanical behavior with greater resistance to displacement when compared with straight miniplates[5].

To our knowledge, this is the first clinical trial comparing lag screws to double Yshaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures. This special design of miniplates provides better stability than straight miniplates and easier application/adaptation than 3-dimensional miniplates in the anterior region. However, the main limitation of the current study is the small sample size, which in some way, might have affected interpretation of the results. The small number of patients included is attributed to the meticulous case selection to meet all the inclusion criteria and minimize the variability between cases as much as possible.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Mean bone density in the 2 groups at 3 and 6 mo postoperatively									
	Group	n	mean ± SD	t	Significance (2-tailed)				
Bone density 3 mo post-operation	1	8	946.3825 ± 66.29304	2.822	0.015 ^a				
	2	8	830.3625 ± 95.52573						
Bone density 6 mo post-operation	1	8	1062.6575 ± 63.88916	-0.573	0.576				
	2	8	1083.8550 ± 82.82562						

 $^{a}P < 0.05$

CONCLUSION

Both lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates provide favorable means of fixation for mandibular fractures in the anterior region. Fractures fixed with lag screws show greater mean bone density at 3 mo post-operation, indicative of higher primary stability and faster early bone healing. Further studies with larger sample sizes are required to verify these conclusions.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Several methods of fixation are available for the management of anterior mandibular fractures.

Research motivation

It is important to find the most suitable method to provide optimal fixation and stability against torsional forces in these fractures.

Research objectives

The effectiveness of lag screws and double Y-shaped miniplates in the fixation of anterior mandibular fractures was compared.

Research methods

Sixteen patients divided into 2 equal groups were included in the study.

Research results

The values of all parameters were comparable between the 2 groups except for the mean bone density which was significantly higher in the lag screw group at 3 mo postoperation.

Research conclusions

Both methods provide favorable fixation for anterior mandibular fractures with lag screws apparently leading to higher primary stability and faster healing.

Research perspectives

Further studies to confirm this conclusion and to compare with other methods of fixation are recommended.

REFERENCES

- Lydia N Melek, AA Sharara. Retrospective study of maxillofacial trauma in Alexandria University: 1 Analysis of 177 cases. Tanta Dent J 2016; 13: 28-33 [DOI: 10.4103/1687-8574.186943]
- Tiwana PS, Kushner GM, Alpert B. Lag screw fixation of anterior mandibular fractures: a retrospective analysis of intraoperative and postoperative complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2007; 65: 1180-1185 [PMID: 17517303 DOI: 10.1016/j.joms.2006.11.046]
- 3 Ellis E 3rd, Ghali GE. Lag screw fixation of anterior mandibular fractures. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1991; 49: 13-21; discussion 21 [PMID: 1985177 DOI: 10.1016/0278-2391(91)90259-0]



- Ikemura K, Kouno Y, Shibata H, Yamasaki K. Biomechanical study on monocortical osteosynthesis 4 for the fracture of the mandible. Int J Oral Surg 1984; 13: 307-312 [PMID: 6434450 DOI: 10.1016/s0300-9785(84)80038-1]
- 5 Hassanein AM, Alfakhrany A. Biomechanical evaluation of double y-shaped versus conventional straight titanium miniplates for the treatment of mandibular angle fractures. Egypt Dent J 2018; 64: 3231 [DOI: 10.21608/edj.2018.78541]
- Gutta R, Tracy K, Johnson C, James LE, Krishnan DG, Marciani RD. Outcomes of mandible fracture 6 treatment at an academic tertiary hospital: a 5-year analysis. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2014; 72: 550-558 [PMID: 24405632 DOI: 10.1016/j.joms.2013.09.005]
- 7 Bormann KH, Wild S, Gellrich NC, Kokemüller H, Stühmer C, Schmelzeisen R, Schön R. Five-year retrospective study of mandibular fractures in Freiburg, Germany: incidence, etiology, treatment, and complications. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009; 67: 1251-1255 [PMID: 19446212 DOI: 10.1016/j.joms.2008.09.022]
- Schaaf H, Kaubruegge S, Streckbein P, Wilbrand JF, Kerkmann H, Howaldt HP. Comparison of 8 miniplate vs lag-screw osteosynthesis for fractures of the mandibular angle. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2011; 111: 34-40 [PMID: 20598593 DOI: 10.1016/j.tripleo.2010.03.043]
- Elhussein MS, Sharara AA, Ragab HR. A comparative study of cortical lag screws and miniplates for 9 internal fixation of mandibular symphyseal region fractures. Alex Dent J 2017; 42: 1-6 [DOI: 10.21608/adjalexu.2017.57849]
- 10 Bhatnagar A, Bansal V, Kumar S, Mowar A. Comparative analysis of osteosynthesis of mandibular anterior fractures following open reduction using 'stainless steel lag screws and mini plates'. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2013; 12: 133-139 [PMID: 24431830 DOI: 10.1007/s12663-012-0397-z]
- Agarwal M, Meena B, Gupta DK, Tiwari AD, Jakhar SK. A Prospective Randomized Clinical Trial 11 Comparing 3D and Standard Miniplates in Treatment of Mandibular Symphysis and Parasymphysis Fractures. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2014; 13: 79-83 [PMID: 24821994 DOI: 10.1007/s12663-013-0483-x]
- 12 Jadwani S, Bansod S. Lag screw fixation of fracture of the anterior mandible: a new minimal access technique. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2011; 10: 176-180 [PMID: 22654375 DOI: 10.1007/s12663-011-0176-2]



World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 May 20; 11(3): 95-109

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i3.95

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Tocilizumab as treatment for COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis

Fausto Petrelli, Sara Cherri, Michele Ghidini, Gianluca Perego, Antonio Ghidini, Alberto Zaniboni

ORCID number: Fausto Petrelli 0000-0001-9639-4486.

Author contributions: All authors made equal contribution to this manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement:

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Metaanalyses (PRISMA) guidelines were followed for evaluating records identified during the literature search.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Fausto Petrelli, Oncology Unit, Asst Bergamo Ovest, Milano 20124, Italy

Sara Cherri, Department of Clinical Oncology, Fondazione Poliambulanza, Brescia 25124, Italy

Michele Ghidini, Medical Oncology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Ca' Granda Ospedale Maggiore Policlinico, Milan, Italy.

Gianluca Perego, Pharmacy Unit, San Raffaele Hospital, Milano 20100, Italy

Antonio Ghidini, Department of Medicine, Casa di Cura Igea, Milano 20100, Italy

Alberto Zaniboni, Department of Oncology, Fondazione Poliambulanza, Brescia 25124, Italy

Corresponding author: Fausto Petrelli, MD, Oncology Unit, Asst Bergamo Ovest, Piazzale Ospedale 1, Milano 20124, Italy. faustopetrelli@gmail.com

Abstract

BACKGROUND

The majority of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) have good prognoses, but some develop a critical illness that can lead to death. Evidence shows severe acute respiratory syndrome is closely related to the induced cytokine storm. Interleukin-6 is a key player; its role in systemic inflammation is well known.

AIM

To evaluate the effect of tocilizumab (TCZ), an interleukin-6 receptor antagonist, on the outcomes for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia.

METHODS

PubMed, EMBASE, SCOPUS, Web of Science, MedRxiv, Science Direct, and the Cochrane Library were searched from inception to 9th June 2020 for observational or prospective studies reporting results of hospitalized adult patients with COVID-19 infection treated with TCZ. Effect sizes were reported as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs), and an OR less than 1 was associated with a better outcome in those treated with TCZ.

RESULTS

Overall 13476 patients (33 studies; n = 3264 received TCZ) with COVID-19 pneumonia and various degree of severity were included. Outcome was improved with TCZ. In the primary analysis (n = 19 studies reporting data),



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

Specialty type: Infectious diseases

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: November 1, 2020 Peer-review started: November 1, 2020 First decision: November 30, 2020 Revised: December 2, 2020 Accepted: March 28, 2021 Article in press: March 28, 2021

Published online: May 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Fan Y S-Editor: Zhang L L-Editor: A P-Editor: Xing YX



mortality was reduced in patients treated with TCZ (OR = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.47-0.87; P < 0.01). In 9 studies where risk of death with TCZ use was controlled for other variables mortality was reduced by 57% (OR = 0.43, 95%CI: 0.27-0.7; P < 0.01). Intensive care need (mechanical ventilation) was also reduced (OR = 0.36, 95%CI: 0.14-0.89; P = 0.02).

CONCLUSION

In COVID-19-infected patients treated with TCZ, outcome may be improved compared to those not treated with TCZ.

Key Words: Tocilizumab; COVID-19; Pandemic; Treatment; Meta-analysis; Review

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection is associated with a citokine storm during acute phase. Interleukin-6 is a key player in this systemic inflammation. We evaluated the effect of tocilizumab (TCZ) on the outcomes of COVID-19 pneumonia. Mortality was reduced in patients treated with TCZ (Odds ratio =0.64, 95% confidence intervals: 0.47-0.87; P < 0.01). We conclude that TCZ may improve outcome of COVID-19 infected patients.

Citation: Petrelli F, Cherri S, Ghidini M, Perego G, Ghidini A, Zaniboni A. Tocilizumab as treatment for COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(3): 95-109

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i3/95.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i3.95

INTRODUCTION

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 emerged in Wuhan, China in December 2019 and a pandemic was declared by the World Health Organization on March 11, 2020. The pandemic rapidly became a major global health concern. The vast majority of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) have good prognoses, but some develop a critical illness that can lead to death. The data show that approximately 20% become severe or critical and require hospitalization[1]. Evidence shows that severe deterioration following severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection is closely related to the associated cytokine storm^[2]. Tocilizumab (TCZ) is an immunomodulatory therapeutic, an interleukin (IL)-6 receptor antagonist approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration and the European Medicine Agency for treating cytokine release syndrome. One of the key cytokines described in the cytokine storm induced by COVID-19 is IL-6, and its role in systemic inflammation is well known. Following an intriguing biological rationale, several institutions have proposed using TCZ off-label to treat COVID-19[3]. Thus far, randomized controlled trials have not been reported in the literature, but observational studies and case reports describe the compassionate use of TCZ. Results leave the efficacy of TCZ controversial. We performed a meta-analysis of the studies available to date.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Literature search and selection criteria

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines were followed for evaluating records identified during the literature search[4].

The search included MEDLINE, EMBASE, Scopus, the medRxiv preprint server, Science Direct, Web of Science, and the Cochrane Controlled Register of Trials for articles published up to June 9, 2020 describing trials or observational series about the efficacy of TCZ in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Search terms were tocilizumab and COVID-19. The inclusion criteria were: (1) Randomized or single-arm prospective

aishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

studies, observational or retrospective case series of patients with COVID-19 and treated with TCZ outside of clinical trials; (2) written in the English language; (3) reporting patient clinical characteristics; and (4) including at least 5 patients. Animal studies, case reports, editorials, commentaries, and clinical or pharmacological reviews were excluded. If multiple studies reported on the same population and met the inclusion criteria, the newest study was selected unless different endpoints or subgroup analyses were performed or updated.

Data extraction and endpoints

Two authors (Ghidini A, Petrelli F) determined article eligibility based on the abstracts. A third (Zaniboni A) independently read the articles, and agreement for trial inclusion was reached. Two authors (Petrelli F, Ghidini A) independently extracted data to a standard form constructed using Microsoft Word and compared results for agreement. Extracted data were author, publication year, number of participants treated, study design, patient group demographics and clinical characteristics (*e.g.*, median age, sex, country, comorbidities), median follow-up, laboratory and clinical parameters (symptoms) of participants, rate of admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) before and after TCZ use, associated drugs, imaging (baseline and improvements shown in imaging), number of cycles with TCZ and resulting adverse events, death rate, median hospitalization time, rate of discharge from the ICU and/or hospital, and hazard ratios for mortality or other events associated with TCZ use.

Eligible studies were critically appraised by two independent reviewers at the study level for methodological and reporting bias by adapting the ROBIN-I tool[5] for assessing risk of bias in selected observational studies. By definition, single-arm or observational trials have a high risk of bias due to the absence of a control group and randomization. Otherwise, the Nottingham-Ottawa-Scale was used as a quality check for retrospective studies.

Statistical analysis

The primary endpoints were mortality (%) and ventilatory improvement (defined as the proportion of participants relieved from ICU admission or from non-invasive ventilation defined at the time from initiation of the study treatment) among those treated with TCZ. The outcome data extracted for each study were analyzed using random-effects models and were reported as weighted measures of any event. Event rates reported in individual studies were aggregated into pooled rates. All other continuous variables were analyzed using descriptive statistics. We used the procedures of the comprehensive meta-analysis (CMA) software to calculate the effect size using dichotomous outcomes; and if these were not available either, we used other statistics (such as *t*-value or P value) to calculate the effect size. A random-effects meta-analysis of odds ratios (ORs) was used to aggregate efficacy outcomes reported across trials. A meta-analysis of adjusted ORs attained from multivariate analysis only was also provided.

Heterogeneity was assessed using the χ^2 test. Statistical significance and the magnitude of l^2 were considered. When l^2 was less than 50%, low to moderate heterogeneity was assigned; otherwise, substantial heterogeneity was assigned. A significance threshold of P < 0.05 was adopted. All analyses were performed using CMA software version 2.2 (Biostat).

We tested publication bias by inspecting the funnel plot on primary outcome measures and by Duval and Tweedie's trim and fill procedure yields an estimated effect size after publication bias has been taken into account (as implemented in CMA). We also conducted Egger's test of the intercept to quantify the bias captured by the funnel plot and to test whether it was significant.

RESULTS

Thirty-three studies met inclusion criteria among 604 retrieved (Figure 1). The demographic and clinical characteristics of included studies are reported in Tables 1-3 (references reported in Supplementary material). Overall 13476 patients (n = 3264 received TCZ) with COVID-19 pneumonia and various degree of severity were included. The median age was 62 years. Almost all received treatments consisting of antibiotics (*e.g.*, azithromycin), antivirals, steroids plus or minus hydroxychloroquine. Mortality was 22.4% [95% confidence intervals (CIs): 17.9%-26.8%]. Ventilatory status improved in 63.9% (95%CI: 50.4%-75.6%).
Petrelli F et al. Tocilizumab for COVID-19 infection

Table 1 Baseline characteristics of tocilizumab treated patients

Ref.	Country	Type of study	No. of pts	Median follow up (d)	Male/Female, %	Median age (yr)	CV Comorbities, %	Respiratory/diabetes %	Other/cancer, %	Other medications, %	Ventilatory status (Baseline to end of follow up, %)	ICU admission %/time to ICU admission (d)
Alattar <i>et al</i> [11], 2020	Quatar	Retrospective	25	14	92/8	58	12 HTN	-/48	CKD 16/4	HCQ (100), AZITRO (96), lopinavir/ritonavir (96), ribavirin (88), and INF 1-α2a (60)	56 (invasive)	100/1
Alberici <i>et al</i> [<mark>12]</mark> , 2020	Italy	Retrospective	6	4	-	-	-	-/-	-/-	Steroids, antivirals, HCQ	33 (16 worsened)	-/-
Capra <i>et al</i> [<mark>13</mark>], 2020	Italy	Retrospective (with ctr arm ¹)	82 (n = 62 TCZ)	9	73/27	63	63 HTN	-/16	-/-	HCQ (100), lopinavir/ritonavir (100)	35.2 (27% worsened)	4.8/-
Colaneri <i>et al</i> [14], 2020	Italy	Retrospective with prop. score	112 (n = 21 TCZ)	7	90/10	62.3	47.6 HTN	0/9.5	19/4.7	HCQ, AZITRO, steroids (100)	-	14/-
Hassoun <i>et al</i> [<mark>15</mark>], 2020	United States	Retrospective	9	-	66/33	60	55 HTN	11/11	66/-	HCQ, AZITRO (100) steroids (33), antibiotics (66)	-	89/-
Klopfenstein <i>et al</i> [16], 2020	France	Case control	45 (n = 20 TCZ)	-	-	76.8	55 HTN/70 CVS disease	20/25	-/35	HCQ or lopinavir/ritonavir + antibiotics ± steroids (100)	-	0/-
Luo et al[<mark>17</mark>], 2020	China	Retrospctive	15	-	80/20	73	66 HTN	-/26.6	-/-	Steroids (53)	6.6 (33.3% worsened)	-/-
Quartuccio <i>et al</i> [18], 2020	Italy	Retrospective (with ctr arm ¹)	111 (n = 42 TCZ)	17.8	78.6/21.4	62.4	47.6 HTN	-/-	-/-	Antivirals (100), HCq (92.9) steroids (40); antibiotics (28.6)	65 (invasive)	57/-
Sciascia <i>et al</i> [<mark>19]</mark> , 2020	Italy	Prospective	63	-	89/11	62.6	45	4.7/9.5	-	Lopinavir/ritonavir (71), darunavir/cobicistat (29)	95	7.9/-
Toniati <i>et al</i> [<mark>20</mark>], 2020	Italy	Prospective	100	10	88/12	62	62	9/17	11/6	HCQ, lopinavir/ritonavir or remdesivir, antibiotic, steroids	69 (<i>n</i> = 23 worsened)	43/-
Xu et al[<mark>21</mark>], 2019	China	Retrospective	21	-	86/14	56.8	57.2	9.6/23.8	CKD 4.8/-	Lopinavir/ritonavir, IFN-α, ribavirin, steroids (100)	100	-/-
Ramaswamy <i>et al</i> [22], 2020	United States	Case control	86 (n = 21 TCZ)	-	61.9/38.1	63.2	14.3 HTN/heart disease, AF or stroke 19.1	28.6/14.3	-/0	HCQ (81), AZITRO (23.8), steroids (42.9)	-	47.6/-
Rimland <i>et al</i> [23], 2020	United States	Retrospective	11	17	82/18	59	73 HTN/18 CVS	27/36	Renal or liver 18/9	HCQ (36), AZITRO (64)	54 (10% worsened)	73/-

Sanchez- Montalva <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>], 2020	Spain	Prospective	82	-	63/37	59.1	39 HTN/6.1 heart failure/12.2 AF	23.5/19.5	Liver 1.2/-	HCQ (98.9), lopinavir/ritonavir (76.8), AZITRO (96.3), darunavir/cobicistat (25)	53 (52% worsened)	2.9/-
Wadud <i>et al</i> [<mark>25</mark>], 2020	United States	Case control	94 (n = 44 TCZ)	-	-/-	55.5	-	-/-	-/-	-	-	-
Campochiaro <i>et al</i> [26], 2020	Italy	Retrospective	65 (n = 32 TCZ)	28	91/9	64	37 HTN/12 CAD	3/12	CKD 9/6	HCQ, AZITRO, lopinavir/ritonavir (100)	91	0/-
Morena <i>et al</i> [27], 2020	Italy	Prospective	51	30	78.4/21.6	60	29.4 HTN/49 CVS disease	9.8/11.8	5.9/5.9	HCQ (98), antibiotics (76), lopinavir/ritonavir (82), remdesivir (42)	66.6 (33% worsened)	11.8/-
Kimmig <i>et al</i> [28], 2020	United States	Retrospective (with ctr arm)	60 (n = 28 TCZ)	-	46.8/53.2	63.8	53.6 HTN/43 other	35.7/14.3	14/14.3	-	-	-
Roumier <i>et al</i> [29], 2020	France	Compassionate use	59 (n = 30 TCZ)	8	80/20	50	20 HTN/13 CVS	13/23	33/-	HCQ (6.6), steroids (6.6)	-	23.3/-
Ip et al[<mark>30]</mark> , 2020	United States	Retrospective	547 (n = 134 TCZ)	30	78/22	62	71.6 HTN and coronary arthery disease	15/35	15/9	HCQ + AZITRO (92), steroids (66)	-	100/-
Perrone <i>et al</i> [31], 2020	Italy	Phase 2 and expansion cohort	1221 (<i>n</i> = 708 TCZ ³)	30	82/18	61% > 60	68 heart disease or HTN	-/15	-/-	HCQ (75), anti-retroviral (65), antibiotics (50), steroids (28)	-	16 invasive ventilation/-
Perez-Tanoira <i>et al</i> [32], 2020	Spain	Cohort study	562 (n = 36 TCZ)	-	-/-	-	-	-/-	-/-	-	-	-
Somers <i>et al</i> [33], 2020	United States	Observational	154 (n = 78 TCZ)	47	68/32	55	85 HTN or heart failure	54/13	CKD 35/-	HCQ (26), steroids (29), remdesivir (3)	56 (18 and worsened)	100/41 < 24 h, 36 > 48 h
Heili-Frades <i>et al</i> [34], 2020	Spain	Cohort study	4712 (n = 366 TCZ) ²	-	-/-	-	-	-/-	-/-	-	-	40.7/-
Issa <i>et al</i> [<mark>35</mark>], 2020	France	Retrospective	10	-	100/0	66	60 HTN	-/30	-/-	HCQ (100), steroids (30)	50	70/7 d
Garcia <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>], 2020	Spain	Retrospective	171 (n = 77 TCZ)	-	58.8/51.2	61.5	61 HTN or heart disease	10.3/15.6	-/-	Antivirals (100, steroids (50)	90	10.3/-
Ayerbe <i>et al</i> [37], 2020	United Kingdom	Retrospective	2075 (n = 421	8	-/-	-	-	-/-	-/-	-	-	-/-

			TCZ)									
Borku Uysal et al[<mark>38</mark>], 2020	Turkey	Retrospective	12	22	50/50	65.8	58 HTN	16/58	CKD 8/16	HCQ and antivirals (100), AZITRO (50), antibiotics (58)	82	17/-
Fernandez-Cruz et al[39], 2020	Spain	Retrospective	463 (n = 189 TCZ)	-	-/-	-	-	-/-	-/-	Steroids (100), other not available	-	-/-
Garibaldi <i>et al</i> [<mark>40],</mark> 2020	United States	Cohort study	832 (n = 39 TCZ)	-	-/-	-	-	-/-	-/-	-	-	-/-
Martínez-Sanz et al[41], 2020	Spain	Cohort study	1229 (n = 260 TCZ)	-	73/27	65	17 HTN, 8 CAD, 2 heart failure	18/15	CKD 4/-	-	-	19/6 d
Petrak <i>et al</i> [42], 2020	United States	Retrospective	145	-	64/36	58.1	-	-	-	Corticosteroids (60), HCQ + AZITRO (98.6)	-	-/-
Rossi <i>et al</i> [<mark>43</mark>], 2020	France	Case control	246 (n = 106 TCZ)	28	66/34	64	60 HTN, 23.6 CVS	16/45	-/5.7	Antibiotics (100), HCQ (83), steroids (40), lopinavir/ritonavir (0.9)	-	-/-

¹Control arm consisted in patients treated with hydroxycloroquine + lopinavir/ritonavir before tocilizumab availability.

²Hospitalized cohort only.

³Modified intent to treat analysis. CVS: Cardiovascular disease; CAD: Coronary arthery disease; AF: Atrial fibrillation; HTN: Hypertension; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; pts: Patients; HCQ: Hydroxycloroquine; AZITRO: Azitromycin; -: Not availble; TCZ: Tocilizumab; ICU: Intensive care unit.

Outcome was improved with TCZ. In the primary analysis (n = 19 studies reporting data), mortality was reduced in patients treated with TCZ (OR = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.47-0.87; P < 0.01; Figure 2). In 9 studies where risk of death with TCZ use was controlled for other variables mortality was reduced by 57% (OR = 0.43, 95%CI: 0.27-0.7; P < 0.01). Intensive care need (mechanical ventilation) was also reduced (OR = 0.36, 95%CI: 0.14-0.89; P = 0.02). In all cases, a random effect model was used.

Egger's test indicated a significant publication bias (P = 0.01). Duvall and Tweedie's trim and fill procedure indicated 4 missing studies (see the funnel plot with imputed studies in Supplementary material). The adjusted effect size (after imputation of the missing studies) was 0.84 (95%CI: 0.63-1.14).

DISCUSSION

A large part of the ongoing research into COVID-19 infection is concentrated on finding an immunomodulatory therapy to down-regulate the cytokine storm, usually combining it with antiviral agents[6]. In fact, IL-6 binds either with transmembrane IL-6 receptors or soluble IL-6 receptors, and the resulting complex can combine with the

Table 2 Laboratory	ble 2 Laboratory and radiological characteristics of patients treated with tocilizumab														
Ref.	Fever (baseline) °C/%	O₂ sat. %	Cough %	Dyspnea %	Leucocytes 10º/L	Lymphocites/Neutrophil 10º/L	PLT 10º/L	Hb g/dL	LDH	Liver tests IU/L	CRP mg/L	PCT ng/L	D- dimer	IL6 ng/L	Imaging %
Alattar <i>et al</i> [11], 2020	38/92	-	84	72	6.0	0.9/5.0	208	-	-	46/30	95.2	0.38	-	-	Infiltrates and ground glass opacities 100
Alberici <i>et al</i> [12], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Capra <i>et al</i> [13], 2020	38/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	123	0.6	-	-	Bilateral pulmonary opacities 100
Colaneri <i>et al</i> [14] , 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	0.6/8.4	303	-	445	38/72	21.3	0.24	-	-	Interstitial lung disease 100
Hassoun <i>et al</i> [15], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	-
Klopfenstein <i>et al</i> [16], 2020	-/-	90	-	-	-	0.67/-	-	-	-	-/-	158	-	-	-	≥ 50% lung involvement 60
Luo et al[<mark>17</mark>], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	96	-	-	71	-
Quartuccio <i>et al</i> [18], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	5540	0.68/4.5	157	-	625	-/-	79.05	-	835	63.5	-
Sciascia <i>et al</i> [19], 2020	< 38/39.7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Bilateral pulmonary infiltrates
Toniati <i>et al</i> [<mark>20</mark>], 2020	> 37.5/85	-	55	73	6	0.78	177	13.6	413	55/39	97	-	525	41	Ground glass opacities and consolidation, bilateral pulmonary infiltration
Xu et al[<mark>21</mark>], 2019	-/100	-	66.7	-	6.3	0.97	170	-	370	31/29	75	0.33	0.8	153	Ground glass opacities and focal consolidation, peripheral and subpleural
Ramaswamy <i>et al</i> [22], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	1.1/6.7	200	-	-	60/43.5	15.9	2.2	2900	371	-
Rimland <i>et al</i> [23], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	8.5	-/0.8	230	-	1203	51/35	197.3	-	343.5	30.65	-
Sanchez-Montalva <i>et al</i> [24], 2020	37.7/91.5	94	86.6	65.9	9.2	0.86/	199	13.3	446	53/41	17.98	-	295	74.8	-
Wadud <i>et al</i> [25], 2020	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Campochiaro <i>et al</i> [26], 2020	37.6/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	469	-/-	156	-	-	-	-

Petrelli F et al. Tocilizumab for COVID-19 infection

Morena <i>et al</i> [27], 2020	74.5/-	-	62.7	54.9	9.1	0.8/7.3	230	-	470	48/39	189	-	1706	116	Bilateral pulmonary opacities 100
Kimmig <i>et al</i> [<mark>28</mark>], 2020	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Roumier <i>et al</i> [29], 2020	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	189	-	3712	-	-
Ip <i>et al</i> [30], 2020	80	-	78	80	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-		-	-
Perrone <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	30	-	-	-	-
Perez-Tanoira <i>et al</i> [32], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	-
Somers <i>et al</i> [33], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	12.1	0.9/-	-	-	627	50/76	185	-	2400	-	-
Heili-Frades <i>et al</i> [34], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	-
Issa <i>et al</i> [35], 2020	-/100	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	246	-	1354	-	Ground glass opacities
Garcia <i>et al</i> [36], 2020	-/98.7	-	83	43	-	0.87/-	-	-	-	-/-	97	-	918	-	-
	,														
Ayerbe <i>et al</i> [37], 2020	-/-	-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-/-	-	-	-	-	-
Ayerbe <i>et a</i> [37], 2020 Borku Uysal <i>et a</i> l [38], 2020	-/- -/92	- 92	- 100	- 67	- 6.1	-/- 1.09/4.3	- 180	- 13.8	- 259	-/- 33/39	- 54	-	- 599	-	- Ground glass opacities
Ayerbe <i>et al</i> [37], 2020 Borku Uysal <i>et al</i> [38], 2020 Fernandez-Cruz <i>et al</i> [39], 2020	-/- -/92 -/-	- 92 -	- 100 -	- 67 -	- 6.1 -	-/- 1.09/4.3 -/-	- 180 -	- 13.8 -	- 259 -	-/- 33/39 -/-	- 54 -	-	- 599 -	-	- Ground glass opacities -
Ayerbe et al[37], 2020 Borku Uysal et al [38], 2020 Fernandez-Cruz et al [39], 2020 Garibaldi et al[40], 2020	-/- -/92 -/- -/-	- 92 -	- 100 -	- 67 -	- 6.1 -	-/- 1.09/4.3 -/- -/-	- 180 - -	- 13.8 -	- 259 - -	-/- 33/39 -/- -/-	- 54 -	-	- 599 -	-	- Ground glass opacities - -
Ayerbe et al[37], 2020 Borku Uysal et al [38], 2020 Fernandez-Cruz et al [39], 2020 Garibaldi et al[40], 2020 Martínez-Sanz et al [41], 2020	-/- -/92 -/- -/- 36.8/-	- 92 - 91	- 100 - -	- 67 - -	- 6.1 - -	-/- 1.09/4.3 -/- -/- 0.89/5.4	- 180 - -	- 13.8 - -	- 259 - - 669	-/- 33/39 -/- -/- -/32	- 54 - 113	-	- 599 - - 809	- - - 70	- Ground glass opacities - -
Ayerbe et al[37], 2020 Borku Uysal et al [38], 2020 Fernandez-Cruz et al [39], 2020 Garibaldi et al[40], 2020 Martínez-Sanz et al [41], 2020 Petrak et al[42], 2020	-/- -/92 -/- -/- 36.8/-	- 92 - 91 -	- 100 - - -	- 67 - -	- 6.1 - -	-/- 1.09/4.3 -/- -/- 0.89/5.4 -	- 180 - -	- 13.8 - -	- 259 - - 669 538	-/- 33/39 -/- -/- -/32 -	- 54 - 113 53.3	-	- 599 - - 809 1.3	- - - 70	- Ground glass opacities - - -

-: Not available; PLT: Platelets; Hb: Hemoglobin; CRP: C reactive protein; PCT: Procalcitonin C; IL-6: Interleukin-6; sat: Saturation; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase.

signal-transducing component gp130 to activate the inflammatory response. In an emergent situation where no approved drugs are available and supportive measures are available only for critically ill patients, any new promising agent merits attention. A meta-analysis has correlated IL-6 concentration with COVID-19 severity. Those with severe cases show a 2.9-fold higher concentration than those without complications[7].

Table 3 outcon	ne of patients treat	ed with f	tocilizumab t	herapy				
Ref.	N° TCZ administered (median doses)	Death %	Dismissed %	Median hospitalization (d)	TCZ AEs %	Comparison with other medications or no TCZ	NOS Scale	ROBIN risk
Alattar <i>et al</i> [11] , 2020	1	12	36 (from ICU)	-	Anemia 64; ALT ↑ 44	HR for discharge from ICU 0.64 (0.37-1.11)	8	Low
Alberici <i>et al</i> [12], 2020	1	33	16	-	-	-	6	Moderate
Capra <i>et al</i> [13], 2020	1	8	92	12.5	-	OR for OS 0.036 (0.07-0.18)°	7	Low
Colaneri <i>et al</i> [14], 2020	2	23.8	85.7 (from ICU)	2	0	OR for OS 0.78 (0.06-9.34); OR for ICU 0.11 (0-3.38)	7	Low
Hassoun <i>et al</i> [15], 2020	1	22	55	13.5 (<i>n</i> = 7)	-	-	5	Low
Klopfenstein <i>et al</i> [16], 2020	1 or 2	25	55	13	-	OR for OS and ICU admission 0.36 (0.1-1.3) and 0.03 (0.002-0.56); OR for mechanical vent 0.05 (0.003- 0.93)	5	Low
Luo et al[<mark>17</mark>], 2020	1	20	-	-	-	-	5	High
Quartuccio <i>et al</i> [18], 2020	1	9.5	28.5	-	-	OR for OS 14.5 (0.76-278.3); OR for ICU admission 220.9 (12.7-3826.1)	8	Moderate
Sciascia <i>et al</i> [<mark>19</mark>], 2020	1 (2 in 82.5%)	11	-	-	-	-	6	Moderate
Toniati <i>et al</i> [<mark>20</mark>], 2020	1 (2 in 87%)	20	15	-	Septic shock ($n = 2$), GI perforation ($n = 1$)	-	8	Low
Xu et al[<mark>21</mark>], 2019	1 (2 in 14.3%)	0	100	15.1	-	-	5	Moderate
Ramaswamy <i>et al</i> [22], 2020	1 (2 in 38%)	14.3	-	-	-	HR for OS 0.25 (0.07-0.9)	5	Moderate
Rimland <i>et al</i> [<mark>23</mark>], 2020	1	27	18	18	-	-	7	Low
Sanchez- Montalva <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>], 2020	1	26.8	41.5	-	-	-	6	Low
Wadud <i>et al</i> [<mark>25</mark>], 2020	-	38.6	-	-	-	OR for OS 0.58 (0.25-1.32)	6	Moderate
Campochiaro <i>et al</i> [26], 2020	1 (2 in 28%)	15	63	13.5	SAEs (25)	OR for OS 0.38 (0.11-1.27); OR for ICU admission 0.33 (0.13-8.5)	8	Low
Morena <i>et al</i> [27], 2020	-	27	61	-	AST/ALT ↑ 29, PLT 14, neutropenia 6, rash 2	-	8	Low
Kimmig <i>et al</i> [28], 2020	1 (2 in 10.7%)	42.9	25	-	Infections 71.4	OR for OS 2.25 (0.75-2.24)	6	Moderate
Roumier <i>et al</i> [29], 2020	1	10	20	-	-	OR for OS 0.25 (0.05-1.03); OR for ICU 0.17 (0.06-0.48)	7	Low
Ip et al[30], 2020	1 (78%)	46	-	-	Bacteriemia (13), secondary pneumonia (9)	OR for OS 0.66 (045-0.99)	8	Low
Perrone <i>et al</i> [31], 2020	1 (59.8), 2 (54.5)	20	-	-	26.4 G3-5; 14.4 G1- 2	OR for 30-d OS 0.7 (0.41- 1.22) and 1.22 (0.86-1.92) in phase 2 and validation cohort	8	Low
Perez-Tanoira et	-	27.7	-	-	-	OR for OS 1.015 (0.47-2.18)	5	Moderate



al[<mark>32</mark>], 2020								
Somers <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2020	1	18	56	20.4	Superinfection (54)	OR 0.39 (0.18-0.82)	8	Low
Heili-Frades <i>et</i> al[<mark>34</mark>], 2020	-	22.4	-	-	-	-	6	Moderate
Issa <i>et al</i> [<mark>35</mark>], 2020	1	10	-	11 (ICU)	-	-	5	High
Moreno-Garcia et al[<mark>36</mark>], 2020	-	10.3	84.4	-	-	OR for ICU 0.3 (0.12-0.71) and OR for OS 0.52 (0.21- 1.29)	5	Moderate
Ayerbe <i>et al</i> [37], 2020	-	21.1	-	-	-	OR for OS 1.9 (1.44-2.51)	5	High
Borku Uysal et al[<mark>38</mark>], 2020	2	0	100	-	-	-	6	Moderate
Fernandez-Cruz et al[39], 2020	-	-	-	-	-	OR for OS 0.69 (0.41-1.19)	5	High
Garibaldi <i>et al</i> [<mark>40], 2020</mark>	-	5	-	-	-	OR for OS 1.14 (0.46-2.81)	5	Moderate
Martínez-Sanz et al[41], 2020	1	23	-	13	-	OR for OS 2.19 (1.54-3.1)	5	Low
Petrak <i>et al</i> [<mark>42</mark>], 2020	1 (84.8), 2 (15.2)	28.3	48.3	-	-	-	5	Moderate
Rossi <i>et al</i> [<mark>43</mark>], 2020	1	28.9	-	-	-	HR for OS 0.29 (0.17-0.49)	8	Low

-: Not availble; NOS: Nottingham-ottawa-scale; ROBIN: Risk of bias of non-randomized studies; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase.

Siltuximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody acting and blocking IL-6, is being tested in the SISCO study, including patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome related to COVID-19 infection (NCT04322188). Preliminary data from 21 patients showed a reduction in the C-reactive protein levels in 16 patients, a clinical improvement in 33% and disease stabilization in 43% of cases[8].

In this pooled analysis of 31 studies including 2898 patients treated with TCZ, we found a strong trend toward improved survival with the use of TCZ (a significant reduction in acute mortality risk by 36%). Tocilizumab administration was also independently associated with a 57% reduced risk of death in multivariable analysis. Tocilizumab reduced also the risk of mechanical ventilation and ICU admission by 64%. Overall mortality rate was 22%.

The limitations of these data are related to the observational nature of the studies, primarily monocentric and non-controlled. The population treated with TCZ was negatively selected for the worst clinical and inflammatory conditions. Also, due to the non-randomized design of all studies, final results might have been biased, and the added value of TCZ might not have been formally proven. However, despite a likely imbalance among clinical and laboratory baseline variables between the 2 groups, the effect of TCZ on clinical outcomes appears sustained. We finally recognize that some papers reported in the primary analysis were pre-printed in MedRxiv archive and not still finally reviewed and published in full.

At this time, 45 trials are underway to explore the contribution of TCZ when added to the standard of care for COVID-19. Four are in phase 3 trials: the COVACTA study (NCT04320615), in which TCZ is compared with placebo, the NCT04361552 study in which the control arm is represented by best practices, the COV-AID study (NCT04330638), a six-arm study including anakinra and the association of anakinra + TCZ, and the RECOVERY study (NCT04381936), also a six-arm study, including hydroxychloroquine, lopinavir/ritonavir, and low doses of steroids.

Recently, the use of hydroxycloroquine or chloroquine with or without a macrolide was associated with decreased survival and increased rate of ventricular arrhythmias in COVID-19 hospitalized patients^[9]. Despite this alarming concern, article and data purity were subsequently questioned and article retracted. Similarly, results of a separate study with data attained from a different database, showed that hydroxycloroquine failed to reduce infection risk in people exposed to patients with confirmed COVID-19. Results indicated that the incidence of new illness compatible with



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Thirty-three studies met inclusion criteria among 604 retrieved.

COVID-19 did not differ significantly between those who received hydroxycloroquine and those who received placebo[10]. Therefore, new combinations of potentially active drugs need to be tested, and efficacy confirmed in these patients[11-43].

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we provide the first evidence that TCZ can improve the respiratory and clinical outcomes of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia in clinical practice, but its use merits further confirmatory trials.



Zaishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 In the primary analysis, mortality was reduced in patients treated with tocilizumab.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infection is associated with a cytokine storm during acute phase.

Research motivation

Interleukin-6 is a key player in this systemic inflammation.

Research objectives

We evaluated the effect of tocilizumab (TCZ) on the outcomes of COVID-19 pneumonia.

Research methods

We performed a systematic review and pooled analysis of published literature.

Research results

Mortality was reduced in patients treated with TCZ (Odds ratio = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.47-0.87; P < 0.01).

Research conclusions

We conclude that TCZ may improve outcome of COVID-19 infected patients.

Research perspectives

Current use of tocilizumab in clinical practice has to be validated further through large randomized trials.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

REFERENCES

- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020; 395: 497-506 [PMID: 31986264 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5]
- Zhang C, Wu Z, Li JW, Zhao H, Wang GQ. Cytokine release syndrome in severe COVID-19: interleukin-6 receptor antagonist tocilizumab may be the key to reduce mortality. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55: 105954 [PMID: 32234467 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105954]
- 3 Alzghari SK, Acuña VS. Supportive Treatment with Tocilizumab for COVID-19: A Systematic Review. J Clin Virol 2020; 127: 104380 [PMID: 32353761 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104380]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for 4 systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6: e1000097 [PMID: 19621072 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]
- Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, Henry D, Altman DG, 5 Ansari MT, Boutron I, Carpenter JR, Chan AW, Churchill R, Deeks JJ, Hróbjartsson A, Kirkham J, Jüni P, Loke YK, Pigott TD, Ramsay CR, Regidor D, Rothstein HR, Sandhu L, Santaguida PL, Schünemann HJ, Shea B, Shrier I, Tugwell P, Turner L, Valentine JC, Waddington H, Waters E, Wells GA, Whiting PF, Higgins JP. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. BMJ 2016; 355: i4919 [PMID: 27733354 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.i4919]
- Zhao M. Cytokine storm and immunomodulatory therapy in COVID-19: Role of chloroquine and 6 anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibodies. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55: 105982 [PMID: 32305588 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105982]
- Coomes EA, Haghbayan H. Interleukin-6 in Covid-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Rev 7 Med Virol 2020; 30: 1-9 [PMID: 32845568 DOI: 10.1002/rmv.2141]
- Gritti G, Raimondi F, Ripamonti D, Riva I, Landi F, Alborghetti L, Frigeni M, Damiani M, Micò C, Fagiuoli S, Cosentini R, Lorini FL, Gandini L, Novelli L, Morgan JP, Owens BMJ, Kanhai K, Reljanovic GT, Rizzi M, Di Marco F, Rambaldi A. Use of siltuximab in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia requiring ventilatory support. 2020 Preprint [DOI: 10.1101/2020.04.01.20048561]
- 9 Mehra MR, Desai SS, Ruschitzka F, Patel AN. RETRACTED: Hydroxychloroquine or chloroquine with or without a macrolide for treatment of COVID-19: a multinational registry analysis. Lancet 2020 [PMID: 32450107 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31180-6]
- 10 Boulware DR, Pullen MF, Bangdiwala AS, Pastick KA, Lofgren SM, Okafor EC, Skipper CP, Nascene AA, Nicol MR, Abassi M, Engen NW, Cheng MP, LaBar D, Lother SA, MacKenzie LJ, Drobot G, Marten N, Zarychanski R, Kelly LE, Schwartz IS, McDonald EG, Rajasingham R, Lee TC, Hullsiek KH. A Randomized Trial of Hydroxychloroquine as Postexposure Prophylaxis for Covid-19. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 517-525 [PMID: 32492293 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2016638]
- 11 Alattar R, Ibrahim TBH, Shaar SH, et al. Tocilizumab for the Treatment of Severe COVID-19. J Med Virol 2020 [DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25964]
- 12 Alberici F, Delbarba E, Manenti C, Econimo L, Valerio F, Pola A, Maffei C, Possenti S, Zambetti N, Moscato M, Venturini M, Affatato S, Gaggiotti M, Bossini N, Scolari F. A single center observational study of the clinical characteristics and short-term outcome of 20 kidney transplant patients admitted for SARS-CoV2 pneumonia. Kidney Int 2020; 97: 1083-1088 [PMID: 32354634 DOI: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.04.002]
- Capra R, De Rossi N, Mattioli F, Romanelli G, Scarpazza C, Sormani MP, Cossi S. Impact of low 13 dose tocilizumab on mortality rate in patients with COVID-19 related pneumonia. Eur J Intern Med 2020; 76: 31-35 [PMID: 32405160 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.05.009]
- Colaneri M, Bogliolo L, Valsecchi P, Sacchi P, Zuccaro V, Brandolino F, Montecucco C, Mojoli F, 14 Giusti EM, Bruno R, The Covid Irccs San Matteo Pavia Task Force. Tocilizumab for Treatment of Severe COVID-19 Patients: Preliminary Results from SMAtteo COvid19 REgistry (SMACORE). Microorganisms 2020; 8 [PMID: 32397399 DOI: 10.3390/microorganisms8050695]
- 15 Hassoun A, Thottacherry ED, Muklewicz J, Aziz QU, Edwards J. Utilizing tocilizumab for the treatment of cytokine release syndrome in COVID-19. J Clin Virol 2020; 128: 104443 [PMID: 32425661 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104443]
- 16 Klopfenstein T, Zayet S, Lohse A, Balblanc JC, Badie J, Royer PY, Toko L, Mezher C, Kadiane-Oussou NJ, Bossert M, Bozgan AM, Charpentier A, Roux MF, Contreras R, Mazurier I, Dussert P, Gendrin V, Conrozier T; HNF Hospital Tocilizumab multidisciplinary team. Tocilizumab therapy reduced intensive care unit admissions and/or mortality in COVID-19 patients. Med Mal Infect 2020; 50: 397-400 [PMID: 32387320 DOI: 10.1016/j.medmal.2020.05.001]
- 17 Luo P, Liu Y, Qiu L, Liu X, Liu D, Li J. Tocilizumab treatment in COVID-19: A single center experience. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 814-818 [PMID: 32253759 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25801]
- 18 Quartuccio L, Sonaglia A, McGonagle D, Fabris M, Peghin M, Pecori D, De Monte A, Bove T, Curcio F, Bassi F, De Vita S, Tascini C. Profiling COVID-19 pneumonia progressing into the cytokine storm syndrome: Results from a single Italian Centre study on tocilizumab versus standard of care. J Clin Virol 2020; 129: 104444 [PMID: 32570043 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcv.2020.104444]
- 19 Sciascia S, Aprà F, Baffa A, Baldovino S, Boaro D, Boero R, Bonora S, Calcagno A, Cecchi I, Cinnirella G, Converso M, Cozzi M, Crosasso P, De Iaco F, Di Perri G, Eandi M, Fenoglio R, Giusti M, Imperiale D, Imperiale G, Livigni S, Manno E, Massara C, Milone V, Natale G, Navarra M, Oddone V, Osella S, Piccioni P, Radin M, Roccatello D, Rossi D. Pilot prospective open, single-arm



multicentre study on off-label use of tocilizumab in patients with severe COVID-19. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2020; 38: 529-532 [PMID: 32359035]

- 20 Toniati P, Piva S, Cattalini M, Garrafa E, Regola F, Castelli F, Franceschini F, Airò P, Bazzani C, Beindorf EA, Berlendis M, Bezzi M, Bossini N, Castellano M, Cattaneo S, Cavazzana I, Contessi GB, Crippa M, Delbarba A, De Peri E, Faletti A, Filippini M, Frassi M, Gaggiotti M, Gorla R, Lanspa M, Lorenzotti S, Marino R, Maroldi R, Metra M, Matteelli A, Modina D, Moioli G, Montani G, Muiesan ML, Odolini S, Peli E, Pesenti S, Pezzoli MC, Pirola I, Pozzi A, Proto A, Rasulo FA, Renisi G, Ricci C, Rizzoni D, Romanelli G, Rossi M, Salvetti M, Scolari F, Signorini L, Taglietti M, Tomasoni G, Tomasoni LR, Turla F, Valsecchi A, Zani D, Zuccalà F, Zunica F, Focà E, Andreoli L, Latronico N. Tocilizumab for the treatment of severe COVID-19 pneumonia with hyperinflammatory syndrome and acute respiratory failure: A single center study of 100 patients in Brescia, Italy. Autoimmun Rev 2020; 19: 102568 [PMID: 32376398 DOI: 10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102568]
- Xu X, Han M, Li T, Sun W, Wang D, Fu B, Zhou Y, Zheng X, Yang Y, Li X, Zhang X, Pan A, Wei 21 H. Effective treatment of severe COVID-19 patients with tocilizumab. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2020; **117**: 10970-10975 [PMID: 32350134 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2005615117]
- Ramaswamy M, Mannam P, Comer R, Sinclair E, McQuaid DB, Schmidt ML. COVID-19 Disease 22 in a Regional Community Health System: A Case-Control Study. medRxiv:20099234
- 23 Rimland CA, Morgan CE, Bell GJ, Kim MK, Hedrick T, Marx A, Bramson B, Swygard H, Napravnik S, Schmitz JL, Carson SS, Fischer WA, Eron JJ, Gay CL, Parr JB. Clinical characteristics and early outcomes in patients with COVID-19 treated with tocilizumab at a United States academic center. medRxiv:20100404 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.13.20100404]
- 24 Sanchez-Montalva A, Selares-Nadal J, Espinosa-Pereiro J, Fernandez-Hidalgo N, Perez-Hoyos S, Salvador F, Dura-Miralles X, Miarons M, Anton A, Eremiev S, Sempere-Gonzalez A, Bosch-Nicolau P, Monforte-Pallares A, Augustin S, Sampol J, Guillen-del-Castillo A, Almirante B. Early outcomes of tocilizumab in adults hospitalized with severe COVID19: An initial report from the Vall dHebron COVID19 prospective cohort study. medRxiv:20094599 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.07.20094599]
- 25 Wadud N, Ahmed N, Shergil MM, Khan M, Krishna MG, Gilani A, Zarif SE, Galaydick J, Linga K, Koor S, Galea J, Stuczynski L, Osundele MB. Improved survival outcome in SARs-CoV-2 (COVID-19) Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome patients with Tocilizumab administration. medRxiv:20100081 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.13.20100081]
- Campochiaro C, Della-Torre E, Cavalli G, De Luca G, Ripa M, Boffini N, Tomelleri A, Baldissera 26 E, Rovere-Querini P, Ruggeri A, Monti G, De Cobelli F, Zangrillo A, Tresoldi M, Castagna A, Dagna L; TOCI-RAF Study Group. Efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in severe COVID-19 patients: a single-centre retrospective cohort study. Eur J Intern Med 2020; 76: 43-49 [PMID: 32482597 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.05.021]
- Morena V, Milazzo L, Oreni L, Bestetti G, Fossali T, Bassoli C, Torre A, Cossu MV, Minari C, 27 Ballone E, Perotti A, Mileto D, Niero F, Merli S, Foschi A, Vimercati S, Rizzardini G, Sollima S, Bradanini L, Galimberti L, Colombo R, Micheli V, Negri C, Ridolfo AL, Meroni L, Galli M, Antinori S, Corbellino M. Off-label use of tocilizumab for the treatment of SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Milan, Italy. Eur J Intern Med 2020; 76: 36-42 [PMID: 32448770 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2020.05.011]
- Kimmig LM, Wu D, Gold M, Pettit NN, Pitrak D, Mueller J, Husain AN, Mutlu EA, Mutlu GM. IL-6 28 Inhibition in Critically Ill COVID-19 Patients Is Associated With Increased Secondary Infections. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020; 7: 583897 [PMID: 33195334 DOI: 10.3389/fmed.2020.583897]
- Roumier M, Paule R, Vallée A, Rohmer J, Ballester M, Brun AL, Cerf C, Chabi ML, Chinet T, 29 Colombier MA, Farfour E, Fourn E, Géri G, Khau D, Marroun I, Ponsoye M, Roux A, Salvator H, Schoindre Y, Si Larbi AG, Tchérakian C, Vasse M, Verrat A, Zuber B, Couderc LJ, Kahn JE, Groh M, Ackermann F; Foch COVID-19 Study Group. Tocilizumab for Severe Worsening COVID-19 Pneumonia: a Propensity Score Analysis. J Clin Immunol 2021; 41: 303-314 [PMID: 33188624 DOI: 10.1007/s10875-020-00911-6
- 30 Ip A, Berry DA, Hansen E, Goy AH, Pecora AL, Sinclaire BA, Bednarz U, Marafelias M, Berry SM, Berry NS, Mathura S, Sawczuk IS, Biran N, Go RC, Sperber S, Piwoz JA, Balani B, Cicogna C, Sebti R, Zuckerman J, Rose KM, Tank L, Jacobs LG, Korcak J, Timmapuri SL, Underwood JP, Sugalski G, Barsky C, Varga DW, Asif A, Landolfi JC, Goldberg SL. Hydroxychloroquine and tocilizumab therapy in COVID-19 patients-An observational study. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0237693 [PMID: 32790733 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0237693]
- 31 Perrone F, Piccirillo MC, Ascierto PA, Salvarani C, Parrella R, Marata AM, Popoli P, Ferraris L, Marrocco-Trischitta MM, Ripamonti D, Binda F, Bonfanti P, Squillace N, Castelli F, Muiesan ML, Lichtner M, Calzetti C, Salerno ND, Atripaldi L, Cascella M, Costantini M, Dolci G, Facciolongo NC, Fraganza F, Massari M, Montesarchio V, Mussini C, Negri EA, Botti G, Cardone C, Gargiulo P, Gravina A, Schettino C, Arenare L, Chiodini P, Gallo C; TOCIVID-19 investigators, Italy. Tocilizumab for patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. The single-arm TOCIVID-19 prospective trial. J Transl Med 2020; 18: 405 [PMID: 33087150 DOI: 10.1186/s12967-020-02573-9]
- 32 Perez-Tanoira R, Garcia FP, Romanyk J, Gomez-Herruz P, Arroyo T, Gonzalez R, Garcia LL, Exposito CV, Moreno JS, Gutierrez I, Mathews AU, Ramos EL, Garcia LM, Troncoso D, Cuadros J. Prevalence and risk factors for mortality related to COVID-19 in a severely affected area of Madrid, Spain. medRxiv:20112912 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.25.20112912]
- Somers EC, Eschenauer GA, Troost JP, Golob JL, Gandhi TN, Wang L, Zhou N, Petty LA, Baang 33 JH, Dillman NO, Frame D, Gregg KS, Kaul DR, Nagel J, Patel TS, Zhou S, Lauring AS, Hanauer DA, Martin E, Sharma P, Fung CM, Pogue JM. Tocilizumab for treatment of mechanically ventilated



patients with COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis 2020 [PMID: 32651997 DOI: 10.1093/cid/ciaa954]

- Heili-Frades S, Minguez P, Mahillo-Fernandez I, Prieto-Rumeau T, Gonzalez AH, de la Fuente L, 34 Nieto MJR, Peces-Barba Romero G, Peces-Barba M, de Miguel MPC, Ormaechea IF, Prieto AN, de Blas FE, Hiscock LJ, Calvo CP, Santos A, Alameda LEM, Bueno FR, Hernandez-Mora MG, Ubeda AC, Alvarez BA, Petkova E, Carrasco N, Martin Rios D, Mangado NG, Pernaute OS. COVID-19 Outcomes in 4712 consecutively confirmed SARS-CoV2 cases in the city of Madrid. medRxiv:20109850 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.22.20109850]
- 35 Issa N, Dumery M, Guisset O, Mourissoux G, Bonnet F, Camou F. Feasibility of tocilizumab in ICU patients with COVID-19. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 46-47 [PMID: 32484915 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26110]
- Garcia EM, Caballero VR, Albiach L, Aguero D, Ambrosioni J, Bodro M, Cardozo C, Chumbita M, 36 De la Mora L, Pouton NG, Vidal CG, GonzalezCordon A, Meneses MH, Inciarte A, Laguno M, Leal L, Linares L, Macaya I, Meira F, Mensa J, Moreno A, Morata L, Alcalde PP, Rojas J, Sola M, Torres B, Torres M, Tome A, Castro P, Fernandez S, Nicolas JM, Riera AA, Munoz J, Fernandez MJ, Marcos MA, Soy D, Martinez JA, Garcia F, Soriano A. Ocilizumab is associated with reduction of the risk of ICU admission and mortality in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. medRxiv:20113738 [DOI: 10.1101/2020.06.05.20113738]
- Ayerbe L, Risco C, Ayis S. The association between treatment with heparin and survival in patients 37 with Covid-19. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2020; 50: 298-301 [PMID: 32476080 DOI: 10.1007/s11239-020-02162-z
- Borku Uysal B, Ikitimur H, Yavuzer S, Ikitimur B, Uysal H, Islamoglu MS, Ozcan E, Aktepe E, 38 Yavuzer H, Cengiz M. Tocilizumab challenge: A series of cytokine storm therapy experiences in hospitalized COVID-19 pneumonia patients. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 2648-2656 [PMID: 32484930 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.26111]
- 39 Ana Fernández-Cruz, Belén Ruiz-Antorán, Ana Muñoz-Gómez, Aránzazu Sancho-López, Patricia Mills-Sánchez, Gustavo Adolfo Centeno-Soto, Silvia Blanco-Alonso, Laura Javaloyes-Garachana, Amy Galán-Gómez, Ángela Valencia-Alijo, Javier Gómez-Irusta, Concepción Payares-Herrera, Ignacio Morrás-Torre, Enrique Sánchez-Chica, Laura Delgado-Téllez-de-Cepeda, Alejandro Callejas-Díaz, Antonio Ramos-Martínez, Elena Múñez-Rubio. Cristina Avendaño-Solá on behalf of the Puerta de Hierro COVID-19 Study Group. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy Aug 2020; 64: e01168-20 [DOI: 10.1128/AAC.01168-20]
- 40 Garibaldi BT, Fiksel J, Muschelli J, Robinson ML, Rouhizadeh M, Perin J, Schumock G, Nagy P, Gray JH, Malapati H, Ghobadi-Krueger M, Niessen TM, Kim BS, Hill PM, Ahmed MS, Dobkin ED, Blanding R, Abele J, Woods B, Harkness K, Thiemann DR, Bowring MG, Shah AB, Wang MC, Bandeen-Roche K, Rosen A, Zeger SL, Gupta A. Patient Trajectories Among Persons Hospitalized for COVID-19 : A Cohort Study. Ann Intern Med 2021; 174: 33-41 [PMID: 32960645 DOI: 10.7326/M20-3905]
- 41 Martínez-Sanz J, Muriel A, Ron R, Herrera S, Pérez-Molina JA, Moreno S, Serrano-Villar S. Effects of tocilizumab on mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: a multicentre cohort study. Clin Microbiol Infect 2021; 27: 238-243 [PMID: 32979572 DOI: 10.1016/j.cmi.2020.09.021]
- Petrak RM, Skorodin NC, Van Hise NW, Fliegelman RM, Pinsky J, Didwania V, Anderson M, Diaz 42 M, Shah K, Chundi VV, Hines DW, Harting BP, Sidwha K, Yu B, Brune P, Owaisi A, Beezhold D, Kent J, Vais D, Han A, Gowda N, Sahgal N, Silverman J, Stake J, Nepomuceno J, Heddurshetti R. Tocilizumab as a Therapeutic Agent for Critically III Patients Infected with SARS-CoV-2. Clin Transl Sci 2020 [PMID: 32918792 DOI: 10.1111/cts.12894]
- 43 Rossi B, Nguyen LS, Zimmermann P, Boucenna F, Dubret L, Baucher L, Guillot H, Bouldouyre MA, Allenbach Y, Salem JE, Barsoum P, Oufella A, Gros H. Effect of Tocilizumab in Hospitalized Patients with Severe COVID-19 Pneumonia: A Case-Control Cohort Study. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 2020; 13 [PMID: 33080877 DOI: 10.3390/ph13100317]



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com



Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 110-230





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of *Methodology*

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 4 July 20, 2021

ACADEMIC ACTIVITY REPORT

Sacrum magnetic resonance imaging for low back and tail bone pain: A quality initiative to evaluate and 110 improve imaging utility

Castillo S, Joodi R, Williams LE, Pezeshk P, Chhabra A

OPINION REVIEW

116 Delphi methodology in healthcare research: How to decide its appropriateness

Nasa P, Jain R, Juneja D

REVIEW

130 Looking into key bacterial proteins involved in gut dysbiosis Zeng XY, Li M

144 Connecting inorganic mercury and lead measurements in blood to dietary sources of exposure that may impact child development

Dufault RJ, Wolle MM, Kingston HMS, Gilbert SG, Murray JA

160 Fascinating history of groin hernias: Comprehensive recognition of anatomy, classic considerations for herniorrhaphy, and current controversies in hernioplasty

Hori T, Yasukawa D

MINIREVIEWS

- 187 Evidence based review of management of cardiorenal syndrome type 1 Ong LT
- 199 Isolation of lymphocytes from the human gastric mucosa Iwamuro M, Takahashi T, Watanabe N, Okada H
- One-day seminar for residents for implementing abdominal pocket-sized ultrasound 208 Naganuma H, Ishida H
- 222 Wound irrigation for preventing surgical site infections Papadakis M

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

228 Simplified figure to present direct and indirect comparisons: Revisiting the graph 10 years later Fadda V, Bartoli L, Ferracane E, Trippoli S, Messori A



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 4 July 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Methodology, Mohammad Sultan Khuroo, MD, DM, FRCP (Edin), FACP, Master American College of Physicians (MACP, Emeritus), Digestive Diseases Centre, Dr. Khuroo's Medical Clinic, Srinagar. khuroo@yahoo.com

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Ying-Yi Yuan; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS
World Journal of Methodology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 2222-0682 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
September 26, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Gerhard Litscher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
July 20, 2021	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 110-115

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.110

ACADEMIC ACTIVITY REPORT

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

Sacrum magnetic resonance imaging for low back and tail bone pain: A quality initiative to evaluate and improve imaging utility

Samantha Castillo, Robert Joodi, L Errett Williams, Parham Pezeshk, Avneesh Chhabra

ORCID number: Samantha Castillo 0000-0003-3666-301X; Robert Joodi 0000-0002-1549-9647; L Errett Williams 0000-0002-5049-880X; Parham Pezeshk 0000-0002-7694-8784; Avneesh Chhabra 0000-0002-0718-3802

Author contributions: Chhabra A. Pezeshk P and Joodi R conceived of the project; Joodi R, Castillo S and Williams LE performed a retrospective chart review and data analysis under the guidance of Drs. Chhabra A and Pezeshk P. Chhabra A and Pezeshk P reviewed patient imaging; Castillo S and Pezeshk P prepared and performed clinician education; Castillo S, Pezeshk P and Chhabra A contributed to the final version of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Dr.

Chhabra A receives payment as a consultant for Treace 3D Medical Inc. and Icon Medical and book royalties from Jaypee and Wolters. The remaining authors have no financial conflicts of interest to disclose

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0)

Samantha Castillo, Robert Joodi, Parham Pezeshk, Avneesh Chhabra, Department of Radiology, UT Southwestern, Dallas, TX 75390, United States

L Errett Williams, Medical School, UT Southwestern, Dallas, TX 75390, United States

Corresponding author: Samantha Castillo, MD, Academic Fellow, Department of Radiology, UT Southwestern, 5303 Harry Hines Blvd, Dallas, TX 75390, United States. ssirignano@gmail.com

Abstract

As quality and cost effectiveness become essential in clinical practice, an evidencebased evaluation of the utility of imaging orders becomes an important consideration for radiology's value in patient care. We report an institutional quality improvement project including a retrospective review of utility of sacrum magnetic resonance (MR) imaging for low back pain at our institution over a four-year period and follow-up results after physician education intervention. Sacral MR imaging for low back pain and tailbone pain were only positive for major findings in 2/98 (2%) cases, and no major changes in patient management related to imaging findings occurred over this period, resulting in almost \$500000 cost without significant patient benefit. We distributed these results to the Family Medicine department and clinics that frequently placed this order. An approximately 83% drop in ordering rate occurred over the ensuing 3 mo follow-up period. Sacrum MR imaging for low back pain and tail bone pain has not been a cost-effective diagnostic tool at our institution. Physician education was a useful tool in reducing overutilization of this study, with a remarkable drop in such studies after sharing these findings with primary care physicians at the institution. In conclusion, sacrum MR imaging rarely elucidates the cause of low back/tail pain diagnosed in a primary care setting and is even less likely to result in major changes in management. The practice can be adopted in other institutions for the benefit of their patients and improve cost efficiency.

Key Words: Sacrum magnetic resonance imaging; Low back pain; Tail bone pain; Musculoskeletal imaging; Quality improvement; Radiology

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: United States

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): D Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: October 22, 2020 Peer-review started: October 22, 2020 First decision: November 25, 2020 Revised: December 20, 2020

Accepted: May 20, 2021 Article in press: May 20, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Leung PC S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



Core Tip: Sacrum magnetic resonance studies ordered for low back pain were suspected to lack clinical utility at our institution. A literature review demonstrated a lack of evidence based practice in ordering of this study for low back/tail bone pain. A quality project was then pursued to first assess the clinical usefulness of the study. Over four years these studies had no major impacts on management. An educational component of the quality project was then pursued with a rapid decrease in the number of studies ordered by referring providers.

Citation: Castillo S, Joodi R, Williams LE, Pezeshk P, Chhabra A. Sacrum magnetic resonance imaging for low back and tail bone pain: A quality initiative to evaluate and improve imaging utility. World J Methodol 2021; 11(4): 110-115

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/110.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.110

INTRODUCTION

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the sacrum ordered for vague low back pain and tail bone pain was seen with some frequency at our institution over the last decade and with little evidence on its clinical value as subjectively reported by our radiologists. The American College of Radiology (ACR) Appropriateness Criteria does not include sacrum imaging in its reviews for low back pain indication[1]. The ACR Appropriateness Criteria does however recommend sacral MR imaging in patients with chronic low back pain, symptoms of inflammatory arthropathy, and negative or equivocal radiographs^[2]. Recommendations from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society also state that imaging should not be obtained in uncomplicated back pain without neurologic symptoms unless history or physical examination suggest a specific underlying etiology^[3]. In fact, increases in imaging in low back pain have been associated with increases in procedures for low back pain without improvement in outcomes – a finding highly suggestive of overutilization[4, 5]. Coccydynia (or tail bone pain) has many similar underlying etiologies to low back pain, including muscular, post traumatic, and degenerative etiologies[6,7]. Treatment options also bear similarity to those available in patients with low back pain, including surgical and local therapeutic options based on the underlying pathology[6,8]. However, conservative treatments including physical therapies are effective treatments and often the most appropriate therapy in patients affected by these conditions[6,8,9].

While adherence to guidelines recommending physical therapy in low back pain can decrease long term health care costs and unnecessary procedures, it has also been postulated that up to 5% of low back pain suffers could have some degree of inflammatory arthropathy [9,10]. The clinicians ordering these exams might want to exclude a serious and clinically meaningful diagnosis.

It is thus clear that a specific systematic review of these orders in the setting of low back pain would be of use to determine the true value of this imaging order and examination in the clinical practice. Literature on the usefulness of these orders in the absence of known recent trauma, infection or neoplastic etiologies is currently lacking, resulting in an interest in determining if these orders contribute to a meaningful alteration of the patient care. This project was a quality improvement and practice management project, which entailed retrospective imaging and electronic patient chart reviews, focused provider education and post-intervention assessment to evaluate the impact of such procedures.

METHODLOGY

Problem assessment and pre-intervention analysis

Sacrum MRI orders and examinations at our institution from 2013-2017 were retrospectively reviewed. Sacrum MR orders were identified through the PACS (picture archiving and communications system, Mckesson, Alpharetta, GA, United States), identifying 322 unique patients with sacrum MRI orders over this time period.



Orders for already known diagnosis of inflammatory arthritis, concern for infection (osteomyelitis), known or suspected tumor, recent trauma (< 4 wk) and concern for occult fracture were excluded from further review, leaving 98 studies performed over this time period. All studies had an indication of low back pain and/or tail bone pain as described by the ordering physician/provider without indicating specific suspected etiology of pain.

Imaging, radiology reports, and patient charts were reviewed by a radiology resident and/or musculoskeletal imaging fellow for included patients to evaluate for major, minor, and incidental findings, as well as major or minor impact on the patient diagnosis and care. Major findings were defined as those that may have been a cause of patient's pain and could potentially be acted upon, particularly inflammatory spondyloarthropathy. Minor findings were findings felt to be unlikely the cause of patient's symptoms, routine degenerative changes without evidence of inflammation, or seen on concurrent exam. Incidental findings were felt not to be related to patient's symptoms and/or would be better evaluated by a different exam and/or modality of imaging. MRIs positive for major findings were reviewed by two expert subspecialty musculoskeletal radiologists with 4 and 10 years of post-fellowship attending experience.

Root cause analysis

The current process map for patients who present to their clinicians with low back pain and/or tail bone pain was evaluated with electronic chart reviews. Ordering providers were from multiple different clinics in the hospital system. Imaging evaluation usually started with lumbar spine, sacral or sacroiliac (SI) joint or pelvic Xrays. The interpreting radiologist qualitatively described degenerative findings of the spine, SI joints or hip joints and/or chronic pelvic enthesophytes of trochanters and ischial tuberosities, all common findings. Sacrum MRIs were then ordered for further evaluation for many reasons including chronic but increasing low back/tail bone symptoms, partially obscured sacrum on radiographs due to bowel shadows, psychological factors, no response to initial conservative treatment, imaging prior to caudal blocks, and lack of defined appropriateness criteria for tail bone pain. It was determined that the strategy that would most likely impact the patient care would involve presentation of results of the above retrospective imaging and chart reviews with focused teaching of the referring clinicians who ordered most of these examinations.

Interventions

The results were tabulated with frequencies of findings identified from the imaging and chart reviews, completed in June 2018. Impact on patient care was inferred from the electronic chart reviews, treatments patients received and their follow-up procedures. Powerpoint (Microsoft, Redwood, Seattle) presentations were generated on preliminary findings and presented at the department meeting of family medicine in April 2018. The presentations were also distributed to the clinicians at the care centers ordering most of these examinations as continuing education.

Post-intervention analysis

Finally, sacrum MRIs were again identified through the same methods over a 3-mo period after the distribution of the teaching materials, and the results were tabulated.

Statistical analysis

The frequencies were tabulated as percentages. No *P* values were generated due to clearly successful intervention.

RESULTS

Frequency and distribution of MRI findings

There were 98 MRIs of the sacrum that met the inclusion criteria. The included patients were 65% female, with a mean 48.1 years of age. All included studies were non-contrast examinations. Majority of cases (85/98) had incidental findings including lumbar spine degeneration (often seen on concurrently performed lumbar spine MRIs, which were performed in 65 of the 98 studies) and incidental visceral findings in the pelvis such as incidental uterine fibroids and partially visualized renal lesions.

Zaishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Axial T1 and STIR images demonstrate bilateral sacroiliac joint edema and irregularity consistent with sacroiliitis, considered a major change in diagnosis. These inflammatory changes resulted in no changes to management in this patient who eventually underwent microdiscectomy for disc extrusion seen on concurrent lumbar spine magnetic resonance. A: Axial T1 image; B: STIR image.



Figure 2 Axial T1 and coronal STIR images demonstrate mild bilateral sacroiliac joint degeneration. This patient was also noted to have incidentally noted lower lumbar spine degeneration, for which he subsequently underwent a dedicated lumbar spine magnetic resonance. A: Axial T1 image; B: Coronal STIR image.

Frequency of change in diagnosis and management

Two patients had a major change in diagnosis based on Sacral MR findings, one with acute SI inflammation and one with chronic inflammation. Forty-three patients had minor findings such as SI degenerative disease, Tarlov cysts, or old post-traumatic changes of the sacrum/coccyx. Of these patients with changes in diagnosis, 12 patients had minor changes in management, which included surgical referrals for degenerative disease and further imaging of incidental or minor findings. No major changes in management occurred as a result these examinations (Figure 1-3).

Cost of sacrum MRIs

At the above rate, based on current charges for sacrum MRI examination at our institution (\$4900 per MRI sacrum without contrast), patients were charged a total of \$480200 for two major findings, no major changes in management, and only 12 minor changes in management. This doesn't include costs of their travel times, parking, time away from work, increased clinic visits for management of minor or incidental findings, patient anxiety and discomfort from MRIs, etc.

Post-intervention results

Post-intervention, during 3-mo follow-up, only 1 study meeting the inclusion criteria had been ordered and this was also negative for major or minor findings or any changes in management. This is less than the expected 2 exams per month average over the duration of the pre-intervention period, suggesting a positive impact on



WJM https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 3 Axial STIR image demonstrates an incidentally noted small left ovarian cyst and borderline enlarged right external iliac lymph nodes in this reproductive age patient with an underlying systemic illness. No musculoskeletal abnormalities were present on her exam.



Figure 4 Number of sacral magnetic resonance examinations performed per year during the retrospective review followed by 3 mo post intervention. MR: Magnetic resonance.

> clinician ordering patterns. We hope to add this in the decision support software used by the ordering physicians at our institute with best practice alerts if there is no history of known tumor, recent trauma, infection, or spondyloarthritis (Figure 4).

DISCUSSION

Sacrum MRI at our institution was overall found to be an inefficient method of diagnosis of low back or tailbone pain, not lending itself to cost effectiveness or significant impact on patient care. This further strengthens the argument that advanced imaging should be avoided in favor of conservative therapies in patients with vague low back pain without neurologic symptoms or other clinical red flags (such as recent trauma or malignancy)[7,8]. Physician education led to at least a shortterm decrease in frequency of these orders by approximately 83%, effectively saving \$24500 over a 3-mo time period. In future, similar studies at other institutions may be helpful to confirm minimal, if any utility of sacral MR imaging in low back and/or tail bone pain.

CONCLUSION

Applications

Our findings add to the literature supporting clinician decision making when deciding to pursue conservative therapies in patients with low back or tail bone pain prior to imaging, as well as supporting literature which indicates this reduces health care cost. Additionally, our project supports the utility of clinician education and communication to improve hospital system quality of care and resource utilization.

WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

Limitations

Due to the nature of this retrospective review, we couldn't evaluate the referring physician or patient factors driving the need for sacrum MRI examinations during their management, or the satisfaction they obtained from the positive or negative results. The negative predictive value of such examinations may also play a role in the alleviation of patient concerns of something unknown or significant that may be causing their symptoms. Eliminating redundant procedures and unnecessary diagnostic services, such as costly advanced imaging examinations is however in line with the strategy of best practice management while simultaneously decreasing health care costs and increasing patient care quality and medical efficiency.

Further research

Future research is needed to confirm similar lack of changes in clinical management based on sacral MRI in additional institutions. Furthermore, long term analysis of clinician response to education is needed as this may have a dampened effect over time.

REFERENCES

- Patel ND, Broderick DF, Burns J, Deshmukh TK, Fries IB, Harvey HB, Holly L, Hunt CH, Jagadeesan BD, Kennedy TA, O'Toole JE, Perlmutter JS, Policeni B, Rosenow JM, Schroeder JW, Whitehead MT, Cornelius RS, Corey AS. ACR Appropriateness Criteria Low Back Pain. J Am Coll Radiol 2016; 13: 1069-1078 [PMID: 27496288 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacr.2016.06.008]
- 2 Expert Panel on Musculoskeletal Imaging; Bernard SA, Kransdorf MJ, Beaman FD, Adler RS, Amini B, Appel M, Arnold E, Cassidy RC, Greenspan BS, Lee KS, Tuite MJ, Walker EA, Ward RJ, Wessell DE, Weissman BN. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Chronic Back Pain Suspected Sacroiliitis-Spondyloarthropathy. J Am Coll Radiol 2017; 14: S62-S70 [PMID: 28473095 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacr.2017.01.048
- Chou R, Qaseem A, Snow V, Casey D, Cross JT Jr, Shekelle P, Owens DK; Clinical Efficacy 3 Assessment Subcommittee of the American College of Physicians; American College of Physicians; American Pain Society Low Back Pain Guidelines Panel. Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: a joint clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. Ann Intern Med 2007; 147: 478-491 [PMID: 17909209 DOI: 10.7326/0003-4819-147-7-200710020-00006
- Flynn TW, Smith B, Chou R. Appropriate use of diagnostic imaging in low back pain: a reminder that unnecessary imaging may do as much harm as good. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 2011; 41: 838-846 [PMID: 21642763 DOI: 10.2519/jospt.2011.3618]
- 5 Schroth WS, Schectman JM, Elinsky EG, Panagides JC. Utilization of medical services for the treatment of acute low back pain: conformance with clinical guidelines. J Gen Intern Med 1992; 7: 486-491 [PMID: 1403203 DOI: 10.1007/BF02599449]
- 6 Lirette LS, Chaiban G, Tolba R, Eissa H. Coccydynia: an overview of the anatomy, etiology, and treatment of coccyx pain. Ochsner J 2014; 14: 84-87 [PMID: 24688338]
- 7 Skalski MR, Matcuk GR, Patel DB, Tomasian A, White EA, Gross JS. Imaging Coccygeal Trauma and Coccydynia. Radiographics 2020; 40: 1090-1106 [PMID: 32609598 DOI: 10.1148/rg.2020190132]
- 8 Hanney WJ, Masaracchio M, Liu X, Kolber MJ. The Influence of Physical Therapy Guideline Adherence on Healthcare Utilization and Costs among Patients with Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review of the Literature. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0156799 [PMID: 27285608 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.01567991
- Scott KM, Fisher LW, Bernstein IH, Bradley MH. The Treatment of Chronic Coccydynia and Postcoccygectomy Pain With Pelvic Floor Physical Therapy. PMR 2017; 9: 367-376 [PMID: 27565640 DOI: 10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.08.007]
- 10 Underwood MR, Dawes P. Inflammatory back pain in primary care. Br J Rheumatol 1995; 34: 1074-1077 [PMID: 8542211 DOI: 10.1093/rheumatology/34.11.1074]

WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

World Journal of WJM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 116-129

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.116

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

OPINION REVIEW

Delphi methodology in healthcare research: How to decide its appropriateness

Prashant Nasa, Ravi Jain, Deven Juneja

ORCID number: Prashant Nasa 0000-0003-1948-4060; Ravi Jain 0000-0001-9260-479X; Deven Juneja 0000-0002-8841-5678.

Author contributions: Nasa P, Jain R, and Juneja D contributed equally to this work; Nasa P and Jain R designed the idea of the study; Nasa P, Jain R, and Juneja D performed the systematic search of the literature; Nasa P contributed the figures; Jain R and Nasa P analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

Prashant Nasa declared to be on the advisory board of Edwards life sciences. Other authors do not declare any conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License Prashant Nasa, Department of Critical Care Medicine, NMC Specialty Hospital, Dubai 00000, United Arab Emirates

Ravi Jain, Critical Care Medicine, Mahatma Gandhi Medical College and Hospital, Jaipur 302001, Rajasthan, India

Deven Juneja, Institute of Critical Care Medicine, Max Super Speciality Hospital, New Delhi 110017, India

Corresponding author: Prashant Nasa, MD, Chief Doctor, Department of Critical Care Medicine, NMC Specialty Hospital, Al Nahda 2, Dubai 00000, United Arab Emirates. dr.prashantnasa@hotmail.com

Abstract

The Delphi technique is a systematic process of forecasting using the collective opinion of panel members. The structured method of developing consensus among panel members using Delphi methodology has gained acceptance in diverse fields of medicine. The Delphi methods assumed a pivotal role in the last few decades to develop best practice guidance using collective intelligence where research is limited, ethically/logistically difficult or evidence is conflicting. However, the attempts to assess the quality standard of Delphi studies have reported significant variance, and details of the process followed are usually unclear. We recommend systematic quality tools for evaluation of Delphi methodology; identification of problem area of research, selection of panel, anonymity of panelists, controlled feedback, iterative Delphi rounds, consensus criteria, analysis of consensus, closing criteria, and stability of the results. Based on these nine qualitative evaluation points, we assessed the quality of Delphi studies in the medical field related to coronavirus disease 2019. There was inconsistency in reporting vital elements of Delphi methods such as identification of panel members, defining consensus, closing criteria for rounds, and presenting the results. We propose our evaluation points for researchers, medical journal editorial boards, and reviewers to evaluate the quality of the Delphi methods in healthcare research.

Key Words: Delphi studies; Quality tools for methodology; Research methods; Delphi technique; Consensus; Expert panel; Coronavirus disease 2019; SARS-CoV-2

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Methodology

Country/Territory of origin: United Arab Emirates

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 12, 2021 Peer-review started: January 12, 2021

First decision: February 14, 2021 Revised: February 26, 2021 Accepted: May 19, 2021 Article in press: May 19, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Boos J S-Editor: Wang JL L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yuan YY



Core Tip: There are no standard quality parameters to evaluate Delphi methods in healthcare research. Delphi methods' vital elements include anonymity, iteration, controlled feedback, and statistical stability of consensus. Published studies have used modified versions of Delphi, and details on methods like expert panel selection, defining consensus, or closing criteria for Delphi rounds are not explicit. We suggest quality assessment tools for readers and researchers for a systematic assessment of Delphi studies.

Citation: Nasa P, Jain R, Juneja D. Delphi methodology in healthcare research: How to decide its appropriateness. World J Methodol 2021; 11(4): 116-129

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/116.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.116

INTRODUCTION

This review used the "Delphi study" for the published studies that used Delphi methodology. "Delphi rounds" is used for the survey questionnaire rounds to develop iterative discussion among panel members. "Delphi process" is used for the steps of Delphi methods in research.

The term "Delphi" originated from ancient Greek mythology and was believed to be the precinct of Pythia (a major oracle), where prophecies were made to dictate and direct vital state affairs. In its literal sense, Delphi methods can be defined as a structured technique to modulate a group communication process effectively in allowing a group of individuals, as a whole, to deal with a complex problem[1]. The Delphi method was initially developed for business forecasting using an expert panel's interactive discussion, assuming collective judgments are more valuable than individuals.

Possibly the first application of Delphi methodology was during the cold war in the 1950s by the United States army. They used it for their military project RAND to develop consensus among experts using repeated rounds of anonymous feedback, forecasting future enemy attacks^[2]. After this first application, it has been used in many other academic domains like finance, economics, development planning, and healthcare, where group forecasting makes sense in the absence of accurate tested data. In modern times, this forecasting tool has evolved into a statistical methodology to collate individual opinions and converge them into statistically generated consensus with collective intelligence. A constant theme is observed across all domains with vital elements like anonymity, iteration, controlled feedback, and group response (or consensus)[3].

The anonymity of individual members in a Delphi study removes the inherent bias like dominance and group conformity (defined as groupthink) observed with face-toface group meetings. The primary purpose of the Delphi technique is to generate a reliable consensus opinion of a group of experts by an iterative process of questionnaire interspersed with controlled feedback[2]. After initial slow acceptance in healthcare, it is now a widely used method to generate group consensus, develop qualitative practice points, or identify future research areas. In healthcare, the Delphi process had been used in diverse areas: (1) Evaluate current knowledge; (2) Resolving controversy in management[4]; (3) Formulating theoretical or methodological guidelines[5,6]; (4) Developing assessment tools and indicators[7,8]; and (5) Formulating recommendations for action and prioritizing measures[9].

The Delphi methods from its inception have undergone modifications to structure effective and faster consensus. The modified Delphi does not have a standard criterion, but in principle, a steering group facilitates the group communication process effectively. There are no set standards for reporting Delphi studies in healthcare research, unlike other qualitative and quantitative clinical research tools. There are also no validated quality parameters to evaluate Delphi studies. In a recent metaanalysis of Delphi studies in healthcare research, many studies were found to be of questionable quality[10]. The protocol design, the definition of consensus, and closing criteria were not set a priori and vary widely in Delphi studies. There have been attempts to identify quality parameters to conduct and evaluate Delphi studies[10-12]. The guidance on conducting and reporting of Delphi studies (CREDES) is a popular



tool, developed for Delphi studies on palliative care. The authors acknowledged significant variation in the reporting and methodology of Delphi studies and proposed CREDES standards for reporting and conducting such studies[12]. However, these tools are neither been validated in other fields of medicine nor universally accepted for the conduct of Delphi studies. The discrepancy in conduct and transparency of reporting may overshadow the consensus recommendations generated by Delphi studies. There is an urgent need of simple tools for systematic assessment of the quality of Delphi studies. Like other statistical research studies, readers must consider if the methodology has been followed appropriately for the key elements of Delphi technique. This article recommends critical appraisal of a Delphi study in healthcare sequentially by nine qualitative evaluation points in a four-step methodological process (Figure 1).

PROBLEM AREA

The Delphi study is practical in problematic areas where either statistical model-based evidence is not available, knowledge is uncertain and incomplete, and human expert judgment is better than individual opinion^[1]. The emerging disease or conditions in healthcare often simulates such areas, where either standard research pathways cannot be adopted or become impractical. Various approaches can identify these problem areas: (1) Extensive systematic literature search; (2) Group discussion among a defined steering group; and (3) Open-ended discussion rounds among panel members.

The process of identifying problem areas and its communication among all participating panel members should be explicit and must be done before the final survey rounds to achieve consensus.

Evaluation point

The criteria used to identify the problem area and process followed should be documented. The systematic search of the literature must mention period, keywords, and database included in the search.

PANEL MEMBERS

The members who participate in the anonymous voting process of the Delphi survey are called panelists. The panel member selection is undoubtedly the most crucial aspect of Delphi research studies [13]. The methods used for the identification and selection of panel members are discrepant in published Delphi studies. There are no standard criteria used for the definition of panel members[10]. The readers should consider the following issues while evaluating the Delphi study: Homogeneity of panel, labelling panel members as an 'expert', and size of the panel.

Homogeneity of the panel

A diverse panel helps to achieve a broader perspective and generalization of consensus. The homogenous group, on the other hand, may be more reliable in a particular study objective. The homogenous panel is suitable when resolving unsettled issues of a focused problem like management of acute respiratory distress syndrome, while the heterogeneous panel is appropriate in a broader situation like when studying the impact of mental illness. The methodology should represent the process followed for achieving homogeneity in the study.

Expert panel

The labelling of panel members as 'experts' is most contentious. The expert can be defined as someone with knowledge and experience on a particular subject matter; however, it is practically difficult to measure experience quantitatively. Despite its controversy, the experts are commonly used in the Delphi studies for panel members without a uniform selection criterion. The common goal behind using experts is to increase the qualitative strength of recommendations or consensus. The readers must evaluate the criteria for expert panel selection. Panel selection should adhere to a predefined criteria[4,6,14].

Size

There is no standard size of the panel members and varies from 10 to 1000 (typically





Figure 1 Stepwise quality assessment of Delphi studies.

between 10-100) in published studies. However, due to data management difficulties and logistic issues (rounds of the survey), a panel with three-digit sample size is unusual[10,15]. Generally, a double-digit number close to 30-50 is considered optimum in concluding rounds for a homogenous Delphi[4,14]. Appropriate size depends on the complexity of the problem, homogeneity (or heterogeneity) of the panel, and availability of the resources. Apart from panel members with knowledge, some studies recruit members from diverse academic and practice backgrounds or involve endusers in the process^[16].

Generalizability of Delphi results requires an appropriate panel size, diverse representation of members from different specialties, and geographical distribution.

The electronic Delphi survey (also called e-Delphi) helps in the global representation of panel members, saves time, and fastens the survey rounds using technology without physical voting. This process involves selecting experts after research for eligibility on the world wide web; further email invitations to participate in the project can be sent. The acceptance rate among experts can be low, and researchers usually consider this higher attrition rate during the invitation process.

Evaluation point

The selection of a panel or voting members in a Delphi study should be based on objective and predefined criteria and related to the problem under study.

DELPHI ROUNDS

The strength of Delphi process is anonymity of panelist in the survey rounds, controlled feedback and iterative discussions. Anonymous survey rounds have advantages over face-to-face or group encounters in reducing dominance and group conformity. Participants feel more comfortable in providing anonymous opinions on uncertain, unsettled issues. The interpretation of items may sometimes become a critical issue in anonymous Delphi rounds and may affect the consensus process.

The "controlled feedback" is another classic characteristic of the Delphi study. It is termed as "controlled" because moderator decides about feedback provisions based on responses to the items and open comments. After each of the survey rounds, obtained data are analyzed and presented in an easily interpretable format to all the panel experts. It can include simple charts and statistics showing the stability of responses. Statistics usually include the measurement of central tendencies with dispersion, percentage, and frequency of distribution[17]. Even anonymous comments can be incorporated as a part of the feedback. Sometimes individual feedback along with group responses are also provided. Controlled feedback gives insight to the individual member about the trend and one can change its response if needed. Panel members should clear their position if they have an extreme choice of response in a particular situation.

Analysis of successive iterative rounds provides an opportunity to evaluate data for consensus and interspersed stability among the two successive rounds. The repetitive and interactive survey rounds are useful for gathering qualitative information,



improving framing of the statements for panel members, and achieving consensus.

Evaluation point

The Delphi survey should be assessed for iterative discussions and controlled feedback while maintaining a strict anonymity of the panel members and their responses.

CLOSING CRITERIA

As Delphi is a method to generate consensus of individual panel member opinion on unsettled critical issues, the consensus and closing criteria vary widely among the studies[10,12,15]. The definition of consensus used in published Delphi studies is discrepant.

Consensus

Traditionally, a consensus is considered as the primary outcome of the Delphi study. However, its understanding is quite confusing among various studies. Consensus can mean a group opinion, solidarity towards a sentiment, or sometimes absolute alignment of the opinion of experts[18]. Hence, various measures have been used to define consensus. A meta-analysis^[10] to evaluate quality of published Delphi studies found 73% of the studies reported a consensus method, and only 68% did so in an advanced declared protocol. It was even observed that some studies declare achieving consensus but do not provide the process to reach the consensus and its definition[10, 12,15]. The definition of consensus used in published Delphi studies is discrepant[12, 19]. The consensus definition used commonly is the percentage of agreement based on a predefined cut-off, central tendency, or a combination of both. However, percentage agreement varies widely from 50%-97% and is selected arbitrarily [10,12].

Closing criteria

The conventional design of the Delphi study had at least four rounds. However, the essence of good Delphi surveys is an iterative process and controlled feedback to generate consensus. The closing criteria in most of the Delphi studies include consensus achieved after a prefixed (usually two) rounds[10,12]. The stability of the responses or consensus cannot be checked with two rounds of Delphi. Any change in the items or controlled feedback may alter the response of panelists. However, these responses may not be stable and hence a fixed number of rounds without assessment of the stability of the results is a compromise on statistical robustness. The invention of "modified Delphi" arbitrarily uses two-three rounds of survey decided a priori as a closing criterion. The "modified" term in Delphi studies is, however, discrepant and without any universal accepted criterion. The only common thing in modified Delphi methodology is the active effort of the steering group in generating consensus. The steering group performed a systematic search of the literature in the problem area and, instead of open-end, initial Delphi rounds are focused on achieving consensus among panelists. The group also review the results after each round and items that reached consensus are dropped for the next rounds, but the items that are consistently not achieving consensus despite controlled feedback can also be dropped[20]. However, this active participation of the steering group can cause bias through opinion of members.

Stability

Understanding the stability of responses is even more confusing than consensus, and the stability of the consensus is rarely used in Delphi studies as a closing criterion. Classically, consensus or a pre-fixed round of surveys served as a closing criterion. It comes with an inherent risk that a significant change in responses occurred in the last round, affecting the stability of the results or consensus. Hence some authors believed that achieving a consensus is meaningless with unstable responses[1,21-23]. The stability of the results is thus considered the necessary criterion. Stability is defined as the consistency of responses between successive rounds of a study [21]. The researchers believe that specific results of two separate rounds for a particular question can occur by chance, which can be decreased by obtaining statistically significant stability (or variance) of the responses[10]. In other words, consensus can be there in unstable responses, and stability can be there without consensus, and hence achieving response stability should be an appropriate closing criterion. However, every effort to achieve consensus should be made [21,23]. Therefore, a hierarchical stopping criterion should be adopted as a closing criterion for Delphi (Figure 2).





Figure 2 Stability assessment for Delphi rounds.

Evaluation point

The criteria for stopping the Delphi rounds based on consensus or stability should be identified *a priori*. The alternative plans and method to drop items should be defined if consensus is used as a stopping criterion of Delphi rounds. Stability of the responses is important for statistical stability of the consensus.

EVALUATION OF RECENT DELPHI STUDIES

We used our nine qualitative evaluation points to assess the quality of recent Delphi studies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

Search strategy and selection criteria

A systematic search of the literature was conducted from PubMed and MEDLINE databases between January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020. We used a combination of keywords, "Delphi technique" OR "Delphi study" OR "Delphi" AND "COVID-19" OR "SARS-CoV-2". We excluded search results that have non-human study subjects, non-English literature, and alternative medicine.

Included studies

Fifty-two Delphi studies were assessed as *per* the inclusion criteria, and 34 (67.3%) studies[24-57], were finally analyzed using nine evaluation points (Table 1). The data on medical specialty, geographical location, the purpose of the study, conclusion format, number of experts, and Delphi rounds were collected for each study (Table 2). The study methods were scrutinized using nine qualitative evaluation points on a 3-point scale, "yes", "no", and "not clear" (Table 2).

Summary of Delphi studies assessment

COVID-19 is a new disease coined by World Health Organization in February 2020. The exponential growth of the COVID-19 pandemic disrupted public health, healthcare, and the global economy in an unprecedented manner. The absence of quality evidence on pathophysiology, infection transmission or control, and management of COVID-19 made researchers deploying Delphi methodology for consensus recommendations in various medicinal fields affected by COVID-19. We used our evaluation points for the quality assessment of Delphi technique in 34 selected studies that met the inclusion criteria. The studies from various fields of medicine were included in this analysis. Most of the studies (60%) were done in Europe or North America. The median of 20 (interquartile range-41) experts participated in two (interquartile range-1) Delphi rounds (Table 1).

No single study met all nine evaluation points for quality assessment (Table 1). The systematic identification of the problem area was explicitly declared in 28 (79.41%) studies. The anonymity of panelist was missing in nine (26.47%) studies and not disclosed clearly in another 13 (38.24%) articles. The confidentiality in the identity of panelists was breached in few studies either for video/audio conference or in the final



Table 1 Evaluation of Delphi studies on coronavirus disease 2019 that were published in 2020 on nine qualitative evaluation points

No.	Ref.	Medicine field	Geographical location (Country/Continent)	Aim or purpose	Guidance format
1	Vitacca <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>]	Rehabilitation	Italy, Europe	Consensus on pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with COVID-19 after discharge from acute care.	Recommendations from experts' panel.
2	Mikuls <i>et al</i> [25]	Rheumatology	USA, North America	Guidance to rheumatology providers on the management of adult rheumatic diseases during COVID-19 pandemic.	77 initial guidance statements converted to 25 final guidance statements.
3	Greenhalgh <i>et al</i> [<mark>26</mark>]	Primary health	UK, Europe	To develop early warning score for patients with suspected COVID-19 who need escalation to next level of care.	Development of software for early warning score in COVID-19 patients.
4	Lamb et al[27]	Respiratory medicine and critical care medicine	USA, NA	Guidance to physicians on the preparation, timing, and technique of tracheostomy in COVID-19 patients.	Eight recommendations.
5	Welsh Surgical Research Initiative (WSRI) Collaborative[<mark>28</mark>]	General surgery	Global	Identify the needs of the global OR workforce during COVID-19.	Statements, predominantly standardization of OR pathways, OR staffing, and preoperative screening or diagnosis.
6	Eibensteiner <i>et al</i> [29]	Nephrology	Europe	To gather expert knowledge and experience to guide the care of children with chronic kidney disease during the COVID-19 pandemic.	Qualitative expert statements and answers.
7	Bhandari <i>et al</i> [<mark>30</mark>]	Gastroenterology	Global	Guidance on how to resume endoscopy services during COVID-19.	Best practice recommendations to aid the safe resumption of endoscopy services globally in the era of COVID-19.
8	Guckenberger <i>et al</i> [31]	Radiotherapy	NA and Europe	To develop practice recommendations pertaining to safe radiotherapy for lung cancer patients during COVID-19 pandemic.	Consensus recommendations in common clinical scenarios of radiotherapy for lung cancer.
9	Aj et al[<mark>32</mark>]	General surgery	NA, Europe and Australia	Validation of international COVID-19 surgical guidance during COVID-19 pandemic.	Area of consensus and contentious areas from previous guidelines.
10	Gelfand <i>et al</i> [33]	Dermatology	NA	Guidance on the management of psoriatic disease during the COVID-19 pandemic.	22 guidance statements.
11	Allan <i>et al</i> [34]	Surgery	Global	Guidance on surgery and OR practices during COVID-19 pandemic.	Development of research priorities in discipline of surgery related to COVID-19.
12	Shanbehzadeh <i>et al</i> [<mark>35</mark>]	Medical informatics and public health	Iran, Middle east	Development of minimum data set for COVID-19 surveillance system.	Conceptual COVID-19 surveillance model.
13	Bergman <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>]	Long-term nursing care	NA	Consensus guidance statements focusing on essential family caregivers and visitors in nursing homes during COVID-19 pandemic.	Recommendations for visitors in long term nursing homes.
14	Daigle <i>et al</i> [<mark>37</mark>]	Ophthalmology	Canada	Risk stratifying for oculofacial plastic and orbital surgeries in context of transmission of SARS-CoV-2.	Risk based algorithm for oculoplastic surgeries and recommendations for appropriate PPE.
15	Sorbello <i>et al</i> [<mark>38</mark>]	Anaesthesia	Europe	Review of available evidence and scientific publications about barrier- enclosure systems for airway management in suspected/confirmed COVID-19 patients.	Recommendation on enclosure barrier systems.
16	Jheon <i>et al</i> [39]	Cardiovascular and thoracic surgery	Asia	Thoracic cancer surgery during COVID-19 pandemic.	Recommendations on timing, approach, type of surgery, and postoperative requirements.
17	Olmos-Gómez et al [40]	Behavioural sciences	Spain, Europe	To know the impact of learning environments and psychological factors.	Future research priorities.
18	Sawhney et al[41]	Gastroenterology	Global	Study to emphasize patient-important	Recommendations on procedural



				outcomes while considering procedural timing.	timing for common indications for advanced endoscopy during COVID-19.
19	Sciubba et al[42]	Neurosurgery	USA	Study to device scoring system to help with triaging surgical patients during the COVID-19 pandemic.	Scoring system to triage spinal surgery cases during COVID-19 pandemic.
20	Errett et al <mark>[43</mark>]	Environmental health science	USA	Study to develop an Environmental Health Sciences COVID-19 research agenda.	To validate, find limitations, and identify future research priorities.
21	Arezzo <i>et al</i> [44]	Minimal access surgery	Global	To study and provide recommendations for recovery plan in minimally invasive surgery amid COVID-19 pandemic.	Framework for resumption of surgery with focus on minimally invasive surgeries following COVID-19 pandemic.
22	Dashash <i>et al</i> [<mark>45</mark>]	Healthcare education	Syria	To identify essential competencies required for approaching patients with COVID-19.	Core competency points for health care professionals to prepare them for COVID-19 pandemic.
23	Ramalho et al[46]	Psychiatry	Global	To create a practical and clinically useful protocol for mental health care to be applied in the pandemic.	Consensus protocol for use of telemedicine in psychiatry consults during COVID-19 pandemic.
24	Saldarriaga Rivera et al[47]	Rheumatology	Columbia, SA	To produce recommendations for patients with rheumatological diseases receiving immunomodulatory and immunosuppressive therapies.	Recommendations for pharmacological management of patients with rheumatic diseases during COVID-19 pandemic.
25	Tchouaket Nguemeleu <i>et al</i> [48]	Public health	Canada, NA	Study for development and validation of a time and motion guide to assess the costs of prevention and control interventions for nosocomial infections.	Development and validation of a new instrument for systematic assessment of costs relating to the human and material resources used in nosocomial infection prevention and control.
26	Santana et al[49]	Nursing	Brazil, SA	To develop an adaptable acceptable nursing protocol during the pandemic.	Protocol for nurse managers to cope with pandemic.
27	Tang <i>et al</i> [50]	Oncology	China	To develop a risk model based on the experience of recently resumed activities in many cancer hospitals in China to reduce nosocomial transmission of SARS-CoV-2.	Risk model development on the basis of experience from recently resumed cancer hospital.
28	Jiménez-Rodríguez et al[51]	Public health	Spain	Develop recommendations for telemedicine in video consultations during COVID-19.	Consensus recommendations for healthcare professionals for proper management of video consultation.
29	Reina Ortiz <i>et al</i> [52]	Public health	Ecuador	Development of bio-safety measures to reduce cross-transmission of SARS- CoV-2.	Biosafety-at-home flyer for high- risk group and health care workers to reduce the risk of cross- transmission.
30	Douillet et al[53]	Internal medicine	France and Belgium	Identify reliable criteria for hospitalization or outpatient management in mild cases of COVID- 19.	Development of toolkit "HOME- CoV rule", a decision-making support mechanism for clinicians to target patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 requiring hospitalization.
31	Richez et al[54]	Rheumatology	France	Management of anti-inflammatory agents and disease-modifying-anti- rheumatic-drugs for rheumatological patients during COVID-19.	Recommendations to rheumatologists on management.
32	Yalçınkaya et al[55]	Physiotherapy and rehabilitation medicine	Turkey	Recommendations for the management of spasticity in Cerebral palsy children during COVID-19 pandemic.	Consensus recommendations for spasticity management in cerebral palsy children.
33	Tanasijevic <i>et al</i> [56]	Haemato-oncology	USA	To identify minimum hemoglobin for safe transfusion in myelodysplastic syndrome during COVID-19 pandemic.	Recommendations for lowest value of hemoglobin for which transfusions can safely forgo.
34	Alarcón <i>et al</i> [<mark>57</mark>]	Dentistry	Latin America	Education and practice in implant Dentistry during COVID-19 pandemic.	Consensus recommendations.

COVID-19: Coronavirus disease 2019; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; OR: Operating room.

round to generate consensus on the items[25,27,29]. The consensus based on the percentage of agreement and consensus analysis was mentioned in 27 (79.41%)



Table 2 Basic information of the Delphi studies included for evaluation

No.	Ref.	Identification of problem area	Selection of panel members	Anonymity of panellist	Controlled feedback	lterative rounds	Consensus Criteria	Analysis of consensus	Closing criteria	Group stability	Number of rounds	Number of experts
1	Vitacca <i>et al</i> [<mark>24</mark>]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	20
2	Mikuls <i>et al</i> [<mark>25</mark>]	Yes	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	14
3	Greenhalgh et al[<mark>26</mark>]	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	No	4	72
4	Lamb et al[27]	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	1	13
5	Welsh Surgical Research Initiative (WSRI) Collaborative [28]	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	1	339
6	Eibensteiner <i>et</i> al[29]	Yes	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	4	13
z	Bhandari <i>et al</i> [<mark>30</mark>]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	34
8	Guckenberger <i>et al</i> [31]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3	32
9	Aj et al[<mark>32</mark>]	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	1	339
10	Gelfand <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>]	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	18
11	Allan et al[34]	No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No	3	213
12	Shanbehzadeh <i>et al</i> [35]	Yes	Yes	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	40
13	Bergman <i>et al</i> [<mark>36</mark>]	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	21
14	Daigle <i>et al</i> [<mark>37]</mark>	Yes	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	18
15	Sorbello <i>et al</i> [<mark>38</mark>]	Yes	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	-	0
16	Jheon et al[39]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	26
17	Olmos-Gómez et al[40]	Yes	Yes	Not clear	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	3	441
18	Sawhney <i>et al</i> [<mark>41</mark>]	Not clear	Not clear	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Not clear	3	14
19	Sciubba <i>et al</i> [<mark>42</mark>]	Not clear	Not clear	No	Not clear	Yes	No	Yes	No	Not clear	3	16
20	Errett <i>et al</i> [43]	Not clear	Not clear	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3	28
21	Arezzo et al [44]	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	2	55
22	Dashash et al [<mark>45</mark>]	Yes	Not clear	Not clear	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	3	20
23	Ramalho <i>et al</i> [<mark>46</mark>]	Yes	Not clear	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not clear	No	2	16
24	Saldarriaga Rivera <i>et al</i> [<mark>47</mark>]	Yes	No	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not clear	No	3	11
25	Tchouaket Nguemeleu <i>et</i> al[48]	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	2	18



26	Santana <i>et al</i> [49]	No	Not clear	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Not clear	4	6
27	Tang et al[50]	Yes	Yes	Not clear	No	Not clear	No	No	No	No	1	83
28	Jiménez-Rodrí guez <i>et al</i> [51]	No	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3	16
29	Reina Ortiz <i>et</i> al[52]	No	Yes	Not clear	Yes	Yes	No	No	Not clear	No	2	12
30	Douillet <i>et al</i> [53]	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Not clear	4	51
31	Richez <i>et al</i> [54]	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	Not clear	No	2	10
32	Yılmaz Yalçınkaya <i>et</i> al[<mark>55</mark>]	Yes	Yes	Not clear	No	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	1	60
33	Tanasijevic <i>et</i> al[<mark>56</mark>]	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3	13
34	Alarcón <i>et al</i> [57]	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	3	197

studies. The assessment for stability of the results or consensus was missing in many of the studies with only two studies mentioning this in their methodology.

This systematic evaluation of Delphi studies in medical fields highlights the variations in the research methodology used. There was no single study that could score in all the nine evaluation points.

STRENGTH AND LIMITATIONS OF THE ASSESSMENT

We assessed our evaluation points in a wide variety of Delphi studies across various medical fields. These evaluation points are a focused qualitative tool set to assess any Delphi study on a 3-point scale. The evaluation points can be used by the readers, journal editors, and reviewers to assess the quality of the Delphi methodology.

The limitations of this assessment are the inclusion of only English language published studies in the medical field. The evaluation points were qualitative and did not assess the reporting method of the results.

Despite the limitations mentioned above, the nine evaluation points can rapidly assess the quality of Delphi studies and, thus, the creditability of scientific research presented through them.

CONCLUSION

There are no standard quality parameters to evaluate Delphi methods in healthcare research. The vital elements of Delphi methodology include anonymity, iteration, controlled feedback, and statistical stability of consensus. The published studies have used modified Delphi, and details on methods like expert panel, consensus, or closing criteria are not explicit. We suggest tools for readers and researchers for a systematic assessment of the quality of the Delphi studies.

REFERENCES

- Linstone HA, Turoff M. The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications, 1975. Available from: 1 https://web.njit.edu/~turoff/pubs/delphibook/ch1.html
- Dalkey N, Helmer O. An Experimental Application of the DELPHI Method to the Use of Experts. Manag Sci 1963; 9: 458-467 [DOI: 10.1287/mnsc.9.3.458]
- 3 Goodman CM. The Delphi technique: a critique. J Adv Nurs 1987; 12: 729-734 [PMID: 3320139 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.1987.tb01376.x]
- McGrath BA, Brenner MJ, Warrillow SJ, Pandian V, Arora A, Cameron TS, Añon JM, Hernández 4 Martínez G, Truog RD, Block SD, Lui GCY, McDonald C, Rassekh CH, Atkins J, Qiang L, Vergez



S, Dulguerov P, Zenk J, Antonelli M, Pelosi P, Walsh BK, Ward E, Shang Y, Gasparini S, Donati A, Singer M, Openshaw PJM, Tolley N, Markel H, Feller-Kopman DJ. Tracheostomy in the COVID-19 era: global and multidisciplinary guidance. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8: 717-725 [PMID: 32422180 DOI: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30230-7]

- Jünger S, Payne S, Brearley S, Ploenes V, Radbruch L. Consensus building in palliative care: a 5 Europe-wide delphi study on common understandings and conceptual differences. J Pain Symptom Manage 2012; 44: 192-205 [PMID: 22704058 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2011.09.009]
- Vogel C, Zwolinsky S, Griffiths C, Hobbs M, Henderson E, Wilkins E. A Delphi study to build 6 consensus on the definition and use of big data in obesity research. Int J Obes (Lond) 2019; 43: 2573-2586 [PMID: 30655580 DOI: 10.1038/s41366-018-0313-9]
- Singer M, Deutschman CS, Seymour CW, Shankar-Hari M, Annane D, Bauer M, Bellomo R, 7 Bernard GR, Chiche JD, Coopersmith CM, Hotchkiss RS, Levy MM, Marshall JC, Martin GS, Opal SM, Rubenfeld GD, van der Poll T, Vincent JL, Angus DC. The Third International Consensus Definitions for Sepsis and Septic Shock (Sepsis-3). JAMA 2016; 315: 801-810 [PMID: 26903338 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.0287]
- 8 Han H, Ahn DH, Song J, Hwang TY, Roh S. Development of mental health indicators in Korea. Psychiatry Investig 2012; 9: 311-318 [PMID: 23251193 DOI: 10.4306/pi.2012.9.4.311]
- 9 van Hasselt FM, Oud MJ, Loonen AJ. Practical recommendations for improvement of the physical health care of patients with severe mental illness. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2015; 131: 387-396 [PMID: 25495118 DOI: 10.1111/acps.12372]
- 10 Diamond IR, Grant RC, Feldman BM, Pencharz PB, Ling SC, Moore AM, Wales PW. Defining consensus: a systematic review recommends methodologic criteria for reporting of Delphi studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2014; 67: 401-409 [PMID: 24581294 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.12.002]
- Boulkedid R, Abdoul H, Loustau M, Sibony O, Alberti C. Using and reporting the Delphi method for selecting healthcare quality indicators: a systematic review. PLoS One 2011; 6: e20476 [PMID: 21694759 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020476]
- 12 Jünger S, Payne SA, Brine J, Radbruch L, Brearley SG. Guidance on Conducting and REporting DElphi Studies (CREDES) in palliative care: Recommendations based on a methodological systematic review. Palliat Med 2017; 31: 684-706 [PMID: 28190381 DOI: 10.1177/0269216317690685
- Green B, Jones M, Hughes D, Williams A. Applying the Delphi technique in a study of GPs' 13 information requirements. Health Soc Care Community 1999; 7: 198-205 [PMID: 11560634 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2524.1999.00176.x]
- Robba C, Poole D, Citerio G, Taccone FS, Rasulo FA; Consensus on brain ultrasonography in 14 critical care group. Brain Ultrasonography Consensus on Skill Recommendations and Competence Levels Within the Critical Care Setting. Neurocrit Care 2020; 32: 502-511 [PMID: 31264072 DOI: 10.1007/s12028-019-00766-9
- 15 Niederberger M, Spranger J. Delphi Technique in Health Sciences: A Map. Front Public Health 2020; 8: 457 [PMID: 33072683 DOI: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00457]
- Santaguida P, Dolovich L, Oliver D, Lamarche L, Gilsing A, Griffith LE, Richardson J, Mangin D, 16 Kastner M, Raina P. Protocol for a Delphi consensus exercise to identify a core set of criteria for selecting health related outcome measures (HROM) to be used in primary health care. BMC Fam Pract 2018; 19: 152 [PMID: 30185172 DOI: 10.1186/s12875-018-0831-5]
- 17 Dunn WN. Public policy analysis: an introduction. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Prentice Hall, 2004
- 18 Mitchell VW. The Delphi technique: an exposition and application. Technol Anal Strateg Manag 1991; 3: 333-358 [DOI: 10.1080/09537329108524065]
- 19 Trevelyan E, Robinson N. Delphi methodology in health research: How to do it? Eur J Integr Med 2015; 7: 423-428 [DOI: 10.1016/j.eujim.2015.07.002]
- 20 Grant S, Booth M, Khodyakov D. Lack of preregistered analysis plans allows unacceptable data mining for and selective reporting of consensus in Delphi studies. J Clin Epidemiol 2018; 99: 96-105 [PMID: 29559324 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.03.007]
- Dajani JS, Sincoff MZ, Talley WK. Stability and agreement criteria for the termination of Delphi 21 studies. Technol Forecast Soc Change 1979; 13: 83-90 [DOI: 10.1016/0040-1625(79)90007-6]
- 22 Holey EA, Feeley JL, Dixon J, Whittaker VJ. An exploration of the use of simple statistics to measure consensus and stability in Delphi studies. BMC Med Res Methodol 2007; 7: 52 [PMID: 18045508 DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-7-52]
- Chaffin WW, Talley WK. Individual stability in Delphi studies. Technol Forecast Soc Change 1980; 23 16: 67-73 [DOI: 10.1016/0040-1625(80)90074-8]
- Vitacca M, Lazzeri M, Guffanti E, Frigerio P, D'Abrosca F, Gianola S, Carone M, Paneroni M, 24 Ceriana P, Pasqua F, Banfi P, Gigliotti F, Simonelli C, Cirio S, Rossi V, Beccaluva CG, Retucci M, Santambrogio M, Lanza A, Gallo F, Fumagalli A, Mantero M, Castellini G, Calabrese M, Castellana G, Volpato E, Ciriello M, Garofano M, Clini E, Ambrosino N, Arir Associazione Riabilitatori dell'Insufficienza Respiratoria Sip Società Italiana di Pneumologia Aifi Associazione Italiana Fisioterapisti And Sifir Società Italiana di Fisioterapia E Riabilitazione OBOAAIPO. Italian suggestions for pulmonary rehabilitation in COVID-19 patients recovering from acute respiratory failure: results of a Delphi process. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2020; 90 [PMID: 32573175 DOI: 10.4081/monaldi.2020.1444]
- Mikuls TR, Johnson SR, Fraenkel L, Arasaratnam RJ, Baden LR, Bermas BL, Chatham W, Cohen S, 25 Costenbader K, Gravallese EM, Kalil AC, Weinblatt ME, Winthrop K, Mudano AS, Turner A, Saag



KG. American College of Rheumatology Guidance for the Management of Rheumatic Disease in Adult Patients During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Version 1. Arthritis Rheumatol 2020; 72: 1241-1251 [PMID: 32349183 DOI: 10.1002/art.41301]

- 26 Greenhalgh T, Thompson P, Weiringa S, Neves AL, Husain L, Dunlop M, Rushforth A, Nunan D, de Lusignan S, Delaney B. What items should be included in an early warning score for remote assessment of suspected COVID-19? BMJ Open 2020; 10: e042626 [PMID: 33184088 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042626]
- Lamb CR, Desai NR, Angel L, Chaddha U, Sachdeva A, Sethi S, Bencheqroun H, Mehta H, Akulian 27 J, Argento AC, Diaz-Mendoza J, Musani A, Murgu S. Use of Tracheostomy During the COVID-19 Pandemic: American College of Chest Physicians/American Association for Bronchology and Interventional Pulmonology/Association of Interventional Pulmonology Program Directors Expert Panel Report. Chest 2020; 158: 1499-1514 [PMID: 32512006 DOI: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.05.571]
- Welsh Surgical Research Initiative (WSRI) Collaborative. Surgery during the COVID-19 28 pandemic: operating room suggestions from an international Delphi process. Br J Surg 2020; 107: 1450-1458 [PMID: 32395829 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.11747]
- 29 Eibensteiner F, Ritschl V, Ariceta G, Jankauskiene A, Klaus G, Paglialonga F, Edefonti A, Ranchin B, Schmitt CP, Shroff R, Stefanidis CJ, Walle JV, Verrina E, Vondrak K, Zurowska A, Stamm T, Aufricht C; European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group. Rapid response in the COVID-19 pandemic: a Delphi study from the European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group. Pediatr Nephrol 2020; 35: 1669-1678 [PMID: 32418146 DOI: 10.1007/s00467-020-04584-6]
- Bhandari P, Subramaniam S, Bourke MJ, Alkandari A, Chiu PWY, Brown JF, Keswani RN, 30 Bisschops R, Hassan C, Raju GS, Muthusamy VR, Sethi A, May GR, Albéniz E, Bruno M, Kaminski MF, Alkhatry M, Almadi M, Ibrahim M, Emura F, Moura E, Navarrete C, Wulfson A, Khor C, Ponnudurai R, Inoue H, Saito Y, Yahagi N, Kashin S, Nikonov E, Yu H, Maydeo AP, Reddy DN, Wallace MB, Pochapin MB, Rösch T, Sharma P, Repici A. Recovery of endoscopy services in the era of COVID-19: recommendations from an international Delphi consensus. Gut 2020; 69: 1915-1924 [PMID: 32816921 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322329]
- Guckenberger M, Belka C, Bezjak A, Bradley J, Daly ME, DeRuysscher D, Dziadziuszko R, Faivre-31 Finn C, Flentje M, Gore E, Higgins KA, Iyengar P, Kavanagh BD, Kumar S, Le Pechoux C, Lievens Y, Lindberg K, McDonald F, Ramella S, Rengan R, Ricardi U, Rimner A, Rodrigues GB, Schild SE, Senan S, Simone CB 2nd, Slotman BJ, Stuschke M, Videtic G, Widder J, Yom SS, Palma D. Practice recommendations for lung cancer radiotherapy during the COVID-19 pandemic: An ESTRO-ASTRO consensus statement. Radiother Oncol 2020; 146: 223-229 [PMID: 32342863 DOI: 10.1016/j.radonc.2020.04.001
- 32 Aj B, C B, T A, Harper E R, Rl H, Rj E; Welsh Surgical Research Initiative (WSRI) Collaborative. International surgical guidance for COVID-19: Validation using an international Delphi process -Cross-sectional study. Int J Surg 2020; 79: 309-316 [PMID: 32531308 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.06.015]
- Gelfand JM, Armstrong AW, Bell S, Anesi GL, Blauvelt A, Calabrese C, Dommasch ED, Feldman 33 SR, Gladman D, Kircik L, Lebwohl M, Lo Re V 3rd, Martin G, Merola JF, Scher JU, Schwartzman S, Treat JR, Van Voorhees AS, Ellebrecht CT, Fenner J, Ocon A, Syed MN, Weinstein EJ, Smith J, Gondo G, Heydon S, Koons S, Ritchlin CT. National Psoriasis Foundation COVID-19 Task Force Guidance for Management of Psoriatic Disease During the Pandemic: Version 1. J Am Acad Dermatol 2020; 83: 1704-1716 [PMID: 32891785 DOI: 10.1016/j.jaad.2020.09.001]
- 34 Allan M, Mahawar K, Blackwell S, Catena F, Chand M, Dames N, Goel R, Graham YN, Kothari SN, Laidlaw L, Mayol J, Moug S, Petersen RP, Pryor AD, Smart NJ, Taylor M, Toogood GJ, Wexner SD, Zevin B, Wilson MS; PRODUCE study. COVID-19 research priorities in surgery (PRODUCE study): A modified Delphi process. Br J Surg 2020; 107: e538-e540 [PMID: 32871017 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.12015
- 35 Shanbehzadeh M, Kazemi-Arpanahi H, Mazhab-Jafari K, Haghiri H. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) surveillance system: Development of COVID-19 minimum data set and interoperable reporting framework. J Educ Health Promot 2020; 9: 203 [PMID: 33062736 DOI: 10.4103/jehp.jehp_456_20]
- Bergman C, Stall NM, Haimowitz D, Aronson L, Lynn J, Steinberg K, Wasserman M. 36 Recommendations for Welcoming Back Nursing Home Visitors During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Results of a Delphi Panel. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2020; 21: 1759-1766 [PMID: 33256956 DOI: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.09.036
- 37 Daigle P, Leung V, Yin V, Kalin-Hajdu E, Nijhawan N. Personal protective equipment (PPE) during the COVID-19 pandemic for oculofacial plastic and orbital surgery. Orbit 2020; 1-6 [PMID: 32552229 DOI: 10.1080/01676830.2020.1781200]
- Sorbello M, Rosenblatt W, Hofmeyr R, Greif R, Urdaneta F. Aerosol boxes and barrier enclosures for 38 airway management in COVID-19 patients: a scoping review and narrative synthesis. Br J Anaesth 2020; 125: 880-894 [PMID: 32977955 DOI: 10.1016/j.bja.2020.08.038]
- Jheon S, Ahmed AD, Fang VW, Jung W, Khan AZ, Lee JM, Sihoe AD, Thongcharoen P, Tsuboi M, 39 Turna A, Nakajima J. Thoracic cancer surgery during the COVID-19 pandemic: a consensus statement from the Thoracic Domain of the Asian Society for Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann 2020; 28: 322-329 [PMID: 32609557 DOI: 10.1177/0218492320940162
- Olmos-Gómez MDC. Sex and Careers of University Students in Educational Practices as Factors of 40



Individual Differences in Learning Environment and Psychological Factors during COVID-19. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32668769 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17145036]

- 41 Sawhney MS, Bilal M, Pohl H, Kushnir VM, Khashab MA, Schulman AR, Berzin TM, Chahal P, Muthusamy VR, Varadarajulu S, Banerjee S, Ginsberg GG, Raju GS, Feuerstein JD. Triaging advanced GI endoscopy procedures during the COVID-19 pandemic: consensus recommendations using the Delphi method. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92: 535-542 [PMID: 32425235 DOI: 10.1016/j.gie.2020.05.014]
- 42 Sciubba DM, Ehresman J, Pennington Z, Lubelski D, Feghali J, Bydon A, Chou D, Elder BD, Elsamadicy AA, Goodwin CR, Goodwin ML, Harrop J, Klineberg EO, Laufer I, Lo SL, Neuman BJ, Passias PG, Protopsaltis T, Shin JH, Theodore N, Witham TF, Benzel EC. Scoring System to Triage Patients for Spine Surgery in the Setting of Limited Resources: Application to the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic and Beyond. World Neurosurg 2020; 140: e373-e380 [PMID: 32479913 DOI: 10.1016/j.wneu.2020.05.233]
- Errett NA, Howarth M, Shoaf K, Couture M, Ramsey S, Rosselli R, Webb S, Bennett A, Miller A. Developing an Environmental Health Sciences COVID-19 Research Agenda: Results from the NIEHS Disaster Research Response (DR2) Work Group's Modified Delphi Method. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32961660 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17186842]
- Arezzo A, Francis N, Mintz Y, Adamina M, Antoniou SA, Bouvy N, Copaescu C, de Manzini N, Di 44 Lorenzo N, Morales-Conde S, Müller-Stich BP, Nickel F, Popa D, Tait D, Thomas C, Nimmo S, Paraskevis D, Pietrabissa A; EAES Group of Experts for Recovery Amid COVID-19 Pandemic. EAES Recommendations for Recovery Plan in Minimally Invasive Surgery Amid COVID-19 Pandemic. Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 1-17 [PMID: 33170335 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-08131-0]
- Dashash M, Almasri B, Takaleh E, Halawah AA, Sahyouni A. Educational perspective for the 45 identification of essential competencies required for approaching patients with COVID-19. East Mediterr Health J 2020; 26: 1011-1017 [PMID: 33047791 DOI: 10.26719/emhj.20.111]
- Ramalho R, Adiukwu F, Gashi Bytyçi D, El Hayek S, Gonzalez-Diaz JM, Larnaout A, Grandinetti P, 46 Nofal M, Pereira-Sanchez V, Pinto da Costa M, Ransing R, Teixeira ALS, Shalbafan M, Soler-Vidal J, Syarif Z, Orsolini L. Telepsychiatry During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Development of a Protocol for Telemental Health Care. Front Psychiatry 2020; 11: 552450 [PMID: 33173507 DOI: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.552450
- 47 Saldarriaga Rivera LM, Fernández Ávila D, Bautista Molano W, Jaramillo Arroyave D, Bautista Ramírez AJ, Díaz Maldonado A, Hernán Izquierdo J, Jáuregui E, Latorre Muñoz MC, Restrepo JP, Segura Charry JS. Recommendations on the management of adult patients with rheumatic diseases in the context of SARS-CoV-2/COVID-19 infection. Colombian Association of Rheumatology. Reumatol Clin 2020; 16: 437-446 [PMID: 32800760 DOI: 10.1016/j.reuma.2020.06.011]
- Tchouaket Nguemeleu E, Boivin S, Robins S, Sia D, Kilpatrick K, Brousseau S, Dubreuil B, 48 Larouche C, Parisien N. Development and validation of a time and motion guide to assess the costs of prevention and control interventions for nosocomial infections: A Delphi method among experts. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0242212 [PMID: 33180833 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0242212]
- Santana RF, Silva MBD, Marcos DADSR, Rosa CDS, Wetzel Junior W, Delvalle R. Nursing 49 recommendations for facing dissemination of COVID-19 in Brazilian Nursing Homes. Rev Bras Enferm 2020; 73: e20200260 [PMID: 32965401 DOI: 10.1590/0034-7167-2020-0260]
- Tang Z, Sun B, Xu B. A quick evaluation method of nosocomial infection risk for cancer hospitals 50 during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2020; 146: 1891-1892 [PMID: 32342200 DOI: 10.1007/s00432-020-03235-5]
- Jiménez-Rodríguez D, Ruiz-Salvador D, Rodríguez Salvador MDM, Pérez-Heredia M, Muñoz 51 Ronda FJ, Arrogante O. Consensus on Criteria for Good Practices in Video Consultation: A Delphi Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32727042 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17155396]
- 52 Reina Ortiz M, Grijalva MJ, Turell MJ, Waters WF, Montalvo AC, Mathias D, Sharma V, Renoy CF, Suits P, Thomas SJ, Leon R. Biosafety at Home: How to Translate Biomedical Laboratory Safety Precautions for Everyday Use in the Context of COVID-19. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2020; 103: 838-840 [PMID: 32597388 DOI: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-0677]
- 53 Douillet D, Mahieu R, Boiveau V, Vandamme YM, Armand A, Morin F, Savary D, Dubée V, Annweiler C, Roy PM; HOME-CoV expert group. Outpatient management or hospitalization of patients with proven or suspected SARS-CoV-2 infection: the HOME-CoV rule. Intern Emerg Med 2020; 15: 1525-1531 [PMID: 32888112 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-020-02483-0]
- Richez C, Flipo RM, Berenbaum F, Cantagrel A, Claudepierre P, Debiais F, Dieudé P, Goupille P, 54 Roux C, Schaeverbeke T, Wendling D, Pham T, Thomas T. Managing patients with rheumatic diseases during the COVID-19 pandemic: The French Society of Rheumatology answers to most frequently asked questions up to May 2020. Joint Bone Spine 2020; 87: 431-437 [PMID: 32473418 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbspin.2020.05.006]
- Yılmaz Yalçınkaya E, Karadağ Saygı E, Özyemişci Taşkıran Ö, Çapan N, Kutlay Ş, Sonel Tur B, El 55 Ö, Ünlü Akyüz E, Tekin S, Ofluoğlu D, Zİnnuroğlu M, Akpınar P, Özekli Mısırlıoğlu T, Hüner B, Nur H, Çağlar S, Sezgin M, Tıkız C, Öneş K, İçağasıoğlu A, Aydın R. Consensus recommendations for botulinum toxin injections in the spasticity management of children with cerebral palsy during COVID-19 outbreak. Turk J Med Sci 2021; 51: 385-392 [PMID: 33350298 DOI: 10.3906/sag-2009-5]
- 56 Tanasijevic AM, Revette A, Klepin HD, Zeidan A, Townsley D, DiNardo CD, Sebert M, DeZern AE, Stone RM, Magnavita ES, Chen R, Sekeres MA, Abel GA. Consensus minimum hemoglobin level above which patients with myelodysplastic syndromes can safely forgo transfusions. Leuk



Lymphoma 2020; 61: 2900-2904 [PMID: 32667230 DOI: 10.1080/10428194.2020.1791854]

57 Alarcón MA, Sanz-Sánchez I, Shibli JA, Treviño Santos A, Caram S, Lanis A, Jiménez P, Dueñas R, Torres R, Alvarado J, Avendaño A, Galindo R, Umanzor V, Shedden M, Invernizzi C, Yibrin C, Collins J, León R, Contreras L, Bueno L, López-Pacheco A, Málaga-Figueroa L, Sanz M. Delphi Project on the trends in Implant Dentistry in the COVID-19 era: Perspectives from Latin America. Clin Oral Implants Res 2021; 32: 521-537 [PMID: 33595844 DOI: 10.1111/clr.13723]



Saisbideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com
World Journal of W J M Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 130-143

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.130

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

Looking into key bacterial proteins involved in gut dysbiosis

Xin-Yu Zeng, Ming Li

ORCID number: Xin-Yu Zeng 0000-0002-5426-0217; Ming Li 0000-0003-4999-2998.

Author contributions: Li M conceived and initiated this review; Zeng XY did literature search, filter, and organization; Li M and Zeng XY wrote the paper and approved the final version of this manuscript.

Supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China, No. 81700457.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

There is no conflict of interest associated with any of authors who contributed their efforts in this manuscript.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Xin-Yu Zeng, Ming Li, Department of Gastroenterology, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, China

Xin-Yu Zeng, Ming Li, Laboratory of Translational Gastroenterology, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, China

Ming Li, Robot Engineering Laboratory for Precise Diagnosis and Therapy of GI Tumors, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, China

Corresponding author: Ming Li, PhD, Attending Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Qilu Hospital of Shandong University, No. 107 Wenhua West Road, Jinan 250012, Shandong Province, China. limingecho@126.com

Abstract

The gastrointestinal microbiota plays a pivotal role in health and has been linked to many diseases. With the rapid accumulation of pyrosequencing data of the bacterial composition, the causal-effect relationship between specific dysbiosis features and diseases is now being explored. The aim of this review is to describe the key functional bacterial proteins and antigens in the context of dysbiosis related-diseases. We subjectively classify the key functional proteins into two categories: Primary key proteins and secondary key proteins. The primary key proteins mainly act by themselves and include biofilm inhibitors, toxin degraders, oncogene degraders, adipose metabolism modulators, anti-inflammatory peptides, bacteriocins, host cell regulators, adhesion and invasion molecules, and intestinal barrier regulators. The secondary key proteins mainly act by eliciting host immune responses and include flagellin, outer membrane proteins, and other autoantibody-related antigens. Knowledge of key bacterial proteins is limited compared to the rich microbiome data. Understanding and focusing on these key proteins will pave the way for future mechanistic level cause-effect studies of gut dysbiosis and diseases.

Key Words: Gut microbiota; Pyrosequencing; Bacteria; Protein; Immune; Dysbiosis

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Revealing the causal-effect relationship between specific dysbiosis features and diseases requires understanding the roles of key bacterial proteins that are involved in dysbiosis. Some bacterial proteins may affect the microbiome by their inherent



Specialty type: Gastroenterology and hepatology

Country/Territory of origin: China

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 29, 2021 Peer-review started: January 29, 2021

First decision: May 6, 2021 Revised: May 11, 2021 Accepted: June 16, 2021 Article in press: June 16, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Biondi A S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: Wang TQ P-Editor: Zhang YL



functions. Others shape the microbiome mainly by eliciting host immune responses. These key proteins warrant attention in future bioinformatic analyses and mechanistic studies.

Citation: Zeng XY, Li M. Looking into key bacterial proteins involved in gut dysbiosis. World J Methodol 2021; 11(4): 130-143

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/130.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.130

INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal microbiota is linked to numerous diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), colorectal cancer, cirrhosis, and many others. Thanks to the rapid decrease in the cost of pyrosequencing, the gut microbiota, often represented by the fecal bacteria composition, is now easy to profile by 16S rDNA sequencing and shotgun metagenomic sequencing. With the accumulation of known microbiome-disease correlations in many descriptive studies, the mechanisms of known dysbiosis features in the pathogenesis of related diseases have become a new frontier to be explored. Understanding these mechanisms is a prerequisite to developing the precise intervention methods targeting the gut microbiome. Thus, it is necessary to review the key microbial proteins involved in gut dysbiosis.

The gut microbiome produces numerous products for itself and the host. The collection of small molecules produced by the gut microbiota, termed the metabolome, represents promising targets for investigation and translation. The methodology and findings of studies of the gut metabolome have been reviewed elsewhere[1,2]. In addition, the gut microbiota produces exosomes, which have been reviewed by other excellent reviews[3]. The virome[4,5], parasitome[6], helminths, and protozoa-omics[6] are also recognized by omic-approaches but with less well documented mechanisms. In this review, we will focus on the key peptides, proteins, and antigens produced by bacteria and fungi in the context of dysbiosis and diseases.

To organize the review, we categorize the bacterial proteins into two groups: (1) The primary key proteins, whose action mainly depends on their inherent properties (Table 1); and (2) The secondary key proteins, whose action mainly depends on the host response to them (Figure 1, Table 2). This classification mainly depends on the current knowledge and is relative. Often, the bacteria-host interaction is bilateral. Thus, this classification is subjective and only helps navigate the mechanisms. For each group, we organize the key proteins according to their functions to assist in navigating this field rapidly.

PRIMARY KEY PROTEINS

Biofilm inhibitors

Biofilm formation is a process of extracellular synthesis by bacteria, and it has adverse effects on the immune response of the host[7], resulting in dysbiosis[8]. Bacteria are found in the intestinal mucosa of humans and clinical observations have revealed bacterial biofilms associated with mucosal colonization in patients with IBD[7]. Many infections also involve pathogens forming biofilms, including enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli (EHEC)[9]. Probiotics have been documented to produce enzymes degrading biofilms of other species. Escherichia coli (E. coli) Nissle 1917 (EcN), a probiotic capable of alleviating inflammation, can produce its own biofilm and outcompete that of other intestinal pathogens[10]. Fang et al[11] found that DegP, a bifunctional (protease and chaperone) periplasmic protein secreted by EcN, contributes to the inhibition of EHEC biofilms by directly interacting with the EHEC cell surface while not affecting its own biofilm. Another probiotic, Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG (LGG), could also disrupt the biofilm formation of pathogenic E. coli and Salmonella[12]. This effect is mediated by its lectin like proteins, termed Llp1 (lectinlike protein 1) and Llp2[12]. Llp2, which is more active than Llp1, showed inhibitory



Table 1 Summary of primary key proteins			
Classification	Name	Function	Ref.
Enzyme	DegP	Inhibiting EHEC biofilms.	[11]
Enzyme	Llp1, Llp2	Inhibiting biofilm formation of pathogen.	[<mark>12</mark>]
Enzyme	Protease of <i>S</i> . <i>boulardii</i>	Digesting both <i>C. difficile</i> toxin A and its receptor binding sites.	[15]
Enzyme	Lon protease	Degrading the oncogene c-MYC.	[<mark>19</mark>]
Secreted protein	Р9	Inducing the secretion of GLP-1. Inducing the secretion of IL-6 in macrophages.	[21, 22]
Secreted protein	Peptide B7	Reducing CCR2 expression on all APCs from health people.	[<mark>25</mark>]
Secreted protein	MAM	Inhibiting the NF- κB pathway and several cell immune responses. Inducing expression of TGF $\beta.$	[26- 28]
Surface layer protein	MIMP	Inducing the secretion of anti- inflammatory cytokines and inhibiting inflammatory cytokines. Enhancing the intestinal barrier.	[29]
Enzyme	OGA	Hydrolysing O-GlcNAcylated NF- κ B-p65 and IKK β to inhibit NF- κ B signaling.	[<mark>30</mark>]
Bacteriocins	PediocinPA- 1/AcHnisin Z	Reducing colonization of VRE in vivo.	[38]
	Microcin	limiting the expansion of pathogens.	[39, 40]
Bacteriocins	Enterocins	Inhibiting a wide spectrum of Gram-positive bacteria. Inhibiting the growth of cancer cells.	[42, 43]
Bacteriocins	Bacteriocin A, B	Degrading pathogenic biofilm and having antibacterial potential.	[<mark>36</mark>]
Bacteriocins	Nisin A	Changing the integrity of the cancer cell membrane.	[44]
Secreted protein	P8	Inducing host cell growth arrest at the G2 phase.	[46, 47]
Ribosomal proteins	HPRP-A1; HPRP- A2	Resisting infection. Arresting the cancer cells cycle at the G0/G1 phase and G2/M phase.	[48- 53]
Innermembrane protein	Pre-FadA	Binding host epithelial cells.	[<mark>54</mark>]
Secreted protein	m-FadA	Inducing the invasion of host cells.	[54]
Outer membrane protein	Fap2	Leading to colonization of Fn. Facilitating tumor immunity evasion. Binding to and activating TIGIT. Inducing host lymphocyte apoptosis.	[55- 57]
Secreted proteins	OMVs of Fn	Inducing the colonization of host epithelial cells.	[58- 60]
Cell envelope-associated multiprotein systems	Sus-like systems	Inducing the colonization of host epithelial cells.	[64]
Pili	SpaCBA	Inducing the adhesion of mucus.	[66, 67]
Secreted proteins	EVs	Inducing the expression of the TJ protein-encoding genes and regulating the intestinal barrier. Inducing the expression of <i>PPARa</i> and <i>PPARy</i> genes and <i>ANGPTL4</i> gene. Inhibiting blood lipase lipoproteins in the bloodstream.	[71, 72]
Secreted proteins	TcpC OMVs of EcN	Enhancing epithelial barrier.	[77- 81]

EcN: Escherichia coli Nissle 1917; EVs: Extracellular vesicles; OMVs: Outer membrane vesicles.

activity against biofilm formation by various pathogens, including clinical Salmonella species and uropathogenic E. coli (UPEC) [12]. Thus, biofilm production and inhibition might represent key bacterial events in microbiome evolution, as well as promising targets to manage dysbiosis.

Toxin degraders

Probiotics may degrade pathogenic toxins and thus contribute to the homeostasis of gut microbiota. Clostridium difficile (C. difficile) mediates intestinal inflammation and mucosal damage by releasing two potent exotoxins, toxin A and toxin B[13], while the fungal probiotic Saccharomyces boulardii (S. boulardii) is known as the most efficient



Baishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Summary of secondary key proteins			
Classification	Name	Function	Ref.
Flagellin		Inducing the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines.	[87]
Flagellin		Recuiting flagellin specific CD4+ T-cells.	[85]
Flagellin		Inducing the secretion of flagellin antibodies.	[<mark>88,89</mark>]
Flagellin		Inducing the secretion of AMPs.	[<mark>90</mark>]
Flagellin		Inducing the secretion of human β -defensin 2.	[<mark>91</mark>]
Flagellin		Inducing the expression of lncRNA (HIF1A-AS2) and suppressing NF-kB signaling pathway activation.	[<mark>92</mark>]
Outer membrane protein	OmpC, OmpW	Adhesion and invasion of the CD-associated <i>Escherichia coli</i> in intestinal epithelial cells. Cross-reactive bacterial proteins.	[95-97]
Outer membrane protein	FomA	Inducing upregulation of CD86, MHC II, and primary B cells. Inducing secretion of antigen-specific antibody IgA and IgG.	[99,100]
Bacterial division protein	FtsZ	Cross-reacting with TBB-5 and mediating the secretion of p-ANCA.	[102, 103]
Bacterial heat shock protein	GroEL	Cross-reacting with Hsp60 and inducing antibodies.	[110, 111]

p-ANCA: Perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody.



Figure 1 Summary of the location or form of key bio-active microbiota proteins. FtsZ and outer membrane proteins OmpC and OmpW were testified to stimulate perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (p-ANCA). Flagellin was proved to stimulate p-ANCA, flagellin specific CD4+ T-cells, and flagellin associated IgG and IgA.

> probiotic to prevent intestinal inflammation and mucosal damage associated with C. difficile infection[14]. The protective effect of S. boulardii is dependent on a 54 kDa protease, which digests both toxin A and its receptor binding sites[15]. Several human studies demonstrated that treatment with S. boulardii CNCM I-745 in dysbiosis leads to faster reestablishment of a healthy microbiome[16].

Oncogene degraders

Oncogene c-MYC is associated with oncogenic transcription in malignant tumor driven by chronic bacterial infections[17], and the up-regulated c-MYC also indicates a poor prognosis in some human cancers[18]. The Lon protease from UPEC shows potential for therapeutic targeting of c-MYC in cancers, the degradation of c-MYC is



dependent on both direct Lon protease cleavage and Hly-dependent activation of CK1 α1, and UPEC represses transcriptional MYC regulators to inhibit c-MYC expression [19]. In mice, the recombinant Lon (rLon) protease without major toxicity delayed tumor development and increased survival in MYC-dependent bladder and colon cancer models^[19]. These results indicate that probiotics may block tumor proliferation by degrading the oncogene.

Adipose metabolism modulators

Akkermansia muciniphila (A. muciniphila), one of the gut microbiota, is connected with metabolic disorders, and it reduces the energy absorption under cold conditions in the intestine epithelium[20]. P9 is an 84 kDa protein, which is secreted by A. muciniphila. P9 increases the glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) secretion in a calcium-dependent manner and specifically promotes interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT) nonshivering thermogenesis in the gut hormone-releasing L cells and HFD mice[21]. The ligand-receptor capture (LRC)-TriCEPS technology shows that the P9 interacts with intercellular adhesion molecule 2 (ICAM-2), and ICAM-2 reduces the secretion of the P9-induced GLP-1 in a dose-dependent manner[21]. Moreover, P9 induced the secretion of interleukin-6 (IL-6) in macrophages[21], and IL-6 can stimulate GLP-1 secretion by intestinal L cells^[22].

Anti-inflammatory peptides

The mucosal immune response plays an important role in IBD pathogenesis, and perturbations of the gut microbiota are a key element^[23]. Probiotics can modulate the intestinal cytokine milieu to treat IBD[24] and other diseases. Peptide B7 from the probiotic Bifidobacterium longum decreases CCR2 expression on all antigen presenting cells from healthy controls but not from active IBD patients[25]. Although this bioactive peptide is useless for the treatment of active IBD patients, we cannot ignore its potential to prevent inflammation flares in the quiescent phase [25]. Another probiotic, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii (F. prausnitzii), one of the most abundant species in the human gut microbiota, possesses a 15 kDa protein with anti-inflammatory properties, termed a microbial anti-inflammatory molecule (MAM)[26]. The inflammatory suppressive role of MAMs from F. prausnitzii may be related to their effects on the inhibition of the NF- κ B pathway, several cell immune responses such as Th1, Th2, and Th17 cells, and the expression of TGF- β [27,28]. The micro integral membrane protein (MIMP) identified from Lactobacillus plantarum was found to decrease proinflammatory cytokines (IFN-y, IL-17 and IL-23), increase anti-inflammatory cytokines (IL-4 and IL-10), and fortify the intestinal barrier in a dextran sulphate sodium induced colitis model[29]. Probiotics have been documented to produce enzymes hydrolyzing key proteins in the NF-κB pathway[30]. O-GlcNAcase (OGA) is rich in Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes, the major probiotics distributed in the human gut, and reduced expression of bacterial OGA genes has been found in ulcerative colitis (UC)[30]. Bacterial OGAs are an advanced therapeutic strategy in UC that act by hydrolyzing O-GlcNAcylated NF-κB-p65 and IKKβ to inhibit NF-κB signaling in both immune cells and intestinal epithelial cells[30].

Bacteriocins

Bacteriocins are ribosomally synthesized bactericidal or bacteriostatic peptides[31,32]. Bacteriocins from probiotics maintain the microbial population-level and communitylevel dynamics and inhibit other strains[33]. Bacteriocins are mainly divided into two classes: Posttranslationally modified class I and unmodified class II[34,35]. In a previous study, pediocin, enterocin-A, and enterocin-B were regarded as class II bacteriocins[31], and nisin belonged to class I bacteriocins[36,37]. Pediocin PA-1/AcH secreted by Pediococcus acidilactici (P. acidilactici) MM33 and nisin Z secreted by Lactococcus lactis (L. lactis) MM19, have been proven to reduce colonization of vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE) in vivo [38]. Microcin-producing EcN limits the expansion of competing Enterobacteriaceae, including commensal E. coli, adherentinvasive E. coli, and Salmonella enterica in the inflamed gut[39] by utilizing catecholate siderophores[40]. Enterococcus faecium produces two synergistic bacteriocins, enterocin-A (a pediocin-like bacteriocin) and enterocin-B. Although the inhibitory spectra of enterocins A and B have small differences, both enterocins from Enterococcus faecium TI36 inhibit a wide spectrum of Gram-positive bacteria but not Gram-negative bacteria [41]. With a similar inhibitory spectrum, enterocin A has lower minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values than enterocin B[41].

Furthermore, the bactericidal effect is drastically increased when a mixture of the two bacteriocins is used[41]. The findings of a previous study suggested that the

heterodimer of bacteriocin A and B from *Enterococcus faecium* por1 had antibacterial, pathogenic biofilm degradation potential but did not result in haemolysis of human red blood cells[42]. A cancer cell growth inhibitory potential of enterocins has been demonstrated, and apoptotic makers were observed in enterocin treated cancer cells including HeLa, HT-29, and AGS cells[42]. The mechanism of their effects on cancer is that cancer cells have more microvilli on their surface, which allows the membrane of cancer cells to bind large quantities of bacteriocins[43]; thus, Nisin A from *L. lactis* changes the integrity of the cancer cell membrane and obstructs the rearrangement of phospholipids, resulting in increased ion permeability[44]. These bacteriocins enable probiotics to treat enterobacterial infections in the gut and even some cancers.

Host cell circle regulators

Some oral bacteria disseminate into the colon and alter the composition of the microbiota in the colon, resulting in intestinal dysbiosis and possibly leading to colorectal cancer (CRC)[8]. FadA from *Fusobacterium nucleatum* drives CRC proliferation through E-cadherin and increases the expression of transcription factors and inflammatory genes *via* activation of β-catenin signaling[45]. Some bacterial proteins provide new strategies to treat cancer. An 8 kDa protein called p8 was isolated from *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (LR) KCTC 12202BP, which regulates the p53-p21-Cyclin B1/Cdk1 signaling pathway and causes cell growth arrest at the G2 phase in a dose-dependent manner[46]. Bacterial drug delivery systems are being applied to treat CRC. The p8 protein from *Pediococcus pentosaceus* SL4 (PP-p8) showed antiproliferative activity in a mouse CRC model[47]. Moreover, endogenous p8 expression was much more effective than exogenous recombinant- p8 expression. This makes gene therapy possible[47].

HPRP-A1 and its enantiomer HPRP-A2 are derived from ribosomal protein L1 (RpL1) of *Helicobacter pylori*[48]. These proteins can resist infection including fungi, bacteria, and parasites[49,50]. Moreover, they have anticancer potential, and both peptides lead to apoptosis *via* caspase-3-, caspase-8-, and caspase-9-dependent pathways and inhibit cancer cell growth by arresting the cell cycle at the G0/G1 phase and G2/M phase. HPRP-A1 and its enantiomer HPRP-A2 play an important role in the inhibition of gastrointestinal cancer[51-53].

Adhesion and invasion molecules

Fusobacterium nucleatum (Fn) is associated with CRC and promotes tumor formation. Fn is able to adhere to and invade intestinal endothelial cells by binding to adhesin FadA, a virulence factor from Fn[54]. FadA from E. coli enhances the connection between host epithelial cells and bacteria. FadA has two forms, anchored form (pre-FadA) and secreted form (mature FadA), thus the pre FadA-mFadA complex is regarded as a unique adhesin/invasin[54]. Fusobacterial lectin (Fap2) might mediate the binding of Fn to the host factor Gal-GalNAc in CRC, and Gal-GalNAc is highly expressed in human colorectal adenocarcinoma and metastases[55]. Other findings support that Fap2 of Fn not only leads to colonization but also facilitates tumor immunity evasion[55]. Fap2 directly binds to and activates TIGIT (an inhibitory receptor on human natural killer cells and different T cells), and the interaction between these two molecules inhibits the cytotoxicity of NK cells and the activities of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and T helper cells, increasing the immune evasion of tumor cells[56]. Fap2, as an apoptosis-inducing protein, also induces host lymphocyte apoptosis and destroys the host immune response, facilitating Fn survival[57]. Liu et al [58] identified outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) in Fn by LC/MS/MS analysis and identified several pathogenic proteins in OMVs, including FadA, Fap2, MORN2, YadA (Yersinia adhesin)-like protein, and autotransporter proteins[58]. The MORN2 domains of Fn may contribute to adhesion and active invasion[59]. Two YadA-like proteins exist in OMVs and outer membrane fractions, which reveal great adhesion ability[58]; therefore, YadA-like proteins are involved in resisting host immune defenses dependent on resisting serum killing activity and phagocytosis[60]. OMVs provide new insight into the research and development of vaccines against Fn[58].

Bacteroidetes is one of the most numerous Gram-negative bacteria in the mammalian gastrointestinal tract[61]. Cell envelope-associated multiprotein systems, namely, Sus (starch utilization system)-like systems[62], are abundant in *Bacteroides*. Polysaccharide utilization loci (PULs) in Sus-like systems are not only used to bind to and degrade dietary sugar[63], but they also encode a unique pathway, the *ccfA*-*E* genes, called commensal colonization factors (CCF systems) for species-specific saturable niche colonization[64]. Moreover, the CCF system is medicated by *B. fragilis* colonization during infection with *Citrobacter rodentium* and antibiotic treatment[64].

LGG has a very good mucus adhesive capacity compared to another *Lactobacillus strains*[65]. The LGG-specific SpaCBA pili are long and thin proteinaceous protrusions on bacterial surface, which involved in three pilin monomers: SpaA , SpaB, and SpaC [66]. The SpaCBA pili mediate adhesive capacity to mucus and contribute to biofilm formation[67]. Moreover, the SpaCBA pili may also regular immune response. The spaCBA knockout LGG had twofold increased IL-8 and some pro-inflammatory markers in Caco-2 cells compared to wild-type[67].

Intestinal barrier regulators

Under dysbiosis, increased permeability of the intestinal epithelium leads to lowgrade inflammation and metabolic dysfunctions[68]. However, according to the leaky gut hypothesis, if only the *F. prausnitzii* is present as a probiotic, it will not beneficial to the intestine health and dysbiosis-induced diseases but enter the bloodstream by passing though the gut barrier and may cause systemic consequences because of obesity and a high-fat diet (HFD)[69,70]. Moosavi *et al*[71] show that *F. prausnitzii* -derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) contain different proteins with a molecular weight of 11 to 245 kDa. Compared with *F. prausnitzii*, its EVs in the Caco-2 cell line significantly regulate the intestinal barrier permeability due to increasing the expression of the tight junction (TJ) protein encoding genes *ZO1* and *OCLN*, as well as *PPARa and PPARγ* genes and their targeted gene *ANGPTL4* at the mRNA level[71]. TJ proteins connect the adjacent epithelial cells and block the paracellular space in order to obstruct pathogens[72]. ANGPTL4 inhibits blood lipase lipoproteins in the bloodstream, which reduces the intake of free fatty acids and cholesterol into the tissues[73-76].

TcpC from EcN enhanced the intestinal barrier function by increasing the expression of the TJ proteins ZO-1, ZO-2, and claudin-14[77-79]. Moreover, the positive strains ECOR63 and ECOR57 increased the transepithelial electrical resistance (TER) in T-84 monolayers to strengthen the intestinal barrier[80]. In addition, OMVs and other soluble factors from these probiotic bacteria increase the upregulation of ZO-1 and claudin-14, but downregulation of claudin-2[81]. Raising claudin-2 levels lead to increased barrier permeability[82] and result in CD and UC[83,84]. OMVs and soluble factors, rather than TcpC, are able to strengthen the intestinal barrier[81].

SECONDARY KEY PROTEINS

Flagellin

Flagellin is a common conserved component of bacteria, and it induces both innate and specific immunity, showing a close relationship between dysbiosis and IBD[85], but flagellin of some probiotics has anti-inflammatory effects[86]. Flagellin is regarded as the major antigen in pathogenic bacteria. Flagellin binds with the patternrecognition receptor Toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5), inducing the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines[87]. Compared with healthy controls, both Crohn's disease (CD) and UC patients have a relative increase in the proportion of flagellin specific CD4+ T-cells. Cook *et al*^[85] found a positive correlation between the relative abundance of bacteria [Escherichia/Shigella and (Ruminococcus) gnavus group] in IBD patients and high concentrations of flagellin antibodies, including anti-Fla2 IgG and anti-Fla2 IgA[88]. Specifically, CBir1 flagellin has been associated with complicated CD, and enzymelinked immunosorbent assays proved that anti-CBir1 IgG is independently associated with CD[89]. Flagellin may provide a clinically novel approach to prevent pathogen infections, including vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus (VRE). Intestinal epithelial cells and Paneth cells secrete the antimicrobial protein (AMP) RegIIIy to kill microorganisms and directly respond to flagellin via the Toll-like receptor (TLR)-myeloid differentiation factor 88-mediated pathway [90]. Flagellin of EcN stimulates intestinal epithelial cells to produce human β -defensin 2 *via* three main MAP kinase pathways, including ERK1/2, JNK, and p38[91]. Bacterial flagellin also induces negative regulation of inflammation. Roseburia intestinalis (R. intestinalis), a dominant symbiotic microbiota in the intestine, suppresses inflammation by inducing Treg cells and upregulating anti-inflammatory cytokines. However, *R. intestinalis* is significantly reduced in CD patients[86]. Flagellin in R. intestinalis induces the expression of lncRNA (HIF1A-AS2) in a dose- and time-dependent manner via p38 STAT1 activation, and HIF1A-AS2 inhibits the expression of inflammatory genes by suppressing NF-kB signaling pathway activation[92].

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Outer membrane proteins

Some evidence linking intestinal dysbiosis with autoimmune diseases has shown that they are both associated with increased inflammation[93,94]. Bacterial outer membrane proteins are more likely to trigger an immune response, and the perinuclear antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (p-ANCA) present in many autoimmune diseases cross-reacts with outer membrane proteins. P-ANCA autoantibody is associated with UC. A p-ANCA monoclonal antibody detects outer membrane porins OmpC and OmpW expressed by colonic bacteria Bacteroides caccae and E. coli [95,96]. A structural relationship of the cross-reactive bacterial proteins and the p-ANCA autoantigen has been observed in IBD[95,96]. OmpC also enhances the adhesion and invasion of the CD-associated E. coli strain LF82 in intestinal epithelial cells through the sigma (E) regulatory pathway [97]. Fusobacterium nucleatum (Fn) has been found to be increased in the microbiota of diarrhea dominant IBS. The FomA protein is a major outer membrane protein of Fn[98]. The FomA of Fn is an immune adjuvant, which is a Tolllike receptor 2 (TLR2) agonist that induces upregulation of CD86 and MHC II in mice and primary B cells in vitro and antigen-specific antibody IgA and IgG secretion in vivo [99]. These characteristics enhance inflammation in the small intestine epithelium in both cell and mouse experiments^[99]. Fn causes microbial dysbiosis, exacerbates visceral hypersensitivity in a colonization-independent manner, and induces the specific IgA agonist FomA[100]. Moreover, FomA has been proven to be an antigen that stimulates the secretion of symptom-associated antibodies[100].

Other autoantibody-related antigens

Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) and autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) are frequently associated with chronic IBD, including UC and CD[101]. The immune reaction in PSCs is mediated by autoantibodies, including pANCA, that recognize both β-tubulin isotype 5 (TBB-5) and the bacterial antigen cell division protein FtsZ[102]. Human TBB-5 and FtsZ share a high degree of structural homology in evolutionarily conserved epitopes[103]. Moreover, B cells respond directly to microbial constituents in PSCs and AIH[104].

Helicobacter hepaticus (Hh) can induce intestinal inflammation in DC-LMP1/CD40 mice[105]. These immunodeficient mice lost intestinal CD103+ DCs and IL-10+ Helios-induced Tregs (iTregs) but had increased IL17+ IFN γ + Th17/Th1 cells and pathogenic IFN γ + Th1 cells[106,107]. They developed fetal colitis similar to human IBD, because CD40-CD40L interactions are connected with the pathogenesis of IBD [108,109]. A 60 kDa Hh-protein, GroEL, as the main antigen recognized by antibodies in an iTreg-free setting, triggers fatal colitis[110]. The bacterial GroEL and human heat shock protein 60 (Hsp60) share a high similarity and molecular mimicry[111,112], hence the antibodies cross-react with Hsp60 and GroEL, which contribute to IBD and autoimmune diseases[110].

CONCLUSION

Understanding the key bacterial proteins is significant to both the diagnosis and management of dysbiosis related diseases. For the incendiary proteins involved in autoimmune diseases and tumors, the presence of the specific marker in the microbiota or its specific antibodies might indicate the prognosis of diseases. The therapeutic value of targeting these markers would also be tempting. Knowing the key elements of microbiota could provide much more specific target than generally modulating the microbiota, which is super-high dimensional in taxonomy.

The current mainstream microbiome manipulation approaches are intensively investigated, including supplement of probiotics and prebiotics, and fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT). However, the probiotics should be strain-defined to gain standardized safety, dose, and effect; the adverse events associated with FMT have been found recently. The transplanted probiotics met indigenous microbiomemediated mucosal colonization resistance in mice and even a specific colonization resistance in a person-, strain-, and region- dependent manner in humans[113]. Our recent mathematical model studies also suggested intriguing behavior of microbiome in response to probiotic supplement[114]. For FMT, the risk of unknown infections is still inevitable even after rigorous tests on the donors. The specific microbial proteins are easier to be cloned, purified, tested, optimized, and standardized, which is crucial for the pharmacology. Furthermore, the natural beneficial bacterial proteins can be artificially engineered and optimized to maximum their mechanism. This review summarizes the pathogenic and therapeutic mechanisms of some bioactive microbial



proteins. This field is cutting edge, and there is a need for further studies to explore the role of the key gut microbial proteins in dysbiosis associated diseases.

REFERENCES

- Chen MX, Wang SY, Kuo CH, Tsai IL. Metabolome analysis for investigating host-gut microbiota interactions. J Formos Med Assoc 2019; 118 Suppl 1: S10-S22 [PMID: 30269936 DOI: 10.1016/j.jfma.2018.09.007]
- De Angelis M, Garruti G, Minervini F, Bonfrate L, Portincasa P, Gobbetti M. The Food-gut Human 2 Axis: The Effects of Diet on Gut Microbiota and Metabolome. Curr Med Chem 2019; 26: 3567-3583 [PMID: 28462705 DOI: 10.2174/0929867324666170428103848]
- 3 Dagnelie MA, Corvec S, Khammari A, Dréno B. Bacterial extracellular vesicles: A new way to decipher host-microbiota communications in inflammatory dermatoses. Exp Dermatol 2020; 29: 22-28 [PMID: 31633842 DOI: 10.1111/exd.14050]
- Lopetuso LR, Ianiro G, Scaldaferri F, Cammarota G, Gasbarrini A. Gut Virome and Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis 2016; 22: 1708-1712 [PMID: 27206017 DOI: 10.1097/MIB.000000000000807
- 5 Zuo T, Lu XJ, Zhang Y, Cheung CP, Lam S, Zhang F, Tang W, Ching JYL, Zhao R, Chan PKS, Sung JJY, Yu J, Chan FKL, Cao Q, Sheng JQ, Ng SC. Gut mucosal virome alterations in ulcerative colitis. Gut 2019; 68: 1169-1179 [PMID: 30842211 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2018-318131]
- 6 Marzano V, Mancinelli L, Bracaglia G, Del Chierico F, Vernocchi P, Di Girolamo F, Garrone S, Tchidjou Kuekou H, D'Argenio P, Dallapiccola B, Urbani A, Putignani L. "Omic" investigations of protozoa and worms for a deeper understanding of the human gut "parasitome". PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2017; 11: e0005916 [PMID: 29095820 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005916]
- 7 Srivastava A, Gupta J, Kumar S, Kumar A. Gut biofilm forming bacteria in inflammatory bowel disease. Microb Pathog 2017; 112: 5-14 [PMID: 28942174 DOI: 10.1016/j.micpath.2017.09.041]
- 8 Koliarakis I, Messaritakis I, Nikolouzakis TK, Hamilos G, Souglakos J, Tsiaoussis J. Oral Bacteria and Intestinal Dysbiosis in Colorectal Cancer. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20 [PMID: 31450675 DOI: 10.3390/ijms20174146]
- Sharma G, Sharma S, Sharma P, Chandola D, Dang S, Gupta S, Gabrani R. Escherichia coli biofilm: development and therapeutic strategies. J Appl Microbiol 2016; 121: 309-319 [PMID: 26811181 DOI: 10.1111/jam.13078]
- 10 Hancock V, Dahl M, Klemm P. Probiotic Escherichia coli strain Nissle 1917 outcompetes intestinal pathogens during biofilm formation. J Med Microbiol 2010; 59: 392-399 [PMID: 20110388 DOI: 10.1099/jmm.0.008672-0]
- 11 Fang K, Jin X, Hong SH. Probiotic Escherichia coli inhibits biofilm formation of pathogenic E. coli via extracellular activity of DegP. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 4939 [PMID: 29563542 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-23180-1]
- 12 Petrova MI, Imholz NC, Verhoeven TL, Balzarini J, Van Damme EJ, Schols D, Vanderleyden J, Lebeer S. Lectin-Like Molecules of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG Inhibit Pathogenic Escherichia coli and Salmonella Biofilm Formation. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0161337 [PMID: 27537843 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161337]
- 13 Pothoulakis C, Lamont JT. Microbes and microbial toxins: paradigms for microbial-mucosal interactions II. The integrated response of the intestine to Clostridium difficile toxins. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2001; 280: G178-G183 [PMID: 11208538 DOI: 10.1152/ajpgi.2001.280.2.G178]
- 14 McFarland LV. Meta-analysis of probiotics for the prevention of antibiotic associated diarrhea and the treatment of Clostridium difficile disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101: 812-822 [PMID: 16635227 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.2006.00465.x]
- 15 Castagliuolo I, LaMont JT, Nikulasson ST, Pothoulakis C. Saccharomyces boulardii protease inhibits Clostridium difficile toxin A effects in the rat ileum. Infect Immun 1996; 64: 5225-5232 [PMID: 8945570 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.64.12.5225-5232.1996]
- Moré MI, Swidsinski A. Saccharomyces boulardii CNCM I-745 supports regeneration of the 16 intestinal microbiota after diarrheic dysbiosis - a review. Clin Exp Gastroenterol 2015; 8: 237-255 [PMID: 26316791 DOI: 10.2147/CEG.S85574]
- 17 Wierstra I, Alves J. Cyclin E/Cdk2, P/CAF, and E1A regulate the transactivation of the c-myc promoter by FOXM1. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2008; 368: 107-115 [PMID: 18206647 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.01.039
- 18 Chen H, Liu H, Qing G. Targeting oncogenic Myc as a strategy for cancer treatment. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2018; 3: 5 [PMID: 29527331 DOI: 10.1038/s41392-018-0008-7]
- Butler DSC, Cafaro C, Putze J, Wan MLY, Tran TH, Ambite I, Ahmadi S, Kjellström S, Welinder 19 C, Chao SM, Dobrindt U, Svanborg C. A bacterial protease depletes c-MYC and increases survival in mouse models of bladder and colon cancer. Nat Biotechnol 2021 [PMID: 33574609 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-020-00805-3
- 20 Chevalier C, Stojanović O, Colin DJ, Suarez-Zamorano N, Tarallo V, Veyrat-Durebex C, Rigo D, Fabbiano S, Stevanović A, Hagemann S, Montet X, Seimbille Y, Zamboni N, Hapfelmeier S, Trajkovski M. Gut Microbiota Orchestrates Energy Homeostasis during Cold. Cell 2015; 163: 1360-



1374 [PMID: 26638070 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.11.004]

- 21 Yoon HS, Cho CH, Yun MS, Jang SJ, You HJ, Kim JH, Han D, Cha KH, Moon SH, Lee K, Kim YJ, Lee SJ, Nam TW, Ko G. Akkermansia muciniphila secretes a glucagon-like peptide-1-inducing protein that improves glucose homeostasis and ameliorates metabolic disease in mice. Nat Microbiol 2021; 6: 563-573 [PMID: 33820962 DOI: 10.1038/s41564-021-00880-5]
- 22 Ellingsgaard H, Hauselmann I, Schuler B, Habib AM, Baggio LL, Meier DT, Eppler E, Bouzakri K, Wueest S, Muller YD, Hansen AM, Reinecke M, Konrad D, Gassmann M, Reimann F, Halban PA, Gromada J, Drucker DJ, Gribble FM, Ehses JA, Donath MY. Interleukin-6 enhances insulin secretion by increasing glucagon-like peptide-1 secretion from L cells and alpha cells. Nat Med 2011; 17: 1481-1489 [PMID: 22037645 DOI: 10.1038/nm.2513]
- 23 Mowat AM. To respond or not to respond - a personal perspective of intestinal tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol 2018; 18: 405-415 [PMID: 29491358 DOI: 10.1038/s41577-018-0002-x]
- 24 Fernández-Tomé S, Montalban-Arques A, Díaz-Guerra A, Galvan-Roman JM, Marin AC, Mora-Gutiérrez I, Ortega Moreno L, Santander C, Sánchez B, Chaparro M, Gisbert JP, Bernardo D. Peptides encrypted in the human intestinal microbial-exoproteome as novel biomarkers and immunomodulatory compounds in the gastrointestinal tract. J Funct Foods 2019; 52: 459-468 [DOI: 10.1016/j.jff.2018.11.036]
- Fernández-Tomé S, Marin AC, Ortega Moreno L, Baldan-Martin M, Mora-Gutiérrez I, Lanas-25 Gimeno A, Moreno-Monteagudo JA, Santander C, Sánchez B, Chaparro M, Gisbert JP, Bernardo D. Immunomodulatory Effect of Gut Microbiota-Derived Bioactive Peptides on Human Immune System from Healthy Controls and Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Nutrients 2019; 11 [PMID: 31683517 DOI: 10.3390/nu11112605]
- 26 Quévrain E, Maubert MA, Michon C, Chain F, Marquant R, Tailhades J, Miquel S, Carlier L, Bermúdez-Humarán LG, Pigneur B, Lequin O, Kharrat P, Thomas G, Rainteau D, Aubry C, Breyner N, Afonso C, Lavielle S, Grill JP, Chassaing G, Chatel JM, Trugnan G, Xavier R, Langella P, Sokol H, Seksik P. Identification of an anti-inflammatory protein from Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, a commensal bacterium deficient in Crohn's disease. Gut 2016; 65: 415-425 [PMID: 26045134 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307649]
- 27 Breyner NM, Michon C, de Sousa CS, Vilas Boas PB, Chain F, Azevedo VA, Langella P, Chatel JM. Microbial Anti-Inflammatory Molecule (MAM) from Faecalibacterium prausnitzii Shows a Protective Effect on DNBS and DSS-Induced Colitis Model in Mice through Inhibition of NF-κB Pathway. Front Microbiol 2017; 8: 114 [PMID: 28203226 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00114]
- Quévrain E, Maubert MA, Sokol H, Devreese B, Seksik P. The presence of the anti-inflammatory 28 protein MAM, from Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, in the intestinal ecosystem. Gut 2016; 65: 882 [PMID: 26669616 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-311094]
- Yin M, Yan X, Weng W, Yang Y, Gao R, Liu M, Pan C, Zhu Q, Li H, Wei Q, Shen T, Ma Y, Qin H. Micro Integral Membrane Protein (MIMP), a Newly Discovered Anti-Inflammatory Protein of Lactobacillus Plantarum, Enhances the Gut Barrier and Modulates Microbiota and Inflammatory Cytokines. Cell Physiol Biochem 2018; 45: 474-490 [PMID: 29402771 DOI: 10.1159/000487027]
- 30 He X, Gao J, Peng L, Hu T, Wan Y, Zhou M, Zhen P, Cao H. Bacterial O-GlcNAcase genes abundance decreases in ulcerative colitis patients and its administration ameliorates colitis in mice. Gut 2020 [PMID: 33310751 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322468]
- Martinez FA, Balciunas EM, Converti A, Cotter PD, de Souza Oliveira RP. Bacteriocin production 31 by Bifidobacterium spp. A review. Biotechnol Adv 2013; 31: 482-488 [PMID: 23384878 DOI: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.01.010]
- 32 Klaenhammer TR. Genetics of bacteriocins produced by lactic acid bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Rev 1993; 12: 39-85 [PMID: 8398217 DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.1993.tb00012.x]
- 33 Riley MA, Wertz JE. Bacteriocin diversity: ecological and evolutionary perspectives. Biochimie 2002; 84: 357-364 [PMID: 12423779 DOI: 10.1016/s0300-9084(02)01421-9]
- Collado MC, Hernández M, Sanz Y. Production of bacteriocin-like inhibitory compounds by human 34 fecal Bifidobacterium strains. J Food Prot 2005; 68: 1034-1040 [PMID: 15895738 DOI: 10.4315/0362-028x-68.5.1034]
- Riley MA, Wertz JE. Bacteriocins: evolution, ecology, and application. Annu Rev Microbiol 2002; 35 56: 117-137 [PMID: 12142491 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.micro.56.012302.161024]
- 36 Lee H, Kim HY. Lantibiotics, class I bacteriocins from the genus Bacillus. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2011; 21: 229-235 [PMID: 21464591]
- 37 Sahl HG, Bierbaum G. Lantibiotics: biosynthesis and biological activities of uniquely modified peptides from gram-positive bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol 1998; 52: 41-79 [PMID: 9891793 DOI: 10.1146/annurev.micro.52.1.41
- 38 Millette M, Cornut G, Dupont C, Shareck F, Archambault D, Lacroix M. Capacity of human nisinand pediocin-producing lactic Acid bacteria to reduce intestinal colonization by vancomycinresistant enterococci. Appl Environ Microbiol 2008; 74: 1997-2003 [PMID: 18245231 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.02150-07
- 39 Sassone-Corsi M, Nuccio SP, Liu H, Hernandez D, Vu CT, Takahashi AA, Edwards RA, Raffatellu M. Microcins mediate competition among Enterobacteriaceae in the inflamed gut. Nature 2016; 540: 280-283 [PMID: 27798599 DOI: 10.1038/nature20557]
- 40 Patzer SI, Baquero MR, Bravo D, Moreno F, Hantke K. The colicin G, H and X determinants encode microcins M and H47, which might utilize the catecholate siderophore receptors FepA, Cir, Fiu and IroN. Microbiology (Reading) 2003; 149: 2557-2570 [PMID: 12949180 DOI:



10.1099/mic.0.26396-0]

- 41 Casaus P, Nilsen T, Cintas LM, Nes IF, Hernández PE, Holo H. Enterocin B, a new bacteriocin from Enterococcus faecium T136 which can act synergistically with enterocin A. Microbiology (Reading) 1997; 143 (Pt 7): 2287-2294 [PMID: 9245817 DOI: 10.1099/00221287-143-7-2287]
- 42 Ankaiah D, Palanichamy E, Antonyraj CB, Ayyanna R, Perumal V, Ahamed SIB, Arul V. Cloning, overexpression, purification of bacteriocin enterocin-B and structural analysis, interaction determination of enterocin-A. B against pathogenic bacteria and human cancer cells. Int J Biol Macromol 2018; 116: 502-512 [PMID: 29729340 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.05.002]
- 43 Chan SC, Hui L, Chen HM. Enhancement of the cytolytic effect of anti-bacterial cecropin by the microvilli of cancer cells. Anticancer Res 1998; 18: 4467-4474 [PMID: 9891511]
- 44 Joo NE, Ritchie K, Kamarajan P, Miao D, Kapila YL. Nisin, an apoptogenic bacteriocin and food preservative, attenuates HNSCC tumorigenesis via CHAC1. Cancer Med 2012; 1: 295-305 [PMID: 23342279 DOI: 10.1002/cam4.35]
- Rubinstein MR, Wang X, Liu W, Hao Y, Cai G, Han YW. Fusobacterium nucleatum promotes 45 colorectal carcinogenesis by modulating E-cadherin/β-catenin signaling via its FadA adhesin. Cell Host Microbe 2013; 14: 195-206 [PMID: 23954158 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.07.012]
- An BC, Hong S, Park HJ, Kim BK, Ahn JY, Ryu Y, An JH, Chung MJ. Anti-Colorectal Cancer 46 Effects of Probiotic-Derived p8 Protein. Genes (Basel) 2019; 10 [PMID: 31430963 DOI: 10.3390/genes10080624]
- 47 An BC, Ryu Y, Yoon YS, Choi O, Park HJ, Kim TY, Kim SI, Kim BK, Chung MJ. Colorectal Cancer Therapy Using a Pediococcus pentosaceus SL4 Drug Delivery System Secreting Lactic Acid Bacteria-Derived Protein p8. Mol Cells 2019; 42: 755-762 [PMID: 31707776 DOI: 10.14348/molcells.2019.0064]
- 48 Pütsep K, Brändén CI, Boman HG, Normark S. Antibacterial peptide from H. pylori. Nature 1999; **398**: 671-672 [PMID: 10227288 DOI: 10.1038/19439]
- 49 Liu R, Ni Y, Song J, Xu Z, Qiu J, Wang L, Zhu Y, Huang Y, Ji M, Chen Y. Research on the effect and mechanism of antimicrobial peptides HPRP-A1/A2 work against Toxoplasma gondii infection. Parasite Immunol 2019; 41: e12619 [PMID: 30788848 DOI: 10.1111/pim.12619]
- Zhu J, Huang Y, Chen M, Hu C, Chen Y. Functional Synergy Of Antimicrobial Peptides And 50 Chlorhexidine Acetate Against Gram-Negative/Gram-Positive Bacteria And A Fungus In Vitro And In Vivo. Infect Drug Resist 2019; 12: 3227-3239 [PMID: 31686873 DOI: 10.2147/IDR.S218778]
- 51 Cho E, Lee JK, Park E, Seo CH, Luchian T, Park Y. Antitumor activity of HPA3P through RIPK3dependent regulated necrotic cell death in colon cancer. Oncotarget 2018; 9: 7902-7917 [PMID: 29487701 DOI: 10.18632/oncotarget.24083]
- 52 Hu C, Chen X, Huang Y, Chen Y. Synergistic effect of the pro-apoptosis peptide kla-TAT and the cationic anticancer peptide HPRP-A1. Apoptosis 2018; 23: 132-142 [PMID: 29397453 DOI: 10.1007/s10495-018-1443-11
- 53 Hao W, Hu C, Huang Y, Chen Y. Coadministration of kla peptide with HPRP-A1 to enhance anticancer activity. PLoS One 2019; 14: e0223738 [PMID: 31703065 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0223738
- 54 Xu M, Yamada M, Li M, Liu H, Chen SG, Han YW. FadA from Fusobacterium nucleatum utilizes both secreted and nonsecreted forms for functional oligomerization for attachment and invasion of host cells. J Biol Chem 2007; 282: 25000-25009 [PMID: 17588948 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M611567200]
- 55 Abed J, Emgård JE, Zamir G, Faroja M, Almogy G, Grenov A, Sol A, Naor R, Pikarsky E, Atlan KA, Mellul A, Chaushu S, Manson AL, Earl AM, Ou N, Brennan CA, Garrett WS, Bachrach G. Fap2 Mediates Fusobacterium nucleatum Colorectal Adenocarcinoma Enrichment by Binding to Tumor-Expressed Gal-GalNAc. Cell Host Microbe 2016; 20: 215-225 [PMID: 27512904 DOI: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.006
- 56 Gur C, Ibrahim Y, Isaacson B, Yamin R, Abed J, Gamliel M, Enk J, Bar-On Y, Stanietsky-Kaynan N, Coppenhagen-Glazer S, Shussman N, Almogy G, Cuapio A, Hofer E, Mevorach D, Tabib A, Ortenberg R, Markel G, Miklić K, Jonjic S, Brennan CA, Garrett WS, Bachrach G, Mandelboim O. Binding of the Fap2 protein of Fusobacterium nucleatum to human inhibitory receptor TIGIT protects tumors from immune cell attack. Immunity 2015; 42: 344-355 [PMID: 25680274 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.010]
- 57 Kaplan CW, Lux R, Huynh T, Jewett A, Shi W, Haake SK. Fusobacterium nucleatum apoptosisinducing outer membrane protein. J Dent Res 2005; 84: 700-704 [PMID: 16040725 DOI: 10.1177/154405910508400803
- 58 Liu J, Hsieh CL, Gelincik O, Devolder B, Sei S, Zhang S, Lipkin SM, Chang YF. Proteomic characterization of outer membrane vesicles from gut mucosa-derived fusobacterium nucleatum. J Proteomics 2019; 195: 125-137 [PMID: 30634002 DOI: 10.1016/j.jprot.2018.12.029]
- 59 Manson McGuire A, Cochrane K, Griggs AD, Haas BJ, Abeel T, Zeng Q, Nice JB, MacDonald H, Birren BW, Berger BW, Allen-Vercoe E, Earl AM. Evolution of invasion in a diverse set of Fusobacterium species. *mBio* 2014; **5**: e01864 [PMID: 25370491 DOI: 10.1128/mBio.01864-14]
- 60 Heise T, Dersch P. Identification of a domain in Yersinia virulence factor YadA that is crucial for extracellular matrix-specific cell adhesion and uptake. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103: 3375-3380 [PMID: 16488979 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0507749103]
- Eckburg PB, Bik EM, Bernstein CN, Purdom E, Dethlefsen L, Sargent M, Gill SR, Nelson KE, 61 Relman DA. Diversity of the human intestinal microbial flora. Science 2005; 308: 1635-1638 [PMID: 15831718 DOI: 10.1126/science.1110591]



- 62 Martens EC, Koropatkin NM, Smith TJ, Gordon JI. Complex glycan catabolism by the human gut microbiota: the Bacteroidetes Sus-like paradigm. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 24673-24677 [PMID: 19553672 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.R109.022848]
- 63 Koropatkin NM, Cameron EA, Martens EC. How glycan metabolism shapes the human gut microbiota. Nat Rev Microbiol 2012; 10: 323-335 [PMID: 22491358 DOI: 10.1038/nrmicro2746]
- Lee SM, Donaldson GP, Mikulski Z, Boyajian S, Ley K, Mazmanian SK. Bacterial colonization 64 factors control specificity and stability of the gut microbiota. Nature 2013; 501: 426-429 [PMID: 23955152 DOI: 10.1038/nature12447]
- 65 Tuomola EM, Ouwehand AC, Salminen SJ. The effect of probiotic bacteria on the adhesion of pathogens to human intestinal mucus. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1999; 26: 137-142 [PMID: 10536300 DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.1999.tb01381.x]
- 66 Segers ME, Lebeer S. Towards a better understanding of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG--host interactions. Microb Cell Fact 2014; 13 Suppl 1: S7 [PMID: 25186587 DOI: 10.1186/1475-2859-13-S1-S7
- 67 Lebeer S, Claes I, Tytgat HL, Verhoeven TL, Marien E, von Ossowski I, Reunanen J, Palva A, Vos WM, Keersmaecker SC, Vanderleyden J. Functional analysis of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG pili in relation to adhesion and immunomodulatory interactions with intestinal epithelial cells. Appl Environ Microbiol 2012; 78: 185-193 [PMID: 22020518 DOI: 10.1128/AEM.06192-11]
- Ahmadi Badi S, Moshiri A, Fateh A, Rahimi Jamnani F, Sarshar M, Vaziri F, Siadat SD. 68 Microbiota-Derived Extracellular Vesicles as New Systemic Regulators. Front Microbiol 2017; 8: 1610 [PMID: 28883815 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01610]
- Maguire M, Maguire G. Gut dysbiosis, leaky gut, and intestinal epithelial proliferation in neurological disorders: towards the development of a new therapeutic using amino acids, prebiotics, probiotics, and postbiotics. Rev Neurosci 2019; 30: 179-201 [PMID: 30173208 DOI: 10.1515/revneuro-2018-0024]
- 70 Camilleri M. Leaky gut: mechanisms, measurement and clinical implications in humans. Gut 2019; 68: 1516-1526 [PMID: 31076401 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2019-318427]
- 71 Moosavi SM, Akhavan Sepahi A, Mousavi SF, Vaziri F, Siadat SD. The effect of Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and its extracellular vesicles on the permeability of intestinal epithelial cells and expression of PPARs and ANGPTL4 in the Caco-2 cell culture model. J Diabetes Metab Disord 2020; 19: 1061-1069 [PMID: 33520823 DOI: 10.1007/s40200-020-00605-1]
- 72 Ulluwishewa D, Anderson RC, McNabb WC, Moughan PJ, Wells JM, Roy NC. Regulation of tight junction permeability by intestinal bacteria and dietary components. J Nutr 2011; 141: 769-776 [PMID: 21430248 DOI: 10.3945/jn.110.135657]
- Shan L, Yu XC, Liu Z, Hu Y, Sturgis LT, Miranda ML, Liu Q. The angiopoietin-like proteins 73 ANGPTL3 and ANGPTL4 inhibit lipoprotein lipase activity through distinct mechanisms. J Biol Chem 2009; 284: 1419-1424 [PMID: 19028676 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M808477200]
- Yoshida K, Shimizugawa T, Ono M, Furukawa H. Angiopoietin-like protein 4 is a potent hyperlipidemia-inducing factor in mice and inhibitor of lipoprotein lipase. J Lipid Res 2002; 43: 1770-1772 [PMID: 12401877 DOI: 10.1194/jlr.c200010-jlr200]
- 75 Mandard S, Zandbergen F, van Straten E, Wahli W, Kuipers F, Müller M, Kersten S. The fastinginduced adipose factor/angiopoietin-like protein 4 is physically associated with lipoproteins and governs plasma lipid levels and adiposity. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 934-944 [PMID: 16272564 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M506519200
- 76 Sukonina V, Lookene A, Olivecrona T, Olivecrona G. Angiopoietin-like protein 4 converts lipoprotein lipase to inactive monomers and modulates lipase activity in adipose tissue. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103: 17450-17455 [PMID: 17088546 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0604026103]
- 77 Hering NA, Richter JF, Fromm A, Wieser A, Hartmann S, Günzel D, Bücker R, Fromm M, Schulzke JD, Troeger H. TcpC protein from E. coli Nissle improves epithelial barrier function involving PKCζ and ERK1/2 signaling in HT-29/B6 cells. Mucosal Immunol 2014; 7: 369-378 [PMID: 23900194 DOI: 10.1038/mi.2013.55]
- 78 Ukena SN, Singh A, Dringenberg U, Engelhardt R, Seidler U, Hansen W, Bleich A, Bruder D, Franzke A, Rogler G, Suerbaum S, Buer J, Gunzer F, Westendorf AM. Probiotic Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 inhibits leaky gut by enhancing mucosal integrity. PLoS One 2007; 2: e1308 [PMID: 18074031 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001308]
- Zyrek AA, Cichon C, Helms S, Enders C, Sonnenborn U, Schmidt MA. Molecular mechanisms 79 underlying the probiotic effects of Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 involve ZO-2 and PKCzeta redistribution resulting in tight junction and epithelial barrier repair. Cell Microbiol 2007; 9: 804-816 [PMID: 17087734 DOI: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00836.x]
- 80 Toloza L, Giménez R, Fábrega MJ, Alvarez CS, Aguilera L, Cañas MA, Martín-Venegas R, Badia J, Baldomà L. The secreted autotransporter toxin (Sat) does not act as a virulence factor in the probiotic Escherichia coli strain Nissle 1917. BMC Microbiol 2015; 15: 250 [PMID: 26518156 DOI: 10.1186/s12866-015-0591-5
- Alvarez CS, Badia J, Bosch M, Giménez R, Baldomà L. Outer Membrane Vesicles and Soluble Factors Released by Probiotic Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 and Commensal ECOR63 Enhance Barrier Function by Regulating Expression of Tight Junction Proteins in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. Front Microbiol 2016; 7: 1981 [PMID: 28018313 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01981]
- 82 Luettig J, Rosenthal R, Barmeyer C, Schulzke JD. Claudin-2 as a mediator of leaky gut barrier during intestinal inflammation. Tissue Barriers 2015; 3: e977176 [PMID: 25838982 DOI:



10.4161/21688370.2014.977176

- 83 Hering NA, Fromm M, Schulzke JD. Determinants of colonic barrier function in inflammatory bowel disease and potential therapeutics. J Physiol 2012; 590: 1035-1044 [PMID: 22219336 DOI: 10.1113/jphysiol.2011.224568
- 84 Landy J, Ronde E, English N, Clark SK, Hart AL, Knight SC, Ciclitira PJ, Al-Hassi HO. Tight junctions in inflammatory bowel diseases and inflammatory bowel disease associated colorectal cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2016; 22: 3117-3126 [PMID: 27003989 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i11.3117]
- 85 Cook L, Lisko DJ, Wong MQ, Garcia RV, Himmel ME, Seidman EG, Bressler B, Levings MK, Steiner TS. Analysis of Flagellin-Specific Adaptive Immunity Reveals Links to Dysbiosis in Patients With Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 9: 485-506 [PMID: 31790809 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.11.012]
- 86 Shen Z, Zhu C, Quan Y, Yang J, Yuan W, Yang Z, Wu S, Luo W, Tan B, Wang X. Insights into Roseburia intestinalis which alleviates experimental colitis pathology by inducing anti-inflammatory responses. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 33: 1751-1760 [PMID: 29532517 DOI: 10.1111/jgh.14144]
- 87 Means TK, Hayashi F, Smith KD, Aderem A, Luster AD. The Toll-like receptor 5 stimulus bacterial flagellin induces maturation and chemokine production in human dendritic cells. J Immunol 2003; 170: 5165-5175 [PMID: 12734364 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.10.5165]
- 88 Lodes MJ, Cong Y, Elson CO, Mohamath R, Landers CJ, Targan SR, Fort M, Hershberg RM. Bacterial flagellin is a dominant antigen in Crohn disease. J Clin Invest 2004; 113: 1296-1306 [PMID: 15124021 DOI: 10.1172/JCI20295]
- 89 Targan SR, Landers CJ, Yang H, Lodes MJ, Cong Y, Papadakis KA, Vasiliauskas E, Elson CO, Hershberg RM. Antibodies to CBir1 flagellin define a unique response that is associated independently with complicated Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology 2005; 128: 2020-2028 [PMID: 15940634 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.03.046]
- 90 Kinnebrew MA, Ubeda C, Zenewicz LA, Smith N, Flavell RA, Pamer EG. Bacterial flagellin stimulates Toll-like receptor 5-dependent defense against vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus infection. J Infect Dis 2010; 201: 534-543 [PMID: 20064069 DOI: 10.1086/650203]
- Schlee M, Wehkamp J, Altenhoefer A, Oelschlaeger TA, Stange EF, Fellermann K. Induction of 91 human beta-defensin 2 by the probiotic Escherichia coli Nissle 1917 is mediated through flagellin. Infect Immun 2007; 75: 2399-2407 [PMID: 17283097 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.01563-06]
- Quan Y, Song K, Zhang Y, Zhu C, Shen Z, Wu S, Luo W, Tan B, Yang Z, Wang X. Roseburia intestinalis-derived flagellin is a negative regulator of intestinal inflammation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2018; 501: 791-799 [PMID: 29772233 DOI: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.05.075]
- 93 Wu HJ, Wu E. The role of gut microbiota in immune homeostasis and autoimmunity. Gut Microbes 2012; 3: 4-14 [PMID: 22356853 DOI: 10.4161/gmic.19320]
- de Oliveira GLV, Leite AZ, Higuchi BS, Gonzaga MI, Mariano VS. Intestinal dysbiosis and 94 probiotic applications in autoimmune diseases. Immunology 2017; 152: 1-12 [PMID: 28556916 DOI: 10.1111/imm.12765]
- 95 Cohavy O, Bruckner D, Gordon LK, Misra R, Wei B, Eggena ME, Targan SR, Braun J. Colonic bacteria express an ulcerative colitis pANCA-related protein epitope. Infect Immun 2000; 68: 1542-1548 [PMID: 10678972 DOI: 10.1128/iai.68.3.1542-1548.2000]
- Wei B, Dalwadi H, Gordon LK, Landers C, Bruckner D, Targan SR, Braun J. Molecular cloning of a 96 Bacteroides caccae TonB-linked outer membrane protein identified by an inflammatory bowel disease marker antibody. Infect Immun 2001; 69: 6044-6054 [PMID: 11553542 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.69.10.6044-6054.2001
- 97 Rolhion N, Carvalho FA, Darfeuille-Michaud A. OmpC and the sigma(E) regulatory pathway are involved in adhesion and invasion of the Crohn's disease-associated Escherichia coli strain LF82. Mol Microbiol 2007; 63: 1684-1700 [PMID: 17367388 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05638.x]
- Bolstad AI, Jensen HB, Bakken V. Taxonomy, biology, and periodontal aspects of Fusobacterium 98 nucleatum. Clin Microbiol Rev 1996; 9: 55-71 [PMID: 8665477 DOI: 10.1128/CMR.9.1.55-71.1996
- 99 Toussi DN, Liu X, Massari P. The FomA porin from Fusobacterium nucleatum is a Toll-like receptor 2 agonist with immune adjuvant activity. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2012; 19: 1093-1101 [PMID: 22623652 DOI: 10.1128/CVI.00236-12]
- 100 Gu X, Song LJ, Li LX, Liu T, Zhang MM, Li Z, Wang P, Li M, Zuo XL. Fusobacterium nucleatum Causes Microbial Dysbiosis and Exacerbates Visceral Hypersensitivity in a Colonization-Independent Manner. Front Microbiol 2020; 11: 1281 [PMID: 32733392 DOI: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01281]
- 101 Broomé U, Bergquist A. Primary sclerosing cholangitis, inflammatory bowel disease, and colon cancer. Semin Liver Dis 2006; 26: 31-41 [PMID: 16496231 DOI: 10.1055/s-2006-933561]
- 102 Tripathi A, Debelius J, Brenner DA, Karin M, Loomba R, Schnabl B, Knight R. The gut-liver axis and the intersection with the microbiome. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 15: 397-411 [PMID: 29748586 DOI: 10.1038/s41575-018-0011-z]
- 103 Terjung B, Söhne J, Lechtenberg B, Gottwein J, Muennich M, Herzog V, Mähler M, Sauerbruch T, Spengler U. p-ANCAs in autoimmune liver disorders recognise human beta-tubulin isotype 5 and cross-react with microbial protein FtsZ. Gut 2010; 59: 808-816 [PMID: 19951907 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2008.157818



- 104 Terjung B, Spengler U. Atypical p-ANCA in PSC and AIH: a hint toward a "leaky gut"? Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2009; 36: 40-51 [PMID: 18626795 DOI: 10.1007/s12016-008-8088-8]
- 105 Cahill RJ, Foltz CJ, Fox JG, Dangler CA, Powrie F, Schauer DB. Inflammatory bowel disease: an immunity-mediated condition triggered by bacterial infection with Helicobacter hepaticus. Infect Immun 1997; 65: 3126-3131 [PMID: 9234764 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.65.8.3126-3131.1997]
- 106 Barthels C, Ogrinc A, Steyer V, Meier S, Simon F, Wimmer M, Blutke A, Straub T, Zimber-Strobl U, Lutgens E, Marconi P, Ohnmacht C, Garzetti D, Stecher B, Brocker T. CD40-signalling abrogates induction of RORyt+ Treg cells by intestinal CD103+ DCs and causes fatal colitis. Nat Commun 2017; 8: 14715 [PMID: 28276457 DOI: 10.1038/ncomms14715]
- 107 Kusters P, Seijkens T, Bürger C, Legein B, Winkels H, Gijbels M, Barthels C, Bennett R, Beckers L, Atzler D, Biessen E, Brocker T, Weber C, Gerdes N, Lutgens E. Constitutive CD40 Signaling in Dendritic Cells Limits Atherosclerosis by Provoking Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Ensuing Cholesterol Malabsorption. Am J Pathol 2017; 187: 2912-2919 [PMID: 28935569 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017.08.016]
- Ludwiczek O, Kaser A, Tilg H. Plasma levels of soluble CD40 Ligand are elevated in inflammatory 108 bowel diseases. Int J Colorectal Dis 2003; 18: 142-147 [PMID: 12548417 DOI: 10.1007/s00384-002-0425-4
- Danese S, Sans M, Fiocchi C. The CD40/CD40L costimulatory pathway in inflammatory bowel 109 disease. Gut 2004; 53: 1035-1043 [PMID: 15194658 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2003.026278]
- Friedrich V, Forné I, Matzek D, Ring D, Popper B, Jochum L, Spriewald S, Straub T, Imhof A, 110 Krug A, Stecher B, Brocker T. Helicobacter hepaticus is required for immune targeting of bacterial heat shock protein 60 and fatal colitis in mice. Gut Microbes 2021; 13: 1-20 [PMID: 33550886 DOI: 10.1080/19490976.2021.1882928
- 111 Füst G, Uray K, Bene L, Hudecz F, Karádi I, Prohászka Z. Comparison of epitope specificity of anti-heat shock protein 60/65 IgG type antibodies in the sera of healthy subjects, patients with coronary heart disease and inflammatory bowel disease. Cell Stress Chaperones 2012; 17: 215-227 [PMID: 22038196 DOI: 10.1007/s12192-011-0301-7]
- 112 Bachmaier K, Penninger JM. Chlamydia and Antigenic Mimicry. In: Oldstone M, editor. Molecular Mimicry: Infection-Inducing Autoimmune Disease. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2005: 153-163
- 113 Zmora N, Zilberman-Schapira G, Suez J, Mor U, Dori-Bachash M, Bashiardes S, Kotler E, Zur M, Regev-Lehavi D, Brik RB, Federici S, Cohen Y, Linevsky R, Rothschild D, Moor AE, Ben-Moshe S, Harmelin A, Itzkovitz S, Maharshak N, Shibolet O, Shapiro H, Pevsner-Fischer M, Sharon I, Halpern Z, Segal E, Elinav E. Personalized Gut Mucosal Colonization Resistance to Empiric Probiotics Is Associated with Unique Host and Microbiome Features. Cell 2018; 174: 1388-1405.e21 [PMID: 30193112 DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.08.041]
- 114 Li M, Xu R, Li YQ. Sequential laxative-probiotic usage for treatment of irritable bowel syndrome: a novel method inspired by mathematical modelling of the microbiome. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 19291 [PMID: 33168839 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-75225-z]



W J M

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 144-159

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.144

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

Connecting inorganic mercury and lead measurements in blood to dietary sources of exposure that may impact child development

Renee J Dufault, Mesay M Wolle, H M Skip Kingston, Steven G Gilbert, Joseph A Murray

ORCID number: Renee J Dufault 0000-0002-8299-3768; Mesay M Wolle 0000-0001-5586-6643; H M Skip Kingston 0000-0002-3706-4193; Steven G Gilbert 0000-0002-0087-3974; Joseph A Murray 0000-0003-1941-9090.

Author contributions: Dufault RJ wrote all but one section of the manuscript and created the figure, and supplementary material; Wolle MM wrote the analytical methods section and created the table; Kingston HMS, Gilbert SG, and Murray JA contributed to the format design and revision of the manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflict of interests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Renee J Dufault, H M Skip Kingston, Steven G Gilbert, Food Ingredient and Health Research Institute, Naalehu, HI 96772, United States

Renee J Dufault, College of Graduate Health Studies, A.T. Still University, Kirksville, MO 63501, United States

Mesay M Wolle, H M Skip Kingston, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Duquesne University, Pittsburgh, PA 15282, United States

Steven G Gilbert, Institute of Neurotoxicology and Neurological Disorders, Seattle, WA 98105, United States

Joseph A Murray, Division of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN 55905, United States

Corresponding author: Renee J Dufault, PhD, Doctor, Food Ingredient and Health Research Institute, Ocean View, Naalehu, HI 96772, United States. rdufault@foodingredient.info

Abstract

Pre-natal and post-natal chemical exposures and co-exposures from a variety of sources including contaminated air, water, soil, and food are common and associated with poorer birth and child health outcomes. Poor diet is a contributing factor in the development of child behavioral disorders. Child behavior and learning can be adversely impacted when gene expression is altered by dietary transcription factors such as zinc insufficiency or deficiency or by exposure to toxic substances permitted in our food supply such as mercury, lead, or organophosphate pesticide residue. Children with autism spectrum disorder and attention deficit hyperactivity disorders exhibit decreased or impaired PON1 gene activity which is needed by the body to metabolize and excrete neurotoxic organophosphate pesticides. In this current review we present an updated macroepigenetic model that explains how dietary inorganic mercury and lead exposures from unhealthy diet may lead to elevated blood mercury and/or lead levels and the development of symptoms associated with the autism and attention deficithyperactivity disorders. PON1 gene activity may be suppressed by inadequate dietary calcium, selenium, and fatty acid intake or exposures to lead or mercury. The model may assist clinicians in diagnosing and treating the symptoms associated with these childhood neurodevelopmental disorders. Recommendations for future research are provided based on the updated model and review of recently published literature.



Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Public,

environmental and occupational health

Country/Territory of origin: United States

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 28, 2021 Peer-review started: January 28, 2021 First decision: May 14, 2021 Revised: May 27, 2021 Accepted: June 16, 2021 Article in press: June 16, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Yen TH S-Editor: Ma YI L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



Key Words: Autism; Paraoxonase 1; Selenium; Inorganic mercury; Lead; Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Connecting inorganic mercury and lead measurements in blood to dietary sources of exposure that may impact child development is a challenge. Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) diagnoses and treatment efficacy may include the collection of the biomarker measurements of selenium, mercury, and lead levels in red blood cells and behavioral checklist data before and after healthy dietary interventions. We discuss the analytical measurement methods for determining mercury and lead levels in blood and how these biomarkers have been used in ASD and ADHD studies with and without dietary intervention.

Citation: Dufault RJ, Wolle MM, Kingston HMS, Gilbert SG, Murray JA. Connecting inorganic mercury and lead measurements in blood to dietary sources of exposure that may impact child development. World J Methodol 2021; 11(4): 144-159

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/144.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.144

INTRODUCTION

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are neurodevelopmental disorders that are diagnosed according to behavior descriptions outlined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) published by the American Psychiatric Association (APA). The conditions are similar in that children with either diagnosis have difficulty functioning in a social environment^[1]. While a child with ASD may find it difficult to verbally hold a reciprocal conversation with a peer, a child with ADHD may talk excessively or interrupt his classmate during a discussion[1]. Children with either diagnosis often have difficulty in school settings where there are established rules for acceptable behaviors in and out of the classroom. While a child with ASD may become distressed when it is time to transition to another school activity, a child with ADHD may have difficulty standing still in the recess lines[1]. Children with either diagnosis often fail to develop and maintain appropriate peer relationships and have difficulty learning in the general education school environment. In the United States (U.S.), children with ASD or ADHD are eligible to receive special education and related services under federal law to help them achieve their learning goals[2].

Although the causes of ASD and ADHD remain unknown, there is strong evidence to suggest mercury and lead exposures are significant factors in their etiology. Regarding ADHD, He et al[3] found seven case-control studies in a literature review of the effects of blood lead levels in children with ADHD symptoms. The case groups showed significant increases in ADHD symptoms with blood lead measurements and, in some cases, at levels $< 3 \mu g/dL[3]$. This finding is alarming given the fact the United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) only uses a 5 µg/dL reference value for blood lead levels to identify children who have been exposed to lead[4]. In a separate review of seventeen studies published in the last five years, Donzelli *et al*^[5] determined there is a positive association between lead exposure and ADHD and even low levels of blood lead are of concern. Regarding ASD, Saghazadeh and Rezaei^[6] identified 48 studies in a review of the literature for use in assessing the role of heavy metals in the etiology of ASD. They found children with ASD had higher erythrocyte levels of lead and mercury and significantly higher blood lead levels compared to controls[6]. Jafari *et al*[7] focused their review and analysis exclusively on mercury measurements reported in 44 studies. They found mercury levels in whole blood and red blood cells were significantly higher in patients with autism compared to healthy subjects^[7]. Jafari *et al*^[7] concluded that their results revealed mercury to be an important causal factor in ASD with its accumulation in blood tissue likely due to impaired mercury detoxification and excretory mechanisms. The United States CDC



currently has no reference value for blood mercury levels to identify children at risk of autism.

A mercury toxicity model introduced previously in 2009 by Dufault et al[8] provides a macroepigenetic explanation of how child neurodevelopment can be adversely impacted when dietary transcription factors such as zinc deficiency or exposures to heavy metals interfere with the expression of the zinc dependent metallothionein (MT) gene. The MT gene produces the metal binding protein metallothionein that makes it possible for the body to excrete the neurotoxicants mercury and lead[9]. The mercury toxicity model was revised and re-introduced by Dufault et al[10] in 2012 to show how lead levels may accumulate in the body with the consumption of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) and the accompanying calcium losses that may occur when dietary magnesium intake is low.

United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) scientists warned long ago that when dietary magnesium intake is low, HFCS consumption may adversely affect micromineral homeostasis in humans by lowering calcium, zinc, and phosphorus balances[11]. Mahaffey et al[12] previously reported a significant and independent inverse relationship exists between blood lead levels and dietary calcium (Ca) intake. In addition to these homeostatic relationships, the revised model published in 2012 shows that with inadequate dietary Ca intake or Ca losses, PON1 gene activity may decrease[10]. The PON1 gene is responsible for producing the Ca dependent paraoxonase-1 enzyme that breaks down and detoxifies the organophosphate (OP) pesticides[13] used widely by United States farmers[14]. United States CDC researchers found diet to be the primary source of OP exposure in children[15]. They warned children have significantly higher OP exposures compared to adults and are at greater risk of neurotoxic harm[15]. In addition to fructose[16], mercury and lead are potent inhibitors of PON1 gene expression[17]. When PON1 gene expression is inhibited, the body is unable to detoxify OP pesticide residues. This triggers the mechanism of oxidative stress in the brain which impacts a child's ability to learn[8,10].

Mercury (Hg) and lead (Pb) accumulation in the body may also create these same conditions of oxidative stress[18] which impact child behavior and learning especially when MT is unable to perform its antioxidant role^[19] due to dietary zinc (Zn) deficiency or homeostatic mechanisms that lead to Zn losses and copper (Cu) gains. Figure 1 below show the updated macroepigenetic model for Hg and Pb toxicity resulting from this review of the literature. The new model shows selenium (Se) deficit resulting from unhealthy diet is a key factor in decreasing PON1 activity levels.

The literature indicates unhealthy diet remains a significant factor in the development of symptoms associated with ASD[20] and ADHD[21-23]. Evidence suggests ultra-processed food consumption may be a source of heavy metal exposure not often considered, especially in the case of inorganic mercury and lead[24-28]. Both elements are neurotoxic. In a recent review, Dórea [29] reported low-level exposures to lead concurrent with other neurotoxic substances such as mercury and arsenic, show a measurable impact on child neurodevelopment. In addition, children with ASD and ADHD continue to show elevated levels of Hg and/or Pb in their blood[30-39]. Hg and Pb exposures can be identified through blood analyses and should be determined by the clinician when a patient presents with symptoms of ASD or ADHD. If blood testing shows elevated Hg or Pb levels, the physician could refer the patient for dietary assessment and healthy diet instruction.

The following section provides a review of the availability of Pb and Hg analyses and current practices in the laboratory and clinical settings.

ANALYTICAL METHODS FOR BLOOD HG AND PB MEASUREMENT IN CLINICAL STUDIES

Despite the difference in toxicity related to Hg species, total Hg is often measured for exposure studies. As can be seen from Table 1, cold vapor atomic absorption spectrometry (CV-AAS) is commonly used to evaluate the association between blood Hg levels and autistic symptoms [34,40-42]. Other studies couple CV-AAS to atomic fluorescence spectrometry (CV-AFS) for better sensitivity and selectivity [31,43]. Current methodologies mainly rely on inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) due to its unique advantages of high sensitivity, wide dynamic range, and multi-isotopic analysis capabilities. ICP-MS can be used to analyze blood with less sample preparation mainly involving matrix solubilization with acidic or alkaline solutions, which can be accelerated by microwave irradiation^[44]. Table 1 Lists a few studies on measurement of Hg in blood by ICP-MS[30,32,34,45]. The United States



Table 1 Summary of methods	for the determination of b	blood Hg and Pb measuremen	nts	
Analyte	Sample and sample size	Method	Limit of detection	Ref.
Hg	Blood (20-30 mL)	CV-AAS	NA	[34]
	Red blood cells ¹		NA	[40]
	Blood (3-5 mL)		NA	[41]
	Red blood cells (0.4 mL), plasma (0.5 mL)		0.09 ng/mL	[42]
Hg	Blood ¹	CV-AFS	0.09 μg/L ²	[31]
	Blood (0.5 g)		0.001 μg/L	[43]
Hg	Blood (20 mL)	DMA	0.01 µg/L	[47,48]
Pb	Blood (3-5 mL)	AAS	NA	[35]
	Blood (3 mL)		25.01 μg/L	[38]
	Blood (3-5 mL)		NA	[41]
	Blood (3-5 mL)		0.03 μg/dL	[55]
Pb	Blood ¹	GF-AAS	$2.85 \mu g/dL^2$	[31]
	Blood (20-30 mL)		NA	[34]
	Blood (50 µL)		0.042 µg/dL	[36]
	Blood (20 mL)		0.01 µg/dL	[47]
	Blood ¹ , hair (1 g)		NA	[56]
	Blood (0.5-2 mL)		25 µg/L	[57]
Pb	Bone ¹	X-ray fluorescence	2 µg/g	[38]
Hg, Pb	Blood (1 mL), hair (5-10 mg)	ICP-MS	NA	[30]
	Blood (2-3 mL)		0.25 µg/L (Hg)	[32]
	Blood (2-3 mL)		0.25 µg/dL (Pb)	[32]
	Blood (20-30 mL)		0.1 µg/L (Hg)	[34]
	Blood (20-30 mL)		0.002 µg/dL (Pb)	[34]
	Blood ¹		1.3 µg/dL (Pb)	[37]
	Blood ¹		0.24 µg/L (Hg)	[45]
	Blood (20 mL)		0.3 µg/dL (Pb)	[59]
Hg, Pb	Blood (46 µL)	DBS with ICP-MS	0.65 μg/L (Hg)	[60]
	Blood (46 µL)		0.27 µg/dL (Pb)	[60]
	Blood (30 µL)		NA	[61]
	Blood (50 µL)		0.13 ppb ² (Hg)	[62]
	Blood (50 µL)		2.38 ppb ² (Pb)	[62]
	Blood (6.2 μL)		0.7 µg/L (Hg)	[63]
Methylmercury	Blood (0.5 g)	GC-CV-AFS	0.0001 µg/L	[43]
	Dental amalgam ¹		NA	[50]
	Blood (0.5 mL)		0.1 pg/L	[51]
I-Hg, methylmercury	Blood (0.5 g)	GC-ICP-MS with SIDMS	NA	[26]
I-Hg, methylmercury	Blood (35-50 µL)	DBS with GC-CV-AFS	$0.3 \mu g/L$ (methylmercury)	[64]
	Blood (40-60 µL)		1.9 µg/L (I-Hg)	[65]



Blood (40-60	μL)	
---------	-------	-----	--

[<mark>65</mark>]

¹Sample size unspecified.

²Lowest detected concentration reported in the study (limit of detection not available).

NA: Limit of detection and lowest detected concentration not available; CV-AAS: Cold vapor atomic absorption spectrometry; CV-AFS: CV-AAS to atomic fluorescence spectrometry; DMA: Direct mercury analysis; AAS: Atomic absorption spectrometry; GF-AAS: Graphite furnace AAS; ICP-MS: Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry; SIDMS: Speciated isotope dilution mass spectrometry; DBS: Dried blood spot.



Figure 1 Macroepigenetic model for role of unhealthy diet in mercury and lead toxicity. ASD: Autism spectrum disorder; ADHD: Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

CDC uses this technique to measure blood Hg after solubilizing the matrix with a solution of tetramethylammonium hydroxide[46].

Direct mercury analysis (DMA) enables direct Hg measurement without any sample preparation. This high throughput and cost-effective method minimize analytical errors associated with sample preparation and reduces hazardous waste generation. Chinese researchers used DMA to measure blood Hg levels to evaluate the association between Hg exposure and child neurobehavioral development and the influence of sex and dietary intake on these relationships[47,48]. DMA has the constraint that its detection limit is not comparable with those of CV-AAS, CV-AFS and ICP-MS.

Although exposure studies often focus on total Hg determination, the health effects of Hg depend on its chemical forms. Hence, there are now analytical methods to determine its distinct species. The CDC used a non-chromatographic method to speciate blood Hg based on selective determination of inorganic and total Hg by CV-AAS with their difference accounting for organic Hg[49]. Halbach and Welzl[42] predicted the levels of inorganic and organic Hg from total blood Hg based on the difference in partition of the two forms of Hg between erythrocytes and plasma. Advanced methods of Hg speciation analysis use a chromatographic system coupled to element specific and sensitive detector such as CV-AFS and ICP-MS. Several clinical studies used gas chromatography (GC) coupled to CV-AFS to determine Hg species in blood[43,50,51]. Liquid chromatography (LC) can be used to separate Hg species without derivatization, thus reducing potential risk of contamination or loss of unstable analytes. Its main setback is higher detection limit which can be improved by using micro- or nano-HPLC systems or preconcentration of analytes.

Despite the advances in instrumentation and methodology, speciation analysis is complicated by potential transformation of analytes during sample collection, storage, preparation, and analysis that may lead to erroneous results. Hg species may undergo alkylation, dealkylation, oxidation and/or reduction depending on the matrix composition and analytical processes[52]. Such species transformations cannot be identified using conventional methods involving external calibration or standard additions. Speciated isotope dilution mass spectrometry (SIDMS), EPA Method 6800



[53], is uniquely capable to track and correct for in-situ transformation of species, thereby enabling accurate and precise determination of analytes. The U.S. CDC applies this methodology to determine Hg species in blood by GC-ICP-MS after preconcentration on a solid phase microextraction fiber[54]. Dufault *et al*[26] used this method to study the association between blood inorganic mercury (I-Hg) with glucose levels in the human population and its link to processed food intake.

Several methods are available for blood Pb measurement. Studies evaluated the association between Pb exposure and autistic behaviors by measuring Pb in blood using AAS[35,38,41,55]. Graphite furnace AAS (GF-AAS) enables analysis of small volume of sample with minimum preparation[31,34,36,47,56,57]. The introduction of ICP-MS has made it possible for laboratories to achieve lower detection limits and make accurate and precise blood Pb measurement. A method by the U.S. CDC measures Pb in whole blood using ICP-MS after simple dilution[58]. The use of ICP-MS has also been widely reported to evaluate the relationship between blood Pb levels and ASD, see Table 1[30,32,34,37,45,59]. Portable and easy-to-operate devices using anodic stripping voltammetry technology are also available to measure Pb at point of care on a small amount of blood.

Clinical studies are emerging on measurement of Hg and Pb on dried blood spot (DBS). Here, a small volume of blood is blotted and dried on a filter encased in a paper card via a simple prick. DBS allows easy and less invasive blood collection, small volume sampling as well as simple transport and storage. The use of DBS is growing through the introduction of advanced analytical techniques, that have expanded testing options and improved throughput. A pilot study in 2008 used DBS for measurement of Hg and Pb where samples from newborns were analyzed by ICP-MS[60]. Subsequent studies using DBS evaluated children's exposures to heavy metals including Hg and Pb by ICP-MS[61-63]. Recent studies investigated the feasibility of DBS for the measurement of Hg species by GC-CV-AFS[64,65].

It was difficult to summarize the lowest and highest concentrations of analytes found in the studies discussed in this section because the data presentation lacks uniformity; some studies reported mean or median concentrations while others compared the levels of the elements before and after treatment. Therefore, the detection limits of the techniques are summarized in Table 1. In cases where detection limits were not available, the lowest reported concentrations were provided in Table 1.

LACK OF UNIFORMITY AMONG MEASUREMENT RESULTS AND IMPACT ON SYMPTOM-BASED DIAGNOSIS

The analytical method used to determine Hg or Pb levels in blood during clinical trials yields varied results lacking in uniformity; this measurement problem continues to be a barrier in identifying toxic exposures. An exposure to Pb or Hg becomes toxic when the child exhibits symptoms of behavioral duress. Children presenting symptoms of ADHD or ASD can be diagnosed using the appropriate behavioral checklist in conjunction with blood testing. The amount of blood sample required to measure mercury or lead using any of the methods listed in Table 1 vary depending on the analyst or laboratory conducting the blood test. Clinical laboratories should be consulted before a phlebotomy is performed to obtain the blood sample. The sample size needed by the laboratory will be based on the instrument to be used, its limit of detection for the analyte to be measured and the method of analysis.

In choosing an appropriate behavior checklist, the Conners rating scales or symptom checklists are used widely by physicians to diagnose ADHD when children present with problem behaviors[66]. In a brief review of the diagnostic accuracy of tests used to diagnose ADHD in children, Gaba et al [67] recommend using the Conners Abbreviated Symptom Questionnaire because of its brevity and high diagnostic accuracy. In the case of ASD diagnosis, the most widely used behavior rating scale is the childhood autism rating scale, otherwise known as CARS[68]. Whether diagnosing a case of ADHD or ASD, appropriate behavioral checklists are available for use and can be used in conjunction with blood testing. Several studies show these diagnostic tools to be effective when used together.

In a study of five hundred seventy-eight children with ADHD, Huang et al[37] measured blood Pb levels using ICP-MS and found children with low exposure (≤ 5 $\mu g/dL$) exhibited hyperactive and impulsive behaviors but not inattentiveness. In conjunction with the blood testing, Huang et al[37] administered the Conners' Rating Scale-Revised (CRS-R) checklist to the mothers to assess their children's behavior. In a study of one thousand seven hundred and seventy-eight children with no current



ADHD diagnosis, Ha et al[41] measured blood Pb levels using AAS in conjunction with administering a Conner's rating ADHD scale to the parents to determine symptoms and trouble behaviors in their children. The blood Pb levels were positively associated (P < 0.0001) with the Conners' ADHD score[41]. As blood lead levels increased so did the children's symptoms associated with ADHD[41].

Alabdali *et al*[69] measured both Pb and I-Hg in the red blood cells of fifty-two male children diagnosed with ASD and thirty age and sex matched healthy controls. Measurement of the severity of symptoms associated with ASD was accomplished using the CARS questionnaire^[69]. Compared to the control group of children, the ASD group had significantly higher I-Hg (P < 0.001) and Pb (P < 0.001) levels in their red blood cells (RBCs)[69]. A flameless AAS method developed by Magos[70] was used to measure mercury species and the GF-AAS method was used to measure lead [69] in the RBCs. Hassan *et al*[71] measured several biomarkers (*e.g.*, serum cholesterol, Helicobacter pylori in stool, heavy metals in blood) in a cohort of one hundred and fortysix children comprised of seventy-three males with ASD and seventy-three healthy age- and sex-matched controls. Behavioral assessments were conducted on the children with ASD using the CARS questionnaire[71]. The biomarker study showed Hg, Pb and aluminum levels in whole blood were significantly higher (P < 0.5) among the children with ASD vs the control group[71]. The blood samples were collected and preserved in vials of EDTA and the metals were measured using AAS[71]. The CARS questionnaire data did not reveal any differences in autism severity associated with the different metals[71]. Mostafa et al[72] measured blood Hg levels using CV-AAS in eighty-four children with ASD and eighty-four healthy-matched controls. The blood samples were collected in a heparinized syringe and analyzed promptly [72]. The Hg levels were significantly higher (P < 0.001) in the children with ASD compared to the controls^[72]. The CARS questionnaire was used to evaluate the severity of symptoms in the children with ASD; the data showed a significant (P < 0.0001) and positive linear relationship between blood Hg levels and CARS autism behavior severity scores[72].

From this review, it appears the behaviors seen in children diagnosed with ADHD and autism are influenced by the Hg and Pb levels found in their blood. Regardless of why these bioaccumulations are occurring in these children, a key goal in their care should be to reduce their exposures to Hg and Pb. Figure 1 show unhealthy diet may be a significant source of I-Hg and Pb exposure in these afflicted children.

UNHEALTHY WESTERN DIET IS A SOURCE OF I-HG AND PB EXPOSURE

Unhealthy dietary factors that may link to the development of symptoms associated with ASD and ADHD include exposures to I-Hg, Pb and/or pesticide residues[8,10,73] found in highly processed food [74-76]. In the United States, certified food color consumption in processed foods increased five-fold between 1950 and 2012 from 12 mg/capita per day to 68 mg/capita per day[76]. These food colors may contain residues of I-Hg, Pb, and arsenic[75]. Allowable heavy metal residues in certified food colors are regulated by the United States Food and Drug Administration through the batch certification process[77]. Stevens et al[78] studied the amounts of certified food colors found in the United States processed food supply (i.e., beverages, food, and sweets) and concluded that many children are consuming far more food colors than previously thought. Stevens et al[78] recommended that parents avoid serving food or beverages containing certified food colors and limit their children's consumption of added sugars to improve child behavior and health outcomes.

The most common added sugars found in processed food are the corn sweeteners which are at risk of Hg contamination due to their manufacturing process. I-Hg mercury can enter the corn sweetener product line in one of two ways: (1) With the use of Hg cell chlor-alkali chemicals in the manufacturing process[79] and (2) With the intentional addition of mercuric chloride to the corn starch mix at the front end of the manufacturing process to inhibit naturally occurring degrading enzymes produced by bacteria[80]. Rideout et al[81] and Wallinga et al[82] both reported finding low levels of mercury in samples of corn syrup or products containing corn syrup or high fructose corn syrup.

In addition to food colors and added sugars, numerous other food ingredients found in the typical western diet may contain mercury or lead residues[83]. The western diet is characterized by the high intake of ultra-processed food products containing numerous ingredients including refined added sugars, fats, vegetable oils and grains with allowable organophosphate (OP) pesticide residues and the inadequate intake of whole foods, especially pesticide-free fruits, vegetables, nuts, healthy



fats (e.g., cold pressed) and organically grown grains[83]. In the cases of ADHD and ASD, several recent diet studies show children afflicted with these neurodevelopmental disorders are typically eating unhealthy diets as shown in Figure 1.

RECENT STUDIES SHOW CHILDREN DIAGNOSED WITH ADHD AND ASD ARE EATING UNHEALTHY DIETS

In a review of the literature to determine the role of diet in reducing symptoms in children diagnosed with ADHD, Millichat et al[21] found diets to reduce symptoms include those that restrict the intake of sugars or eliminate additives including preservatives. Recommendations in the use of diet as a treatment option for ADHD were made in cases of parental or patient preference, iron deficiency, medication failure or when a change from a western diet to an ADHD-free healthy diet was warranted^[21]. Millichat *et al*^[21] concluded that greater attention needs to be paid to the education of parents and their children on what constitutes a healthy dietary pattern with a focus on removing ingredients shown to exacerbate symptoms. Shareghfarid *et al*[22] conducted a pooled meta-analysis of dietary pattern studies that included eight thousand and sixteen children diagnosed with ADHD and found a healthy dietary pattern decreased the risk of ADHD while a western dietary pattern increased symptoms. In their conclusion, Shareghfarid et al[22] determined a "healthy" dietary pattern consisting of vegetables, fruits, legumes, and fish decreased the odds of ADHD while a "Western" dietary pattern consisting of red meat, refined grains, processed meats and hydrogenated fats and oils increased ADHD. In another recent literature review, Farsad-Naeimi et al^[23] conducted a pooled meta-analysis of fourteen studies that included twenty-five thousand nine hundred and forty-five subjects to determine whether there is a relationship between the consumption of sugar and sugar sweetened beverages and symptoms of ADHD. The results of the pooled data analyses indicate a strong positive relationship (P = 0.01) exists between sugar and sugarsweetened beverage consumption and symptoms of ADHD[23].

Sugar-sweetened beverages often contain food color ingredients (e.g., yellow #5/tartrazine/E-102, red #40/allura red/E-129, and yellow #6/sunset yellow/E110) that require certification in the United States[77] to determine if heavy metal levels exceed allowable concentrations. Products containing these same food color ingredients must carry the following warning label in the European Union and United Kingdom: "May have an adverse effect on activity and attention in children" [84]. The warning label requirement is a result of the findings of a study commissioned by the United Kingdom government[84]. The study was led by McCann and involved two cohorts including one comprised of one hundred fifty-three 3-year-old children and another comprised of one hundred forty-four 8/9-year-old children from the general population[85]. Children in both age groups were divided into three different groups [85]. One group received a placebo juice containing no food colors, another group received a juice mix (Mix A) containing yellow #5, yellow #6, and sodium benzoate and the final group received a juice mix (Mix B) containing yellow #6, sodium benzoate, and red #40[85]. Sodium benzoate is a common preservative with allowable levels of lead up to 2 ppm[86]. Behavior checklists were administered to parents and teachers during the study^[85]. The children in the 3-year-old group that received Mix A exhibited a significant adverse effect in behavior (P = 0.044) compared to the children in the placebo and Mix B groups^[85]. The children in the 8/9-year-old group exhibited a significant adverse effect in behavior in both the Mix A (P = 0.023) and Mix B (P = 0.001) groups compared to the placebo group[85]. From their data analyses, McCann *et al*[85] determined the food colors or sodium benzoate or both exposures result in increased hyperactivity in the general population of children falling into the 3-year and 8/9-year-old age groups.

In a review of dietary impacts on children diagnosed with ASD, Peretti *et al*[20] found diet is a key factor in the worsening of symptoms and is a modifiable risk factor in the treatment of ASD. Many parents of children with ASD have placed their children on a gluten and casein free diet without realizing the gluten free foods are highly processed and may lead to the accumulation of Hg, Pb, and cadmium in their children's blood over time. Raehsler et al [87] analyzed data collected by the United States CDC from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey to determine whether a gluten free diet was associated with increases in heavy metal accumulation. The data was collected from adult participants 18 years of age and older between 2009 and 2012[87]. The United States CDC analyzed participant whole blood samples for heavy metals using the ICP-MS method[87]. Raehsler et al[87] used univariate statis-



tical analysis to compare the dietary intake of participants following a gluten free diet with those not following a gluten free diet. After controlling for age, smoking, sex, race, and fish and shellfish consumption, blood Hg levels were significantly higher (P = 0.04) in people following a gluten free diet compared to those who did not[87]. Raehsler *et al*[87] found blood Pb levels were statistically significantly higher (P =0.001) in women following a gluten free diet but not in men.

In a review of studies conducted to determine the effectiveness of placing children with autism on a gluten free and casein free (GFCF) diet, Piwowarczyk et al[88] found there is little evidence that such a diet is beneficial in reducing symptoms. Parents of children with autism that suffer from intestinal abnormalities need more information as to whether gluten intolerance or sensitivity is the cause of their child's symptoms and should thus consult a physician before placing their child on a GFCF diet. Organophosphate pesticide (OP) exposures from grain consumption may also create gastrointestinal disturbance and other symptoms observed with gluten intolerance[83]. Since children with autism lack the bioavailability and catalytic activity of the PON1 gene [89] and PON1 activity is significantly decreased in children with ADHD[90,91], they are more susceptible to the toxicity and resulting symptoms associated with organophosphate pesticide exposures. More research is needed to determine if the consumption of gluten-free food products contribute to heavy metal or OP pesticide exposures in children with autism and ADHD and if their consumption may be safely included in a healthy diet.

HEALTHY DIET INCLUDES WHOLE FOODS AND MAY INCLUDE SUPPLEMENTS WHEN WARRANTED

One recent promising study led by Adams incorporated aspects of a (GFCF) diet in a supplement intervention with promising results^[92]. In a randomized, controlled trial design, thirty-seven children and adults with ASD diagnoses participated in the treatment group which received the intervention, thirty children and adults with ASD served in the non-treatment group, while 50 neurotypical people of similar age and gender served as controls[92]. The treatment intervention involved a 12-mo regime which included supplementation with a variety of vitamins and minerals beginning on Day 0, with additional supplements added on Day 30, Day 90, and Day 180 until finally on Day 210 the Healthy Gluten Free Casein Free (HGFCF) diet was introduced to the protocol[92]. The researchers administered a variety of behavior checklists prior to beginning, and after completing, the 12-month treatment intervention[92]. The most significant reductions in symptoms of ASD (P = 0.0002) seemed to occur in the children with pervasive developmental delay (PDD). Biomarkers were also analyzed before and after the intervention period[92], presumably before Day 0 and at Day 365. The most significant biomarker findings for supplementation involved vitamin B2 (riboflavin), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), in which there were large and significant increases in the treatment group compared to the non-0.000000001)[92]. The fish oil supplements introduced on Day 30 of the intervention could explain the significant increases in DHA and EPA levels. The healthy diet component of the intervention included adequate intake of leafy greens, whole fruit, and protein while eliminating food colors and preservatives and reducing junk foods [92]. The diet also included the adoption of gluten free, casein-free, and soy-free foods [92]. Heavy metal biomarkers were not collected and analyzed by the research team [92]. Selenium (Se) supplementation was introduced on Day 0 of the treatment protocol; there was a significant increase in Se levels (P = 0.001) in the treatment group compared to the non-treatment group[92] while other mineral supplements made no difference. Se binds to Hg in a 1:1 ratio[8]. The supplementation in the treatment group could have provided enough excess Se to mitigate any Hg exposures occurring from the consumption of highly processed gluten-free, casein-free foods. After analyzing their data, Adams et al[92] concluded a comprehensive nutritional and dietary intervention is effective in reducing symptoms in most individuals with ASD. Although the results of the Adams *et al*[92] study are encouraging, the impact of eating a whole food healthy diet and/or supplements on reducing symptoms of autism remains unclear.

Supplementation in diet should be done cautiously because supplements have the potential to be toxic and are poorly regulated with respect to their efficacy and composition [93]. Fish oil supplementation may be warranted in children who refuse to eat salmon or other low mercury fish and shellfish. DHA and EPA are important for



healthy brain development and function. The 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines for Americans recommend eating low Hg fish as part of a healthy dietary pattern due to their DHA and EPA content[94]. In addition, fish provide more vitamin B-12 and vitamin D than many other foods[94]. Se and Hg tend to bind in fish tissue. When Se is present in excess of Hg in fish, there is no public health concern about Hg exposure from eating fish[95,96].

Se is a key mineral in reducing oxidative stress in children with ASD and ADHD who may have elevated blood Hg levels. Se supplementation could be avoided by the consumption of Brazil nuts in moderation by eating one Brazil nut each day or, if children are amenable, drinking a daily fruit/vegetable smoothie that contains one Brazil nut per child. Brazil nuts are known to be the richest source of Se and provide magnesium and Zn which are important micronutrients in preventing the adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes presented in Figure 1 that result from eating the western diet[8,10]. Cardoso et al[97] conducted a review of clinical trials using Brazil nuts as an alternative to selenium supplementation. Although Cardoso et al[97] did not focus their review specifically on children with developmental disorders, they found many positive outcomes such as improvements in lipid serum profiles, anti-inflammatory response, and cognitive impairment in the various trial participants. Se measurements in blood should be a part of any protocol used in future healthy diet intervention studies conducted to reduce symptoms of ASD or ADHD.

FUTURE HEALTHY DIET INTERVENTION STUDIES

The results of this review indicate there is a need for future intervention studies to conclusively connect I-Hg and Pb measurements in blood to dietary sources of exposure in children with ASD and ADHD. Khan et al [98] confirmed dietary heavy metal intake correlates significantly with the heavy metal levels in the blood of children and adults. Dietary exposures to Hg and Pb can be measured through blood analyses using the methods discussed in the previous sections with careful consideration as to which component of blood (e.g., RBCs, Plasma, Whole Blood) is best for measuring elements of interest in children diagnosed with ASD or ADHD. In children with ASD, Alibadi et al [69] measured levels of I-Hg and Pb in the RBCs. Adams et al [92] measured Se levels in the RBCs of the children with ASD during their diet intervention study. In the case of autism, RBCs may be the best biomarker for measuring Hg, Pb and Se levels. In the case of ADHD, Pb levels are generally measured in whole blood rather than plasma or serum. However, because Pb is found within the blood cells, consideration should be given to testing Pb, along with Se, levels in the RBCs of children diagnosed with ADHD. In addition to mitigating Hg exposure, blood Se levels are important to measure in both ASD and ADHD because PON1 gene expression may be regulated by dietary Se status[99]. As can be seen in Figure 1, increasing PON1 gene activity may be key to reducing the oxidative stress in the brain that impacts a child's ability to learn.

In addition to collecting and measuring biomarker levels in future diet intervention studies, it is important to collect information on processed food consumption so that the link between Hg/Pb exposures and diet can be established definitively. Processed food consumption data can be gathered using a diet survey that focuses on pre- and post-intervention eating patterns. Dufault et al[26] developed such a survey for use in determining the link between processed food consumption and blood I-Hg levels. Supplementary Tables 2 accompanying this manuscript provides a list of the survey questions in checklist format along with scoring instructions. The questions were also used during a clinical trial to educate parents of children with ASD and ADHD on the benefits of healthy diet[100]. In administering the survey pre and post-intervention, diet scores can be compared to determine changes in processed food consumption patterns.

HEALTHY DIET CONSIDERATIONS FOR CHILDREN WITH AUTISM AND ADHD

In devising a healthy diet for children with autism and ADHD it is important to consider elements needed to boost PON1 gene activity. Xotlanihua-Gervacio et al[101] determined the dietary factors that promote increased PON1 gene activity include selenium, cholesterol, and overall lipid intake. The majority of PON1 activity occurs on



the high-density lipoprotein (HDL) in humans[102]. HDL is known as "good cholesterol" and its promotion can be accomplished by the adoption of a healthy Mediterranean type of diet which is characterized by the consumption of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, fish and shellfish, nuts, olive oil, and poultry. In the case of children with autism or ADHD, this literature review indicates a healthy type organic (pesticide free) Mediterranean diet includes leafy greens (e.g., spinach, kale, collards), nuts (e.g., Brazil), seeds, legumes, whole grains, fish (e.g., salmon) and shellfish, and excludes the consumption of conventionally grown vegetables and fruits with allowable pesticide residues, products containing ingredients with allowable mercury and lead residues (e.g., food colors, preservatives), hydrogenated fats, sugar sweetened beverages (e.g., corn sweeteners), most vegetable oils, processed meats, and refined grains.

CONCLUSION

This review has resulted in the novel finding of the role dietary selenium may play in supporting PON1 activity in children with ASD or ADHD. Unhealthy diet resulting in the bioaccumulation of Hg or Pb may jeopardize the body's ability to regulate the expression of PON1 resulting in decreased or impaired PON1 activity. An updated Mercury and Lead Toxicity Model for ASD and ADHD is presented to assist clinicians in diagnosing and treating the symptoms associated with ASD and ADHD. The model can also be used as a guide in the design of future intervention studies to determine the role of dietary factors in creating conditions for the development of autism and ADHD.

REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 5th ed. 1 Arlington, VA: American Psychiatric Association, 2013 [DOI: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596]
- 2 United States Department of Education. Sec. 300.8 Child with a disability. [cited 24 May 2021]. In: Individuals with Disabilities Education Act. Available from: https://sites.ed.gov/idea/regs/b/a/300.8
- 3 He J, Ning H, Huang R. Low blood lead levels and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2019; 26: 17875-17884 [PMID: 28780688 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-017-9799-2]
- 4 United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC Blood Lead Reference Value. [cited 24 May 2021]. In: Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/Lead/prevention/blood-lead-levels.htm
- Donzelli G, Carducci A, Llopis-Gonzalez A, Verani M, Llopis-Morales A, Cioni L, Morales-Suárez-5 Varela M. The Association between Lead and Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019; 16 [PMID: 30700018 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16030382]
- Saghazadeh A, Rezaei N. Systematic review and meta-analysis links autism and toxic metals and 6 highlights the impact of country development status: Higher blood and erythrocyte levels for mercury and lead, and higher hair antimony, cadmium, lead, and mercury. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 2017; 79: 340-368 [PMID: 28716727 DOI: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.07.011]
- Jafari T, Rostampour N, Fallah AA, Hesami A. The association between mercury levels and autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2017; 44: 289-297 [PMID: 28965590 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2017.09.002]
- 8 Dufault R, Schnoll R, Lukiw WJ, Leblanc B, Cornett C, Patrick L, Wallinga D, Gilbert SG, Crider R. Mercury exposure, nutritional deficiencies and metabolic disruptions may affect learning in children. Behav Brain Funct 2009; 5: 44 [PMID: 19860886 DOI: 10.1186/1744-9081-5-44]
- 9 Coyle P, Philcox JC, Carey LC, Rofe AM. Metallothionein: the multipurpose protein. Cell Mol Life Sci 2002; 59: 627-647 [PMID: 12022471 DOI: 10.1007/s00018-002-8454-2]
- 10 Dufault R, Lukiw WJ, Crider R, Schnoll R, Wallinga D, Deth R. A macroepigenetic approach to identify factors responsible for the autism epidemic in the United States. Clin Epigenetics 2012; 4: 6 [PMID: 22490277 DOI: 10.1186/1868-7083-4-6]
- 11 Milne DB, Nielsen FH. The interaction between dietary fructose and magnesium adversely affects macromineral homeostasis in men. J Am Coll Nutr 2000; 19: 31-37 [PMID: 10682873 DOI: 10.1080/07315724.2000.10718911]
- 12 Mahaffey KR, Gartside PS, Glueck CJ. Blood lead levels and dietary calcium intake in 1- to 11year-old children: the Second National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1976 to 1980. Pediatrics 1986; 78: 257-262 [PMID: 3488536]
- 13 Josse D, Xie W, Renault F, Rochu D, Schopfer LM, Masson P, Lockridge O. Identification of



residues essential for human paraoxonase (PON1) arylesterase/organophosphatase activities. Biochemistry 1999; 38: 2816-2825 [PMID: 10052953 DOI: 10.1021/bi982281h]

- 14 Hu Y, Chiu YH, Hauser R, Chavarro J, Sun Q. Overall and class-specific scores of pesticide residues from fruits and vegetables as a tool to rank intake of pesticide residues in United States: A validation study. Environ Int 2016; 92-93: 294-300 [PMID: 27128714 DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.04.028
- 15 Barr DB, Bravo R, Weerasekera G, Caltabiano LM, Whitehead RD Jr, Olsson AO, Caudill SP, Schober SE, Pirkle JL, Sampson EJ, Jackson RJ, Needham LL. Concentrations of dialkyl phosphate metabolites of organophosphorus pesticides in the U.S. population. Environ Health Perspect 2004; 112: 186-200 [PMID: 14754573 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.6503]
- 16 Costa LG, Giordano G, Furlong CE. Pharmacological and dietary modulators of paraoxonase 1 (PON1) activity and expression: the hunt goes on. Biochem Pharmacol 2011; 81: 337-344 [PMID: 21093416 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2010.11.008]
- Costa LG, Vitalone A, Cole TB, Furlong CE. Modulation of paraoxonase (PON1) activity. Biochem 17 Pharmacol 2005; 69: 541-550 [PMID: 15670573 DOI: 10.1016/j.bcp.2004.08.027]
- Valko M, Morris H, Cronin MT. Metals, toxicity and oxidative stress. Curr Med Chem 2005; 12: 18 1161-1208 [PMID: 15892631 DOI: 10.2174/0929867053764635]
- 19 Ruttkay-Nedecky B, Nejdl L, Gumulec J, Zitka O, Masarik M, Eckschlager T, Stiborova M, Adam V, Kizek R. The role of metallothionein in oxidative stress. Int J Mol Sci 2013; 14: 6044-6066 [PMID: 23502468 DOI: 10.3390/ijms14036044]
- Peretti S, Mariano M, Mazzocchetti C, Mazza M, Pino MC, Verrotti Di Pianella A, Valenti M. Diet: 20 the keystone of autism spectrum disorder? Nutr Neurosci 2019; 22: 825-839 [PMID: 29669486 DOI: 10.1080/1028415X.2018.1464819
- Millichap JG, Yee MM. The diet factor in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Pediatrics 2012; 21 129: 330-337 [PMID: 22232312 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2011-2199]
- 22 Shareghfarid E, Sangsefidi ZS, Salehi-Abargouei A, Hosseinzadeh M. Empirically derived dietary patterns and food groups intake in relation with Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Nutr ESPEN 2020; 36: 28-35 [PMID: 32220366 DOI: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2019.10.013
- 23 Farsad-Naeimi A, Asjodi F, Omidian M, Askari M, Nouri M, Pizarro AB, Daneshzad E. Sugar consumption, sugar sweetened beverages and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Complement Ther Med 2020; 53: 102512 [PMID: 33066852 DOI: 10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102512
- 24 Wells EM, Kopylev L, Nachman R, Radke EG, Segal D. Seafood, wine, rice, vegetables, and other food items associated with mercury biomarkers among seafood and non-seafood consumers: NHANES 2011-2012. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 2020; 30: 504-514 [PMID: 32015433 DOI: 10.1038/s41370-020-0206-6]
- Lee JG, Hwang JY, Lee HE, Kim TH, Choi JD, Gang GJ. Effects of food processing methods on migration of heavy metals. Appl Biol Chem 2019; 62: 64 [DOI: 10.1186/s13765-019-0470-0]
- Dufault R, Berg Z, Crider R, Schnoll R, Wetsit L, Bulls WT, Gilbert SG, Kingston HMS, Wolle 26 MM, Rahman GMM, Laks DR. Blood inorganic mercury is directly associated with glucose levels in the human population and may be linked to processed food intake. Integr Mol Med 2015; 2 [PMID: 33889422 DOI: 10.15761/imm.1000134]
- 27 Martins C, Vasco E, Paixão E, Alvito P. Total mercury in infant food, occurrence and exposure assessment in Portugal. Food Addit Contam Part B Surveill 2013; 6: 151-157 [PMID: 24779897 DOI: 10.1080/19393210.2013.775603]
- 28 Wang X, Ding N, Tucker KL, Weisskopf MG, Sparrow D, Hu H, Park SK. A Western Diet Pattern Is Associated with Higher Concentrations of Blood and Bone Lead among Middle-Aged and Elderly Men. J Nutr 2017; 147: 1374-1383 [PMID: 28592514 DOI: 10.3945/jn.117.249060]
- 29 Dórea JG. Environmental exposure to low-level lead (Pb) co-occurring with other neurotoxicants in early life and neurodevelopment of children. Environ Res 2019; 177: 108641 [PMID: 31421445 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.108641]
- Yassa HA. Autism: a form of lead and mercury toxicity. Environ Toxicol Pharmacol 2014; 38: 30 1016-1024 [PMID: 25461563 DOI: 10.1016/j.etap.2014.10.005]
- 31 Li H, Li H, Li Y, Liu Y, Zhao Z. Blood Mercury, Arsenic, Cadmium, and Lead in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Biol Trace Elem Res 2018; 181: 31-37 [PMID: 28480499 DOI: 10.1007/s12011-017-1002-6]
- 32 Hessabi M, Rahbar MH, Dobrescu I, Bach MA, Kobylinska L, Bressler J, Grove ML, Loveland KA, Mihailescu I, Nedelcu MC, Moisescu MG, Matei BM, Matei CO, Rad F. Concentrations of Lead, Mercury, Arsenic, Cadmium, Manganese, and Aluminum in Blood of Romanian Children Suspected of Having Autism Spectrum Disorder. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019; 16 [PMID: 31261817 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph16132303]
- 33 Lee MJ, Chou MC, Chou WJ, Huang CW, Kuo HC, Lee SY, Wang LJ. Heavy Metals' Effect on Susceptibility to Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Implication of Lead, Cadmium, and Antimony. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018; 15 [PMID: 29890770 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph15061221]
- 34 Desrochers-Couture M, Courtemanche Y, Forget-Dubois N, Bélanger RE, Boucher O, Ayotte P, Cordier S, Jacobson JL, Jacobson SW, Muckle G. Association between early lead exposure and externalizing behaviors in adolescence: A developmental cascade. Environ Res 2019; 178: 108679



[PMID: 31454729 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2019.108679]

- 35 Choi WJ, Kwon HJ, Lim MH, Lim JA, Ha M. Blood lead, parental marital status and the risk of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in elementary school children: A longitudinal study. Psychiatry Res 2016; 236: 42-46 [PMID: 26774190 DOI: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.01.002]
- 36 Park JH, Seo JH, Hong YS, Kim YM, Kang JW, Yoo JH, Chueh HW, Lee JH, Kwak MJ, Kim J, Woo HD, Kim DW, Bang YR, Choe BM. Blood lead concentrations and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in Korean children: a hospital-based case control study. BMC Pediatr 2016; 16: 156 [PMID: 27659349 DOI: 10.1186/s12887-016-0696-5]
- Huang S, Hu H, Sánchez BN, Peterson KE, Ettinger AS, Lamadrid-Figueroa H, Schnaas L, 37 Mercado-García A, Wright RO, Basu N, Cantonwine DE, Hernández-Avila M, Téllez-Rojo MM. Childhood Blood Lead Levels and Symptoms of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD): A Cross-Sectional Study of Mexican Children. Environ Health Perspect 2016; 124: 868-874 [PMID: 26645203 DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1510067]
- 38 Lin Y, Huang L, Xu J, Specht AJ, Yan C, Geng H, Shen X, Nie LH, Hu H. Blood lead, bone lead and child attention-deficit-hyperactivity-disorder-like behavior. Sci Total Environ 2019; 659: 161-167 [PMID: 30597466 DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.219]
- 39 Ji Y, Hong X, Wang G, Chatterjee N, Riley AW, Lee LC, Surkan PJ, Bartell TR, Zuckerman B, Wang X. A Prospective Birth Cohort Study on Early Childhood Lead Levels and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: New Insight on Sex Differences. J Pediatr 2018; 199: 124-131.e8 [PMID: 29752174 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.03.076]
- Geier DA, Audhya T, Kern JK, Geier MR. Blood mercury levels in autism spectrum disorder: Is 40 there a threshold level? Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 2010; 70: 177-186 [PMID: 20628441]
- Ha M, Kwon HJ, Lim MH, Jee YK, Hong YC, Leem JH, Sakong J, Bae JM, Hong SJ, Roh YM, Jo 41 SJ. Low blood levels of lead and mercury and symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity in children: a report of the children's health and environment research (CHEER). Neurotoxicology 2009; **30**: 31-36 [PMID: 19100765 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2008.11.011]
- 42 Halbach S, Welzl G. Levels of organic and inorganic mercury in human blood predicted from measurements of total mercury. J Appl Toxicol 2010; 30: 674-679 [PMID: 20981860 DOI: 10.1002/jat.1540]
- Donohue A, Wagner CL, Burch JB, Rothenberg SE. Blood total mercury and methylmercury among 43 pregnant mothers in Charleston, South Carolina, USA. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 2018; 28: 494-504 [PMID: 29670220 DOI: 10.1038/s41370-018-0033-1]
- Reves LH, Mar JLG, Hernández-Ramírez A, Peralta-Hernández JM, Barbosa JMA, Kingston HM. 44 Microwave assisted extraction for mercury speciation analysis. Microchimica Acta 2011; 172: 3-14 [DOI: 10.1007/s00604-010-0473-3]
- 45 Golding J, Rai D, Gregory S, Ellis G, Emond A, Iles-Caven Y, Hibbeln J, Taylor C. Prenatal mercury exposure and features of autism: a prospective population study. Mol Autism 2018; 9: 30 [PMID: 29713443 DOI: 10.1186/s13229-018-0215-7]
- 46 United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Laboratory Procedure Manual. Blood mercury ICP-DRC-MS, Method No. ITB001A. Adopted: January 22, 2003, Revised: September 9, 2004. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_05_06/pbcd_d_met_lead_cadmium.pdf
- 47 Wang J, Wu W, Li H, Cao L, Wu M, Liu J, Gao Z, Zhou C, Yan C. Relation of prenatal low-level mercury exposure with early child neurobehavioral development and exploration of the effects of sex and DHA on it. Environ Int 2019; 126: 14-23 [PMID: 30776746 DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.02.012]
- Zhou CC, Fu H, Zhang GY, Ma JW, Ni M, Li DJ, Shen FM, Huang F. Effects of low-level mercury 48 exposure on brain-derived neurotrophic factor in preschool children. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2021; 208: 111642 [PMID: 33396162 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111642]
- 49 United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Laboratory Procedure Manual. Mercury in blood by flow injection cold vapor atomic absorption (CVAA), Method No. 1190B/06-OD. Available from:

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes 99 00/lab06 met blood mercury.pdf

- DeRouen TA, Leroux BG, Martin MD, Townes BD, Woods JS, Leitão J, Castro-Caldas A, 50 Braveman N. Issues in design and analysis of a randomized clinical trial to assess the safety of dental amalgam restorations in children. Control Clin Trials 2002; 23: 301-320 [PMID: 12057882 DOI: 10.1016/s0197-2456(01)00206-9]
- Kim BG, Jo EM, Kim GY, Kim DS, Kim YM, Kim RB, Suh BS, Hong YS. Analysis of 51 methylmercury concentration in the blood of Koreans by using cold vapor atomic fluorescence spectrophotometry. Ann Lab Med 2012; 32: 31-37 [PMID: 22259776 DOI: 10.3343/alm.2012.32.1.31]
- 52 Rahman GM, Wolle MM, Fahrenholz T, Kingston HM, Pamuku M. Measurement of mercury species in whole blood using speciated isotope dilution methodology integrated with microwaveenhanced solubilization and spike equilibration, headspace-solid-phase microextraction, and GC-ICP-MS analysis. Anal Chem 2014; 86: 6130-6137 [PMID: 24845130 DOI: 10.1021/ac501352d]
- 53 United States Environmental Protection Agency. Elemental and molecular speciated isotope dilution mass spectrometry, Method 6800, 2014. Available from: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-12/documents/6800.pdf
- 54 United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Laboratory Procedure Manual. Blood mercury speciation by triple-spike isotope dilution gas chromatography-inductively coupled



plasma dynamic reaction cell mass spectrometry, Method No. DLS-3020.5. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_11_12/ihgem_met_g_mercuryspecies.pdf

- 55 Kim KN, Kwon HJ, Hong YC. Low-level lead exposure and autistic behaviors in school-age children. Neurotoxicology 2016; 53: 193-200 [PMID: 26877220 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2016.02.004]
- 56 Sanna E, Liguori A, Palmas L, Soro MR, Floris G. Blood and hair lead levels in boys and girls living in two Sardinian towns at different risks of lead pollution. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2003; 55: 293-299 [PMID: 12798763 DOI: 10.1016/s0147-6513(02)00072-6]
- 57 Baz FE, El-Setouhy MA, Mouharam WA, Raouf AMA, Youssef AM. Autism and Lead: Is There a Possible Connection? Pediat Therapeut 2016; 6: 292 [DOI: 10.4172/2161-0665.1000292]
- United States Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Laboratory Procedure Manual. 58 Blood Lead Cadmium Mercury ICP-DRC-MS, Method No. 3001.1. Adopted: January 22, 2003, Revised: September 9, 2004. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhanes/nhanes_09_10/pbcd_f_met.pdf
- 59 Rahbar MH, Samms-Vaughan M, Dickerson AS, Loveland KA, Ardjomand-Hessabi M, Bressler J, Shakespeare-Pellington S, Grove ML, Pearson DA, Boerwinkle E. Blood lead concentrations in Jamaican children with and without autism spectrum disorder. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2014; 12: 83-105 [PMID: 25546274 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph120100083]
- 60 Chaudhuri SN, Butala SJ, Ball RW, Braniff CT; Rocky Mountain Biomonitoring Consortium. Pilot study for utilization of dried blood spots for screening of lead, mercury and cadmium in newborns. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 2009; 19: 298-316 [PMID: 18398444 DOI: 10.1038/jes.2008.19]
- 61 Funk WE, McGee JK, Olshan AF, Ghio AJ. Quantification of arsenic, lead, mercury and cadmium in newborn dried blood spots. Biomarkers 2013; 18: 174-177 [PMID: 23311290 DOI: 10.3109/1354750X.2012.750379
- 62 Funk WE, Pleil JD, Sauter DJ, McDade TW, Holl JL. Use of Dried Blood Spots for Estimating Children's Exposures to Heavy Metals in Epidemiological Research. J Environ Anal Toxicol 2015; S7: 002 [DOI: 10.4172/2161-0525.S7-002]
- 63 Nelson JW, Edhlund BL, Johnson J, Rosebush CE, Holmquist ZS, Swan SH, Nguyen RH. Assessing a New Method for Measuring Fetal Exposure to Mercury: Newborn Bloodspots. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13 [PMID: 27409626 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph13070692]
- Basu N, Eng JWL, Perkins M, Santa-Rios A, Martincevic G, Carlson K, Neitzel RL. Development 64 and application of a novel method to characterize methylmercury exposure in newborns using dried blood spots. Environ Res 2017; 159: 276-282 [PMID: 28825981 DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2017.08.021]
- 65 Santa-Rios A, Barst BD, Basu N. Mercury Speciation in Whole Blood and Dried Blood Spots from Capillary and Venous Sources. Anal Chem 2020; 92: 3605-3612 [PMID: 32056420 DOI: 10.1021/acs.analchem.9b04407
- 66 Evans AS, Preston A. Conners Rating Scales. In: Kreutzer JS, Deluca J, Caplan B (eds) Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. Springer, New York, NY [DOI: 10.1007/978-0-387-79948-3_1278]
- Gaba P, Giordanengo M. Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Screening and Evaluation. Am 67 Fam Physician 2019; 99: 712 [PMID: 31150173]
- Chlebowski C, Green JA, Barton ML, Fein D. Using the childhood autism rating scale to diagnose 68 autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord 2010; 40: 787-799 [PMID: 20054630 DOI: 10.1007/s10803-009-0926-x
- 69 Alabdali A, Al-Ayadhi L, El-Ansary A. A key role for an impaired detoxification mechanism in the etiology and severity of autism spectrum disorders. Behav Brain Funct 2014; 10: 14 [PMID: 24776096 DOI: 10.1186/1744-9081-10-14]
- 70 Magos L. Selective atomic-absorption determination of inorganic mercury and methylmercury in undigested biological samples. Analyst 1971; 96: 847-853 [PMID: 5131698 DOI: 10.1039/an9719600847]
- Hassan MH, Desoky T, Sakhr HM, Gabra RH, Bakri AH. Possible Metabolic Alterations among 71 Autistic Male Children: Clinical and Biochemical Approaches. J Mol Neurosci 2019; 67: 204-216 [PMID: 30600432 DOI: 10.1007/s12031-018-1225-9]
- Mostafa GA, Bjørklund G, Urbina MA, Al-Ayadhi LY. The levels of blood mercury and 72 inflammatory-related neuropeptides in the serum are correlated in children with autism spectrum disorder. Metab Brain Dis 2016; 31: 593-599 [PMID: 26738726 DOI: 10.1007/s11011-015-9784-8]
- Roberts JR, Dawley EH, Reigart JR. Children's low-level pesticide exposure and associations with 73 autism and ADHD: a review. Pediatr Res 2019; 85: 234-241 [PMID: 30337670 DOI: 10.1038/s41390-018-0200-z
- Watanabe M, Noguchi M, Hashimoto T, Yoshida S. [Chlorpyrifos-Methyl, Pirimiphos-Methyl and Fenitrothion Residues in Commercial Wheat Products]. Shokuhin Eiseigaku Zasshi 2018; 59: 228-233 [PMID: 30429422 DOI: 10.3358/shokueishi.59.228]
- 75 Bakthavachalu P, Kannan SM, Qoronfleh MW. Food Color and Autism: A Meta-Analysis. Adv Neurobiol 2020; 24: 481-504 [PMID: 32006369 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-30402-7 15]
- Stevens LJ, Burgess JR, Stochelski MA, Kuczek T. Amounts of artificial food colors in commonly 76 consumed beverages and potential behavioral implications for consumption in children. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2014; 53: 133-140 [PMID: 24037921 DOI: 10.1177/0009922813502849]
- 77 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR). Title 21, Part 74: listing of color additives subject to certification. United States Government. 2019 [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from:



https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm?CFRPart=74

- 78 Stevens LJ, Burgess JR, Stochelski MA, Kuczek T. Amounts of artificial food dyes and added sugars in foods and sweets commonly consumed by children. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2015; 54: 309-321 [PMID: 24764054 DOI: 10.1177/0009922814530803]
- 79 Dufault R, LeBlanc B, Schnoll R, Cornett C, Schweitzer L, Wallinga D, Hightower J, Patrick L, Lukiw WJ. Mercury from chlor-alkali plants: measured concentrations in food product sugar. Environ Health 2009; 8: 2 [PMID: 19171026 DOI: 10.1186/1476-069X-8-2]
- 80 Guzmán-Maldonado H, Paredes-López O. Amylolytic enzymes and products derived from starch: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 1995; 35: 373-403 [PMID: 8573280 DOI: 10.1080/10408399509527706]
- 81 Rideout K, Sahni V, Copes R, Wylie M, Kosatsky T. Comment on the paper by Dufault et al: Mercury in foods containing high fructose corn syrup in Canada. Environ Health 2010; [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://ehjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1476-069X-8-2/comments
- 82 Wallinga D, Sorensen J, Mottl P, Yablon B. Not so sweet: missing mercury and high fructose corn syrup. Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy (IATP). 2009 [cited 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://www.iatp.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/Not%20So%20Sweet%20Missing%20Mercury%20and%20HFCS_0.pdf
- 83 Dufault R. Unsafe at any meal: what the FDA does not want you to know about the food you eat. Garden City Park: Square One Pub, 2017: 211-218
- 84 United Kingdom Food Standards Agency. Food Additives. [cited 22 January 2021]. Available from: https://www.food.gov.uk/safety-hygiene/food-additives
- McCann D, Barrett A, Cooper A, Crumpler D, Dalen L, Grimshaw K, Kitchin E, Lok K, Porteous L, Prince E, Sonuga-Barke E, Warner JO, Stevenson J. Food additives and hyperactive behaviour in 3-year-old and 8/9-year-old children in the community: a randomised, double-blinded, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 2007; 370: 1560-1567 [PMID: 17825405 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61306-3
- 86 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Sodium benzoate monograph 1 (2006). In online edition: Compendium of Food Additive Specifications. [cited 22 January 2021]. Available from: http://www.fao.org/food/food-safety-quality/scientific-advice/jecfa/jecfaadditives/detail/en/c/296/
- 87 Raehsler SL, Choung RS, Marietta EV, Murray JA. Accumulation of Heavy Metals in People on a Gluten-Free Diet. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2018; 16: 244-251 [PMID: 28223206 DOI: 10.1016/j.cgh.2017.01.0341
- 88 Piwowarczyk A, Horvath A, Łukasik J, Pisula E, Szajewska H. Gluten- and casein-free diet and autism spectrum disorders in children: a systematic review. Eur J Nutr 2018; 57: 433-440 [PMID: 28612113 DOI: 10.1007/s00394-017-1483-2]
- 89 Pasca SP, Dronca E, Nemeş B, Kaucsár T, Endreffy E, Iftene F, Benga I, Cornean R, Dronca M. Paraoxonase 1 activities and polymorphisms in autism spectrum disorders. J Cell Mol Med 2010; 14: 600-607 [PMID: 18624774 DOI: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00414.x]
- Sezen H, Kandemir H, Savik E, Basmacı Kandemir S, Kilicaslan F, Bilinc H, Aksoy N. Increased 90 oxidative stress in children with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. Redox Rep 2016; 21: 248-253 [PMID: 26886057 DOI: 10.1080/13510002.2015.1116729]
- 91 Ceylan MF, Sener S, Bayraktar AC, Kavutcu M. Changes in oxidative stress and cellular immunity serum markers in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 2012; 66: 220-226 [PMID: 22443244 DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2012.02330.x]
- 92 Adams JB, Audhya T, Geis E, Gehn E, Fimbres V, Pollard EL, Mitchell J, Ingram J, Hellmers R, Laake D, Matthews JS, Li K, Naviaux JC, Naviaux RK, Adams RL, Coleman DM, Quig DW. Comprehensive Nutritional and Dietary Intervention for Autism Spectrum Disorder-A Randomized, Controlled 12-Month Trial. Nutrients 2018; 10 [PMID: 29562612 DOI: 10.3390/nu10030369]
- 93 Charen E, Harbord N. Toxicity of Herbs, Vitamins, and Supplements. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2020; 27: 67-71 [PMID: 32147004 DOI: 10.1053/j.ackd.2019.08.003]
- United States Department of Health and Human Services. 2015-2020 Dietary Guidelines. [cited 94 23 January 2021]. Available from: https://health.gov/our-work/food-nutrition/previous-dietaryguidelines/2015
- Ulusoy Ş, Mol S, Karakulak FS, Kahraman AE. Selenium-Mercury Balance in Commercial Fish 95 Species from the Turkish Waters. Biol Trace Elem Res 2019; 191: 207-213 [PMID: 30552608 DOI: 10.1007/s12011-018-1609-2
- Ralston NVC, Kaneko JJ, Raymond LJ. Selenium health benefit values provide a reliable index of 96 seafood benefits vs. risks. J Trace Elem Med Biol 2019; 55: 50-57 [PMID: 31345365 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2019.05.009
- Cardoso BR, Duarte GBS, Reis BZ, Cozzolino SMF. Brazil nuts: Nutritional composition, health 97 benefits and safety aspects. Food Res Int 2017; 100: 9-18 [PMID: 28888463 DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2017.08.036]
- Khan K, Khan H, Lu Y, Ihsanullah I, Nawab J, Khan S, Shah NS, Shamshad I, Maryam A. 98 Evaluation of toxicological risk of foodstuffs contaminated with heavy metals in Swat, Pakistan, Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 2014; 108: 224-232 [PMID: 25086826 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.05.014]
- Juszczuk-Kubiak E, Bujko K, Cymer M, Wicińska K, Gabryszuk M, Pierzchała M. Effect of 99 Inorganic Dietary Selenium Supplementation on Selenoprotein and Lipid Metabolism Gene



Expression Patterns in Liver and Loin Muscle of Growing Lambs. Biol Trace Elem Res 2016; 172: 336-345 [PMID: 26701332 DOI: 10.1007/s12011-015-0592-0]

- 100 Dufault R. Educating parents of learning-disabled children on nutrition: a web-based 6-week nutrition tutorial. Doctoral Thesis, A.T. Still University, 2016
- 101 Del Carmen Xotlanihua-Gervacio M, Herrera-Moreno JF, Medina-Díaz IM, Bernal-Hernández YY, Rothenberg SJ, Barrón-Vivanco BS, Rojas-García AE. Relationship between internal and external factors and the activity of PON1. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2019; 26: 24946-24957 [PMID: 31243662 DOI: 10.1007/s11356-019-05696-9]
- 102 Mackness M, Mackness B. Human paraoxonase-1 (PON1): Gene structure and expression, promiscuous activities and multiple physiological roles. Gene 2015; 567: 12-21 [PMID: 25965560 DOI: 10.1016/j.gene.2015.04.088]



WIM

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 160-186

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.160

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

Fascinating history of groin hernias: Comprehensive recognition of anatomy, classic considerations for herniorrhaphy, and current controversies in hernioplasty

Tomohide Hori, Daiki Yasukawa

ORCID number: Tomohide Hori 0000-0002-8282-4403: Daiki Yasukawa 0000-0002-2897-6166.

Author contributions: Hori T and Yasukawa D wrote this review; historical turning points was investigated by Hori T; Yasukawa D originally drew all illustrations and schemas; Hori T and Yasukawa D assessed important papers; Hori T supervised this review; Hori T and Yasukawa D contributed equally to this work.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

None of the authors has a potential conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Tomohide Hori, Department of Surgery, Shiga General Hospital, Moriyama 524-8524, Shiga, Japan

Daiki Yasukawa, Department of Surgery, Shiga University of Medical Science, Otsu 520-2192, Japan

Corresponding author: Tomohide Hori, FACS, MD, PhD, Academic Fellow, Attending Doctor, Director, Surgeon, Department of Surgery, Shiga General Hospital, 5-4-30 Moriyama, Moriyama 524-8524, Shiga, Japan. horitomo55office@yahoo.co.jp

Abstract

Groin hernias include indirect inguinal, direct inguinal, femoral, obturator, and supravesical hernias. Here, we summarize historical turning points, anatomical recognition and surgical repairs. Groin hernias have a fascinating history in the fields of anatomy and surgery. The concept of tension-free repair is generally accepted among clinicians. Surgical repair with mesh is categorized as hernioplasty, while classic repair without mesh is considered herniorrhaphy. Although various surgical approaches have been developed, the surgical technique should be carefully chosen for each patient. Regarding as interesting history, crucial anatomy and important surgeries in the field of groin hernia, we here summarized them in detail, respectively. Points of debate are also reviewed; important points are shown using illustrations and schemas. We hope this systematic review is surgical guide for general surgeons including residents. Both a skillful technique and anatomical knowledge are indispensable for successful hernia surgery in the groin.

Key Words: Inguinal hernia; Groin; History; Anatomy; Hernioplasty; Herniorrhaphy

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Groin hernias include indirect inguinal, direct inguinal, femoral, obturator, and supravesical hernias. Groin hernias have a fascinating history in the fields of anatomy and surgery, and the concept of tension-free repair is generally accepted



Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Specialty type: Surgery

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 13, 2021 Peer-review started: March 13, 2021 First decision: March 31, 2021 Revised: April 2, 2021 Accepted: May 15, 2021 Article in press: May 15, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Eaupanitcharoen S, Mannelli L S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Yuan YY



among clinicians. Although various surgical approaches have been developed, the surgical technique should be carefully chosen for each patient. Surgical repair with mesh is categorized as hernioplasty, while classic repair without mesh is considered herniorrhaphy. Points of debate are also reviewed; important points are shown using illustrations and schemas. Overall, both a skillful technique and anatomical knowledge are indispensable for successful hernia surgery in the groin.

Citation: Hori T, Yasukawa D. Fascinating history of groin hernias: Comprehensive recognition of anatomy, classic considerations for herniorrhaphy, and current controversies in hernioplasty. World J Methodol 2021; 11(4): 160-186

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/160.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.160

INTRODUCTION

The etymology of the term "hernia" originates from the Latin word for "prolapse," and the earliest evidence of an inguinal hernia was recorded in approximately 1552 BC in ancient Egypt[1,2]. In the early 1950s, the term "groin hernia" was first used by Henri Fruchaud (1894-1960)[3]. Hernias in the groin include indirect inguinal, direct inguinal, femoral, obturator, and supravesical hernias^[4]. Herniorrhaphy has been performed to treat inguinal and femoral hernias since the 18th century. Edoardo Bassini (1844–1924) established a modern herniorrhaphy technique[5]; thereafter, groin herniorrhaphy became the most common technique performed in the field of general surgery^[4]. Recent studies have shown that approximately 750000 patients undergo this procedure yearly in the United States[4,6]; the direct annual cost is 2.5 billion dollars[4].

In 1804, Astley Cooper (1768-1841) stated, "No disease of the human body, belonging to the province of the surgeon, requires in its treatment a greater combination of accurate anatomical knowledge with surgical skill than hernia in all its varieties." [7] Notably, herniorrhaphy treatment of pediatric patients is useful for accurate evaluation of the skills of general surgeons and residents[8]. Sir William Heneage Ogilvie (1887-1971) once stated, "I know more than a hundred surgeons whom I would cheerfully allow to remove my gallbladder but only one to whom I should like to expose my inguinal canal." [9] Notably, both technical skill and anatomical recognition are crucial for safe and reliable surgery. Irving L. Lichtenstein (1920–2000) established the concept of tension-free repair (TFR) in 1986[10,11]. Various meshes, including biological mesh, are currently available for groin surgery[12]. Surgical repair with mesh is categorized as hernioplasty, while classic repairs without mesh are termed herniorrhaphy. Many physicians focus on the preperitoneal (posterior) space (PPS)[3,7,13-21], topographic nerves[22-31], and regional vessels[4,32-34]

This review discusses existing knowledge regarding groin hernia. It summarizes historical turning points in the anatomy and surgery of groin hernias, described the current status of anatomical recognition and surgical repair, examines points of contention, and considers future perspectives. Despite the current global pandemic due to Chinese Wuhan pneumonia (so-called COVID 2019), general surgeons including residents thrive. We hope that this review including milestones of history, anatomy, and surgery will be informative for surgeons involved in the treatment of groin hernias.

ETIOLOGY

Inguinal hernias constitute 75% of abdominal wall hernias and have the lifetime risks of inguinal hernias are 27% in men and boys and 3% in women and girls[35]. Indirect (external or lateral) inguinal hernias (IIHs) outnumber direct (internal or inner) inguinal hernias (DIHs) by a ratio of approximately 2:1[35]. Suspected congenital causes for persistent patency of processus vaginalis include cryptorchidism, lack of carbachol response, absence of cholinergic receptors, absence of myofibroblasts, absence of apoptotic nuclei, failed apoptosis of smooth muscle, catecholaminergic



activity related to luteinizing and gonadotropin-releasing hormones, and deficiencies involving epithelial-mesenchymal transition[36-42]. Possible risk factors for groin hernias include elevated abdominal pressure (e.g., by constipation, coughing, and obesity)[6], diabetes[6], smoking[6], collagen distribution[43,44], peritoneal dialysis [45], radical prostatectomy[46], and family history[47].

SYMPTOMS AND EVALUATION

Groin hernias are extremely common and can often be diagnosed by simple anamnesis collection and a physical examination[48]. Surgical repair is elective unless incarceration or strangulation is present[48]. Palpation of both testes in the scrotal sac should be performed during the clinical examination to rule out cryptorchid testis^[49]. Local pain in the scrotal sac, which may indicate testicular torsion, should never be overlooked. From an immunological perspective, testicular torsion requires urgent surgery[50]. An undescended testicle harbors an increased risk of infertility and malignancy; thus, it requires orchiopexy in early childhood[48]. The development of autoimmune antisperm antibody induced by testicular torsion influences testicular function and subsequently causes male sterility[50].

The inguinal canal (IC) is traversed by the spermatic cord (SC) in men and boys, and by the round ligament (RL) of the uterus in women and girls. The RL is attached to the uterus and is accompanied by a pouch of parietal peritoneum in the IC, known as the canal of Nuck[51]. A hydrocele of the canal of Nuck is a differential diagnosis for groin hernia[51]. Hydroceles of the SC and testis are also differential diagnoses for groin hernia; deliberate surgery is required for SC hydroceles[52]. Hydroceles in infancy may resolve without surgery [48].

The bladder may be involved in groin hernias[53,54]; thus, injury to the urinary tract should be avoided. Notably, immature infants at birth may easily develop bladder prolapse^[55]; therefore, the body weight at birth should be checked before surgery to avoid serious iatrogenic injuries[56].

In 1559, Caspar Stromayr (1530-1567) classified inguinal hernias as either IIH or DIH[57]. Inguinal hernias are currently classified as indirect or direct and primary or recurrent^[6]. Some classifications are based on anatomical findings in relation to the development of the hernia (e.g., posterior floor integrity, enlarged inguinal rings, and hernia size)[58,59]. The severity of the groin hernia may be difficult to determine prior to surgery; size alone may not be associated with severity in some patients[6]. However, the size of the groin hernia affects the choice of the surgical approach because surgeries performed under local or conduction anesthesia are contraindicated for huge hernias[59]. The European Hernia Society has proposes a simple classification (based on Aachen's classification[60]), which is used worldwide[61,62]. Briefly, this classification is based on orifice size and anatomical localization[60,61]. The size of the hernia orifice is recorded as $1 \le 1$ finger), 2 (1-2 fingers), or $3 \ge 3 \text{ fingers})[60]$. Thus, a hernia orifice of 2.5 cm is considered a size 2 hernia[60]. For anatomical localization, the criteria are lateral (L), medial (M), and femoral (F)[60,61]. In addition, hernias are regarded as primary (P) or recurrent (R)[60,61].

HISTORY

Groin hernias have an interesting anatomical and surgical history[1,11,63-65] (Table 1). Pierre Franco (1500-1561) and Ambroise Paré (1510-1590) used conservative treatments with a strong bandage[1,66]. Specific anatomical structures in the IC were clarified in the 18th century [1]; the first report of successful transabdominal repair was described in 1716 by Demetrius Cantemir (1673–1723)[1]. Lorenz Heister (1683–1758) first reported successful bowel resection *via* laparotomy for a strangulated hernia^[67].

Franz Kaspar Hesselbach (1759–1816) was the first to describe various anatomical structures [e.g., cribriform fascia (Hesselbach's fascia) and interfoveolar ligament (Hesselbach's ligament)]. Hesselbach also defined the inguinal triangle (*i.e.*, "Hesselbach's triangle"), which is superolaterally bounded by the inguinal ligament (IL), the exterior border of the abdominal rectus muscle, and the inferior epigastric vessels[68,69].

Henry O. Marcy (1837-1924) stated that failure to close the internal (deep) inguinal ring (IIR), or low ligation of the hernia sac, could result in recurrence; he described an accurate reconstruction technique in 1871[70]. Marcy's repair was the first implementation of high ligation of the sac and closure of the IIR^[70].



Table 1 History of anatomy and surgery for groin hernia			
Name	Year	Remarks	
G. Falloppio (1523-1562)		Importance of the IL (Etiology)	
F. Poupart (1661- 1709)		Poupart's ligament (i.e., the inguinal ligament)	
P. Camper (1722-1789)		Camper's fascia (Anatomy)	
A. Scarpa (1752-1832)		Scarpa's fascia (Anatomy)	
D. Cantemir (1673-1723)	1716	Successful surgery (via a laparotomy)	
L. Heister (1683-1758)		Bowel resection for strangulated hernia	
P. Roland Arnaud de Ronsil	1724	Obturator hernia	
C. Amyand (1660-1749)	1735	Amyand's hernia	
AG. Richter (1742-1812)	1777	Strangulated hernia	
AP. Cooper (1768-1841)		Cooper's ligament (Anatomy)	
HO. Marcy (1837-1924)	1806	Marcy's repair (Anterior approach)	
FK. Hesselbach (1759-1816)	1871	Hesselbach's triangle (Anatomy)	
WJ. Mitchell Banks (1842-1904)	1882	Simple high ligation in infants and children	
E. Basssini (1844-1924)	1887	Bassini's repair (Anterior approach)	
WS. Halsted (1852-1922)		Modified Bassini's repair	
EW. Andrews (1824-1904)		Modified Bassini's repair	
L. Tait (1845-1899)	1891	Transabdominal approach	
J. Lucas Championniere (1843-1913)	1892	Simple high ligation in infants and children	
G. La Roque (1876-1934)	1919	Transabdominal approach	
GL. Cheatle (1865-1951)	1920	TEP approach	
RH. Russel (1860-1933)	1925	Sac removal in infants and children	
A. Henry (1886-1962)	1936	Transabdominal approach	
CB. McVay (1911-1987)	1939	McVay's repair (Anterior approach)	
BJ. Anson (1894-1874)		Importance of the TF	
WJ. Potts (1895-1968)	1945	Potts' method in infants and children	
EE. Shouldice (1981-1965)	1953	Shouldice's repair (Anterior approach)	
H. Fruchaud (1894-1960)	1956	The PPS (Anatomy)	
CE. Koop (1916-2013)	1957	Koop's fixation	
FC. Usher (1908-1980)	1958	Monofilament polypropylene mesh (Anterior approach)	
LM. Nyhus (1923-2008)	1959	IPT repair (Preperitoneal approach)	
J. Rives (1873-1985)	1965	Mesh placement in the PPS (Preperitoneal approach)	
RE. Stoppa (1921-2006)	1969	Prosthetic reinforcement in the PPS (Preperitoneal approach)	
P. Fletcher	1979	Laparoscope use (Laparoscopic approach)	
R. Gel	1982	Laparoscopic repair (Laparoscopic approach)	
IL. Lichtenstein (1920-2000)	1986	Mesh plug (Anterior approach)	
		The concept of TFR	
S. Bogojavalensky	1989	Laparoscopic repair with mesh plug (Laparoscopic approach)	
L. Schultz	1990	The first series of laparoscopic repair (Laparoscopic approach)	
JL. Dulucq	1991	Mesh placement in the PPS (Endoscopic approach)	
FK. Toy and RT. Smoot, Jr.	1991	Intraperitoneal onlay mesh repair (Laparoscopic approach)	
RJ. Fitzgibbons, Jr.	1991	Intraperitoneal onlay mesh repair (Laparoscopic approach)	

Hori T et al. Important anatomy and surgical repair

AT. Spaw and LP. Spaw	1991	Triangle of doom (Anatomy)
AI. Gilbert	1992	Sutureless technique (Anterior approach)
ME. Arregui	1992	TAPP repair (Laparoscopic approach)
GS. Ferzli	1992	TEP repair (Endoscopic approach)
JM. Himpens	1992	TEP repair (Endoscopic approach)
JB. McKernan and HL. Laws	1993	TEP repair (Endoscopic approach)
EH. Phillips	1993	TEP repair (Endoscopic approach)
R. Annibali, TH. Quinn and RJ. Fitzgibbons Jr.	1993	Triangle of pain (Anatomy)

IL: Inguinal ligament; IPT: Iliopubic tract; PPS: Preperitoneal (posterior) space; TAPP: Transabdominal preperitoneal; TEP: Totally extraperitoneal; TF: Transversalis fascia; TFR: Tension-free repair.

> Bassini^[5] elucidated the anatomy of the anterior IC in 1884, then ushered safe and effective surgery into the modern era by describing Bassini's repair in 1887[5,71]. Notably, Bassini advocated the importance of Marcy's theory and emphasized floor reconstruction involving approximation of the internal abdominal oblique muscle (IAOM) and transverse abdominal muscle with the transversalis fascia (TF), combined with a shelving edge of the IL[5,71].

> William Stewart Halsted (1852-1922) and Edmund W. Andrews (1824-1904) modified Bassini's repair[72-74]. The antiseptic concept was accelerated in the 19th century after Joseph Lister (1827-1912) introduced antisepsis[72]; additionally, Halsted was the first to use surgical gloves for aseptic technique during surgery[75]. Modified Bassini's repair (i.e., "North American Bassini" repair) was implemented worldwide, although its use was associated with a higher recurrence rate [76]. Subsequently, Arthur Keith (1866–1955) described a shutter mechanism in 1923[13].

> Chester Bidwell McVay (1911-1987) first employed Cooper's ligament for repair in 1939[77]; McVay's method involved repair of a femoral hernia through the posterior wall of the IC[78]. McVay and Barry J. Anson (1894–1874) focused on the importance of the TF[79]. Initially, the arch of the transverse abdominal muscle was approximated to Cooper's ligament, the iliopubic tract (IPT), and the IL. Subsequently, a relaxing incision was placed in the anterior rectus sheath.

> In 1919, George La Roque (1876-1934) utilized abdominal and cutaneous incisions, then ligated the retracted hernia sac from the abdominal cavity^[1]. In 1936, Arnold Henry (1886-1962) devised an analogous approach by means of a lower abdominal midline incision. In 1920, a totally extraperitoneal approach was first executed by George Lenthal Cheatle (1865-1951) as a radical curative operation for both inguinal and femoral hernias using a lower mid-abdominal preperitoneal approach[80].

> Lloyd M Nyhus (1923–2008) introduced IPT repair in 1959[15], in accordance with the concept of the preperitoneal (posterior) approach[81]. The anterior rectus sheath was divided, and the abdominal rectus muscle was retracted medially; the TF was then exposed and the PPS was accessed. The IIH sac was ligated, and the defect was closed by approximating the conjoint tendon to the IPT and IL. Thereafter, based on the concept of the preperitoneal approach, prosthetic reinforcement in the PPS was first described by Jean Rives (1873-1985) in 1965 for unilateral hernias[16] and by René Stoppa (1921-2006) in 1969 for bilateral inguinal hernias[82].

> Edward Earle Shouldice (1890-1965) introduced a multiple layer repair of the posterior inguinal wall in 1953[14]. The TF was divided from the IIR to the pubic tubercle and lifted from the peritoneum. Shouldice's repair proposed an imbrication of the TF and strengthening of the posterior wall of the IC by using four layers of the fascia and aponeuroses of the IAOM. Henri Fruchaud clarified the preperitoneal anatomy in the early 1950s[3]; preperitoneal and laparoscopic approaches were thereafter realized based on his work.

> Jean Rives placed mesh into the PPS in 1965[16], and René Stoppa used a large Dacron prosthesis to reinforce the TF[83]. In 1986, Irving L. Lichtenstein first introduced a mesh plug made by rolling a piece of flat polypropylene into the shape of a cigarette to fill a femoral defect[10,11]. The mesh was fixated with interrupted sutures; this "cigarette plug" was used to repair inguinal, femoral, and recurrent hernias. Hence, Lichtenstein established a TFR technique that ushered a new surgical era[10, 11]. Classic hernia repairs used sutures under tension, which led to a high recurrence rate; TFR dramatically improved the rates of recurrence and infection[84]. Prosthetic



mesh was used to reinforce the TF; specifically, polypropylene mesh was superiorly fixed to the IL, lateral edge of the rectus sheath, and conjoint tendon. Francis Usher (1908–1980) introduced the use of monofilament polypropylene mesh in 1958[85,86] and parietalized the SC[87]. Thereafter, Arthur I Gilbert (1913-2001) improved TFR with a sutureless technique [88,89]. Lichtenstein was first to coin the term "tension-free hernioplasty" [90]; the concept of TFR revolutionized hernia surgery [11,63]. The advantageous simplicity of "mesh-plug hernioplasty" was first described in 1993[91]; thereafter, this procedure became preferable and spread worldwide[92,93].

Although Lichtenstein's repair produced excellent results, George E Wantz (1923–2000) warned that polypropylene mesh did not cover the entire myopectineal orifice (MO) and that Lichtenstein's repair was therefore inadequate to prevent a femoral hernia[94]. Notably, he also stated that incomplete coverage of the MO by the mesh could predispose patients to subsequent DIH[94].

WALL LAYERS

Petrus Camper (1722-1789), Antonio Scarpa (1752-1832), and Franz Kaspar Hesselbach provided detailed descriptions of inguinal structures, particularly of important ligaments[1]. Following elaborate anatomical studies, François Poupart (1661–1709) in 1695 recognized the importance in hernia pathology of the IL[1], which had been described previously by Gabriele Falloppio (1523–1562)[1]. Astley P. Cooper published original anatomical views regarding the IC in 1804 and 1807[1]. Part of the aponeurosis of the external abdominal oblique muscle composes the IL, although the IAOM is observed under the aponeurosis of the external abdominal oblique muscle at the groin. The IL is also known as the Fallopian ligament or Poupart's ligament.

The abdominal wall at the groin is classically considered to have nine layers[95]: skin, subcutaneous fat, superficial fasciae (Camper's and Scarpa's fasciae), innominate (unnamed or untitled) fascia, IL, IAOM, TF, PPS [superficial parietal layer (SPL) and deeper visceral layer (DVL)], and peritoneum. This classification involves the innominate (unnamed or untitled) fascia, which is a thin membrane on the IL, and does not indicate division of the PPS into the SPL (i.e., anterior subperitoneal fascia) and DVL (*i.e.*, posterior subperitoneal fascia) (Figure 1). The PPS comprises preperitoneal fat.

The IC is a passage in the anterior abdominal wall that conveys the SC in men and boys, whereas it conveys the RL in women and girls. The IL is bordered by the aponeurosis of the external abdominal oblique muscle anteriorly, the IAOM and transverse abdominal muscle superiorly, the IL and lacunar ligaments inferiorly, and the TF posteriorly.

PREPERITONEAL (POSTERIOR) SPACE AND MYOPECTINEAL ORIFICE

In the early 1950s, Henri Fruchaud reported that all hernias at the groin result from a defect of the TF and pass through the myopectineal orifice (MO) (all three triangles of the groin)[3]. The oval-shaped MO is the origin of all groin hernias[4] (Figure 2). In 1965, Jean Rives proposed reinforcement of the TF with a prosthesis placed in the preperitoneal (posterior) space (PPS), if local structures are weak[16]. Although an "on-lay patch," (placed on the anterior side of the TF) was historically used, the importance of an "under-lay (in-lay) patch" placed between the TF and peritoneum is now widely accepted. Hence, general surgeons commonly recognize the concept of optimal repair at the PPS. The PPS is observed between the TF and peritoneum; adequate creation of an extended PPS is important for optimal surgery [64,96]. Several physicians [Astley P. Cooper in 1807[7], William James Lytle (1896–1986) in 1945[13], Edward Earle Shouldice in 1953[14], Henri Fruchaud in 1956[3], Lloyd M. Nyhus in 1959[15], Jean Rives in 1965[16], R. Fowler Jr. in 1975[17], René Stoppa in 1977[18,19], Raymond C. Read in 1992[20], and Maurice E. Arregui in 1997[21]] historically made mention of this important space[97] (Table 2). In particular, anatomical recognition of the SPL and DVL was a milestone for further developments of surgical repair techniques[97]. The anterior subperitoneal fascia is recognized as the SPL, while the posterior subperitoneal fascia is recognized as the DVL[29] (Figure 3).

Anatomical recognition of the MO is also crucial for reliable treatment[98,99], and laparoscopic exploration easily reveals this orifice[4]. Full coverage of the MO is considered optimal surgery [98-100]. This orifice should be fully reinforced in a TFR manner to prevent IIHs, DIHs, femoral hernias, and obturator hernias [98-102]. Mesh implantation into an extended cavity of the PPS is currently considered optimal
Table 2 Preperitoneal (posterior) space and myopectineal orifice									
Name	Year	SPL (Posterior sub-peritoneal fascia)	DVL (Anterior sub-peritoneal fascia)						
AP. Cooper	1807	TF-inner portion	-						
WJ. Lytle	1945	Preperitoneal fascia	-						
EE. Shouldice	1953	Preperitoneal fascia	-						
H. Fruchaud	1956	PPS at the MO	-						
LM. Nyhus	1959	PPS	-						
J. Rives	1965	Inguinal PPS	-						
R. Fowler	1975	Preperitoneal fascia-membranous layer	Preperitoneal fascia-areolar layer						
RE. Stoppa	1977	Urogenital fascia	Urogenital fascia						
		Umbilico-prevesical fascia	Umbilico-prevesical fascia						
		Spermatic sheath	Spermatic sheath						
RC. Read	1992	TF-posterior lamina	-						
ME. Arregui	1997	Attenuated rectus sheath	Umbilical prevesicular fascia						
		TF-posterior lamina	Preperitoneal fascia						

DVL: Deeper visceral layer; MO: Myopectineal orifice; PPS: Preperitoneal (posterior) space; SPL: Superficial parietal layer; TF: Transversalis fascia.



Figure 1 Wall layers. The abdominal wall at the groin contains the following components: skin, subcutaneous fat, superficial fasciae (Camper's and Scarpa's fasciae), innominate (unnamed or untitled) fascia, IL, IAOM, TF, PPS [SPL (anterior subperitoneal fascia) and DVL (posterior subperitoneal fascia)], and peritoneum. DVL: Deeper visceral layer; IAOM: Internal abdominal oblique muscle; IL: Inguinal ligament; PPS: Preperitoneal space; SPL: Superficial parietal layer; TF: Transversalis fascia.

surgery[98-102].

Some physicians have performed detailed investigations of the layer in which the bladder exists[19,21,103] (Figure 4). The terms "spermatic sheath" and "urogenital fascia" established by René Stoppa[19] and "umbilical prevesical fascia" established by Maurice E. Arregui[21] have become widespread.

PEDIATRIC HERNIORRHAPHY

Many pediatric surgeons focus on herniorrhaphy in infants and children[104-107]. Notably, a contralateral hernia develops after unilateral surgery in 8% to 11% of patients[108,109]. The low incidence of contralateral hernia after unilateral herniorrhaphy does not justify routine contralateral groin exploration[108,109].



Figure 2 Myopectineal orifice. The oval-shaped myopectineal orifice (green dotted circle) is the origin of all groin hernias (brown dotted circles). DIH: Direct inguinal hernia; IIH: Indirect inguinal hernia; MO: Myopectineal orifice; VD: Vas deferens.



Figure 3 Preperitoneal space. DVL: Deeper visceral layer; PPS: Preperitoneal space; SC: Spermatic cord; SPL: Superficial parietal layer; TF: Transversalis fascia; VD: Vas deferens.

Just Lucas-Championnière (1843–1913) described a simple high ligation technique in 1892[110]. William Mitchell Banks (1842–1904) in 1882[111] and Willis J. Potts (1895–1968) in 1950[104,107] described high ligation by means of a partial incision of the IC without opening the external (superficial) inguinal ring. Alexander Hug Ferguson (1853–1912) added anterior wall repair in 1899[112].

P. Turner in 1912[113] and A. MacLennon in 1914[114] advised simple removal of the sac to the IIR through a very small incision. In 1925, Robert Hamilton Russell (1860–1933) strongly emphasized surgical removal of the sac solely in infants and children[115]. In 1938, Gertrude Marianne Amalia Herzfeld (1890–1981) used a small incision over the external inguinal ring, pulled down and ligated the sac, and closed the external inguinal ring with a single stitch[116]. In 1945, Jerome S. Coles (1911–1996) advised transfixation and ligation of the proximal end as high as possible[117].

Willis J. Potts performed a high ligation in 1945[104,107,118]; and Potts' method thereafter spread as the standard surgical technique worldwide. Charles Everett Koop (1916–2013) immobilized the edge of a high ligation by suturing the dorsal side of the IAOM. Koop's fixation prevented postoperative infertility due to uterine retroflexion and reduced postoperative recurrence[119]. The bilateral RLs are cut during hernior-rhaphy for bilateral inguinal hernias; thus, Koop's fixation should be routinely performed for bilateral inguinal hernias in female patients[120].

In the field of pediatric herniorrhaphy, surgeons also recognize the importance of the PPS. Laparoscopy has been used to assist repair in the PPS[121,122]; and Takehara *et al*[123] first described laparoscopic percutaneous extraperitoneal closure in 2006. Laparoscopic percutaneous extraperitoneal closure is a simple technique that includes ligation around the IIR by means of a unique needle. This surgery avoids opening of the IC and involves minimal dissection around the testicular vessels and vas deferens (VD).



Figure 4 Vas deferens, spermatic cord and bladder. The vas deferens courses as the "preperitoneal loop" in the deeper visceral layer (DVL). The bladder exists in the DVL. DVL: Deeper visceral layer; PPS: Preperitoneal space; SC: Spermatic cord; SPL: Superficial parietal layer; TF: Transversalis fascia; VD: Vas deferens

HERNIA SURGERY IN THE CURRENT ERA

Beginning in the latter half of the 20th century, prosthetic mesh was routinely used in accordance with the TFR concept; many surgeons recognized the importance of the PPS. Laparoscopy and endoscopy have therapeutic potential for hernia surgeries.

Laparoscopic transabdominal preperitoneal (TAPP) repair is based on the same principle (i.e., therapeutic feasibility of the transperitoneal approach for groin hernia) as the technique published by Lawson Tait (1845-1899) in 1891[124]. P. Fletcher first employed a laparoscope to repair a groin hernia in 1979[64]. Subsequently, Ralph Ger in 1982[125], S. Bogojavalensky in 1989[126], Leonard Schultz in 1990[127], and Maurice E. Arregui in 1992 and 1993[128,129] reported their respective TAPP repair techniques.

Endoscopic totally extraperitoneal repair is based on the preperitoneal anatomy clarified by Henri Fruchaud in 1956[3]. Jean Louis Dulucq first reported mesh implantation into the PPS in 1991[130]; thereafter, George S. Ferzli in 1992[131], Jacques M. Himpens in 1992[132], and John Barry McKernan in 1993[133] performed this procedure. Edward H. Phillips was the first to use the term "totally extraperitoneal" in 1993 [134].

Laparoscopic intraperitoneal on-lay mesh repair does not involve groin dissection. Frederick K. Toy and Roy T. Smoot described this procedure in 1991[135], while Muhammed A. Memon *et al.* employed this procedure beginning in 1991[136].

Surgeons can now choose from among several approaches (e.g., open vs laparoscopic/endoscopic and anterior vs preperitoneal), planes in which the mesh is placed (e.g., layer in front of the TF vs the PPS), fixation devices (e.g., suture, sutureless, tack, or glue), and prostheses (e.g., soft vs hard meshes and sheeted vs three-dimensional meshes)[137].

TYPES OF MESHES AND TENSION-FREE HERNIOPLASTY

Many meshes are currently available^[12]. Hernia repair with mesh is regarded as hernioplasty, while traditional repairs without mesh are regarded as herniorrhaphy.



The TFR concept by Irving L. Lichtenstein was a breakthrough idea[10,11,64], and the use of surgical mesh is superior to other techniques[138]. Mesh is inherently a foreign body; thus, postoperative removal may be required because of complications such as refractory infection[139].

In 1890, Theodor Billroth (1829-1894) used various prosthetic materials for hernia repair^[140], although all failed due to infection, rejection, and recurrence^[12]. Suitable materials for surgical procedures were seriously needed. The turning point in hernia surgery was the discovery of synthetic polymers (e.g., nylon) by Wallace Hume Carothers (1896-1937) in 1935[11]. Francis Usher (1908-1980) introduced the use of monofilament polypropylene mesh in 1958[85,87]; he later compared nylon, orlon, Darcon, and teflon[141]. Monofilament polypropylene meshes (e.g., Prolene; Ethicon, Inc., Cincinnati, OH USA) are available from many manufacturers in the current era. One of the first synthetic meshes used was Marlex, which comprised crystalline polypropylene and high-density polyethylene. Irving L. Lichtenstein first introduced a mesh plug that consisted of polypropylene mesh in 1986[10,11]. Polypropylene, polyester, and expanded polytetrafluoroethylene were initially used; thereafter, polyglactin 910, cellulose, polyvinylidene fluoride, poliglecaprone 25, omega 3, titanium, and collagen were employed as additional materials.

Current meshes are chemically and physically inert; they are also nontoxic, stable, and nonimmunogenic^[12]. However, none are biologically inert, due to the mesh physiology[12]. The introduction of a foreign material into the body triggers a healing response characterized by one of three reactions: destruction, tolerance, or rejection [12]. All meshes have their own characteristics with respect to elasticity (tensile strength), pore size, weight (density), constitution, and material absorption[12].

Double-sided polypropylene mesh is designed as a bilayer polypropylene mesh with a connector between the layers; this mesh is fixated with fewer sutures than a monolayer polypropylene mesh. This system enables coverage of the MO and can repair IIHs, DIHs, and femoral hernias from an anterior approach. The on-lay patch covers the entire floor of the IC, while the under-lay patch is placed into the PPS. Robert Kugel placed a sutureless mesh in the PPS in 1999, and this mesh is known as the "Kugel hernia patch" [142]. This patch was later modified to a so-called "direct Kugel patch" for placement of the mesh by means of a minimal incision in the IL. Double-sided polypropylene mesh (e.g., Prolene Hernia System; Ethicon, Inc.) and the direct Kugel patch have become widespread on a commercial basis. Furthermore, polypropylene mesh itself is currently employed in surgeries for other diseases[143].

Inguinal hernia repair is associated with a low incidence of complications that can be influenced by the type of mesh[144]. In terms of postoperative complication, lightweight and heavyweight meshes showed no differences regarding seromas, infections, erosion, and testicular atrophy [145-147]. Lightweight mesh may contribute to recurrence in patient with inguinal hernias[146], but has advantages in terms of chronic pain and foreign body sensations[145-147]. Moreover, partially absorbable synthetic mesh improves postoperative chronic pain, functional outcomes, and quality of life[148,149].

Surface modification methods and nanofiber-based technology are actively under exploration to retain material strength and biocompatibility[12]. Biological mesh has superior biocompatibility to the above-described meshes and does not trigger an inflammatory response from the body, although higher cost has hampered its widespread acceptance^[12]. In patients who experience complications, biological meshes can be placed for temporary or permanent closure of defects after mesh removal due to chronic pain or infection[150,151].

Hence, mesh materials are currently well-developed, but each mesh should be used in the correct manner12 Many types of meshes are available, and surgeons should follow the manufacturers' instructions to avoid malfunctions^[12]. Surgeons must also ensure that their knowledge is regularly updated regarding mesh applications[12].

RECURRENT HERNIA

Postoperative recurrence is a critical issue[47,152]. The reasons for inguinal hernia recurrence are most likely multifactorial and include both technical and nontechnical patient-related risk factors[47]. In one study, the overall reoperation rate was reportedly 3.8% [47], while the reoperation rates for IIH and DIH were 2.7% and 5.2%, respectively^[47]. Notably, the right side has a higher recurrence rate than the left side [4,47,152].

Iatrogenic recurrence caused by lack of anatomical knowledge and inappropriate techniques should be avoided[47]. All surgeons, including trainees and residents, should ensure professional technique in clinical practice to reduce the risk of recurrence. Nontechnical patient-related factors that influence the risk of recurrence after surgery have not been studied in detail^[47]. Female sex, DIH at the time of initial surgery, surgical treatment of a recurrent inguinal hernia, and smoking are considered risk factors for postoperative recurrence[47]. A significant relationship between the type of hernia at the time of initial surgery and reoperation has been identified with respect to hernia recurrence[47].

Surgical repair is generally indicated [58,59], and a laparoscopic approach is strongly recommended for surgical repair of recurrent hernia[59].

OBTURATOR HERNIA

Obturator hernias are internal herniations through the obturator foramen, bordered by the obturator vessels and nerve. This type of hernia was first described by Pierre Roland Arnaud de Ronsil in 1724[153], although a patient had been described by Le Maire in 1718[153]. Notably, the Howship-Romberg sign [named after John Howship (1781-1841) and Moritz Heinrich Romberg (1795-1873)] is associated with obturator hernia[154]; however, this rare hernia generally exhibits nonspecific signs and symptoms[155]. Hence, the usefulness of computed tomography for diagnosis was suggested in 1983[156]. Actual image findings are shown in Figure 5A.

Obturator hernia should be considered a bilateral disease^[157]; thus, unilateral repair may be inadequate [158,159]. The normal diameter of the obturator foramen is approximately 1.0 cm[160]. Hence, the bilateral obturator foramina should be routinely checked during surgery [157-159]; bilateral repair is required if even only a subtle dilation of the contralateral obturator foramen is observed during surgery[157-159].

SPECIAL SITUATIONS

Lorenz Heister was the first to successfully repair a strangulated hernia.67 Thereafter, August Gottlieb Richter (1742-1812) produced a two-volume treatise regarding hernias from 1777 to 1779, which included the first description of a strangulated hernia involving only part of the intestine.

Incarcerations of the ovary and appendix are often observed. Although ovarian resection is not required for ovary incarceration, incarceration of the appendix (known as "Amyand's hernia", which is an inguinal hernia that traps the appendix) sometimes requires appendectomy. In 1735, Claudius Amyand (1660-1749) performed the first successful appendectomy^[161], which concerned an incarcerated hernia involving a swollen and perforated appendix. The reported incidence of Amyand's hernia among patients with appendicitis is < 0.1% [162], and left-sided Amyand's hernias have rarely been reported [163]. Amyand's hernia leads to further complications (e.g., strangulation and perforation)[162], with a mortality rate of 14% to 30%[162]. Incarceration of the appendix may result in delayed perforation. Appendectomy should be considered [162, 164], although it is not always necessary if a normal, uninflamed appendix is observed [162].

Pathophysiological hypotheses for prolapse of the uterus and its appendages have been proposed for both girls and women[165,166]. However, groin hernias involving the uterus and/or its appendages have not been described. The appendix has characteristic features and is completely distinct from the ileum, colon, and rectum[167]. In patients who exhibit a giant hernia involving incarceration of the ileocecal portion of the intestinal tract, only the appendix does not recover from ischemic changes, despite resolution of the strangulation (Figure 6). Thus, incarceration of the appendix has several reasons for a distinctive name (i.e., Amyand's hernia).

In women and girls, the RL is attached to the uterus, near the origin of the fallopian tubes, and the extension of the parietal peritoneum follows the RL as it passes to the IC through the IIR[168]. A hydrocele of the canal of Nuck is a differential diagnosis for groin hernia[51,168,169], although this hydrocele is not conclusively diagnosed until surgery is performed on a suspected inguinal hernia [168]. Ultrasound is a powerful tool for making an accurate diagnosis and determining indications for surgical treatment[169]. Although hydrocele in infancy may resolve without surgical treatment [48], such treatment is generally indicated because of symptoms (e.g., swelling and pain)[52,168,169]. Moreover, hydrocele of the canal of Nuck often accompanies with





Figure 5 Actual image findings. Actual image findings of obturator hernia in computed tomography (A, orange arrows) and retroflexion of the uterus in magnetic resonance imaging (B, orange arrows) are shown, respectively.



Figure 6 Amyand's hernia. Amyand's hernia is considered as an inguinal hernia that traps the appendix. In patients who exhibit a giant hernia involving incarceration of the ileocecal portion of the intestinal tract, only the appendix does not recover from ischemic changes, despite resolution of the strangulation.

ectopic endometriosis[52,168,169]. Hydrocele with persistent patency of the processus vaginalis requires resection[168,169]; this surgery prevents recurrences[168]. The genital branch of the genitofemoral nerve (Gb-GFN) and RL should be preserved [169]. The IIR is often enlarged by hydrocele; therefore, intentional closure of the IIR by Marcy's repair^[70] is generally required^[168,169].

POSTOPERATIVE COMPLICATIONS

Recurrence of groin hernias is extremely challenging for general surgeons, and neuropathy may be intractable[161,170,171]. Injury of the SC or VD results in refractory pain with burning[172]. Potential complications include testicular ischemia[173], testicular atrophy[174], bowel obstruction and/or necrosis due to mesh adhesion[175, 176], vascular injury [177], visceral injury [176,177], wound infections [173], and hematomas^[173]. Rarely, patients with groin hernias have experienced fatal outcomes [178,179].

AGENESIS AND STERILITY

Postoperative agenesis is a critical issue. In female patients, Koop's fixation should be routinely performed for bilateral inguinal hernias to prevent retroflexion of the uterus, which may cause female agenesis[120]. It is suggested to avoid division of the round ligament in open repair[60,61]. In male patients, both the surgical technique and mesh



material can influence the integrity of the SC and testicular function[180-182]. Contact with the mesh material may cause sterility in male patients[183]. Meshes inherently cause varying degrees of postoperative atrophy; therefore, biomechanical stability is extremely important[184]. Soft and hard meshes may result in unidirectional or matrix-like atrophy[12,185,186]. Soft mesh reduces chronic pain, but increases atrophic changes[12]. Biological mesh is predicted to become a powerful tool in the near future, although its cost remains high[12,187,188]. Testicular necrosis induces the formation of autoimmune antibodies to the body's own sperm[173], subsequently causing male sterility[50].

TOPOGRAPHIC NERVES AND NEUROPATHY

Thorough knowledge of peritoneal innervation is important because neurarchy has clinical implications. Some authors have extensively described the anatomy of the nerves located in the groin[22-31] (Figures 7 and 8). The peritoneum has both somatic and autonomic innervations, which are involved in various abdominal pathologies [29]. The parietal peritoneum receives its innervation from the spinal nerves of the 10th thoracic spine through the 1st lumbar spine[29-31]. This innervation is somatic and allows for the sensation of pain and temperature[29-31]. The visceral peritoneum receives autonomic innervation from the vagus nerve and sympathetic innervation that results in difficulty localizing abdominal sensations triggered by organ distension [29-31].

Precise knowledge of the topography of these nerves is essential for performance of high-quality repair with optimal patient outcomes[4,22-31,34]. Six nerves are of particular interest in the field of groin hernia repair[4,22-31,34], and the inguinal neuroanatomy should be thoroughly understood by all surgeons[34] (Figures 7 and 8). These six nerves of interest are the iliohypogastric, ilioinguinal, femoral (including the anterior cutaneous branch), genitofemoral (GFN) (femoral and genital branches), lateral femoral cutaneous (LFCN), and obturator nerves (Figure 8). The reported incidence of postoperative pain and/or discomfort after surgery is not sufficiently severe to disturb daily activities in most patients[34,189]. However, a lack of anatomical knowledge and the use of an inadequate surgical technique may result in poor outcomes with refractory neuropathy and intractable chronic pain[4,22-31,34]. Notably, intractable and refractory pain may be an indication for removal of mesh and/or resection of entrapped nerves[190].

The femoral nerve is generally well protected by the psoas tendon. Therefore, injury to this nerve during surgery is extremely rare[34]. Additionally, intraoperative injury to the obturator nerve is only anecdotal because this nerve is well hidden[34].

Although branches of the GFNs course to the lower limbs, more common nerve injuries are observed in GFN branches in the trunk, as well as the LFCN[4,34] (Figure 8). The estimated risks of intraoperative injuries are 58.2% in the LFCN, 31.2% in the femoral branch of the GFN (Fb-GFN), and 4.7% in the Gb-GFN[34]. Although the courses of the obturator and femoral motor nerves are largely predictable and consistent, the courses of the sensory nerves (*i.e.*, GFN and LFCN) demonstrate great variability and are involved in refractory symptoms (*e.g.*, chronic and continuous pain) [34]. Wide variation in the number and course of sensory nerves that traverse the PPS creates considerable potential for overlap with the Gb-GFN, Fb-GFN, and LFCN[4,34]. Notably, the ilioinguinal nerve has a wide area in which injury can occur[4,34]. Respecting these proper dissection planes and ensuring knowledge of relevant neuroanatomy will minimize contact and corresponding risk of injury[4,34].

Injury to the iliohypogastric nerve results in postoperative neuralgia and muscular atrophy[191] (Figure 8). Additionally, injury to the ilioinguinal nerve may cause refractory pain[4,34] (Figure 8).

Nerve preservation during surgery requires a carefully considered approach[4,34, 192]. Subtle factors during surgery (*e.g.*, skeletonization, direct detection, countertraction, and mesh contact) may cause postoperative neuropathy and chronic pain[34, 190,192,193]. Unnecessary procedures for nerve identification should be avoided if possible; anatomical recognition of the route of each nerve (without direct exposure or complete skeletonization) is generally sufficient during surgery[4,34,192].

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 7 Topographic nerves located in the groin. These six nerves of interest are the iliohypogastric, ilioinguinal, femoral (including the anterior cutaneous branch), genitofemoral (femoral and genital branches), lateral femoral cutaneous of the thigh, and obturator nerves. EIR: External inguinal ring; GFN: Genitofemoral nerve; Fb-GFN: The femoral branch of the GFN; Gb-GFN: The genital branch of the GFN; LFCN: Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve.



Figure 8 Topographic nerves located in the groin. Respective anterior (A) and laparoscopic (B) views are shown. Fb-GFN: The femoral branch of the genitofemoral nerve; Gb-GFN: The genital branch of the genitofemoral nerve; LFCN: Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve.

PLICAE AND FOSSAE

The initial laparoscopic view of the groin reveals five plicae (perineal folds) that serve as guiding landmarks[4,34]. The median umbilical plica, observed at the midline, contains the obliterated urachus and is less clinically relevant to surgical repair^[4,34]. The medial umbilical plica (MUP) is the most prominent landmark present on the

Zaishidena® WJM https://www.wjgnet.com

initial view[4,34]. This plica is easily recognized and contains remnant umbilical vessels[4,34]. The MUP should not be routinely cut because the umbilical vessels may still be patent and cause bleeding[4,34]. Although the lateral umbilical plica may be difficult to identify depending on the body habitus and fat distribution, recognition of this plica is important[4,34]. This plica contains the inferior epigastric vessels, which divide the groin into a medial compartment (*i.e.*, space of Retzius) and a lateral compartment (*i.e.*, space of Bogros)[4,34]. External palpation of the surface anatomy allows precise localization of the anterior superior iliac spine and pubic tubercle, thereby delineating the IPT that divides the groin into an upper and a (critical) lower part[4,34]. The space of Bogros extends laterally from the space of Retzius toward the anterior superior iliac spine[4]. These spaces must be developed to allow adequate room for hernia repair and mesh placement[4].

These plicae create three flat fossae recognizable on each side, corresponding to possible hernia defects [4,34]. The hernia presentation can be more easily evaluated by a laparoscopic view than by endoscopic or anterior view[4,34] (Figure 9). The lateral fossa, located in the triangle between the lateral umbilical plica and IPT, corresponds to the point of the IIR from which an IIH originates[4,34]. The medial fossa is located between the lateral umbilical plica and MUP; this fossa is inferiorly limited by the IPT [4,34]. A DIH is located in this region, passing through Hesselbach's triangle[4,34]. The supravesical fossa is located medial to the MUP and cranial to the IPT, pubic bone, and urinary bladder[4,34]. This weak point may rarely become the origin of a supravesical hernia [4,34]. A femoral hernia develops within the region of the femoral canal (*i.e.*, the triangle below the IPT, medial to the femoral vein, and superior to the pubic bone and Cooper's ligament)[4,34].

The pubic symphysis, a cartilaginous joint between the superior pubic rami, symphysis denotes the midline^[4]. Cooper's ligament, a lateral extension of the lacunar ligament, forms the periosteum of the superior pubic rami[4].

SIGNATURE TRIANGLE

Although the IIH enters the IIR lateral to the inferior epigastric vessels, a DIH protrudes through Hesselbach's triangle medial to the inferior epigastric vessels^[4]. Important nerves are located on the lateral side of the IIR and travel from the pelvic interior to the thigh, coursing under the IPT[4,34]. In contrast, most important vessels course on the internal side of the IIR[4,34]. The VD travels downward, crossing the iliac vessels medially[4,34]. Hence, the VD comprises the "preperitoneal loop" in the DVL. Thereafter, the VD changes its direction at a 90-degree angle and dives down to the urogenital space to join the prostate gland[4,34].

The basic anatomical principles of the laparoscopic view were first described by Albert T. Spaw and Lynn P. Spaw in 1991, based on human cadaveric dissections[194]. They coined the term the "triangle of doom," which delineates the region between the VD and spermatic vessels. However, the neuroanatomy in the PPS was not considered [194]. Thereafter, James Rosser first described the inguinal neuroanatomy in 1994 and roughly delineated the anatomical course of the inguinal nerves[22]. Arnold S. Seid and Edwin Amos provided a more precise description of the nerves[23]; they postulated that the "triangle of doom" should be extended further laterally to the anterior superior iliac spine. Currently, the "triangle of doom" is regarded as an inverted Vshaped area bound laterally by the gonadal vessels (in both sexes) and medially by the VD (in men and boys) or RL (in women and girls)[4,32-34]. The external iliac artery and vein, deep circumflex iliac vein, Gb-GFN, and femoral nerve are involved in this area[4,32-34] (Figure 10).

In 1993, the most comprehensive analysis of inguinal neuroanatomy was performed by Riccardo Annibali, Thomas Quinn, and Robert J. Fitzgibbons Jr. [24,25] They defined the "triangle of pain" as the area lateral to the testicular vessels and inferior to the IPT [24,25]. Reinhard Bittner used the term "trapezoid of disaster" for this area[34]. The course of the nerves and their variations were recently described in detail[26-28]. The "triangle of pain" involves the Fb-GFN, LFCN, femoral nerve, and anterior cutaneous branch of the femoral nerve[4,32-34]. Notably, subtle injury (or greater) to the nerves located within the "triangle of pain" is a risk factor for intractable pain[4,32-34] (Figure 11).

The iliac vessels are accompanied by fatty tissue and lymph nodes[4,32-34], and over-dissection may lead to bleeding, potential nerve injury, or lymphatic leakage[4, 32-34]. Dissection of this region should be performed with substantial caution regarding identification of the corona mortis, a vascular connection between the epigastric





Figure 9 Plicae and fossae. Plicae create three flat fossae recognizable on each side, corresponding to possible hernia defects. Hernia presentation can be more easily evaluated by a laparoscopic view than by an endoscopic or anterior view. DIH: Direct inguinal hernia; IIH: Indirect inguinal hernia; LUP: Lateral umbilical plica; MUP: Medial umbilical plica.



Figure 10 "Triangle of doom". The "triangle of doom" (orange dotted triangle) delineates the region between the VD and spermatic vessels. Currently, the "triangle of doom" is regarded as an inverted V-shaped area bound laterally by the gonadal vessels (in both sexes) and medially by the VD (in men and boys) or RL (in women and girls). Gb-GFN: The genital branch of the genitofemoral nerve; IIR: Internal inguinal ring; RL: Round ligament; VD: Vas deferens.

and obturator vessels[4,32-34]. The corona mortis is classically defined as an arterial anastomosis between the obturator and inferior epigastric arteries by means of the ectopic obturator artery[4,32-34]. The existence of the obturator artery results in annular communication among the inferior epigastric, common iliac, internal iliac, external iliac, and obturator arteries[4,32-34] (Figure 12). The frequency of this variant ranges from 20% to 30% [34]; moreover, several variants of anastomosing vascular branches may exist between the pubic artery/vein and the epigastric and obturator vessels[4,32-34]. Collectively, this variable deep venous circle is regarded as the "circulation of Bendavid." It is composed of the suprapubic, retropubic, deep inferior epigastric, and rectusial veins.4 These small vascular tributaries may form a network investing the pubic bone, Cooper's ligament, and the direct and femoral spaces[4,32-34]. These vessels and the underlying pubic bone are covered by a very thin membrane (*i.e.*, DVL) that should not be disrupted[4,32-34]. Brisk bleeding is difficult to control because of the dual vascular supply from the obturator and iliac vessels[4,32-34].

Zaishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 11 "Triangle of pain". The "triangle of pain" (orange dotted triangle) is defined as the area lateral to the testicular vessels and inferior to the iliopubic tract. The "triangle of pain" involves the femoral branch of the genitofemoral nerve, lateral femoral cutaneous nerve, femoral nerve, and anterior cutaneous branch of the femoral nerve. Subtle injury (or greater) to the nerves located within the "triangle of pain" is a risk factor for intractable pain. Fb-GFN: The femoral branch of the genitofemoral nerve; Gb-GFN: The genital branch of the genitofemoral nerve; IPT: Iliopubic tract; LFCN: Lateral femoral cutaneous nerve.



Figure 12 Corona mortis. The corona mortis is classically defined as the arterial anastomosis between the obturator and the inferior epigastric arteries by means of the ectopic obturator artery. The existence of the obturator artery results in annular communication among the inferior epigastric, common iliac, internal iliac, external iliac, and obturator arteries. Brisk bleeding is difficult to control because of the dual vascular supply from the obturator and iliac vessels.

PERSPECTIVE FOR THE FUTURE

Although TAPP and totally extraperitoneal repairs have a higher cost than conventional repair^[4,195], the cost-effectiveness of TAPP repair has been documented in other medically advanced countries (e.g., nations in Europe, as well as the United States and Japan)[196,197]. The direct cost and contribution margin are nearly equivalent between robotic and laparoscopic surgery [198], although robotic surgery results in a higher cost for unilateral groin hernia[199].

Robotic surgery is employed in the field of hernia repair [200-202]; the articulate robotic arms are advantageous for approaches without any visual disturbance by the medial umbilical ligament and bowels. Moreover, a singleport robotic surgery system



(da Vinci SP system; Intuitive Surgical, Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, United States) is currently available. General surgeons thus have a very promising frontier in this field.

Although the cost of biological mesh is still high[12,187,188], this mesh may resolve critical problems (*e.g.*, female agenesis, male sterility, neuropathy, and chronic pain) associated with synthetic mesh[203,204]. Currently, surgeons await less expensive, ethically responsible biological mesh to arrive on the world market. The advantages of biological mesh, compared with synthetic mesh, require long-term assessment in a large, multicenter, well-designed, and randomized controlled trial[205,206].

DISCUSSION

Some organizations (e.g., the European Hernia Society and the Society of American Gastrointestinal and Endoscopic Surgeons) currently provide comprehensive inguinal hernia guidelines, and well-known surgeons have discussed herniology in detail[207-214]. However, many physicians may feel that no definitive criteria are available for the selection of surgical procedures. Indeed, the physician's choice, commercial basis, or cost-effective reasoning may be unchallenged in most instances. The surgical procedure should be carefully chosen based on sex (male or female) and age (pediatric, reproductive adult, or older adult). From the perspective of female fertility and male virility, female agenesis and male sterility should be avoided. Mesh material inherently causes varying degrees of postoperative atrophy[12,101,184-186]; moreover, mesh contact is associated with female agenesis, male sterility, neuropathy, and chronic pain[101,139,180-183]. Direct contact with mesh may also cause obstruction of the VD and SC[101]. Retroflexion of the uterus may cause female agenesis (Figure 5B). Only biological mesh can resolve these critical problems [203,204]. Although the TFR concept is important[11,64,90], careless use of synthetic mesh should be avoided in younger patients of reproductive age[180-183]. Potts' repair (accompanied by Koop's fixation in female patients) may be the optimal first choice for younger patients of reproductive age, as well as adolescents and children.

Based on its TFR concept and technical simplicity, so-called "mesh-plug hernioplasty" has spread worldwide[91-93]. However, the mesh should entirely reinforce the MO. Incomplete coverage of the MO results in long-term hernia recurrence after hernioplasty[94]. A DIH or femoral hernia may become a recurrent hernia, especially in female patients, who intrinsically have a wide pelvic space[94]. Female patients should undergo surgical repair at the PPS that fully covers the entire MO, as well as the obturator foramen[94], although "mesh-plug hernioplasty" is effective in men of advanced age[92].

Notably, from the perspective of technical skills, pediatric herniorrhaphy actually reflects the individual ability of each surgeon[8]. Antibiotics are not routinely administered after surgery[215]. Although antibiotics are not indicated for elective surgery using synthetic material[185], antibiotics may be appropriate if a trainee or resident performed surgery with a prolonged operative time and using synthetic material[216]. Administration of antibiotic prophylaxis in open mesh repair in high-risk patients in a low-risk environment is suggested[60,61].

Thorough knowledge of the inguinal anatomy is mandatory for successful herniorrhaphy and hernioplasty, and high-quality repair is required in the treatment of groin hernias. Surgical repair performed solely to prevent prolapse is inadequate and places patients with groin hernia at high risk. Important nerves and vessels should be carefully preserved. Hernia repair without careful consideration (*i.e.*, hernia repair that involves reinforcement of the abdominal wall alone) causes intractable symptoms, such as neuropathy and agenesis. Complacency may lead surgeons to presume that the learning curves for herniorrhaphy and hernioplasty are very short. High-quality repair is of utmost importance for groin hernias. Additionally, a combination of anatomical knowledge and high surgical skill level is crucial and indispensable for successful treatment of groin hernias. The frontier is large for general surgeons including residents.

CONCLUSION

Both anatomical recognition and a skillful technique are essential for successful herniorrhaphy and hernioplasty for groin hernias. In particular, in-depth anatomical knowledge of the nerves and vessels at the PPS and MO is a critical consideration. Surgeons must also avoid female agenesis, male sterility, neuropathy, and chronic



pain. The optimal surgical technique should be carefully chosen based on sex and age (pediatric, reproductive adult, or older adult).

REFERENCES

- 1 Van Hee R. History of inguinal hernia repair. Jurnalul de chirurgie 2011; 7: 301-319
- 2 Ebbell B. The ebers papyrus. The greatest egyptian medical document. London: H. Milford and Oxford University Press, 1937
- 3 Stoppa R. [Henri Fruchaud (1894-1960), man of courage, anatomist and surgeon]. Hist Sci Med 1997; **31**: 281-286 [PMID: 11625212]
- 4 Nguyen H. Laparoscopic inguinal herniorrhaphy. In: Cameron J, Cameron A. Current Surgical Therapy. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders, 2014: 1325-1334
- 5 Bassini E. Sulla cura radicale dell'ernia inguinale. Arch Soc Ital Chir 1887; 4: 380
- 6 Holzheimer RG. Inguinal Hernia: classification, diagnosis and treatment--classic, traumatic and Sportsman's hernia. Eur J Med Res 2005; 10: 121-134 [PMID: 15851379]
- 7 Cooper A. The anatomy and surgical treatment of crural and umbilical hernia. Lodon: Longman, 1807
- 8 Okinaga K, Inaba T. [Inguinal hernia repair]. Nihon Geka Gakkai Zasshi 2006; 107: 146-149 [PMID: 16734274]
- Goel A. Bansal A. Kumar D. Pathak A. A comparison of Lichtenstein repair versus posterior wall repair plus mesh repair for direct inguinal hernias. Int Surg J 2018; 5: 228-231 [DOI: 10.18203/2349-2902.isj20175900
- 10 Shulman AG, Amid PK, Lichtenstein IL. The 'plug' repair of 1402 recurrent inguinal hernias. 20year experience. Arch Surg 1990; 125: 265-267 [PMID: 2302067 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.1990.01410140143025]
- 11 Legutko J, Pach R, Solecki R, Matyja A, Kulig J. [The history of treatment of groin hernia]. Folia Med Cracov 2008; 49: 57-74 [PMID: 19140492]
- 12 Baylón K, Rodríguez-Camarillo P, Elías-Zúñiga A, Díaz-Elizondo JA, Gilkerson R, Lozano K. Past, Present and Future of Surgical Meshes: A Review. Membranes (Basel) 2017; 7 [PMID: 28829367 DOI: 10.3390/membranes7030047]
- 13 Lytle W. The internal inguinal hernia. Br J Surg 1945; 32: 441-445 [DOI: 10.1002/bis.18003212802
- 14 Shouldice EE. The treatment of hernia. Ontario Med Rev 1953; 20: 670-684
- 15 Nyhus LM, Stevenson JK, Listerud MB, Harkins HN. Preperitoneal herniorrhaphy; a preliminary report in fifty patients. West J Surg Obstet Gynecol 1959; 67: 48-54 [PMID: 13636181]
- 16 Rives J, Nicaise H. A propos du traitement chirurgical des hernies de l'aine et de leurs recidives. Semin Hop 1965; 31: 1932-1934
- 17 Fowler R. The applied surgical anatomy of the peritoneal fascia of the groin and the "secondary" internal inguinal ring. Aust N Z J Surg 1975; 45: 8-14 [PMID: 239671 DOI: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.1975.tb05714.x
- Diarra B, Stoppa R, Venhaeghe P, Mertl P. About prolongation of the urogenital fascia into the 18 pelvis. Hernia 1977; 1: 191-196 [DOI: 10.1007/BF01234757]
- 19 Stoppa R, Diarra B, Mertl P. The retroperitoneal spermatic sheath - An anatomical structures of surgical interest. Hernia 1997; 1: 55-59 [DOI: 10.1007/BF02426390]
- 20 Read RC. Cooper's posterior lamina of transversalis fascia. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1992; 174: 426-434 [PMID: 1570623]
- 21 Arregui ME. Surgical anatomy of the preperitoneal fascia and posterior transversalis in the inguinal hernia. Hernia 1997; 1: 101-110 [DOI: 10.1007/BF02427673]
- 22 Rosser J. The anatomical basis for laparoscopic hernia repair revisited. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1994; 4: 36-44 [PMID: 8167862]
- 23 Seid AS, Amos E. Entrapment neuropathy in laparoscopic herniorrhaphy. Surg Endosc 1994; 8: 1050-1053 [PMID: 7992173 DOI: 10.1007/BF00705717]
- Annibali R, Quinn T, Fitzgibbons RJ. Nerve injury in the course of laparoscopic hernia repair: 24 Introducing the 'triangle of pain'. Clin Anat 1993; 6: 370-371
- 25 Annibali R. Anatomy of the groin-transperitoneal (laparoscopic) perspektive. In: Bittner R. Laparoskopische Hernioplastik. Stuttgart: Hippokratis Verlag, 1995: 41-62
- Rosenberger RJ, Loeweneck H, Meyer G. The cutaneous nerves encountered during laparoscopic 26 repair of inguinal hernia: new anatomical findings for the surgeon. Surg Endosc 2000; 14: 731-735 [PMID: 10954819 DOI: 10.1007/s004640000137]
- 27 Loeweneck H. Neuroanatomy of the groin with special reference to laparoendoscopic operation techniques. In: Bittner R, Leibl B, Ulrich M. Chirurgie der Leistenhernie. Basel: Karger Verlag, 2006: 1-19
- 28 Reinpold W, Schroeder AD, Schroeder M, Berger C, Rohr M, Wehrenberg U. Retroperitoneal anatomy of the iliohypogastric, ilioinguinal, genitofemoral, and lateral femoral cutaneous nerve: consequences for prevention and treatment of chronic inguinodynia. Hernia 2015; 19: 539-548 [PMID: 26082397 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-015-1396-z]



- Kalra A, Tuma F. Anatomy, Abdomen and Pelvis, Peritoneum. Treasure Island: StatPearls, 2019 29
- Sheehan D. The Afferent Nerve Supply of the Mesentery and its Significance in the Causation of 30 Abdominal Pain. J Anat 1933; 67: 233-249 [PMID: 17104420]
- Yang XF, Liu JL. Anatomy essentials for laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair. Ann Transl Med 2016; 31 4: 372 [PMID: 27826575 DOI: 10.21037/atm.2016.09.32]
- 32 Colborn GL, Skandalakis JE. Laparoscopic cadaveric anatomy of the inguinal area. Prob Gen Surg 1995; 12: 13-20
- Brick WG, Colborn GL, Gadacz TR, Skandalakis JE. Crucial anatomic lessons for laparoscopic 33 herniorrhaphy. Am Surg 1995; 61: 172-177 [PMID: 7856981]
- Bittner R. Laparoscopic view of surgical anatomy of the groin. Int J Abdom Wall Hernia Surg 2018; 34 1: 24-31 [DOI: 10.4103/ijawhs.ijawhs_1_18]
- Kingsnorth A, LeBlanc K. Hernias: inguinal and incisional. Lancet 2003; 362: 1561-1571 [PMID: 35 14615114 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14746-0]
- Favorito LA, Costa WS, Sampaio FJ. Relationship between the persistence of the processus 36 vaginalis and age in patients with cryptorchidism. Int Braz J Urol 2005; 31: 57-61 [PMID: 15763011 DOI: 10.1590/s1677-55382005000100012]
- Somuncu S, Somuncu ÖS, Ballıca B, Tabandeh B. Deficiency of epithelial-mesenchymal transition 37 causes child indirect inguinal hernia. J Pediatr Surg 2020; 55: 665-671 [PMID: 31288923 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2019.06.020]
- 38 Momoh JT. Obliteration of processus vaginalis and inguinal hernial sacs in children. Can J Surg 1982; 25: 483-485 [PMID: 7116248]
- 39 Tanyel FC, Sara Y, Ertunç M, Onur R, Büyükpamukçu N. Lack of carbachol response indicates the absence of cholinergic receptors in sacs associated with undescended testis. J Pediatr Surg 1999; 34: 1339-1344 [PMID: 10507425 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-3468(99)90007-6]
- Tanyel FC, Müftüoglu S, Dagdeviren A, Kaymaz FF, Büyükpamukçu N. Myofibroblasts defined by electron microscopy suggest the dedifferentiation of smooth muscle within the sac walls associated with congenital inguinal hernia. BJU Int 2001; 87: 251-255 [PMID: 11167652 DOI: 10.1046/j.1464-410x.2001.02028.x
- 41 Tanyel FC, Erdem S, Büyükpamukçu N, Tan E. Smooth muscle within incomplete obliterations of processus vaginalis lacks apoptotic nuclei. Urol Int 2002; 69: 42-45 [PMID: 12119438 DOI: 10.1159/0000643591
- Tanyel FC. Obliteration of processus vaginalis: aberrations in the regulatory mechanism result in an 42 inguinal hernia, hydrocele or undescended testis. Turk J Pediatr 2004; 46 Suppl: 18-27 [PMID: 154997941
- 43 Henriksen NA. Systemic and local collagen turnover in hernia patients. Dan Med J 2016; 63 [PMID: 27399987]
- 44 Koruth S, Narayanaswamy Chetty YV. Hernias- Is it a primary defect or a systemic disorder? Ann Med Surg (Lond) 2017; 19: 37-40 [PMID: 28626580 DOI: 10.1016/j.amsu.2017.05.012]
- Sodo M, Bracale U, Argentino G, Merola G, Russo R, Sannino G, Strazzullo T, Russo D. 45 Simultaneous abdominal wall defect repair and Tenckhoff catheter placement in candidates for peritoneal dialysis. J Nephrol 2016; 29: 699-702 [PMID: 26621104 DOI: 10.1007/s40620-015-0251-8
- Miyajima A. Inseparable interaction of the prostate and inguinal hernia. Int J Urol 2018; 25: 644-46 648 [PMID: 29923274 DOI: 10.1111/iju.13717]
- 47 Burcharth J. The epidemiology and risk factors for recurrence after inguinal hernia surgery. Dan Med J 2014; 61: B4846 [PMID: 24814748]
- 48 Lao OB, Fitzgibbons RJ Jr, Cusick RA. Pediatric inguinal hernias, hydroceles, and undescended testicles. Surg Clin North Am 2012; 92: 487-504, vii [PMID: 22595705 DOI: 10.1016/j.suc.2012.03.017]
- Hutson JM, Vikraman J, Li R, Thorup J. Undescended testis: What paediatricians need to know. J 49 Paediatr Child Health 2017; 53: 1101-1104 [PMID: 29148186 DOI: 10.1111/jpc.13744]
- 50 MacDonald C, Kronfli R, Carachi R, O'Toole S. A systematic review and meta-analysis revealing realistic outcomes following paediatric torsion of testes. J Pediatr Urol 2018; 14: 503-509 [PMID: 30404723 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpurol.2018.09.017]
- Sarkar S, Panja S, Kumar S. Hydrocele of the Canal of Nuck (Female Hydrocele): A Rare 51 Differential for Inguino-Labial Swelling. J Clin Diagn Res 2016; 10: PD21-PD22 [PMID: 27042529 DOI: 10.7860/JCDR/2016/16710.7284]
- 52 Mirilas P, Mentessidou A. Microsurgical subinguinal varicocelectomy in children, adolescents, and adults: surgical anatomy and anatomically justified technique. J Androl 2012; 33: 338-349 [PMID: 21835913 DOI: 10.2164/jandrol.111.013052]
- 53 Elkbuli A, Narvel RI, McKenney M, Boneva D. Inguinal bladder hernia: A case report and literature review. Int J Surg Case Rep 2019; 58: 208-211 [PMID: 31078993 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2019.04.040]
- 54 Moufid K, Touiti D, Mohamed L. Inguinal bladder hernia: four case analyses. Rev Urol 2013; 15: 32-36 [PMID: 22919550 DOI: 10.4103/2156-7514.97758]
- Tröbs RB, Yilmaz B, Roll C, Alrefai M. Direct bladder hernia after indirect hernia repair in 55 extremely low birth weight babies: two case reports and a review of the literature. J Med Case Rep 2017; 11: 15 [PMID: 28088918 DOI: 10.1186/s13256-016-1171-5]
- 56 Aloi IP, Lais A, Caione P. Bladder injuries following inguinal canal surgery in infants. Pediatr Surg Int 2010; 26: 1207-1210 [PMID: 20820790 DOI: 10.1007/s00383-010-2707-1]



- 57 Brar N, Singh A, Bajwa R. Prospective studies on clinical outcomes of Lichtenstein's tension free inguinal hernioplasty under local anaesthesia. Int Surg J 2017; 4: 3474-3476 [DOI: 10.18203/2349-2902.isj20174676
- 58 Śmietański M, Szczepkowski M, Alexandre JA, Berger D, Bury K, Conze J, Hansson B, Janes A, Miserez M, Mandala V, Montgomery A, Morales Conde S, Muysoms F. European Hernia Society classification of parastomal hernias. Hernia 2014; 18: 1-6 [PMID: 24081460 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-013-1162-z]
- 59 Japanese Hernia Society. Practice guideline for inguinal hernia. Tokyo: Kanehara, 2015
- 60 Schumpelick V, Treutner KH, Arlt G. [Classification of inguinal hernias]. Chirurg 1994; 65: 877-879 [PMID: 7821048]
- 61 Miserez M, Alexandre JH, Campanelli G, Corcione F, Cuccurullo D, Pascual MH, Hoeferlin A, Kingsnorth AN, Mandala V, Palot JP, Schumpelick V, Simmermacher RK, Stoppa R, Flament JB. The European hernia society groin hernia classification: simple and easy to remember. Hernia 2007; 11: 113-116 [PMID: 17353992 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-007-0198-3]
- 62 Muysoms FE, Miserez M, Berrevoet F, Campanelli G, Champault GG, Chelala E, Dietz UA, Eker HH, El Nakadi I, Hauters P, Hidalgo Pascual M, Hoeferlin A, Klinge U, Montgomery A, Simmermacher RK, Simons MP, Smietański M, Sommeling C, Tollens T, Vierendeels T, Kingsnorth A. Classification of primary and incisional abdominal wall hernias. Hernia 2009; 13: 407-414 [PMID: 19495920 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-009-0518-x]
- Read RC. Herniology: past, present, and future. Hernia 2009; 13: 577-580 [PMID: 19908107 DOI: 63 10.1007/s10029-009-0582-21
- 64 Read RC. Milestones in the history of hernia surgery: prosthetic repair. Hernia 2004; 8: 8-14 [PMID: 14586774 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-003-0169-2]
- 65 Lau WY. History of treatment of groin hernia. World J Surg 2002; 26: 748-759 [PMID: 12053232 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-002-6297-5]
- Franco P. Traité des Hernies, contenant une ample declaration de toutes leurs especes, & autres 66 excellentes parties de la Chirurgie. Lyon: Thibauld Payan, 1561
- Ulhoorn H. Laurens Heisters Heelkundige Onderwyzingen. Amsterdam: Janssoons van 67 Waesberge, 1741
- Hesselbach F. Neueste anatomisch-pathologische Untersuchungen über den Ursprung und das 68 Fortschreiten der Leisten- und Schenkelbrüche. Würzburg: Baumgartner, 1814
- 69 Hesselbach F. Anatomisch-chirurgische Abhandlung über den Urspurng der Leistenbrüche. Würzburg: Baumgärtner, 1806
- 70 Marcy H. A new use of carbolized catgut ligatures. Boston Med Surg J 1871; 85: 315-316 [DOI: 10.1056/NEJM187111160852002
- 71 Bassini E. Nuovo metodo per la cura radicale dell'ernia inguinale. Atti Congr Assoc Med Ital 1887; 2: 179-182
- 72 Read RC. Preperitoneal herniorrhaphy: a historical review. World J Surg 1989; 13: 532-9; discussion 539-40 [PMID: 2683399 DOI: 10.1007/BF01658866]
- 73 Nano M. Technique for inguinal hernia repair in the elderly patient. Am J Surg 1983; 146: 373-375 [PMID: 6614330 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(83)90419-1]
- Ravitch MM, Hitzrot JM 2nd. The operations for inguinal hernia. I. Bassini, Halsted, Andrews, 74 Ferguson. Surgery 1960; 48: 439-466 [PMID: 14436580]
- Zdravković D, Bilanović D, Dikić S, Zdravković M, Milinić N. [William Stewart Halsted--110 75 years of the use of surgical gloves]. Med Pregl 2007; 60: 405-408 [PMID: 17853718 DOI: 10.2298/MPNS0702085Z
- 76 Elsebae MM, Nasr M, Said M. Tension-free repair versus Bassini technique for strangulated inguinal hernia: A controlled randomized study. Int J Surg 2008; 6: 302-305 [PMID: 18573702 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2008.04.006]
- 77 McVay C. A fundamental error in the Bassini operation for direct inguinal hernia; a preliminary report. Univ Hosp Bull Ann Arbor 1939; 5: 14
- 78 McVay CB, Anson BJ. Inguinal and femoral hernioplasty. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1949; 88: 473-485 [PMID: 18113315]
- Anson BJ, Morgan EH, McVay CB. The anatomy of the hernial regions; inguinal hernia. Surg 79 Gynecol Obstet 1949; 89: 417-423 [PMID: 18147501]
- 80 Cheatle GL. An operation for the radical cure of inguinal and femoral hernia. Br Med J 1920; 2: 68-69 [PMID: 20769941 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.2.3107.68]
- 81 Nyhus LM. The posterior (preperitoneal) approach and iliopubic tract repair of inguinal and femoral hernias - an update. Hernia 2003; 7: 63-67 [PMID: 12820025 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-002-0113-x]
- 82 Stoppa R, editor Technique de cure de certaines hernies de l'aine par voie médiane extrapéritonéale. Film 16 mm, 71 ème. Paris: Congrès Français de Chirurgie, 1969
- 83 Stoppa RE, Rives JL, Warlaumont CR, Palot JP, Verhaeghe PJ, Delattre JF. The use of Dacron in the repair of hernias of the groin. Surg Clin North Am 1984; 64: 269-285 [PMID: 6233733 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6109(16)43284-6]
- 84 Lichtenstein IL. Herniorrhaphy. A personal experience with 6,321 cases. Am J Surg 1987; 153: 553-559 [PMID: 3296805 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(87)90153-X]
- Usher FC, Wallace SA. Tissue reaction to plastics; a comparison of nylon, orlon, dacron, teflon, and marlex. AMA Arch Surg 1958; 76: 997-999 [PMID: 13532148 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.1958.01280240155026]



- 86 Usher FC, Hill JR, Ochsner JL. Hernia repair with Marlex mesh. A comparison of techniques. Surgery 1959; 46: 718-724 [PMID: 13840514]
- 87 Usher FC. Hernia repair with knitted polypropylene mesh. Surg Gynecol Obstet 1963; 117: 239-240 [PMID: 14048019]
- 88 Gilbert AI. Sutureless repair of inguinal hernia. Am J Surg 1992; 163: 331-335 [PMID: 1539767 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(92)90015-J]
- Gilbert AI, Graham MF. Sutureless technique: second version. Can J Surg 1997; 40: 209-212 89 [PMID: 9194782]
- 90 Lichtenstein IL, Shulman AG, Amid PK, Montllor MM. The tension-free hernioplasty. Am J Surg 1989; 157: 188-193 [PMID: 2916733 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9610(89)90526-6]
- 91 Robbins AW, Rutkow IM. The mesh-plug hernioplasty. Surg Clin North Am 1993; 73: 501-512 [PMID: 8497799 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6109(16)46033-0]
- 92 Gossetti F, Massa S, Abbonante F, Calabria M, Ceci F, Viarengo MA, Manzi E, D'Amore L, Negro P. New "all-in-one" device for mesh plug hernioplasty: the Trabucco repair. Ann Ital Chir 2015; 86: 570-574 [PMID: 26900048]
- 93 Pangeni A, Shakya VC, Shrestha ARM, Pandit R, Byanjankar B, Rai S. Femoral hernia: reappraisal of low repair with the conical mesh plug. Hernia 2017; 21: 73-77 [PMID: 27169589 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-016-1500-z
- 94 Wantz GE. Giant prosthetic reinforcement of the visceral sac. The Stoppa groin hernia repair. Surg Clin North Am 1998; 78: 1075-1087 [PMID: 9927985 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6109(05)70370-4]
- 95 Francis D. Hernias. In: Tjandra J, Clunie G, Kanye A, Smith J. Textbook of Surgery. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2006: 345-359 [DOI: 10.1002/9780470757819.ch40]
- 96 Ferzli GS, Rim S, Edwards ED. Combined laparoscopic and open extraperitoneal approach to scrotal hernias. Hernia 2013; 17: 223-228 [PMID: 22843081 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-012-0970-x]
- Mirilas P, Colborn GL, McClusky DA 3rd, Skandalakis LJ, Skandalakis PN, Skandalakis JE. The history of anatomy and surgery of the preperitoneal space. Arch Surg 2005; 140: 90-94 [PMID: 15655212 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.140.1.90]
- 98 Daes J, Felix E. Critical View of the Myopectineal Orifice. Ann Surg 2017; 266: e1-e2 [PMID: 27984213 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.000000000002104]
- Wolloscheck T, Konerding MA. Dimensions of the myopectineal orifice: a human cadaver study. 99 Hernia 2009; 13: 639-642 [PMID: 19763741 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-009-0559-1]
- 100 Zanella S, Vassiliadis A, Buccelleti F, Ricci F, Verma S, Bali RS, Agarwal PN, Singh R, Popkiewicz F, Williams S, Garrett W, Ndungu B, Koech A, Tharao M, Morrison J, Iuamoto L, Kato J, Meyer A, Lalán JG, Fernández EM, Vázquez LL. Topic: Inguinal Hernia - Influence of guidelines on daily practice. Hernia 2015; 19 Suppl 1: S261-S263 [PMID: 26518819 DOI: 10.1007/BF03355367
- 101 Shin D, Lipshultz LI, Goldstein M, Barmé GA, Fuchs EF, Nagler HM, McCallum SW, Niederberger CS, Schoor RA, Brugh VM 3rd, Honig SC. Herniorrhaphy with polypropylene mesh causing inguinal vasal obstruction: a preventable cause of obstructive azoospermia. Ann Surg 2005; 241: 553-558 [PMID: 15798455 DOI: 10.1097/01.sla.0000157318.13975.2a]
- Valenti G, Baldassarre E, Torino G. Vas deferens obstruction due to fibrosis after plug hernioplasty. 102 Am Surg 2006; 72: 137-138 [PMID: 16536243 DOI: 10.1177/000313480607200208]
- 103 Kux M. Anatomy of the groin: A view from the surgeon. Hernia 2002; 5: 45-53
- Potts WJ, Riker WL, Lewis JE. The treatment of inguinal hernia in infants and children. Trans Meet 104 Am Surg Assoc Am Surg Assoc 1950; 68: 246-256 [PMID: 14788156]
- 105 Potts WJ. Inguinal hernia in infants. Pediatrics 1948; 1: 772-776 [PMID: 18866961]
- 106 Goldstein IR, Potts WJ. Inguinal hernia in female infants and children. Ann Surg 1958; 148: 819-822 [PMID: 13595542 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-195811000-00013]
- 107 Potts WJ, Riker WL, Lewis JE. The treatment of inguinal hernia in infants and children. Ann Surg 1950; 132: 566-576 [PMID: 15433221 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-195009000-00020]
- 108 Maillet OP, Garnier S, Dadure C, Bringuier S, Podevin G, Arnaud A, Linard C, Fourcade L, Ponet M, Bonnard A, Breaud J, Lopez M, Piolat C, Sapin E, Harper L, Kalfa N. Inguinal hernia in premature boys: should we systematically explore the contralateral side? J Pediatr Surg 2014; 49: 1419-1423 [PMID: 25148751 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2014.01.055]
- Ballantyne A, Jawaheer G, Munro FD. Contralateral groin exploration is not justified in infants with 109 a unilateral inguinal hernia. Br J Surg 2001; 88: 720-723 [PMID: 11350448 DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2168.2001.01744.x
- 110 Lucas Championniere J. Cure radical des hernies. Paris: Ruerr et Cie, 1892: 192-196
- 111 Mitchell Banks W. On the radical cure of hernia, by removal of the sac and stitching together the pillars of the ring. Br Med J 1882; 18: 192-196
- 112 Ferguson A. The technic of modern operations for hernia. Chicago: Cleveland Press, 1907
- 113 Turner P. The Radical Cure of Inguinal Hernia in Children. Proc R Soc Med 1912; 5: 133-140 [PMID: 19976338 DOI: 10.1177/003591571200501547]
- 114 MacLennon A. The radical cure of inguinal hernia in children. Br J Surg 1922; 9: 445 [DOI: 10.1002/bjs.1800093510
- 115 Russel R. Inguinal hernia and operative procedure. Surg Gynec Obst 1925; 41: 605
- Herzfeld G. Hernia in infancy. Am J Surg 1938; 39: 422 [DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9610(38)91256-5] 116
- Coles J. Operative cure of inguinal hernia in infancy and childhood. Am J Surg 1945; 69: 366 [DOI: 117



10.1016/S0002-9610(45)90401-6

- 118 Baffes TG. Willis J. Potts: his contributions to cardiovascular surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 1987; 44: 92-96 [PMID: 3300584 DOI: 10.1016/S0003-4975(10)62371-5]
- Koop CE. Inguinal herniorrhaphy in infants and children. Surg Clin North Am 1957; 37: 1675-1682 119 [PMID: 13495881 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6109(16)35343-9]
- 120 Imaizumi S. Recent progress in the treatments of inguinal hernias in infancy and childfood. J Tokyo Wom Med Univ 1975; 45: 1-8
- Chen Y, Wang F, Zhong H, Zhao J, Li Y, Shi Z. A systematic review and meta-analysis concerning 121 single-site laparoscopic percutaneous extraperitoneal closure for pediatric inguinal hernia and hydrocele. Surg Endosc 2017; 31: 4888-4901 [PMID: 28389795 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-017-5491-3]
- 122 Yamoto M, Morotomi Y, Yamamoto M, Suehiro S. Single-incision laparoscopic percutaneous extraperitoneal closure for inguinal hernia in children: an initial report. Surg Endosc 2011; 25: 1531-1534 [PMID: 20976481 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-010-1430-2]
- Takehara H, Yakabe S, Kameoka K. Laparoscopic percutaneous extraperitoneal closure for 123 inguinal hernia in children: clinical outcome of 972 repairs done in 3 pediatric surgical institutions. J Pediatr Surg 2006; 41: 1999-2003 [PMID: 17161191 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2006.08.032]
- 124 Glenn J, Irvine LM. Dr Robert Lawson Tait: the forgotten gynaecologist. J Obstet Gynaecol 2011; 31: 695-696 [PMID: 22085056 DOI: 10.3109/01443615.2011.613497]
- 125 Ger R. The management of certain abdominal herniae by intra-abdominal closure of the neck of the sac. Preliminary communication. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 1982; 64: 342-344 [PMID: 7114772]
- 126 Bogojavlensky S, editor. Laparoscopic treatment of inguinal and femoral hernias. Proceedings of the 18th Annual meeting of the American Association of Gynecological Laparoscopists; Washington, DC: 1989
- 127 Schultz L, Graber J, Pietrafitta J, Hickok D. Laser laparoscopic herniorraphy: a clinical trial preliminary results. J Laparoendosc Surg 1990; 1: 41-45 [PMID: 2151857 DOI: 10.1089/lps.1990.1.411
- 128 Arregui ME, Navarrete J, Davis CJ, Castro D, Nagan RF. Laparoscopic inguinal herniorrhaphy. Techniques and controversies. Surg Clin North Am 1993; 73: 513-527 [PMID: 8497800 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6109(16)46034-2]
- 129 Arregui ME, Davis CJ, Yucel O, Nagan RF. Laparoscopic mesh repair of inguinal hernia using a preperitoneal approach: a preliminary report. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1992; 2: 53-58 [PMID: 1341501
- 130 Dulucq J. Traitement des hernies de l'aine par la mise en place d'un patch prothetique par laparoscopie. Voi totalement extraperitoneale. Cah Chir 1991; 79: 15-16
- Ferzli GS, Massad A, Albert P. Extraperitoneal endoscopic inguinal hernia repair. J Laparoendosc 131 Surg 1992; 2: 281-286 [PMID: 1489992 DOI: 10.1089/lps.1992.2.281]
- 132 Himpens JM. Laparoscopic hernioplasty using a self-expandable (umbrella-like) prosthetic patch. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1992; 2: 312-316 [PMID: 1341552]
- McKernan JB, Laws HL. Laparoscopic repair of inguinal hernias using a totally extraperitoneal 133 prosthetic approach. Surg Endosc 1993; 7: 26-28 [PMID: 8424228 DOI: 10.1007/BF00591232]
- 134 Phillips EH, Carroll BJ, Fallas MJ. Laparoscopic preperitoneal inguinal hernia repair without peritoneal incision. Technique and early clinical results. Surg Endosc 1993; 7: 159-162 [PMID: 8503071 DOI: 10.1007/BF00594098]
- Toy FK, Smoot RT Jr. Toy-Smooth laparoscopic hernioplasty. Surg Laparosc Endosc 1991; 1: 151-135 155 [PMID: 1669394]
- Memon MA, Feliu X, Sallent EF, Camps J, Fitzgibbons RJ Jr. Laparoscopic repair of recurrent 136 hernias. Surg Endosc 1999; 13: 807-810 [PMID: 10430691 DOI: 10.1007/s004649901105]
- 137 Campanelli G, Canziani M, Frattini F, Cavalli M, Agrusti S. Inguinal hernia: state of the art. Int J Surg 2008; 6 Suppl 1: S26-S28 [PMID: 19186115 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2008.12.021]
- 138 EU Hernia Trialists Collaboration. Repair of groin hernia with synthetic mesh: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Ann Surg 2002; 235: 322-332 [PMID: 11882753 DOI: 10.1097/00000658-200203000-00003
- 139 Sharma R, Fadaee N, Zarrinkhoo E, Towfigh S. Why we remove mesh. Hernia 2018; 22: 953-959 [PMID: 30382481 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-018-1839-4]
- 140 Billroth T. The medical sciences in the German universities. In: Welch W. A study in the history of civilization. New York: Macmillan, 1924
- 141 Usher FC, Fries JG, Ochsner JL, Tuttle LL Jr. Marlex mesh, a new plastic mesh for replacing tissue defects. II. Clinical studies. AMA Arch Surg 1959; 78: 138-145 [PMID: 13605405 DOI: 10.1001/archsurg.1959.04320010140023]
- 142 Kugel RD. Minimally invasive, nonlaparoscopic, preperitoneal, and sutureless, inguinal herniorrhaphy. Am J Surg 1999; 178: 298-302 [PMID: 10587187 DOI: 10.1016/S0002-9610(99)00181-6
- Sarı R, Kuş M, Arer İM, Yabanoğlu H. A single-center experience of clinical outcomes of surgical 143 management for rectocele disease. Turk J Colorectal Dis 2019; 29: 183-187 [DOI: 10.4274/tjcd.galenos.2019.2019-4-1]
- 144 Canonico S, Benevento R, Perna G, Guerniero R, Sciaudone G, Pellino G, Santoriello A, Selvaggi F. Sutureless fixation with fibrin glue of lightweight mesh in open inguinal hernia repair: effect on postoperative pain: a double-blind, randomized trial versus standard heavyweight mesh. Surgery 2013; 153: 126-130 [PMID: 22862902 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2012.06.024]



- Montgomery A. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the use of lightweight versus heavyweight 145 mesh in open inguinal hernia repair (Br J Surg 2012; 99: 29-37). Br J Surg 2012; 99: 37-38 [PMID: 22135171 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.7769]
- 146 Li J, Ji Z, Cheng T. Lightweight versus heavyweight in inguinal hernia repair: a meta-analysis. Hernia 2012; 16: 529-539 [PMID: 22689249 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-012-0928-z]
- 147 Sajid MS, Leaver C, Baig MK, Sains P. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the use of lightweight versus heavyweight mesh in open inguinal hernia repair. Br J Surg 2012; 99: 29-37 [PMID: 22038579 DOI: 10.1002/bjs.7718]
- 148 Lee SD, Son T, Lee JB, Chang YS. Comparison of partially-absorbable lightweight mesh with heavyweight mesh for inguinal hernia repair: multicenter randomized study. Ann Surg Treat Res 2017; 93: 322-330 [PMID: 29250512 DOI: 10.4174/astr.2017.93.6.322]
- 149 Öberg S, Andresen K, Rosenberg J. Absorbable Meshes in Inguinal Hernia Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Surg Innov 2017; 24: 289-298 [PMID: 28492358 DOI: 10.1177/1553350617697849
- Montgomery A, Kallinowski F, Köckerling F. Evidence for Replacement of an Infected Synthetic 150 by a Biological Mesh in Abdominal Wall Hernia Repair. Front Surg 2015; 2: 67 [PMID: 26779487 DOI: 10.3389/fsurg.2015.00067]
- 151 Moszkowicz D, Bouillot JL. Biological mesh: From concept to clinical reality. J Visc Surg 2018; 155: 347-348 [PMID: 30181082 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviscsurg.2018.07.002]
- 152 Fathi A, Novitsky Y. Laparoscopic repair of recurrent inguinal hernias. In: Cameron J, Cameron A. Current Surgical Therapy, Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders, 2014: 1334-1337
- Losanoff JE, Richman BW, Jones JW. Obturator hernia. J Am Coll Surg 2002; 194: 657-663 153 [PMID: 12022607 DOI: 10.1016/S1072-7515(02)01137-7]
- Tateno Y, Adachi K. Sudden knee pain in an underweight, older woman: obturator hernia. Lancet 154 2014; 384: 206 [PMID: 25016996 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60883-7]
- 155 Nasir BS, Zendejas B, Ali SM, Groenewald CB, Heller SF, Farley DR. Obturator hernia: the Mayo Clinic experience. Hernia 2012; 16: 315-319 [PMID: 22138700 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-011-0895-9]
- 156 Meziane MA, Fishman EK, Siegelman SS. Computed tomographic diagnosis of obturator foramen hernia. Gastrointest Radiol 1983; 8: 375-377 [PMID: 6642157 DOI: 10.1007/BF01948155]
- 157 Bernardé A, Rochereau P, Matres-Lorenzo L, Brissot H. Surgical findings and clinical outcome after bilateral repair of apparently unilateral perineal hernias in dogs. J Small Anim Pract 2018; 59: 734-741 [PMID: 30259995 DOI: 10.1111/jsap.12920]
- 158 Hatipoğlu E, Dal F, Umman V, Demiryas S, Demirkıran O, Ertem M, Ergüney S, Pekmezci S. Rare case of bilateral incarcerated obturator hernia: a case report. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2018; 24: 278-280 [PMID: 29786826 DOI: 10.5505/tjtes.2018.36559]
- Abdulfattah Abdullah AS, Abdelhady A, Alhammoud A. Bilateral asymmetrical hip dislocation 159 with one side obturator intra-pelvic dislocation. Case report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2017; 33: 27-30 [PMID: 28262592 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2017.02.012]
- 160 Kenmotsu M, Sato Y, Morishita N, Ishii H, Murakami T, Tsunemitsu K. Computed tomographic diagnosis of non strangulated obturator hernia. The Journal of the Japan Surgical Association 2001; 62: 353-357 [DOI: 10.3919/jjsa.62.2_353]
- Amyand C. Of an inguinal rupture, with a pin in the appendix caeci, incrusted with stone; and some 161 observations on wounds in the guts. Phil Trans R Soc Lond 1736; 39: 329-342 [DOI: 10.1098/rstl.1735.0071
- 162 Ivanschuk G, Cesmebasi A, Sorenson EP, Blaak C, Loukas M, Tubbs SR. Amyand's hernia: a review. Med Sci Monit 2014; 20: 140-146 [PMID: 24473371 DOI: 10.12659/MSM.889873]
- 163 Al Maksoud AM, Ahmed AS. Left Amyand's hernia: An unexpected finding during inguinal hernia surgery. Int J Surg Case Rep 2015; 14: 7-9 [PMID: 26196311 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2015.06.029]
- 164 Michalinos A, Moris D, Vernadakis S. Amyand's hernia: a review. Am J Surg 2014; 207: 989-995 [PMID: 24280148 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2013.07.043]
- Wiley J, Chavez HA. Uterine adnexa in inguinal hernia in infant females: report of a case involving 165 uterus; both uterine tubes and ovaries. West J Surg Obstet Gynecol 1957; 65: 283-285 [PMID: 13468391
- Takezoe T, Sato K, Watanabe T, Ohno M. A female infant with an inguinal hernia containing the 166 uterus and bilateral ovaries. J Pediatr Surg Case Rep 2015; 3: 46-47 [DOI: 10.1016/j.epsc.2014.11.021
- 167 Hori T, Machimoto T, Kadokawa Y, Hata T, Ito T, Kato S, Yasukawa D, Aisu Y, Kimura Y, Sasaki M, Takamatsu Y, Kitano T, Hisamori S, Yoshimura T. Laparoscopic appendectomy for acute appendicitis: How to discourage surgeons using inadequate therapy. World J Gastroenterol 2017; 23: 5849-5859 [PMID: 28932077 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v23.i32.5849]
- Topal U, Sarıtaş AG, Ülkü A, Akçam AT, Doran F. Cyst of the canal of Nuck mimicking inguinal 168 hernia. Int J Surg Case Rep 2018; 52: 117-119 [PMID: 30342391 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijscr.2018.09.053]
- Biggs D, Patwa A, Gohsler S. Hydroceles-Not Just For Men. J Emerg Med 2017; 53: 388-390 169 [PMID: 28416252 DOI: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2017.03.023]
- 170 Vuilleumier H, Hübner M, Demartines N. Neuropathy after herniorrhaphy: indication for surgical treatment and outcome. World J Surg 2009; 33: 841-845 [PMID: 19156462 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-008-9869-1
- 171 Ndiaye A, Diop M, Ndoye JM, Konaté I, Ndiaye AI, Mané L, Nazarian S, Dia A. Anatomical basis of neuropathies and damage to the ilioinguinal nerve during repairs of groin hernias. (about 100



dissections). Surg Radiol Anat 2007; 29: 675-681 [PMID: 17985072 DOI: 10.1007/s00276-007-0272-7]

- Sampath P, Yeo CJ, Campbell JN. Nerve injury associated with laparoscopic inguinal 172 herniorrhaphy. Surgery 1995; 118: 829-833 [PMID: 7482269 DOI: 10.1016/S0039-6060(05)80272-7]
- 173 Deysine M. Inguinal herniorrhaphy: 25-year results of technical improvements leading to reduced morbidity in 4,029 patients. Hernia 2006; 10: 207-212 [PMID: 16758149 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-006-0091-5]
- Nagraj S, Sinha S, Grant H, Lakhoo K, Hitchcock R, Johnson P. The incidence of complications 174 following primary inguinal herniotomy in babies weighing 5 kg or less. Pediatr Surg Int 2006; 22: 500-502 [PMID: 16736217 DOI: 10.1007/s00383-006-1695-7]
- Asano H, Yajima S, Hosoi Y, Takagi M, Fukano H, Ohara Y, Shinozuka N, Ichimura T. Mesh 175 penetrating the cecum and bladder following inguinal hernia surgery: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2017; 11: 260 [PMID: 28903762 DOI: 10.1186/s13256-017-1435-8]
- 176 Peach G, Tan LC. Small bowel obstruction and perforation due to a displaced spiral tacker: a rare complication of laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair. Hernia 2008; 12: 303-305 [PMID: 18026897 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-007-0289-11
- Ossendorp RR, Koelemay MJ, Vermeulen J. Rare complication of pediatric inguinal hernia repair: 177 case report of transection of the femoral vein. Hernia 2016; 20: 585-587 [PMID: 27388891 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-016-1514-6
- 178 Ginelliová A, Farkaš D, Farkašová Iannaccone S, Vyhnálková V. Unexpected fatal outcome of laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair. Forensic Sci Med Pathol 2016; 12: 178-180 [PMID: 27076122 DOI: 10.1007/s12024-016-9775-z]
- 179 Yang C, Zhu L. Sudden death caused by acute pulmonary embolism after laparoscopic total extraperitoneal inguinal hernia repair: a case report and literature review. Hernia 2017; 21: 481-486 [PMID: 28176033 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-017-1587-x]
- 180 Junge K, Binnebösel M, Kauffmann C, Rosch R, Klink C, von Trotha K, Schoth F, Schumpelick V, Klinge U. Damage to the spermatic cord by the Lichtenstein and TAPP procedures in a pig model. Surg Endosc 2011; 25: 146-152 [PMID: 20532568 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-010-1148-1]
- 181 Lee SL, DuBois JJ, Rishi M. Testicular damage after surgical groin exploration for elective herniorrhaphy. J Pediatr Surg 2000; 35: 327-330 [PMID: 10693689 DOI: 10.1016/S0022-3468(00)90033-2
- 182 Peiper C, Junge K, Klinge U, Strehlau E, Ottinger A, Schumpelick V. Is there a risk of infertility after inguinal mesh repair? Hernia 2006; 10: 7-12 [PMID: 16362230 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-005-0055-1]
- 183 Dilek ON. Hernioplasty and testicular perfusion. Springerplus 2014; 3: 107 [PMID: 24616842 DOI: 10.1186/2193-1801-3-107
- 184 Schwab R, Schumacher O, Junge K, Binnebösel M, Klinge U, Becker HP, Schumpelick V. Biomechanical analyses of mesh fixation in TAPP and TEP hernia repair. Surg Endosc 2008; 22: 731-738 [PMID: 17623239 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-007-9476-5]
- 185 Guérin G, Bourges X, Turquier F. Biomechanical evaluation of three fixation modalities for preperitoneal inguinal hernia repair: a 24-hour postoperative study in pigs. Med Devices (Auckl) 2014; 7: 437-444 [PMID: 25525396 DOI: 10.2147/MDER.S71035]
- 186 Gonzalez R, Ramshaw BJ. Comparison of tissue integration between polyester and polypropylene prostheses in the preperitoneal space. Am Surg 2003; 69: 471-6; discussion 476-7 [PMID: 12852503]
- 187 Seefeldt CS, Meyer JS, Knievel J, Rieger A, Geißen R, Lefering R, Heiss MM. BIOLAP: biological versus synthetic mesh in laparo-endoscopic inguinal hernia repair: study protocol for a randomized, multicenter, self-controlled clinical trial. Trials 2019; 20: 55 [PMID: 30651127 DOI: 10.1186/s13063-018-3122-51
- Hodde J, Hiles M. Constructive soft tissue remodelling with a biologic extracellular matrix graft: 188 overview and review of the clinical literature. Acta Chir Belg 2007; 107: 641-647 [PMID: 18274177 DOI: 10.1080/00015458.2007.11680139]
- 189 Inaba T, Okinaga K, Fukushima R, Ikeda Y, Yamazaki E, Koide T, Horikawa M, Inoue T, Ogawa E. Chronic pain and discomfort after inguinal hernia repair. Surg Today 2012; 42: 825-829 [PMID: 22382853 DOI: 10.1007/s00595-012-0153-5]
- Nikkolo C, Lepner U. Chronic pain after open inguinal hernia repair. Postgrad Med 2016; 128: 69-190 75 [PMID: 26567717 DOI: 10.1080/00325481.2016.1121090]
- 191 Shadhu K, Ramlagun D, Chen S, Liu L. Neuralgia due to iliohypogastric nerve injury after inguinal hernioplasty: a case report. BMC Surg 2018; 18: 59 [PMID: 30115060 DOI: 10.1186/s12893-018-0391-6
- 192 Bischoff JM, Aasvang EK, Kehlet H, Werner MU. Does nerve identification during open inguinal herniorrhaphy reduce the risk of nerve damage and persistent pain? Hernia 2012; 16: 573-577 [PMID: 22782363 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-012-0946-x]
- 193 Charalambous MP, Charalambous CP. Incidence of chronic groin pain following open mesh inguinal hernia repair, and effect of elective division of the ilioinguinal nerve: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Hernia 2018; 22: 401-409 [PMID: 29550948 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-018-1753-9
- 194 Spaw AT, Ennis BW, Spaw LP. Laparoscopic hernia repair: the anatomic basis. J Laparoendosc Surg 1991; 1: 269-277 [PMID: 1834279 DOI: 10.1089/lps.1991.1.269]



- Mongelli F, Ferrario di Tor Vajana A, FitzGerald M, Cafarotti S, Lucchelli M, Proietti F, Di 195 Giuseppe M, La Regina D. Open and Laparoscopic Inguinal Hernia Surgery: A Cost Analysis. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A 2019; 29: 608-613 [PMID: 30807244 DOI: 10.1089/lap.2018.0805]
- 196 Rana G, Armijo PR, Khan S, Bills N, Morien M, Zhang J, Oleynikov D. Outcomes and impact of laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair versus open inguinal hernia repair on healthcare spending and employee absenteeism. Surg Endosc 2020; 34: 821-828 [PMID: 31139991 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-019-06835-6
- 197 Ielpo B, Nuñez-Alfonsel J, Duran H, Diaz E, Fabra I, Caruso R, Malavé L, Ferri V, Barzola E, Quijano Y, Vicente E. Cost-effectiveness of Randomized Study of Laparoscopic Versus Open Bilateral Inguinal Hernia Repair. Ann Surg 2018; 268: 725-730 [PMID: 30095476 DOI: 10.1097/SLA.00000000002894]
- 198 Waite KE, Herman MA, Doyle PJ. Comparison of robotic versus laparoscopic transabdominal preperitoneal (TAPP) inguinal hernia repair. J Robot Surg 2016; 10: 239-244 [PMID: 27112781 DOI: 10.1007/s11701-016-0580-1]
- 199 Abdelmoaty WF, Dunst CM, Neighorn C, Swanstrom LL, Hammill CW. Robotic-assisted versus laparoscopic unilateral inguinal hernia repair: a comprehensive cost analysis. Surg Endosc 2019; 33: 3436-3443 [PMID: 30535936 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-018-06606-9]
- 200 Aiolfi A, Cavalli M, Micheletto G, Bruni PG, Lombardo F, Perali C, Bonitta G, Bona D. Robotic inguinal hernia repair: is technology taking over? Hernia 2019; 23: 509-519 [PMID: 31093778 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-019-01965-11
- 201 Huerta S, Timmerman C, Argo M, Favela J, Pham T, Kukreja S, Yan J, Zhu H. Open, Laparoscopic, and Robotic Inguinal Hernia Repair: Outcomes and Predictors of Complications. J Surg Res 2019; 241: 119-127 [PMID: 31022677 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2019.03.046]
- 202 Pokala B, Armijo PR, Flores L, Hennings D, Oleynikov D. Minimally invasive inguinal hernia repair is superior to open: a national database review. Hernia 2019; 23: 593-599 [PMID: 31073960 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-019-01934-81
- Majumder A, Winder JS, Wen Y, Pauli EM, Belyansky I, Novitsky YW. Comparative analysis of 203 biologic versus synthetic mesh outcomes in contaminated hernia repairs. Surgery 2016: 160: 828-838 [PMID: 27452954 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2016.04.041]
- 204 Antoniou SA, Köhler G, Antoniou GA, Muysoms FE, Pointner R, Granderath FA. Meta-analysis of randomized trials comparing nonpenetrating vs mechanical mesh fixation in laparoscopic inguinal hernia repair. Am J Surg 2016; 211: 239-249.e2 [PMID: 26316363 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.06.008
- Fang Z, Ren F, Zhou J, Tian J. Biologic mesh versus synthetic mesh in open inguinal hernia repair: 205 system review and meta-analysis. ANZ J Surg 2015; 85: 910-916 [PMID: 26183816 DOI: 10.1111/ans.13234
- Bittner JG 4th, El-Hayek K, Strong AT, LaPinska MP, Yoo JS, Pauli EM, Kroh M. First human use 206 of hybrid synthetic/biologic mesh in ventral hernia repair: a multicenter trial. Surg Endosc 2018; 32: 1123-1130 [PMID: 28726148 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-017-5715-6]
- 207 Scott Davis S Jr, Dakin G, Andrew Bates A. The SAGES manual of hernia surgery. In: Jacob B. 2nd ed. Cham: Springer, 2019 [DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-78411-3]
- 208 Novitsky YW. Hernia surgery: Current principles. Cham: Springer, 2016 [PMID: 27452954 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-27470-6
- 209 Roumen R, Boelens O, Van Assen T, Scheltinga M, Wijerathne S, Agarwal N, Ramzi A, Liem D, Lomanto D, Simon T, Buechler MW, Koeckerling F, Siawash M, de Jager-Kieviet JW, Roumen RM, Scheltinga MR, Lincourt A, Augenstein V, Kercher K, Heniford B, Andresen K, Burcharth J, Hupfeld L, Fonnes S, Rothman JP, Winther D, Deigaard SL, Sørensen FS, Bjerg J, Therkildsen R, Errebo M, Hauge D, Rosenberg J, Fischer J, Fox J, Basta M, Kovach S, East B, Krejci T, Hoch J, Jorgensen LN, Kullman E, Tollens T, Nienhuijs S, Doerhoff C, Muzi MG, Hopson S, Velanovich V, Muysoms F, Leblanc K, Schwartz M, Berrevoet F, Holihan J, Nguyen DH, Flores-Gonzalez JR, Alawadi ZM, Nguyen MT, Kao LS, Liang MK, Hassan S, Raslan C, Henley N, Van Veenendaal N, Poelman MM, Van den Heuvel B, Schreurs H, Dwars B, Bonjer HJ, Kaufmann R, Halm JA, Nieuwenhuizen J, Klitsie P, Eker HH, van Geldere D, Simons MP, Van't Riet M, Jeekel J, Lange JF, Pathania B. Trial & Guidelines. Hernia 2015; 19 Suppl 1: S43-S49 [PMID: 26518859 DOI: 10.1007/BF03355325]
- Bittner R, Bain K, Bansal VK, Berrevoet F, Bingener-Casey J, Chen D, Chen J, Chowbey P, Dietz 210 UA, de Beaux A, Ferzli G, Fortelny R, Hoffmann H, Iskander M, Ji Z, Jorgensen LN, Khullar R, Kirchhoff P, Köckerling F, Kukleta J, LeBlanc K, Li J, Lomanto D, Mayer F, Meytes V, Misra M, Morales-Conde S, Niebuhr H, Radvinsky D, Ramshaw B, Ranev D, Reinpold W, Sharma A, Schrittwieser R, Stechemesser B, Sutedja B, Tang J, Warren J, Weyhe D, Wiegering A, Woeste G, Yao Q. Update of Guidelines for laparoscopic treatment of ventral and incisional abdominal wall hernias (International Endohernia Society (IEHS))-Part A. Surg Endosc 2019; 33: 3069-3139 [PMID: 31250243 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-019-06907-7]
- 211 Bittner R, Bain K, Bansal VK, Berrevoet F, Bingener-Casey J, Chen D, Chen J, Chowbey P, Dietz UA, de Beaux A, Ferzli G, Fortelny R, Hoffmann H, Iskander M, Ji Z, Jorgensen LN, Khullar R, Kirchhoff P, Köckerling F, Kukleta J, LeBlanc K, Li J, Lomanto D, Mayer F, Meytes V, Misra M, Morales-Conde S, Niebuhr H, Radvinsky D, Ramshaw B, Ranev D, Reinpold W, Sharma A, Schrittwieser R, Stechemesser B, Sutedja B, Tang J, Warren J, Weyhe D, Wiegering A, Woeste G, Yao Q. Update of Guidelines for laparoscopic treatment of ventral and incisional abdominal wall



hernias (International Endohernia Society (IEHS)): Part B. Surg Endosc 2019; 33: 3511-3549 [PMID: 31292742 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-019-06908-6]

- 212 Campanelli G. Hernia in the time of COVID-19. Hernia 2020; 24: 431 [PMID: 32350734 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-020-02197-4]
- 213 LaPinska M, Kleppe K, Webb L, Stewart TG, Olson M. Robotic-assisted and laparoscopic hernia repair: real-world evidence from the Americas Hernia Society Quality Collaborative (AHSQC). Surg Endosc 2021; 35: 1331-1341 [PMID: 32236756 DOI: 10.1007/s00464-020-07511-w]
- 214 Rognoni C, Cuccurullo D, Borsoi L, Bonavina L, Asti E, Crovella F, Bassi UA, Carbone G, Guerini F, De Paolis P, Pessione S, Greco VM, Baccarini E, Soliani G, Sagnelli C, Crovella C, Trapani V, De Nisco C, Eugeni E, Zanzi F, De Nicola E, Marioni A, Rosignoli A, Silvestro R, Tarricone R, Piccoli M. Clinical outcomes and quality of life associated with the use of a biosynthetic mesh for complex ventral hernia repair: analysis of the "Italian Hernia Club" registry. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 10706 [PMID: 32612131 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-67821-w]
- Gilbert AI, Felton LL. Infection in inguinal hernia repair considering biomaterials and antibiotics. 215 Surg Gynecol Obstet 1993; 177: 126-130 [PMID: 8251018]
- 216 Ismaila BO, Alayande BT, Ojo EO, Sule AZ. Inguinal hernia repair in Nigeria: a survey of surgical trainees. Hernia 2019; 23: 625-629 [PMID: 30656498 DOI: 10.1007/s10029-019-01885-0]



World Journal of W J MMethodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 187-198

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.187

ISSN 2222-0682 (online) MINIREVIEWS

Evidence based review of management of cardiorenal syndrome type 1

Leong Tung Ong

ORCID number: Leong Tung Ong 0000-0002-7296-7494.

Author contributions: Ong LT designed and performed the literature search, analyzed the data, wrote the paper, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The author declares no conflict of interests for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: Malaysia

Peer-review report's scientific

Leong Tung Ong, Faculty of Medicine, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur 50603, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Corresponding author: Leong Tung Ong, Faculty of Medicine, University of Malaya, Jalan Profesor Diraja Ungku Aziz, Kuala Lumpur 50603, Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. leotungong@gmail.com

Abstract

Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) type 1 is the development of acute kidney injury in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. CRS often results in prolonged hospitalization, a higher rate of rehospitalization, high morbidity, and high mortality. The pathophysiology of CRS is complex and involves hemodynamic changes, neurohormonal activation, hypothalamic-pituitary stress reaction, inflammation, and infection. However, there is limited evidence or guideline in managing CRS type 1, and the established therapeutic strategies mainly target the symptomatic relief of heart failure. This review will discuss the strategies in the management of CRS type 1. Six clinical studies have been included in this review that include different treatment strategies such as nesiritide, dopamine, levosimendan, tolvaptan, dobutamine, and ultrafiltration. Treatment strategies for CRS type 1 are derived based on the current literature. Early recognition and treatment of CRS can improve the outcomes of the patients significantly.

Key Words: Cardiorenal syndrome; Heart failure; Acute kidney injury; Renal insufficiency; Management

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) type 1 is defined as the development of acute kidney injury or worsening renal function in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. Impaired renal function in acute decompensated heart failure is often associated with prolonged hospitalization, a higher rate of rehospitalization, high morbidity, and high mortality. The aim of this paper is to discuss the different treatment strategies and provide a guideline for the management of CRS type 1. Early recognition and treatment of CRS can improve the outcomes of the patients significantly.



quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: December 25, 2020 Peer-review started: December 25. 2020 First decision: May 6, 2021 Revised: May 9, 2021 Accepted: May 20, 2021 Article in press: May 20, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Greenway SC S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Yuan YY



DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.187

INTRODUCTION

Cardiorenal syndrome (CRS) type 1 is defined as the development of acute kidney injury or worsening renal function in patients with acute decompensated heart failure (HF)[1]. Acute CRS occurs in approximately 25% to 33% of patients admitted with acute decompensated HF[1]. CRS has been associated with adverse outcomes, increased risk of hospitalization, and death[2]. Impaired renal function is a stronger predictor of mortality compared to left ventricular ejection fraction or New York Heart Association class[3]. Besides that, the development of renal dysfunction in HF patients may worsen the preexisting HF[4].

The causes of CRS in hospitalized patients include venous renal congestion due to hemodynamic changes, neurohormonal activation, hypothalamic-pituitary stress reaction, inflammation, and infection[1]. Moreover, administration of intravenous diuretics in patients with acute decompensated failure may lead to worsening renal function[5]. The common underlying risk factors of developing CRS in the setting of acute decompensated HF include severe atherosclerotic disease, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, elderly age, and a history of renal insufficiency or HF[6]. Furthermore, the presence of renal dysfunction is one of the major risk factors that contribute to refractory congestive HF[7]. There is a lack of high-quality evidence or guidelines on the management of CRS, and the management of CRS remains empirical and deduced from the treatment of HF, acute kidney injury, or chronic kidney diseases (CKDs)[8,9]. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to review randomized controlled trials and observational studies to describe the clinical efficacy of different therapeutic options in managing patients with CRS type 1.

METHODLOGY

A systematic search was conducted using the two major electronic medical literature databases, PubMed and ScienceDirect. Search terms included the following keywords and word combinations: "cardiorenal syndrome type 1", "heart failure", "kidney injury", and "renal failure". Relevant articles published in English from 2005 to 2010 were identified. Additional articles of interest were retrieved from the reference list of selected papers. Review articles and case reports were excluded from this review. PRISMA guidelines were used as a basis for reporting the results of this systematic review.

The inclusion criteria for this review were randomized control trials and observational studies that investigated the efficacy of different therapeutic options for CRS and reported at least one biochemical datum. The exclusion criteria include studies on biochemical markers of CRS, prognosis studies, and prevalence studies. Review articles and case reports were also excluded. The outcomes used in this study were changes in renal function tests such as creatinine levels, glomerular filtration rate (GFR), blood urea nitrogen, cystatin C, urine output, and weight. The flow diagram of the study selection process is shown in Figure 1.

CHARACTERISTICS OF INCLUDED STUDIES

The main characteristics of the studies included in this review are shown in Table 1.

The study by Owan *et al*^[10] enrolled 35 patients to standard therapy arm and 37 patients to standard therapy plus nesiritide arm. All the patients received standard therapy for HF as determined by the attending cardiologist and standardized diuretic therapy based on renal function. The patient in the nesiritide was administered intravenous nesiritide of a bolus of 0.2 mcg/kg followed by 0.01 mcg/kg per min[10].

The study by Bart et al[11] enrolled 94 patients in each pharmacologic therapy and ultrafiltration arm. Loop diuretics were discontinued in the ultrafiltration arm, and intravenous diuretics were used in pharmacologic therapy. The median duration of



Ref.	Population	Sample size	Intervention	Duration of follow-up	Main findings						
Owan <i>et al</i> [10], 2008	ADHF with renal dysfunction	72	Standard therapy <i>vs</i> standard therapy plus nesiritide (bolus of 0.2 mcg/kg followed by 0.01 mcg/kg per min)	72 h	Nesiritide produced greater reduction in blood pressure and preserved renal function						
Bart <i>et al</i> [<mark>11</mark>], 2012	ADHF with worsened renal function	188	Ultrafiltration therapy <i>vs</i> stepped pharmacologic therapy (intravenous diuretics)	96 h	Stepped pharmacologic-therapy with intravenous diuretics was superior to ultrafiltration						
Fedele <i>et al</i> [12], 2014	ADHF and renal impairment	21	Levosimendan (loading dose 6 µg/kg + 0.1 µg/kg per min) for 24 h <i>vs</i> placebo	72 h	Levosimendan improves the laboratory markers of renal function and renal hemodynamic parameters						
Chen <i>et al</i> [13], 2013	AHF and renal dysfunction	360	Low dose dopamine (2 μ g/kg per min for 72 h) vs low dose nesiritide (0.005 μ g/kg per min for 72 h) vs placebo	72 h	Neither low dose dopamine nor low dose nesiritide improved renal function when added to diuretic therapy						
Inomata <i>et al</i> [<mark>14</mark>], 2017	HF with diuretic resistance and renal impairment	81	Additive tolvaptan (≤ 15 mg/d) vs increased furosemide (≤ 40 mg/d)	7 d	Additive tolvaptan increased urine volume compared with patients receiving an increased dose of furosemide						
Lannemyr <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [15], 2018	Chronic HF and impaired renal function	32	Levosimendan (loading dose 12 μ g/kg + 0.1 μ g/kg per min) v s dobutamine (7.5 μ g/kg per min) for 75 min	60 mo and 75 mo after treatment	Levosimendan is the preferred inotropic agent compared to dobutamine						

ADHF: Acute decompensated heart failure; HF: Heart failure.



Figure 1 Flow diagram of the study selection process.

the pharmacologic therapy was 92 h (interquartile range, 56 to 138), while the median duration of ultrafiltration was 40 h (interquartile range, 28 to 67)[11].

The study by Fedele et al[12] enrolled 14 patients in levosimendan arm and 7 patients in the placebo arm. The patients in the levosimendan arm received 10 min intravenous loading dose of levosimendan ($6 \mu g/kg$) followed by an infusion (0.1 $\mu g/kg$ per min) for 24 h. All the patients were on other drugs, which included angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), aldosterone blocking agents (spironolactone), and beta-blockers (bisoprolol or carvedilol). Placebo group patients also received loop diuretics in addition[12].



The study by Chen et al[13] randomized 360 patients to nesiritide strategy and dopamine strategy in a 1:1 allocation ratio. In nesiritide strategy, 119 patients were allocated to low dose nesiritide, while 58 patients were allocated to placebo. In dopamine strategy, 122 patients were allocated to low dose dopamine while 61 patients were allocated to placebo. Patients in the nesiritide strategy were administered with either 0.005 μ g/kg per min for 72 h infused or placebo. Patients in the dopamine strategy were administered $2 \mu g/kg$ per min for 72 h infused or placebo[13].

The study by Inomata *et al*[14] enrolled 40 patients in additive tolvaptan arms and 41 patients in the increased furosemide arm. The mean dose of furosemide received by the patients before the study was $51 \pm 25 \text{ mg/d}$, and the patients were also treated with pharmacotherapy such as ACE inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor blockers, β blockers, and mineral corticoid receptor blockers. The patients were either administered additive tolvaptan arms of $\leq 15 \text{ mg/d}$ or increased furosemide dose of ≤ 40 mg/d. The treating physician determined the dose of added tolvaptan or increased furosemide[14].

The study by Lannemyr et al[15] enrolled 16 patients in each levosimendan and dobutamine arm. The patients in the levosimendan arm were given a loading dose of $12 \mu g/kg$ given over 10 min, followed by a continuous infusion of 0.1 $\mu g/kg$ per min for 65 min. The patients in the dobutamine arm were given as a continuous infusion started at 5.0 μ g/kg per min for 10 min and thereafter increased to 7.5 μ g/kg per min for 65 min[15].

CHANGES IN CLINICAL PARAMETER

The changes in the clinical parameters of the studies included in this review are shown in Tables 2-7.

The study by Owan et al[10] showed that nesiritide patients had less increase in creatinine and blood urea nitrogen compared to patients on standard therapy. The cumulative weight loss was greater in patients on standard therapy than in nesiritide patients, however, the difference was not significant^[10].

In the study by Bart *et al*[11], the mean change in the serum creatinine level from the baseline was a decrease of 0.04 ± 0.53 mg/dL and an increase of 0.23 ± 0.70 mg/dL in the pharmacologic-therapy group and ultrafiltration, respectively. There was no significant difference in weight loss in both intervention groups[11].

The study by Fedele *et al*[12] showed that levosimendan was beneficial, which was confirmed by the decrease in blood urea nitrogen, serum creatinine, and cystatin C. Besides that, levosimendan increased the GFR and urine output significantly compared to placebo[12].

The study by Chen *et al*^[13] showed that low dose dopamine had no significant effect on cumulative urine volume in 72-h, change in creatinine, and change in cystatin-C compared to placebo. Similarly, low dose nesiritide also had no significant effect on cumulative urine volume in 72-h, change in creatinine, and change in cystatin-C compared to placebo[13].

In the study by Inomata *et al*[14], the changes in urine volume between baseline in the tolvaptan group were significantly higher compared to the furosemide group. Besides that, the tolvaptan group had a smaller increase in serum creatinine on day 7 from baseline compared to the furosemide group. However, there were no significant changes in body weight in both groups[14].

The study by Lannemyr et al[15] showed that levosimendan and dobutamine had similar increases in renal blood flow. However, the levosimendan group showed an increase in GFR by 22% but remained the same in the dobutamine group. Filtration fraction remained unchanged in levosimendan group but decreased by 17% in the dobutamine group[15].

DISCUSSION

The treatment strategy for CRS type 1 is shown in Figure 2.

Diuretics and diuretic resistance

Loop diuretics are the primary class of diuretics in the management of acute HF with or without CRS[16]. Loop diuretics lead to natriuresis and volume loss in HF due to the inhibition of Na⁺K⁺2Cl⁻ cotransporter in the thick ascending limb of the loop of



Table 2 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention Clinical parameters evaluated

	Def	Creatinine (mg/dl)		Change in BUN		Cystatin	C (ma/l)	Weight loss	
		orcatinin	c (ilig/ac)	(mg/dL)		oystatin	o (mg/L)	(kg)	Cumulative urine
	Kel.	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Mean changes	volume (mL)
Nesiritide	Owan <i>et al</i> [<mark>10</mark>], 2008	1.85 ± 0.71	0.04 ± 0.44	44.8 ± 23.3	-1.3 ± 12.8	NA	NA	-2.75 ± 3.27	NA
	Owan <i>et al</i> [<mark>10</mark>], 2008 (placebo)	1.65 ± 0.42	0.09 ± 0.25	38.3 ± 16.6	2.4 ± 6.8	NA	NA	-4.25 ± 3.42	NA
	Chen <i>et al</i> [13], 2013	1.65	0.02	NA	NA	1.66	0.07	NA	8574
	Chen <i>et al</i> [<mark>13</mark>], 2013 (placebo)	1.70	0.02	NA	NA	1.86	0.11	NA	8296

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; NA: Not available.

Table 3 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention	Clinical par	nical parameters evaluated											
	Ref.	Creatinine (mg/dL)		Change in BUN (mg/dL)		Cystatin C (mg/L)		Weight loss (kg)		Urine output (mL/d)			
		Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes		
Furosemide	Inomata <i>et</i> al[<mark>14</mark>], 2017	1.6	0.20 ± 0.27	NA	NA	NA	NA	61	-2.1 ± 2.6	1251 ± 540	79 ± 341		

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; NA: Not available.

Table 4 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention Clinical parameters evaluated

	Ref.	Creatinine (mg/dL)		Change in BUN (mg/dL)		Cystatin C (mg/L)		GFR (mL/min)		Urine output (mL/d)		
		Baseline	72 h	Baseline	72 h	Baseline	72 h	Baseline	72 h	Baseline	72 h	
Levosimendan	Fedele <i>et al</i> [<mark>12</mark>], 2014	1.76 ± 0.37	1.51 ± 0.5	45.08 ± 22.19	33.14 ± 16.63	2577.5 ± 700.6	2083 ± 731.4	38.71 ± 7.94	53.34 ± 14.93	1766.4 ± 514.2	2663.5 ± 721.2	
	Fedele <i>et al</i> [<mark>12</mark>], 2014 (placebo)	1.6 ± 0.2	1.7 ± 0.2	44.4 ± 13.1	47 ± 12.8	2498.5 ± 262	2470 ± 409.9	43.33 ± 7.99	40.24 ± 6.58	1571.4 ± 125.3	1778.51 ± 798.1	
	Ref.	Creatinine	e (mg/dL)	Change in (mg/dL)	Change in BUN (mg/dL)		RBF (mL/min)		GFR (mL/min)		FF	
		Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	
	Inomata <i>et</i> al[<mark>14</mark>], 2017	NA	NA	NA	NA	426 ± 197	518 ± 276	36.5 ± 18.3	44.5 ± 19.0	0.146 ± 0.080	0.143 ± 0.069	

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; FF: filtration fraction; GFR: glomerular filtration rate; NA: Not available; RBF: renal blood flow.

Henle[16]. Studies suggested that torsemide is a more effective decongestive therapy compared with furosemide in patients with HF because torsemide has more predictable oral bioavailability and a longer half-life[16].

The study by Felker and Mentz^[5] suggested that there were no significant differences in observed symptoms or change in renal function in acute HF patients when

Baishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 5 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention	Clinical para	Clinical parameters evaluated											
	Ref.	Creatinine (mg/dL)		Change in BUN (mg/dL)		Cystatin C (mg/L)		Weight loss (kg)		Cumulative urine			
		Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	volume (mL)			
Dopamine/dobutamine	Chen <i>et al</i> [13], 2013 (dopamine)	1.59	0.00	NA	NA	1.71	0.12	NA	NA	8524			
	Chen <i>et al</i> [<mark>13</mark>], 2013 (placebo)	1.63	0.02	NA	NA	1.66	0.11	NA	NA	8296			
	Ref.	Creatinine	e (mg/dL)	Change in (mg/dL)	BUN	RBF (mL/1	nin)	GFR (mL/	min)	FF			
		Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment	Baseline	Treatment		
	Lannemyr <i>et al</i> [15], 2018 (dobutamine)	NA	NA	NA	NA	397 ± 121	499 ± 154	47.1 ± 14.5	47.3 ± 16.9	0.193 ± 0.070	0.161 ± 0.075		

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; FF: filtration fraction; GFR: glomerular filtration rate; NA: Not available; RBF: renal blood flow.

Table 6 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention	Clinical par	nical parameters evaluated											
	Study	Creatinine (mg/dL)		Change in BUN (mg/dL)		Cystatin C (mg/L)		Weight loss (kg)		Urine output (mL/d)			
		Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes		
Tolvaptan	Inomata <i>et</i> <i>al</i> [14], 2017	1.5	0.06 ± 0.32	NA	NA	NA	NA	62	-2.1 ± 1.8	1306 ± 494	459 ± 514		

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; NA: Not available.

Table 7 Changes in clinical parameters of the included studies

Intervention	Clinical parameters	كlinical parameters evaluated											
	Study	Creatinine (mg/dL)		Change in BUN (mg/dL)		GFR (mL/min per 1.73 m ²)	Weight lo	ss (Ib)	Urine output (mL/d)				
	Study	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes	Baseline	Mean changes			
Ultrafiltration	Bart <i>et al</i> [11], 2012	2.09	-0.04 ± 0.53	50.5	5.68 ± 18.29	1.67 ± 10.94	234	12.1 ± 11.3	NA	NA			
	Bart <i>et al</i> [11], 2012 (pharmaco-logic therapy)	1.90	+0.23 ± 0.70	48.7	12.54 ± 24.81	0.93 ± 14.60	207	12.6 ± 8.5	NA	NA			

BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; GFR: Glomerular filtration rate; NA: Not available.

the furosemide therapy was administered as a bolus compared with continuous infusions or at a low-dose compared to high-dose regimen. Nevertheless, the study by Palazzuoli et al[17] showed that continuous infusion of loop diuretics was associated with worsened renal filtration function even though the treatment resulted in greater reductions in brain natriuretic peptide from admission to discharge.

Diuretics use can increase systemic vascular resistance, plasma renin, aldosterone activity, norepinephrine, and arginine vasopressin and indirectly lead to deterioration



Baishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Management strategy for cardiorenal syndrome type 1. The management strategy in left arm is for patients presented with volume overload (decompensated heart failure, venous congestion, venous hypertension, edema, ascites, weight gain). The management strategy in right arm is for patients presented with reduced perfusion (decreased cardiac output, effective circulating volume, renal blood flow and renal plasma flow, arterial hypotension). ACE: Angiotensin-converting enzyme; IABP: Intra-aortic balloon pump; VAD: Ventricular assist device.

of left ventricular function[18]. Diuretics use can result in renal dysfunction through the above mechanisms [18]. However, the study by Ahmad *et al* [18] showed that kidney tubular injury detected by biomarkers in aggressive diuresis of patients with acute HF was not associated with worsening renal function. Furthermore, the study by Mentz et al[19] showed that high-dose loop diuretic therapy did not result in reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) activation greater than that with low-dose diuretic therapy. Ultrafiltration resulted in a greater increase in plasma renin activity compared with stepwise pharmacological care[19].

Loop diuretic resistance in HF can occur due to a decrease in renal perfusion, likely from low cardiac output[20]. Besides that, CKD reduces the excretion of diuretic into the tubular lumen thereby reducing and diminishing the filtered load of sodium[16]. HF can also increase proximal reabsorption of sodium through RAAS activation and increased expression of Na⁺K⁺Cl⁻, which then limits the peak effect of drug delivered to the lumen[21]. However, increased furosemide dose in loop diuretic resistance can cause aggressive fluid removal, which leads to depletion of intravascular volume without refilling from the extravascular space[22]. Moreover, hyperdiuresis can lead to prerenal renal dysfunction due to the potential risk of hypotension[23].

Diuretic resistance can be managed by continuous infusion of furosemide starting at 5 mg/dL to 10 mg/dL followed by an intravenous thiazide diuretic[6]. This combination therapy can result in a sequential nephron blockade of sodium reabsorption, but it may cause excessive sodium and potassium loss[6]. The systematic review by Salvador et al[24] showed that continuous infusion of loop diuretic showed greater urine output, shorter duration of hospitalization, and better safety profile compared with bolus injections in patients with congestive HF. The study by Bart *et al*[1] also showed that stepwise pharmacological care including thiazide diuretics, inotropes, and vasodilator therapy was more effective compared to ultrafiltration for preserving renal function and relieving congestion. In addition, the study by Inomata *et al*[14] suggested that additive tolvaptan increased urine volume and prevented renal dysfunction in HF patients with diuretic resistance and renal impairment.

ACE inhibitors and ARBs

Clinical data have shown that RAAS inhibitors can slow CKD progression and are one of the components in managing patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction in HF[6,16]. However, the use of RAAS inhibitors in acute CRS with underlying renal disease may lead to an increase in serum creatinine levels^[16]. The Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS) enrolled patients with severe HF with renal dysfunction with serum creatinine concentrations less than 3.4 mg/dL[25]. The study showed that patients who were in the enalapril arm had a reduction in symptom burden and HF-associated mortality compared to placebo but were associated with doubling the serum creatinine by 11% [25]. Besides that, the subgroup of HF patients with creatinine levels higher than 2 mg/dL showed improvement in symptoms and outcomes when treated with an ACE inhibitor[25].

A post hoc analysis of Study of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD) study showed that patients with HF and CKD in the enalapril group had higher mortality benefits even with more advanced stages of CKD[26]. A study by Ahmed et al[27] followed 1165 patients age ≥ 65 years, with systolic HF (ejection fraction < 45%) and CKD (eGFR < 60 mL/min per 1.73 m²) where 1046 received ACE-inhibitors or ARBs for 8 years. The results showed that patients receiving ACE-inhibitors or ARBs had a significant reduction in all-cause mortality and HF hospitalization[27]. Therefore, patients with CRS should be started on the lowest dose of an ACE inhibitor, and the dosage titrated up carefully. Concomitant use of NSAIDs should be avoided to prevent further deterioration of kidney function[6]. ACE-inhibitors or ARB therapy should be continued in patients with CRS unless there is the development of severe renal dysfunction and hyperkalemia[6].

Vasodilators and inotropes

Nesiritide can reduce afterload and increase cardiac output via the coronary, arterial, and venous vasodilatory properties without inotropic effects [16]. The study by O'Connor et al^[28] randomized 7141 patients with acute HF to receive either intravenous nesiritide or placebo for 1 d to 7 d in addition to standard care. The result showed that nesiritide had a small and non-significant effect on dyspnea improvement [28]. However, nesiritide therapy was associated with increased rates of hypotension and no differences in renal function, rate of death, and hospitalization compared to the placebo group[28]. The study by Owan *et al*[10] showed that the recommended dose of nesiritide can lower blood pressure more compared to the standard therapy but had no adverse effect on changes in creatinine or cystatin C levels. Furthermore, the study by Wang *et al*^[29] also suggested that nesiritide did not improve renal function in patients who had decompensated HF with renal insufficiency. Therefore, nesiritide does not improve clinical outcomes, decongestion, or renal function in recommended dose[29].

The study by Chen et al [13] showed that patients treated low dose nesiritide did not enhance decongestion or improve renal function. Besides that, the study also showed that low dose dopamine neither improved decongestion nor preserved renal function [13]. However, the findings of the study are contrary to the guidelines for the management of acute HF that suggest the use of low dose dopamine can be considered to improve diuresis and preserve renal function[30]. Observational studies also indicate that the use of nesiritide and dopamine in acute HF is associated with longer length-of-stay, higher mortality, and higher costs[31]. Therefore, use of low dose dopamine or low dose nesiritide as renal adjuvant therapies is not recommended in patients with CRS as it does not provide benefits on renal function, decongestion, and clinical outcome^[13].

Levosimendan is a positive inotrope with Ca2+ sensitization that improves the calcium sensitivity of cardiac muscle cells and therefore provides hemodynamic and symptomatic improvement[32]. Besides that, levosimendan has a vasodilatory effect on vasculature via activation of ATP-sensitive K⁺, voltage-dependent K⁺, and Ca²⁺activated K⁺ channels^[33]. Levosimendan can achieve maximal improvement in hemodynamic parameters at 1 to 3 d after starting the infusion and the effects can be sustained for at least a week[34,35]. Levosimendan can also improve renal function through the increased cardiac output[12]. Moreover, levosimendan can reduce the right-sided pressures, pulmonary artery wedge pressure, and central venous pressure, thereby improving the function of the right ventricles[36,37].

The study by Bragadottir et al[38] showed that levosimendan also increases both renal blood flow and GFR by inducing pre-glomerular vasodilation. The study by Lannemyr *et al*[15] showed that the renal filtration fraction remained unchanged in levosimendan group but decreased in dobutamine This is due to levosimendan preferentially vasodilating the afferent arterioles, while dobutamine has balanced vasodilation of both afferent and efferent arterioles[15]. Furthermore, levosimendan increases glomerular capillary surface area by inhibiting angiotensin II-mediated mesangial cell contraction[39].

The study by Yilmaz et al[40] also suggested that levosimendan offered more beneficial effects in terms of ejection fraction, systolic pulmonary artery pressure, 24-h urine output, and creatinine compared to dobutamine in patients with biventricular HF. The study by Packer et al[41] showed that levosimendan provided rapid and durable symptomatic relief in the first 5 d but was associated with an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events such as hypotension, cardiac arrhythmias, and a numerically higher risk of death at 90 d[41]. However, inotropic therapy should be reserved for patients with severe low cardiac output where vasodilatory agents cannot be used to avoid a further decrease in systemic pressure or systemic vascular resis-



tance[42,43].

Ultrafiltration

Ultrafiltration can be an effective decongestion strategy because of the ability to remove the isotonic plasma and therefore more sodium for the same amount of water [44]. The study by Costanzo et al[45] showed that weight loss and net fluid loss were greater in the ultrafiltration group compared to intravenous diuretics. Moreover, the rate of re-hospitalized for HF at 90 d was significantly lower in the ultrafiltration group[45]. However, there were no differences in episodes of hypotension within the first 48 h and serum creatinine at 90 d between the two groups[45]. On the contrary, the study by Bart et al[11] showed that there was a significant increase in serum creatinine level 96 h after enrollment in the ultrafiltration group compared with the pharmacologic therapy group, but there were no significant differences in weight loss. Patients who had ultrafiltration experienced an early rise in the creatinine level due to a transient decrease in intravascular volume[11]. GFR in patients with pharmacological therapy improved significantly after 60 d[11]. Besides that, a higher percentage of patients in the ultrafiltration group experienced a serious adverse event compared to the pharmacologic-therapy group over the 60-d period of follow-up[11]. The most common adverse events associated with ultrafiltration treatment included kidney failure, complications, and catheter-related complications[11]. Therefore, ultrafiltration treatment is not justified for patients with CRS due to the complexity and high cost of treatment[11]. Pharmacological therapy is recommended as the first-line therapy, and ultrafiltration should only be reserved in cases of refractory congestion[8].

CONCLUSION

CRS in patients with decompensated HF is associated with several cardiovascular and renal adverse events such as myocardial infarction, stroke, need for hemodialysis, high rates of hospitalization, and mortality[16,46,47]. However, management of CRS type 1 is often challenging due to the various underlying mechanisms of renal impairment and the lack of novel therapeutic options targeting renal impairment in HF patients [6, 8]. Therefore, early recognition of the condition by using different novel biomarkers and imaging techniques is important to initiate optimal treatment and care of the patients[16]. Moreover, patients with underlying HF should be educated to manage their condition well to prevent decompensation. A multidisciplinary team approach with cooperation between internists, cardiologists, and nephrologists is important to establish an effective treatment plan for patients with CRS to improve their quality of life[6]. Further research on drugs targeting the pathophysiological mechanism CRS, which includes both cardiac and renal dysfunction, can be conducted to improve the survival of the patients.

REFERENCES

- Ronco C, Cicoira M, McCullough PA. Cardiorenal syndrome type 1: pathophysiological crosstalk 1 leading to combined heart and kidney dysfunction in the setting of acutely decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 60: 1031-1042 [PMID: 22840531 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.01.077]
- Hillege HL, Nitsch D, Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K, McMurray JJ, Yusuf S, Granger CB, Michelson EL, Ostergren J, Cornel JH, de Zeeuw D, Pocock S, van Veldhuisen DJ; Candesartan in Heart Failure: Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and Morbidity (CHARM) Investigators. Renal function as a predictor of outcome in a broad spectrum of patients with heart failure. Circulation 2006; 113: 671-678 [PMID: 16461840 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.580506]
- Hillege HL, Girbes AR, de Kam PJ, Boomsma F, de Zeeuw D, Charlesworth A, Hampton JR, van Veldhuisen DJ. Renal function, neurohormonal activation, and survival in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 2000; 102: 203-210 [PMID: 10889132 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.102.2.203]
- Ronco C, Haapio M, House AA, Anavekar N, Bellomo R. Cardiorenal syndrome. J Am Coll Cardiol 4 2008; 52: 1527-1539 [PMID: 19007588 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.051]
- 5 Felker GM, Mentz RJ. Diuretics and ultrafiltration in acute decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 59: 2145-2153 [PMID: 22676934 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2011.10.910]
- 6 Koniari K, Nikolaou M, Paraskevaidis I, Parissis J. Therapeutic options for the management of the cardiorenal syndrome. Int J Nephrol 2010; 2011: 194910 [PMID: 21197109 DOI: 10.4061/2011/194910
- Geisberg C, Butler J. Addressing the challenges of cardiorenal syndrome. Cleve Clin J Med 2006; 73: 7 485-491 [PMID: 16708717 DOI: 10.3949/ccjm.73.5.485]



- Verbrugge FH, Grieten L, Mullens W. Management of the cardiorenal syndrome in decompensated 8 heart failure. Cardiorenal Med 2014; 4: 176-188 [PMID: 25737682 DOI: 10.1159/000366168]
- 9 Kumar U, Wettersten N, Garimella PS. Cardiorenal Syndrome: Pathophysiology. Cardiol Clin 2019; 37: 251-265 [PMID: 31279419 DOI: 10.1016/j.ccl.2019.04.001]
- 10 Owan TE, Chen HH, Frantz RP, Karon BL, Miller WL, Rodeheffer RJ, Hodge DO, Burnett JC Jr, Redfield MM. The effects of nesiritide on renal function and diuretic responsiveness in acutely decompensated heart failure patients with renal dysfunction. J Card Fail 2008; 14: 267-275 [PMID: 18474338 DOI: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2007.12.002]
- Bart BA, Goldsmith SR, Lee KL, Givertz MM, O'Connor CM, Bull DA, Redfield MM, Deswal A, 11 Rouleau JL, LeWinter MM, Ofili EO, Stevenson LW, Semigran MJ, Felker GM, Chen HH, Hernandez AF, Anstrom KJ, McNulty SE, Velazquez EJ, Ibarra JC, Mascette AM, Braunwald E; Heart Failure Clinical Research Network. Ultrafiltration in decompensated heart failure with cardiorenal syndrome. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 2296-2304 [PMID: 23131078 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1210357]
- 12 Fedele F, Bruno N, Brasolin B, Caira C, D'Ambrosi A, Mancone M. Levosimendan improves renal function in acute decompensated heart failure: possible underlying mechanisms. Eur J Heart Fail 2014; 16: 281-288 [PMID: 24464960 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.9]
- Chen HH, Anstrom KJ, Givertz MM, Stevenson LW, Semigran MJ, Goldsmith SR, Bart BA, Bull 13 DA, Stehlik J, LeWinter MM, Konstam MA, Huggins GS, Rouleau JL, O'Meara E, Tang WH, Starling RC, Butler J, Deswal A, Felker GM, O'Connor CM, Bonita RE, Margulies KB, Cappola TP, Ofili EO, Mann DL, Dávila-Román VG, McNulty SE, Borlaug BA, Velazquez EJ, Lee KL, Shah MR, Hernandez AF, Braunwald E, Redfield MM; NHLBI Heart Failure Clinical Research Network. Lowdose dopamine or low-dose nesiritide in acute heart failure with renal dysfunction: the ROSE acute heart failure randomized trial. JAMA 2013; 310: 2533-2543 [PMID: 24247300 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2013.282190]
- 14 Inomata T, Ikeda Y, Kida K, Shibagaki Y, Sato N, Kumagai Y, Shinagawa H, Ako J, Izumi T; Kanagawa Aquaresis Investigators. Effects of Additive Tolvaptan vs. Increased Furosemide on Heart Failure With Diuretic Resistance and Renal Impairment - Results From the K-STAR Study. Circ J 2017; 82: 159-167 [PMID: 28835586 DOI: 10.1253/circj.CJ-17-0179]
- 15 Lannemyr L, Ricksten SE, Rundqvist B, Andersson B, Bartfay SE, Ljungman C, Dahlberg P, Bergh N, Hjalmarsson C, Gilljam T, Bollano E, Karason K. Differential Effects of Levosimendan and Dobutamine on Glomerular Filtration Rate in Patients With Heart Failure and Renal Impairment: A Randomized Double-Blind Controlled Trial. J Am Heart Assoc 2018; 7: e008455 [PMID: 30369310 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.117.008455]
- 16 Rangaswami J, Bhalla V, Blair JEA, Chang TI, Costa S, Lentine KL, Lerma EV, Mezue K, Molitch M, Mullens W, Ronco C, Tang WHW, McCullough PA; American Heart Association Council on the Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease and Council on Clinical Cardiology. Cardiorenal Syndrome: Classification, Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment Strategies: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2019; 139: e840-e878 [PMID: 30852913 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000664]
- 17 Palazzuoli A, Pellegrini M, Ruocco G, Martini G, Franci B, Campagna MS, Gilleman M, Nuti R, McCullough PA, Ronco C. Continuous vs bolus intermittent loop diuretic infusion in acutely decompensated heart failure: a prospective randomized trial. Crit Care 2014; 18: R134 [PMID: 24974232 DOI: 10.1186/cc13952]
- 18 Ahmad T, Jackson K, Rao VS, Tang WHW, Brisco-Bacik MA, Chen HH, Felker GM, Hernandez AF, O'Connor CM, Sabbisetti VS, Bonventre JV, Wilson FP, Coca SG, Testani JM. Worsening Renal Function in Patients With Acute Heart Failure Undergoing Aggressive Diuresis Is Not Associated With Tubular Injury. Circulation 2018; 137: 2016-2028 [PMID: 29352071 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.030112]
- 19 Mentz RJ, Stevens SR, DeVore AD, Lala A, Vader JM, AbouEzzeddine OF, Khazanie P, Redfield MM, Stevenson LW, O'Connor CM, Goldsmith SR, Bart BA, Anstrom KJ, Hernandez AF, Braunwald E. Felker GM. Decongestion strategies and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system activation in acute heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 2015; 3: 97-107 [PMID: 25543972 DOI: 10.1016/j.jchf.2014.09.003]
- Ronco C, Di Lullo L. Cardiorenal syndrome. Heart Fail Clin 2014; 10: 251-280 [PMID: 24656104 20 DOI: 10.1016/j.hfc.2013.12.003]
- Marumo R, Kaizuma S, Nogae S, Kanazawa M, Kimura T, Saito T, Ito S, Matsubara M. Differential 21 upregulation of rat Na-K-Cl cotransporter, rBSC1, mRNA in the thick ascending limb of Henle in different pathological conditions. Kidney Int 1998; 54: 877-888 [PMID: 9734612 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00051.x]
- 22 Goldsmith SR, Bart BA, Burnett J. Decongestive therapy and renal function in acute heart failure: time for a new approach? Circ Heart Fail 2014; 7: 531-535 [PMID: 24847128 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.113.000828]
- 23 Watanabe K, Dohi K, Sugimoto T, Yamada T, Sato Y, Ichikawa K, Sugiura E, Kumagai N, Nakamori S, Nakajima H, Hoshino K, Machida H, Okamoto S, Onishi K, Nakamura M, Nobori T, Ito M. Short-term effects of low-dose tolvaptan on hemodynamic parameters in patients with chronic heart failure. J Cardiol 2012; 60: 462-469 [PMID: 23068288 DOI: 10.1016/j.jjcc.2012.09.002]
- 24 Salvador DR, Rey NR, Ramos GC, Punzalan FE. Continuous infusion vs bolus injection of loop diuretics in congestive heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004; CD003178 [PMID: 14974008



DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003178.pub2]

- Ljungman S, Kjekshus J, Swedberg K. Renal function in severe congestive heart failure during 25 treatment with enalapril (the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study [CONSENSUS] Trial). Am J Cardiol 1992; 70: 479-487 [PMID: 1642186 DOI: 10.1016/0002-9149(92)91194-9]
- Khan NA, Ma I, Thompson CR, Humphries K, Salem DN, Sarnak MJ, Levin A. Kidney function and 26 mortality among patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17: 244-253 [PMID: 16291840 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2005030270]
- 27 Ahmed A, Fonarow GC, Zhang Y, Sanders PW, Allman RM, Arnett DK, Feller MA, Love TE, Aban IB, Levesque R, Ekundayo OJ, Dell'Italia LJ, Bakris GL, Rich MW. Renin-angiotensin inhibition in systolic heart failure and chronic kidney disease. Am J Med 2012; 125: 399-410 [PMID: 22321760 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2011.10.013]
- O'Connor CM, Starling RC, Hernandez AF, Armstrong PW, Dickstein K, Hasselblad V, Heizer GM, 28 Komajda M, Massie BM, McMurray JJ, Nieminen MS, Reist CJ, Rouleau JL, Swedberg K, Adams KF Jr, Anker SD, Atar D, Battler A, Botero R, Bohidar NR, Butler J, Clausell N, Corbalán R, Costanzo MR, Dahlstrom U, Deckelbaum LI, Diaz R, Dunlap ME, Ezekowitz JA, Feldman D, Felker GM, Fonarow GC, Gennevois D, Gottlieb SS, Hill JA, Hollander JE, Howlett JG, Hudson MP, Kociol RD, Krum H, Laucevicius A, Levy WC, Méndez GF, Metra M, Mittal S, Oh BH, Pereira NL, Ponikowski P, Tang WH, Tanomsup S, Teerlink JR, Triposkiadis F, Troughton RW, Voors AA, Whellan DJ, Zannad F, Califf RM. Effect of nesiritide in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. N Engl J Med 2011; 365: 32-43 [PMID: 21732835 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1100171]
- 29 Wang DJ, Dowling TC, Meadows D, Ayala T, Marshall J, Minshall S, Greenberg N, Thattassery E, Fisher ML, Rao K, Gottlieb SS. Nesiritide does not improve renal function in patients with chronic heart failure and worsening serum creatinine. Circulation 2004; 110: 1620-1625 [PMID: 15337695 DOI: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000141829.04031.251
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, 30 Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJ, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WH, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL. 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 2013; 128: 1810-1852 [PMID: 23741057 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e31829e8807
- Hauptman PJ, Swindle J, Burroughs TE, Schnitzler MA. Resource utilization in patients hospitalized 31 with heart failure: insights from a contemporary national hospital database. Am Heart J 2008; 155: 978-985.e1 [PMID: 18513507 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2008.01.015]
- 32 Kass DA, Solaro RJ. Mechanisms and use of calcium-sensitizing agents in the failing heart. Circulation 2006; 113: 305-315 [PMID: 16418450 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.542407]
- 33 Pataricza J, Krassói I, Höhn J, Kun A, Papp JG. Functional role of potassium channels in the vasodilating mechanism of levosimendan in porcine isolated coronary artery. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 2003; 17: 115-121 [PMID: 12975592 DOI: 10.1023/a:1025331617233]
- Lilleberg J, Laine M, Palkama T, Kivikko M, Pohjanjousi P, Kupari M. Duration of the 34 haemodynamic action of a 24-h infusion of levosimendan in patients with congestive heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2007; 9: 75-82 [PMID: 16829185 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejheart.2006.04.012]
- 35 McLean AS, Huang SJ, Nalos M, Ting I. Duration of the beneficial effects of levosimendan in decompensated heart failure as measured by echocardiographic indices and B-type natriuretic peptide. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 2005; 46: 830-835 [PMID: 16306809 DOI: 10.1097/01.fjc.0000189076.71730.f1]
- Poelzl G, Zwick RH, Grander W, Metzler B, Jonetzko P, Frick M, Ulmer H, Pachinger O, Roithinger 36 FX. Safety and effectiveness of levosimendan in patients with predominant right heart failure. Herz 2008; **33**: 368-373 [PMID: 18773157 DOI: 10.1007/s00059-008-3051-2]
- 37 Russ MA, Prondzinsky R, Carter JM, Schlitt A, Ebelt H, Schmidt H, Lemm H, Heinroth K, Soeffker G, Winkler M, Werdan K, Buerke M. Right ventricular function in myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock: Improvement with levosimendan. Crit Care Med 2009; 37: 3017-3023 [PMID: 19661807 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181b0314a]
- Bragadottir G, Redfors B, Ricksten SE. Effects of levosimendan on glomerular filtration rate, renal 38 blood flow, and renal oxygenation after cardiac surgery with cardiopulmonary bypass: a randomized placebo-controlled study. Crit Care Med 2013; 41: 2328-2335 [PMID: 23921271 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31828e946a
- -39 Zager RA, Johnson AC, Lund S, Hanson SY, Abrass CK. Levosimendan protects against experimental endotoxemic acute renal failure. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2006; 290: F1453-F1462 [PMID: 16418300 DOI: 10.1152/ajprenal.00485.2005]
- Yilmaz MB, Yontar C, Erdem A, Karadas F, Yalta K, Turgut OO, Yilmaz A, Tandogan I. Comparative effects of levosimendan and dobutamine on right ventricular function in patients with biventricular heart failure. Heart Vessels 2009; 24: 16-21 [PMID: 19165563 DOI: 10.1007/s00380-008-1077-2]
- Packer M, Colucci W, Fisher L, Massie BM, Teerlink JR, Young J, Padley RJ, Thakkar R, Delgado-41 Herrera L, Salon J, Garratt C, Huang B, Sarapohja T; REVIVE Heart Failure Study Group. Effect of levosimendan on the short-term clinical course of patients with acutely decompensated heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 2013; 1: 103-111 [PMID: 24621834 DOI: 10.1016/j.jchf.2012.12.004]



- 42 Elkayam U, Tasissa G, Binanay C, Stevenson LW, Gheorghiade M, Warnica JW, Young JB, Rayburn BK, Rogers JG, DeMarco T, Leier CV. Use and impact of inotropes and vasodilator therapy in hospitalized patients with severe heart failure. Am Heart J 2007; 153: 98-104 [PMID: 17174645 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2006.09.005]
- 43 Felker GM, O'Connor CM. Inotropic therapy for heart failure: an evidence-based approach. Am Heart J 2001; 142: 393-401 [PMID: 11526351 DOI: 10.1067/mhj.2001.117606]
- Ali SS, Olinger CC, Sobotka PA, Dahle TG, Bunte MC, Blake D, Boyle AJ. Loop diuretics can cause 44 clinical natriuretic failure: a prescription for volume expansion. Congest Heart Fail 2009; 15: 1-4 [PMID: 19187399 DOI: 10.1111/j.1751-7133.2008.00037.x]
- 45 Costanzo MR, Guglin ME, Saltzberg MT, Jessup ML, Bart BA, Teerlink JR, Jaski BE, Fang JC, Feller ED, Haas GJ, Anderson AS, Schollmeyer MP, Sobotka PA; UNLOAD Trial Investigators. Ultrafiltration vs intravenous diuretics for patients hospitalized for acute decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 675-683 [PMID: 17291932 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2006.07.073]
- 46 Billings FT 4th, Shaw AD. Clinical trial endpoints in acute kidney injury. Nephron Clin Pract 2014; 127: 89-93 [PMID: 25343828 DOI: 10.1159/000363725]
- 47 Ronco C, Ronco F, McCullough PA. A Call to Action to Develop Integrated Curricula in Cardiorenal Medicine. Blood Purif 2017; 44: 251-259 [PMID: 29065398 DOI: 10.1159/000480318]



World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 199-207

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.199

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Isolation of lymphocytes from the human gastric mucosa

Masaya Iwamuro, Takahide Takahashi, Natsuki Watanabe, Hiroyuki Okada

ORCID number: Masaya Iwamuro 0000-0002-1757-5754; Takahide Takahashi 0000-0002-4084-1854; Natsuki Watanabe 0000-0002-2806-7528; Hiroyuki Okada 0000-0003-2814-7146.

Author contributions: Iwamuro M organized the report and drafted the article; Takahashi T and Watanabe N critically revised the article for important intellectual content; Okada H approved the final article.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest associated with this article

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory

Masaya lwamuro, Hiroyuki Okada, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, Okayama 700-8558, Japan

Takahide Takahashi, Natsuki Watanabe, Division of Medical Support, Okayama University Hospital, Okayama 700-8558, Japan

Corresponding author: Masaya Iwamuro, MD, PhD, Assistant Professor, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2-5-1 Shikata-cho, Kita-Ku, Okayama 700-8558, Japan. iwamuromasaya@yahoo.co.jp

Abstract

Flow cytometry is widely used for lymphocyte immunophenotyping in clinical settings. However, few studies have applied it for analyzing lymphocytes of the gastric mucosa. This review offers an overview of methodologies for isolating lymphocytes from the human stomach. Previously reported articles were reviewed, focusing on procedures for isolating human gastric mucosal lymphocytes. Helicobacter pylori-associated peptic diseases and gastric cancer are two major subjects of research in this field. Enzymatic dissociation, mechanical dissociation, or a combination of the two have been used to isolate lymphocytes from the stomach. Intra-epithelial and lamina propria lymphocytes were separately isolated in several studies. We also summarize the history and present trends in analyzing lymphocytes in patients with gastric disease.

Key Words: Gastrointestinal biopsies; Gastrointestinal endoscopy; Gastric cancers; Helicobacter pylori; Gastric ulcer; Flow cytometry

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: This review provides an overview of methodologies used to analyze lymphocytes in the stomach. Helicobacter pylori-associated peptic diseases and gastric cancer are two major subjects of research in this field. Previously reported articles were reviewed, focusing on procedures for isolating human gastric mucosal lymphocytes. The history and present trends in analyzing lymphocytes in patients with gastric disease are also summarized.



technology

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: December 31, 2020 Peer-review started: December 31, 2020 First decision: April 6, 2021 Revised: April 9, 2021 Accepted: July 9, 2021 Article in press: July 9, 2021

Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Di Mario F S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Li X



Citation: Iwamuro M, Takahashi T, Watanabe N, Okada H. Isolation of lymphocytes from the human gastric mucosa. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(4): 199-207 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/199.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.199

INTRODUCTION

Helicobacter pylori (*H. pylori*) infection is responsible for most peptic ulcers and chronic inflammation in the stomach. Such prolonged inflammation causes mucosal damage and regeneration, in turn leading to carcinogenesis of the gastric epithelium and lymphomagenesis. Additionally, recent advances in cancer immunology and immunology-based anticancer therapies highlight the contribution of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in gastric cancer treatment. Thus, chronic inflammation with lymphocyte infiltration in the stomach may be involved in various gastric diseases[1, 2].

Flow cytometry is widely used for lymphocyte immunophenotyping. An advantage of flow cytometry over immunohistochemistry is its multicolor analysis, providing an accurate characterization of the surface antigen profile of specific cells. Despite its superiority, few studies have assessed gastric mucosal lymphocytes by flow cytometry. We believe that its widespread use will promote a better understanding of surface marker expression and function of lymphocytes in the stomach. Here, we review relevant basic studies and summarize the methods of isolating lymphocytes from the human stomach for flow cytometry. Additionally, the history and current trends in analyzing lymphocytes in patients with gastric disease are summarized.

LITERATURE SEARCH

We performed a literature search on October 13, 2020, in the PubMed database. The search terms used were "lymphocyte isolation", "stomach", and "flow cytometry". We retrieved 66 titles[1-66], and no previous systematic review of lymphocyte isolation from the gastric mucosa was identified (Figure 1). Articles not written in English (n = 4) were excluded from this review. A further 20 articles were excluded as the research subjects were cell lines (n = 4) or non-human mammals, including mice (n = 14), pigs (n = 1), or alpacas (n = 1). Among the remaining 42 articles, lymphocyte isolation from the stomach was not performed in 16 articles. Finally, we reviewed 26 articles and summarized the methodologies for lymphocyte isolation from the human gastric mucosa.

Lymphocyte isolation was performed using endoscopic biopsy specimens (n = 15), surgically resected specimens (n = 10), or both (n = 1). The number of endoscopically biopsied specimens was 1 (n = 2), 1–2 (n = 1), 2 (n = 3), 4 (n = 5), 5 (n = 1), or 6 (n = 1). The number used for lymphocyte isolation was not specified in the remaining three articles. Gastric mucosal lymphocyte analysis was performed in association with *H*. *pylori*-related peptic diseases (n = 12), gastric cancer (n = 9), or other diseases (n = 5).

During lymphocyte isolation, enzymatic degradation and/or mechanical shredding and grinding are performed to remove the epithelial cells and connective tissue of the stomach. Collagenase is commonly used for enzymatic processing, while mesh strainers or glass slides are used for mechanical processing. Hereafter, we review representative methods for lymphocyte isolation from the stomach.

Combination of enzymatic and mechanical dissociation

In previously reported studies, sequential processing with enzymatic and mechanical dissociation is most frequently used for lymphocyte isolation from the gastric mucosa. In one protocol[2,6,16], fresh tissues were obtained from the surgically resected stomach and washed three times with Hank's solution containing 1% fetal calf serum. The specimen was cut into small pieces and collected in RPMI 1640 medium containing collagenase IV (1 mg/mL) and deoxyribonuclease I (10 mg/mL). Subsequently, mechanical separation was performed using gentleMACS Dissociator and the dissociated cell suspensions were incubated for 1 h under continuous rotation at 37 °C. After passing the cell suspension through a 70 μ m cell strainer, cells were deemed ready for flow cytometry.





In another protocol[10], two specimens were obtained from the gastric mucosa by endoscopic biopsy. The specimens were placed on ice in RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% fetal calf serum, glutamine, and penicillin/streptomycin. The biopsy specimens were transferred to a dithiothreitol/EDTA solution and incubated for 15 min at 37 °C. The samples were finely sliced and digested in a collagenase A solution for 1 h at 37 °C. The digested cell suspensions were filtered through a 70 μ m cell filter and collected in RPMI 1640 medium. After centrifugation, the pellet was resuspended in phosphate-buffered saline.

For enzymatic dissociation, other reagent combinations are also used, such as deoxyribonuclease 1 (0.02 mg/mL), collagenase (0.25 mg/mL), and hyaluronidase (0.1 mg/mL)[28]; collagenase (300 μ g/mL) and Dispase II (500 U/mL)[33]; or collagenase (5 mg/mL), DNase (0.1 mg/mL), and protease (2 U/mL)[43,49,58,62].

Enzymatic dissociation

Isolation of lymphocytes can be performed by enzymatic dissociation alone. For instance[60], fresh gastric tissue can be digested in a rotating chamber (60 rpm, 37 °C, 12 h) with NaCl (8 mg/mL), KCl (0.4 mg/mL), CaCl₂(0.56 mg/mL), NaHPO₄ (60 μ g/mL), Na₂HPO₄-12H₂O (151 μ g/mL), HEPES (2.3 mg/mL), *Clostridium hystolyticum* collagenase (0.5 mg/mL), and soybean trypsin inhibitor (5 μ g/mL). The lymphocytes are then dispersed and enriched on Ficoll-Paque density gradients.

Mechanical dissociation

Without enzymes, lymphocytes can be obtained by mechanical mincing of surgically resected or endoscopically biopsied specimens, followed by passing through a 40-100 µm filter to exclude tissue fragments[23,24,52] or by pressing and grinding in a coarse glass grinder[48].

Isolation of intra-epithelial lymphocytes and lamina propria lymphocytes

The predominance, heterogeneity, and distribution of lymphocytes are diverse at different locations within the gastric mucosa[22]. Therefore, intra-epithelial lymphocytes and lamina propria lymphocytes have been investigated separately in several studies[22,47,54,55]. Briefly, biopsy samples were rotated at 37 °C for 1 h in calciumand magnesium-free Hanks' balanced salt solution supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum, dithiothreitol (1 mmol/L), and EDTA (1 mmol/L). At this step, the epithelial layer is removed, leaving the lamina propria intact and attached to the basement membrane. Subsequently, the resulting single cell suspension was washed in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum and penicillin/streptomycin.


The remaining tissue was placed in 5 mL of RPMI 1640 medium containing collagenase Type 1A (130 U/mL) and rotated at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for 3 h to obtain lamina propria cells.

Single-step lymphocyte isolation from an endoscopic biopsy specimen

We recently introduced a simplified, one-step procedure for lymphocyte isolation from an endoscopic biopsy sample[67]. To isolate lymphocytes, we used a porcelain bowl with a spout and a wire mesh tea strainer. First, the porcelain bowl and wire mesh strainer were sterilized by autoclaving. During esophagogastroduodenoscopy, enteroscopy, or colonoscopy, a single tissue sample was collected from the gastro-intestinal tract with a standard biopsy forceps. The collected gastrointestinal sample was put into a plastic centrifuge tube containing 5 mL of isotonic saline solution. Next, a wire mesh strainer was placed in a porcelain bowl and the specimen-containing saline solution was poured through the mesh. The solid specimens were crushed using the rubber portion of a 10 mL injection syringe plunger. The wire mesh tea strainer was then removed and thrown away. Subsequently, the saline solution containing lymphocytes was decanted into a plastic centrifuge tube and the cells were deemed ready for flow cytometry.

As far as we know, this is the easiest procedure reported to date; lymphocyte isolation by this method is achieved within 2 min. Besides, laboratory wares and apparatus are not necessary for this method. Therefore, our approach for lymphocyte separation can be completed in an endoscopy unit right after taking a biopsy sample. This method would allow widespread evaluation of lymphocytes in the field of gastroenterology.

HISTORY AND PRESENT TRENDS OF LYMPHOCYTE ANALYSIS IN THE STOMACH

During the early development stages of flow cytometry for gastric disorders (1995-1999), the association between peptic ulcers and inflammation induced by mucosal lymphocytes was investigated in patients with *H. pylori* infection or duodenal ulcers [52,54,55,58,61,62]. Activation markers such as CD25 [interleukin (IL)-2 receptor alpha chain], CD69 (activation inducer molecule), CD71 (transferrin receptor protein 1), HLA-DR, and adhesion and emigration-related molecules, such as CD11a/CD18 (lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1: LFA-1), CD11b (integrin alpha-M), CD54 (intercellular adhesion molecule-1: ICAM-1), CD106 (vascular cell adhesion molecule-1: VCAM-1), and CD49d (very late antigen-4: VLA-4), were analyzed by flow cytometry in these patients. Also analyzed were the pan T cell markers CD2 and CD3, T-helper cell marker CD4, and T-cytotoxic cell marker CD8. Cytokines, such as interferon-gamma, tumor necrosis factor beta (TNF- β), IL-2, IL-4, and IL-5, were also examined by flow cytometry[52,55].

In the year 2000, research was focused on CD95, also known as Fas or TNF receptor superfamily member 6[47,48]. CD95 is a death receptor localized on the surface of cells that triggers a signal transduction pathway upon binding its ligand, leading to programmed cell death (apoptosis). In *H. pylori*-associated gastritis, epithelial cell damage is mediated through Fas/Fas ligand interactions[47]. Simultaneously, apoptotic depletion of invading mucosal lymphocytes occurs with Fas ligand expression, providing a mechanism of immune privilege evading severe destruction of gastric epithelium in the *H. pylori*-infected stomach[48]. Meanwhile, flow cytometry was also performed for gastric mucosal lymphocytes in patients with duodenal ulcers[33,43] and in children[38].

To our knowledge, lymphocyte infiltration in gastric cancer was first assessed in 1996 in patients with lymphocyte-rich, Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric carcinoma [60]. In 2006, tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes were investigated in two major types of gastric adenocarcinoma (Lauren classification): intestinal type or diffuse type[28]. The number of B cells was significantly higher, while the number of T cells was significantly lower in intestinal type compared with diffuse type tumors. Furthermore, cloning and characterization of tumor-infiltrating T cells isolated from gastric cancers revealed a specific type-1 T cell response to gastric cancer antigens[21]. Analysis of CD8⁺ cells that produce IL-17 (Tc17 cells) showed that the percentage of Tc17 cells increased with tumor progression and was associated with overall survival time[15]. Tc17 cells induce CXCR4-dependent chemotaxis of myeloid-derived suppressor cells and impair cytotoxic functions of anti-tumor CD8⁺ cells, promoting tumor progression.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Since 2008, regulatory T (Treg) cells have gained attention in association with gastric disorders owing to their involvement in immune regulation[9,23,24]. In these studies, Tregs were defined as CD4⁺CD25^{high}[24], CD4⁺CD25⁺CD127^{low/-}[23], or CD4⁺FOXP3⁺ cells[9]. Studies show that local Treg cells in gastric cancer express a suppressive cytokine profile characterized by high IL-10, low transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), and interferon-gamma production[9]. Thus, it is believed that Tregs suppress effector T cell proliferation and contribute to gastric cancer progression[23]. Furthermore, increase of IL-10 secretion by Tregs was confirmed in *H. pylori*-infected gastric mucosa[24]. IL-10 inhibits IL-8 expression, activates nuclear factor kappa B in the gastric epithelium, and enhances *H. pylori* growth *in vitro*, suggesting the participation of Tregs in gastric ulcer formation and persistent *H. pylori* infection.

In one study, T cells expressing natural killer cell receptors, defined as CD3⁺CD56⁺, CD3⁺CD161⁺, or CD3⁺CD94⁺ cells, were quantified in *H. pylori*-positive and -negative patients[22]. CD3⁺CD161⁺ cells were higher in the epithelium of *H. pylori*-infected gastric mucosa, whereas CD3⁺CD56⁺ cells were lower in the lamina propria, indicating a site-specific distribution of T cells bearing natural killer receptors. In another study, mast cells, defined as CD45⁺CD117⁺FccRI⁺ cells, were investigated in patients with gastric cancer[2]. A significantly higher number of mast cells exist in gastric cancer tissues, and the mast cell levels increase with tumor progression and independently predict a reduced survival. Besides lymphocytes, tumor-infiltrating neutrophils were examined in gastric cancers by cell sorting against CD66b, which allows for the enrichment of mature neutrophils[6].

Using flow cytometry, specific lymphocyte subsets are defined based on their lineage-, developmental stage-, and function-specific cell surface markers. In addition, fluorescence-activated cell sorting technology enables diversion of individual cells from the fluid stream and collection into viable, homogeneous fractions. Efficient isolation of a lymphocyte population enables characterization of the specific fractions in *in vitro* and animal studies[6,9,15]. More recently, mass cytometry and single-cell RNA sequencing are available. These cutting-edge technologies may reveal distinct immune cell signatures of gastric disorders, such as gastric cancers and *H. pylori*-related peptic diseases.

DIAGNOSIS OF GASTRIC LYMPHOMA

In addition to the aforementioned technologies of evaluating gastric diseases, flow cytometry has been used for the diagnosis of lymphoma of the stomach. Flow cytometry is a rapid and practical diagnostic tool for B-cell lymphoma. Analysis of the distribution of surface immunoglobulin light chain kappa and lambda using flow cytometry offers evidence for the monoclonality of B-cell neoplasms because these lymphomas that typically arise from an expansion of a B-cell clone expressing only one class of immunoglobulin light chain, either a kappa or lambda chain. Thus, isolation of lymphocytes from the gastric mucosa and detection of monoclonality using flow cytometry lead to the prompt diagnosis of lymphoma of the stomach. This approach may be particularly useful for the detection and therapeutic monitoring of extranodal marginal zone lymphoma of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT lymphoma), which is the most common non-Hodgkin lymphoma subtype arising in the stomach [68-70].

We have reported the utility of a single-step lymphocyte isolation procedure from an endoscopic biopsy specimen, which is described above, for the diagnosis of gastrointestinal lymphoma[67,71]. Our previous study included patients with gastric extranodal marginal zone MALT lymphoma (n = 8), duodenal follicular lymphoma (grade 1; n = 5), and benign lymphoid hyperplasia (ileum, n = 1, and rectum, n = 1). Lymphocytes were successfully isolated from 14 (93.3%) patients. The sensitivity and specificity of flow cytometric analysis of immunoglobulin light chain expression for the diagnosis of B-cell lymphoma were 83.3% and 100%, respectively. These results suggest that a single endoscopic biopsy specimen contains enough lymphocytes for flow cytometric analysis and can be used for the diagnosis of gastrointestinal lymphoma.

CONCLUSION

In this review, we provided methodologies for lymphocyte isolation from the gastric mucosa that are reported in the literature. We also described the history and current



trends of lymphocyte analysis in the stomach. Owing to the multicolor analysis that accurately defines the surface antigen profile of specific lymphocyte populations, flow cytometry will continue to be a powerful tool for revealing the pathogenesis of gastric disorders. We believe that the methodologies described herein will provide a better understanding of the application of flow cytometry.

REFERENCES

- Fenton TM, Jørgensen PB, Niss K, Rubin SJS, Mörbe UM, Riis LB, Da Silva C, Plumb A, Vandamme J, Jakobsen HL, Brunak S, Habtezion A, Nielsen OH, Johansson-Lindbom B, Agace WW. Immune Profiling of Human Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissue Identifies a Role for Isolated Lymphoid Follicles in Priming of Region-Specific Immunity. Immunity 2020; 52: 557-570.e6 [PMID: 32160523 DOI: 10.1016/j.immuni.2020.02.001]
- Lv Y, Zhao Y, Wang X, Chen N, Mao F, Teng Y, Wang T, Peng L, Zhang J, Cheng P, Liu Y, Kong 2 H, Chen W, Hao C, Han B, Ma Q, Zou Q, Chen J, Zhuang Y. Increased intratumoral mast cells foster immune suppression and gastric cancer progression through TNF-α-PD-L1 pathway. J Immunother Cancer 2019; 7: 54 [PMID: 30808413 DOI: 10.1186/s40425-019-0530-3]
- Bagheri V, Abbaszadegan MR, Memar B, Motie MR, Asadi M, Mahmoudian RA, Gholamin M. 3 Induction of T cell-mediated immune response by dendritic cells pulsed with mRNA of sphereforming cells isolated from patients with gastric cancer. Life Sci 2019; 219: 136-143 [PMID: 30641083 DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.01.016]
- Martins MR, Santos RLD, Jatahy KDN, Matta MCD, Batista TP, Júnior JIC, Begnami MDFS, Torres LC. Could OX40 agonist antibody promote activation of the anti-tumor immune response in gastric cancer? J Surg Oncol 2018; 117: 840-844 [PMID: 29529339 DOI: 10.1002/jso.25001]
- 5 Zhou Y, Guo F. A selective sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 agonist SEW-2871 aggravates gastric cancer by recruiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells. J Biochem 2018; 163: 77-83 [PMID: 29036438 DOI: 10.1093/jb/mvx064]
- 6 Wang TT, Zhao YL, Peng LS, Chen N, Chen W, Lv YP, Mao FY, Zhang JY, Cheng P, Teng YS, Fu XL, Yu PW, Guo G, Luo P, Zhuang Y, Zou QM. Tumour-activated neutrophils in gastric cancer foster immune suppression and disease progression through GM-CSF-PD-L1 pathway. Gut 2017; 66: 1900-1911 [PMID: 28274999 DOI: 10.1136/gutjnl-2016-313075]
- 7 Topliff CL, Alkheraif AA, Kuszynski CA, Davis WC, Steffen DJ, Schmitz JA, Eskridge KM, Charleston B, Henningson JN, Kelling CL. Experimental acute infection of alpacas with Bovine viral diarrhea virus 1 subgenotype b alters peripheral blood and GALT leukocyte subsets. J Vet Diagn Invest 2017; 29: 186-192 [PMID: 28166712 DOI: 10.1177/1040638717690015]
- Hou M, Zhou NB, Li H, Wang BS, Wang XQ, Wang XW, Wang KG, Xue FS. Morphine and 8 ketamine inhibit immune function of gastric cancer patients by increasing percentage of CD4(+)CD25(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in vitro. J Surg Res 2016; 203: 306-312 [PMID: 27363637 DOI: 10.1016/j.jss.2016.02.031]
- 9 Kindlund B, Sjöling Å, Yakkala C, Adamsson J, Janzon A, Hansson LE, Hermansson M, Janson P, Winqvist O, Lundin SB. CD4⁺ regulatory T cells in gastric cancer mucosa are proliferating and express high levels of IL-10 but little TGF-β. Gastric Cancer 2017; 20: 116-125 [PMID: 26782287 DOI: 10.1007/s10120-015-0591-z]
- 10 Bashir M, Prietl B, Tauschmann M, Mautner SI, Kump PK, Treiber G, Wurm P, Gorkiewicz G, Högenauer C, Pieber TR. Effects of high doses of vitamin D3 on mucosa-associated gut microbiome vary between regions of the human gastrointestinal tract. Eur J Nutr 2016; 55: 1479-1489 [PMID: 26130323 DOI: 10.1007/s00394-015-0966-2]
- 11 Chen J, Yang J, Jiang J, Zhuang Y, He W. Function and subsets of dendritic cells and natural killer cells were decreased in gastric cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2014; 7: 8304-8311 [PMID: 25550889]
- 12 Sparks D, Bhalla A, Dodge J, Saldinger P. Isolated gastric amyloidoma in the setting of marginal zone MALT lymphoma: case report and review of the literature. Conn Med 2014; 78: 277-280 [PMID: 24974561]
- Odiere MR, Scott ME, Leroux LP, Dzierszinski FS, Koski KG. Maternal protein deficiency during a 13 gastrointestinal nematode infection alters developmental profile of lymphocyte populations and selected cytokines in neonatal mice. J Nutr 2013; 143: 100-107 [PMID: 23190758 DOI: 10.3945/jn.112.160457]
- Ruiz VE, Sachdev M, Zhang S, Wen S, Moss SF. Isolating, immunophenotyping and ex vivo 14 stimulation of CD4+ and CD8+ gastric lymphocytes during murine Helicobacter pylori infection. J Immunol Methods 2012; 384: 157-163 [PMID: 22814402 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2012.07.002]
- 15 Zhuang Y, Peng LS, Zhao YL, Shi Y, Mao XH, Chen W, Pang KC, Liu XF, Liu T, Zhang JY, Zeng H, Liu KY, Guo G, Tong WD, Tang B, Li N, Yu S, Luo P, Zhang WJ, Lu DS, Yu PW, Zou QM. CD8(+) T cells that produce interleukin-17 regulate myeloid-derived suppressor cells and are associated with survival time of patients with gastric cancer. Gastroenterology 2012; 143: 951-62.e8 [PMID: 22710190 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.06.010]
- Yoneda A, Ito S, Susumu S, Matsuo M, Taniguchi K, Tajima Y, Eguchi S, Kanematsu T, Nagata Y. 16 Immunological milieu in the peritoneal cavity at laparotomy for gastric cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2012; 18: 1470-1478 [PMID: 22509078 DOI: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i13.1470]



- Nishimoto T, Satoh T, Takeuchi T, Ikeda Y, Kuwana M. Critical role of CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory 17 T cells in preventing murine autoantibody-mediated thrombocytopenia. Exp Hematol 2012; 40: 279-289 [PMID: 22240606 DOI: 10.1016/j.exphem.2012.01.001]
- 18 Lulla P, Bandeali S, Baker K. Fatal paraneoplastic systemic leukocytoclastic vasculitis as a presenting feature of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Lymphoma Myeloma Leuk 2011; 11 Suppl 1: S14-S16 [PMID: 22035741 DOI: 10.1016/j.clml.2011.03.030]
- 19 Modi N, Gulati N, Solomon K, Monaghan T, Robins A, Sewell HF, Mahida YR. Differential binding and internalization of Clostridium difficile toxin A by human peripheral blood monocytes, neutrophils and lymphocytes. Scand J Immunol 2011; 74: 264-271 [PMID: 21595735 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.2011.02578.x]
- 20 Becher D, Deutscher ME, Simpfendorfer KR, Wijburg OL, Pederson JS, Lew AM, Strugnell RA, Walduck AK. Local recall responses in the stomach involving reduced regulation and expanded help mediate vaccine-induced protection against Helicobacter pylori in mice. Eur J Immunol 2010; 40: 2778-2790 [PMID: 21038469 DOI: 10.1002/eji.200940219]
- Amedei A, Niccolai E, Della Bella C, Cianchi F, Trallori G, Benagiano M, Bencini L, Bernini M, 21 Farsi M, Moretti R, Del Prete G, D'Elios MM. Characterization of tumor antigen peptide-specific T cells isolated from the neoplastic tissue of patients with gastric adenocarcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2009; 58: 1819-1830 [PMID: 19319530 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-009-0693-8]
- 22 O'Keeffe J, Gately CM, O'Donoghue Y, Zulquernain SA, Stevens FM, Moran AP. Natural killer cell receptor T-lymphocytes in normal and Helicobacter pylori-infected human gastric mucosa. Helicobacter 2008; 13: 500-505 [PMID: 19166415 DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-5378.2008.00641.x]
- Shen LS, Wang J, Shen DF, Yuan XL, Dong P, Li MX, Xue J, Zhang FM, Ge HL, Xu D. 23 CD4(+)CD25(+)CD127(low/-) regulatory T cells express Foxp3 and suppress effector T cell proliferation and contribute to gastric cancers progression. Clin Immunol 2009; 131: 109-118 [PMID: 19153062 DOI: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.11.010]
- 24 Robinson K, Kenefeck R, Pidgeon EL, Shakib S, Patel S, Polson RJ, Zaitoun AM, Atherton JC. Helicobacter pylori-induced peptic ulcer disease is associated with inadequate regulatory T cell responses. Gut 2008; 57: 1375-1385 [PMID: 18467372 DOI: 10.1136/gut.2007.137539]
- 25 Xu HY, Xu L, Gao JH, Li KZ, Dou KF. [T lymphocytes with chimeric receptor induce carcinoembryonic antigen-positive specific gastric carcinoma cells apoptosis]. Zhonghua Yi Xue Za Zhi 2007; 87: 1053-1057 [PMID: 17672971]
- Wang LY, Zeng Y, Pan ZZ, Zhu ZH. [Detection of intracellular and extracellular cytokines of 26 CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in gastric cancer patients]. Ai Zheng 2007; 26: 270-273 [PMID: 17355789]
- Rad R, Brenner L, Bauer S, Schwendy S, Layland L, da Costa CP, Reindl W, Dossumbekova A, 27 Friedrich M, Saur D, Wagner H, Schmid RM, Prinz C. CD25+/Foxp3+ T cells regulate gastric inflammation and Helicobacter pylori colonization in vivo. Gastroenterology 2006; 131: 525-537 [PMID: 16890606 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.05.001]
- 28 van den Engel NK, Winter H, Rüttinger D, Shau I, Schiller M, Mayer B, Moudgil T, Meimarakis G, Stolte M, Jauch KW, Fox BA, Hatz RA. Characterization of immune responses in gastric cancer patients: a possible impact of H. pylori to polarize a tumor-specific type 1 response? Clin Immunol 2006; 120: 285-296 [PMID: 16765089 DOI: 10.1016/j.clim.2006.04.566]
- 29 Hatzifoti C, Roussel Y, Harris AG, Wren BW, Morrow JW, Bajaj-Elliott M. Mucosal immunization with a urease B DNA vaccine induces innate and cellular immune responses against Helicobacter pylori. Helicobacter 2006; 11: 113-122 [PMID: 16579841 DOI: 10.1111/j.1523-5378.2006.00385.x]
- 30 Dutta N, Gupta A, Mazumder DN, Banerjee S. Down-regulation of locus-specific human lymphocyte antigen class I expression in Epstein-Barr virus-associated gastric cancer: implication for viralinduced immune evasion. Cancer 2006; 106: 1685-1693 [PMID: 16541432 DOI: 10.1002/cncr.21784]
- Hase K, Murakami T, Takatsu H, Shimaoka T, Iimura M, Hamura K, Kawano K, Ohshima S, 31 Chihara R, Itoh K, Yonehara S, Ohno H. The membrane-bound chemokine CXCL16 expressed on follicle-associated epithelium and M cells mediates lympho-epithelial interaction in GALT. J Immunol 2006; 176: 43-51 [PMID: 16365394 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.1.43]
- Li ZY, Chen FB, Chen J. [CD4+ and CD8+ T cells in gastric mucosa in children infected with 32 Helicobacter pylori]. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 2005; 43: 453-456 [PMID: 16053734]
- 33 Itoh T, Seno H, Kita T, Chiba T, Wakatsuki Y. Th response to Helicobacter pylori differs between patients with gastric ulcer and duodenal ulcer. Scand J Gastroenterol 2005; 40: 641-647 [PMID: 16036523 DOI: 10.1080/00365520510015520]
- Velin D, Bachmann D, Bouzourene H, Michetti P. Mast cells are critical mediators of vaccine-34 induced Helicobacter clearance in the mouse model. Gastroenterology 2005; 129: 142-155 [PMID: 16012944 DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.04.010]
- 35 Johansson C, Ahlstedt I, Furubacka S, Johnsson E, Agace WW, Quiding-Järbrink M. Differential expression of chemokine receptors on human IgA+ and IgG+ B cells. Clin Exp Immunol 2005; 141: 279-287 [PMID: 15996192 DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2005.02843.x]
- 36 Wu YY, Tsai HF, Lin WC, Chou AH, Chen HT, Yang JC, Hsu PI, Hsu PN. Helicobacter pylori enhances tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-mediated apoptosis in human gastric epithelial cells. World J Gastroenterol 2004; 10: 2334-2339 [PMID: 15285015 DOI: 10.3748/wig.v10.i16.2334]
- Valeri AP, Pérez-Blas M, Gutiérrez A, López-Santalla M, Aguilera N, Rodríguez-Juan C, Sala-37



Silveira L, Martín J, Lasa I, Mugüerza JM, López A, García-Sancho L, Granell J, Martín-Villa JM. Intrinsic defects explain altered proliferative responses of T lymphocytes and HVS-derived T-cell lines in gastric adenocarcinoma. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2003; 52: 708-714 [PMID: 12830324 DOI: 10.1007/s00262-003-0413-8]

- Bontems P, Robert F, Van Gossum A, Cadranel S, Mascart F. Helicobacter pylori modulation of 38 gastric and duodenal mucosal T cell cytokine secretions in children compared with adults. *Helicobacter* 2003; 8: 216-226 [PMID: 12752734 DOI: 10.1046/j.1523-5378.2003.00147.x]
- Wolf AM, Wolf D, Steurer M, Gastl G, Gunsilius E, Grubeck-Loebenstein B. Increase of regulatory 39 T cells in the peripheral blood of cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res 2003; 9: 606-612 [PMID: 12576425
- 40 Kudo T, Iwai T, Kubota T, Iwasaki H, Takayma Y, Hiruma T, Inaba N, Zhang Y, Gotoh M, Togayachi A, Narimatsu H. Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel UDP-Gal:GalNAc(alpha) peptide beta 1,3-galactosyltransferase (C1Gal-T2), an enzyme synthesizing a core 1 structure of O-glycan. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 47724-47731 [PMID: 12361956 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M205839200]
- Zavros Y, Rieder G, Ferguson A, Merchant JL. Gastritis and hypergastrinemia due to Acinetobacter 41 lwoffii in mice. Infect Immun 2002; 70: 2630-2639 [PMID: 11953405 DOI: 10.1128/iai.70.5.2630-2639.2002]
- 42 Li X, Guo M, Mori E, Mori T. Active roles of caspase-3 in human gastric carcinoma cell death by apoptosis inducing nucleosides from CD57+HLA-DRbright natural suppressor cell line. Int J Oncol 2001; 18: 837-842 [PMID: 11251182 DOI: 10.3892/ijo.18.4.837]
- 43 Ihan A, Tepes B, Gubina M. Diminished Th1-type cytokine production in gastric mucosa Tlymphocytes after H. pylori eradication in duodenal ulcer patients. Pflugers Arch 2000; 440: R89-R90 [PMID: 11005624]
- 44 Fan X, Gunasena H, Cheng Z, Espejo R, Crowe SE, Ernst PB, Reyes VE. Helicobacter pylori urease binds to class II MHC on gastric epithelial cells and induces their apoptosis. J Immunol 2000; 165: 1918-1924 [PMID: 10925273 DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.165.4.1918]
- Michetti M, Kelly CP, Kraehenbuhl JP, Bouzourene H, Michetti P. Gastric mucosal alpha(4)beta(7)-45 integrin-positive CD4 T lymphocytes and immune protection against helicobacter infection in mice. Gastroenterology 2000; 119: 109-118 [PMID: 10889160 DOI: 10.1053/gast.2000.8548]
- 46 Zavros Y, Van Antwerp M, Merchant JL. Use of flow cytometry to quantify mouse gastric epithelial cell populations. Dig Dis Sci 2000; 45: 1192-1199 [PMID: 10877237 DOI: 10.1023/a:1005514422187
- Wang J, Fan X, Lindholm C, Bennett M, O'Connoll J, Shanahan F, Brooks EG, Reves VE, Ernst PB. Helicobacter pylori modulates lymphoepithelial cell interactions leading to epithelial cell damage through Fas/Fas ligand interactions. Infect Immun 2000; 68: 4303-4311 [PMID: 10858249 DOI: 10.1128/iai.68.7.4303-4311.2000]
- Koyama S. Apoptotic depletion of infiltrating mucosal lymphocytes associated with Fas ligand expression by Helicobacter pylori-infected gastric mucosal epithelium: human glandular stomach as a site of immune privilege. Dig Dis Sci 2000; 45: 773-780 [PMID: 10759249 DOI: 10.1023/a:1005408113467
- Ihan A, Tepez B, Gubina M, Malovrh T, Kopitar A. Diminished interferon-gamma production in 49 gastric mucosa T lymphocytes after H. pylori eradication in duodenal ulcer patients. Hepatogastroenterology 1999; 46: 1740-1745 [PMID: 10430335]
- 50 Wieckiewicz J, Krzeszowiak A, Ruggiero I, Pituch-Noworolska A, Zembala M. Detection of cytokine gene expression in human monocytes and lymphocytes by fluorescent in situ hybridization in cell suspension and flow cytometry. Int J Mol Med 1998; 1: 995-999 [PMID: 9852637 DOI: 10.3892/ijmm.1.6.995]
- Stallmach A, Schäfer F, Hoffmann S, Weber S, Müller-Molaian I, Schneider T, Köhne G, Ecker KW, 51 Feifel G, Zeitz M. Increased state of activation of CD4 positive T cells and elevated interferon gamma production in pouchitis. Gut 1998; 43: 499-505 [PMID: 9824577 DOI: 10.1136/gut.43.4.499]
- Sommer F, Faller G, Konturek P, Kirchner T, Hahn EG, Zeus J, Röllinghoff M, Lohoff M. Antrum-52 and corpus mucosa-infiltrating CD4(+) lymphocytes in Helicobacter pylori gastritis display a Th1 phenotype. Infect Immun 1998; 66: 5543-5546 [PMID: 9784570 DOI: 10.1128/IAI.66.11.5543-5546.1998]
- Sikora J, Dworacki G, Trybus M, Batura-Gabryel H, Zeromski J. Correlation between DNA content, 53 expression of Ki-67 antigen of tumor cells and immunophenotype of lymphocytes from malignant pleural effusions. *Tumour Biol* 1998; 19: 196-204 [PMID: 9591046 DOI: 10.1159/000030007]
- 54 Terrés AM, Pajares JM. An increased number of follicles containing activated CD69+ helper T cells and proliferating CD71+ B cells are found in H. pylori-infected gastric mucosa. Am J Gastroenterol 1998; 93: 579-583 [PMID: 9576451 DOI: 10.1111/j.1572-0241.1998.168 b.x]
- 55 Bamford KB, Fan X, Crowe SE, Leary JF, Gourley WK, Luthra GK, Brooks EG, Graham DY, Reyes VE, Ernst PB. Lymphocytes in the human gastric mucosa during Helicobacter pylori have a T helper cell 1 phenotype. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 482-492 [PMID: 9496938 DOI: 10.1016/s0016-5085(98)70531-1]
- Ermak TH, Ding R, Ekstein B, Hill J, Myers GA, Lee CK, Pappo J, Kleanthous HK, Monath TP. 56 Gastritis in urease-immunized mice after Helicobacter felis challenge may be due to residual bacteria. Gastroenterology 1997; 113: 1118-1128 [PMID: 9322506 DOI: 10.1053/gast.1997.v113.pm9322506]
- Shiyan SD, Bovin NV. Carbohydrate composition and immunomodulatory activity of different 57



glycoforms of alpha1-acid glycoprotein. Glycoconj J 1997; 14: 631-638 [PMID: 9298696 DOI: 10.1023/a:1018544711767]

- Ihan A, Tepez B, Kavcic I, Gubina M. Il-2 receptor expression on gastric mucosa T lymphocytes is 58 enhanced in duodenal ulcer patients compared with non-ulcer dyspeptic patients. Hepatogastroenterology 1996; 43: 1665-1670 [PMID: 8975986]
- Krakowka S, Ringler SS, Eaton KA, Green WB, Leunk R. Manifestations of the local gastric 59 immune response in gnotobiotic piglets infected with Helicobacter pylori. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 1996; 52: 159-173 [PMID: 8809998 DOI: 10.1016/0165-2427(95)05547-9]
- Saiki Y, Ohtani H, Naito Y, Miyazawa M, Nagura H. Immunophenotypic characterization of Epstein-60 Barr virus-associated gastric carcinoma: massive infiltration by proliferating CD8+ T-lymphocytes. Lab Invest 1996; 75: 67-76 [PMID: 8683941]
- 61 Fan X, Long A, Fan X, Keeling PW, Kelleher D. Adhesion molecule expression on gastric intraepithelial lymphocytes of patients with Helicobacter pylori infection. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1995; 7: 541-546 [PMID: 7552637]
- Ihan A, Krizman I, Ferlan-Marolt V, Tepez B, Gubina M. HLA-DR expression on CD8 lymphocytes 62 from gastric mucosa in urease-positive and urease-negative gastritis. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1995; 10: 295-299 [PMID: 7773247 DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.1995.tb00047.x]
- 63 Alderuccio F, Toh BH, Gleeson PA, van Driel IR. A novel method for isolating mononuclear cells from the stomachs of mice with experimental autoimmune gastritis. Autoimmunity 1995; 21: 215-221 [PMID: 8822279 DOI: 10.3109/08916939509008018]
- Yamaguchi Y, Takashima I, Funakoshi M, Kawami H, Toge T. Defective natural killer activity in 64 gastric cancer patients: possible involvement of suppressor factor receptor. In Vivo 1994; 8: 279-283 [PMID: 7803704]
- Ebihara T, Sakai N, Koyama S. Suppression by sorted CD8+CD11b- cells from T-cell growth factor-65 activated peripheral blood lymphocytes on cytolytic activity against tumour in patients with gastric carcinoma. Eur J Cancer 1991; 27: 1654-1657 [PMID: 1838262 DOI: 10.1016/0277-5379(91)90439-k]
- 66 Yamaue H, Tanimura H, Tsunoda T, Iwahashi M, Tani M, Inoue M, Tamai M. [Clinical application of adoptive immunotherapy by cytotoxic T lymphocytes induced from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes]. Nihon Gan Chirvo Gakkai Shi 1990; 25: 978-989 [PMID: 2391445]
- Iwamuro M, Takahashi T, Watanabe N, Omote S, Matsueda K, Tanaka T, Ennishi D, Otsuka F, 67 Yoshino T, Okada H. Technique for single-step lymphocyte isolation from an endoscopic biopsy specimen for the diagnosis of gastrointestinal lymphoma. MethodsX 2020; 7: 101095 [PMID: 33102158 DOI: 10.1016/j.mex.2020.101095]
- Oka S, Muroi K, Sato K, Uskudar Teke H, Sahin Mutlu F, Gulbas Z. Flow cytometric evaluation of 68 endoscopic biopsy specimens from patients with gastrointestinal tract B-cell lymphoma: a preliminary report. Jichi Med Univ J 2007; 30: 129-135
- Oka S, Muroi K, Sato K, Fujiwara S, Oh I, Matsuyama T, Ohmine K, Suzuki T, Ozaki K, Mori M, 69 Nagai T, Fukushima N, Tanaka A, Ozawa K. Flow cytometric analysis of kappa and lambda light chain expression in endoscopic biopsy specimens before the diagnosis of B-cell lymphoma. J Clin *Exp Hematop* 2012; **52**: 127-131 [PMID: 23037629 DOI: 10.3960/jslrt.52.127]
- Almasri NM, Zaer FS, Iturraspe JA, Braylan RC. Contribution of flow cytometry to the diagnosis of 70 gastric lymphomas in endoscopic biopsy specimens. Mod Pathol 1997; 10: 650-656 [PMID: 9237173]
- Iwamuro M, Matsueda K, Takahashi T, Omote S, Tanaka T, Ennishi D, Otsuka F, Yoshino T, Okada 71 H. An Endoscopic Biopsy Specimen Contains Adequate Lymphocytes for Flow Cytometric Analysis of Light Chain Expression in the Gastrointestinal Mucosa. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2020; 50: 348-353 [PMID: 32581024]



World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 208-221

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.208

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

One-day seminar for residents for implementing abdominal pocketsized ultrasound

Hiroko Naganuma, Hideaki Ishida

ORCID number: Hiroko Naganuma 0000-0001-5175-568X; Hideaki Ishida 0000-0002-5625-6748.

Author contributions: Naganuma H and Ishida H collected the data and wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: Japan

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Hiroko Naganuma, Department of Gastroenterology, Yokote Municipal Hospital, Yokote 0138602, Akita, Japan

Hideaki Ishida, Department of Gastroenterology, Akita Red Cross Hospital, Akita-City 010-1495, Japan

Corresponding author: Hiroko Naganuma, MD, PhD, Doctor, Department of Gastroenterology, Yokote Municipal Hospital, 5-31 Negishi-cho, Yokote 0138602, Akita, Japan. hiron@vesta.ocn.ne.jp

Abstract

Despite its proven high utility, integration of pocked-sized portable ultrasound (US) into internal medicine residency training remains inconsistent. For 10 years, we have held a 1-d seminar biannually, consisting of lecture (half-day) and handson training (half-day) on pocket-sized US of the abdomen and lungs. The lecture consists of training on US physics and clinical applications of pocket-sized US, followed by a lecture covering the basic anatomy of the abdomen and lungs and introducing the systemic scanning method. Given the simple structure of pocketsized US devices, understanding the basic physics is sufficient yet necessary to operate the pocket-sized US device. It is important to understand the selection of probes, adjustment of B mode gain, adjustment of color gain, and acoustic impedance. Basic comprehension may have a significant positive impact on the overall utilization of pocket-sized US devices. The easiest and most reliable way to observe the whole abdomen and lungs is a combination of transverse, sagittal, and oblique scanning, pursuing the main vascular system from the center to the periphery of the organ in the abdomen and systemic scanning of the pleura. There is usually a marked change in knowledge and attitudes among the program participants, although skill gaps remain among them. We discuss the limitations and problems to this education system as well.

Key Words: Pocket-sized ultrasound; Abdomen; Lung; Medical education; Resident; Ultrasound physics

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: February 27, 2021 Peer-review started: February 27, 2021 First decision: March 31, 2021 Revised: April 10, 2021 Accepted: June 1, 2021 Article in press: June 1, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Deshwal H S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang LYT



Core Tip: Despite its high utility, there is no standardized method to integrate pockedsized ultrasound (US) into daily clinical settings. We present here our 1-d seminar for residents that consists of lecture and hands-on training on pocket-sized US. The lecture consists of training on US physics and clinical applications of pocket-sized US, covering basic anatomy, and introducing the systemic scanning method. Understanding of some basic physics is necessary to operate the pocket-sized US device. Although the residents' skill gaps remain, the seminar yields a marked change in knowledge and attitude towards pocket-sized US.

Citation: Naganuma H, Ishida H. One-day seminar for residents for implementing abdominal pocket-sized ultrasound. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(4): 208-221 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/208.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.208

INTRODUCTION

As the worldwide population rapidly ages, a concurrent rapid increase in the global financial healthcare burden has been observed[1]. The resources available for daily clinical practice are generally limited. Thus, simple, effective, and realistic systemic methods in patient care and medical education are urgently required. Actual clinical scenarios are varied, complex, and require a prompt response. Thus, the traditional medical approaches (inspection, palpation, auscultation, or other components of the physical examination and laboratory data analysis) cannot immediately answer the questions raised during clinical practice[2,3]. Addition of a "scientific eye" in the hand is expected to resolve such problems to a certain degree.

Recent advances in ultrasound (US) technology have made US instruments continuously smaller[4]. Among all of the medical imaging tools, the US device is the only instrument to be miniaturized. In the past, US examination was performed by radiologists using a bulky, expensive, and specialized machine with sophisticated functions in a specialized room[5]. US is currently utilized as an important adjunct to physical examination in a wide range of clinical situations due to the development of small-sized devices[6]. Portable US devices were first used in cardiology[7,8] then in emergent medicine[9,10]. A comparative study between fifth-year medical students using US and cardiologists not using US showed that the former achieved a correct diagnosis 75% of the time, while the latter achieved a correct diagnosis 49% of the time, indicating the importance of visual information in the diagnosis[8]. It also suggests that practitioners unexperienced with US can obtain adequate proficiency with minimal training.

The benefits of portable US are that it is widely available, and carries no risk of radiation exposure. However, an important disadvantage to using this tool is that its diagnostic accuracy is highly operator-dependent, and errors occur during image acquisition and image interpretation (like in traditional US examination)[4]. Furthermore, there is no standardized technique among examiners for observing the abdomen by portable US[11]. However, the benefits of portable US must be emphasized against such inconveniences, and US education is important to extend the benefit of portable US devices. Recent studies have reported favorable results of US education for medical students[12-14]. Though in our opinion, US education for new residents are more meaningful than for medical students. At the residency level, there is a deeper understanding of balancing portable US results and patient characteristics to establish clinical decision making. This background motivated us to begin a portable US education seminar intended for new internal medicine residents.

In this review, we present our US education 1-d seminar for new (post graduate year-1 or -2) internal medicine residents that focuses on the use of pocket-sized US on the abdomen and lungs. The goal of the seminar is for residents to have the confidence to integrate pocket-sized US results into their clinical decision making.

Zaishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

THE POCKET-SIZED US EDUCATION SEMINAR

The use of portable US devices has recently been adopted more frequently in clinical settings, and the market is flourishing[15]. Portable US devices have passed through three generations: Laptop-associated devices (personal computer-sized machine coupled with multiple applications), hand-carried devices (book-sized machine carried by hand), and hand-held devices (portable and able to fit in the pocket of a clinician's white coat, thus referred to as pocket-sized US). Each US company has different built-in applications, such as Doppler display, puncture guidance, and distance or volume measurement[16].

Pocket-sized US devices are usually used by unexperienced non-radiologist general clinicians under the name of "US stethoscope"[4] to complement clinical examination and provide immediate visual correlates of clinical findings. The concept of a US stethoscope is expanding worldwide, but like high-end US machines, pocket-sized US devices are effective in the hands of experienced examiners. Furthermore, comparative studies between pocket-sized US and high-end US have stressed some important points: the image quality of pocket-sized US is slightly inferior to high-end US but still satisfactory for clinical use[17,18]. US measurement by pocket-sized US devices is feasible, and acoustic power of the US machine strongly affects the penetration and resolution of the US image [mechanical index: 0.9-1.0 (pocket-sized US) *vs* 1.8 (high-end US)]. Pocket-sized US devices will not replace a high-end US machine and the need for detailed US examination by experienced radiologists will always be present, but there is value in the pocket-sized US examination.

Since 2010, we have biannually hosted a 1-d seminar consisting of lecture (half-day) and hands-on training (half-day) on portable US devices to increase the number of portable US operators and to develop the examination skills among new residents. For this hands-on training, we use pocket-sized US devices because of their portability and affordability (the most important characteristic of portable US devices when thinking of expected future applications). The aim of this seminar is to familiarize residents with pocket-sized US devices but not to immediately increase their US capability.

In the lecture, we begin with a simple lecture about fundamental US physics to optimize pocket-sized US application and to minimize errors in device manipulation and US image interpretation. The next lecture covers the basic anatomy of the abdomen and lungs as well as introducing systemic scanning procedures (Figure 1). In the lecture, we present both high-end US images and pocked-sized US images simultaneously in order to compare these images. This comparison is necessary to become familiar with the slightly inferior image quality of pocket-sized US (Figure 2). In the remaining time, we present a few model cases where pocked-sized US information helped create a patient care strategy followed briefly by a lecture on built-in applications including color Doppler US.

HALF-DAY LECTURE

Mini lecture on simple US physics and instrumentation

Compared with sophisticated and complex high-end applications, such as contrastenhanced US and shear wave elastography, the pocket-sized US device has a simple structure. Understanding basic physics is sufficient but necessary to begin to operate the pocket-sized US device. During this lecture, we stress four basic points of US physics needed to prevent device manipulation errors[19]: Selection of probes (highfrequency linear probe for superficial areas, such as the gastrointestinal tract and pleura or conventional sector (convex) probe for deep areas, such as liver and abdominal vessels), adjustment of B mode gain, adjustment of color gain, and problems related with acoustic impedance/the reason why US detection of stones (biliary, renal, and others) and fluid collection (ascites, pleural effusion, and others) is highly sensitive. This basic comprehension has a significant positive impact on the utilization of pocket-sized US devices.

Probe selection: With the transducer, the US beams are steered at varying angles from one side to the other to produce a sector format. This format permits a large, deep field of view, but its near field focus is reduced. Therefore, this format is unsuitable for observing superficial areas. The linear probe activates a group of elements to generate perpendicular US beams, which provide a high resolution in the near field[20]. As a result, probe selection is dependent on the type of organ to be observed (Figure 3).

Zaishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Lecture by a clinician who specializes in ultrasound. The lecture covers basic ultrasound physics and simple ultrasound anatomy of the abdomen.

Adjustment of B mode gain: The echo signal amplitudes are usually compressed in order to be accommodated by the display. This accommodation serves to visualize a wide range of echo signals on the display but reduces the real differences in the echo signal amplitude. As a result, when B mode gain is too low or too high, we cannot recognize small differences in echogenicity (echo signal amplitude). Thus, B mode gain should be adjusted in order to not overlook the abnormality (Figure 4).

Adjustment of color gain: In color Doppler US, flow velocity in each point is indicated by color brightness: the higher the velocity, the brighter the color. Color Doppler gain is the receiver end amplification of the Doppler signal. The Doppler gain is usually increased to the maximum limit just before the background noise is seen. If color Doppler gain is too high, then the field of view is filled with noise. If it is too low, then useful Doppler data is not seen on the display. Thus, color Doppler gain must be properly adjusted to gain useful hemodynamic information (Figure 5).

US physics related to stones and fluid: Acoustic impedance is an important property of tissues. It is defined as the tissue density multiplied by its propagation velocity of sound[21]. Acoustic impedance changes according to the tissue (*e.g.*, water: 1.48×10^6 kg/m²/s, liver: 1.65×10^6 kg/m²/s, bone: 7.80×10^6 kg/m²/s)[21]. When passing through two tissues of different acoustic impedance, some portion of the US is reflected. Its reflection degree depends on the difference in acoustic impedance between two tissues. The reflection of the US is larger between water (fluid collection) and soft tissue than between two soft tissues, leading to the fact that fluid collection is clearly margined and easily detected[22]. The reflection of the US is larger between soft tissue and stone. Almost all the US is reflected at the stone surface. Therefore, stones are easily and correctly detected by US[23] (Figure 6).

Mini lecture on fundamental scanning methods

For detailed US diagnosis, the examiner is expected to make a differential diagnosis of a wide spectrum of diseases. Meticulous scanning techniques are required for this purpose. However, because most participants do not have sufficient prior knowledge of US examination, our initial effort is focused on understanding the global normal anatomy. The combination of transverse, sagittal, and oblique (intercostal) scanning (Figures 7 and 8) permits the efficient observation of the abdominal organs. The most reliable way to observe each organ (liver, pancreas, spleen, and kidneys) is to pursue the main vascular system (landmark) from the center to the periphery of the organ. After the training in each organ, the parenchymal echostructures around the vessel are





Figure 2 Simultaneous presentation of ultrasound images of a portal thrombus. A: High-end ultrasound B mode; B: High-end ultrasound color Doppler; C: Pocket-sized ultrasound B mode; D: Pocket-sized ultrasound color Doppler. These comparisons are used to understand the difference in image quality between the two machines. It also confirms that pocket-sized ultrasound is sufficient for diagnoses. *: Thrombus in the portal vein.



Figure 3 Ultrasound image by different probes on a pocket-sized ultrasound device. A: High-frequency linear probe; B: 1.7-3.8 MHz sector probe. The linear probe is used to visualize superficial areas, and the sector probe is used for observing deep areas. In this case of a small liver tumor situated at the hepatic surface, the lesion was detected by the linear probe (\rightarrow) but not the sector probe.

presented. Recognition of these landscapes serves to detect abnormal lesions. Use of the high-frequency linear probe permits the observation of the pleura (Figure 9). The hands-on training following this short lecture reinforces the anatomical knowledge of the abdomen/Lungs and the technical skills (transducer handling, portable US device manipulation, and confidence in abdominal observation by pocket-sized US).

Baishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 B mode gain setting (hepatic cyst). A: B mode is too high; B: B mode is well-adjusted; C: B mode is too low. The lesion anechoic mass (arrowhead) with acoustic enhancement (arrow) is clearly seen only when the B mode gain is well-adjusted.



Figure 5 Color Doppler gain setting (normal portal vein). A: Gain setting is too high; B: Gain setting is well-adjusted; C: Gain setting is too low. Portal venous flow is not detected when color gain setting is too low (C) and is covered by color noise when it is too high (A).

Presentation of model cases

Then, we present several clinical cases where portable US was useful for confirming a wide spectrum of clinical applications.

Case 1: A 35-year-old female with known repetitive gastric ulcers presented with abdominal pain and nausea visited our outpatient clinic (Gastroenterology). Initially, the clinician may suspect a recurrence of the gastric ulcers. Though the patient denied the possibility of pregnancy, the use of a pocket-sized US device confirmed the pregnancy. The proper use of the pocket-sized US device led to reduced ionizing radiation exposure and allowed to the transfer of the patient to the gynecology section (Figure 10).

Case 2: A 72-year-old female with severe abdominal pain visited our emergency department. The pain was so severe that she could not move from the ambulance. A pocket-sized US device revealed an impacted gallbladder stone. The pain worsened upon probe compression of the gallbladder, which led to the diagnosis of acute stoneimpact-induced cholecystitis. The patient was immediately treated. The pocket-sized US device significantly reduced the time to diagnosis (Figure 11).

Case 3: A 41-year-old female was admitted to our hospital with a chief complaint of hepatic dysfunction. She was almost asymptomatic. A pocket-sized US device was used as part of the physical examination during rounds. The US revealed a small amount of ascites around the liver, and her gallbladder collapsed. Biochemical examination was immediately ordered and showed markedly elevated transaminases and coagulopathy. She was diagnosed with severe acute hepatitis, and energic



Naganuma H et al. Pocket-sized US training



Figure 6 Pocket-sized ultrasound images of gallbladder stones and ascites. A: A 1-cm stone; B: A small amount of ascites. A 1-cm stone (A) and a small amount of ascites (B) is clearly visualized as a strong echo (orange arrow) with acoustic shadowing (white arrow) in the former and an echo-free space in the latter (arrowhead).



Figure 7 Schematic drawing of basic scanning planes of the abdomen. The combination of these indicated planes permits quick observation of the whole abdomen. The transverse plane of the upper abdomen is for observation of the pancreas. The right upper abdominal plane is for observation of the liver and the gallbladder. The left upper abdominal plane is for observation of the spleen and left kidney. The sagittal plane is for observation of the abdominal aorta and its branches. L: Left upper plane; R: Right upper plane; S: Sagittal plane; T: Transverse plane.

treatment began immediately (Figure 12).

Although these US examinations were successfully performed by skillful pocketsized US practitioners, the program participants can image how to utilize a pocketsized US device in their own clinical setting[22-24].

Built-in applications in pocket-sized US devices

Each US company has different built-in applications, such as a Doppler display (Figures 2 and 5), embedded in almost all devices. Puncture guidance is embedded in about half of all devices [25], and distance or volume measurement function is embedded in a small number of devices (Figure 13)[16,26]. Biplane imaging is embedded in a limited number of devices[27], and wireless function is embedded in a small number of devices (Figure 14).

HALF-DAY HANDS-ON TRAINING

Following the half-day lecture, the participants are divided into five or six groups (4-5 participants/group). Each participant receives hands-on training for 30 min under the supervision of experienced US physicians (5 min each for liver, biliary system, pancreas, vascular system, digestive tract, and lungs) with both a high-end machine





Figure 8 Representative ultrasound images of the abdominal scanning procedure. A: The right upper abdominal scanning plane permits the observation of the liver (right lobe); B: Through the transverse scanning plane, the pancreas and the neighboring vessels are clearly demonstrated.



Figure 9 Pocket-sized ultrasound image of the pleura. A: Basic scanning planes of the chest (right) by ultrasound; B: Ultrasound image of normal pleura showing a typical A line (orange arrow); C: Ultrasound image of B line (arrowhead) and consolidation of the lung (white arrow).

> and a pocked-sized US device for comparison. The abdomen is generally observed by a medium frequency transducer (Figure 8), and the pleura is observed by a highfrequency linear probe with a focus on pleura (Figure 9)[28-32]. All instructors are certified as registered Senior Medical Sonographers and fellowship-obtained highly diagnostic doctors of the Japan Society of Ultrasonics in Medicine. The participants are required to register in advance because the numbers of instructors and US machines are limited.



Raishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 10 Case presentation 1 of undesirable pregnancy causing abdominal symptoms. A: At presentation, the patient denied the possibility of pregnancy. However, pocket-sized B mode performed as part of a general physical examination revealed an embryo (arrow) in her lower abdomen. B and C: Color Doppler was particularly useful for confirming the baby's cardiac movement. Daily use of pocket-sized ultrasound can lead to a reduction in ionizing radiation and time to correct diagnosis.



Figure 11 Case presentation 2 of abdominal pain so severe that the patient could not move. The patient's abdominal pain was so severe that she could not move from the ambulance. Pocket-sized ultrasound performed in the ambulance revealed a gallbladder stone impact (arrow), leading to the diagnosis of acute stone-impact-induced cholecystitis.

> After the seminar, participants answer a questionnaire to determine whether: (1) The 1-d seminar was useful; (2) The lecture on basic US physics helped in understanding pocket-sized US application; (3) Their general attitude toward the clinical utility of US and pocket-sized US improved; (4) Presentation of clinical cases was meaningful; and (5) They feel that their skill increased after the hand-on training. Thus far, the responses have been unanimously the same: stressing the efficacy of the seminar, especially the lecture on US physics and case presentation, but that their skill gap remains. We have performed one year later a post-seminar questionnaire to the participants, to determine whether (1) Their general attitude towards the clinical utility of pocket-sized US has changed; (2) They perform pocket-sized US in daily practice; and (3) If not, what is the most important barrier. The responses have unanimously stressed that their understanding of the utility of pocket-sized US continue after the seminar. However, no participants use pocket-sized US device in daily practice despite their desire to perform it. The most important barrier is the cost of device (about 8000-10000 US dollars in Japan).

USE OF POCKET-SIZED US DEVICES IN CLINCAL SETTINGS

There are a wide range of possible applications for pocket-sized US devices in offering advanced diagnostic capability to benefit patient care in the clinical setting. They





Figure 12 Case presentation 3 of asymptomatic patient with acute hepatitis. The patient was asymptomatic upon admission. A: Pocket-sized ultrasound performed as part of a physical examination during medical rounds revealed a small amount of ascites (arrow) around the liver; B: The gallbladder was collapsed (arrowhead). She was diagnosed with severe acute hepatitis, and an energic treatment began immediately.



Figure 13 Built-in volume measurement application in pocket-sized ultrasound device. This function is useful for evaluating urine volume in elderly patients. A: Scanning with pocket-sized ultrasound device; B: Urine volume display.

include the following situations.

Emergency

Due to recent advances in US technology and informatics, wireless probes are now a reality (Figure 14). Remote telesonography has the potential to improve the quality of patient care. Pocket-sized US devices are particularly important in situations where the time of examination is urgent (emergency room, intensive care) or the location favors the use of pocket-sized devices (remote locations)[33,34]. More advanced technologies will guarantee rapid transfer of US information to hospitals to provide the best medical care. Becoming wireless is a meaningful function[35]. Furthermore, remote telesonography will improve the quality of US applications in underserved communities[36]. Lesser trained examiners will be able to obtain and interpret US images that impact patient care immediately[37].

Outpatient clinics

Clinicians at outpatient clinics see a range of abdominal problems. The differential diagnosis includes digestive tract, hepatobiliary and pancreatic diseases, and gynecological and urogenital diseases. Portable US provides clinically significant visual information that is not obtainable by physical examination and helps decrease the diagnosis time[38,39].

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Naganuma H et al. Pocket-sized US training



Figure 14 Built-in wireless function application in pocket-sized ultrasound device. This function is particularly important when sending ultrasound information from distant locations (ambulance, etc.) or infection zones.

Inpatient care

The biggest advantage of pocket-sized US devices is the time savings (booting time, transfer, bedside positioning). The most useful function of portable US is the global estimation of fluid volume (ascites, pleural effusion, pericardial effusion) under drug therapy[4]. Pocket-sized US may be repeated due to clinical need but is typically performed for monitoring physiologic or pathologic changes of admitted patients^[40]. In addition, US-guided procedures provide safety to a wide variety of punctures (ascites, bile duct, abscess) (Figure 13).

Decontamination assessment must never be compromised. Some recent studies have shown that pocket-sized US performed efficiently as a tool for screening a variety of diseases[16,20,29,30,34,41]. The pocket-sized US devices were also used successfully by other healthcare providers, such as nurses and physical therapists. Additionally, pocket-sized US may be feasible for guiding aspiration needles for the drainage of abscesses, ascites aspiration, etc.

Family medicine

The compact size of the pocket-sized US device makes it possible to carry in a doctor bag when visiting patients [4,42,43]. The clinicians feel confident using the pocket-sized US when caring for patients in limited medical conditions^[44]. Physicians proficient in its use can quickly answer specific questions at the bedside^[45].

CONCLUSION

In this review, we have presented our 1-d method for implementation of pocket-sized US into the clinical setting. The biannual nature of the seminar is insufficient for completely integrating the pocket-sized US device into frequent clinical use. However, this method contributes to new residents gaining confidence in using the pocket-sized US despite the skill gap remaining. However, there are many limitations. There are a small number of US experts who can correctly and efficiently teach US physics and abdominal anatomy to new doctors and supervise their hands-on training. The "teachthe-teacher" system is important for training new US practitioners[46,47]. Costs related to US equipment may present additional (and the most important) obstacles to develop and continue pocket-sized US training programs. We recommend that all the US leaders and experts find the means to integrate pocket- sized US into clinical setting through the training of new clinicians.

REFERENCES

Nie P, Li Y, Zhang N, Sun X, Xin B, Wang Y. The change and correlates of healthy ageing among Chinese older adults: findings from the China health and retirement longitudinal study. BMC Geriatr



2021; 21: 78 [PMID: 33499807 DOI: 10.1186/s12877-021-02026-y]

- Hagen-Ansert SL. Introduction to physical findings, physiology, and laboratory data. In: Hagen-2 Ansert SL. Textbook of diagnostic sonography. St. Louis: Elsevier-Mosby, 2006: 21-35
- Hagen-Ansert SL. Introduction to abdominal scanning: technique and protocols. In: Hagen-Ansert 3 SL. Textbook of diagnostic sonography. St. Louis: Elsevier-Mosby, 2006: 132-164
- 4 European Society of Radiology (ESR). ESR statement on portable ultrasound devices. Insights Imaging 2019; 10: 89 [PMID: 31529229 DOI: 10.1186/s13244-019-0775-x]
- 5 Weil FS. Examination methods and positioning. In: Weil FS. Ultrasound diagnosis of digestive diseases. Berlin: Springer-Cerlag, 1990: 37-42
- Stengel D, Rademacher G, Ekkernkamp A, Güthoff C, Mutze S. Emergency ultrasound-based 6 algorithms for diagnosing blunt abdominal trauma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015; CD004446 [PMID: 26368505 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004446.pub4]
- Galusko V, Khanji MY, Bodger O, Weston C, Chambers J, Ionescu A. Hand-held Ultrasound 7 Scanners in Medical Education: A Systematic Review. J Cardiovasc Ultrasound 2017; 25: 75-83 [PMID: 29093769 DOI: 10.4250/jcu.2017.25.3.75]
- 8 Kobal SL, Trento L, Baharami S, Tolstrup K, Naqvi TZ, Cercek B, Neuman Y, Mirocha J, Kar S, Forrester JS, Siegel RJ. Comparison of effectiveness of hand-carried ultrasound to bedside cardiovascular physical examination. Am J Cardiol 2005; 96: 1002-1006 [PMID: 16188532 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.05.060]
- 9 Paddock MT, Bailitz J, Horowitz R, Khishfe B, Cosby K, Sergel MJ. Disaster response team FAST skills training with a portable ultrasound simulator compared to traditional training: pilot study. West J Emerg Med 2015; 16: 325-330 [PMID: 25834682 DOI: 10.5811/westjem.2015.1.23720]
- Stengel D, Bauwens K, Rademacher G, Ekkernkamp A, Güthoff C. Emergency ultrasound-based 10 algorithms for diagnosing blunt abdominal trauma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; CD004446 [PMID: 23904141 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004446.pub]
- Yamada M, Hasegawa Y, Yamashiro S, Sekine M, Asano Y, Fujinami H. Assessment of a Hands-On 11 Seminar on Gastrointestinal Ultrasound. Healthcare (Basel) 2020; 8 [PMID: 33297426 DOI: 10.3390/healthcare80405411
- Kim EY, Park KH, Choi SJ, Chung WJ. Educational value of pocket-sized ultrasound devices to 12 improve understanding of ultrasound examination principles and sonographic anatomy for medical student. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0185031 [PMID: 28961257 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185031]
- 13 Prosch H, Radzina M, Dietrich CF, Nielsen MB, Baumann S, Ewertsen C, Jenssen C, Kabaalioğlu A, Kosiak W, Kratzer W, Lim A, Popescu A, Mitkov V, Schiavone C, Wohlin M, Wüstner M, Cantisani V. Ultrasound Curricula of Student Education in Europe: Summary of the Experience. Ultrasound Int Open 2020; 6: E25-E33 [PMID: 32885138 DOI: 10.1055/a-1183-3009]
- 14 Celebi N, Griewatz J, Malek NP, Krieg S, Kuehnl T, Muller R, Pauluschke-Fröhlich J, Debove I, Riessen R, Zipfel S, Fröhlich E. Development and implementation of a comprehensive ultrasound curriculum for undergraduate medical students - a feasibility study. BMC Med Educ 2019; 19: 170 [PMID: 31138197 DOI: 10.1186/s12909-019-1611-1]
- Baribeau Y, Sharkey A, Chaudhary O, Krumm S, Fatima H, Mahmood F, Matyal R. Handheld Point-15 of-Care Ultrasound Probes: The New Generation of POCUS. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2020; 34: 3139-3145 [PMID: 32736998 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2020.07.004]
- 16 Kimori K, Tamura Y. Feasibility of Using a Pocket-Sized Ultrasound Device to Measure the Inferior Vena Cava Diameter of Patients With Heart Failure in the Community Setting: A Pilot Study. J Prim Care Community Health 2020; 11: 2150132720931345 [PMID: 32484013 DOI: 10.1177/2150132720931345]
- 17 Rykkje A, Carlsen JF, Nielsen MB. Hand-Held Ultrasound Devices Compared with High-End Ultrasound Systems: A Systematic Review. Diagnostics (Basel) 2019; 9 [PMID: 31208078 DOI: 10.3390/diagnostics9020061]
- 18 Parsons C, Khan KA, Pink J, Verran A, Griffiths F, Hutchinson CE, Petrou S. Preferences for portable ultrasound devices: a discrete choice experiment among abdominal aortic aneurysm surveillance patients and general ultrasound patients in England. BMJ Open 2018; 8: e025428 [PMID: 30573491 DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025428]
- 19 Prabhu SJ, Kanal K, Bhargava P, Vaidya S, Dighe MK. Ultrasound artifacts: classification, applied physics with illustrations, and imaging appearances. Ultrasound Q 2014; 30: 145-157 [PMID: 24850030 DOI: 10.1097/RUQ.0b013e3182a80d34]
- Smit MR, de Vos J, Pisani L, Hagens LA, Almondo C, Heijnen NFL, Schnabel RM, van der Horst 20 ICC, Bergmans DCJJ, Schultz MJ, Bos LDJ; DARTS Consortium. Comparison of Linear and Sector Array Probe for Handheld Lung Ultrasound in Invasively Ventilated ICU Patients. Ultrasound Med Biol 2020; 46: 3249-3256 [PMID: 32962892 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2020.08.016]
- 21 Zagzebski JA. Physics of diagnostic ultrasound. In: Zagzenbski JA. Essentials of ultrasound physics. St. Louis, Missouri: Mosby-year book, 1996: 1-19
- 22 Hagen-Ansert SL. The liver. In: Hagen-Ansert SL. The textbook of diagnostic ultrasonography. Saint-Louis: Elsevier, 2012: 205-266
- Hagen-Ansert SL. The gallbladder and the biliary system. In: Hagen-Ansert SL. The textbook of 23 diagnostic ultrasonography. Saint-Louis: Elsevier, 2012: 267-299
- Levine D. Overview of obstetric imaging. In: Rumack CM, Levine D. Diagnostic ultrasound. 24 Philadelphia: Elsevier, 2011: 1015-1033
- 25 Merali HS, Tessaro MO, Ali KQ, Morris SK, Soofi SB, Ariff S. A novel training simulator for



portable ultrasound identification of incorrect newborn endotracheal tube placement - observational diagnostic accuracy study protocol. BMC Pediatr 2019; 19: 434 [PMID: 31722685 DOI: 10.1186/s12887-019-1717-y

- Chen SC, Chen PY, Chen GC, Chuang SY, Tzeng IS, Lin SK. Portable Bladder Ultrasound Reduces 26 Incidence of Urinary Tract Infection and Shortens Hospital Length of Stay in Patients With Acute Ischemic Stroke. J Cardiovasc Nurs 2018; 33: 551-558 [PMID: 29851660 DOI: 10.1097/JCN.000000000000507]
- Convissar D, Bittner EA, Chang MG. Biplane Imaging Using Portable Ultrasound Devices for 27 Vascular Access. Cureus 2021; 13: e12561 [PMID: 33437560 DOI: 10.7759/cureus.12561]
- 28 Tasci O, Hatipoglu ON, Cagli B, Ermis V. Sonography of the chest using linear-array vs sector transducers: Correlation with auscultation, chest radiography, and computed tomography. J Clin Ultrasound 2016; 44: 383-389 [PMID: 26863904 DOI: 10.1002/jcu.22331]
- 29 Bennett D, De Vita E, Mezzasalma F, Lanzarone N, Cameli P, Bianchi F, Perillo F, Bargagli E, Mazzei MA, Volterrani L, Scolletta S, Valente S, Franchi F, Frediani B, Sestini P. Portable Pocket-Sized Ultrasound Scanner for the Evaluation of Lung Involvement in Coronavirus Disease 2019 Patients. Ultrasound Med Biol 2021; 47: 19-24 [PMID: 33082053 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2020.09.014]
- Rajendram R, Hussain A, Mahmood N, Kharal M. Feasibility of using a handheld ultrasound device 30 to detect and characterize shunt and deep vein thrombosis in patients with COVID-19: an observational study. Ultrasound J 2020; 12: 49 [PMID: 33252722 DOI: 10.1186/s13089-020-00197-0
- 31 Bitar ZI, Shamsah M, Maadarani O, Bamasood OM, Bitar AZ, Alfoudri H. Lung Ultrasound and Sonographic Subpleural Consolidation in COVID-19 Pneumonia Correlate with Disease Severity. Crit Care Res Pract 2021; 2021: 6695033 [PMID: 33425386 DOI: 10.1155/2021/6695033]
- Lieveld AWE, Kok B, Schuit FH, Azijli K, Heijmans J, van Laarhoven A, Assman NL, Kootte RS, 32 Olgers TJ, Nanayakkara PWB, Bosch FH. Diagnosing COVID-19 pneumonia in a pandemic setting: Lung Ultrasound versus CT (LUVCT) - a multicentre, prospective, observational study. ERJ Open Res 2020; 6 [PMID: 33442553 DOI: 10.1183/23120541.00539-2020]
- 33 Rominger AH, Gomez GAA, Elliott P. The implementation of a longitudinal POCUS curriculum for physicians working at rural outpatient clinics in Chiapas, Mexico, Crit Ultrasound J 2018; 10: 19 [PMID: 30109455 DOI: 10.1186/s13089-018-0101-8]
- Burleson SL, Swanson JF, Shufflebarger EF, Wallace DW, Heimann MA, Crosby JC, Pigott DC, 34 Gullett JP, Thompson MA, Greene CJ. Evaluation of a novel handheld point-of-care ultrasound device in an African emergency department. Ultrasound J 2020; 12: 53 [PMID: 33284368 DOI: 10.1186/s13089-020-00200-8
- Marsh-Feiley G, Eadie L, Wilson P. Telesonography in emergency medicine: A systematic review. 35 PLoS One 2018; 13: e0194840 [PMID: 29723198 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0194840]
- Constantinescu EC, Nicolau C, Săftoiu A. Recent Developments in Tele-Ultrasonography. Curr 36 Health Sci J 2018; 44: 101-106 [PMID: 30687527 DOI: 10.12865/CHSJ.44.02.01]
- Karako K, Song P, Chen Y, Tang W. Realizing 5G- and AI-based doctor-to-doctor remote diagnosis: 37 opportunities, challenges, and prospects. Biosci Trends 2020; 14: 314-317 [PMID: 33100291 DOI: 10.5582/bst.2020.03364]
- Adelman S, Fishman P. Use of portable ultrasound machine for outpatient orthopedic diagnosis: an 38 implementation study. Perm J 2013; 17: 18-22 [PMID: 24355886 DOI: 10.7812/TPP/12-128]
- Van Der Wal S, Robson SJ, Choong S. Is bedside ultrasound now a routine part of specialist 39 obstetrics and gynaecology outpatient consultation? Australas J Ultrasound Med 2013; 16: 190-192 [PMID: 28191196 DOI: 10.1002/j.2205-0140.2013.tb00246.x]
- 40 Falgarone G, Pamoukdjian F, Cailhol J, Giocanti-Auregan A, Guis S, Bousquet G, Bouchaud O, Seror O. Lung ultrasound is a reliable diagnostic technique to predict abnormal CT chest scan and to detect oxygen requirements in COVID-19 pneumonia. Aging (Albany NY) 2020; 12: 19945-19953 [PMID: 33136555 DOI: 10.18632/aging.104150]
- Özdemir U, Çimen M, Güney T, Gürsel G. Validity and reliability of pocket-sized ultrasound devices 41 in measurement of optic nerve sheath diameter in ICU patients. J Clin Monit Comput 2020; 34: 597-605 [PMID: 31278545 DOI: 10.1007/s10877-019-00351-7]
- Miceli L, Dal Mas F, Biancuzzi H, Bednarova R, Rizzardo A, Cobianchi L, Holmboe ES. 42 Doctor@Home: Through a Telemedicine Co-production and Co-learning Journey. J Cancer Educ 2021 [PMID: 33442862 DOI: 10.1007/s13187-020-01945-5]
- 43 Peng S, Micks T, Braganza D, Sue K, Woo M, Rogers P, Freedman S, Lewis J, Hu S, Varner C, Patel N, Hameed S, Steinmetz P. Canadian national survey of family medicine residents on point-of-care ultrasound training. Can Fam Physician 2019; 65: e523-e530 [PMID: 31831501]
- Pivetta E, Girard E, Locascio F, Lupia E, Martin JD, Stone M. Self-Performed Lung Ultrasound for Home Monitoring of a Patient Positive for Coronavirus Disease 2019. Chest 2020; 158: e93-e97 [PMID: 32892893 DOI: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.05.604]
- Aminlari A, Quenzer F, Hayden S, Stone J, Murchison C, Campbell C. A Case of Covid-19 45 Diagnosed at Home With Portable Ultrasound and Confirmed With Home Serology Test. J Emerg Med 2021; 60: 399-401 [PMID: 33288350 DOI: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2020.10.022]
- 46 Cantisani V, Dietrich CF, Badea R, Dudea S, Prosch H, Cerezo E, Nuernberg D, Serra AL, Sidhu PS, Radzina M, Piscaglia F, Bachmann Nielsen M, Ewertsen C, Săftoiu A, Calliada F, Gilja OH. EFSUMB Statement on Medical Student Education in Ultrasound [long version]. Ultrasound Int



Naganuma H et al. Pocket-sized US training

Open 2016; 2: E2-E7 [PMID: 27689163 DOI: 10.1055/s-0035-1569413]

47 Dietrich CF, Hoffmann B, Abramowicz J, Badea R, Braden B, Cantisani V, Chammas MC, Cui XW, Dong Y, Gilja OH, Hari R, Nisenbaum H, Nicholls D, Nolsøe CP, Nürnberg D, Prosch H, Radzina M, Recker F, Sachs A, Saftoiu A, Serra A, Sweet L, Vinayak S, Westerway S, Chou YH, Blaivas M. Medical Student Ultrasound Education: A WFUMB Position Paper, Part I. Ultrasound Med Biol 2019; 45: 271-281 [PMID: 30497768 DOI: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2018.09.017]



World Journal of WIM Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 222-227

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i4.222

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Wound irrigation for preventing surgical site infections

Marios Papadakis

ORCID number: Marios Papadakis 0000-0002-9020-874X.

Author contributions: Marios Papadakis was involved in the study conceptualization, literature research, project administration, and writing of the original draft.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

Author has nothing to disclose.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Surgery

Country/Territory of origin: Germany

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Marios Papadakis, Department of Surgery II, University of Witten-Herdecke, Wuppertal 42283, Germany

Corresponding author: Marios Papadakis, MD, MSc, Research Scientist, Surgeon, Department of Surgery II, University of Witten-Herdecke, Heusnerstrasse 40, Wuppertal 42283, Germany. marios papadakis@yahoo.gr

Abstract

Wound irrigation (i.e. washing out a wound before wound closure) aims to reduce the microbial burden by removing tissue debris, metabolic waste, and tissue exudate from the surgical field before site closure. Although it is a popular procedure in every day surgical practice, the lack of procedure standardization, leads to studies with high heterogeneity and often controversial results. Thus, there are studies that advocate its use, while others discourage its implementation in clinical practice to reduce the risk of surgical site infection. The present article reviews the current literature on wound irrigation for preventing surgical site infections. Several irrigants are presented. Chlorexidine is generally considered to be less effective than povidone-iodine, while antibiotics are not that common nowadays, as they require prolonged exposure with the target to act. Hydrogen peroxide has several potential complications, which eliminate its use. Any differences in the incidence of surgical site infections between different irrigants, especially between antibacterial and non-bacterial ones, should be viewed sceptically. More randomized controlled studies are needed to provide better quality of evidence regarding the irrigants' effectiveness and safety.

Key Words: Wound irrigation; Surgical site infections; Antiseptics; Antibiotics; Patient Safety

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Chlorexidine is generally considered to be less effective than povidoneiodine, while antibiotics are not that common nowadays, as they require prolonged exposure with the target to act. Hydrogen peroxide has several potential complications, which eliminate its use. Any differences in the incidence of surgical site infections between different irrigants, especially between antibacterial and non-bacterial ones, should be viewed sceptically.



Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: February 21, 2021 Peer-review started: February 21, 2021

First decision: May 6, 2021 Revised: May 6, 2021 Accepted: June 25, 2021 Article in press: June 25, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Serban D S-Editor: Liu M L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL



Citation: Papadakis M. Wound irrigation for preventing surgical site infections. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(4): 222-227

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/222.htm **D0I:** https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.222

INTRODUCTION

Surgical site infections (SSI) arise from contamination of the surgical site in the period of time between incision and closure[1]. According to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC), SSI are defined as infections occurring at the site of surgery within 30 d after surgery, or, within 1 year if an implant is placed and the infection appears to be related to surgery[2]. CDC classifies SSI as incisional SSI (superficial or deep) and organ/space SSI. Superficial incisional SSI typically involve only the skin and subcutaneous tissue, while deep incisional SSI involve deep soft tissues, such as fascial and muscle layers. The term "organ/space" refers to any part of the anatomy (*e.g.*, organs or spaces), other than the incision, opened or manipulated during the operative procedure. Infections here are called organ/space SSI[2]. When organ/space SSI drain through the incision, they do not require reoperation and are classified as deep incisional SSI.

The CDC definitions have been criticized because they always end with the disclaimer that an infection exists if the surgeon or the attending physician declares that an infection exists. Similarly, as Fry states[3], "an infection may not exist if the surgeon says that an infection does not exist". Given the pressure for early discharge, it is likely that a substantial number of patients leave the hospital without having their SSI reported.

Wound irrigation (*i.e.* washing out a wound before wound closure) aims to reduce the microbial burden by removing tissue debris, metabolic waste, and tissue exudate from the surgical field before site closure[4]. Interestingly, although it has been shown to be beneficial in selected surgical disciplines, not only it is not a universally established standard-of-care preventive measure but there are guidelines that do not recommend its use to reduce the risk of SSI[5]. The present article the current literature on wound irrigation for preventing SSI.

IRRIGANTS

Irrigants are classified to normal saline, antiseptic agents and antibiotic agents. According to a Cochrane metaanalysis, there is only low-quality evidence available and, therefore, any differences in the incidence of SSI between different irrigants, especially between antibacterial and non-bacterial ones, should be viewed sceptically [6].

Normal saline

Warmed physiologic saline is universally considered the irrigation fluid of choice. It is widely available and safe for all surgical site surfaces, including the peritoneal and pleural cavities (serosal mesothelium)[4]. However, recent metaanalyses could not identify an advantage of irrigation with normal saline over no irrigation in patients undergoing abdominal surgery[7,8].

Pressurized (< 15 psi) pulse irrigation of subcutaneous tissue with saline may reduce bacterial counts by removing the desiccated tissue. It is considered a cost-effective infection prevention strategy, when applied in major laparotomy wounds in prolonged operative procedures (> 2 h) as it reduces SSI[9].

Antiseptics

Chlorhexidine: The most common antiseptic agent used is chlorhexidine gluconate (CHG), as it covers a broad spectrum of pathogens, including gram-negative, grampositive and non-spore forming bacteria[10]. CHG disrupts the bacterial cell membrane within 30 s and in concentrations of 0.05%, it kills biofilm-based S. epidermidis in less than a minute.

However, there are limited data regarding its effectiveness when used for intraoperative irrigation. In vitro, CHG is found to be less effective than povidone-iodine (see below)[4,11].



Goztok et al[10] compared 0.05% CHG to saline in patients undergoing temporary loop ileostomy closure. This was a retrospective study of a prospectively collected database. Irrigation of the surgical site with CHG was associated with significantly lower rates of incisional SSI (32% vs 5%), incision dehiscence (32% vs 5%) and seroma formation (14% vs 2%). The authors also observed an earlier site healing in the CHG group (10 d vs 7 d)[10]. In pilonidal disease, wound irrigation with CHG is associated with lower SSI rates but it does not prevent seroma formation or incision dehiscence [12].

In plastic surgery, CHG is considered unable to penetrate the biofilm forming on the breast implants' surface. An in-vitro model assessing SSI prophylaxis after breast implant surgery showed that a 0.05% CHG solution can achieve sterility after 15 min exposure, while its effectiveness against Pseudomonas was absent in 40% of the cases [13]. Some authors advocate the usage of hypochlorous solution as an irrigant, as hypochlorous acid has a wide spectrum of antibacterial efficacy against Gramnegative, Gram-positive bacteria and fungi. This solution has the advantage of bypassing the need for neutrophils to be present in the wound implant interface[14].

Moreover, CHG is superior to saline in resolving MRSA biofilm-mediated polypropylene mesh infections[4].

Iodophors: Iodine has traditionally been used for prevention and treatment of wound infection, as it is effective against a broad spectrum of microorganisms, including gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria, spores, mycobacteria, fungi, viruses etc. However, it is toxic to vital tissues. For this reason it is almost always combined with povidone.

Most povidone-iodine (PVP-I) solutions contain 10% iodine, although iodine has been shown to preserve its full effect even in solutions with 1:100 dilution of the fullstrength (10%) solution[11]. PVP-I is effective against highly resistant gram-positive microorganisms as it not only destroys the cell wall but also inhibits the release of endotoxins, exotoxins and tissue-destroying enzymes[11]. Some authors let the solution soak in the wound for 3 min before been suctioned[15].

PVP-I can kill biofilm-forming strain of Staphylococcus but this requires concentrations as high as 10% for 1 min or 3.5% for 10 min. However, the 10% solution is recommended only for external use and 10-min irrigations can not easily be implemented in clinical practice, as irrigations usually last 1-2 min[4].

Irrigation with diluted PVP-I is very popular among surgeons. It is used from more than 50% of visceral surgeons and one third of orthopaedic surgeons[16]. It is more effective in preventing SSI in abdominal surgery compared to no irrigation, but less effective compared to antibiotics[7]. A randomised controlled trial in women undergoing ceasarean section showed that povidone-iodine irrigation prior to skin closure does not prevent SSI[17]. Surprisingly, elective cesarean section was associated with higher infection rates compared to emergency cesarean section during labour[17].

Hydrogen peroxide: Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) is a highly reactive oxidizing agent, effective against a broad range of microorganisms. H_2O_2 forms oxygen species that react with macromolecules such as membrane lipids and destroy bacteria. Its disadvantages include its rapid decomposition upon contact with organic material and its low effectiveness against catalase-producing bacteria (11-Ulivieri 2011). It is commercially available at concentrations of 3% and 30%, which can be diluted with saline solution to any desired concentration[18]. The 3% solution is found to be cytotoxic but it does not seem to affect wound reepithelialization[19]. Apart from cytotoxicity, another potential serious complication of H_2O_2 is air embolism, especially in closed cavities, as large volumes are pressurized into small vascular channels. For this reason, wound irrigation with H2O2 should be followed by copious irrigation with normal saline or other liquid and accompanied by placement of a surgical drain [19]. Its potential complications are the main reason why it is in most cases used in combinations with other antiseptics (see below), making it difficult to estimate its effect alone. However, there is limited high-level evidence supporting its use as a wound irritant, as most available studies are small-scale case series.

Soap: Soap has also been studied as a wound irritant. It mainly acts as an emulsifier, dispersing one liquid into another one. It has several advantages, i.e. it is widely available, cheap, less toxic and not prone to antibioc resistance. However, according to a randomized controlled study, normal saline has proven superior to soap in terms of reoperation rates, when used in th initial management of patients with open fractures [20].

Combinations: Several antiseptic combinations have been shown to have synergistic



effect. The combination of CHG with H_2O_2 is synergistic against species of Streptococcus and Staphylococcus. The combination of PVP-I with H₂O₂ is reported to reduce the rate of post-operative infection in spine surgery from 1.5% to zero[11]. In single stage exchange arthroplasty for hip and knee periprosthetic joint infections, a combination of 1% PVP-I and a 50:50 dilution of 3% H₂O₂ can prevent from recurrences of infection[19]. The effect can be explained by the fact that the combination is bacteriocidal, while both substances are bacteriostatic when used separately[19].

Antibiotic agents

Antibiotic agents are still widely used in irrigation fluids in almost all surgical disciplines, with rates as high as 22% in plastic surgery and 50% in general surgery. Main reason for this wide use is the failure to appreciate the mechanistic nature of how antibiotic agents work. Antimicrobial activity requires sufficient contact time for the antibiotic agent to bind to its target site. A second requirement is a persistent drug concentration above the MIC90, *i.e.* the concentration of the antibiotic agent that is required to kill 90% of the microbial population. These requirements are not met during antibiotic irrigation, as the irrigating fluid is rapidly removed [4]. In fact, antibiotic activity should be present in the tissue at the time of contamination of the surgical incision for infection to be prevented[3].

On the contrary, the use of antibiotics for wound irrigation may cause harm. Except for the risk of potential development of antimicrobial resistance, it may induce severe anaphylaxis, whereas some antibiotics, *i.e.*, neomycin and vancomycin, have been associated with tissue irritation or systemic toxicity when added in the irrigation fluid. Bacitracin for injection, an agent that is mostly used off-label for wound irrigation, has found to have severe side effects, i.e. nephrotoxicity and anaphylaxis, that outweigh its potential benefits. The FDA requested its voluntary withdrawal from the market on January 31, 2020[1].

In open appendectomy, layer-by-layer wound irrigation is shown to decrease the rates of incisional SSI compared to the no-irrigation group. However, adding gentamicin to saline solution did not further decrease SSI rates[21]. A recent metaanalysis showed no benefit of irrigation with antibiotic agents in reducing incisional SSI and discourages its use[22]. A network metaanalysis found that antibiotic and antiseptic irrigation had the lowest odds of SSI. Aminoglycosides had the lowest OR of SSI compared to non-antibacterial irrigation, followed by penicillin. However, there was high heterogeneity and irrigation of antibiotic agents was more likely to enroll patients undergoing operations with higher levels of contamination[23].

Although antimicrobial wound irrigation is reported to be superior to placebo for surgical prophylaxis in some studies, no study supports its superiority over parenteral administration of antimicrobials[1].

The combination of intrawound vancomycin powder and betadine irrigation was found to reduce SSI rates after posterior spinal fusion in patients with idiopathic scoliosis[24]. In another study of spine surgery patients, the same combination was found to reduce the proportion of gram positive cultures from 53% to 80% and MRSA infections from 7% to 30%. Multibacterial infections also decreased from 27% to 37% and were found to consist of just 7 different organisms, compared to 15 organisms without intervention. Based on these findings, the authors recommend adding one more prophylactic agent targeted for further reduction of the proliferation of gram positive bacteria. However, the addition of antibiotic agent that reduce gram negative bacteria is also important, as such organisms are found in SSI[25].

On the contrary, intraoperative irrigation with ceftriaxone did not reduce SSI in clean neurosurgical procedures when prophylactic intravenous antibiotics are administered (Okunlola 2020). Rifampicin has also been tested as a washing and irrigation solution in spinal instrumentation. However, both were found to be ineffective in preventing or reducing spinal implant infections[26].

In plastic surgery, combined antibiotic solutions are proven effective to in vitro eliminate MRSA and MSSA after breast implant reconstruction. Interestingly, adding of vancomycin did not increase in their effectiveness. However, all combinations required prolonged irrigation time to achieve sterility of the experimental surgical site [13]

CONCLUSION

Although wound irrigation is a popular procedure in every day surgical practice, the lack of procedure standardization, leads to high heterogeneity that downgrades the



level of evidence of the available studie. The existing studies have often controversial conclusions. Any differences in the incidence of SSI between different irrigants, especially between antibacterial and non-bacterial ones, should be viewed sceptically. Chlorexidine is generally considered to be less effective than povidone-iodine, while antibiotics are not that common nowadays, as they require prolonged exposure with the target to act. Hydrogen peroxide has several potential complications, which eliminate its use. More randomized controlled studies are needed to provide better quality of evidence regarding the irrigants' effectiveness and safety.

REFERENCES

- Abboud K, Blee J, Shah PJ. Antibiotic irrigation solutions for prevention of surgical site infections: A call to action. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2020; 77: 2040-2041 [PMID: 33079184 DOI: 10.1093/ajhp/zxaa316]
- Horan TC, Gaynes RP, Martone WJ, Jarvis WR, Emori TG. CDC definitions of nosocomial surgical 2 site infections, 1992: a modification of CDC definitions of surgical wound infections. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 1992; 13: 606-608 [PMID: 1334988]
- Fry DE. Fifty ways to cause surgical site infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2011; 12: 497-500 [PMID: 3 22142318 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2011.091]
- 4 Edmiston CE Jr. Spencer M. Leaper D. Antiseptic Irrigation as an Effective Interventional Strategy for Reducing the Risk of Surgical Site Infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2018; 19: 774-780 [PMID: 30300563 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2018.156]
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Surgical site infection prevention and treatment of surgical site infection. Clinical Guideline. 2020 August 19 [cited 21 January 2020]. In: NICE guideline [NG125] [Internet]. Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng125/chapter/Recommendations
- Norman G, Atkinson RA, Smith TA, Rowlands C, Rithalia AD, Crosbie EJ, Dumville JC. Intracavity lavage and wound irrigation for prevention of surgical site infection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017; 10: CD012234 [PMID: 29083473 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD012234.pub2]
- 7 Mueller TC, Loos M, Haller B, Mihaljevic AL, Nitsche U, Wilhelm D, Friess H, Kleeff J, Bader FG. Intra-operative wound irrigation to reduce surgical site infections after abdominal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Langenbecks Arch Surg 2015; 400: 167-181 [PMID: 25681239 DOI: 10.1007/s00423-015-1279-x]
- 8 Ambe PC, Rombey T, Rembe JD, Dörner J, Zirngibl H, Pieper D. The role of saline irrigation prior to wound closure in the reduction of surgical site infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Patient Saf Surg 2020; 14: 47 [PMID: 33353558 DOI: 10.1186/s13037-020-00274-2]
- Nikfarjam M, Weinberg L, Fink MA, Muralidharan V, Starkey G, Jones R, Staveley-O'Carroll K, 9 Christophi C. Pressurized pulse irrigation with saline reduces surgical-site infections following major hepatobiliary and pancreatic surgery: randomized controlled trial. World J Surg 2014; 38: 447-455 [PMID: 24170152 DOI: 10.1007/s00268-013-2309-x]
- Goztok M, Terzi MC, Egeli T, Arslan NC, Canda AE. Does Wound Irrigation with Clorhexidine 10 Gluconate Reduce the Surgical Site Infection Rate in Closure of Temporary Loop Ileostomy? Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2018; 19: 634-639 [PMID: 30040537 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2018.061]
- 11 Ulivieri S, Toninelli S, Petrini C, Giorgio A, Oliveri G. Prevention of post-operative infections in spine surgery by wound irrigation with a solution of povidone-iodine and hydrogen peroxide. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2011; 131: 1203-1206 [PMID: 21258810 DOI: 10.1007/s00402-011-1262-0]
- Arslan NC, Degirmenci AK, Ozdenkaya Y, Terzi C. Wound Irrigation with Chlorhexidine Gluconate 12 Reduces Surgical Site Infection in Pilonidal Disease: Single-Blind Prospective Study. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2020; 21: 143-149 [PMID: 31460835 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2019.053]
- 13 Zhadan O, Becker H. Surgical Site Irrigation in Plastic Surgery. Aesthet Surg J 2018; 38: 265-273 [PMID: 29087441 DOI: 10.1093/asj/sjx171]
- 14 Fisher J, Stephen Porter R. Commentary on: Surgical Site Irrigation in Plastic Surgery: What is Essential? Aesthet Surg J 2018; 38: 274-275 [PMID: 29087471 DOI: 10.1093/asj/sjx169]
- Tomov M, Wanderman N, Berbari E, Currier B, Yaszemski M, Nassr A, Huddleston P, Bydon M, 15 Freedman B. An empiric analysis of 5 counter measures against surgical site infections following spine surgery-a pragmatic approach and review of the literature. Spine J 2019; 19: 267-275 [PMID: 29864545 DOI: 10.1016/j.spinee.2018.05.043]
- 16 Pivot D, Tiv M, Luu M, Astruc K, Aho S, Fournel I. Survey of intraoperative povidone-iodine application to prevent surgical site infection in a French region. J Hosp Infect 2011; 77: 363-364 [PMID: 21257229 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2010.11.016]
- Mahomed K, Ibiebele I, Buchanan J; Betadine Study Group. The Betadine trial antiseptic wound 17 irrigation prior to skin closure at caesarean section to prevent surgical site infection: A randomised controlled trial. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2016; 56: 301-306 [PMID: 26847398 DOI: 10.1111/ajo.12437]
- 18 Urban MV, Rath T, Radtke C. Hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂): a review of its use in surgery. Wien Med Wochenschr 2019; 169: 222-225 [PMID: 29147868 DOI: 10.1007/s10354-017-0610-2]



- 19 Lu M, Hansen EN. Hydrogen Peroxide Wound Irrigation in Orthopaedic Surgery. J Bone Jt Infect 2017; 2: 3-9 [PMID: 28529858 DOI: 10.7150/jbji.16690]
- 20 FLOW Investigators., Bhandari M, Jeray KJ, Petrisor BA, Devereaux PJ, Heels-Ansdell D, Schemitsch EH, Anglen J, Della Rocca GJ, Jones C, Kreder H, Liew S, McKay P, Papp S, Sancheti P, Sprague S, Stone TB, Sun X, Tanner SL, Tornetta P 3rd, Tufescu T, Walter S, Guyatt GH. A Trial of Wound Irrigation in the Initial Management of Open Fracture Wounds. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 2629-2641 [PMID: 26448371 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1508502]
- Emile SH, Elfallal AH, Abdel-Razik MA, El-Said M, Elshobaky A. A randomized controlled trial on 21 irrigation of open appendectomy wound with gentamicin- saline solution vs saline solution for prevention of surgical site infection. Int J Surg 2020; 81: 140-146 [PMID: 32798761 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.07.057
- de Jonge SW, Boldingh QJJ, Solomkin JS, Allegranzi B, Egger M, Dellinger EP, Boermeester MA. 22 Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials Evaluating Prophylactic Intra-Operative Wound Irrigation for the Prevention of Surgical Site Infections. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2017; 18: 508-519 [PMID: 28448203 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2016.272]
- 23 Thom H, Norman G, Welton NJ, Crosbie EJ, Blazeby J, Dumville JC. Intra-Cavity Lavage and Wound Irrigation for Prevention of Surgical Site Infection: Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Surg Infect (Larchmt) 2021; 22: 144-167 [PMID: 32352895 DOI: 10.1089/sur.2019.318]
- Meza BC, Talwar D, Flynn JM. Measures to reduce end-of-case wound contamination: the impact of 24 intra-wound vancomycin powder and betadine irrigation on surgical site infections in posterior spinal fusion. Spine Deform 2020; 8: 45-50 [PMID: 31981142 DOI: 10.1007/s43390-020-00033-4]
- Tomov M, Mitsunaga L, Durbin-Johnson B, Nallur D, Roberto R. Reducing surgical site infection in 25 spinal surgery with betadine irrigation and intrawound vancomycin powder. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) 2015; 40: 491-499 [PMID: 25608241 DOI: 10.1097/BRS.000000000000789]
- Karaarslan N, Yilmaz I, Ozbek H, Oznam K, Ates O, Erdem I. Is Implant Washing and Wound 26 Irrigation with Rifampicin Effective for Preventing Surgical Site Infections in Lumbar Instrumentation? Turk Neurosurg 2018; 28: 904-909 [PMID: 29368319 DOI: 10.5137/1019-5149.JTN.21341-17.2]



World Journal of W J MMethodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 July 20; 11(4): 228-230

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.228

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

LETTER TO THE EDITOR

Simplified figure to present direct and indirect comparisons: Revisiting the graph 10 years later

Valeria Fadda, Laura Bartoli, Elisa Ferracane, Sabrina Trippoli, Andrea Messori

ORCID number: Valeria Fadda 0000-0002-5048-8812; Laura Bartoli 0000-0002-3283-0987; Elisa Ferracane 0000-0001-6888-8040; Sabrina Trippoli 0000-0002-5762-1807; Andrea Messori 0000-0002-5829-107X.

Author contributions: Fadda V and Messori A were the main contributors of this paper; The other authors were involved in checking the manuscript, identifying inconsistencies, and generating the figure.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare no conflicts of interests.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Unsolicited manuscript

Valeria Fadda, Laura Bartoli, Elisa Ferracane, Sabrina Trippoli, Andrea Messori, HTA, ESTAR Toscana, Firenze 50132, Italy

Corresponding author: Andrea Messori, BCPS, PharmD, Academic Fellow, Associate Chief Pharmacist, HTA, ESTAR Toscana, Via San Salvi 12, Firenze 50132, Italy. andrea.messori.it@gmail.com

Abstract

A "simplified" figure was proposed in 2011 to summarize the results of controlled trials that evaluate different treatments aimed at the same disease condition. The original criteria for classifying individual binary comparisons included superiority, inferiority and no significance difference; hence, they did not differentiate between no proof of difference vs proof of no difference. We updated the criteria employed in the original "simplified" figure in order to include this differentiation. A revised version of the simplified figure is proposed and described herein. An example of application is also presented. The example is focused on first-line treatments for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Three treatments (medical therapy, cryoballoon ablation, radiofrequency ablation) are compared with one another through direct and indirect comparisons.

Key Words: Randomised controlled trials; Outcome research; Meta-analysis; Direct comparisons; Indirect comparison; Statistics

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: A "simplified" figure was proposed in 2011 to summarize the results of controlled trials that evaluate different treatments aimed at the same disease condition. This graphical tool presents the network geometry along with the results of the analysis. The original criteria for classifying individual binary comparisons (direct or indirect comparisons) did not differentiate between no proof of difference vs proof of no difference. We have therefore updated the criteria employed in the original "simplified" figure to include this differentiation.

Citation: Fadda V, Bartoli L, Ferracane E, Trippoli S, Messori A. Simplified figure to present direct and indirect comparisons: Revisiting the graph 10 years later. World J Methodol 2021;



Specialty type: Health care sciences and services

Country/Territory of origin: Italy

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 19, 2021 Peer-review started: March 19, 2021 First decision: May 6, 2021 Revised: May 9, 2021 Accepted: May 27, 2021 Article in press: May 27, 2021 Published online: July 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Tsikopoulos K S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Wang LYT



11(4): 228-230 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i4/228.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i4.228

TO THE EDITOR

In 2011, Fadda and coworkers published in the BMJ the proposal of a simplified graph that, in the context of a network meta-analysis, presents the results of direct and indirect comparisons[1]. In 2019, another graph with very similar characteristics was proposed by De Vecchis *et al*[2]. Both of these graphs adopt the symbol "+" for superiority, "-" for inferiority, and "=" for the remaining cases.

Differentiating between no proof of difference (with P > 0.05) and proof of no difference (with P > 0.05 and $P_{\text{equivalence}} < 0.05$) is increasingly recognised to be important [3]; the same applies to differentiation between no proof of difference and proof of non-inferiority (with P > 0.05 and $P_{\text{non-inferiority}} < 0.05$, respectively). Since the two graphs of Fadda *et al*[1] and De Vecchis *et al*[2] do not include this differentiation, we propose to limit the symbol "=" to cases of equivalence and to adopt the symbol "NI" for non-inferiority or "ND" for the remaining cases. The suffix "t" remains useful because it identifies cases where the binary comparison shows a trend in favour of a treatment though in the absence of a statistically significant difference.

An example of the revisited graph is presented in Figure 1 that compares three first line treatments in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation[4-8].

In the field of network meta-analysis, the issue of graphical communication is complex, and the debate is still ongoing[9-15]. While the objective of describing the network geometry is quite straightforward[9,10], communication becomes more complex when it comes to presenting the results of the analysis[11-15]. The graphical proposal described herein is aimed at presenting the network geometry along with the results of the analysis. In our view, despite some unavoidable aspects of complexity, this tool deserves to be used particularly when the number of comparators is small.



Figure 1 Direct and indirect comparisons across three first-line treatments for patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. The comparisons of radiofrequency vs medical therapy and cryoballoon vs medical therapy are based on three[4-6] and two trials[7,8], respectively.

REFERENCES

- 1 Fadda V, Maratea D, Trippoli S, Messori A. Network meta-analysis. Results can be summarised in a simple figure. BMJ 2011; 342: d1555 [PMID: 21430004 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.d1555]
- 2 De Vecchis R, Ariano C, Rigopoulos A, Noutsias M. Graphical representation of network metaanalysis: an iconographic support to the complexity of multiple data comparisons. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2019; 75: 131-132 [PMID: 30203129 DOI: 10.1007/s00228-018-2551-0]
- 3 Messori A, Fadda V, Gatto R, Maratea D, Trippoli S. Differentiating between "no proof of difference" and "proof of no difference" for new oral anticoagulants. BMJ 2014; 348: g1955 [PMID: 24604083 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.g1955]
- Cosedis Nielsen J, Johannessen A, Raatikainen P, Hindricks G, Walfridsson H, Kongstad O, Pehrson 4 S, Englund A, Hartikainen J, Mortensen LS, Hansen PS. Radiofrequency ablation as initial therapy in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 1587-1595 [PMID: 23094720 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113566]
- Morillo CA, Verma A, Connolly SJ, Kuck KH, Nair GM, Champagne J, Sterns LD, Beresh H, 5 Healey JS, Natale A; RAAFT-2 Investigators. Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (RAAFT-2): a randomized trial. JAMA 2014; 311: 692-700 [PMID: 24549549 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2014.467]
- Wazni OM, Marrouche NF, Martin DO, Verma A, Bhargava M, Saliba W, Bash D, Schweikert R, Brachmann J, Gunther J, Gutleben K, Pisano E, Potenza D, Fanelli R, Raviele A, Themistoclakis S, Rossillo A, Bonso A, Natale A. Radiofrequency ablation vs antiarrhythmic drugs as first-line treatment of symptomatic atrial fibrillation: a randomized trial. JAMA 2005; 293: 2634-2640 [PMID: 15928285 DOI: 10.1001/jama.293.21.2634]
- Wazni OM, Dandamudi G, Sood N, Hoyt R, Tyler J, Durrani S, Niebauer M, Makati K, Halperin B, Gauri A, Morales G, Shao M, Cerkvenik J, Kaplon RE, Nissen SE; STOP AF First Trial Investigators. Cryoballoon Ablation as Initial Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 316-324 [PMID: 33197158 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2029554]
- Andrade JG, Wells GA, Deyell MW, Bennett M, Essebag V, Champagne J, Roux JF, Yung D, 8 Skanes A, Khaykin Y, Morillo C, Jolly U, Novak P, Lockwood E, Amit G, Angaran P, Sapp J, Wardell S, Lauck S, Macle L, Verma A; EARLY-AF Investigators. Cryoablation or Drug Therapy for Initial Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 305-315 [PMID: 33197159 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2029980]
- 9 Chaimani A, Higgins JP, Mavridis D, Spyridonos P, Salanti G. Graphical tools for network metaanalysis in STATA. PLoS One 2013; 8: e76654 [PMID: 24098547 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076654]
- 10 IBM SPSS Statistics (Version 27.0.1.0). Product documentation. [cited 9 May 2021]. Available from: https://www.ibm.com/docs/en/spss-statistics/26.0.0
- Slee A, Nazareth I, Bondaronek P, Liu Y, Cheng Z, Freemantle N. Pharmacological treatments for 11 generalised anxiety disorder: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Lancet 2019; 393: 768-777 [PMID: 30712879 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31793-8]
- 12 Veroniki AA, Straus SE, Rücker G, Tricco AC. Is providing uncertainty intervals in treatment ranking helpful in a network meta-analysis? J Clin Epidemiol 2018; 100: 122-129 [PMID: 29432861 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2018.02.009]
- Seo M, Furukawa TA, Veroniki AA, Pillinger T, Tomlinson A, Salanti G, Cipriani A, Efthimiou O. 13 The Kilim plot: A tool for visualizing network meta-analysis results for multiple outcomes. Res Synth Methods 2021; 12: 86-95 [PMID: 32524754 DOI: 10.1002/jrsm.1428]
- 14 Seide SE, Jensen K, Kieser M. Utilizing radar graphs in the visualization of simulation and estimation results in network meta-analysis. Res Synth Methods 2021; 12: 96-105 [PMID: 32367691 DOI: 10.1002/jrsm.1412
- 15 Veroniki AA, Bender R, Glasziou P, Straus SE, Tricco AC. The number needed to treat in pairwise and network meta-analysis and its graphical representation. J Clin Epidemiol 2019; 111: 11-22 [PMID: 30905696 DOI: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.03.007]





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 September 20; 11(5): 231-277





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Methodology

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 5 September 20, 2021

FRONTIER

Genomics in medicine: A new era in medicine 231

Pattan V, Kashyap R, Bansal V, Candula N, Koritala T, Surani S

REVIEW

IgY technology: Methods for developing and evaluating avian immunoglobulins for the in vitro detection 243 of biomolecules

Karachaliou CE, Vassilakopoulou V, Livaniou E

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Evaluation of the red reflex: An overview for the pediatrician 263

Toli A, Perente A, Labiris G



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 5 September 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Methodology, Tommaso Vincenzo Bartolotta, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of Biomedicine, Neurosciences and Advanced Diagnostics - Section of Radiology, University Hospital, via Del Vespro 129, Palermo 90127, Italy. tommasovincenzo.bartolotta@unipa.it

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Xu Guo; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

NAME OF JOURNAL	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS	
World Journal of Methodology	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204	
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS	
ISSN 2222-0682 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287	
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH	
September 26, 2011	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240	
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS	
Bimonthly	https://www.wignet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288	
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF Gerhard Litscher	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT	
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE	
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS	
COPYRIGHT © 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	ONLINE SUBMISSION	

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 September 20; 11(5): 231-242

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i5.231

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

FRONTIER

Genomics in medicine: A new era in medicine

Vishwanath Pattan, Rahul Kashyap, Vikas Bansal, Narsimha Candula, Thoyaja Koritala, Salim Surani

ORCID number: Vishwanath Pattan 0000-0002-7077-8331; Rahul Kashyap 0000-0002-4383-3411; Vikas Bansal 0000-0001-6047-5559; Narsimha Candula 0000-0002-5949-6974; Thoyaja Koritala 0000-0002-1020-9882; Salim Surani 0000-0001-7105-4266.

Author contributions: Pattan V, Kashyap R and Surani S were involved with idea origination, writing and review of manuscript; Bansal V, Candula N and Koritala T were involved in writing and review of literature.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

None of the authors have any conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Vishwanath Pattan, Division of Endocrinology, Wyoming Medical Center, Casper, WY 82601, United States

Rahul Kashyap, Vikas Bansal, Department of Anesthesiology and Peri-operative Medicine, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN 55905, United States

Narsimha Candula, Hospital Medicine, University Florida Health, Jacksonville, FL 32209, United States

Thoyaja Koritala, Hospital Medicine, Mayo Clinic Health System, Mankato, MN 56001, United States

Salim Surani, Department of Internal Medicine, Texas A&M University, Corpus Christi, TX 78405, United States

Corresponding author: Salim Surani, FACC, FACP, FCCP, MD, Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, Texas A&M University, 701 Ayers Street, Corpus Christi, TX 78405, United States. srsurani@gmail.com

Abstract

The sequencing of complete human genome revolutionized the genomic medicine. However, the complex interplay of gene-environment-lifestyle and influence of non-coding genomic regions on human health remain largely unexplored. Genomic medicine has great potential for diagnoses or disease prediction, disease prevention and, targeted treatment. However, many of the promising tools of genomic medicine are still in their infancy and their application may be limited because of the limited knowledge we have that precludes its use in many clinical settings. In this review article, we have reviewed the evolution of genomic methodologies/tools, their limitations, and scope, for current and future clinical application.

Key Words: Genomic medicine; Medical genetics; Gene sequencing; DNA sequencing; RNA sequencing; Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat; Gene based therapy; Genomic tools; Genome editing

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: The field of Genomics is the future of medicine, as evidenced by the

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: United States

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 12, 2021 Peer-review started: January 12, 2021 First decision: June 17, 2021 Revised: June 18, 2021 Accepted: July 19, 2021 Article in press: July 19, 2021 Published online: September 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Taheri S S-Editor: Gao CC L-Editor: A P-Editor: Guo X



unprecedented research and clinical application which pushed the time boundaries for the coronavirus disease 2019 mRNA vaccines. However the path to unleashing the potential from genomic tools is far from perfect. A thorough research with international collaboration and cooperation is a necessity and the need of the hour.

Citation: Pattan V, Kashyap R, Bansal V, Candula N, Koritala T, Surani S. Genomics in medicine: A new era in medicine. World J Methodol 2021; 11(5): 231-242 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i5/231.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i5.231

INTRODUCTION

Understanding the human genome has come a long way since the initial discovery of DNA structure by Watson and Crick in 1953[1]. The genome study and reference used to be a very specialized area, but lately with the advent of the messenger based RNA vaccine have brought the concept of genetics even to the lay public. In the 1970s, the ability to manipulate DNA with recombinant DNA technology increased the horizon. Our understanding of medical genetics began with inheritance patterns of single-gene diseases. The database of Mendelian Inheritance in Man (MIM) was initiated in the early 1960s by McKusick^[2]. As of January 5, 2021, 4368 genes were mapped to phenotype-causing mutations[3]. However, only a small portion of diseases have a monogenic cause. The majority of the common diseases are polygenic, and elucidation of their mechanism has remained elusive.

The human genome project, which was completed in 2003, revolutionized the understanding of the human genome and served as a turning point to fast forward the genomic methodologies. However, the clinical application of findings from these genomic studies is still in its infancy. This is largely because we still have not understood or made complete sense of the available information. That is, the sequence data have been difficult to correlate to functional outcomes, making it difficult to understand the genetic basis of diseases and the complex gene-lifestyle-environment influences or their interaction. Moreover, most of the initial focus of the research had been on coding regions of DNA which comprises approximately 2% of the DNA and the knowledge about specific implications of non-coding DNA regions (98% of DNA) are largely unknown[4,5].

Remarkably, the human genome and the closest related species chimpanzees differ in single nucleotide alterations by a mere 1.23% and in deletions, insertions, and copy number variations by 3%[6]. In humans, the genomes of any two individuals are about 99.9% identical. However, a mere 0.1% variation allows for changes in a massive number of nucleotides because the human genome has approximately 30 billion base pairs (3.3 × 10⁹)[7].

In this review, we will discuss the evolution in genomic methodology, limitations, and their scope for current and future clinical application.

GENOMIC TOOLS AND THEIR EVOLUTION

DNA sequencing

After the initial DNA sequencing method by Maxam and Gilbert^[8] in 1977, the chaintermination DNA sequencing method developed by Sanger et al[9] in 1977 was used for the next few decades. It relied on the template DNA strand and had limited capacity for sequencing gene panels. Subsequently, with commercial production of high throughput technologies or next-generation sequencing (NGS) revolutionized the DNA sequencing by 2007[10]. Also called as massively parallel sequencing, NGS does parallel sequencing of millions of small DNA fragments. Each DNA fragment is fixed at a unique location on the solid support. While the sample of the patient's DNA which serves as a template in NGS is amplified and fragmented, the third-generation sequencing uses single DNA molecules rather than the amplified DNA as a template thus eliminating errors from DNA amplification processes. The NGS can be used for whole-genome sequencing, exome sequencing, or targeted gene panels comprising



Tools for genomics	Principle of use	Pros and application	Limitation	
Genome-wide association studies (GWAS)	Gene mapping study using DNA microarray to identify the association between SNP and specific risk alleles that are more prevalent in cases than in controls, <i>via</i> linkage disequilibrium	Has potential for population-based application. Example – The Severe COVID-19 GWAS Group[34] studied patients with respiratory failure from severe COVID-19 and narrowed down the genetic susceptibility locus to a gene cluster on chromosome locus 3p21.31. They also verified the potential involvement of the ABO blood group system	Does not establish causality but only an association with SNP; Missing heritability- cannot explain variance in complex traits or genes with a small effect size; Does not account for epigenetic changes and epistasis (gene-gene interaction); GWAS data catalog mostly from individuals of European descent which may limit application in minority population [35]	
Expression quantitative trait loci (eQTL) analysis	Links SNPs to changes in gene expression by measuring the expression of many genes simultaneously in microarrays. Helps to narrow down to SNPs more likely to impact the disease condition	Provides better insight into specific causal mechanisms[36]; Liver eQTL – useful in pharmacogenomic studies by analyzing Epistatic eQTL Interactions [37]	Limited tissue interrogation will give misleading biological interpretations about the gene mediating the regulatory effect to increase disease risk[38]	
Deep sequencing or Next- generation sequencing	Exome sequencing: 85% of known disease-causing mutations in Mendelian disorders are found in exons. Exome sequencing is a useful tool to find the causal genes for Mendelian disorders	Reduced cost and limited data to interpret; Linkage study design is unsuitable for extremely rare and sporadic Mendelian disorders for which exome sequencing would be more practical[39]	Exome sequencing: It can miss pathogenic variants in a non-coding region. Repetitive regions (<i>e.g.</i> , pseudogenes) can confound results in whole-exome sequencing[41]; Potentiate technical biases regarding exon capture limiting its use in detecting copy-number variants as well as in genomic regions where capture is less efficient[42]	
	Whole-genome sequencing: Can sequence every nucleotide base in the human genome (approximately 3.3×10^9 base pairs)	Whole-genome sequencing: Avoids inherent biases of exome capture	Whole-genome sequencing: Too much data but little clinical knowledge available to interpret; Higher cost compared to clinical utility	
	Targeted gene panel: Provides information on prespecified disease-associated genes	Examples: Rapid whole-genome sequencing to investigate extensively drug-resistant (XDR) tuberculosis[40]		
RNA-seq	Uses NGS to analyze RNA expression patterns or transcriptome profiling by reverse transcription of RNA sample to complementary DNAs (cDNA) and PCR amplification	Can be used: to analyze RNA expression profile at single cell level or quantify gene expression[43]; to obtain data on novel transcripts and is not limited by availability of reference genome data[44]; to identify alternatively spliced genes; to detect allele-specific gene expression[44]	cDNA synthesis and PCR amplification steps can introduce bias and errors[44]	
Epigenomics	Epigenomics involves methods used to identify DNA methylation and histone modifications. Sodium bisulfite can identify unmethylated cytosines due to its ability to convert unmethylated cytosines to uracil. However the methylated cytosine is resistant to this conversion. Methylation-dependent restriction enzymes are used for DNA methylation analysis[45]. Chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) is used for the investigation of histone modifications	ChIP allows precise mapping of the DNA-protein interaction in living cells. Cross-linked protein-DNA complex can be treated with exonucleases to remove cross-linked DNA sequences that are not avidly bound to protein of interest. This is called ChIP-Exo. This allows mapping of <i>in vivo</i> protein occupancy at single nucleotide-level resolution[47]	Needs design of antibodies specific to DNA-bound protein of interest which could be modified histone or transcription factors	
	Immunoprecipitation techniques: ChIP on Chip; ChIP-Seq. Chromatin is isolated from the sample and the DNA involved in DNA protein cross- linked complex is isolated using antibodies specific to the DNA-bound protein. The isolated DNA is amplified using PCR and analyzed using gel electrophoresis imaging, microarray hybridization (ChIP-chip), or direct sequencing with NGS (ChIP- Seq)[46]			
Transcriptomics	Northern blot: RNA molecules separated by gel electrophoresis by size and subsequently hybridized with labeled complementary ssDNA and detected using chemic luminescence or autoradiography	Northern blot can both quantify the amount of RNA and also determine the size of mRNA transcript. Can detect transcript variant of genes[49]	Northern blot-need radioactive probes and has lower sensitivity	
	Ribonuclease (RNase) protection assay: Differs from northern blot by use of antisense RNA probes	RNase protection assay: It can simultaneously detect and quantify	RNase protection assay: Does not provide information on transcript	


called riboprobes	multiple mRNA targets in a single RNA sample .It has high sensitivity	size[<mark>52]</mark>
Real-time RT-PCR: cDNA are synthesized by reverse transcription from the sample RNA identified. The resulting cDNA is amplified by using fluorescently labeled oligonucleotide primers. Fluorescence intensity is monitored and correlated with several PCR cycles	Real-time RT-PCR: Allows quantitative genotyping, detection of SNPs and allelic variants or genetic variations even when mutation is found in very small fraction of cells in the sample. Has become clinical standard for diagnoses in Infectious diseases and it's role is evolving rapidly in cancer diagnostics [50]	Real-time RT-PCR: The process is complex and any errors in choice of reagents, primers or probes will affect accuracy. There could be risk for errors during data analysis and reporting. The process is expensive [53]
In situ hybridization: Tissue specimen is fixed to preserve morphology and then treated with proteases. A labeled probe is hybridized to the sample and detected using chemiluminescence or autoradiography[48]	In situ hybridization: Very useful in diagnostic application when there is limited tissue sample (in embryos and biopsy specimen). Several specific hybridizations can be done on the same sample. Tissue samples can be freeze for future use[48]	In situ hybridization: Low diagnostic yield when the sample has low DNA and RNA copies[48]
Spotted DNA arrays: Measures relative expression levels between 2 samples. cDNA probes amplified by PCR are spotted on a glass slide and then mRNAs are isolated from the samples. The mRNA from each sample is labeled with different fluorescent dyes. The samples are mixed, co- hybridized with cDNA probes on glass slides to measure relative gene expression	Spotted DNA arrays: The major application of DNA array is measurement of gene expression levels [51]	Spotted DNA arrays: DNA array can only detect known sequences, that were used to construct the array. It only gives relative estimate of gene expression and not reliable for absolute quantification. When the genome has multiple related sequences then design of array that distinguishes these sequences is challenging. Difficult to reproduce the array[51]

SNP: Single nucleotide polymorphism; NGS: Next-generation sequencing; PCR: Polymerase chain reaction; RT-PCR: Real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction; ssDNA: Single stranded DNA.

tens to hundreds of genes.

Single nucleotide polymorphism

Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is the variation in genetic sequence by a single nucleotide. It is the most common type of genetic variation in man[11]. It was detected in the 1980s using restriction enzymes[12]. With application of the microarray technology to SNPs, the scope of SNP in clinical practice has widened, especially in oncology. The first SNP array analysis was done in 1998 and the first application of SNP array analysis in cancer was done in 2000[13]. SNP array analysis is used to determine loss of heterozygosity, allelic imbalance, genomic copy number changes, frequency of homozygous chromosome regions, uniparental disomy, DNA methylation alterations and linkage analysis of DNA polymorphisms in cancer cells [13,14].

DNA amplification

Kary Banks Mullis successfully demonstrated polymerase chain reaction (PCR) in 1983 [15]. PCR is a cost-effective method that can amplify a single DNA exponentially[16]. It is a rapid, highly specific, and extremely sensitive method. PCR is being used in SNP genotyping, detection of rare sequences, insertion-deletion variants, and structural variants like copy-number variants.

Linkage and association analysis

Linkage studies have been used for mapping of genes for heritable traits to their chromosomal locations. 1st genetic linkage map was done in 1911 by Sturtevant A[17]. Parametric linkage analysis is used to map the disease-causing gene for monogenic diseases. Here, the logarithm of the odds (LOD) scores and recombination fractions are used to map the gene location. Model-free linkage analysis or non-parametric linkage analysis is used for complex or polygenic diseases, or when the model of inheritance is not known[18]. Linkage analysis of the whole genome can identify large regions of the chromosome with evidence of disease containing the gene^[19,20], but this large span of chromosomes can have hundreds of candidate genes.

Linkage studies have been used for mapping Mendelian traits with high penetrance in families and relatives^[20]. They are especially useful to identify rare alleles that are present in a small number of families[21], for disease genes with weak effects and polygenic diseases, linkage disequilibrium association mapping has proved to be more



useful. In genome-wide association studies (GWAS), genotyping of hundreds or thousands of SNPs is done in cases and control populations and their association with heritability is analyzed. A combination of linkage and association methodologies helps to identify and characterize the wider range of disease-susceptibility variants[22].

Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization (FISH) was developed in 1987. It is a cytogenetic technique which uses fluorescent DNA probes which are designed to label precise chromosomal locations. The advantage of FISH over conventional cytogenetic metaphase karyotype analysis is lack of cell culture requirement. It can rapidly evaluate interphase nuclei in the fresh or paraffin-embedded sample[23]. However, the resolution of this technique is only as good as that of karyotype bands. Cloned DNA FISH probes of about 100 kb, called bacterial artificial chromosomes, are now available. FISH is being utilized more in making clinical diagnosis among Oncology due to its simplicity and reliability to evaluate the key biomarkers in various malignancies.

Comparative genomic hybridization

Comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) was developed in 1992. CGH can detect DNA copy number changes across the entire genome of a patient sample in a single experiment. It compares the hybridization signal intensity of a test sample (for example tumor sample) against a reference sample along the chromosomes[13].

HAPMAP AND 1000 GENOME PROJECTS HAVE CREATED A CATALOG OF SNPS

The HapMap project was started in 2002 to develop a haplotype map of the human genome. It can also describe the common patterns of human genetic variation[24]. The 1000 Genomes Project comprised a total of 26 diverse population set in which whole-genome sequencing was performed. It also used deep exome sequencing and dense microarray genotyping to give a comprehensive description of common human genetic variation[25].

TARGETED GENOME EDITING OR GENOME ENGINEERING

It involves modification of the genome at a precise, prespecified locus using programmable nucleases. Examples of some of the programmable nucleases include zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)-Cas (CRISPR-associated) system. These programmable nucleases are designed to impart site-specific double-strand breaks (dsBs) in chromosomal DNA. The cell is therefore forced to use one of the endogenous DNA repair mechanisms — homologous recombination or homology-directed repair (HDR) and nonhomologous end-joining (NHEJ). This enables targeted genetic modifications during the repair process in the living cells (*in vivo*) (Table 1)[26]. ZFNs and TALENS recognize the target sequence through protein-DNA interaction. CRISPR-Cas nucleases recognize target sequences through RNA and DNA base pairing[26].

In the year 2013, Cong *et al*[27] and Mali *et al*[28] showed successful genome editing in mammalian cells using the CRISPR system. In the last 5 years, we have seen a leap in the research interest (both animal and human) in CRISPR genomic editing.

While genome editing holds promise to correct the defective genome in vivo, therapies can also be designed to alter the gene expression without altering the genomic code. For example, anti-sense oligonucleotide can be used to alter the splice points of pre-mRNA to correct for a defective gene or suppress its expression. Examples of drugs which use splice modulation and approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) are Eteplirsen (exon skipping, approved for Duchenne muscular dystrophy) and nusinersen (exon inclusion, approved for spinal muscular atrophy)[29].

Table 1 summarizes the commonly used genomic tools, their working principle, advantages/applications and limitations (see Table 1). Table 2 summarizes the major genome/gene editing tools their working principle, advantages/applications and limitations. Table 3 summarizes gene-based therapies that are either FDA approved therapies or investigational therapies showing promise.

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 2 Chara	Table 2 Characteristics of genome-editing technologies using programmable nucleases						
Gene editing	Principle of use	Advantages or application	Limitation				
CRISPR-Cas9 guided gene editing: (1)NHEJ; and (2)HDR	Cas9 enzyme (an endonuclease) cleaves ds- DNA at a specific site as determined by the specific sequence of the guide RNA. Genome editing is done when the cell tries to repair the dsB (either <i>via</i> NHEJ or HDR)	Has the potential to edit genes in almost any cell type <i>in vivo</i> ; Has potential in every field, notably infections[54], genetic disease [55], cancer[56] <i>etc.</i> ; CRISPR-Cas9 can also be used for large scale loss-of-function gene screen: Catalytically inactive Cas9 (dCas9) can be directed by guide RNA, bind to specific genes to reversibly suppress or activate gene transcription (by fusion of transcription activators or suppressors with dCas9)[57]; Epigenetic modulators (<i>e.g.</i> , DNA methylase) can also be fused with dCas9 to achieve controlled epigenetic modulations. Cas-9 NHEJ is simpler and efficient; Cas-9 HDR is more precise but lower efficiency than NHEJ. The mutant version of the Cas9 called Cas9 nickase can be used to minimize the risk of off-targets	The off-target activity of RNA-guided endonuclease-induced mutations[58]. Off-target mutations with a frequency below 0.5% cannot be detected by current off-target detection techniques[59]				
Augmented CRISPR- Cas12a system	Cas12a cuts target ds- DNA. However, unlike Cas9, Cas12a subsequently becomes activated and causes indiscriminate cleavage of ssDNA causing collateral damage. SARS-CoV-2 RNA DETECTR Assay: samples from upper airway swabs are processed using simultaneous reverse transcription and isothermal amplification with loop- mediated amplification (RT-LAMP). Subsequently the Cas12 enzyme is added	CRISPR-Cas12a system can be used to create new drug or cell delivery systems and bio-sensing (<i>e.g.</i> , to detect methicillin- resistant Staphylococcus aureus, Ebola virus[60]. Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) Only for qualitative detection of nucleic acid from the SARS-CoV-2 in upper respiratory specimens[61,62]	Limited research data and application. The technology is still in its infancy				
CRISPR-Cas 13	CRISPR-Cas 13 system can be used <i>via</i> SHERLOCK technique for ultra-sensitive detection of RNA or DNA from the clinical samples	SherlockTM CRISPR SARS-CoV-2 kit: Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) qualitative for detection of nucleic acid fromSARS-CoV-2 in upper respiratory specimens[63,64]					
Prime editors	It uses a catalytically impaired Cas9 which is fused to an engineered reverse transcriptase and prime editing guide RNA. The guide RNA specifies the target site and encodes the desired sequence	Prime editing is associated with fewer off-target edits when compared with conventional CRISPR-Cas system[65]. Anzalone <i>et a</i> [[66] applied prime editing in human cells to correct the primary genetic causes of sickle cell disease and Tay-Sachs disease. It does not require double-strand breaks or donor DNA templates	Research literature on application of prime editing is limited. Unlike conventional CRISPR-Cas system prime editing may not be able to provide large DNA insertions or deletions[65]				
Zinc finger nucleases	Zinc finger nuclease (dimer of zinc finger hybrid bound to restriction endonuclease) is a programmable nuclease that cleaves specific sites in DNA. They recognize the target sequence through protein-DNA interaction	Potential for plant genome editing for crop improvement[67]	Necessity to engineer novel proteins for each target site: Expensive; Difficult to reproduce				
TALENS	TAL proteins have TAL effector DNA- binding domain fused to a DNA cleavage domain. TALENs create dsBs that require repair by NHEJ or HDR	The DNA-binding specificity of TALEs is easier to engineer than zinc-fingerProteins[68]	Necessity to engineer novel proteins for each target site. TALENs are large and pose packaging challenge in viral delivery systems[69]				

HDR: Homology-directed repair; NHEJ: Nonhomologous end-joining; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; TALENs: Transcription activator-like effector nucleases; dsBs: Double stranded breaks; ssDNA: Single stranded DNA; TAL: Transcription activator-like; SHERLOCK: Specific High Sensitivity Enzymatic Reporter UnLOCKing.

DISCUSSION

The newer genomic technology and tools have broadened the scope and pushed the time limits for development of new diagnostic kits, preventive strategies like vaccines, therapeutic strategies like gene modulation and gene therapy. A lot is yet to be studied in terms of the complex interaction of gene-environment-lifestyle-disease. Knowing the impact of genomics on disease pathophysiology and response to medications[30]. expands the scope of research and clinical application. While genome editing holds promise to correct the defective genome in vivo, therapies can also be designed to alter the gene expression without altering the genomic code (example exon skipping, or inclusion discussed above).

The newer genomic editing tools have showed great potential and promise but they need to be studied extensively before clinical application. Also, uniform international ethical guidelines and guiding principles need to be established so that these genomic technologies are not misused.

Table 3 Gene based therapies: List of Food and Drug Administration approved therapies and investigational therapies showing promise

Therapy or drug	Indication	Mechanism of action	Approval status
Janssen COVID-19 vaccine	Prevention of 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) for individuals 18 yr of age and older	Recombinant, humanadenovirus type 26 vector which expresses the SARS-CoV-2 "S" antigen after entering human cells thus eliciting immune response against COVID-19	Emergency use authorization (EUA) on February 27, 2021[70]. Pause placed on vaccine use on April 13, 2021[71]. FDA lifted vaccination pause on April 23, 2021[72]
Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine [73-75]	Prevention of COVID-19 for individuals 16 yr of age and older	modRNA forumated in lipid particles when delivered to host cells express SARS-CoV-2 "S" antigen, thus eliciting immune response against COVID-19	EUA on December 11, 2020
Moderna COVID-19 vaccine[76-78]	Prevention of COVID-19 for individuals 18 yr of age and older	modRNA forumated in lipid particles when delivered to host cells express SARS-CoV-2 "S" antigen, thus eliciting immune response against COVID-19	EUA on December 18, 2020
Lumasiran[79]	Primary hyperoxaluria type 1	HAO1-directed small interfering ribonucleic acid	Approved in Nov 2020
Viltolarsen[80]	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Antisense oligonucleotide directed to exon 53 skipping	Approved in August 2020
Brexucabtagene autoleucel[81]	Relapsed/refractory mantle cell lymphoma	Genetically modified autologous CD19 T cells directed against CD19 expressing cancer cells	Approved in July 2020
Golodirsen[82]	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Antisense oligonucleotide directed	Approved in December 2019
Givosiran[83]	Acute hepatic porphyria	Double-stranded small interfering RNA that degrades the ALAS1 mRNA in hepatocytes <i>via</i> RNA interference	Approved in November 2019
Onasemnogene abeparvovec-xioi[84]	Spinal muscular atrophy (SMA)	AAV9-based gene therapy which encodes the human SMN protein	Approved in May 2019
Inotersen[<mark>85</mark>]	Polyneuropathy of hereditary transthyretin-mediated amyloidosis	Transthyretin-directed antisense oligonucleotide	Approved in October 2018
Axicabtagene ciloleucel[<mark>86</mark>]	Relapsed or refractory large B-cell lymphoma after two or more lines of systemic therapy	Genetically modified autologous CD19 T cells directed against CD19 expressing cancer cells	Approved in October 2017
Tisagenlecleucel[87]	Refractory or relapsed B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL)	Genetically modified autologous CD19 T cells directed against CD19 expressing cancer cells	Approved in August 2017
Nusinersen[88]	SMA	Survival motor neuron-2 (SMN2)-directed antisense oligonucleotide	Approved in December 2016
Eteplirsen[89]	Duchenne muscular dystrophy	Antisense oligonucleotid that binds to exon 51 of dystrophin pre-mRNA	Approved in September 2016
Talimogene laherparepvec[90]	Genetically modified herpes simplex virus, type 1 used as oncolytic viral therapy	They utilized the local treatment of unresectable cutaneous, subcutaneous, and nodal lesions in patients with melanoma who had the recurrence after the initial surgery	Approved in October 2015
Giroctocogene fitelparvovec[91]	Moderately severe to severe hemophilia A	Factor VIII gene delivery using recombinant adeno-associated viruses as vectors	Investigational in phase 3 trial
Inclisiran[<mark>92</mark>]	Heterozygous and possibly homozygous familial hypercholesterolemia	Small-interfering ribonucleic acid which decreases hepatic production of PCSK9	Investigational phase 3 trial
Volanesorsen[93]	Familial chylomicronemia syndrome	Antisense oligonucleotide that targets the messenger RNA for apo-CIII	Conditional approval by European Medicines Agency's (EMA) but not by FDA
CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing[94]	Sickle cell disease and β- thalassemia	CRISPR-Cas9based allele editing of the BCL11A erythroid-specific enhancer in autologous CD34+ cells	Investigational- FDA Fast Track Designation for CTX001 in sickle cell disease

AAV: Adeno-associated virus; ALAS1: Aminolevulinate synthase 1; BCL11A: B cell lymphoma/leukemia 11A; HAO1: Hydroxyacid oxidase (glycolate oxidase) 1; modRNA: Nucleoside-modified messenger RNA; SMN: Survival motor neuron 1; FDA: Food and Drug Administration.

> It is very important to include diverse populations and to represent minority population in the genomic studies, so that results could be generalized and more accurate diagnostic, predictive and therapeutic tools can be developed.



Boishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Genomics in medicine is indeed a new era in medicine. Even the control of coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic[31] has just begun at the time of writing of this article with gene based therapies eliciting immune response against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 spike proteins. A unified international collaboration[32,33] is needed to continue expanding gene therapy use in opening new frontiers for fight against novel infections and disease.

CONCLUSION

Genomic medicine holds great promise for providing insight into disease pathophysiology, provide better diagnostic or disease predictive tools, preventive therapies and finally for targeted treatment of diseases. Although some of the newer tools (like CRISPR system) have great potential, more research is needed before these tools can be unleashed to clinical use. Hence there is great need for studies to unravel the mystery of complex interaction of both coding and noncoding genomic regions with environment and lifestyle influences on disease occurrence and management.

REFERENCES

- Watson JD, Crick FH. The structure of DNA. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1953; 18: 123-131 [PMID: 13168976 DOI: 10.1101/sqb.1953.018.01.020]
- McKusick VA. Mendelian Inheritance in Man and its online version, OMIM. Am J Hum Genet 2007; 2 80: 588-604 [PMID: 17357067 DOI: 10.1086/514346]
- Johns Hopkins University. OMIM Gene Map Statistics. [cited 20 December 2020]. In: Johns 3 Hopkins University [Internet]. Available from: https://www.omim.org/statistics/geneMap
- 4 Ling H, Vincent K, Pichler M, Fodde R, Berindan-Neagoe I, Slack FJ, Calin GA. Junk DNA and the long non-coding RNA twist in cancer genetics. Oncogene 2015; 34: 5003-5011 [PMID: 25619839 DOI: 10.1038/onc.2014.456]
- Gloss BS, Dinger ME. Realizing the significance of noncoding functionality in clinical genomics. Exp 5 Mol Med 2018; 50: 1-8 [PMID: 30089779 DOI: 10.1038/s12276-018-0087-0]
- Suntsova MV, Buzdin AA. Differences between human and chimpanzee genomes and their 6 implications in gene expression, protein functions and biochemical properties of the two species. BMC Genomics 2020; 21: 535 [PMID: 32912141 DOI: 10.1186/s12864-020-06962-8]
- Gyles C. The DNA revolution. Can Vet J 2008; 49: 745-746 [PMID: 18978969] 7
- Maxam AM, Gilbert W. A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1977; 74: 8 560-564 [PMID: 265521 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.74.2.560]
- 9 Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977; 74: 5463-5467 [PMID: 271968 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.74.12.5463]
- 10 Reuter JA, Spacek DV, Snyder MP. High-throughput sequencing technologies. Mol Cell 2015; 58: 586-597 [PMID: 26000844 DOI: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.05.004]
- Shen LX, Basilion JP, Stanton VP Jr. Single-nucleotide polymorphisms can cause different structural 11 folds of mRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96: 7871-7876 [PMID: 10393914 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.96.14.7871]
- Gray IC, Campbell DA, Spurr NK. Single nucleotide polymorphisms as tools in human genetics. 12 Hum Mol Genet 2000; 9: 2403-2408 [PMID: 11005795 DOI: 10.1093/hmg/9.16.2403]
- Mao X, Young BD, Lu YJ. The application of single nucleotide polymorphism microarrays in cancer 13 research. Curr Genomics 2007; 8: 219-228 [PMID: 18645599 DOI: 10.2174/138920207781386924]
- Sato-Otsubo A, Sanada M, Ogawa S. Single-nucleotide polymorphism array karyotyping in clinical 14 practice: where, when, and how? Semin Oncol 2012; 39: 13-25 [PMID: 22289488 DOI: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2011.11.010]
- 15 Fairfax MR, Salimnia H. Diagnostic molecular microbiology: a 2013 snapshot. Clin Lab Med 2013; 33: 787-803 [PMID: 24267186 DOI: 10.1016/j.cll.2013.08.003]
- Wages JM. Polymerase Chain Reaction. In: Worsfold P, Townshend A, Poole C. Encyclopedia of 16 Analytical Science. Oxford: Elsevier, 2005: 243-250
- 17 Griffiths AJ, Miller JH, Suzuki DT, Lewontin RC, Gelbart WM. An Introduction to Genetic Analysis - NCBI Bookshelf. 7th ed. New York: W. H. Freeman, 2000
- Dawn Teare M, Barrett JH. Genetic linkage studies. Lancet 2005; 366: 1036-1044 [PMID: 16168786 18 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67382-5]
- 19 Ott J, Wang J, Leal SM. Genetic linkage analysis in the age of whole-genome sequencing. Nat Rev Genet 2015; 16: 275-284 [PMID: 25824869 DOI: 10.1038/nrg3908]
- Pulst SM. Genetic linkage analysis. Arch Neurol 1999; 56: 667-672 [PMID: 10369304 DOI: 20 10.1001/archneur.56.6.667
- Hinrichs AL, Suarez BK. Incorporating linkage information into a common disease/rare variant 21 framework. Genet Epidemiol 2011; 35 Suppl 1: S74-S79 [PMID: 22128063 DOI: 10.1002/gepi.20654]



- 22 Ott J, Kamatani Y, Lathrop M. Family-based designs for genome-wide association studies. Nat Rev Genet 2011: 12: 465-474 [PMID: 21629274 DOI: 10.1038/nrg2989]
- 23 Hu L, Ru K, Zhang L, Huang Y, Zhu X, Liu H, Zetterberg A, Cheng T, Miao W. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH): an increasingly demanded tool for biomarker research and personalized medicine. Biomark Res 2014; 2: 3 [PMID: 24499728 DOI: 10.1186/2050-7771-2-3]
- National Human Genome Research Institute. The International HapMap Project. Updated 24 06/04/2012. [cited 10 December 2020]. In: National Human Genome Research Institute [Internet]. Available from: https://www.genome.gov/11511175/about-the-international-hapmap-project-factsheet
- 25 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, Auton A, Brooks LD, Durbin RM, Garrison EP, Kang HM, Korbel JO, Marchini JL, McCarthy S, McVean GA, Abecasis GR. A global reference for human genetic variation. Nature 2015; 526: 68-74 [PMID: 26432245 DOI: 10.1038/nature15393]
- 26 Kim H, Kim JS. A guide to genome engineering with programmable nucleases. Nat Rev Genet 2014; 15: 321-334 [PMID: 24690881 DOI: 10.1038/nrg3686]
- Cong L, Ran FA, Cox D, Lin S, Barretto R, Habib N, Hsu PD, Wu X, Jiang W, Marraffini LA, Zhang 27 F. Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science 2013; 339: 819-823 [PMID: 23287718 DOI: 10.1126/science.1231143]
- 28 Mali P, Yang L, Esvelt KM, Aach J, Guell M, DiCarlo JE, Norville JE, Church GM. RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. Science 2013; 339: 823-826 [PMID: 23287722 DOI: 10.1126/science.1232033]
- Lim KRQ, Yokota T. Invention and Early History of Exon Skipping and Splice Modulation. Methods 29 Mol Biol 2018; 1828: 3-30 [PMID: 30171532 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8651-4_1]
- 30 Pattan V, Seth S, Jehangir W, Bhargava B, Maulik SK. Effect of Atorvastatin and Pioglitazone on Plasma Levels of Adhesion Molecules in Non-Diabetic Patients With Hypertension or Stable Angina or Both. J Clin Med Res 2015; 7: 613-619 [PMID: 26124907 DOI: 10.14740/jocmr2178e]
- Shah A, Kashyap R, Tosh P, Sampathkumar P, O'Horo JC. Guide to Understanding the 2019 Novel 31 Coronavirus. Mayo Clin Proc 2020; 95: 646-652 [PMID: 32122636 DOI: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2020.02.003
- 32 Walkey AJ, Kumar VK, Harhay MO, Bolesta S, Bansal V, Gajic O, Kashyap R. The Viral Infection and Respiratory Illness Universal Study (VIRUS): An International Registry of Coronavirus 2019-Related Critical Illness. Crit Care Explor 2020; 2: e0113 [PMID: 32426754 DOI: 10.1097/CCE.000000000000113]
- 33 Walkey AJ, Sheldrick RC, Kashyap R, Kumar VK, Boman K, Bolesta S, Zampieri FG, Bansal V, Harhay MO, Gajic O. Guiding Principles for the Conduct of Observational Critical Care Research for Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemics and Beyond: The Society of Critical Care Medicine Discovery Viral Infection and Respiratory Illness Universal Study Registry. Crit Care Med 2020; 48: e1038e1044 [PMID: 32932348 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.00000000004572]
- Severe Covid-19 GWAS Group, Ellinghaus D, Degenhardt F, Bujanda L, Buti M, Albillos A, 34 Invernizzi P, Fernández J, Prati D, Baselli G, Asselta R, Grimsrud MM, Milani C, Aziz F, Kässens J, May S, Wendorff M, Wienbrandt L, Uellendahl-Werth F, Zheng T, Yi X, de Pablo R, Chercoles AG, Palom A, Garcia-Fernandez AE, Rodriguez-Frias F, Zanella A, Bandera A, Protti A, Aghemo A, Lleo A, Biondi A, Caballero-Garralda A, Gori A, Tanck A, Carreras Nolla A, Latiano A, Fracanzani AL, Peschuck A, Julià A, Pesenti A, Voza A, Jiménez D, Mateos B, Nafria Jimenez B, Quereda C, Paccapelo C, Gassner C, Angelini C, Cea C, Solier A, Pestaña D, Muñiz-Diaz E, Sandoval E, Paraboschi EM, Navas E, García Sánchez F, Ceriotti F, Martinelli-Boneschi F, Peyvandi F, Blasi F, Téllez L, Blanco-Grau A, Hemmrich-Stanisak G, Grasselli G, Costantino G, Cardamone G, Foti G, Aneli S, Kurihara H, ElAbd H, My I, Galván-Femenia I, Martín J, Erdmann J, Ferrusquía-Acosta J, Garcia-Etxebarria K, Izquierdo-Sanchez L, Bettini LR, Sumoy L, Terranova L, Moreira L, Santoro L, Scudeller L, Mesonero F, Roade L, Rühlemann MC, Schaefer M, Carrabba M, Riveiro-Barciela M, Figuera Basso ME, Valsecchi MG, Hernandez-Tejero M, Acosta-Herrera M, D'Angiò M, Baldini M, Cazzaniga M, Schulzky M, Cecconi M, Wittig M, Ciccarelli M, Rodríguez-Gandía M, Bocciolone M, Miozzo M, Montano N, Braun N, Sacchi N, Martínez N, Özer O, Palmieri O, Faverio P, Preatoni P, Bonfanti P, Omodei P, Tentorio P, Castro P, Rodrigues PM, Blandino Ortiz A, de Cid R, Ferrer R, Gualtierotti R, Nieto R, Goerg S, Badalamenti S, Marsal S, Matullo G, Pelusi S, Juzenas S, Aliberti S, Monzani V, Moreno V, Wesse T, Lenz TL, Pumarola T, Rimoldi V, Bosari S, Albrecht W, Peter W, Romero-Gómez M, D'Amato M, Duga S, Banales JM, Hov JR, Folseraas T, Valenti L, Franke A, Karlsen TH. Genomewide Association Study of Severe Covid-19 with Respiratory Failure. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 1522-1534 [PMID: 32558485 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2020283]
- 35 Mills MC, Rahal C. A scientometric review of genome-wide association studies. Commun Biol 2019; 2: 9 [PMID: 30623105 DOI: 10.1038/s42003-018-0261-x]
- Battle A, Montgomery SB. Determining causality and consequence of expression quantitative trait -36 loci. Hum Genet 2014; 133: 727-735 [PMID: 24770875 DOI: 10.1007/s00439-014-1446-0]
- Glubb DM, Dholakia N, Innocenti F. Liver expression quantitative trait loci: a foundation for 37 pharmacogenomic research. Front Genet 2012; 3: 153 [PMID: 22912647 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2012.00153]
- Nica AC, Dermitzakis ET. Expression quantitative trait loci: present and future. Philos Trans R Soc 38 Lond B Biol Sci 2013; 368: 20120362 [PMID: 23650636 DOI: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0362]
- 39 Ku CS, Naidoo N, Pawitan Y. Revisiting Mendelian disorders through exome sequencing. Hum Genet 2011; 129: 351-370 [PMID: 21331778 DOI: 10.1007/s00439-011-0964-2]



- Köser CU, Bryant JM, Becq J, Török ME, Ellington MJ, Marti-Renom MA, Carmichael AJ, Parkhill 40 J, Smith GP, Peacock SJ. Whole-genome sequencing for rapid susceptibility testing of M. tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 2013; 369: 290-292 [PMID: 23863072 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc1215305]
- 41 Zhang Y, Li S, Abyzov A, Gerstein MB. Landscape and variation of novel retroduplications in 26 human populations. PLoS Comput Biol 2017; 13: e1005567 [PMID: 28662076 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005567]
- Rabbani B, Tekin M, Mahdieh N. The promise of whole-exome sequencing in medical genetics. J 42 Hum Genet 2014; 59: 5-15 [PMID: 24196381 DOI: 10.1038/jhg.2013.114]
- 43 Tang F, Barbacioru C, Wang Y, Nordman E, Lee C, Xu N, Wang X, Bodeau J, Tuch BB, Siddiqui A, Lao K, Surani MA. mRNA-Seq whole-transcriptome analysis of a single cell. Nat Methods 2009; 6: 377-382 [PMID: 19349980 DOI: 10.1038/nmeth.1315]
- 44 Kukurba KR, Montgomery SB. RNA Sequencing and Analysis. Cold Spring Harb Protoc 2015; 2015: 951-969 [PMID: 25870306 DOI: 10.1101/pdb.top084970]
- Gasperskaja E, Kučinskas V. The most common technologies and tools for functional genome 45 analysis. Acta Med Litu 2017; 24: 1-11 [PMID: 28630587 DOI: 10.6001/actamedica.v24i1.3457]
- 46 Pillai S, Chellappan SP. ChIP on chip and ChIP-Seq assays: genome-wide analysis of transcription factor binding and histone modifications. Methods Mol Biol 2015; 1288: 447-472 [PMID: 25827896 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2474-5_26]
- 47 Rhee HS, Pugh BF. ChIP-exo method for identifying genomic location of DNA-binding proteins with near-single-nucleotide accuracy. Curr Protoc Mol Biol 2012; Chapter 21: Unit 21.24 [PMID: 23026909 DOI: 10.1002/0471142727.mb2124s100]
- Jensen E. Technical review: In situ hybridization. Anat Rec (Hoboken) 2014; 297: 1349-1353 [PMID: 48 24810158 DOI: 10.1002/ar.22944]
- He SL, Green R. Northern blotting. Methods Enzymol 2013; 530: 75-87 [PMID: 24034315 DOI: 49 10.1016/B978-0-12-420037-1.00003-8
- Deepak S, Kottapalli K, Rakwal R, Oros G, Rangappa K, Iwahashi H, Masuo Y, Agrawal G. Real-50 Time PCR: Revolutionizing Detection and Expression Analysis of Genes. Curr Genomics 2007; 8: 234-251 [PMID: 18645596 DOI: 10.2174/138920207781386960]
- Bumgarner R. Overview of DNA microarrays: types, applications, and their future. Curr Protoc Mol 51 Biol 2013; Chapter 22: Unit 22.1. [PMID: 23288464 DOI: 10.1002/0471142727.mb2201s101]
- 52 Qu Y, Boutjdir M. RNase protection assay for quantifying gene expression levels. Methods Mol Biol 2007; 366: 145-158 [PMID: 17568123 DOI: 10.1007/978-1-59745-030-0 8]
- Bustin SA, Nolan T. Pitfalls of quantitative real-time reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction. 53 J Biomol Tech 2004; 15: 155-166 [PMID: 15331581]
- 54 Xu L, Wang J, Liu Y, Xie L, Su B, Mou D, Wang L, Liu T, Wang X, Zhang B, Zhao L, Hu L, Ning H, Zhang Y, Deng K, Liu L, Lu X, Zhang T, Xu J, Li C, Wu H, Deng H, Chen H. CRISPR-Edited Stem Cells in a Patient with HIV and Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 1240-1247 [PMID: 31509667 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1817426]
- 55 Wu SS, Li QC, Yin CQ, Xue W, Song CQ. Advances in CRISPR/Cas-based Gene Therapy in Human Genetic Diseases. Theranostics 2020; 10: 4374-4382 [PMID: 32292501 DOI: 10.7150/thno.43360]
- Tian X, Gu T, Patel S, Bode AM, Lee MH, Dong Z. CRISPR/Cas9 An evolving biological tool kit 56 for cancer biology and oncology. NPJ Precis Oncol 2019; 3: 8 [PMID: 30911676 DOI: 10.1038/s41698-019-0080-7
- Lu XJ, Xue HY, Ke ZP, Chen JL, Ji LJ. CRISPR-Cas9: a new and promising player in gene therapy. 57 J Med Genet 2015; 52: 289-296 [PMID: 25713109 DOI: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2014-102968]
- Cho GY, Schaefer KA, Bassuk AG, Tsang SH, Mahajan VB. CRISPR GENOME SURGERY IN 58 THE RETINA IN LIGHT OF OFF-TARGETING. Retina 2018; 38: 1443-1455 [PMID: 29746416 DOI: 10.1097/IAE.000000000002197]
- 59 Kang SH, Lee WJ, An JH, Lee JH, Kim YH, Kim H, Oh Y, Park YH, Jin YB, Jun BH, Hur JK, Kim SU, Lee SH. Prediction-based highly sensitive CRISPR off-target validation using target-specific DNA enrichment. Nat Commun 2020; 11: 3596 [PMID: 32681048 DOI: 10.1038/s41467-020-17418-8
- 60 English MA, Soenksen LR, Gayet RV, de Puig H, Angenent-Mari NM, Mao AS, Nguyen PQ, Collins JJ. Programmable CRISPR-responsive smart materials. Science 2019; 365: 780-785 [PMID: 31439791 DOI: 10.1126/science.aaw5122]
- 61 Broughton JP, Deng X, Yu G, Fasching CL, Servellita V, Singh J, Miao X, Streithorst JA, Granados A, Sotomayor-Gonzalez A, Zorn K, Gopez A, Hsu E, Gu W, Miller S, Pan CY, Guevara H, Wadford DA, Chen JS, Chiu CY. CRISPR-Cas12-based detection of SARS-CoV-2. Nat Biotechnol 2020; 38: 870-874 [PMID: 32300245 DOI: 10.1038/s41587-020-0513-4]
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. SARS-CoV-2 RNA DETECTR Assay Accelerated 62 Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) Summary SARS-COV-2 RNA Detectr Assay (UCSF Health Clinical Laboratories, UCSF Clinical Labs at China Basin). [cited 10 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/139937/download
- 63 Joung J, Ladha A, Saito M, Segel M, Bruneau R, Huang MW, Kim NG, Yu X, Li J, Walker BD, Greninger AL, Jerome KR, Gootenberg JS, Abudayyeh OO, Zhang F. Point-of-care testing for COVID-19 using SHERLOCK diagnostics. medRxiv 2020 [PMID: 32511521 DOI: 10.1101/2020.05.04.20091231
- 64 U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Instructions For Use Sherlock Tm Crispr SARS-CoV-2 kit.[cited 10 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from:



https://www.fda.gov/media/137746/download

- Matsoukas IG. Prime Editing: Genome Editing for Rare Genetic Diseases Without Double-Strand 65 Breaks or Donor DNA. Front Genet 2020; 11: 528 [PMID: 32582281 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2020.00528
- Anzalone AV, Randolph PB, Davis JR, Sousa AA, Koblan LW, Levy JM, Chen PJ, Wilson C, 66 Newby GA, Raguram A, Liu DR. Search-and-replace genome editing without double-strand breaks or donor DNA. Nature 2019; 576: 149-157 [PMID: 31634902 DOI: 10.1038/s41586-019-1711-4]
- Davies JP, Kumar S, Sastry-Dent L. Use of Zinc-Finger Nucleases for Crop Improvement. Prog Mol 67 Biol Transl Sci 2017; 149: 47-63 [PMID: 28712500 DOI: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2017.03.006]
- 68 Kim MS, Kini AG. Engineering and Application of Zinc Finger Proteins and TALEs for Biomedical Research. Mol Cells 2017; 40: 533-541 [PMID: 28835021 DOI: 10.14348/molcells.2017.0139]
- 69 Epstein BE, Schaffer DV. Combining Engineered Nucleases with Adeno-associated Viral Vectors for Therapeutic Gene Editing. Adv Exp Med Biol 2017; 1016: 29-42 [PMID: 29130152 DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-63904-8_2]
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Fact Sheet for Healthcare Providers Administering Vaccine 70 (Vaccination Providers): emergency use authorization (EUA) of the Janssen COVID-19 vaccine. [cited 10 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/clinical-considerations/managing-anaphylaxis.html
- 71 U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Joint CDC and FDA Statement on Johnson & Johnson COVID-19 Vaccine. [cited 11 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/joint-cdc-and-fda-statementjohnson-johnson-covid-19-vaccine
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA and CDC Lift Recommended Pause on Johnson & 72 Johnson (Janssen) COVID-19 Vaccine Use Following Thorough Safety Review. [cited 11 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/newsevents/press-announcements/fda-and-cdc-lift-recommended-pause-johnson-johnson-janssen-covid-19-vaccine-use-following-thorough
- 73 Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Perez JL, Pérez Marc G, Moreira ED, Zerbini C, Bailey R, Swanson KA, Roychoudhury S, Koury K, Li P, Kalina WV, Cooper D, Frenck RW Jr, Hammitt LL, Türeci Ö, Nell H, Schaefer A, Ünal S, Tresnan DB, Mather S, Dormitzer PR, Şahin U, Jansen KU, Gruber WC; C4591001 Clinical Trial Group. Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 Vaccine. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 2603-2615 [PMID: 33301246 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2034577]
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Fact Sheet for Healthcare Providers Administering Vaccine 74 (Vaccination Providers): Emergency use authorization (EUA) of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). [cited 11 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/144413/download
- 75 U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. [cited 11 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine
- Jackson LA, Anderson EJ, Rouphael NG, Roberts PC, Makhene M, Coler RN, McCullough MP, 76 Chappell JD, Denison MR, Stevens LJ, Pruijssers AJ, McDermott A, Flach B, Doria-Rose NA, Corbett KS, Morabito KM, O'Dell S, Schmidt SD, Swanson PA 2nd, Padilla M, Mascola JR, Neuzil KM, Bennett H, Sun W, Peters E, Makowski M, Albert J, Cross K, Buchanan W, Pikaart-Tautges R, Ledgerwood JE, Graham BS, Beigel JH; mRNA-1273 Study Group. An mRNA Vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 - Preliminary Report. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: 1920-1931 [PMID: 32663912 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2022483]
- 77 U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Fact Sheet for Healthcare Providers Administering Vaccine (Vaccination Providers): Emergency use authorization (EUA) of the moderna COVID-19 vaccine to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). [cited 11 December 2020]. In: U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/media/144637/download
- U. S. Food and Drug Administration. Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine. [cited 11 December 2020]. In: 78 U.S. Food and Drug Administration [Internet]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/emergencypreparedness-and-response/coronavirus-disease-2019-covid-19/moderna-covid-19-vaccine
- Liebow A, Li X, Racie T, Hettinger J, Bettencourt BR, Najafian N, Haslett P, Fitzgerald K, Holmes 79 RP, Erbe D, Querbes W, Knight J. An Investigational RNAi Therapeutic Targeting Glycolate Oxidase Reduces Oxalate Production in Models of Primary Hyperoxaluria. J Am Soc Nephrol 2017; 28: 494-503 [PMID: 27432743 DOI: 10.1681/ASN.2016030338]
- 80 Roshmi RR, Yokota T. Viltolarsen for the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Drugs Today (Barc) 2019; 55: 627-639 [PMID: 31720560 DOI: 10.1358/dot.2019.55.10.3045038]
- 81 Beyar-Katz O, Gill S. Advances in chimeric antigen receptor T cells. Curr Opin Hematol 2020; 27: 368-377 [PMID: 32925186 DOI: 10.1097/MOH.00000000000614]
- 82 Heo YA. Golodirsen: First Approval. Drugs 2020; 80: 329-333 [PMID: 32026421 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-020-01267-2]
- 83 Scott LJ. Givosiran: First Approval. Drugs 2020; 80: 335-339 [PMID: 32034693 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-020-01269-0]
- Hoy SM. Onasemnogene Abeparvovec: First Global Approval. Drugs 2019; 79: 1255-1262 [PMID: 31270752 DOI: 10.1007/s40265-019-01162-5]



- Benson MD, Waddington-Cruz M, Berk JL, Polydefkis M, Dyck PJ, Wang AK, Planté-Bordeneuve 85 V, Barroso FA, Merlini G, Obici L, Scheinberg M, Brannagan TH 3rd, Litchy WJ, Whelan C, Drachman BM, Adams D, Heitner SB, Conceição I, Schmidt HH, Vita G, Campistol JM, Gamez J, Gorevic PD, Gane E, Shah AM, Solomon SD, Monia BP, Hughes SG, Kwoh TJ, McEvoy BW, Jung SW, Baker BF, Ackermann EJ, Gertz MA, Coelho T. Inotersen Treatment for Patients with Hereditary Transthyretin Amyloidosis. N Engl J Med 2018; 379: 22-31 [PMID: 29972757 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716793]
- Riedell PA, Bishop MR. Safety and efficacy of axicabtagene ciloleucel in refractory large B-cell 86 lymphomas. Ther Adv Hematol 2020; 11: 2040620720902899 [PMID: 32064069 DOI: 10.1177/20406207209028991
- Maude SL, Laetsch TW, Buechner J, Rives S, Boyer M, Bittencourt H, Bader P, Verneris MR, 87 Stefanski HE, Myers GD, Qayed M, De Moerloose B, Hiramatsu H, Schlis K, Davis KL, Martin PL, Nemecek ER, Yanik GA, Peters C, Baruchel A, Boissel N, Mechinaud F, Balduzzi A, Krueger J, June CH, Levine BL, Wood P, Taran T, Leung M, Mueller KT, Zhang Y, Sen K, Lebwohl D, Pulsipher MA, Grupp SA. Tisagenlecleucel in Children and Young Adults with B-Cell Lymphoblastic Leukemia. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 439-448 [PMID: 29385370 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1709866]
- Chiriboga CA. Nusinersen for the treatment of spinal muscular atrophy. Expert Rev Neurother 2017; 88 17: 955-962 [PMID: 28884620 DOI: 10.1080/14737175.2017.1364159]
- 89 Lim KR, Maruyama R, Yokota T. Eteplirsen in the treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Drug Des Devel Ther 2017; 11: 533-545 [PMID: 28280301 DOI: 10.2147/DDDT.S97635]
- Bommareddy PK, Patel A, Hossain S, Kaufman HL. Talimogene Laherparepvec (T-VEC) and Other 90 Oncolytic Viruses for the Treatment of Melanoma. Am J Clin Dermatol 2017; 18: 1-15 [PMID: 27988837 DOI: 10.1007/s40257-016-0238-9]
- 91 Business Wire. Pfizer and Sangamo Announce Updated Phase 1/2 Results Showing Sustained Factor VIII Activity Levels and No Bleeding Events or Factor Usage in 3e13 vg/kg Cohort Following giroctocogene fitelparvovec (SB-525) Gene Therapy. [cited 10 December 2020]. In: Business Wire: Berkshire Hathaway Company. Available from:

https://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20200618005091/en/

- 92 Brandts J, Ray KK. Clinical implications and outcomes of the ORION Phase III trials. Future Cardiol 2020 [PMID: 33345605 DOI: 10.2217/fca-2020-0150]
- 93 Witztum JL, Gaudet D, Freedman SD, Alexander VJ, Digenio A, Williams KR, Yang Q, Hughes SG, Geary RS, Arca M, Stroes ESG, Bergeron J, Soran H, Civeira F, Hemphill L, Tsimikas S, Blom DJ, O'Dea L, Bruckert E. Volanesorsen and Triglyceride Levels in Familial Chylomicronemia Syndrome. N Engl J Med 2019; 381: 531-542 [PMID: 31390500 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1715944]
- Frangoul H, Altshuler D, Cappellini MD, Chen YS, Domm J, Eustace BK, Foell J, de la Fuente J, Grupp S, Handgretinger R, Ho TW, Kattamis A, Kernytsky A, Lekstrom-Himes J, Li AM, Locatelli F, Mapara MY, de Montalembert M, Rondelli D, Sharma A, Sheth S, Soni S, Steinberg MH, Wall D, Yen A, Corbacioglu S. CRISPR-Cas9 Gene Editing for Sickle Cell Disease and β-Thalassemia. N Engl J Med 2021; 384: 252-260 [PMID: 33283989 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2031054]



W J M

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 September 20; 11(5): 243-262

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i5.243

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

REVIEW

IgY technology: Methods for developing and evaluating avian immunoglobulins for the in vitro detection of biomolecules

Chrysoula-Evangelia Karachaliou, Vyronia Vassilakopoulou, Evangelia Livaniou

ORCID number: Chrysoula-Evangelia Karachaliou 0000-0002-0939-9009; Vyronia Vassilakopoulou 0000-0003-4843-5604; Evangelia Livaniou 0000-0003-0165-9029.

Author contributions: Karachaliou CE collected the literature articles and drafted the manuscript; Vassilakopoulou V contributed to the literature search and draft writing; Livaniou E designed the draft and edited the final paper; All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement:

Authors declare no conflict of interest for this article.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Chrysoula-Evangelia Karachaliou, Vyronia Vassilakopoulou, Evangelia Livaniou, Institute of Nuclear & Radiological Sciences & Technology, Energy & Safety, National Centre for Scientific Research "Demokritos", Athens 15310, Greece

Corresponding author: Evangelia Livaniou, PhD, Academic Research, Institute of Nuclear & Radiological Sciences & Technology, Energy & Safety, National Centre for Scientific Research "Demokritos," Agia Paraskevi, Athens 15310, Greece. livanlts@rrp.demokritos.gr

Abstract

The term "IgY technology" was introduced in the literature in the mid 1990s to describe a procedure involving immunization of avian species, mainly laying hens and consequent isolation of the polyclonal IgYs from the "immune" egg yolk (thus avoiding bleeding and animal stress). IgYs have been applied to various fields of medicine and biotechnology. The present article will deal with specific aspects of IgY technology, focusing on the currently reported methods for developing, isolating, evaluating and storing polyclonal IgYs. Other topics such as current information on isolation protocols or evaluation of IgYs from different avian species are also discussed. Specific advantages of IgY technology (e.g., novel antibody specificities that may emerge via the avian immune system) will also be discussed. Recent in vitro applications of polyclonal egg yolk-derived IgYs to the field of disease diagnosis in human and veterinary medicine through in vitro immunodetection of target biomolecules will be presented. Moreover, ethical aspects associated with animal well-being as well as new promising approaches that are relevant to the original IgY technology (e.g., development of monoclonal IgYs and IgY-like antibodies through the phage display technique or in transgenic chickens) and future prospects in the area will also be mentioned.

Key Words: Animal welfare; Polyclonal IgYs; Egg yolk; IgY technology; Relevant-to-IgYtechnology approaches; In vitro immunodetection techniques

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: IgY technology has been widely used during the last decades, especially as a means for the efficient in vitro immunodetection of biomolecules in various fields of research and disease diagnosis. Despite the very promising relevant new approaches,



Specialty type: Immunology

Country/Territory of origin: Greece

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: February 4, 2021 Peer-review started: February 4, 2021 First decision: June 7, 2021 Revised: June 10, 2021 Accepted: July 13, 2021 Article in press: July 13, 2021 Published online: September 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Neagu M S-Editor: Zhang H L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Guo X



there is still space to further exploit the original IgY technology due to functional, practical, and ethical reasons/advantages associated with the unique features of IgYs, the highly efficient isolation of large amounts of IgYs from the immune egg yolk, and the avoidance of animal bleeding, respectively.

Citation: Karachaliou CE, Vassilakopoulou V, Livaniou E. IgY technology: Methods for developing and evaluating avian immunoglobulins for the *in vitro* detection of biomolecules. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(5): 243-262

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i5/243.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i5.243

INTRODUCTION

The term "IgY technology" was introduced in the 1990s to describe a procedure consisting of immunization of birds, especially laying hens, in order to produce polyclonal antibodies of the Y class (IgYs). IgYs can be isolated in large quantities from "immune" egg yolk (thus avoiding the animal bleeding procedure, which is stressful for an animal) and has been applied to various fields of biotechnology and biomedicine[1-3]. To date, IgYs developed in poultry and isolated from the egg yolk as aforementioned have been and are still being used as specific laboratory tools, especially for detecting biomolecules in biological specimens through various *in vitro* techniques (and also as *in vivo* immunotherapeutic agents).

The origins of the IgY technology can be traced back many years, *i.e.* at the end of the 19th century, when Klemperer observed that immunized hens (Gallus domesticus) generated antibodies that were present in the egg yolk[2-4]. Subsequently, a new type of immunoglobulin was found in the blood and egg yolk of birds (also in lungfish, amphibians and reptiles), which was called IgY[3,5]. Actually, birds, which do not produce colostrum like mammalian organisms do, use the yolk of their eggs as a very effective source of antibodies through which they can transfer humoral immunity to their offspring, until the latter develops fully mature immune system[6]. Transfer/accumulation of IgY from blood to/in the egg yolk, which is realized by a selective transport mechanism in avian mature oocytes and mediated by specific receptor(s)[7-9], enables the non-invasive isolation of antibodies and eliminates the need to bleed the animal. Isolation and subsequent application of egg yolk-derived antibodies minimize animal suffering and this meets at least one of the three main requirements for animal welfare, *i.e.* "Reduction," "Replacement," "Refinement," as they have been summarized in the "3Rs principle" [10]. As a consequence, in 1996 the European Centre for the Validation of Alternative Methods to animal testing (ECVAM) strongly recommended avian antibodies as alternative to mammalian ones[1]. In parallel, in the mid 1990s the term "IgY technology" was introduced in the literature, as already mentioned; in 1999, the IgY technology was approved as an alternative method for supporting animal welfare by the Veterinary Office of the Swiss Government[3].

Egg yolk is composed mainly of water, which accounts for approximately 50% of its weight, and contains many important nutrients and preservatives, since it serves the role of a protective chamber for the hen embryo. The dry weight of egg yolk is composed mostly by lipids (67%) and also proteins (33%). Egg yolk proteins are distributed between granules and plasma, in which granules are suspended. Granule proteins are divided into α - and β -lipovitellins (70%), phosvitin (16%), and low-density lipoproteins (12%), whereas plasma proteins include α -, β - and γ -livetins and low-density proteins[11]. A precursor of the major egg yolk proteins is vitellogenin, consisting of vitellogenin I (molecular weight [MW]: 260 kDa), vitellogenin II or major vitellogenin (MW: 246 kDa), and vitellogenin III (MW: 210 kDa)[12-14]. IgYs, which are the main constituent of γ -livetin, are among the most important and most abundant egg yolk proteins[11].

IgY is considered to be the functional equivalent and evolutionary precursor of mammalian IgG and probably of mammalian IgE[15]. Due to this functional and evolutionary relationship, some researchers use the term (avian) IgG instead of IgY; however, the first articles in the field have put emphasis on the distinct differences between IgG and IgY and strongly suggested use of the term IgY[5]. In addition to IgYs, there are two more avian immunoglobulin classes, avian IgM and IgA, which are

aishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

similar to mammalian IgM and IgA. Mammalian equivalents of IgE and IgD have not been found in hens[16].

Like mammalian IgG, IgY is composed of two heavy (H) and two light (L) polypeptide chains, which are organized in the Y-shaped characteristic "unit," and contains two identical binding sites for the antigen. However, the structure of IgY is actually different than that of IgG and this results in distinct properties, as well. The nucleotide sequence corresponding to the hen upsilon (" υ ") heavy chain has revealed that the molecule contains four constant and one variable Ig heavy chain domains; the additional domain (Cv2) has been conserved in mammalian IgE, but "transformed" into the flexible hinge region in mammalian IgG. As a consequence, the IgY molecule has higher molecular mass (approximately 180 kDa), than mammalian IgG (approximately 160 kDa). Moreover, the Fc part of IgY has a different carbohydrate content compared to the Fc part of IgG. An intact Fc part is necessary for the transfer of IgY from blood serum to egg yolk. In ducks an alternatively spliced form of IgY, the socalled IgY Δ Fc, is also present. This variant lacks the Fc region and is mainly found in the blood serum. Hen as well as ostrich and pigeon express only the full-length version of IgY. In some birds, including hen, duck, zebra finch and ostrich, only a single κ light-chain locus has been found. The bursa of fabricius is the site in which immature B-cells are differentiated into mature and competent B-cells, while the spleen is the organ in which plasma cells, i.e. the antibody-producing cells, proliferate and memory cells are located. IgY's heavy and light chain loci consist of single functional V, D, and J genes; in addition to the single functional V genes, there are several pseudo-V genes that lack the usual transcription-regulatory and signalrecognition sequences and are not functional. The antibody diversity in avian organisms is mainly achieved by the so-called gene conversion, through which 10 to more than 120 base pairs from not functional pseudo-genes are transferred to the functional V gene[3,16,17].

The distinct structural features of IgY offer several functional advantages to this unique immunoglobulin type, rendering IgY a versatile and invaluable *in vitro* tool in biotechnology research and in disease diagnostics. Moreover, many reports have suggested in vivo application of IgYs in various fields of immunotherapy. The advantages of IgYs include: high potential for developing specific IgYs against conserved mammalian proteins due to the evolutionary distance between mammals and birds, avoidance of activating the mammalian (including human) complement system and reaction with mammalian Fc receptors, ability to isolate substantial amounts of IgYs from immune egg yolks, and avoidance of animal bleeding, which fulfills the "refinement" ethical requirement, as already mentioned[3,18,19].

In the last several decades, more complicated technologies associated with the original IgY technology have emerged, such as the development of avian monoclonal antibodies via hybridoma and recombinant techniques, mainly through the phage display technique^[20]. Although the above antibodies are IgYs (or IgY-like) immunoglobulins and therefore have all (or part of) the consequent advantages, they are isolated from the supernatant of suitable cell cultures and are not egg yolk-derived. Thus, strictly speaking and at least in our opinion, the techniques leading to the development of monoclonal IgYs cannot be classified as a part of the original IgY technology. On the other hand, transgenic chickens^[21] have been used for the production of recombinant proteins, including recombinant antibodies (mostly human/humanized ones), which can be isolated mainly from egg white and are recommended especially for *in vivo* therapeutic applications. Though the aforementioned antibodies have not gained wide application yet and their development and evaluation are considered outside the main scope of the present article, they are considered very promising and will be briefly presented.

The present review article will focus on specific aspects of the original IgY technology, such as immunization of laying hens, isolation of the IgYs developed from the immune egg yolk and consequent immunochemical evaluation. Various recent applications of polyclonal IgYs to the *in vitro* immunodetection of various biomolecules will be also presented and discussed.

DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION OF EGG YOLK-DERIVED POLYCLO-NAL IGYS

General aspects

IgY technology has produced a large number of valuable immunochemical tools for biotechnology and medicine since the 1990s. Various parameters that are associated



with and can affect the results of the IgY technology have been reported in the literature such as housing and breeding conditions, line, age, and stage of development of the immunized birds[2,3,18,22]. Laying hens are the avian organisms of choice (e.g., White Leghorn and Rhode Island Red hens) and are used for immunization to produce polyclonal IgYs throughout their egg-laying period. Other types of poultry such as duck, goose, ostrich, and quail have been referred to in the literature, though to a lesser extent [23-26]. Normal hen lines and conventional housing, e.g., in suitable cages^[27], are usually adequate to produce IgYs for research purposes; however, when the IgYs are to be applied as human therapeutics, the use of specific pathogen-free hens is considered necessary [1,3]. Administration of specific food supplements during hens' breeding, e.g., carnitine, has been proposed in the literature as a means to improve overall yield of IgY production, but the results are often contradictory [28].

Immunizing protocols

Parameters that may influence the immune response include antigen nature and dose, use of adjuvants, route of administration, and overall immunization schedule^[3].

Both, complex antigens, e.g., whole viruses, bacteria and parasites [29-33] and individual biomolecules, e.g., large proteins[34,35], or small peptides conjugated to a suitable carrier protein, such as keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH)[36,37], have been used to stimulate development of specific IgYs in hens. Our team tried to develop IgYs against various antigens, including a recombinant protein of high molecular mass, i.e. human kallikrein-related peptidase 6[38] as well as peptides of the alpha- and betathymosin families isolated from mammalian tissues or synthetically prepared, either conjugated to KLH or not[39-41]. Moreover, we successfully developed IgYs against the olive fruit fly pheromone by using a KLH-conjugate of the synthetic hapten (±)-β-[3-(1,7-dioxaspiro[5.5]undecane)] propionic acid[27].

The antigen dose may be also critical, since too much or too little antigen can lead to an undesirable immune response^[2]. Different antigen doses have been reported in the literature. In an early study, a good immune response in hens immunized with bovine serum albumin at doses as low as 0.1-1.0 µg was reported[3]; however, higher doses ranging from 10 to 1000 µg (most often 50-100 µg) have been also used. Information on the doses administered to immunize hens has been presented in a recent review [18].

The outcome of immunization is commonly enhanced by the addition of adjuvants, though successful immunization of hens without any adjuvant has been reported in the literature[3]. Among the adjuvant preparations that have been described till now, Freund's complete adjuvant (FCA) is still considered the gold standard for generating high levels of antibodies in animals, including birds. FCA is a suspension of heatkilled and dried mycobacteria (Mycobacterium spp.) in mineral oil, which forms a depot at the injection site and slows down release of the antigen in the host organism, so that long-lasting exposure and a non-specific immune stimulation is achieved. The main problem of FCA is the severe tissue damage it causes at the injection sites, which is usually attributed to the mycobacteria it contains. Although a few studies have reported that hens can better tolerate FCA, in comparison with mammals, other studies have reported contradictory data. For this reason, Freund's incomplete adjuvant, i.e. Freund's adjuvant without mycobacteria, is commonly used for booster injections as an alternative to FCA, which is used only in the first immunization[18]. Use of other adjuvants has been also reported in IgY technology, such as the so-called, mineral-oil based Montanide adjuvant, along with oligodeoxynucleotides containing C-phosphate guanosine motifs, which are promising immunoenhancing agents[28]. Research in the area of developing new adjuvants, both highly efficient and animal welfare-friendly, is being continued.

Regarding the route of administration, several approaches have been tested. The most recommended one is the intramuscular injection (i.m.) into the breast tissues [3, 29,34,42] in multiple sites; i.m. administration in the thigh muscle has been also used but according to some reports it may cause lameness and has to be avoided[18]. Subcutaneous (s.c.) immunization in the neck has also been used by several research teams including our team[27,38,39]. As reported, i.m. immunization in breast muscle is most suited especially for young hens[18]. The intravenous (i.v.) route has been very rarely used, without adjuvants and at a very slow injection rate. The intraperitoneal (i.p.) route, which Klemperer has followed in his pioneer work, is hardly used these days. Efforts to immunize hens orally have been also reported[3,30,43].

The interval between the first and second (i.e. first booster) immunization is considered a critical parameter in hen immunization protocols. Age of hens when first immunized might also be an issue. However, literature information on these specific parameters substantially varies. A general recommendation is to administer a booster immunization when the IgY titer reaches a plateau or begins to decrease[44]. If a



substantial decrease in the antibody titer has been observed, further immunizations can be performed during the entire laying period, which lasts about 72 wk^[22], to keep the antibody titer adequately high for as long as possible, in many cases for more than 150 d[18]. As presented in a previous review[3], some immunization protocols have recommended antigen administration at days 0, 14 and 28, or once a week for 7 consecutive weeks, or at day 0, week 10, and week 15. Other protocols propose hen immunization at 10-d intervals, but in most cases, the interval between the first and second immunization is at least 4 wk, while another protocol has reported achievement of a high antibody titer by prolonging the boost interval from 14 to 42 d. Intervals among booster injections also vary, averaging 2 wk[3]. Our team has mainly used 3-mo-old hens for immunization; the first booster was administered 2 wk after first immunization, while several further injections were given, mostly at 4 wkintervals^[27].

In general, eggs are collected weekly, starting 1 wk prior to the first immunization (pre-immune eggs), eggshells are washed or sanitized with 70% ethanol, and stored at 4°C until further processed for IgY isolation. Lyophilization of egg yolk has also been reported, resulting in an easy-to-mix egg yolk powder with an extended shelf-life[45].

Immunization with plasmids: "DNA-designed" IgYs

Apart from the conventional administration of antigen along with adjuvant, the socalled genetic immunization has also been applied to the production of polyclonal IgYs in avian species[46]. In this context, avian organisms have been immunized with plasmid vectors encoding target eukaryotic antigens, e.g., bovine interferon gamma protein[47], prokaryotic antigens, e.g., Botulinum toxin A1[48], as well as viral ones, e.g., antigens from Andes virus[23]; in almost all cases, antibodies Y of desired immunochemical characteristics have been developed. A great deal of effort has been put forth to improve DNA-vaccine delivery, and consequently, immunogenicity. The 'gene gun" method has garnered much attention, since low doses of DNA applied via a gene gun can efficiently induce high antibody titers against the antigen encoded[49]. Although DNA immunization is a promising approach, which prevents costly and tedious preparation of purified antigens or presence of adjuvants in the immunization mixture, it has not yet gained wide application.

Isolation of IgYs from the egg yolk

Hen eggs are an excellent source of high amounts of antibodies[19]. An average hen can lay roughly 325 eggs a year. Given that according to the literature an egg can produce 60-150 mg[50], or 40-80 mg total IgY per egg yolk depending on the hen's age [22], one hen can roughly produce 20-40 g of antibodies a year, with 1%-2% up to 10% of the antibodies being antigen-specific[18,51], which is much higher than that obtained from mammalian sources[11].

Isolation of IgYs from the "immune" egg yolk in pure form is a challenging task. Several protocols have been described, with different characteristics in terms of total yield, purity, duration, convenience, and cost[42]. IgYs account for about 3%-5% of the egg yolk proteins, which are dispersed in a lipid emulsion combined with lipoproteins and glycoproteins. Consequently, in most cases, IgY isolation involves, first, removal of lipids to form a water-soluble fraction ("de-lipidation" step), and then precipitation of the antibodies that are present in the water- soluble fraction with various approaches[3,18].

The most commonly used de-lipidation technique is the "acidified water dilution method" [52], using 6- to 10-fold dilution of egg yolk in water at pH ~5, incubation for several hours at 4°C and then centrifugation, at the end of which the lipid portion is precipitated and the water-soluble portion is collected in the supernatant. Alternatively, lipid removal has been successfully performed by means of organic solvents (chloroform, acetone, isopropanol)[53,54], acids (caprylic acid, trichloroacetic acid)[55] or natural gums (polyanionic polysaccharides, e.g., xanthans)[56]. A de-lipidation solution containing polysaccharides (such as pectin, λ -carrageenan, carboxymethylcellulose, methylcellulose, and dextran sulfate) has been also reported[57].

After de-lipidation, various IgY extraction methods that can be applied either to laboratory- or to large-scale production have appeared in the literature; these methods can be divided into three main groups, i.e. precipitation, chromatographic and filtration methods.

Precipitation methods, involving precipitation of IgYs with saturated salt solutions, such as ammonium sulfate, sodium sulfate or sodium chloride[58,59], polyethylene glycol (PEG)[60], caprylic acid[61,62] and carrageenan[63]. PEG precipitation usually involves, first, dilution of egg yolk in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) containing PEG 6000 at low concentration (3.5%), to facilitate de-lipidation. After centrifugation, the



supernatant is treated with 8.5% and then with 12% PEG 6000 to precipitate IgYs[30]. Among the above methods, ammonium sulfate precipitation is considered one of the best choices for the scale-up purification of IgY[11], with most suitable concentration of ammonium sulfate being 20%[55]. Extracted IgY samples usually undergo a final dialysis step, usually against PBS, to eliminate residual salts from the extraction procedure.

Chromatographic methods include low-pressure chromatography[30], ion exchange chromatography[52,59], highresolution chromatography through multicolumn systems[64] and affinity chromatography[65]. Conventional affinity chromatographic methods using protein A or protein G columns cannot be performed for IgY purification, since IgYs, contrary to IgGs, do not bind to protein A or G[66]. Other types of ligands are therefore required, such as the elastin-like polypeptide-tagged immunoglobulin-binding domain of streptococcal protein G[67]. Still other ligands, such as IgY-binding peptides screened from a random peptide library, have been also proposed as a means of IgY purification[68]. IgY can also be purified with thiophilic adsorption chromatography, usually through commercially available IgY-extraction columns[18,69]. However, chromatographic techniques are generally expensive and impractical for the large-scale production of antibodies, while they have not proven to substantially increase purity of the final product when compared with simple precipitation methods, such as ammonium sulfate precipitation.

Filtration methods, such as ultrafiltration[52,70], have also been used as IgY extraction methods.

As reported, a combination of the aforementioned methods, *e.g.*, a combination of PEG precipitation with affinity chromatography[22] or ammonium sulfate precipitation with ion exchange chromatography[59], can further increase the purity of the IgY preparation. Moreover, sequential precipitation with 31% ammonium sulfate and 12% PEG resulted in IgY antibodies of more than 95% purity without any loss in immunoreactivity[64].

Despite the numerous protocols described in the literature, the most popular isolation strategy of IgYs from immune eggs involves a de-lipidation step, in which IgY is extracted in the supernatant after treating the egg yolk with 10 volumes of acidic water and a subsequent precipitation step, in which IgY precipitates with ammonium sulfate or PEG, at suitable concentrations[30].

Storage

According to the literature, after their isolation, IgYs can be stored for long periods (from a few months to a few years), preferably at -20 °C[22,71], since they are considered reasonably stable biomolecules, like mammalian IgGs[72]. IgY is stable at pH 4-9 and up to 65 °C in aqueous solutions. The addition of stabilizing reagents or high concentrations of salts can further increase resistance of the IgY molecule; e.g., heat stability could be increased up to 70 °C by the addition of sugars, such as 30% sucrose, trehalose or lactose^[3]. Useful information concerning earlier findings on the stability and storage conditions of IgYs has appeared in recent review articles^[73]. Freeze-drying has been used to facilitate long storage of IgYs^[74], though some researchers have reported that freeze-drying may lead to some loss of antigen-binding activity of IgY[45]. Lyophilization of proteins, including IgYs, induces freezing and dehydration stresses, which may result in protein structural changes or even unfolding [75]. Therefore, the addition of cryoprotectants and lyoprotectants has been recommended to protect IgYs during lyophilization[45]. Our team has recently evaluated IgYs that were developed against a KLH-conjugate of the polypeptide prothymosin alpha many years ago and kept as lyophilized powder at -30 °C. As revealed, the IgYs have kept immunoreactivity and were successfully applied to a specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for prothymosin alpha^[76].

Evaluation of egg yolk IgYs

Protein concentration: Determination of protein concentration in IgY extracts is usually performed before proceeding to further IgY evaluation. Total protein concentration in IgY extracts has been determined mainly with the Bradford method (indicative references[30,34,35,38,42]), the Lowry method[58] and the bicinchoninic acid protein assay[77]. In addition, protein concentration was assessed with ultraviolet absorption at 280 nm, according to the Lambert-Beer law (indicative references[29,32, 33,57,76]).

Purity: Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) is considered the gold standard technique and has been widely used to assess the purity of the egg yolk-isolated IgYs (indicative references[30,33,34,62,78]). SDS-PAGE



separation under non-reducing or reducing conditions would reveal one or two protein bands, the latter corresponding to heavy and light IgY chains.

Western blotting has been used complementarily with SDS-PAGE to confirm the presence and assess purity of IgYs isolated from immune egg yolks (indicative references[31,33,62,78]). Visualization of the specific protein bands is performed mainly through a color or chemiluminescence development.

In a few cases, additional analytical methods such as high-performance liquid chromatography^[57] have also been used to evaluate the purity of IgYs.

Immunoreactivity: The immunoreactivity of egg yolk-derived IgYs is evaluated with well-established immunochemical methods such as dot-blot and ELISA. Dot-blot can be actually considered as a simplified form of ELISA offering mostly qualitative results. Nevertheless, it is a fast, easy, and low-cost technique that may provide useful information and has, therefore, been used by several researchers to evaluate immunoreactivity of IgYs[32,34,36,39,76]. In most cases, however, evaluation of IgY immunoreactivity involves determination of titer against the target antigen through non-competitive ELISAs (indicative references[32,35,45,76,78]). Moreover, other immunochemical characteristics of the isolated IgYs are assessed, such as putative references[31,36,39]). It should be noted that till now and despite the numerous new technologies introduced in the field, ELISA remains the gold standard method for evaluating the basic immunological characteristics of any antibody developed, independently of the antibody class or the production method.

IN VITRO APPLICATION OF EGG YOLK-DERIVED POLYCLONAL IGYS TO THE DETECTION OF BIOMOLECULES

IgY is considered an excellent tool especially for developing in vitro methods to detect biomolecules of interest in biological specimens for a series of reasons. First, the evolutionary distance between mammals and birds may facilitate generation of specific IgYs against conserved mammalian proteins, since avian organisms possess a different antibody repertoire than that of mammals and the epitope spectrum of avian antibodies is potentially larger/different than that of mammalian IgGs including novel specificities[19,64]. Second, IgY does not activate the mammalian (including human) complement system and does not react with mammalian Fc receptors; this feature has rendered IgYs an ideal in vitro reagent, especially for immunoassays designed to detect biomolecules in human blood serum[64]. Third, substantial amounts of IgY can be isolated from egg yolks; as already mentioned (isolation of IgYs from the egg yolks), one hen can produce 20-40 g of IgY in 1 year, 1%-10% of which is antigen-specific. This advantage of egg yolk IgY is accompanied by other practical superiorities, such as low animal care cost, ease of isolation of antibodies from the egg yolk with simple biochemical methods and overall low production cost^[73]. These advantages along with the large-scale facilities currently available render production of egg yolk-derived IgYs, a technically feasible and efficient procedure at industrial level. Some other positive characteristics of IgYs have been reported in the literature, e.g., they can be developed even when hens are immunized with very small amounts of the corresponding antigens[64,71] or that they show higher specificity, binding affinity, and avidity for their targets in comparison with mammalian IgGs[38,73], although other reports have shown controversial data[3]. Last but not least, in the list of IgY advantages is that use of egg yolk IgYs is especially desirable from an ethical aspect of view, concerning refinement of animal experimentation, as already mentioned. Some recent indicative applications of IgYs to the *in vitro* detection of biomolecules (as well as whole viruses/microorganisms) have been summarized and presented in Table 1. Lately, specific IgYs have been developed and used for the immunodiagnosis of pandemic coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19)[79], while non-specific IgY has been used to form/visualize the "control line" in point-of-care in vitro tests that detect severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) antigens[80].

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 <i>In vitr</i> o applications of polyclonal IgYs							
Target biomolecule(s)	In vitro immunochemical technique	Proposed field of application	Ref.				
Major surface antigen of <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i> (SAG1)	Latex agglutination assay	Diagnosis of Toxoplasmosis	Cakir-Koc <i>et al</i> [<mark>132</mark>], 2020				
Protein A of Staphylococcus aureus	Immunocapture PCR assay	Detection of <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> in food samples, skin and nasal swabs	Kota <i>et al</i> [<mark>133</mark>], 2020				
Peptides/proteins present in detoxified western Russell's viper venom	Paper-based microfluidic immunochromatographic test	Differential diagnosis of Russell's viper envenomation	Lin <i>et al</i> [<mark>134</mark>], 2020				
SARS-CoV-2 antigen	Fluorescence immunochromatographic rapid-antigen test	Diagnosis of COVID-19	Porte <i>et al</i> [79], 2020				
Antigens present in total saline extract of <i>Taenia crassiceps</i> metacestodes	ELISA	Detection of neurocysticercosis	daSilva <i>et al</i> [<mark>32]</mark> , 2020				
Antigens present in total saline extract of Ancylostoma ceylanicum	ELISA	Diagnosis of Hookworm infection	Souza <i>et al</i> [<mark>135</mark>], 2020				
Non-glycosylated synthetic oligopeptides of <i>Dermatophagoides</i> group I allergens	Immuno-dot blot assay (with the use of IgY-colloidal gold nanoparticles conjugates)	Detection of indoor dust mite allergens	Egea <i>et al</i> [<mark>136</mark>], 2019				
Antigens present in whole bacterial suspension of formalin- and heat- inactivated <i>Salmonella typhimurium</i> and <i>Salmonella enteritidis</i>	In vitro immunochemicaltechniques	Diagnosis of infection with Salmonella typhimurium and Salmonella enteritidis	Esmailnejad <i>et</i> al[<mark>26]</mark> , 2019				
Antigenic extracts of <i>Strongyloides</i> <i>venezuelensis</i> infectious filariform larvae and parthenogenetic females	ELISA	Diagnosis of human strongyloidiasis	deFaria <i>et al</i> [<mark>33</mark>], 2019				
Antigens present in total saline extract of <i>Ascaris suum</i> adult life forms	Tissue indirect immunofluorescence assay & ELISA	Diagnosis of human ascariasis	Lopes <i>et al</i> [<mark>31</mark>], 2019				
Free prostate specific antigen	ELISA	Diagnosis of human prostate cancer	Łupicka-Słowic et al[137], 2019				
Antigens (capsid proteins VP2 & VP3) present in beta-propiolactone-inactivated enterovirus 71	Fluorescence sensor assay	Diagnosis of hand-foot-and-mouth disease caused by enterovirus 71 infection	Nie <i>et al</i> [<mark>138</mark>], 2019				
Fusarium verticillioides 97K exoantigen	ELISA	Detection of <i>Fusarium verticillioides</i> (and prediction of fumonisin contamination) in poultry feed	Omori <i>et al</i> [<mark>139</mark>], 2019				
Recombinant purified catalytic domain of Karilysin	ELISA	Evaluation of karilysin (<i>i.e.</i> an enzyme secreted by the periontopathogen <i>Tannerella forsythia</i>) as a biomarker for the diagnosis of periodontitis	Skottrup <i>et al</i> [<mark>34]</mark> , 2019				
Fumonisin B1	Lateral flow immunoassay	Detection of fumonisin B1 and fumonisin B2 in maize	Tran <i>et al</i> [<mark>140</mark>], 2019				
Synthetic extracellular peptide of matrix-2 protein of influenza A virus, conserved in all strains	Latex agglutination assay	Diagnosis of infection with Influenza A virus	Budama-Kilinc et al[141], 2018				
Sulfamethazine (SMZ)	ELISA, FPIA	Detection of veterinary drug residues (SMZ) in milk	Liang <i>et al</i> [<mark>142</mark>], 2018				
Native calf adenosine deaminase (ADA)	ELISA	Evaluation of ADA as a cancer biomarker	Łupicka-Słowic et al[143], 2018				
Nucleoprotein of influenza A virus	Immunocytochemistry, Immunohistochemistry	Diagnosis of infection with influenza A virus	da Silva <i>et al</i> [<mark>144</mark>], 2018				

ADA: Adenosine deaminase; COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019; ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; FPIA: Fluorescence polarization immunoassay; PCR: Polymerase chain reaction; SAG1: Surface antigen 1 of Toxoplasma gondii; SARS-CoV-2: Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SMZ: Sulfamethazine.

RELEVANT APPROACHES AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Monoclonal IgYs

Since the late 1980s many efforts have been directed toward development and use of avian monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) for research, diagnostic, and therapeutic purposes, because avian mAbs may combine the advantages of avian immuno-



Baishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

globulins with those of monoclonality, i.e. precise characterization and continuous production. Initially, several technical difficulties have emerged; even after technical problems have been addressed and avian mAbs have been produced by hybridomas [81,82], the hybridoma technology has not gained wide application, because it is considered a complex, time-consuming and low-yield process by many researchers. By contrast, antibody-engineering methods proved to be the most frequently techniques used for the production of chicken mAbs. Actually, chicken provides an ideal basis for generating large immune antibody fragment libraries as compared to most mammalian species. In chickens, the large and diverse antibody repertoire is generated by gene conversion, in which segments from non-functional V pseudogenes located upstream are inserted into the rearranged gene, and somatic hypermutation. Since gene conversion has not been observed at the 5'- and 3'-ends of the rearranged gene, it is possible to perform real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of the V-region repertoire with a single pair of primers[20,72]. Of the various recombinant antibody fragments, the full-length single-chain variable fragment (scFv) is the most commonly used. For construction of the scFv antibody library, total RNA is isolated from the spleen cells of immunized or non-immunized chicken and reversetranscribed into cDNA. Then the variable heavy and light chain domain genes of immunoglobulin antibody cDNA are amplified by PCR and properly assembled to form the full-length scFv fragments, which resemble a functional Fv region. Then the scFv genes are cloned into suitable vectors to construct an antibody-expressing library [83]. Currently, phage display systems are the most often applied recombinant methods for generation and isolation of chicken mAbs[83,84]. In phage display methods, genetically-engineered phages that are capable of displaying recombinant fragments of antibodies on their coat surface can undergo several rounds of biopanning and re-propagation in Escherichia coli to enrich for clones exhibiting specific binding. Many IgY-scFv were produced with the phage display method combined with in vitro selection technologies, either by research groups[84-87] or companies that provide custom services for the development of monoclonal antibodies Y[88,89]. Among recent technologies reported for producing and isolating monoclonal IgYs is the gel encapsulated microenvironment assay, which is capable of "crossexamining" the entire population of splenic B cells from immunized chickens[90]. In an effort to produce mAbs suitable for *in vivo* administration in immunotherapy, the highly immunogenic constant region of chicken IgYs has been replaced with that of human to generate chicken-human chimeric antibodies[91]. Moreover, humanization of chicken scFvs has been successfully performed using the complementaritydetermining region (CDR)-grafting strategy, which replaces human CDRs with chicken CDRs while retaining the human framework region residues, and followed by further optimization when necessary [92,93]. On the other hand, chimeric chickenmouse or mouse-chicken recombinant mAbs have been produced and their characteristics have been studied[94,95].

Antibodies produced by genetically modified chickens (transgenic chickens)

Over the last decades, significant progress was made in generating recombinant proteins, including mAbs for therapeutic applications, in genetically modified chickens[21,96]. Difficulties in generating modified chickens are mainly attributed to the complex structure of the chicken zygote and the different organization of the chick embryo in comparison to mammals. To successfully generate genetically modified chickens, different methods have been used to achieve stable genomic integration of transgenes and the highest efficiency of germline transmission[97], including direct DNA microinjection into the chicken zygote[98] and use of viral vectors for gene transfer, which is the first applied and considered one of the most successful methods. Thus, the first genetically modified chicken was generated by the insertion of retroviral foreign DNA delivered by avian leukosis virus successfully integrated to the germline[99]. Since then, various viral vectors have been used to generate transgenic chickens for the production of recombinant proteins[100-102] including mAbs[103]. Among these, lentiviral vectors have been reported to offer specific advantages, including ability to transduce dividing and non-dividing cells, a relatively large transgene capacity and the apparent resistance of transduced cells to gene silencing [104]. Lentiviral vectors have been used to introduce transgene constructs comprising suitable sequences from the ovalbumin gene to direct synthesis of associated proteins to oviduct[105]. Despite the fact that the use of viral vectors improves germline transmission, the size limitation of the transgene and the lack of possibility of precise edits remain as drawbacks. One of the most effective approaches to produce transgenic chickens is the *in vitro* transfection of avian cell lines, such as primordial germ cells (PGCs) and embryonic stem cells (ES), the clonal selection and reinsertion



into the embryo leading to fully transgenic progeny in the next generation [106-108]. Following this approach, production of human mAbs in the egg white of chimeric transgenic chickens with the use of genetically modified ES cells carrying ovalbumin expression vectors was successfully performed for the first time; however, although a high amount of functional mAb was produced in the egg white, no transgenic offspring were initially obtained [107]. Heritable transgenic chickens capable of producing mAbs in their egg whites were generated using transfected PGCs with a gene construct designed to express the mAb in chicken oviduct magnum [108]. Specific gene editing of PGCs could be improved using genome-editing tools, such as transcriptional activator-like effector nucleases[109] and the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats-associated protein 9 system (CRISPR/Cas9 system)[110,111]. CRISPR/Cas9 has been used to generate transgenic chickens for the production of recombinant proteins in the white egg[111], including mAbs[112], or exhibiting resistance to pathogens[113]. Another recent promising approach is the replacement of the chicken immunoglobulin variable regions by human V regions and use of synthetic pseudogene arrays in order to produce affinity matured antibodies in transgenic chickens, called OmniChickens; OmniChicken can thus generate antibodies of basically human sequence, which retain the epitope repertoire of chicken immunoglobulins[114].

DISCUSSION

IgY technology has produced a great number of valuable immunochemical tools for biotechnology and medicine since 1990's. Various parameters that are associated with and can affect the results of the IgY technology have been reported in the literature, such as the immunization procedure. One of the most important parameters is the extraction/purification protocol used for isolating the IgYs from the egg yolk. Several methods of isolation and purification of IgYs from "immune" egg yolks have been reported, as already mentioned; the choice of a specific method depends on several criteria, such as desired yield, purity and final application of the IgYs along with cost and scale of extraction. The most popular isolation strategy consists in a de-lipidation step, in which IgY is extracted in the supernatant after treating the egg yolk with 10 volumes of acidic water, and a subsequent precipitation step, in which IgY precipitates with ammonium sulfate or with PEG, at suitable concentrations[30].

Our team have used the acidified water dilution method followed by precipitation with 19% sodium sulfate^[39] or with 8.5% and 12% PEG 6000^[27] for the isolation of IgYs from immune egg yolks. SDS-PAGE and western blot analysis of IgYs isolated with sodium sulfate precipitation has revealed a protein impurity with MW of ~35 kDa, which underwent liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry analysis and was proposed to be identical with the C-terminal fragment of vitellogenin II precursor protein[39]. The same impurity was also observed by other researchers, who had followed a different isolation protocol involving precipitation with PEG 6000[22]. As later shown[115,116], IgY from hen egg yolk occurs as a complex with peptides, named yolkin, which exhibit immunoregulatory and other biological activity. Yolkin contains several peptides with an apparent molecular weight ranging between 1 and 35 kDa. As reported, purified yolkin constituents are homologous with some fragments of the C-terminal region of vitellogenin II; more specifically, yolkin fractions of MW > 16 kDa are glycoproteins corresponding to the amino acid sequence of vitellogenin II starting at position 1572 aa[12,117]. In our hands, presence of the above impurity did not seem to interfere with the efficiency of IgYs as specific in vitro immune reagents.

As already mentioned, egg yolk IgYs have been thought to be superior to mammalian IgGs for in vitro applications. The in vitro efficiency of IgYs may be questioned only under rare conditions, e.g., due to the putative presence of anti-hen antibodies in biological samples of specific individuals who have been sensitized to hen egg yolk[72]; however, to what extent IgY-specific antibodies may occur in human individuals remains to be clarified. Exempt from the aforementioned few concerns, IgYs are considered ideal and are being continuously developed and used as invaluable in vitro laboratory tools up to now (Table 1).

One of the great advantages of the IgY technology is the enhanced probability of generating specific IgYs against conserved mammalian proteins, since hens may exhibit a different antibody repertoire than that of mammalian organisms. With this in mind, our team has immunized hens against the poorly immunogenic, highly conserved polypeptide prothymosin alpha (ProTa, MW: approximately 12 kDa,



isolated from bovine thymus). The anti-ProT α antibodies Y were isolated from the egg yolk and evaluated through dot-blot and ELISA experiments in parallel with antibodies G isolated from the antiserum of rabbits immunized against the same immunogen. As revealed, not only antibodies G, but also antibodies Y showed hardly detectable titer/affinity for $ProT\alpha$ [39]. The above negative result may be attributed to the fact that $ProT\alpha$ is thought to be highly conserved during evolution and $ProT\alpha$ homologues have been reported in non-mammalian organisms as well^[76,118]. Similarly, hens were immunized against the highly conserved polypeptide thymosin beta4 (T β 4, MW: ~5 kDa, synthetic), either conjugated to KLH (T β 4/KLH) or nonconjugated, leading to IgYs of either relatively high titer or, on the contrary, notdetectable titer, respectively^[41]. Interestingly, antibodies Y that we developed against a KLH-conjugate of ProT α (anti-ProT α /KLH IgYs) showed high titer and practically no cross-reactivity with a series of $ProT\alpha$ -fragments, including the N-terminal fragment $ProT\alpha[1-28]$ (also known as $T\alpha 1$), being therefore highly specific for wholelength ProT α , while the corresponding anti-ProT α /KLH rabbit IgGs did cross-react with Ta1[76]. Moreover, when various synthetic fragments of ProTa or T β 4 were conjugated to KLH and used for immunizing hens and rabbits, the results revealed that specific antibodies Y of hardly detectable titer were obtained; on the contrary, rabbit immunization with the same immunogens led to high-titer antibodies G, specific for ProTα or Tβ4, respectively[39,41]. The above results support the assumption that novel antibody specificities may emerge via the avian immune system and can be obtained through the IgY technology.

Although IgYs for research applications are mainly produced in hens, other birds have also served this purpose, as already mentioned, including duck[23,119], goose [24], quail[26] and ostrich[25], following immunization and isolation protocols similar to those used for hens[18]. Quail, ostrich and other avian species may provide further advantages in the field of IgY technology, such as convenient housing and breeding conditions (quail[26]) or exceptionally high amounts of IgYs obtained (ostrich[25]). Previously, our team has isolated immunoglobulins Y from the egg yolk of several avian species, including ostrich (Struthio camelus) and quail (Coturnix japonica); the isolation protocol has been developed in-house and based on the acidified water dilution and the PEG precipitation method. Ostrich and quail immunoglobulins Y were characterized in terms of their molecular weight (SDS-PAGE and westernblotting) and their ability to recognize and bind to a commercially available horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled rabbit anti-hen IgY antibody in an ELISA system[120]. As revealed, the ostrich IgYs could be hardly recognized by the HRPlabeled anti-hen antibody we used, though other researchers reported successful use of commercially available secondary anti-hen antibodies to assess the immunochemical efficiency of specific ostrich IgYs[121]. On the other hand, HRP-labeled secondary anti-ostrich-IgY antibodies have been specially developed and used to evaluate ostrich IgYs with ELISA[25]. According to experimental results of ours[120] and others' [26,122], the quail IgYs could be recognized by the HRP-labeled secondary anti-hen antibody, which indicates that quail and hen IgYs may share at least some homology in immunochemically important structural features[123,124]. Wide availability of secondary antibodies for IgYs originated from avian species other than hens will support further expansion of the IgY technology.

In addition to their unequivocal usefulness as in *vitro* immunodetection reagents, IgYs have been proposed as promising *in vivo* therapeutics, *e.g.*, as an alternative to antibiotics treatment against multi-drug resistant or difficult-to-treat pathogens, since they exhibit in vivo pathogen-neutralizing activity, especially in mouth, throat, the respiratory tract and lungs^[73]. Moreover, since IgYs are not absorbed by the gastrointestinal tube, they have been proposed as perorally administered immunotherapeutics against various viral, bacterial, and fungal infections of the gastro-intestinal tract, especially in veterinary medicine and fish-cultivation[3]; a limitation in wide therapeutic application of perorally administered IgYs is their reduced stability at low pH[72] and several efforts have been made to address this shortcoming. IgYs have been also proposed as locally administered immunotherapeutics for treating skin and other local infections[3]. Lately, specific IgYs have been developed and used for treatment of the pandemic COVID-19[35,64,66,125]. Overall, despite the new promising technologies emerged, literature on the IgY technology continues to expand, encompassing various applications ranging from in vitro immunodetection of biomolecules and *in vitro* immunodiagnostics to *in vivo* immunotherapeutics[18,126].

Though development of monoclonal IgYs cannot be considered as a part of the original "IgY technology", it seems very attractive and will probably be the next big step in the area, since it combines the advantages of mAbs with those of avian IgYs. At the initial phase, production of chicken mAbs had to overcome several technical



Figure 1 Schematic representation of the main parts comprising the original immunoglobulin Y technology (central axis); promising relevant approaches are also shown (periphery, left and right).

difficulties, including lack of appropriate fusion partners and loss of antibody secreting ability by the hybridoma cells over time[81]; this has been successfully addressed when monoclonal IgYs were generated through combinatorial antibody libraries *via* the phage display methodology[127]. Thus, over the past years, avian libraries have been constructed and several reports on the isolation of avian-derived antibody fragments have been published[20]. The different spectrum of epitopes recognized by the avian immune system may facilitate the development of novel diagnostics, *e.g.*, through targeting highly conserved mammalian proteins, while monoclonality may especially facilitate the development of novel therapeutics for human use, provided that the technology of chimeric avian/human fusions could be fully exploited. One should also keep in mind that recombinant technologies can lead to the generation of monoclonal IgY or IgY-like antibodies circumventing the need for animal immunization[72,83], which is desirable from an ethical point of view concerning the animal welfare.

It is important to remind that the IgY technology was introduced in 1990's as an alternative that could at least partly fulfil the ethics requirements set by the 3Rs principle[1,3]. Recently, the European Union Reference Laboratory for Alternatives to Animal Testing (EURL ECVAM) has recommended that "animals should not be used for the development and production of antibodies for research, regulatory, diagnostic and therapeutic applications any longer", taking into account the Opinion of the EURL ECVAM Scientific Advisory Committee (ESAC) on the scientific validity of replacements for animal-derived antibodies [128]. As referred to by the ESAC, the 2018 Nobel Prize in Chemistry was awarded "for the phage display of peptides and antibodies" [129,130], which, according to the Committee, proves maturity and supports wide application and full exploitation of the phage display technology in the area of antibody production. The EURL ECVAM recommendation may accelerate transformation/switch of the original IgY technology toward development of monoclonal IgYs through phage display techniques that totally avoid the animal immunization step. Total avoidance of animal immunization will further minimize the risk of zoonotic diseases, which is very low but still present when antibodies are produced in chickens, both wild and transgenic.

HIGHLIGHTS

The avian polyclonal antibodies/IgYs have unique and highly desirable functional features.

The term "IgY technology" describes the procedure involving immunization of avian species, consequent isolation of the polyclonal IgYs from the "immune" egg yolk (thus avoiding bleeding and animal stress) and application of the IgYs to various areas of medicine and biotechnology.

During the last decades the IgY technology has been widely used, especially as a means for the efficient in vitro immunodetection of biomolecules in many fields of research and disease diagnosis.

Despite the very promising relevant new approaches, there is still space for further exploiting the original IgY technology, due to specific functional, practical and ethical reasons and/or advantages.

CONCLUSION

Until now, development of polyclonal IgYs through the IgY technology has been widely used as a low cost and highly efficient tool, offering a lot of advantages and thus gaining wide application mainly in the *in vitro* immunodetection of biomolecules in biological specimens. Since polyclonal antibodies exhibit some unique functional qualities[131], there is still space for performing research to improve different aspects of the IgY technology. On the other hand, the original IgY technology may "merge" with relevant highly promising approaches, eventually leading, e.g., to worldwide application of non-animal-derived recombinant IgYs or IgY-like immunoglobulins, which, among other benefits, will fulfil strict ethical requirements concerning animal welfare (Figure 1). However, until the practical problems associated with the abovementioned approaches, e.g., high-cost and/or limited availability of necessary reagents and protocols, have been fully addressed, the original IgY technology still remains a feasible, well-established procedure, in particular for low- and middle-income countries and research laboratories and especially in the field of in vitro immunodetection of biomolecules.

REFERENCES

- Schade R, Staak C, Hendriksen C, Erhard M, Hugl H, Koch G, Larsson A, Pollmann W, van Regenmortel M, Rijke E, Spielmann H, Steinbusch H, Straughan D. The production of avian (egg yolk) antibodies: IgY. The report and recommendations of ECVAM workshop 21. Altern Lab Anim 1996; 24: 925-934 [DOI: 10.1177/026119299602400607]
- Schade R, Behn I, Erhard M, Hlinak A, C Staak C. Chicken egg yolk antibodies, production and application - IgY technology. Berlin: Springer Verlag, 2001
- 3 Schade R, Calzado EG, Sarmiento R, Chacana PA, Porankiewicz-Asplund J, Terzolo HR. Chicken egg yolk antibodies (IgY-technology): a review of progress in production and use in research and



human and veterinary medicine. Altern Lab Anim 2005; 33: 129-154 [PMID: 16180988 DOI: 10.1177/026119290503300208

- 4 Klemperer F. Ÿber natörliche Immunität und ihre Verwerthung för die Immunisirungstherapie. Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol 1893; 31: 356-382
- 5 Leslie GA, Clem LW. Phylogen of immunoglobulin structure and function. 3. Immunoglobulins of the chicken. J Exp Med 1969; 130: 1337-1352 [PMID: 5352783 DOI: 10.1084/jem.130.6.1337]
- Ulmer-Franco AM, Cherian G, Quezada N, Fasenko GM, McMullen LM. Hatching egg and newly 6 hatched chick yolk sac total IgY content at 3 broiler breeder flock ages. Poult Sci 2012; 91: 758-764 [PMID: 22334753 DOI: 10.3382/ps.2011-01757]
- 7 Murai A, Hamano T, Kakiuchi M, Kobayashi M, Horio F. Evaluation of a receptor gene responsible for maternal blood IgY transfer into egg yolks using bursectomized IgY-depleted chickens. Poult Sci 2020; 99: 1914-1920 [PMID: 32241471 DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2019.11.045]
- 8 Murai A, Kakiuchi M, Hamano T, Kobayashi M, Tsudzuki M, Nakano M, Matsuda Y, Horio F. An ELISA for quantifying quail IgY and characterizing maternal IgY transfer to egg yolk in several quail strains. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2016; 175: 16-23 [PMID: 27269788 DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2016.04.013]
- 9 Hamal KR, Burgess SC, Pevzner IY, Erf GF. Maternal antibody transfer from dams to their egg yolks, egg whites, and chicks in meat lines of chickens. Poult Sci 2006; 85: 1364-1372 [PMID: 16903465 DOI: 10.1093/ps/85.8.1364]
- 10 Russell WMS, Burch RL. The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen & Co., 1959
- Huang X, Ahn DU. How Can the Value and Use of Egg Yolk Be Increased? J Food Sci 2019; 84: 11 205-212 [PMID: 30620779 DOI: 10.1111/1750-3841.14430]
- 12 Kazana W, Mitkiewicz M, Ochnik M, Sochocka M, Zambrowicz A, Piechowiak G, Macała J, Miernikiewicz P, Zabłocka A. Yolkin Isolated from Hen Egg Yolk as a Natural Immunoregulator, Activating Innate Immune Response in BMDM Macrophages. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2020; 2020: 5731021 [PMID: 32509146 DOI: 10.1155/2020/5731021]
- 13 Zambrowicz A, Dąbrowska A, Bobak Ł, Szołtysik M. Egg yolk proteins and peptides with biological activity. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 2014; 68: 1524-1529 [PMID: 25834095 DOI: 10.5604/17322693.1133600
- 14 Yamamura J, Adachi T, Aoki N, Nakajima H, Nakamura R, Matsuda T. Precursor-product relationship between chicken vitellogenin and the yolk proteins: the 40 kDa yolk plasma glycoprotein is derived from the C-terminal cysteine-rich domain of vitellogenin II. Biochim Biophys Acta 1995; 1244: 384-394 [PMID: 7599159 DOI: 10.1016/0304-4165(95)00033-8]
- 15 Taylor AI, Fabiane SM, Sutton BJ, Calvert RA. The crystal structure of an avian IgY-Fc fragment reveals conservation with both mammalian IgG and IgE. Biochemistry 2009; 48: 558-562 [PMID: 19115948 DOI: 10.1021/bi80199931
- 16 Härtle S, Magor KE, Göbel TW, Davison F, Kaspers B. Structure and evolution of avian immunoglobulins. In: Schat KA, Kaspers B, Kaiser P, editors. Avian immunology. 2nd ed. Boston: Academic Press, 2014: 103-120
- Sun Y, Wei Z, Li N, Zhao Y. A comparative overview of immunoglobulin genes and the generation 17 of their diversity in tetrapods. Dev Comp Immunol 2013; 39: 103-109 [PMID: 22366185 DOI: 10.1016/j.dci.2012.02.008
- 18 Pereira EPV, van Tilburg MF, Florean EOPT, Guedes MIF. Egg yolk antibodies (IgY) and their applications in human and veterinary health: A review. Int Immunopharmacol 2019; 73: 293-303 [PMID: 31128529 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.05.015]
- 19 Larsson A, Sjöquist J. Chicken IgY: utilizing the evolutionary difference. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 1990; 13: 199-201 [PMID: 2076606 DOI: 10.1016/0147-9571(90)90088-B]
- 20 Lee W, Syed Atif A, Tan SC, Leow CH. Insights into the chicken IgY with emphasis on the generation and applications of chicken recombinant monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol Methods 2017; 447: 71-85 [PMID: 28502720 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2017.05.001]
- Bahrami S, Amiri-Yekta A, Daneshipour A, Jazayeri SH, Mozdziak PE, Sanati MH, Gourabi H. 21 Designing A Transgenic Chicken: Applying New Approaches toward A Promising Bioreactor. Cell J 2020; 22: 133-139 [PMID: 31721526 DOI: 10.22074/cellj.2020.6738]
- Pauly D, Chacana PA, Calzado EG, Brembs B, Schade R. IgY technology: extraction of chicken 22 antibodies from egg yolk by polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation. J Vis Exp 2011 [PMID: 21559009 DOI: 10.3791/3084]
- 23 Brocato R, Josleyn M, Ballantyne J, Vial P, Hooper JW. DNA vaccine-generated duck polyclonal antibodies as a postexposure prophylactic to prevent hantavirus pulmonary syndrome (HPS). PLoS One 2012; 7: e35996 [PMID: 22558299 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035996]
- Haese N, Brocato RL, Henderson T, Nilles ML, Kwilas SA, Josleyn MD, Hammerbeck CD, Schiltz 24 J, Royals M, Ballantyne J, Hooper JW, Bradley DS. Antiviral Biologic Produced in DNA Vaccine/Goose Platform Protects Hamsters Against Hantavirus Pulmonary Syndrome When Administered Post-exposure. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2015; 9: e0003803 [PMID: 26046641 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003803
- 25 Adachi K, Handharyani E, Sari DK, Takama K, Fukuda K, Endo I, Yamamoto R, Sawa M, Tanaka M, Konishi I, Tsukamoto Y. Development of neutralization antibodies against highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza virus using ostrich (Struthio camelus) yolk. Mol Med Rep 2008; 1: 203-209 [PMID: 21479398 DOI: 10.3892/mmr.1.2.203]



- 26 Esmailnejad A, Abdi-Hachesoo B, Hosseini Nasab E, Shakoori M. Production, purification, and evaluation of quail immunoglobulin Y against Salmonella typhimurium and Salmonella enteritidis. Mol Immunol 2019; 107: 79-83 [PMID: 30665061 DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2019.01.012]
- 27 Neokosmidi A, Ragoussis V, Zikos C, Paravatou-Petsotas M, Livaniou E, Ragoussis N, Evangelatos G. Determination of natural olive fruit fly pheromone in insect samples by enzyme linked immunoassays. Talanta 2008; 74: 539-546 [PMID: 18371673 DOI: 10.1016/j.talanta.2007.06.015]
- 28 Marcq C, Marlier D, Beckers Y. Improving adjuvant systems for polyclonal egg yolk antibody (IgY) production in laying hens in terms of productivity and animal welfare. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2015; 165: 54-63 [PMID: 25813905 DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2015.02.012]
- 29 Grando TH, Baldissera MD, de Sá MF, do Carmo GM, Porto BCZ, Aguirre GSV, Azevedo MI, de Jesus FPK, Santurio JM, Sagrillo MR, Stefani LM, Monteiro SG. Avian antibodies (IgY) against Trypanosoma cruzi: Purification and characterization studies. J Immunol Methods 2017; 449: 56-61 [PMID: 28697990 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2017.07.002]
- 30 Amro WA, Al-Qaisi W, Al-Razem F. Production and purification of IgY antibodies from chicken egg yolk. J Genet Eng Biotechnol 2018; 16: 99-103 [PMID: 30647711 DOI: 10.1016/j.jgeb.2017.10.003]
- 31 Lopes CA, de Faria LS, de Sousa JEN, Borges IP, Ribeiro RP, Bueno LL, Rodrigues Ávila VM, Ferreira Júnior A, Costa-Cruz JM. Anti-Ascaris suum immunoglobulin Y as a novel biotechnological tool for the diagnosis of human ascariasis. J Helminthol 2019; 94: e71 [PMID: 31409433 DOI: 10.1017/S0022149X19000701]
- 32 Silva GBD, Faria LSD, Lopes CA, Nunes DS, Ribeiro VS, de Sousa JEN, Paiva GCM, Gonçalves-Pires MRF, Borges IP, Santos MM, Ávila VMR, Júnior ÁF, Costa-Cruz JM. Egg yolk immunoglobulin Y as a promising tool to detect immune complexes in neurocysticercosis serum samples. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2020; 114: 585-592 [PMID: 32484880 DOI: 10.1093/trstmh/traa028]
- 33 de Faria LS, de Souza DLN, Ribeiro RP, de Sousa JEN, Borges IP, Ávila VMR, Ferreira-Júnior Á, Goulart LR, Costa-Cruz JM. Highly specific and sensitive anti-Strongyloides venezuelensis IgY antibodies applied to the human strongyloidiasis immunodiagnosis. Parasitol Int 2019; 72: 101933 [PMID: 31128257 DOI: 10.1016/j.parint.2019.101933]
- 34 Skottrup PD, López R, Ksiazek M, Højrup P, Baelum V, Potempa J, Kaczmarek JZ. An IgY-based immunoassay to evaluate the biomarker potential of the Tannerella forsythia virulence factor karilysin in human saliva. J Immunol Methods 2019; 469: 26-32 [PMID: 30880264 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2019.03.003]
- 35 Lu Y, Wang Y, Zhang Z, Huang J, Yao M, Huang G, Ge Y, Zhang P, Huang H, Li H, Wang W. Generation of Chicken IgY against SARS-COV-2 Spike Protein and Epitope Mapping. J Immunol *Res* 2020; **2020**: 9465398 [PMID: 33134398 DOI: 10.1155/2020/9465398]
- 36 Grzywa R, Łupicka-Słowik A, Walczak M, Idzi M, Bobrek K, Boivin S, Gaweł A, Stefaniak T, Oleksyszyn J, Sieńczyk M. Highly sensitive detection of cancer antigen 15-3 using novel avian IgY antibodies. ALTEX 2014; 31: 43-52 [PMID: 24270753 DOI: 10.14573/altex.1309181]
- Lupicka-Slowik A, Walczak M, Grzywa R, Bobrek K, Łecka M, Boivin S, Gaweł A, Stefaniak T, 37 Oleksyszyn J, Sieńczyk M. Generation and application of polyclonal IgY antibodies specific for fulllength and nicked prostate-specific antigen. Bioanalysis 2014; 6: 3197-3213 [PMID: 25529887 DOI: 10.4155/bio.14.172]
- Sotiropoulou G, Pampalakis G, Prosnikli E, Evangelatos GP, Livaniou E. Development and 38 immunochemical evaluation of a novel chicken IgY antibody specific for KLK6. Chem Cent J 2012; 6: 148 [PMID: 23216878 DOI: 10.1186/1752-153X-6-148]
- 39 Klimentzou P, Paravatou-Petsotas M, Zikos C, Beck A, Skopeliti M, Czarnecki J, Tsitsilonis O, Voelter W, Livaniou E, Evangelatos GP. Development and immunochemical evaluation of antibodies Y for the poorly immunogenic polypeptide prothymosin alpha. Peptides 2006; 27: 183-193 [PMID: 16150512 DOI: 10.1016/j.peptides.2005.07.002]
- 40 Klimentzou P, Drougou A, Fehrenbacher B, Schaller M, Voelter W, Barbatis C, Paravatou-Petsotas M, Livaniou E. Immunocytological and preliminary immunohistochemical studies of prothymosin alpha, a human cancer-associated polypeptide, with a well-characterized polyclonal antibody. J Histochem Cytochem 2008; 56: 1023-1031 [PMID: 18711212 DOI: 10.1369/jhc.2008.950956]
- 41 Livaniou E, Paravatou-Petsotas M, Bourkoula A, Klimentzou P, Zikos C, Evangelatos GP. Development of anti-thymosin beta-4 IgY-antibodies and their preliminary application to the immunostaining of human breast cancer cells. In: Flegel M, Fridkin M, Gilon C, Slaninova J, editors. Proceedings of the 28th European Peptide Symposium; 2004 Sep 5-10; Prague, Czech Republic. Geneva: Kenes International, 2005: 1125-1126
- 42 Ren H, Yang W, Thirumalai D, Zhang X, Schade R. A comparative evaluation of six principal IgY antibody extraction methods. Altern Lab Anim 2016; 44: 11-20 [PMID: 27031600 DOI: 10.1177/026119291604400111]
- Thibodeau A, Fravalo P, Perron A, Lewandowski SL, Letellier A. Production and characterization 43 of anti-Campylobacter jejuni IgY derived from egg yolks. Acta Vet Scand 2017; 59: 80 [PMID: 29208016 DOI: 10.1186/s13028-017-0346-4]
- Leenaars M, Hendriksen CF. Critical steps in the production of polyclonal and monoclonal 44 antibodies: evaluation and recommendations. ILAR J 2005; 46: 269-279 [PMID: 15953834 DOI: 10.1093/ilar.46.3.269
- 45 Vandeputte J, Martel A, Antonissen G, Verlinden M, De Zutter L, Heyndrickx M, Haesebrouck F,



Pasmans F, Garmyn A. Research Note: Lyophilization of hyperimmune egg yolk: effect on antibody titer and protection of broilers against Campylobacter colonization. Poult Sci 2020; 99: 2157-2161 [PMID: 32241501 DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2019.11.054]

- 46 Cova L. DNA-designed avian IgY antibodies: novel tools for research, diagnostics and therapy. J Clin Virol 2005; 34 Suppl 1: S70-S74 [PMID: 16461227 DOI: 10.1016/s1386-6532(05)80013-7]
- 47 Nikbakht Brujeni G, Jalali SA, Koohi MK. Development of DNA-designed avian IgY antibodies for quantitative determination of bovine interferon-gamma. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2011; 163: 338-345 [PMID: 20652441 DOI: 10.1007/s12010-010-9042-9]
- Niederstadt L, Hohn O, Dorner BG, Schade R, Bannert N. Stimulation of IgY responses in gene 48 gun immunized laying hens by combined administration of vector DNA coding for the target antigen Botulinum toxin A1 and for avian cytokine adjuvants. J Immunol Methods 2012; 382: 58-67 [PMID: 22580181 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2012.05.005]
- 49 Witkowski PT, Bourquain DR, Hohn O, Schade R, Nitsche A. Gene gun-supported DNA immunisation of chicken for straightforward production of poxvirus-specific IgY antibodies. J Immunol Methods 2009; 341: 146-153 [PMID: 19100269 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2008.11.008]
- 50 Pauly D, Dorner M, Zhang X, Hlinak A, Dorner B, Schade R. Monitoring of laying capacity, immunoglobulin Y concentration, and antibody titer development in chickens immunized with ricin and botulinum toxins over a two-year period. Poult Sci 2009; 88: 281-290 [PMID: 19151341 DOI: 10.3382/ps.2008-00323
- Tini M, Jewell UR, Camenisch G, Chilov D, Gassmann M. Generation and application of chicken 51 egg-yolk antibodies. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 2002; 131: 569-574 [PMID: 11867282 DOI: 10.1016/s1095-6433(01)00508-6]
- 52 Akita EM, Nakai S. Comparison of four purification methods for the production of immunoglobulins from eggs laid by hens immunized with an enterotoxigenic E. coli strain. JImmunol Methods 1993; 160: 207-214 [PMID: 8459107 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(93)90179-b]
- 53 Bade H, Stegemann H. Rapid method of extraction of antibodies from hen egg yolk. J Immunol Methods 1984; 72: 421-426 [PMID: 6432912 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(84)90010-3]
- 54 Bizhanov G, Vyshniauskis G. A comparison of three methods for extracting IgY from the egg yolk of hens immunized with Sendai virus. Vet Res Commun 2000; 24: 103-113 [PMID: 10720096 DOI: 10.1023/a:1006460506303]
- Araújo AS, Lobato ZI, Chávez-Olórtegui C, Velarde DT. Brazilian IgY-Bothrops antivenom: 55 Studies on the development of a process in chicken egg yolk. Toxicon 2010; 55: 739-744 [PMID: 19925817 DOI: 10.1016/j.toxicon.2009.11.004]
- 56 Hatta H, Kim M, Yamamoto T. A novel isolation method for hen egg yolk antibody, "IgY". Agric Biol Chem 1990; 54: 2531-2535 [PMID: 1368596 DOI: 10.1271/bbb1961.54.2531]
- Tong C, Geng F, He Z, Cai Z, Ma M. A simple method for isolating chicken egg yolk 57 immunoglobulin using effective delipidation solution and ammonium sulfate. Poult Sci 2015; 94: 104-110 [PMID: 25542196 DOI: 10.3382/ps/peu005]
- 58 Lee HY, Abeyrathne ED, Choi I, Suh JW, Ahn DU. Sequential separation of immunoglobulin Y and phosvitin from chicken egg yolk without using organic solvents. Poult Sci 2014; 93: 2668-2677 [PMID: 25085938 DOI: 10.3382/ps.2014-04093]
- 59 Ko KY, Ahn DU. Preparation of immunoglobulin Y from egg yolk using ammonium sulfate precipitation and ion exchange chromatography. Poult Sci 2007; 86: 400-407 [PMID: 17234857 DOI: 10.1093/ps/86.2.400]
- Polson A, Coetzer T, Kruger J, von Maltzahn E, van der Merwe KJ. Improvements in the isolation 60 of IgY from the yolks of eggs laid by immunized hens. Immunol Invest 1985; 14: 323-327 [PMID: 4065934 DOI: 10.3109/08820138509022667]
- 61 McLaren RD, Prosser CG, Grieve RC, Borissenko M. The use of caprylic acid for the extraction of the immunoglobulin fraction from egg yolk of chickens immunised with ovine alpha-lactal bumin. JImmunol Methods 1994; 177: 175-184 [PMID: 7822824 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(94)90154-6]
- 62 Redwan EM, Aljadawi AA, Uversky VN. Simple and efficient protocol for immunoglobulin Y purification from chicken egg yolk. Poult Sci 2021; 100: 100956 [PMID: 33652537 DOI: 10.1016/j.psj.2020.12.053]
- 63 Tan SH, Mohamedali A, Kapur A, Lukjanenko L, Baker MS. A novel, cost-effective and efficient chicken egg IgY purification procedure. J Immunol Methods 2012; 380: 73-76 [PMID: 22484081 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2012.03.003]
- Constantin C, Neagu M, Diana Supeanu T, Chiurciu V, A Spandidos D. IgY turning the page 64 toward passive immunization in COVID-19 infection (Review). Exp Ther Med 2020; 20: 151-158 [PMID: 32536989 DOI: 10.3892/etm.2020.8704]
- Ntakarutimana V, Demedts P, van Sande M, Scharpé S. A simple and economical strategy for 65 downstream processing of specific antibodies to human transferrin from egg yolk. J Immunol Methods 1992; 153: 133-140 [PMID: 1517583 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(92)90315-k]
- 66 Pérez de la Lastra JM, Baca-González V, Asensio-Calavia P, González-Acosta S, MoralesdelaNuez A. Can Immunization of Hens Provide Oral-Based Therapeutics against COVID-19? Vaccines (Basel) 2020; 8 [PMID: 32872186 DOI: 10.3390/vaccines8030486]
- Xia W, Lu H, Li Y, Cao J, Zhou X, Zhang X, Xia X, Sun H. Purification of chicken IgY by binding 67 capture using elastin-like polypeptide-tagged immunoglobulin-binding domain of streptococcal protein G. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2017; 192: 13-19 [PMID: 29042010 DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2017.09.002]



- Khan KH, Himeno A, Kosugi S, Nakashima Y, Rafique A, Imamura A, Hatanaka T, Kato DI, Ito Y. 68 IgY-binding peptide screened from a random peptide library as a ligand for IgY purification. J Pept Sci 2017; 23: 790-797 [PMID: 28758361 DOI: 10.1002/psc.3027]
- 69 Hansen P, Scoble JA, Hanson B, Hoogenraad NJ. Isolation and purification of immunoglobulins from chicken eggs using thiophilic interaction chromatography. J Immunol Methods 1998; 215: 1-7 [PMID: 9744742 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-1759(98)00050-7]
- 70 Hernández-Campos FJ, Brito-De la Fuente E, Torrestiana-Sánchez B. Purification of egg yolk immunoglobulin (IgY) by ultrafiltration: effect of pH, ionic strength, and membrane properties. J Agric Food Chem 2010; 58: 187-193 [PMID: 19994898 DOI: 10.1021/jf902964s]
- Larsson A, Bålöw RM, Lindahl TL, Forsberg PO. Chicken antibodies: taking advantage of 71 evolution -- a review. Poult Sci 1993; 72: 1807-1812 [PMID: 8415358 DOI: 10.3382/ps.0721807]
- 72 Spillner E, Braren I, Greunke K, Seismann H, Blank S, du Plessis D. Avian IgY antibodies and their recombinant equivalents in research, diagnostics and therapy. Biologicals 2012; 40: 313-322 [PMID: 22748514 DOI: 10.1016/j.biologicals.2012.05.003]
- Abbas AT, El-Kafrawy SA, Sohrab SS, Azhar EIA. IgY antibodies for the immunoprophylaxis and 73 therapy of respiratory infections. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2019; 15: 264-275 [PMID: 30230944 DOI: 10.1080/21645515.2018.1514224]
- 74 Fu CY, Huang H, Wang XM, Liu YG, Wang ZG, Cui SJ, Gao HL, Li Z, Li JP, Kong XG. Preparation and evaluation of anti-SARS coronavirus IgY from yolks of immunized SPF chickens. J Virol Methods 2006; 133: 112-115 [PMID: 16325277 DOI: 10.1016/j.jviromet.2005.10.027]
- 75 Emami F, Vatanara A, Park EJ, Na DH. Drying Technologies for the Stability and Bioavailability of Biopharmaceuticals. Pharmaceutics 2018; 10 [PMID: 30126135 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics10030131]
- 76 Karachaliou CE, Kostopoulos IV, Vassilakopoulou V, Klimentzou P, Paravatou-Petsotas M, Voelter W, Kalbacher H, Zikos C, Tsitsilonis O, Livaniou E. Development of a specific IgY-based ELISA for prothymosin alpha, a bioactive polypeptide with diagnostic and therapeutic potential. Heliyon 2019; 5: e02616 [PMID: 31720448 DOI: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02616]
- 77 Yi L, Qin Z, Lin H, Zhou Y, Li J, Xu Z, Babu V S, Lin L. Features of chicken egg yolk immunoglobulin (IgY) against the infection of red-spotted grouper nervous necrosis virus. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2018; 80: 534-539 [PMID: 29906624 DOI: 10.1016/j.fsi.2018.06.024]
- Zhu Y, Ma Y, Lu M, Zhang Y, Li A, Liang X, Li J. Efficient Production of Human Norovirus-78 Specific IgY in Egg Yolks by Vaccination of Hens with a Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Expressing VP1 Protein. Viruses 2019; 11 [PMID: 31100802 DOI: 10.3390/v11050444]
- 79 Porte L, Legarraga P, Vollrath V, Aguilera X, Munita JM, Araos R, Pizarro G, Vial P, Iruretagoyena M, Dittrich S, Weitzel T. Evaluation of a novel antigen-based rapid detection test for the diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 in respiratory samples. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 99: 328-333 [PMID: 32497809 DOI: 10.1016/j.ijid.2020.05.098]
- Grant BD, Anderson CE, Williford JR, Alonzo LF, Glukhova VA, Boyle DS, Weigl BH, Nichols 80 KP. SARS-CoV-2 Coronavirus Nucleocapsid Antigen-Detecting Half-Strip Lateral Flow Assay Toward the Development of Point of Care Tests Using Commercially Available Reagents. Anal Chem 2020; 92: 11305-11309 [PMID: 32605363 DOI: 10.1021/acs.analchem.0c01975]
- Nishinaka S, Suzuki T, Matsuda H, Murata M. A new cell line for the production of chicken 81 monoclonal antibody by hybridoma technology. J Immunol Methods 1991; 139: 217-222 [PMID: 2045661 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(91)90191-h]
- 82 Matsuda H, Mitsuda H, Nakamura N, Furusawa S, Mohri S, Kitamoto T. A chicken monoclonal antibody with specificity for the N-terminal of human prion protein. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 1999; 23: 189-194 [PMID: 10219590 DOI: 10.1111/j.1574-695X.1999.tb01238.x]
- Davies EL, Smith JS, Birkett CR, Manser JM, Anderson-Dear DV, Young JR. Selection of specific 83 phage-display antibodies using libraries derived from chicken immunoglobulin genes. J Immunol Methods 1995; 186: 125-135 [PMID: 7561141 DOI: 10.1016/0022-1759(95)00143-x]
- 84 Nakamura N, Shimokawa M, Miyamoto K, Hojyo S, Horiuchi H, Furusawa S, Matsuda H. Two expression vectors for the phage-displayed chicken monoclonal antibody. J Immunol Methods 2003; 280: 157-164 [PMID: 12972196 DOI: 10.1016/s0022-1759(03)00204-7]
- 85 van Wyngaardt W, Malatji T, Mashau C, Fehrsen J, Jordaan F, Miltiadou D, du Plessis DH. A large semi-synthetic single-chain Fv phage display library based on chicken immunoglobulin genes. BMC Biotechnol 2004; 4: 6 [PMID: 15059288 DOI: 10.1186/1472-6750-4-6]
- 86 Ge S, Xu L, Li B, Zhong F, Liu X, Zhang X. Canine Parvovirus is diagnosed and neutralized by chicken IgY-scFv generated against the virus capsid protein. Vet Res 2020; 51: 110 [PMID: 32883344 DOI: 10.1186/s13567-020-00832-7]
- Lee YC, Leu SJ, Hung HC, Wu HH, Huang IJ, Hsieh WS, Chiu WT, Hsieh MS, Cheng TF, Yang 87 YY. A dominant antigenic epitope on SARS-CoV spike protein identified by an avian single-chain variable fragment (scFv)-expressing phage. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 2007; 117: 75-85 [PMID: 17360045 DOI: 10.1016/j.vetimm.2007.02.001]
- Genwaybiotech. IgY Monoclonal Antibodies. [cited 4 February 2021]. Available from: 88 https://www.genwaybio.com/technologies/igy-monoclonal-antibodies
- 89 Creative-biolabs. Chicken IgY Antibody Production. [cited 4 February 2021]. Available from: https://www.creative-biolabs.com/igY-antibody-generation.html
- 90 Mettler Izquierdo S, Varela S, Park M, Collarini EJ, Lu D, Pramanick S, Rucker J, Lopalco L,



Etches R, Harriman W. High-efficiency antibody discovery achieved with multiplexed microscopy. Microscopy (Oxf) 2016; 65: 341-352 [PMID: 27107009 DOI: 10.1093/jmicro/dfw014]

- 91 Nishibori N, Shimamoto T, Nakamura N, Shimokawa M, Horiuchi H, Furusawa S, Matsuda H. Expression vectors for chicken-human chimeric antibodies. Biologicals 2004; 32: 213-218 [PMID: 15572103 DOI: 10.1016/j.biologicals.2004.09.002]
- 92 Tsurushita N, Park M, Pakabunto K, Ong K, Avdalovic A, Fu H, Jia A, Vásquez M, Kumar S. Humanization of a chicken anti-IL-12 monoclonal antibody. J Immunol Methods 2004; 295: 9-19 [PMID: 15627607 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.018]
- Nishibori N, Horiuchi H, Furusawa S, Matsuda H. Humanization of chicken monoclonal antibody 93 using phage-display system. Mol Immunol 2006; 43: 634-642 [PMID: 16360012 DOI: 10.1016/j.molimm.2005.04.002]
- 94 Tateishi Y, Nishimichi N, Horiuchi H, Furusawa S, Matsuda H. Construction of chicken-mouse chimeric antibody and immunogenicity in mice. J Vet Med Sci 2008; 70: 397-400 [PMID: 18460836 DOI: 10.1292/jvms.70.397]
- Choi J, Kim M, Lee J, Seo Y, Ham Y, Kim JK, Kwon MH. Antigen-binding affinity and 95 thermostability of chimeric mouse-chicken IgY and mouse-human IgG antibodies with identical variable domains. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 19242 [PMID: 31848417 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-019-55805-4]
- 96 Park JS, Lee KY, Han JY. Precise Genome Editing in Poultry and Its Application to Industries. Genes (Basel) 2020; 11 [PMID: 33053652 DOI: 10.3390/genes11101182]
- 97 Sid H, Schusser B. Applications of Gene Editing in Chickens: A New Era Is on the Horizon. Front Genet 2018; 9: 456 [PMID: 30356667 DOI: 10.3389/fgene.2018.00456]
- Love J, Gribbin C, Mather C, Sang H. Transgenic birds by DNA microinjection. Biotechnology (N 98 Y) 1994; 12: 60-63 [PMID: 7764327 DOI: 10.1038/nbt0194-60]
- Salter DW, Smith EJ, Hughes SH, Wright SE, Crittenden LB. Transgenic chickens: insertion of 99 retroviral genes into the chicken germ line. Virology 1987; 157: 236-240 [PMID: 3029962 DOI: 10.1016/0042-6822(87)90334-5
- 100 Salter DW, Crittenden LB. Artificial insertion of a dominant gene for resistance to avian leukosis virus into the germ line of the chicken. Theor Appl Genet 1989; 77: 457-461 [PMID: 24232709 DOI: 10.1007/BF00274263
- Kamihira M, Ono K, Esaka K, Nishijima K, Kigaku R, Komatsu H, Yamashita T, Kyogoku K, 101 lijima S. High-level expression of single-chain Fv-Fc fusion protein in serum and egg white of genetically manipulated chickens by using a retroviral vector. J Virol 2005; 79: 10864-10874 [PMID: 16103139 DOI: 10.1128/jvi.79.17.10864-10874.2005]
- 102 Harvey AJ, Speksnijder G, Baugh LR, Morris JA, Ivarie R. Consistent production of transgenic chickens using replication-deficient retroviral vectors and high-throughput screening procedures. Poult Sci 2002; 81: 202-212 [PMID: 11873828 DOI: 10.1093/ps/81.2.202]
- Kamihira M, Kawabe Y, Shindo T, Ono K, Esaka K, Yamashita T, Nishijima K, Iijima S. 103 Production of chimeric monoclonal antibodies by genetically manipulated chickens. J Biotechnol 2009; **141**: 18-25 [PMID: 19428726 DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiotec.2009.02.022]
- 104 McGrew MJ, Sherman A, Ellard FM, Lillico SG, Gilhooley HJ, Kingsman AJ, Mitrophanous KA, Sang H. Efficient production of germline transgenic chickens using lentiviral vectors. EMBO Rep 2004; 5: 728-733 [PMID: 15192698 DOI: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400171]
- 105 Lillico SG, Sherman A, McGrew MJ, Robertson CD, Smith J, Haslam C, Barnard P, Radcliffe PA, Mitrophanous KA, Elliot EA, Sang HM. Oviduct-specific expression of two therapeutic proteins in transgenic hens. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104: 1771-1776 [PMID: 17259305 DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0610401104
- 106 van de Lavoir MC, Diamond JH, Leighton PA, Mather-Love C, Heyer BS, Bradshaw R, Kerchner A, Hooi LT, Gessaro TM, Swanberg SE, Delany ME, Etches RJ. Germline transmission of genetically modified primordial germ cells. Nature 2006; 441: 766-769 [PMID: 16760981 DOI: 10.1038/nature04831
- 107 Zhu L, van de Lavoir MC, Albanese J, Beenhouwer DO, Cardarelli PM, Cuison S, Deng DF, Deshpande S, Diamond JH, Green L, Halk EL, Heyer BS, Kay RM, Kerchner A, Leighton PA, Mather CM, Morrison SL, Nikolov ZL, Passmore DB, Pradas-Monne A, Preston BT, Rangan VS, Shi M, Srinivasan M, White SG, Winters-Digiacinto P, Wong S, Zhou W, Etches RJ. Production of human monoclonal antibody in eggs of chimeric chickens. Nat Biotechnol 2005; 23: 1159-1169 [PMID: 16127450 DOI: 10.1038/nbt1132]
- Kim YM, Park JS, Kim SK, Jung KM, Hwang YS, Han M, Lee HJ, Seo HW, Suh JY, Han BK, Han JY. The transgenic chicken derived anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies exhibits greater anti-cancer therapeutic potential with enhanced Fc effector functions. Biomaterials 2018; 167: 58-68 [PMID: 29554481 DOI: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2018.03.021]
- 109 Taylor L, Carlson DF, Nandi S, Sherman A, Fahrenkrug SC, McGrew MJ. Efficient TALENmediated gene targeting of chicken primordial germ cells. Development 2017; 144: 928-934 [PMID: 28174243 DOI: 10.1242/dev.145367]
- Dimitrov L, Pedersen D, Ching KH, Yi H, Collarini EJ, Izquierdo S, van de Lavoir MC, Leighton 110 PA. Germline Gene Editing in Chickens by Efficient CRISPR-Mediated Homologous Recombination in Primordial Germ Cells. PLoS One 2016; 11: e0154303 [PMID: 27099923 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154303]
- Oishi I, Yoshii K, Miyahara D, Kagami H, Tagami T. Targeted mutagenesis in chicken using 111 CRISPR/Cas9 system. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 23980 [PMID: 27050479 DOI: 10.1038/srep23980]



- 112 Mukae T, Okumura S, Watanobe T, Yoshii K, Tagami T, Oishi I. Production of Recombinant Monoclonal Antibodies in the Egg White of Gene-Targeted Transgenic Chickens. Genes (Basel) 2020; 12 [PMID: 33396657 DOI: 10.3390/genes12010038]
- 113 Lee HJ, Lee KY, Jung KM, Park KJ, Lee KO, Suh JY, Yao Y, Nair V, Han JY. Precise gene editing of chicken Na+/H+ exchange type 1 (chNHE1) confers resistance to avian leukosis virus subgroup J (ALV-J). Dev Comp Immunol 2017; 77: 340-349 [PMID: 28899753 DOI: 10.1016/j.dci.2017.09.006
- Ching KH, Collarini EJ, Abdiche YN, Bedinger D, Pedersen D, Izquierdo S, Harriman R, Zhu L, 114 Etches RJ, van de Lavoir MC, Harriman WD, Leighton PA. Chickens with humanized immunoglobulin genes generate antibodies with high affinity and broad epitope coverage to conserved targets. MAbs 2018; 10: 71-80 [PMID: 29035625 DOI: 10.1080/19420862.2017.1386825]
- 115 Polanowski A, Zabłocka A, Sosnowska A, Janusz M, Trziszka T. Immunomodulatory activity accompanying chicken egg yolk immunoglobulin Y. Poult Sci 2012; 91: 3091-3096 [PMID: 23155018 DOI: 10.3382/ps.2012-02546]
- Polanowski A, Sosnowska A, Zabłocka A, Janusz M, Trziszka T. Immunologically active peptides 116 that accompany hen egg yolk immunoglobulin Y: separation and identification. Biol Chem 2013; 394: 879-887 [PMID: 23492558 DOI: 10.1515/hsz-2012-0337]
- 117 Zambrowicz A, Zabłocka A, Bobak Ł, Macała J, Janusz M, Polanowski A, Trziszka T. A simple and rapid method of isolation of active polypeptide complex, yolkin, from chicken egg yolk. Food Chem 2017; 230: 705-711 [PMID: 28407970 DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017.03.101]
- Hannappel E, Huff T. The thymosins. Prothymosin alpha, parathymosin, and beta-thymosins: 118 structure and function. Vitam Horm 2003; 66: 257-296 [PMID: 12852257 DOI: 10.1016/s0083-6729(03)01007-0]
- 119 Chiou VY. The development of IgY(DeltaFc) antibody based neuro toxin antivenoms and the study on their neutralization efficacies. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2008; 46: 539-544 [PMID: 18584367 DOI: 10.1080/15563650701771973
- 120 Gouliaris K. Preliminary immunochemical evaluation of immunoglobulins Y isolated from twelve avian species. M.Sc. Thesis, NCSR "Demokritos" & Birmingham University, 2003
- Tobias FL, Garcia LN, Kanashiro MM, Medina-Acosta E, Brom-de-Luna JG, de Almeida CM, 121 Azevedo Junior RR, Lemos M, Vieira-da-Motta O. Growth inhibition of Staphylococcus aureus and escherichia coli strains by neutralizing IgY antibodies from ostrich egg yolk. Braz J Microbiol 2012; **43**: 544-551 [PMID: 24031862 DOI: 10.1590/S1517-83822012000200015]
- 122 Najdi S, Nikbakht Brujeni G, Sheikhi N, Chakhkar S. Development of anti-Helicobacter pylori immunoglobulins Y (IgYs) in quail. Iran J Vet Res 2016; 17: 106-110 [PMID: 27822235]
- 123 Bae HD, Kitaguchi K, Horio F, Murai A. Higher incorporation of heterologous chicken immunoglobulin Y compared with homologous quail immunoglobulin Y into egg yolks of Japanese quail (Coturnix japonica). Poult Sci 2009; 88: 1703-1711 [PMID: 19590086 DOI: 10.3382/ps.2008-00238
- 124 Losonczy S, Szabó C, Kiss Z, Bárdos L. Application of an anti-HQIgY antibody for the measurement of IgY concentrations of hen's and quail's serum and yolk. Acta Physiol Hung 1999; 86: 253-258 [PMID: 10943656]
- 125 IGY Life Sciences. IgY antibodies-sustainable and efficacious therapeutics for human and animal health. [cited 4 February 2021]. Available from: https://www.nature.com/articles/d43747-020-01049-5
- 126 Leiva CL, Gallardo MJ, Casanova N, Terzolo H, Chacana P. IgY-technology (egg yolk antibodies) in human medicine: A review of patents and clinical trials. Int Immunopharmacol 2020; 81: 106269 [PMID: 32036273 DOI: 10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106269]
- 127 McCafferty J, Griffiths AD, Winter G, Chiswell DJ. Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. Nature 1990; 348: 552-554 [PMID: 2247164 DOI: 10.1038/348552a0]
- JRC Publications Repository. EURL ECVAM Recommendation on Non-Animal-Derived 128 Antibodies. [cited 4 February 2021]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/publication/eurscientific-and-technical-research-reports/eurl-ecvam-recommendation-non-animal-derivedantibodies
- 129 Nature. Nobel Prize in Chemistry 2018. [cited 4 February 2021]. Available from: https://www.nature.com/collections/mnphfjdrdf
- Barderas R, Benito-Peña E. The 2018 Nobel Prize in Chemistry: phage display of peptides and 130 antibodies. Anal Bioanal Chem 2019; 411: 2475-2479 [PMID: 30888467 DOI: 10.1007/s00216-019-01714-4]
- 131 Ascoli CA, Aggeler B. Overlooked benefits of using polyclonal antibodies. Biotechniques 2018; 65: 127-136 [PMID: 30089399 DOI: 10.2144/btn-2018-0065]
- 132 Cakir-Koc R, Budama-Kilinc Y, Ustun E, Babur C. Conjugation and Characterization of Latex Particles with Toxoplasma gondii-specific Immunoglobulin Y Antibodies for Diagnostic Aim and Evaluation Efficiency in In Vitro Culture. J Equine Vet Sci 2020; 92: 103145 [PMID: 32797775 DOI: 10.1016/j.jevs.2020.103145]
- 133 Kota RK, Reddy PN, Sreerama K. Application of IgY antibodies against staphylococcal protein A (SpA) of Staphylococcus aureus for detection and prophylactic functions. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2020; 104: 9387-9398 [PMID: 32960294 DOI: 10.1007/s00253-020-10912-5]



- 134 Lin JH, Lo CM, Chuang SH, Chiang CH, Wang SD, Lin TY, Liao JW, Hung DZ. Collocation of avian and mammal antibodies to develop a rapid and sensitive diagnostic tool for Russell's Vipers Snakebite. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2020; 14: e0008701 [PMID: 32956365 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008701]
- Souza DC, de Faria LS, Sousa JEN, Lopes CA, Ribeiro VDS, da Silva VJ, Ribeiro RP, Rabelo 135 ÉML, Rodrigues Ávila VM, Ferreira Júnior Á, Costa-Cruz JM. Use of polyclonal IgY antibodies to detect serum immune complexes in patients with active hookworm infection. Parasitology 2020; 147: 715-720 [PMID: 32051048 DOI: 10.1017/S0031182020000220]
- 136 Egea E, Mendoza D, Garavito G, Saavedra S, Gómez H, Sanjuan M. Nanogold - IgY antibodies. An immunoconjugated for the detection of house dust mite (Dermatophagoides) allergens. J Immunol Methods 2019; 464: 15-21 [PMID: 30165063 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2018.08.013]
- Łupicka-Słowik A, Grzywa R, Leporowska E, Procyk D, Oleksyszyn J, Sieńczyk M. Development 137 and Evaluation of an Immunoglobulin Y-Based ELISA for Measuring Prostate Specific Antigen in Human Serum. Ann Lab Med 2019; 39: 373-380 [PMID: 30809983 DOI: 10.3343/alm.2019.39.4.373]
- 138 Nie W, Zhao C, Guo X, Sun L, Meng T, Liu Y, Song X, Xu K, Wang J, Li J. Preparation and identification of chicken egg yolk immunoglobulins against human enterovirus 71 for diagnosis of hand-foot-and-mouth disease. Anal Biochem 2019; 573: 44-50 [PMID: 30831098 DOI: 10.1016/j.ab.2019.02.029
- 139 Omori AM, Ono EYS, Hirozawa MT, de Souza Suguiura IM, Hirooka EY, Pelegrinelli Fungaro MH, Ono MA. Development of Indirect Competitive Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay to Detect Fusarium verticillioides in Poultry Feed Samples. Toxins (Basel) 2019; 11 [PMID: 30658385 DOI: 10.3390/toxins11010048]
- Tran TV, Do BN, Nguyen TPT, Tran TT, Tran SC, Nguyen BV, Nguyen CV, Le HQ. Development 140 of an IgY-based lateral flow immunoassay for detection of fumonisin B in maize. F1000Res 2019; 8: 1042 [PMID: 31956398 DOI: 10.12688/f1000research.19643.2]
- 141 Budama-Kilinc Y, Cakir-Koc R, Ozdemir B, Kaya Z, Badur S. Production and characterization of a conserved M2e peptide-based specific IgY antibody: evaluation of the diagnostic potential via conjugation with latex nanoparticles. Prep Biochem Biotechnol 2018; 48: 930-939 [PMID: 30388960 DOI: 10.1080/10826068.2018.1525564]
- 142 Liang X, Sheng Y, Yu W, Zhao S, Shan H, Zhang Q, Wang Z. Comparison of chicken IgY and mammalian IgG in three immunoassays for detection of sulfamethazine in milk. Food Anal Methods 2018; 11: 3452-3463 [DOI: 10.1007/s12161-018-1316-9]
- 143 Lupicka-Slowik A, Psurski M, Grzywa R, Bobrek K, Smok P, Walczak M, Gaweł A, Stefaniak T, Oleksyszyn J, Sieńczyk M. Development of Adenosine Deaminase-Specific IgY Antibodies: Diagnostic and Inhibitory Application. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 2018; 184: 1358-1374 [PMID: 29043661 DOI: 10.1007/s12010-017-2626-x]
- da Silva MC, Schaefer R, Gava D, Souza CK, da Silva Vaz I Jr, Bastos AP, Venancio EJ. 144 Production and application of anti-nucleoprotein IgY antibodies for influenza A virus detection in swine. J Immunol Methods 2018; 461: 100-105 [PMID: 30158073 DOI: 10.1016/j.jim.2018.06.023]



World Journal of W J M Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 September 20; 11(5): 263-277

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i5.263

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

SYSTEMATIC REVIEWS

Evaluation of the red reflex: An overview for the pediatrician

Aspasia Toli, Asli Perente, Georgios Labiris

ORCID number: Aspasia Toli 0000-0002-9091-2921; Asli Perente 0000-0001-9219-8496; Georgios Labiris 0000-0003-4364-1943.

Author contributions: Toli A designed the research, performed the literature research and wrote the article; Perente A performed the literature research and wrote the article; Labiris G supervised the paper; all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no competing interests.

PRISMA 2009 Checklist statement: The authors have read the PRISMA 2009 Checklist, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the PRISMA 2009 Checklist.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Aspasia Toli, Asli Perente, Georgios Labiris, Department of Ophthalmology, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Alexandroupolis 68100, Greece

Corresponding author: Georgios Labiris, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Ophthalmology, University Hospital of Alexandroupolis, Dragana Alexandroupolis 68100, Greece. labiris@usa.net

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Red reflex test (RRT) is a simple, non-invasive method that can be performed easily by pediatricians during the clinical examination in neonatal period, infancy and childhood. Abnormal reflexes can lead to prompt diagnosis of several ocular disorders, with potentially severe consequences on patient's vision, cognitive function and even life.

AIM

To underline the contribution of pediatricians to early detection of vision and life threatening diseases by using RRT effectively.

METHODS

For the present systematic review, PubMed searches were performed using the key words "red reflex and newborn"; "red reflex and neonate"; "red reflex and complications"; "red reflex and necessity"; "red reflex and retinoblastoma"; "red reflex and congenital cataract"; "red reflex and glaucoma"; "red reflex and prematurity"; "red reflex and leukocoria"; "red reflex and blindness"; "red reflex sensitivity and specificity"; "red reflex and differential diagnosis"; "red reflex and guidelines". The relevant articles were selected without language restrictions. When a full-text publication was not available, their English abstracts were used. In some cases, studies from the reference lists of the selected articles provided useful information. The research took place in September 2020, in the Ophthalmology Department of University Hospital of Alexandroupolis.

RESULTS

A total of 45 articles were selected according to the used key words. After reviewing data from these articles, it is supported that red reflex remains an effective tool of undeniable importance for early detection of severe eye conditions, such as cataract, retinoblastoma, retinopathy of prematurity and glaucoma. Although literature reports some limitations of RRT, including a notable percentage of false positive tests, the inability to detect small, peripheral retinoblastomas and the lower sensitivity for posterior segment pathology, it is widely accepted that the benefits from the regular evaluation of the test on public



Manuscript source: Invited manuscript

Specialty type: Pediatrics

Country/Territory of origin: Greece

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 27, 2021 Peer-review started: January 27, 2021

First decision: May 6, 2021 Revised: May 19, 2021 Accepted: August 3, 2021 Article in press: August 3, 2021 Published online: September 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Marickar F S-Editor: Ma YJ L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Guo X



health are significant. Therefore, RRT has been established by international guidelines and should be an essential component of pediatricians clinical practice. Red reflex implementation should be incorporated in pediatricians educational programs, so that they would be able to provide quality services and safe diagnoses.

CONCLUSION

The implementation of RRT should be encouraged in all neonatal/pediatric departments. Prompt education of pediatricians should be empowered in order to achieve careful vision screening, according to current guidelines.

Key Words: Red eye reflex; Leukocoria; Visual screening; Newborn; Prevention; Pediatric examination

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Red reflex test (RRT) is an easy, non-invasive examination that enables detection of vision- and life-threatening eye disorders. Various studies have dealt with the effectiveness, sensitivity/specificity and abnormalities of the RRT. The aim of the present review is to emphasize the advantages of RRT implementation from neonatal period to childhood and to underline the pediatricians' role in early diagnosis and treatment of the aforementioned diseases. This study presents a practical guide for the evaluation of the RRT, based on literature data. With appropriate education and compliance to the vision screening protocols, the pediatric society could reduce the incidence of preventable pediatric blindness.

Citation: Toli A, Perente A, Labiris G. Evaluation of the red reflex: An overview for the pediatrician. World J Methodol 2021; 11(5): 263-277

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i5/263.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i5.263

INTRODUCTION

The first few weeks of life are of paramount importance for the development of visual function, thus the assessment of newborns' visual system should be part of the routine clinical examination. Numerous eye disorders of the neonatal and childhood period can lead to permanent visual impairment, even to blindness and loss of life[1].

It is worth mentioning that about 75% of blindness cases are preventable^[2], a fact that emphasizes the need for early detection of the sight threatening conditions. Congenital infections, metabolic and chromosomal disorders and inheritance are among the most common causes of childhood blindness[3]. Therefore, eye examination should begin in newborn infancy and be continued as a part of the routine pediatric examination in order to achieve early diagnosis, prompt treatment and better prognosis.

The red reflex test (RRT), which was firstly introduced by Bruckner in 1962[3], is an effective, non-invasive examination that contributes to the diagnosis of various eye diseases, such as cataract, glaucoma, retinoblastoma and retinal disorders[3,4]. The RRT is easily performed in a darkened room by holding a direct ophthalmoscope, focused on the patient's pupil, with a lens power at "0", from a distance of approximately 30-45 cm (12-18 in)[4,5]. The normal RRT should be symmetric in both eyes, round, bright reddish-yellow or light grey in darkly colored eyes. Any asymmetry or lack of a red reflex, white reflexes or dark spots are abnormal and require referral to ophthalmologists[4,6]. The main causes of red reflex abnormality include congenital cataract, opacity of the cornea, iris abnormalities, vitreous opacities, tumors or chorioretinal malformations^[6].

According to the latest suggestions of the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) and the American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus (2016) the RRT should be performed at every well-baby visit from newborn to 6 mo age, afterwards, at 12 mo, 1-3 years, 4-5 years and 6 years and older [7,8].



The primary objective of this article is to provide an updated review on RRT published literature and highlight its importance in the detection of potentially sight threatening or even life threatening ocular diseases.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study design and selection criteria

This systematic review met the statements checklist of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews (PRISMA)[9]. The selection criteria were defined by applying the Problem/Population, Intervention, Comparison and Outcome framework. Articles were screened by title and abstract, according to the following inclusion criteria: Articles focused on the contribution of the RRT in diagnosing pathologic conditions, articles on RRT sensitivity and specificity, articles on guidelines about RRT and articles focused on compliance with RRT recommendations. Articles referring to adult patients were excluded. All of the eligible articles provided valuable information about the usage of the RRT in pediatric clinical practice.

Literature research strategy

A systematic search on PubMed databases was performed by two reviewers (A.T. and A.P.) in September 2020. Search terms used in this review are presented in Table 1. The initial search was performed without search filters and language restrictions. When the eligible articles were not available in full text in English, abstracts were used as a source of information. The date of publication was not an exclusion criterion. Additionally, the reference lists of the eligible articles were checked, and articles that met the inclusion criteria and provided useful information were also selected.

Study selection and quality assessment

A total of 45 articles that were relevant to the topic of interest and exclusively referring to the pediatric population were finally selected. Afterwards, the eligible articles were scanned diligently and independently by the two reviewers and the following data were extracted: Correct evaluation of RRT, correlation between RRT and certain ocular diseases (such as retinoblastoma and congenital cataract) and compliance and limitations of RRT. Any conflict was dissolved by a third reviewer (G.L.). Risk of bias of the eligible articles was conducted with "Quality Assessment Tool for Quantitative Studies" by Effective Public Health Practices[10]. Again, the same two individual reviewers assessed the articles, blinded to each other's decisions, and a third reviewer resolved any conflict. The results are demonstrated in Table 2.

RESULTS

Literature review returned 45 articles that met our inclusion criteria. They covered the whole spectrum of the topic in interest. The final selection of the eligible papers are presented in Table 1. Detailed data on the articles are shown in Table 3.

Diagnostic procedure of RRT

The evaluation of RRT is an easy, low-cost method that can be performed by pediatricians and other first care physicians in order to provide early diagnosis of severe pathologies. A necessary precondition that allows valid diagnoses is the appropriate training of medical students and trainee pediatricians during the years of specialty. For ideal performance of the test, it is essential to keep the room completely darkened (to maximize pupil dilation) and the direct ophthalmoscope fully charged. The lens power should be set at "0", unless there is a refractive error of the clinician's eyes. In this case, she/he could examine without wearing spectacles, by holding the ophthalmoscope closely to the examiner's eye and dialing the spectacle corrective power into the instrument. A practical way is to look through the peephole and dial the lenses till a pure image is viewed. The clinician should sit at a distance of approximately 0.5 m, but it could be increased in case of a nervous or uncooperative child. The co-axial position of the examiner is appropriate for estimating the RRT, however, it may not reveal ocular pathologies of small dimensions in peripheral areas. Therefore, the pediatrician needs to perform the RRT by using different angles along the horizontal meridian of the retina in order to assess the nasal and temporal retina by oblique viewing[4,5,11]. It is quite easy to perform, even in younger patients, as after

Table 1 Search terms	
RRT and neonate/newborn	RRT congenital cataract
RRT and complications	RRT retinoblastoma
RRT and necessity	RRT and glaucoma
RRT and sensitivity and specificity	RRT and blindness
RRT and differential diagnosis	RRT and leukocoria
RRT guidelines	RRT and prematurity

RRT: Red reflex test

evaluating the red reflex from a co-axial position, the pediatrician should make the patient look in different directions. It may be helpful for the examiner to make the child focus behind the examiner's back by using a light or a toy. In case of infants or newborns, parents should hold the baby with a "chair hold" manner. This may keep the baby calm and able to focus the gaze straight forward. In this way, the examiner could perform the RRT without opening the baby's eyes with her/his hands. Taking into account that in the first days of life it is hard for the neonates to fixate or even to open their eyes, pediatricians should have plenty of patience and time in order to evaluate RRT safely.

A normal RRT consists of symmetrical bright red reflexes of both eyes, indicating that the ocular media (cornea, aqueous humor, lens, vitreous body) are transparent. A reduced or absent red reflex indicates an obstacle to the anatomical path to and from the retina (Table 4)[12].

Despite its name, the "red" reflex is often normally yellow, orange, red or any combination of these colors. In some patients with darker complexion, an increased pigmentation of the eye could be the cause for less bright reflex. Therefore, many variations among different racial or ethnic groups may be observed. Thus, examination of the parents would set the normal baseline[4,12].

In any case of atypical coloration of the red reflex, pediatricians should take into account many parameters and risk factors, such as gestational age, birth weight, use of oxygen therapy, phototherapy, blood transfusion and conjunctivitis, that could significantly affect the development of vision problems and subsequently the result of RRT[2]. Black reflex, which is suggestive of corneal scar, cataract or intraocular hemorrhage, and asymmetrical or non-homogenous reflexes require further investigation[13]. Asymmetry in the refractive power of the eye may cause asymmetrical red reflexes and should be checked, because any delay could lead to amblyopia and loss of vision[7]. Refractive errors may also give a yellow-white edge to a red reflex[14].

A white pupillary reflex is characterized as leukocoria, from the Greek words "leucos" (white) and "kóre" (pupil). White pupils are often noted by parents and described as something white, shiny, jello-like or a discoloration of the eye. This finding is pathological. Therefore, its presence is always concerning and requires urgent referral to an ophthalmologist. The most common cause of leukocoria in newborns is congenital cataract[15], while the most ominous pathology is retinoblastoma[16]. Other causes of leukocoria are presented in Table 3[15].

Pharmaceutical pupil dilation before performing RRT remains a controversial issue. Some infants and young children may have small pupils and restricted fixation, making the ophthalmoscopy a difficult examination. Moreover, patients with risk factors, such as family history of retinoblastoma or cataract, need a thorough evaluation of RRT in order to exclude any possibility of pathological lesions. In these cases, dilation of pupils could enhance the evaluation of RRT. In a survey by Ozkurt et al[17], RRT without pupillary dilation presented a positive predictive value of 70%; as without dilation, 2.2% of newborns presented an abnormal RRT. After dilation, ocular pathology that caused an abnormal RRT was detected in 1.5% of these neonates. For many years, pupil dilation has been used by pediatric ophthalmologists on infants over 2 wk on a routine basis. However, the pharmaceutical agents used for dilation (phenylephrine, anticholinergic agents such as cyclopentolate hydrochloride, tropicamide) were occasionally associated with significant complications. The reported adverse effects include elevated blood pressure and heart rate, urticaria, cardiac arrhythmias, and contact dermatitis. It is worth noting that extra caution is needed in cases of preterm infants, as they presented increased sensitivity to the aforementioned dilating eye drops[4]. Thus, the last policy statement of the AAP in 2016 clarified that if

Table 2 Qualit	vaccocomont
I able z Qualit	v assessment

Ref.	Year	Selection bias	Study design	Confounders	Blinding	Data collection methods	Withdrawals and drop-outs	Global rating
Nye[1]	2014	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
De Aguiar <i>et al</i> [2]	2011	Strong	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
Eventov-Friedman <i>et al</i> [3]	2010	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
AAP[4]	2008	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Litmanovitz <i>et al</i> [5]	2010	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Cagini <i>et al</i> [6]	2017	Strong	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
Loh <i>et al</i> [7]	2018	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Donahue <i>et al</i> [8]	2016	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Li <i>et al</i> [11]	2010	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Gurney et al[12]	2018	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Levin[13]	2015	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Sloot <i>et al</i> [14]	2015	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Wan et al[15]	2014	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Tuli et al[<mark>16</mark>]	2011	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	NA	Weak
Ozkurt et al[17]	2018	Strong	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
Bell et al[19]	2014	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Balmer <i>et al</i> [20]	2007	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Mansoor <i>et al</i> [21]	2016	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Popoola et al[22]	2019	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Abramson <i>et al</i> [23]	2003	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak
AAP et al[24]	2002	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Li et al[25]	2013	Strong	Weak	Strong	Weak	Strong	NA	Weak
Butros <i>et al</i> [26]	2002	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Weak	Weak	NA	Weak
Sun et al[28]	2016	Strong	Weak	Strong	Weak	strong	NA	Weak
DerKinderen et al[29]	1989	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Strong	NA	Weak
Goddard <i>et al</i> [30]	1999	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Weak	Strong	NA	Weak
Bhatti et al[<mark>31</mark>]	2003	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	NA	Weak
Rajavi et al[<mark>32</mark>]	2016	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Gogate et al[33]	2011	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Haargaard <i>et al</i> [34]	2015	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Atiq et al[35]	2004	Weak	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Meier et al[36]	2006	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Donahue <i>et al</i> [37]	2016	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak
Mndeme et al[38]	2010	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
Magnusson et al[39]	2013	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Strong	NA	Moderate
Özkurt et al[40]	2019	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak
Ulanovsky et al[41]	2015	Strong	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Moderate	NA	Moderate
Raoof et al[42]	2016	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak
Wall et al[44]	2002	Weak	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak



ToliA et al. Pediatric red reflex examination

Gupta et al[45]	2019	Weak	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Munson <i>et al</i> [46]	2019	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Moderate	NA	Weak
Chen et al[52]	2019	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Strong	NA	Weak
AAP[<mark>53</mark>]	2003	Moderate	Weak	Strong	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak
Anderson[54]	2019	Moderate	Weak	Weak	Moderate	Weak	NA	Weak

NA: Not applicable.

Table 3 Data extracted from the eligible articles

	Total number of articles	Ref.
Emphasis on the importance of RRT	44	[1-8,11-17,19-26,28-42,44,46,52-54]
Retinoblastoma	20	[3,6,11,12,15-17,19-23,26,28-30,36,38,40,54]
Congenital cataract	16	[3,5,6,12,15-17,19,21,31-35,38-40]
Retinopathy of prematurity	4	[2,3,16,20]
Specificity and/or Sensitivity of RRT	10	[3,5,6,11,12,22,25,28,32,38]
Compliance of health care providers with current screening protocols	12	[2,3,5,6,14,22,23,32,39,40,42,44]
Limitations of RRT	9	[1,4,6,11,12,23,26,28,41]
Comparison of RRT with other techniques	7	[17,25,28,34,38,45,46]

RRT: Red reflex test.

Table 4 Anatomical approach for an abnormal red reflex test[4,12]				
Tear film	Mucus or other foreign bodies			
Cornea	Dysgenesis of the anterior segment (Peters anomaly), congenital glaucoma, birth trauma			
Lens	Cataract			
Vitreous	Persistent fetal vasculature, vitreous hemorrhage or inflammation			
Retina	Retinoblastoma, retinal detachment, Coat's disease, chorioretinalcoloboma, toxocariasis			
Other	Anisometropia, strabismus			

the pediatrician provides conditions of a fully darkened room, further pharmaceutical dilation is not necessary. Abnormal findings in RRT including dark spots, absent or significantly reduced reflex, leukocoria, or any asymmetry of the reflexes are indications for referral to an ophthalmologist with experience in children for thorough dilated fundus examination[8].

Retinoblastoma

Retinoblastoma is a neuroblastic tumor of the retina, with an incidence of approximately 1:20000 live births per year, which can lead to blindness, metastatic disease and loss of life[18,19]. The onset of the disease may occur in utero and up to 4 years of age[20]. It was estimated to be responsible for 17% of all neonatal cancers[15,20]. Sixty percent of retinoblastomas are non-heritable, usually unilateral[21,22]. Studies recorded positive family history in only 15%-25% of patients[19,22]. Typically, heritable retinoblastomas are bilateral, usually presented within the first year of life, with better visual potential in the eye with the smaller tumor size. According to literature data, the most common reason that concerned the family was the presence of leukocoria (initial sign in 50%-60%), often observed on flash photographs. Other manifestations included strabismus (initial sign in 20%-25%), inflammatory signs (initial sign in 6%-10%), e.g., painful/red eye, tearing, heterochromia and hyphema[15, 18,20,23]. In 50% of the cases worldwide there were extraocular signs and symptoms, which were associated with poorer survival rate (0%-50% vs 95%)[23].



Currently, the RRT is the main screening tool used by primary care physicians for the detection of retinoblastoma^[24]. Li *et al*^[25] reported a case of a 3 d old newborn with retinoblastoma, as the youngest patient with the disease. Notably, the median age of retinoblastoma diagnosis is 24 mo[8,26]. Therefore, the RRT should be performed by the pediatrician on a regular basis at every age, from birth to childhood. During the clinical examination, leukocoria seen on RRT is the primary sign that sets the suspicion for retinoblastoma^[20]. A normal RRT is not equal with the absence of retinoblastoma [27]. According to some studies [26,28], peripheral or small tumors could give falsely normal RRT, while larger tumors were generally detected by RRT. The studies underlined that early diagnosis via RRT implementation and prompt treatment of retinoblastoma were associated with better prognosis and higher cure rate (95%)[18, 19]

Delayed detection increases the possibility for larger tumors and metastases, rendering the treatment significantly more aggressive and costly, with no certain outcome^[20]. More specifically, an 8-wk-delay after the onset of signs and symptoms led to elevated risk of local invasion[29] and a 6-mo-delay highly increased the extraocular extension risk[30]. Untreated retinoblastomas are fatal[18,19]. A recent study reported that in most cases (80%), the parents firstly noticed the presenting signs of retinoblastoma and not pediatricians (8%) or ophthalmologists (10%)[23]. Possible explanations for these findings included (1) The difficulty to evaluate peripheral tumors with RRT performed by co-axial position vs more opportunities for the family members to view the eye from multiple angles; (2) Underutilization of well-child care visits; (3) A not dark enough pediatric office during RRT; (4) Uncooperative child; (5) Miotic pupils; (6) Inappropriate RRT technique, lack of education; and (7) Low clinical suspicion^[23]. Another study mentioned delayed referral from the primary care physicians to specialists in 1/2 of the cases, due to justification of the presenting signs as normal findings or as part of other diagnosis. An additional reason for delayed therapy was the time spent by parents seeking treatment. The family unwittingly contributed to the delay in 77% of patients[26].

It is also emphasized that the pediatricians must have the education and skills to identify and refer to specialists a patient with the suspicion of retinoblastoma, in prompt time[26]. It has to be clear to all pediatricians that a positive family history of retinoblastoma, regardless of the RRT result, is an absolute indication for ophthalmologic examination in newborn nursery. Afterwards, regular ophthalmologist evaluations must be arranged, with aggressive surveillance and communication between the supervisor pediatrician and ophthalmologist until at least 28 mo of life. In case of revealed tumor, the follow-up should be continued until at least the age of 7 years. Additionally, the observation of eye abnormalities (leukocoria, strabismus) by the family, at any age, regardless of the RRT results, requires similar investigation to rule out any possibility for malignancy[23,26].

Congenital cataract

Congenital cataract is the opacification of the crystalline lens, which can be present at birth or develop within the first 3 mo of life. According to published literature [6,21,31-33], the incidence of congenital cataract ranges between 0.6 to 15 per 10000 live births, while it was estimated to be responsible for approximately 10% of childhood blindness [3]. In most cases, the etiology remains unknown. Inheritance is involved in 25% of congenital cataracts (autosomal dominant pattern). Other causes include chromosomal abnormalities (trisomy 21, trisomy 18), metabolic disorders (e.g., galactosaemia) and congenital infection syndrome (toxoplasmosis, cytomegalovirus, syphilis, rubella, herpes simplex virus, varicella zoster virus)[21]. It is worth mentioning that most unilateral cataracts are isolated anomalies, however, 20% of cataracts attributed to congenital rubella are unilateral. Bilateral cataracts that are not correlated with genetic mutations need further investigation to exclude systemic disorders[15].

Early detection and treatment of congenital cataract have become a priority of the Global Vision 2020 initiatives of the World Health Organization^[6]. The RRT is a highly sensitive screening test for congenital cataract. Cagini *et al*[6] performed RRT screening on neonates up to 3 d old, over a period of 3 years, indicating a congenital cataract rate of 0.009%. Haargaard et al[34] indicated the superior sensitivity of RRT compared to other diagnostic techniques in the detection of congenital cataract. The absence of red reflex during the routine neonatal eye screening could reveal early diagnosis of congenital cataract. This finding requires a thorough systemic clinical examination and the appropriate investigation to rule out every common or rare condition causing congenital cataract. Atiq et al[35] presented a case report of a 5-mo infant with bilateral congenital cataract, which at birth was investigated only for rubella and galactosemia. In the months that followed, the progressive clinical status


(including delayed motor milestones, irritability, sweating during feeding, generalized hypotonia, supraventricular tachycardia) and the family history of neonatal deaths, in combination with detected lactic acidosis and hypertrophic cardiomyopathy led to the diagnosis of Senger's disease. Other clinical findings that would empower the suspicion for cataract include nystagmus, absence of interest for surroundings and inability to fix and follow^[21].

The time of detection of congenital cataract is crucial for the visual outcome following surgery, since early therapeutic intervention before the age of 6 wk for unilateral cases and 8 wk for bilateral cataracts was associated with best visual outcome^[6,32]. Any delay on the detection and treatment of congenital cataract could give rise to severe consequences in visual evolution, even blindness or amblyopia, which has considerable impact on the neurobiological development of the children. In Bhatti et al[31] study, more than half of the infants with isolated cataract were diagnosed during the first 6 wk of life, but 38% of them were detected later, with a percentage of 15% after the age of 5 mo. The findings above underlined the importance of the method in detecting the cases of congenital cataract.

Retinopathy of prematurity

Retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) is a vasoproliferative disorder that affects premature babies, especially those with low weight of birth[2]. In Meier et al[36] study, ROP was responsible for 12% of leukocoria cases. Gestational age of less than 30 wk, birth weight less than 1500 g, history of oxygen therapy, septicemia and blood transfusion are among the most prevalent risk factors for the development of this potentially vision threatening disease[2,16]. The first clinical finding that could be observed in these newborns is the demarcation line, (Stage 1) which indicates the difference between avascular and vascularized retina. As the disease progresses, capillary growth begins at the edges of the demarcation line leading to the formation of "ridge" (Stage 2); the development of fibrovascular proliferation from the ridge into the vitreous body constitutes the third stage of ROP. From this stage, fibrovascular membrane may be grown posteriorly causing tractions and thus partial (Stage 4) or total retinal detachment (Stage 5)[20]. It becomes clear that advanced stages are equal with severe and permanent visual impairment. Therefore, careful examination of all preterm infants from pediatric ophthalmologists is of great clinical importance and has to be emphasized and encouraged from pediatricians[37]. It is worth noting that leukocoria may be detected after Stage 3 of ROP, however, the RRT performed by pediatricians or primary care physicians and the early referral of all suspicious cases may save the vision of a neonate as early implementation of laser or cryotherapy on peripheral retina protects the central retina from damage[16].

Sensitivity and specificity of RRT

Several studies have dealt with the sensitivity and specificity of the RRT. The estimated rates of sensitivity and specificity of RRT without pupillary dilation immediately after birth were 85% and 38.5% respectively for the diagnosis of any congenital ocular disorder[32]. Concerning the early diagnosis of congenital cataract and retinoblastoma, the RRT was proved to be a useful tool, with high rates of estimated respective sensitivity (100%) and specificity (97.9%). However, researchers identified a remarkable percentage of false positive tests (2%) and a positive predictive value of 0.7%[6]. On the contrary to these findings, another study revealed a much smaller percentage of false positives (0.0006%), with a positive predictive value of 42% [3]. Furthermore, Sun et al [28] evaluated the sensitivity and specificity of RRT in the detection of anterior (cornea, iris, aqueous humor or lens) and posterior (vitreous body, retina, choroid, optic nerve) ocular disorders. They considered the RRT as a useful diagnostic tool for diseases located on the anterior segment of the eye, since it detected 99.6% of the anterior pole anomalies (vs 4.1% of the posterior pole diseases). Therefore, RRT presented high rates of overall specificity (95%), but low overall sensitivity (13.9%). The rates of RRT sensitivity and specificity may range depending on the circumstances. Rajavi et al[32] found a significant increase of false positive RRT when newborns were examined by pediatricians in the first hours of life, under nonstandard conditions (at the delivery room, beside mother and without pupil dilation), in comparison with the examination that took place by ophthalmologists, on the third day of life, under standard conditions (dark room and dilated eyes). In this study, the RRT sensitivity was 85% and specificity 38.5%, when performed under non-standard conditions. The results could be explained by the lack of experience of the pediatricians and by the ocular and tear film problems that usually disappear within a few days after birth. However, the researchers underlined that better conditions could make the evaluation of RRT more accurate.



Importance of the RRT

All of the eligible articles of the present review unanimously pointed out the value of the red reflex examination as an efficient tool for early diagnosis of pediatric ocular diseases, achieving prompt treatment with better outcomes. At this point, the literature highlights the unique role of pediatricians, who own the advantage not only to contribute to the improvement of the course of eye diseases and of the quality of patients' lives but also to save lives of children with severe diseases, such as retinoblastoma. The low incidence of retinoblastoma might reassure the general pediatrician. Nevertheless, the fact that plenty national newborn screening programs include tests for rare diseases, such as phenylketonuria (1/18000) and galactosemia (1/57000), indicates that early detection of severe diseases could prevent grave consequences for the economies, the health care systems and also for the quality and even the existence of the patient's life[26]. Similarly, applying RRT correctly could prevent the bad outcomes of delayed detection of retinoblastoma.

The performance of the RRT, from infancy and at every well child visit, following current pediatric guidelines could prevent childhood blindness[3,38]. Literature data correlated the RRT with early detection of congenital cataract. In Sweden[39] RRT seemed to be performed at the maternity ward at high rates (90%), a fact that was connected with an increase in the percentage of early detection and treatment of patients with congenital cataract. More specifically, 75% of the children who underwent surgery before the age of 1 year were cases with diagnosis and treatment before the sixth week of life. Another study[34] dealt with the 5-year experience of the different eye screening protocols of Sweden and Denmark. The results revealed a significantly higher rate of prompt diagnosis of pediatric cataract, when RRT was performed at maternity wards, in comparison with the absence of RRT. A survey in Tanzania concluded the same results[38]. The need for implementation of red reflex screening is even stronger in Turkey, the Middle East, Asia and Africa. Countries with high rates of consanguineous marriages showed significant correlation with red reflex abnormality (Turkey: 70.6% of neonates with abnormal RRT with a history of parental intermarriages vs 29.4% among normal reflexes), which was related with higher prevalence of genetic causes of common pediatric ocular diseases[17]. In a Turkish study[40], 72% of the pediatricians questioned considered that they should add RRT to follow-up charts, as they do for somatometric data. After all, pediatricians should be aware and well educated on including RRT in their routine clinical practice, as the importance of this method is to enable them to assess the quality of the transparent media of the eye, in an easy, non-invasive, low-cost manner[2].

Limitations of RRT

Although RRT remains a useful method for detecting severe pediatric ocular diseases, it has to be noticed that it also has some drawbacks. It has been emphasized that abnormalities of RRT have to be referred to ophthalmologists. However, a normal RRT does not exclude ocular pathology. First of all, the RRT enables the evaluation of only a small area and not the whole retina^[11]. Thus, abnormal lesions, including retinoblastoma, could be missed when they are of small size or situated peripherally [12,26, 28]. It is worth mentioning, that the detection of such cases was significantly improved while using additionally oblique viewing of the fundus and even more with pupil dilation[11]. Nevertheless, some tumors could still be missed. So, patients at high risk of retinoblastoma or other eye disorders leading to leukocoria (e.g., family history of retinoblastoma, infantile or juvenile cataracts, retinal dysplasia, glaucoma) should be evaluated by specialists, regardless of the RRT result[4,11]. Moreover, RRT cannot diagnose some disorders of the retina or the optic nerve, which cause visual impairment, such as retinal dystrophy or optic atrophy. As a result, cases with impaired vision demand ophthalmologist's investigation, despite a normal RRT[12]. In another survey [28], RRT was unable to detect some fundus abnormalities, such as pigment, vascular, hemorrhage and subretinal exudative changes. Furthermore, the researchers proved that the accuracy of RRT in diagnosing disorders of the posterior pole of the eye was significantly lower than those of the anterior pole[12,28]. Literature data also recorded a limitation of the RRT in the neonatal period, enforcing the recommendations for repetition of the test routinely. Sun et al[28] reported some newborns with normal RRT in the first days of life who were diagnosed with familial exudative vitreoretinopathy after abnormal RRT or presence of nystagmus at the age of 1-6 mo. Performing RRT on a newborn or an infant's eyes could be a difficult challenge for inexperienced pediatricians. An infant's pupils are small and difficult to assess, so that physicians' complaints usually include "infant is uncooperative", "eyelids are closed tightly" or "unable to evaluate red reflex"[1]. However, these

statements are unacceptable and dangerous and underline the need for education to provide the RRT procedure effectively in order to avoid undesirable consequences. Ulanovsky et al[41] performed a retrospective observational study including 18872 neonates born from 2008 to 2011. During the years that RRT was performed, the researchers found a significantly higher incidence of clinical conjunctivitis with positive bacterial culture. This result was correlated with direct contact of the examiner's hands with newborns' eyes, hence the avoidance of direct contact with neonates during the RRT should be the general rule.

Despite the reported high levels of sensitivity for certain ocular diseases, false positive results (reduced red reflexes on eyes without abnormalities) were not unusual in the literature. Cagini *et al*^[6] noticed high rates of false positives (only 3 of 461 patients with a positive or equivocal test were diagnosed with a congenital disease). On the contrary, another study recorded a much lower percentage of false positives (1 of 1643 tests was false positive)[6]. Inexperienced examiners, inappropriate equipment, small pupils, strongly pigmented fundus and conditions during the diagnostic procedure could explain the high rates of false positives[12,32]. However, the researchers considered the RRT essential part of the neonatal eye screening, as it provided early detections with high sensitivity rates[6].

Compliance with RRT guidelines

Although the necessity and effectiveness of RRT have been supported by international guidelines, data from the literature revealed insufficient implementation of the examination. Raoof et al[42] assessed the performance of RRT from health care professionals (general practitioners, midwives, pediatricians) via questionnaire. They found that 10% of responders admitted implementation of the test only when they had the time or when the parents were worried. Despite the fact that New Zealand's guidelines clearly define the appropriate time of red reflex examination, the majority of professionals (50.1%) seemed to perform the RRT at 6 wk age. Only 17.3% of the responders had received formal training for RRT, while 16.6% declared to feel underconfident during the examination[42]. Moreover, 46.1% of the neonatal units in Israel performed RRT during the years 2007-2008, while in Sao Paulo Brazil, the relative percentage was 81% during 2004[3]. Another study measured the lowest number of RRT evaluations at the high-risk neonatal units, and this finding was attributed to the unstable health status of the neonates[43]. Wall and colleagues[44] investigated the compliance of the pediatricians with vision screening guidelines. They found that a significant part of the pediatricians did not examine red reflexes beyond 6 and 24 mo of age (23% and 44%, respectively). The reasons for non-compliance seemed to be multifactorial and included the lack of time, patience, education, skills and also some worries about adequate reimbursement for vision screening[44]. Additionally, the limited staff and the perception of the pediatricians that the RRT was not their responsibility were also among the reported causes[3]. Moreover, several environmental factors could affect physician and patient compliance on RRT implementation. Nowadays, cataract remains one of the most usual reasons of preventable blindness in middle-low income countries, with very poor post-surgery visual outcomes. In these countries, late presentation of patients was very common^[38]. A survey in East Turkey mentioned that 19% of pediatricians did not have an ophthalmoscope or did not know how to use it [40].

RRT and other techniques

Nowadays, RRT is a part of visual screening, supported by official guidelines for the pediatric community. However, the last recommendations published by the World Health Organization (WHO) did not include RRT but the pencil light examination. Literature provided controversial data regarding this method. Concerning the torchlight, Mndeme et al[38] strongly recommended that WHO guidelines should replace torchlight examination with RRT using direct ophthalmoscope due to the very low sensitivity rates (7.5%) of torchlight. Moreover, a Turkish study[17] emphasized that pencil light illumination should not be used by pediatricians and general practitioners, as this method missed most of the cases with congenital cataract. On the other hand, the researchers made it clear that RRT should become an essential part of the national pediatric eye screening protocol. Haargaard et al[34] studied the different protocols for congenital cataract screening that were used in Sweden and Denmark during 2008-2012. In 2011, Denmark introduced the pencil light as the screening tool for detection of congenital cataract at 5 wk of life, without any change in the age of diagnosis to be noted, in comparison with the absence of screening previously. On the other hand, the disease was detected significantly earlier in Sweden, where the RRT was a part of routine newborn examination.



Mndeme et al[38] dealt with three alternatives to the standard direct ophthalmoscopy for the evaluation of red reflex and also compared the standard RRT with the torchlight examination. The first tool was ArchLight, an easy and cheap device that uses a light emitting diode (LED). The second device was Peek Retina, an adaptor for smartphones, with prisms and LED that allows examination of the retina snaps and differentiation of normal and abnormal red reflexes *via* the coaxial light source. Thirdly, CatCam device, a prototype comprising a modified smartphone with a coaxial infra-red LED and infrared sensitive camera, provides evaluation of fundus reflex without causing miosis. All three methods had very high sensitivity (over 90%) and specificity (86.7%-100%), with the CatCam performing the best, followed by the Archlight and then the Peek Retina. The CatCam could improve the accuracy of pediatric cataract diagnosis; however, it still remains expensive and commercially unavailable. On the other hand, the Archlight is easily performed on infants, with much lower cost. These new technologies could strengthen the accuracy of RRT and make it easier and more feasible to the medical community.

Digital images analysis could provide an opportunity for telemedicine as well. However, it was underlined that more investigation of their efficacy on detecting pediatric ocular disorders is required. Another study^[25] included advanced digital fundus imaging using RetCam during the eye screening of newborns. The digital examination revealed a significant number of well-being neonates with abnormal ocular findings, which RRT was unable to detect. The most common among them was retinal hemorrhages, a usually benign and transient condition after birth trauma. However, more studies need to be performed to investigate any correlation between early fundus findings and final visual impairment. Smartphone photography for the detection of amblyogenic conditions in children 5-8 years of age, through snaps of pupillary red reflexes, was the objective of Gupta et al[45] trial. All high refractive errors were detected with success, however, moderate errors revealed false negative results. The sensitivity of the photographs for all other ocular diseases was 100%. The usage of smartphones should be further investigated in all ages and for more eye disorders in order to provide a low-cost, effective screening tool for developing countries. It has been reported [23] for more than 90% of leukocoria cases that the family firstly noticed the presence of white pupils in photographs. Munson *et al*[46] dealt with a tool based on red reflex of the pupils that could provide to parents the detection of leukocoria earlier. They presented a novel application for smartphones, the CRADLE, which can be downloaded for free and allows early detection of leukocoria. More specifically, the application creates a private storage of photographs and after digital analysis, it can detect cases of leukocoria and automatically alert the parents for further investigation. In this study, the CRADLE detected leukocoria in the snaps captured before diagnosis by 1.3 years, for the majority of cases with ocular diseases (80%). The estimated sensitivity of the application was increased and the specificity was decreased with age. The CRADLE could provide to parents a useful tool for early detection of leukocoria. However, it was not able to differentiate the pathological for the physiological leukocoria due to specific conditions during photo shooting, and it definitely could not replace clinical evaluation with RRT and further examination. The researchers underlined that although pathological white pupils are usually signs of refractive errors or amblyopia and physiological leukocoria is a typical artifact of off-axis photography; recurrent white pupils in many photos are red flags. However, they made it clear that all cases of leukocoria in photographs should be investigated. More studies on these new technologies could empower the contribution of the RRT in diagnosing certain ocular pathologies of the pediatric population in the future.

DISCUSSION

RRT is a non-invasive, low-cost, essential diagnostic method, highly effective for the detection of several sight and life threatening ocular diseases. Its importance has been highlighted in 2016 by the AAP, American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus, American Academy of Ophthalmology and American Association of Certified Orthoptists who published the revised policy statement on "Visual System Assessment in Infants, Children, and Young Adults by Pediatricians" [37]. The policy recommended that RRT should be performed at every pediatrician visit for newborns and infants 0-6 mo and again at 6 mo, 12 mo, 1-3 years, 4-5 years and 6 years. Furthermore, it has been emphasized that cases with abnormal findings or with history of prematurity or family history of congenital cataracts, retinoblastoma,



metabolic disease or systemic diseases with suspicion of severe ocular disorders must be referred to the ophthalmologist immediately[37].

Despite its clinical importance, literature research revealed that there is heterogeneity worldwide, regarding current recommendations for RRT implementation. Indicatively, some of the different strategies of European countries are hereby presented. In the United Kingdom, healthy infants should be examined for red reflexes during the first 3 d of life and again between 6-8 wk^[47]. In Germany, the guidelines require repeated RRT at the ages of 4, 6, 12 and 24 mo. In Sweden, RRT is performed at birth and again at 4-6 wk[48]. In Greece, RRT is recommended at birth, at the age of 1-2 wk, 2 mo, 3-36 mo, and 36 mo-7 years[49]. Denmark and the recommendations by WHO do not include RRT in the pediatric vision screening but rather pencil light examination[38,50]. Remarkably, data from literature supported that RRT could never be replaced by pencil light examination, as the second tool seemed to be able to detect only advanced cases of cataract and retinoblastoma[17,38]. In Australia, each state and territory health department provides separate guidelines for pediatric vision screening. Most of the better quality guidelines recommended red reflex examination during newborn to 6 mo of age and later in the following years (from 18 mo to 3.5 years of age)[51]. The literature provides a little information about RRT recommendations in Asia and Africa. However, many countries, such as China and middle-low income countries, do not include RRT in the vision screening programs. The main reason may be the increased cost of eye examination from infancy[52].

Despite its clinical value, the RRT is not implemented by the entire pediatric community appropriately, as it is recommended. In order to improve the pediatricians' awareness and compliance with the current guidelines, prompt emphasis should be placed on the educational procedure of the physicians starting from university programs and during the years of pediatrics training. In this context, some researchers even suggested education videos on the internet[23,39]. The fact that many relevant articles are published only in ophthalmologic and not pediatric journals could be an obstacle for the pediatricians' awareness on RRT. Indicatively, 20 of the eligible articles for this review were available in pediatric journals, while the rest of them were published in non-pediatric journals.

The majority of the eligible articles of this review highlighted the importance of the RRT technique in the detection of certain pathologies (Table 3). On the other hand, Munson et al[46] considered the RRT as "dying art", since they focused on the limitations of the technique that have been described previously. However, the contribution of RRT in pediatric visual screening could be more promising in the future. New technologies based on red reflex may improve RRT's weak points[38,45,53]. Further investigation of these new devices and development of appropriate software is required in order to improve RRT accuracy on pediatric ocular diagnosis.

CONCLUSION

The present paper attempts to provide an updated review of the red reflex examination for the pediatrician. Published research indicates that the RRT should begin at birth and afterwards it should be an essential part of the routine clinical examination by pediatricians. Its simplicity and high sensitivity and specificity suggest that RRT should be part of the educational curriculum for every new pediatrician, since it will contribute to prompt diagnosis of many sight and life threatening conditions.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

Red eve reflex test (RRT) is a widely known examination that has been used by clinicians for the diagnosis of several ocular disorders. However, its implementation by pediatricians in the clinical practice still remains controversial. This study aims to highlight the importance of RRT and to provide a practical guide for its usage for pediatricians.

Research motivation

The literature data show insufficient implementation of the RRT. This result is in accordance with clinical observation in our country. Therefore, the present study could



contribute to raise pediatricians' awareness on this diagnostic tool.

Research objectives

The main objectives of the present study were the assessment of RRT value in specific disorders (such as retinoblastoma and congenital cataract) and the compliance of the clinicians with current guidelines. Moreover, this article investigated reported limitations of this diagnostic technique and motivated future research for the improvement of this method through new technological achievements.

Research methods

A thorough search on PubMed databases took place by two independent reviewers.

Research results

Eligible articles highlighted the significance of the RRT in the diagnosis of sight threatening or even life threatening eye pathologies. The implementation rates seemed to present a wide range among the countries. This fact, underlines the need for appropriate education and official guidelines from health systems.

Research conclusions

This study demonstrates why pediatricians should include the RRT in their clinical practice and provides a practical guide for the prompt implementation of this diagnostic examination. Further investigations are in progress in order to overcome the main limitations of the traditional red reflex examination.

Research perspectives

The rapid progress of technology achievements should improve the usage of the traditional red reflex method, making it easier and more efficient.

REFERENCES

- Nye C. A child's vision. Pediatr Clin North Am 2014; 61: 495-503 [PMID: 24852147 DOI: 1 10.1016/j.pcl.2014.03.001]
- 2 de Aguiar AS, Ximenes LB, Lúcio IM, Pagliuca LM, Cardoso MV. Association of the red reflex in newborns with neonatal variables. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2011; 19: 309-316 [PMID: 21584377 DOI: 10.1590/s0104-11692011000200012]
- Eventov-Friedman S, Leiba H, Flidel-Rimon O, Juster-Reicher A, Shinwell ES. The red reflex 3 examination in neonates: an efficient tool for early diagnosis of congenital ocular diseases. Isr Med Assoc J 2010; 12: 259-261 [PMID: 20929074]
- American Academy of Pediatrics. Section on Ophthalmology; American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology And Strabismus; American Academy of Ophthalmology; American Association of Certified Orthoptists. Red reflex examination in neonates, infants, and children. Pediatrics 2008; 122: 1401-1404 [PMID: 19047263 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2008-2624]
- 5 Litmanovitz I, Dolfin T. Red reflex examination in neonates: the need for early screening. Isr Med Assoc J 2010; 12: 301-302 [PMID: 20929085]
- 6 Cagini C, Tosi G, Stracci F, Rinaldi VE, Verrotti A. Red reflex examination in neonates: evaluation of 3 years of screening. Int Ophthalmol 2017; 37: 1199-1204 [PMID: 27822637 DOI: 10.1007/s10792-016-0393-2]
- Loh AR, Chiang MF. Pediatric Vision Screening. Pediatr Rev 2018; 39: 225-234 [PMID: 29716965 7 DOI: 10.1542/pir.2016-0191]
- 8 Donahue SP, Baker CN; Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine, American Academy of Pediatrics; Section on Ophthalmology, American Academy of Pediatrics; American Association of Certified Orthoptists; American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus; American Academy of Ophthalmology. Procedures for the Evaluation of the Visual System by Pediatricians. Pediatrics 2016; 137 [PMID: 26644488 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2015-3597]
- 9 Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG; PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009; 6: e1000097 [PMID: 19621072 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097]
- 10 Effective Public Health Practice Project. Quality assessment tool for quantitative studies. [cited 15 May 2021]. Available from: https://www.nccmt.ca/knowledge-repositories/search/14
- Li J, Coats DK, Fung D, Smith EO, Paysse E. The detection of simulated retinoblastoma by using 11 red-reflex testing. *Pediatrics* 2010; **126**: e202-e207 [PMID: 20587677 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2009-0882]
- 12 Gurney SP, Makanjuola T, Kutubi M, Parulekar M, Abbott J. How to use...the direct ophthalmoscope. Arch Dis Child Educ Pract Ed 2018; 103: 102-109 [PMID: 28935833 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2016-312378
- 13 Levin AV. Err on the side of caution if concerns arise during red reflex test. AAP News 2015; 36: 12



- 14 Sloot F, Hoeve HL, de Kroon ML, Goedegebure A, Carlton J, Griffiths HJ, Simonsz HJ; EUS€REEN Study Group. Inventory of current EU paediatric vision and hearing screening programmes. J Med Screen 2015; 22: 55-64 [PMID: 25742803 DOI: 10.1177/0969141315572403]
- 15 Wan MJ, VanderVeen DK. Eye disorders in newborn infants (excluding retinopathy of prematurity). Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2015; 100: F264-F269 [PMID: 25395469 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306215
- Tuli SY, Giordano BP, Kelly M, Fillipps D, Tuli SS. Newborn with an absent red reflex. J Pediatr 16 Health Care 2013; 27: 51-55 [PMID: 22197583 DOI: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2011.10.010]
- 17 Ozkurt Z, Balsak S, Yildirim Y, Yuksel H, Caca I. Associations between red reflex abnormality, consanguinity and intensive care hospitalization of newborns in Turkey. East Mediterr Health J 2018; 24: 631-636 [PMID: 30215472 DOI: 10.26719/2018.24.7.631]
- 18 Kliegman, Robert. Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. Edition 21. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier, 2020
- 19 Bell AL, Rodes ME, Collier Kellar L. Childhood eye examination. Am Fam Physician 2013; 88: 241-248 [PMID: 23944727]
- Balmer A, Munier F. Differential diagnosis of leukocoria and strabismus, first presenting signs of 20 retinoblastoma. Clin Ophthalmol 2007; 1: 431-439 [PMID: 19668520]
- 21 Mansoor N, Mansoor T, Ahmed M. Eye pathologies in neonates. Int J Ophthalmol 2016; 9: 1832-1838 [PMID: 28003988 DOI: 10.18240/ijo.2016.12.22]
- 22 Ademola-Popoola DS, Opocher E, Reddy MA. Contemporary management of retinoblastoma in the context of a low-resource country. Niger Postgrad Med J 2019; 26: 69-79 [PMID: 31187745 DOI: 10.4103/npmj.npmj 21 19
- Abramson DH, Beaverson K, Sangani P, Vora RA, Lee TC, Hochberg HM, Kirszrot J, Ranjithan M. 23 Screening for retinoblastoma: presenting signs as prognosticators of patient and ocular survival. Pediatrics 2003; 112: 1248-1255 [PMID: 14654593 DOI: 10.1542/peds.112.6.1248]
- reflex examination in infants. Section on Ophthalmology. American Academy of Pediatrics. 24 Pediatrics 2002; 109: 980-981 [PMID: 11986467]
- 25 Li LH, Li N, Zhao JY, Fei P, Zhang GM, Mao JB, Rychwalski PJ. Findings of perinatal ocular examination performed on 3573, healthy full-term newborns. Br J Ophthalmol 2013; 97: 588-591 [PMID: 23426739 DOI: 10.1136/bjophthalmol-2012-302539]
- Butros LJ, Abramson DH, Dunkel IJ. Delayed diagnosis of retinoblastoma: analysis of degree, cause, 26 and potential consequences. Pediatrics 2002; 109: E45 [PMID: 11875173 DOI: 10.1542/peds.109.3.e45]
- 27 Hay WW, Levin MJ, Deterding RR, Abzug MJ. Current Diagnosis & Treatment Pediatrics, McGraw-Hill; 23rd Edition, Lange, 2016
- 28 Sun M, Ma A, Li F, Cheng K, Zhang M, Yang H, Nie W, Zhao B. Sensitivity and Specificity of Red Reflex Test in Newborn Eye Screening. J Pediatr 2016; 179: 192-196.e4 [PMID: 27640356 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.08.048]
- DerKinderen DJ, Koten JW, Van Romunde LK, Nagelkerke NJ, Tan KE, Beemer FA, Den Otter W. 29 Early diagnosis of bilateral retinoblastoma reduces death and blindness. Int J Cancer 1989; 44: 35-39 [PMID: 2744895 DOI: 10.1002/ijc.2910440107]
- Goddard AG, Kingston JE, Hungerford JL. Delay in diagnosis of retinoblastoma: risk factors and 30 treatment outcome. Br J Ophthalmol 1999; 83: 1320-1323 [PMID: 10574806 DOI: 10.1136/bjo.83.12.1320]
- Bhatti TR, Dott M, Yoon PW, Moore CA, Gambrell D, Rasmussen SA. Descriptive epidemiology of 31 infantile cataracts in metropolitan Atlanta, GA, 1968-1998. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2003; 157: 341-347 [PMID: 12695229 DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.157.4.341]
- 32 Rajavi Z, Sabbaghi H. Congenital Cataract Screening. J Ophthalmic Vis Res 2016; 11: 310-312 [PMID: 27621790 DOI: 10.4103/2008-322X.188389]
- 33 Gogate P, Gilbert C, Zin A. Severe visual impairment and blindness in infants: causes and opportunities for control. Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol 2011; 18: 109-114 [PMID: 21731320 DOI: 10.4103/0974-9233.80698
- 34 Haargaard B, Nyström A, Rosensvärd A, Tornqvist K, Magnusson G. The Pediatric Cataract Register (PECARE): analysis of age at detection of congenital cataract. Acta Ophthalmol 2015; 93: 24-26 [PMID: 25613125 DOI: 10.1111/aos.12445]
- 35 Atiq M, Iqbal S, Ibrahim S. Sengers disease: a rare association of hypertrophic cardiomyopathy and congenital cataracts. Indian J Pediatr 2004; 71: 437-440 [PMID: 15163876 DOI: 10.1007/BF02725636]
- 36 Meier P, Sterker I, Tegetmeyer H. [Leucocoria in childhood]. Klin Monbl Augenheilkd 2006; 223: 521-527 [PMID: 16804823 DOI: 10.1055/s-2005-859005]
- 37 Donahue SP, Nixon CN; Section on Opthamology, American Academy of Pediatrics; Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine, American Academy of Pediatrics; American Academy of Ophthalmology; American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus; American Association of Certified Orthoptists. Visual System Assessment in Infants, Children, and Young Adults by Pediatricians. Pediatrics 2016; 137: 28-30 [PMID: 29756730 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2015-3596]
- 38 Mndeme FG, Mmbaga BT, Kim MJ, Sinke L, Allen L, Mgaya E, Bastawrous A, MacLeod D, Burton MJ, Gilbert C, Bowman R. Red reflex examination in reproductive and child health clinics for early detection of paediatric cataract and ocular media disorders: cross-sectional diagnostic accuracy and feasibility studies from Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. Eye (Lond) 2021; 35: 1347-1353 [PMID: 32546747



DOI: 10.1038/s41433-020-1019-51

- Magnusson G, Bizjajeva S, Haargaard B, Lundström M, Nyström A, Tornqvist K. Congenital 39 cataract screening in maternity wards is effective: evaluation of the Paediatric Cataract Register of Sweden. Acta Paediatr 2013; 102: 263-267 [PMID: 23205674 DOI: 10.1111/apa.12111]
- 40 Gürsel Özkurt Z, Balsak S, Çamçi MS, Bilgen K, KatranİH, Aslan A, Han ÇÇ. Approach of Family Physicians to Pediatric Eye Screening in Diyarbakır. Turk J Ophthalmol 2019; 49: 25-29 [PMID: 30829022 DOI: 10.4274/tjo.galenos.2018.10829]
- 41 Ulanovsky I, Shnaider M, Geffen Y, Smolkin T, Mashiach T, Blazer S, Makhoul IR. Performing red reflex eye examinations increases the rate of neonatal conjunctivitis. Acta Paediatr 2015; 104: e541e545 [PMID: 26362116 DOI: 10.1111/apa.13170]
- Raoof N, Dai S. Red reflex screening in New Zealand: a large survey of practices and attitudes in the 42 Auckland region. N Z Med J 2016; 129: 38-43 [PMID: 27447134]
- 43 Lúcio IML. MétodoEducativo para a prática do teste do reflexovermelho no cuidadoaorecémnascido. [tese de doutorado]. Fortaleza (CE): Departamento de Enfermagem da Universidade Federal do Ceará 2008; 137
- Wall TC, Marsh-Tootle W, Evans HH, Fargason CA, Ashworth CS, Hardin JM. Compliance with 44 vision-screening guidelines among a national sample of pediatricians. Ambul Pediatr 2002; 2: 449-455 [PMID: 12437391 DOI: 10.1367/1539-4409(2002)002<0449:cwvsga>2.0.co;2]
- 45 Gupta R, Agrawal S, Srivastava RM, Singh V, Katiyar V. Smartphone photography for screening amblyogenic conditions in children. Indian J Ophthalmol 2019; 67: 1560-1563 [PMID: 31546480 DOI: 10.4103/ijo.IJO_2090_18]
- 46 Munson MC, Plewman DL, Baumer KM, Henning R, Zahler CT, Kietzman AT, Beard AA, Mukai S, Diller L, Hamerly G, Shaw BF. Autonomous early detection of eye disease in childhood photographs. Sci Adv 2019; 5: eaax6363 [PMID: 31616792 DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.aax6363]
- 47 Mazzone P, Carlton J, Griffiths H. Summary Vision Screening Data: England & Wales, 2018. Available from: https://www.euscreen.org/
- Mazzone P, Carlton J, Griffiths H. Summary Vision Screening Data: Sweden. EU Screening vision 48 & hearing. Available from: https://www.euscreen.org/
- Mazzone P, Carlton J, Griffiths H. Summary Vision Screening Data: Greece. EU Screening vision 49 & hearing. Available from: https://www.euscreen.org/
- Mazzone P, Carlton J, Griffiths H. Summary Vision Screening Data: Denmark, 2018. Available 50 from: https://www.euscreen.org/
- 51 Murdoch Childrens Research Institute. National children's vision screening project, Centre for Community Child Health (CCCH). Available from: https://www.rch.org.au/ccch/
- Chen AH, Abu Bakar NF, Arthur P. Comparison of the pediatric vision screening program in 18 52 countries across five continents. J Curr Ophthalmol 2019; 31: 357-365 [PMID: 31844783 DOI: 10.1016/j.joco.2019.07.006
- 53 Committee on Practice and Ambulatory Medicine, Section on Ophthalmology; American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus; American Academy of Ophthalmology. Eye examination in infants, children, and young adults by pediatricians. Pediatrics 2003; 111: 902-907 [PMID: 12671132]
- Anderson J. Don't Miss This! J Binocul Vis Ocul Motil 2019; 69: 106-109 [PMID: 31329054 DOI: 54 10.1080/2576117X.2019.1607429





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com



World Journal of *Methodology*

World J Methodol 2021 November 20; 11(6): 278-301





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

World Journal of Methodology

Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 6 November 20, 2021

MINIREVIEWS

Preterm nutrition and neurodevelopmental outcomes 278

Skinner AM, Narchi H

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

294 Comparison of indirect immunofluorescence and western blot method in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections

Vilibic-Cavlek T, Barbic L, Stevanovic V, Savic V, Mrzljak A, Bogdanic M, Tabain I



Contents

Bimonthly Volume 11 Number 6 November 20, 2021

ABOUT COVER

Editorial Board Member of World Journal of Methodology, Pupalan Iyngkaran, MBBS, FRACP, Adjunct Senior Lecturer, University of Notre Dame, Werribee Mercy Sub School, School of Medicine Sydney, Northcote, Victoria 3070, Australia. pupalan.iyngkaran@nd.edu.au

AIMS AND SCOPE

The primary aim of World Journal of Methodology (WJM, World J Methodol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of methodology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WJM mainly publishes articles reporting research results obtained in the field of methodology and covering a wide range of topics including breath tests, cardiac imaging techniques, clinical laboratory techniques, diagnostic self-evaluation, cardiovascular diagnostic techniques, digestive system diagnostic techniques, endocrine diagnostic techniques, neurological diagnostic techniques, obstetrical and gynecological diagnostic techniques, ophthalmological diagnostic techniques, otological diagnostic techniques, radioisotope diagnostic techniques, respiratory system diagnostic techniques, surgical diagnostic techniques, etc.

INDEXING/ABSTRACTING

The WJM is now abstracted and indexed in PubMed, PubMed Central, China National Knowledge Infrastructure (CNKI), China Science and Technology Journal Database (CSTJ), and Superstar Journals Database.

RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE

Production Editor: Xu Guo; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Ji-Hong Liu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Methodology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204		
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS		
ISSN 2222-0682 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287		
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH		
September 26, 2011	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240		
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS		
Bimonthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288		
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT		
Gerhard Litscher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208		
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE		
https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242		
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS		
November 20, 2021	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239		
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION		
© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com		

© 2021 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com https://www.wjgnet.com



W J M

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 November 20; 11(6): 278-293

DOI: 10.5662/wim.v11.i6.278

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

Preterm nutrition and neurodevelopmental outcomes

Alyson Margaret Skinner, Hassib Narchi

ORCID number: Alyson Margaret Skinner 0000-0001-7723-8015; Hassib Narchi 0000-0001-6258-2657.

Author contributions: Both authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript; Narchi H designed the figure.

Conflict-of-interest statement: No conflict of interest.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: United Kingdom

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Alyson Margaret Skinner, Department of Paediatrics, Manor Hospital, Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust, Walsall WS2 9PS, West Midlands, United Kingdom

Alyson Margaret Skinner, Hassib Narchi, Department of Paediatrics, College of Medicine and Health Sciences, United Arab Emirates University, Al Ain PO Box 17666, United Arab Emirates

Corresponding author: Alyson Margaret Skinner, BPharm, BSc, FRCP, MBChB, MD, MSc, Doctor, Department of Paediatrics, Manor Hospital, Walsall Healthcare NHS Trust, Moat Road, Walsall WS2 9PS, West Midlands, United Kingdom. alysonskinner8@gmail.com

Abstract

Survival of preterm infants has been steadily improving in recent years because of many recent advances in perinatal and neonatal medicine. Despite these advances, the growth of survivors does not reach the ideal target level of the normal fetus of the same gestational age. Postnatal weight gain is often not achieved because extrauterine growth has higher energy requirements than intrauterine growth, due to the intensive care environment, illness and inadequate nutrition. Although many other factors influence infant brain development, including family socioeconomic and educational background, the role of nutrition is considerable and fortunately, amenable to intervention. In the preterm neonate, the brain is the most metabolically demanding organ, consuming the largest proportions of energy and nutrient intake for its function and programmed growth and maturation. Weight gain, linear and head circumference growth are all markers of nutritional status and are independently associated with long-term neurodevelopment. Brain development is not only the result of nutrients intake, but in addition, of the interaction with growth factors which depend on adequate nutrient supply and overall health status. This explains why conditions such as sepsis, necrotizing enterocolitis and chronic lung disease alter the distribution and accretion of nutrients thereby suppressing growth factor synthesis. In this review, we will focus on the direct role of nutrition on neurodevelopment, emphasizing why it should be started without delay. The nutritional requirements of the preterm infant will be discussed, followed by the effects of general nutritional interventions and specific nutrients, as well as the role of nutritional supplements on neurodevelopment. The primordial role of human breast milk, breast milk fortifiers and human milk oligosaccharides will be discussed in detail. We will also examine the role of nutrition in preventing neonatal complications which can affect neurodevelopment in their own right.

Key Words: Brain; Nutrition; Preterm infants; Neurodevelopmental outcomes; Newborn;



Grade A (Excellent): A Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: March 28, 2021 Peer-review started: March 28, 2021 First decision: June 17, 2021 Revised: July 13, 2021 Accepted: September 27, 2021 Article in press: September 27, 2021 Published online: November 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Zeng H S-Editor: Wang LL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Wang LL



Breast milk

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Survival of preterm infants has been steadily improving because of the many recent advances in perinatal and neonatal medicine. However, neither the growth of survivors reaches the ideal target level of the normal foetus of the same gestational age, nor is the optimum postnatal weight gain often achieved. In the preterm neonate, the brain is the most metabolically demanding organ. Growth is a marker of nutritional status and is also independently associated with long-term neurodevelopment. In this review, we will discuss the direct role of nutrition and the effect of general and specific nutritional interventions on neurodevelopment.

Citation: Skinner AM, Narchi H. Preterm nutrition and neurodevelopmental outcomes. World J Methodol 2021; 11(6): 278-293

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i6/278.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i6.278

INTRODUCTION

Survival of preterm infants has been steadily improving in recent years because of the many advances in perinatal and neonatal medicine, such as antenatal corticosteroids administration, surfactant therapy and novel mechanical ventilation modalities. Despite these advances, the growth of preterm infants, as indicated by anthropometric indices and body composition, does not reach the target level of the normal foetus of the same gestational age. Often optimal postnatal weight gain is not achieved because extrauterine growth has higher energy requirements than intrauterine growth, due to the intensive care environment, illnesses and inadequate provision of nutrition. The persisting suboptimal nutrition in survivors remains an issue and is associated with adverse outcomes, such as chronic lung disease (CLD), necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), sepsis and, more worrying, neurodevelopmental impairment, especially in the cognitive domains, which is increasing in prevalence^[1]. These adverse developmental outcomes can be secondary to abnormal brain development, postnatal brain injury and suboptimal nutrition occurring during hospital admission. Therefore, preterm birth can be considered a nutritional emergency.

Improved neurodevelopmental outcomes in extremely low birth weight (ELBW) infants are associated with a reduction in the incidence of CLD, apnea, intraventricular hemorrhage (IVH) and any associated nutritional deficiency[2]. Although many other factors influence infant brain development, not least family socioeconomic and educational background, the role of nutrition is considerable and fortunately, amenable to intervention[3].

In the preterm neonate, the brain is the most metabolically demanding organ and consumes the largest amount of energy and nutrients for its function and programmed growth and maturation[4]. Starting in the prenatal period and continuing until the second year of life, the development of the cerebral white and gray matter structures of the central nervous system (CNS) involves many processes, especially between 22 and 42 wk post-conception. Cell replication, neurogenesis, neuronal differentiation, cell migration, myelination, synaptogenesis, progression and regression of specific structures in different periods of development and neuroplasticity, are some of these processes[4]. The number of cell replication cycles in the CNS is decreased in malnutrition, thereby reducing total brain DNA and leading to a restriction in dendritic arborization and a reduction in the connections between neurons[5]. These cellular mechanisms affect the pre-oligodendrocyte, the widely disseminated activated microglia and the reactive astrocytes. As they occur over a relatively long time period, neurorestorative interventions, such as better nutrition can improve brain development^[6]. Also, alterations in dietary precursors may affect neurotransmitter levels, for example, serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine and acetylcholine in specific brain regions. In addition, essential and nonessential lipid components play an important role in the structural composition of the brain and of myelin sheaths. The



resulting CNS impairment, caused by these nutrient deficiencies, involves motor and cognitive development and social abilities. They are also associated with alterations in the sleep-wake cycle organization, neurovegetative activities during sleep, waking electroencephalographic (EEG) activity and visual and auditory evoked responses.

The neurodevelopment of premature babies is very sensitive to nutrition in the first few weeks of life, and these effects may be long lasting until the age of eight years^[7]. Cerebellar development is most affected by nutritional deprivation around the time of birth, and also, synaptic connectivity occurring before the third year of life. Nutrition is positively associated with weight gain, increased brain volumes and white matter maturation on magnetic resonance imaging at term equivalent age and neurodevelopment in infancy[7-9].

Adequate early nutrition may also attenuate the adverse effects of neonatal illness. Studies of EEG maturational age (EMA) during periods of quiet sleep which analysed spectral power, continuity and interhemispheric synchrony, have shown that a lower intake of calories and carbohydrate is associated with a greater reduction of spectral amplitude in the delta band. A lower protein intake was associated with higher discontinuity. In contrast, both higher proteins and lipid intake were associated with better developmental increase in interhemispheric synchrony and with brain activity maturation [10]. Increased caloric and protein intakes in preterm infants are associated with a higher fat free mass (a key marker for organ growth) and better neurodevelopment outcomes[11]. Protein and energy deficits in preterm nutrition are commonly associated with other nutritional deficiencies and also with psychosocial deprivation. Such interactions impact on the brain's structural development, disrupting neurodevelopment and adversely affecting cognitive performance[12].

Weight gain, linear and head circumference growth are all markers of nutritional status and are independently associated with long-term neurodevelopment. Brain development is not only a result of nutrients intake, but also of the interaction with growth factors, which depend on adequate nutrient status and overall health status. Sepsis, inflammation (occurring in NEC, CLD) and corticosteroids administration, alter the distribution and accretion of nutrients and suppress growth factor synthesis. Therefore, in addition to provision of adequate nutrients, strategies to reduce the incidence of these conditions are also required to optimise brain growth and development[4].

In this review, we will focus on the direct role of nutrition on neurodevelopment. First, we will discuss the nutritional requirements of the preterm infant, followed by the effects of general nutritional interventions, specific nutrients and nutritional supplements on neurodevelopment[9]. We will then examine the role of nutrition in preventing neonatal complications, such as sepsis, NEC and CLD, which can also affect neurodevelopment in their own right (Figure 1)[4,13].

NUTRITIONAL REQUIREMENTS

Macronutrients refer to carbohydrates, fats and proteins while micronutrients include trace elements, electrolytes, and vitamins. Nutritional requirements, based on the estimated average requirement of a specific population group, are defined as the type and amount of nutrients needed to support normal health, growth and development. However, as preterm infants do not constitute a homogeneous population, their requirements must be individualised based on their clinical condition and developmental stage[14].

The high growth rate of premature infants requires a proportionally very high intake of all nutrients. With the general assumption that adequate postnatal growth should approximate the in-utero growth of a normal foetus, nutrient requirements were initially derived from postmortem measurement of the size and body composition of fetuses at varying gestational ages. The resulting nutritional intakes were estimated as the amounts required to replicate intrauterine rates of growth and nutrient accretion. The traditional method for estimating protein requirement is the factorial method, based on the body composition of the foetus with an estimate of the inevitable urinary nitrogen losses (occurring even in the absence of nitrogen intake) and of the amount deposited in-utero for accretion of tissue, corrected for efficiency of absorption and deposition[15]. Improvements to this model now take into account, not only the estimation of intrauterine accretion rate, organ development and factorial estimates of requirements, but also nutrient interactions, supplemental feeding and long-term developmental outcomes[16].

Zaishidene® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 1 Direct effect of nutrients on brain development of the preterm infant and indirect impacts in preventing some neonatal complications, which can affect neurodevelopment in their own right. PN: Parenteral nutrition; LCPUFA: Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids; IGF-1: Insulin-like growth factor 1; HMOs: Human milk oligosaccharides; CLD: Chronic lung disease; NEC: Necrotising enterocolitis.

Energy, stored in the body in the form of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), is required for several cellular and organ functions. Preterm infants have low energy reserves because they are born before adequate accumulation of fat and glycogen has occurred. In healthy premature infants, a recommended daily energy intake of 110-130 kcal/kg/day allows a growth rate similar to that of the intrauterine growth rate. For the neonate, carbohydrates are the main energy source (4 kcal/gram), in the form of glucose. Glucose synthetic rates in preterm infants are much higher at 6-8 mg/kg/min compared to 3-5 mg/kg/min in term infants. Because of their high energy-density (9 kcal/gram), fats or lipids are a very good source of energy. In addition, they also provide essential fatty acids indispensable for brain and visual development. Proteins are essential for normal growth and development (see below). After the initial free water diuresis, 2-3 mmol/kg/day of sodium and potassium (as a minimum) will be required to maintain serum levels in the normal range. Preterm infants often develop low sodium levels in the second week of life due to renal immaturity resulting in sodium loss. A normal serum sodium level is a requirement for adequate growth. Calcium, magnesium and phosphorus are essential for tissue structure and function. Vitamins are important for growth and development facilitating many reactions in intermediary metabolism. Preterm infants have low body stores of fat-soluble vitamins at birth due to limited transfer of lipid-soluble substrate across the placenta and, therefore, provision of the latter should be started as soon as lipid containing parenteral nutrition is initiated. A summary of the high nutrient requirements of the preterm infant is shown in Table 1. Human milk alone cannot provide the nutritional needs (especially protein) of preterm infants and requires fortification.

Providing preterm infants with adequate nutritional support presents unique challenges. Failure to provide adequate nutrient intakes at all stages of development places them at risk of impaired neurodevelopment. Therefore, every effort must thus be made to meet their complete nutritional needs from birth[15]. The main and most important reasons for growth failure in premature infants are the physiological limitations preventing the provision of nutrients by enteral feeding. This, in turn is compounded by the very high nutritional needs. Provision of nutrients has to take into account the immaturity of the intestinal tract, a major risk factor for the development of NEC. To overcome this, parenteral nutrition is used during the early days and often weeks of life. Although there are problems associated with parenteral nutrition, especially that of infection, failure to provide nutrients parenterally would place these infants at high risk of impaired neurodevelopment and host defenses. Providing early nutrient intakes by the parenteral route or with breast milk when possible, are therefore crucial to optimise long-term health outcomes[3].



Skinner AM et al. Preterm nutrition

Table 1 Nutritional requirements ¹						
Body weight	500-1000 g	1000-1500 g	1500-2200 g	2200-3000g		
Foetal weight gain (g/kg/d)	19.0	17.4	16.4	13.4		
Protein(g/kg/d)	4.0	3.9	3.7	3.4		
Energy (kcal/kg/d)	106	115	123	130		
Protein/energy (g/100 kcal)	3.8	3.4	3.0	2.6		
Glucose	6-8 mg/kg/min					
Lipids	2.5-3.5 g/kg/d					
Calcium	60-90 mg/kg/d					
Phosphorus	40-70 mg/kg/d					

¹Estimated by factorial and empirical methods, derived from several references in this article[14-16].

INDIVIDUAL NUTRIENTS DIRECTLY AFFECTING NEURODEVELOPMENT IN PRETERM INFANTS

Caloric intake

Caloric intake in a large population of extremely premature infants (born < 28 wk' gestation) was associated with the development of retinopathy of prematurity (ROP) [17]. In preterm infants, caloric deprivation is associated with a significantly low composite score on Bayley-III scales performance at 18-24 mo corrected age[13]. In the same study, late onset sepsis, NEC, and CLD were also found to be risk factors for impaired neurodevelopment. Improving nutritional support, specifically total caloric intake is therefore necessary to prevent neurodevelopment impairment.

Protein

Adequate protein intake is crucial for satisfactory growth and neurodevelopment in preterm infants. It has been recommended that a high protein intake starts on day 1 of life to limit extrauterine growth restriction, which in itself negatively affects neurodevelopment. Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies in the first month of life in extremely preterm infants, who had received early nutrition, demonstrated larger brain volumes in those who had received a higher protein and caloric intake than controls[18]. In very low birth weight (VLBW) newborns, serial cranial ultrasound measurements of the size of several brain structures in the first month of life showed a positive correlation between enteral protein intake and brain volume[19]. Supplemental enteral proteins were also shown to reduce postnatal growth restriction and improve neurological outcomes in preterm infants < 1000 g and in small for gestational age (SGA) infants (birth weight < 10^{th} percentile)[20]. Similarly, parenteral amino acid intake within the first two weeks of life was correlated with neurodevelopmental outcomes at 2 years, with higher language and motor scores on the 2-year Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development (Bayley III)[21].

However, not all studies have reported a consistently positive relationship between early protein intake and neurocognitive outcomes. Protein supplementation in very low birth weight infants (VLBW) (birth weight < 1500 g) showed a significant positive correlation with neurological development in communication, auditory, verbal language, cognitive function, social connection and gross motor development, but not with fine motor, problem solving or personal-social relationships in the third year of life[22]. However, this study involved small population numbers and protein supplementation was stopped when the infants weighed 1500 g. In preterm infants born before 32 wk' gestation or with birth weight < 1500 g, addition of fortifier to expressed human milk to increase protein intake, was associated with better head growth and weight gain at 40 wk' postmenstrual age. However, this intervention had no benefits on long-term growth and neurodevelopment at 12 to 18 mo corrected age[23]. Likewise, early aggressive parenteral nutrition with high-dose amino acids and mixed fat emulsions did not improve neurodevelopmental scores of VLBW infants, nor decrease the incidence of major disabilities[24]. Again this study included a small study population divided into 5 groups with different parenteral feeding regimes.

Fats and long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids

Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA), including docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (ARA), are essential for neurodevelopment and normal vision. In-utero DHA accretion occurs primarily in the last trimester of pregnancy supporting rapid growth and brain development. Premature infants, born before the completion of this process are therefore relatively deficient in these essential fatty acids. This deficiency persists for a long period after birth because of ineffective conversion from precursor fatty acids, lower fat stores, and limited nutritional provision of DHA and ARA. Besides long-term visual and neurodevelopmental risks, very preterm infants have significant morbidity and mortality from diseases specific to premature birth, including CLD, NEC and ROP. There is increasing evidence that DHA has protective benefits against these complications^[25]. The ratio of n-3 to n-6 LCPUFAs, which generates eicosanoids, is important in moderating the effects of hypoxia, inflammation, infection, thrombosis and oxidative damage of key organs such as the lungs, brain and retina^[26]. These actions improve the prognosis for ELBW and VLBW infants. By providing LCPUFAs, including DHA, breastfeeding improves cognitive development, especially in infants with a proven lower activity of DHA synthesis[27].

The outcomes of supplementation with PUFAs are still contested. Although early PUFAs supplementation in preterm infants had a positive impact on early childhood psychomotor development and visual acuity, they had no significant effects on global intelligence quotient (IQ) in childhood[28]. Similarly, a metanalysis of LCPUFAs supplementation in preterm infants showed a significant improvement in their neurodevelopment (assessed by the Mental Development Index of the Bayley Scales at one to three years of age). Supplementation during lactation accelerated neurodevelopment but their final developmental outcome remained unchanged[29]. Other studies have shown no beneficial effect of early high-dose mixed fat emulsions on neurodevelopment of VLBW infants[24,30]. Studies of formula milk supplemented with LCPUFAs showed mixed results, some reporting better psychomotor outcomes [31] while others showed no long-term benefits on visual or psychomotor development[32]. Infants enrolled in the supplemented formula study were mature in general and the quality of evidence was low for both visual and neurodevelopmental outcomes. Current recommendations for follow-on formula suggest that they should contain omega-3 DHA equal to the mean content of human milk, and also AHA[33].

Iodine supplementation

Iodide supplementation in babies born before 31 wk' gestational age provided no benefit to neurodevelopment measured at 2 years of age[34]. Similarly, a large highquality study showed no beneficial effects of iodine supplementation for preterm infants^[35].

Iron supplementation

In infants born ≥ 34 wk gestational age, latent in-utero iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 75 ng/mL at birth) was associated with abnormal auditory neural maturation [36]. The age at which to begin iron supplementation remains controversial. It is often given from day 28 of life onwards, assuming until then, the infant has sufficient iron stores from the breakdown of fetal hemoglobin. As breast milk does not provide sufficient iron to sustain a premature infant's growth and normal haemopoietic function, breastfed infants require iron supplementation. Formula-fed babies do not need iron supplements as milk formulas are iron fortified.

BREAST MILK

Fresh maternal milk contains factors involved in antioxidant and anti-inflammatory defense[35], gut microbiome establishment and the maturation of immune defenses [37,38], feed tolerability and metabolism[39] and also protects infants against NEC [16]. For these and other reasons, human milk is the preferred choice for feeding premature infants. It reduces the risk of morbidities and promotes growth through elevated serum levels of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), an essential intrauterine hormonal mediator of growth[40].

Human milk contains critical nutrients and other neurotrophic factors that benefit the brain of preterm infants[41]. A systematic review of neurodevelopment outcomes of ex-preterm children found better test scores in those who had been fed breast milk compared with formula feeds, when evaluated in the first three years of life and also,



between the age of five to eleven years^[42]. In a prospective study of 316 VLBW infants, correcting for gestational age (GA), being born SGA, and for complications at birth and during hospital admission, better neurodevelopment at 24 mo corrected age was associated with breast milk feeds[43]. VLBW infants fed fortified human milk had increased head circumference velocity and decreased regional white matter diffusivity when assessed by magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging suggesting improved maturation of the cerebral connective tracts[44]. They also had improved visual perception as judged by their response to global motion^[45]. Brain MRI studies at term equivalent age, using network-based statistics, tract-based spatial statistics and volumetric analysis of white matter water diffusion parameters, reported that feeding with breast milk in the weeks after preterm birth was associated with improved structural connectivity of developing networks and greater fractional anisotropy (FA)weighted connectome in major white matter fasciculi[46]. There were also better outcomes observed in infants fed breast milk for more than 90% of their hospital admission duration compared with those who received breast milk for 75% of the same period.

When a mother expressed breast milk is unavailable, donor breast milk is used widely to feed premature babies. The methods used to process donor milk reduce the levels of protective and growth promoting factors found in fresh breast milk. However, donor milk still offers protection against NEC but remains inferior to fresh human milk in promoting the growth and development of very preterm infants[47].

Breast milk fortification

Human milk, although the preferred feeding for premature infants because of its protective effects, does not provide adequate amounts of nutrients to support the rapid growth and development of the premature baby and therefore, must be fortified. Failure to fortify mother's milk places the baby at risk of neurodevelopmental impairment. As mentioned earlier, an enhanced nutrient supply with breast milk fortification to VLBW infants was associated with increased head circumference growth and decreased regional white matter mean diffusivity seen on magnetic resonance diffusion tensor imaging, suggesting improved maturation of cerebral connective tracts[44]. A recent study of long-term outcomes of preterm infants fed an exclusive human milk-based diet using a donor human milk-based fortifier reported an absence of severe cognitive developmental delay using a cutoff score of 70 (Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development III) measured at 18-22 mo corrected gestational age (GA)[48].

Some controversies still exist. An earlier study showed no significant differences at 18 mo corrected age in mean Bayley-III cognitive composite score, language composite score, or motor composite score in VLBW infants fed fortified donor milk when compared with formula fed babies[49]. Similarly, a study of the balance of risks and benefits of feeding formula vs donor breast milk for preterm or LBW infants found no evidence of an effect on long-term neurodevelopment, although the level of evidence was moderate [50]. This may be explained by the effects of the pasteurisation process on donor milk causing reduced levels of the non-nutritive content. Even fewer data are available for growth and developmental outcomes assessed beyond infancy and many do not show consistent effects. Feeding with a nutrient enriched formula had no effect on Bayley Mental Development Index scores at 18 mo post term or on cerebral palsy, and there were no effects on long-term development[51].

Human milk oligosaccharides

Human breast milk has two types of carbohydrates, lactose and oligosaccharides. HMOs are indigestible unconjugated complex carbohydrates forming the third most abundant component of breast milk, after lactose and lipids. They are a complex mixture of over 200 non-digestible and non-nutritional carbohydrates. There are three main HMO categories based on their building blocks. The first category comprises non-fucosylated neutral (core) HMOs, which are the foundations upon which other HMOs are built, lacto-N-tetraose isomer (LNT) being the most abundant representative in this category. The fucosylated neutral HMOs form the second category, with 2'FL the most abundant fucosylated HMO and DFL (LDFT) among the 10 most abundant representatives in this group. The third category is composed of the sialyated acidic HMOs, 6'SL is the leading representative of this group followed by 3'SL.

In animal studies, using a genome-wide profiling of the intestinal epithelial transcriptome in response to HMOs, the latter were found to protect against NEC in part by altering the differentiation of the crypt-villus axis host transcriptome in 225 target genes involved in cell proliferation and differentiation, including upregulation



of the stem cell differentiation marker HMGCS2. HMOs also directly induced a series of biological processes to protect the intestine[52]. In another experiment, milk supplementation with 2'-FL and 6'-SL, but not lactose, prevented NEC in mice and piglet models and attenuated NEC inflammation in the ileum, in part through TLR4 inhibition with reduced apoptosis and inflammation[53].

In neonates, HMOs have been shown to decrease the incidence of late-onset sepsis and NEC, both conditions being associated with neurodevelopment impairment. Reducing the risk of these complications leads to less disruption of feeds which is also beneficial for normal neurodevelopment. In the premature baby's gut, HMOs and the microbiome of breast milk act as immunomodulatory agents that provide intestinal homeostasis through regulation of the microbiome and protection of the intestinal barrier, thereby protecting the premature baby at risk of NEC[54]. The concentrations of different HMOs found in neonates vary according to the lactation period and maternal secretory phenotype status[55]. Fucosyl--N-hexose (FDSLNH) was associated with a reduced risk of late-onset sepsis in VLBW infants[55].

An animal study examined the effect of HMOs on cognition, novel object recognition task, brain development, and hippocampal gene expression using magnetic resonance imaging procedures to assess structural brain development and hippocampal tissue analysis for mRNA expression. The results showed improved recognition memory and better absolute and relative volumes of the cortical and subcortical brain regions. Hippocampal mRNA expression of GABRB2, SLC1A7, CHRM3, and GLRA4 were also affected by HMOs[56].

Relative abundances of several individual HMOs were associated with normal growth and neurodevelopment in infants, mainly motor development at 12 mo, including ability to stand or walk alone. They were also associated with language skills, socioemotional development, executive function and working memory at 18 mo, mostly among secretors[57].

Microbiota and probiotics

While the newborn term microbiome is normally dominated by Bifidobacterium species, the microbial composition and functions in preterm babies has a higher initial percentage of Lactobacillaceae[58]. It has been established that intestinal dysbiosis, (abnormal microbial colonisation), can occur as a result of exogenous factors such as mode of delivery, formula feeding, and exposure to antibiotics. These factors predispose preterm infants to sepsis and NEC in association with an already existing impaired intestinal barrier and immature immunity. The prolonged use of antibiotics and parenteral nutrition were reported to have significant adverse effects on the Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium levels in the gut of preterm infants[59].

Inflammation and perinatal infection play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of white matter injury in preterm infants. Therefore, nutritional components with immunomodulatory and/or anti-inflammatory effects may serve as neuroprotective agents. There is growing evidence of the existence of a microbiome-gut-brain axis in which the microbiome interacts with the brain through immunological, endocrine, and neural pathways. Consequently, nutritional components that influence gut microbiota may also exert beneficial effects on the developing brain. Based on these properties, probiotics, prebiotic oligosaccharides, and certain amino acids may offer neuroprotection. Certain nutritional components may also have a neuroprotective role against white matter injury through modulation of inflammation and infection and may influence the microbiome-gut-brain axis[60].

As stated above, the normal term newborn microbiome is dominated by Bifidobacterium species but the establishment of abnormal microbial colonisation (intestinal dysbiosis) can be influenced by several factors, thereby increasing the risk of developing sepsis and NEC. Probiotics have been shown to reduce rates of necrotising enterocolitis (NEC), sepsis, and mortality[61]. However, research in this area has been complicated by studying different bacterial strains, administration of different doses of probiotics and for different time periods of administration. Provided all safety issues are met, it is currently recommended that either Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG ATCC53103 or the combination of Bifidobacterium infantis Bb-02, Bifidobacterium lactis Bb-12, and Streptococcus thermophilus TH-4 would help reduce the rates of NEC[62]. It is essential that probiotic strains should be devoid of transferable antibiotic resistance genes.

Zaishidena® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

MEDIUM AND LONG-TERM EFFECTS OF CONDITIONS INFLUENCED BY NUTRITION WHICH HAVE AN IMPACT ON NEURODEVELOPMENT

Growth

The long-term effect of inadequate early postnatal growth (EPG) is a growing concern. Poor head growth during hospital admission and post discharge is associated with delayed motor and cognitive development between 16 and 36 mo of age[63]. A systematic review of the relationship between EPG before 3 years of age and neurodevelopmental outcome, showed that EPG was positively associated with good neurodevelopmental outcome in a non-linear association, with a plateau attained with higher weight gain, suggesting a possible ceiling effect[64]. Similarly, post-discharge failure to thrive was found to be significantly correlated with poor neurodevelopmental outcomes. There was an association between lower body weight (< 3rd percentile) at corrected ages of 6, 12, and 24 mo and poor neurodevelopmental outcomes among 30% of VLBW premature infants[65]. Extra uterine growth retardation (EUGR) of VLBW infants is significantly associated with low mental development index (MDI) at a corrected age of 24 mo[66].

Studies examining the relationship between body composition and neurodevelopment in VLBW infants reported higher growth, fat mass and fat-free mass were associated with larger cerebellar volumes at term[67]. Also, greater fat-free mass (measured by air displacement plethysmography) gained by VLBW premature infants as inpatients, was associated with improved cognitive and motor scores at 12 months corrected age (CA)[68]. Increased provision of protein and calories during the first week of life is positively associated with fat-free mass gains, but not fat mass gains. Frondas-Chauty et al[69] reported a deficit of fat-free mass in VLBW infants at discharge was associated with neurological impairment at 24 mo (corrected age), independent of sex, GA and BW.

Necrotising enterocolitis, intestinal failure, and sepsis

NEC often occurs in premature infants at a time of rapid brain growth and development and is associated with poor neurodevelopmental outcomes. The pathogenesis of neurodevelopmental impairment following NEC is likely multi-factorial, involving both nutritional and non-nutritional factors[70]. A variety of circulating cytokines are known to be associated with white matter injury. There is also increased risk of secondary blood stream infections and subsequent nutritional compromise[71]. Breast milk, probiotics and lactoferrin have all been shown to reduce the incidence of NEC and late-onset sepsis[72].

NEC is also a major cause of intestinal failure (IF), which in turn is associated with developmental delay in multiple domains. While gross motor skills appear to be most significantly affected, cognitive deficits become more apparent at 26 months[73]. In children with IF assessed before 15 mo corrected age, 88% had abnormal general movements and over 50% had suspect or abnormal gross motor scores. Factors significantly associated with poorer outcomes at 12-15 mo included prematurity, low birth weight, CNS co-morbidity, longer neonatal intensive care admission, NEC, number of operations and conjugated hyperbilirubinemia. Thus, multiple risk factors contribute to early developmental delay in children with IF and close developmental follow-up is essential in these patients^[73].

GENERAL DIETARY INTERVENTION

Early feeding

As mentioned earlier, the preterm brain is very vulnerable to undernutrition in the first few weeks of life, even over a period as short as 4 wk, and these effects persist up to the age of 8 years[74]. Suboptimal nutrient intakes permanently affect later cognitive attainment and therefore, early nutrient intakes and breast milk provision are essential[3]. A positive association between several components of early nutrition, growth, brain volumes, white matter maturation, and neurodevelopment in infancy has been shown[7,75]. Immediate breast milk feeding results in elevated insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1), an essential intrauterine hormonal mediator of growth, measured at term, in the serum of preterm infants^[40]. Early administration of optimal postnatal parenteral and enteral nutrients helps to prevent neurodevelopmental impairment caused by extrauterine growth restriction, NEC, sepsis, CLD dysplasia, and ROP[72].



Early introduction of enteral feedings to stimulate or prime the gut even in the acutely ill preterm infant, is well tolerated [76,77]. Several metanalyses have shown the safety of early trophic feeding with breast milk within 48 h after birth and progressing the volume of enteral feeding before four days of life at a rate of 24 mL/kg/d in clinically stable very preterm and VLBW infants. These measures did not lead to higher mortality or an increased incidence of NEC[77,78].

However, despite the introduction of more aggressive early feeding guidelines and improved energy and nutrient intakes, many preterm infants do not achieve their recommended nutrition intake in the first week of life, especially those with morbidities^[79].

FEEDING IN PRACTICE

During the immediate postnatal period, the aim of nutritional support is twofold: i) to provide an early and uninterrupted flow of nutrients to ensure the anabolic state that existed in-utero continues with minimal or no interruption and ii) to stimulate the immature gastrointestinal tract to undergo maturation. However, as described above, early provision of the preterm infant with the recommended nutritional intakes is fraught with difficulties. The latter include comorbidities which preclude normal enteral feeding such as respiratory distress, haemodynamic instability and sepsis. Comorbidities also indirectly affect the delivery of adequate nutrition because a significant proportion of the total daily fluids may be used to deliver several medications, thereby limiting the amount of actual nutrition given to the baby. This problem can be overcome to some extent by concentrating the constituents of TPN in a smaller volume. In addition, gut immaturity limits the amount of enteral feed the baby will tolerate and is also a major risk factor for NEC, which will further impair enteral feeding. Furthermore, the high nutritional requirements cannot be fully provided immediately after birth and thus need progressive and cautious escalation. All these factors contribute to the risk of undernutrition with its resulting outcomes.

Strategy for nutritional support

Nutritional support of preterm infants occurs in four distinct phases, each with its own risks and challenges. During the early phase, nutrients are almost exclusively provided via the parenteral route, while small enteral feedings (gastrointestinal priming or trophic feeds) are used to stimulate the intestinal tract towards maturation. During the subsequent transition phase, enteral feeding is slowly advanced as the intestinal tract shows evidence of maturation, and parenteral nutrition is gradually phased out. During the late phase, infants are exclusively enteral fed and are expected to grow normally. If provided with the necessary nutrients, preterm infants may also show catch-up growth, making up for lost time during the early phase. Preterm infants continue to have special nutritional needs after discharge from hospital.

The importance of providing early nutrition has led to the use of parenteral nutrition immediately after birth with the knowledge that it differs from enteral nutrition in nutrient composition and carries the risk of infection. Nevertheless, the use of total parenteral nutrition (TPN) has contributed to improving survival rates and at its most fundamental level, it helps the newborn premature infant maintain a neutral nitrogen balance.

While nutrients are provided parenterally immediately after birth, starting trophic feeds with breast milk from day 1 of life, with volumes as low as 2 mL every 4 to 6 h, is the safest and most effective method of stimulating the intestinal tract and accelerating its maturation.[18]

When breast milk is not available, pasteurised donor milk (free of viruses such as HIV and cytomegalovirus) can be used for gastrointestinal priming. Although pasteurisation diminishes some of the protective and trophic factors of human milk, donor milk still remains protective against NEC and sepsis while maintaining trophic effects. Using gastrointestinal priming has been shown to lead to earlier establishment of full feedings and to earlier hospital discharge without an increase in morbidities. Moreover, earlier achievement of full feedings has been shown to decrease the risk of sepsis.

Increasing enteral feed volumes

Once intestinal tract maturation occurs, enteral nutrients can be progressively increased while parenteral nutrition is proportionally reduced before being discontinued. Gastrointestinal motility is a marker of gut maturation and is monitored by the



assessment of gastric residuals. Improving gastric emptying (facilitated by breast milk) reflects the improving ability to digest and absorb nutrients. Feeding volumes can be gradually increased by 20-25 mL/kg each day as gastric residuals permit. The absence of significant gastric residuals should be ascertained before feeding volume is further increased. Although more rapid increases in feed volumes have been achieved safely, intestinal maturation requires time and therefore more rapid increases are not necessary. Parenteral nutrition is usually maintained until enteral feedings reach 120 mL/kg/day after which it may be discontinued, provided the baby is tolerating enteral feeds.

Breast milk fortification

When feeding volumes of 80-100 mL/kg/day are tolerated, fortification of breast milk is usually initiated, although in some neonatal units, fortification is started at an earlier stage. Half-strength fortification may be tried before proceeding to full strength.

Once full feed volumes ($\geq 150 \text{ mL/kg/day}$) are established, the aim is to facilitate a growth rate similar to intrauterine growth. If the growth rate is not satisfactory, enteral intake may be increased by 10%-20%. The best nutrition is fortified human mother's milk or, when not available, fortified donor milk or special formulas with higher protein content (3.3-3.6 g/100 kcal). Babies should also be given multivitamins and, if being exclusively fed with expressed breast milk, iron supplements from day 28 onwards. It is important to measure serum sodium and phosphate levels regularly (minimum once weekly). Serum sodium levels should be kept in the normal range to facilitate the action of IGF1 at cellular level. Serum phosphate levels should be at least 2.0 mmol/L as the premature baby's requirement for phosphate is high, not only for bone development but also for intermediary metabolism.

After discharge from hospital, preterm infants continue to have high nutrient requirements in addition to potential accrued deficits in bone mineral content. There is therefore a need for continued fortification of human milk and mineral and vitamin supplementation or to feed with an enriched post-discharge formula.

DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

Despite the major improvements already made in preterm infant nutrition, several unknowns remain and should direct future research efforts. Many studies report historical data in small populations.

There is a lack of a standardised approach to report nutritional intake data and measures of outcomes. Also, there is substantial variation in methods used to estimate and calculate nutritional intakes, making comparison amongst studies difficult and meta-analysis unreliable. Future research should focus on the development of minimal reporting sets of standardised nutritional interventions, and an agreed checklist for standardised reporting of neonatal nutrition and core outcomes.

More research is needed to determine the optimal nutrition, growth rates and body composition in preterm infants that are associated with the best neurocognitive benefits while minimising the long-term risk of chronic diseases.

Adequately powered randomised controlled trials on the late commencement of parenteral nutrition in term and late preterm infants who have IF as well as trials of intensified initial parenteral nutrition are required. Also, large-scale adequately powered randomised controlled trials should determine the optimal intake of amino acids and the effects of caloric balance in parenteral nutrition on the brain and neurodevelopment. The comparison of different types and amounts of protein in multi-component fortifiers on long-term neurodevelopment merits further investigation.

Further studies investigating the interactions between maternal HMOs and the intestinal microbiome, and the identification of specific pathways by which individual HMO structures exert protective actions are needed. More information on the development of a simple, high-throughput method to allow full characterization of HMOs is required and also, to determine if a causal relation exists between HMOs and neurodevelopmental outcome.

That LCPUFAs, particularly DHA, provide beneficial effects on preterm infants needs further exploration. These potential effects include better neurological outcomes at 2 years and reduction in the incidence and severity of neonatal morbidities such as CLD, NEC, ROP and possibly sepsis. Knowing how LCPUFAs affect different steps of the immune and anti-inflammatory response would contribute to determining the optimal LCPUFA requirements for good neurodevelopmental outcomes.



CONCLUSION

Despite the many difficulties encountered in nutrition research, several studies to date have demonstrated a positive relationship between aspects of nutrition when optimised and growth and neurocognitive outcomes for premature babies. Survival rates of premature infants, including those born at the extremes of viability, have improved enormously but future research needs to address how better growth and neurodevelopmental outcomes may be achieved. As more knowledge becomes available, neonatologists and all those involved in neonatal care, can significantly improve nutritional management, particularly in terms of quality, thereby making a major contribution to the lives of individuals, families and society.

REFERENCES

- Nakanishi H, Suenaga H, Uchiyama A, Kono Y, Kusuda S; Neonatal Research Network, Japan. 1 Trends in the neurodevelopmental outcomes among preterm infants from 2003-2012: a retrospective cohort study in Japan. J Perinatol 2018; 38: 917-928 [PMID: 29679045 DOI: 10.1038/s41372-018-0061-7]
- Asami M, Kamei A, Nakakarumai M, Shirasawa S, Akasaka M, Araya N, Tanifuji S, Chida S. 2 Intellectual outcomes of extremely preterm infants at school age. Pediatr Int 2017; 59: 570-577 [PMID: 27935152 DOI: 10.1111/ped.13215]
- 3 Embleton ND. Early nutrition and later outcomes in preterm infants. World Rev Nutr Diet 2013; 106: 26-32 [PMID: 23428677 DOI: 10.1159/000342553]
- 4 Ramel SE, Georgieff MK. Preterm nutrition and the brain. World Rev Nutr Diet 2014; 110: 190-200 [PMID: 24751630 DOI: 10.1159/000358467]
- Dobbing J, Hopewell JW, Lynch A. Vulnerability of developing brain. VII. Permanent deficit of neurons in cerebral and cerebellar cortex following early mild undernutrition. Exp Neurol 1971; 32: 439-447 [PMID: 5110226 DOI: 10.1016/0014-4886(71)90010-0]
- 6 Volpe JJ. Dysmaturation of Premature Brain: Importance, Cellular Mechanisms, and Potential Interventions. Pediatr Neurol 2019; 95: 42-66 [PMID: 30975474 DOI: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2019.02.016]
- 7 Coviello C, Keunen K, Kersbergen KJ, Groenendaal F, Leemans A, Peels B, Isgum I, Viergever MA, de Vries LS, Buonocore G, Carnielli VP, Benders MJNL. Effects of early nutrition and growth on brain volumes, white matter microstructure, and neurodevelopmental outcome in preterm newborns. Pediatr Res 2018; 83: 102-110 [PMID: 28915232 DOI: 10.1038/pr.2017.227]
- 8 Sammallahti S, Kajantie E, Matinolli HM, Pyhälä R, Lahti J, Heinonen K, Lahti M, Pesonen AK, Eriksson JG, Hovi P, Järvenpää AL, Andersson S, Raikkonen K. Nutrition after preterm birth and adult neurocognitive outcomes. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0185632 [PMID: 28957424 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0185632
- Schneider J, Fischer Fumeaux CJ, Duerden EG, Guo T, Foong J, Graz MB, Hagmann P, Chakravarty MM, Hüppi PS, Beauport L, Truttmann AC, Miller SP. Nutrient Intake in the First Two Weeks of Life and Brain Growth in Preterm Neonates. Pediatrics 2018; 141 [PMID: 29440285 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2017-2169
- Marchi V, Stevenson N, Koolen N, Mazziotti R, Moscuzza F, Salvadori S, Pieri R, Ghirri P, Guzzetta 10 A, Vanhatalo S. Measuring Cot-Side the Effects of Parenteral Nutrition on Preterm Cortical Function. Front Hum Neurosci 2020; 14: 69 [PMID: 32256325 DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00069]
- Ramel SE, Haapala J, Super J, Boys C, Demerath EW. Nutrition, Illness and Body Composition in 11 Very Low Birth Weight Preterm Infants: Implications for Nutritional Management and Neurocognitive Outcomes. Nutrients 2020; 12 [PMID: 31947964 DOI: 10.3390/nu12010145]
- Ehrenkranz RA, Dusick AM, Vohr BR, Wright LL, Wrage LA, Poole WK. Growth in the neonatal 12 intensive care unit influences neurodevelopmental and growth outcomes of extremely low birth weight infants. Pediatrics 2006; 117: 1253-1261 [PMID: 16585322 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2005-1368]
- Lithoxopoulou M, Rallis D, Christou H, Goutsiou E, Varaklioti A, Karagianni P, Tsakalidis C, 13 Domeyer P, Kuriakeli G, Soubasi V. Early caloric deprivation in preterm infants affects Bayley-III scales performance at 18-24 mo of corrected age. Res Dev Disabil 2019; 91: 103429 [PMID: 31272067 DOI: 10.1016/j.ridd.2019.103429]
- Thureen P, Heird WC. Protein and energy requirements of the preterm/Low birthweight (LBW) 14 infant. Pediatr Res 2005; 57: 95R-98R [PMID: 15817496 DOI: 10.1203/01.PDR.0000160434.69916.34]
- 15 Ziegler EE. Meeting the nutritional needs of the low-birth-weight infant. Ann Nutr Metab 2011; 58 Suppl 1: 8-18 [PMID: 21701163 DOI: 10.1159/000323381]
- 16 Klein CJ. Nutrient requirements for preterm infant formulas. J Nutr 2002; 132: 1395S-1577S [PMID: 12042465 DOI: 10.1093/jn/132.6.13958]
- 17 VanderVeen DK, Martin CR, Mehendale R, Allred EN, Dammann O, Leviton A; ELGAN Study Investigators. Early nutrition and weight gain in preterm newborns and the risk of retinopathy of prematurity. PLoS One 2013; 8: e64325 [PMID: 23734194 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064325]
- van Beek PE, Claessens NHP, Makropoulos A, Groenendaal F, de Vries LS, Counsell SJ, Benders



MJNL. Increase in Brain Volumes after Implementation of a Nutrition Regimen in Infants Born Extremely Preterm. J Pediatr 2020; 223: 57-63.e5 [PMID: 32389719 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.04.063]

- 19 Terrin G, De Nardo MC, Boscarino G, Di Chiara M, Cellitti R, Ciccarelli S, Gasparini C, Parisi P, Urna M, Ronchi B, Russo A, Sabatini G, De Curtis M. Early Protein Intake Influences Neonatal Brain Measurements in Preterms: An Observational Study. Front Neurol 2020; 11: 885 [PMID: 32982918 DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2020.00885]
- Biasini A, Monti F, Laguardia MC, Stella M, Marvulli L, Neri E. High protein intake in 20 human/maternal milk fortification for ≤ 1250 gr infants: intrahospital growth and neurodevelopmental outcome at two years. Acta Biomed 2018; 88: 470-476 [PMID: 29350662 DOI: 10.23750/abm.v88i4.5316
- Yang J, Chang SS, Poon WB. Relationship Between Amino Acid and Energy Intake and Long-Term 21 Growth and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes in Very Low Birth Weight Infants. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2016; 40: 820-826 [PMID: 25690346 DOI: 10.1177/0148607115572833]
- 22 Kashaki M, Samghabadi FM, Bordbar A. Effect of Fortification of Breast Milk in Conjugation with Protein Supplement on Neurodevelopment of Preterm Low Birth Weight Infants at 3 Years. Med Arch 2019; 73: 344-350 [PMID: 31819309 DOI: 10.5455/medarh.2019.73.344-350]
- Dogra S, Thakur A, Garg P, Kler N. Effect of Differential Enteral Protein on Growth and 23 Neurodevelopment in Infants < 1500 g: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2017; 64: e126-e132 [PMID: 27801753 DOI: 10.1097/mpg.00000000001451]
- Roelants JA, Vlaardingerbroek H, van den Akker CHP, de Jonge RCJ, van Goudoever JB, 24 Vermeulen MJ. Two-Year Follow-up of a Randomized Controlled Nutrition Intervention Trial in Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2018; 42: 122-131 [PMID: 27875287 DOI: 10.1177/0148607116678196]
- Harris WS, Baack ML. Beyond building better brains: bridging the docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) gap 25 of prematurity. J Perinatol 2015; 35: 1-7 [PMID: 25357095 DOI: 10.1038/jp.2014.195]
- 26 Uauy R, Mena P. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation in preterm infants. Curr Opin Pediatr 2015; 27: 165-171 [PMID: 25689451 DOI: 10.1097/mop.000000000000203]
- Koletzko B. Human Milk Lipids. Ann Nutr Metab 2016; 69 Suppl 2: 28-40 [PMID: 28103608 DOI: 27 10.1159/000452819
- 28 Shulkin M, Pimpin L, Bellinger D, Kranz S, Fawzi W, Duggan C, Mozaffarian D. n-3 Fatty Acid Supplementation in Mothers, Preterm Infants, and Term Infants and Childhood Psychomotor and Visual Development: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Nutr 2018; 148: 409-418 [PMID: 29546296 DOI: 10.1093/jn/nxx031]
- 29 Wang Q, Cui Q, Yan C. The Effect of Supplementation of Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids During Lactation on Neurodevelopmental Outcomes of Preterm Infant From Infancy to School Age: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Pediatr Neurol 2016; 59: 54-61.e1 [PMID: 27318249 DOI: 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2016.02.017
- Thanhaeuser M, Fuiko R, Oberleitner-Leeb C, Brandstaetter S, Binder C, Thajer A, Huber-Dangl M, 30 Haiden N, Pablik E, Berger A, Repa A. A Randomized Trial of Parenteral Nutrition Using a Mixed Lipid Emulsion Containing Fish Oil in Infants of Extremely Low Birth Weight: Neurodevelopmental Outcome at 12 and 24 Months Corrected Age, A Secondary Outcome Analysis. J Pediatr 2020 [PMID: 32590001 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.06.056]
- 31 Alshweki A, Muñuzuri AP, Baña AM, de Castro MJ, Andrade F, Aldamiz-Echevarría L, de Pipaón MS, Fraga JM, Couce ML. Effects of different arachidonic acid supplementation on psychomotor development in very preterm infants; a randomized controlled trial. Nutr J 2015; 14: 101 [PMID: 26424477 DOI: 10.1186/s12937-015-0091-3]
- 32 Moon K, Rao SC, Schulzke SM, Patole SK, Simmer K. Longchain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2016; 12: CD000375 [PMID: 27995607 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000375.pub5]
- 33 Koletzko B, Bergmann K, Brenna JT, Calder PC, Campoy C, Clandinin MT, Colombo J, Daly M, Decsi T, Demmelmair H, Domellöf M, FidlerMis N, Gonzalez-Casanova I, van Goudoever JB, Hadjipanayis A, Hernell O, Lapillonne A, Mader S, Martin CR, Matthäus V, Ramakrishan U, Smuts CM, Strain SJJ, Tanjung C, Tounian P, Carlson SE. Should formula for infants provide arachidonic acid along with DHA? Am J Clin Nutr 2020; 111: 10-16 [PMID: 31665201 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz252]
- 34 Walsh V, Brown JVE, McGuire W. Iodine supplementation for the prevention of mortality and adverse neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 2: CD005253 [PMID: 30802939 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005253.pub3]
- Cacho NT, Lawrence RM. Innate Immunity and Breast Milk. Front Immunol 2017; 8: 584 [PMID: 35 28611768 DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00584]
- Choudhury V, Amin SB, Agarwal A, Srivastava LM, Soni A, Saluja S. Latent iron deficiency at 36 birth influences auditory neural maturation in late preterm and term infants. Am J Clin Nutr 2015; 102: 1030-1034 [PMID: 26310540 DOI: 10.3945/ajcn.115.113084]
- 37 Andreas NJ, Kampmann B, Mehring Le-Doare K. Human breast milk: A review on its composition and bioactivity. Early Hum Dev 2015; 91: 629-635 [PMID: 26375355 DOI: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2015.08.013]
- 38 Paramasivam K, Michie C, Opara E, Jewell AP. Human breast milk immunology: a review. Int J Fertil Womens Med 2006; 51: 208-217 [PMID: 17269587]



- 39 Donovan S. Role of human milk components in gastrointestinal development: Current knowledge and future NEEDS. J Pediatr 2006: 149: S49-S61
- 40 Alzaree FA, AbuShady MM, Atti MA, Fathy GA, Galal EM, Ali A, Elias TR. Effect of Early Breast Milk Nutrition on Serum Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 in Preterm Infants. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2019; 7: 77-81 [PMID: 30740165 DOI: 10.3889/oamjms.2019.035]
- Li R, Xia W, Zhang Z, Wu K. S100B protein, brain-derived neurotrophic factor, and glial cell line-41 derived neurotrophic factor in human milk. PLoS One 2011; 6: e21663 [PMID: 21738758 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021663
- 42 Koo W, Tank S, Martin S, Shi R. Human milk and neurodevelopment in children with very low birth weight: a systematic review. Nutr J 2014; 13: 94 [PMID: 25231364 DOI: 10.1186/1475-2891-13-94]
- 43 Gibertoni D, Corvaglia L, Vandini S, Rucci P, Savini S, Alessandroni R, Sansavini A, Fantini MP, Faldella G. Positive effect of human milk feeding during NICU hospitalization on 24 mo neurodevelopment of very low birth weight infants: an Italian cohort study. PLoS One 2015; 10: e0116552 [PMID: 25590630 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116552]
- Strømmen K, Blakstad EW, Moltu SJ, Almaas AN, Westerberg AC, Amlien IK, Rønnestad AE, 44 Nakstad B, Drevon CA, Bjørnerud A, Courivaud F, Hol PK, Veierød MB, Fjell AM, Walhovd KB, Iversen PO. Enhanced nutrient supply to very low birth weight infants is associated with improved white matter maturation and head growth. Neonatology 2015; 107: 68-75 [PMID: 25401387 DOI: 10.1159/0003681811
- Blakstad EW, Strømmen K, Moltu SJ, Wattam-Bell J, Nordheim T, Almaas AN, Grønn M, 45 Rønnestad AE, Brække K, Iversen PO, von Hofsten C, Veierød MB, Westerberg AC, Drevon CA, Nakstad B. Improved Visual Perception in Very Low Birth Weight Infants on Enhanced Nutrient Supply. Neonatology 2015; 108: 30-37 [PMID: 25967892 DOI: 10.1159/000381660]
- Blesa M, Sullivan G, Anblagan D, Telford EJ, Quigley AJ, Sparrow SA, Serag A, Semple SI, Bastin 46 ME, Boardman JP. Early breast milk exposure modifies brain connectivity in preterm infants. Neuroimage 2019; 184: 431-439 [PMID: 30240903 DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.09.045]
- 47 Hård AL, Nilsson AK, Lund AM, Hansen-Pupp I, Smith LEH, Hellström A. Review shows that donor milk does not promote the growth and development of preterm infants as well as maternal milk. Acta Paediatr 2019; 108: 998-1007 [PMID: 30565323 DOI: 10.1111/apa.14702]
- Bergner EM, Shypailo R, Visuthranukul C, Hagan J, O'Donnell AR, Hawthorne KM, Abrams SA, 48 Hair AB. Growth, Body Composition, and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes at 2 Years Among Preterm Infants Fed an Exclusive Human Milk Diet in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit: A Pilot Study. Breastfeed Med 2020; 15: 304-311 [PMID: 32298596 DOI: 10.1089/bfm.2019.0210]
- O'Connor DL, Gibbins S, Kiss A, Bando N, Brennan-Donnan J, Ng E, Campbell DM, Vaz S, Fusch 49 C, Asztalos E, Church P, Kelly E, Ly L, Daneman A, Unger S; GTA DoMINO Feeding Group. Effect of Supplemental Donor Human Milk Compared With Preterm Formula on Neurodevelopment of Very Low-Birth-Weight Infants at 18 Months: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2016; 316: 1897-1905 [PMID: 27825008 DOI: 10.1001/jama.2016.16144]
- 50 Quigley M, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Formula vs donor breast milk for feeding preterm or low birth weight infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 7: CD002971 [PMID: 31322731 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002971.pub5
- Walsh V, Brown JVE, Askie LM, Embleton ND, McGuire W. Nutrient-enriched formula vs standard formula for preterm infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2019; 7: CD004204 [PMID: 31314903 DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004204.pub3]
- Li B, Wu RY, Horne RG, Ahmed A, Lee D, Robinson SC, Zhu H, Lee C, Cadete M, Johnson-Henry 52 KC, Landberg E, Alganabi M, Abrahamsson T, Delgado-Olguin P, Pierro A, Sherman PM. Human Milk Oligosaccharides Protect against Necrotizing Enterocolitis by Activating Intestinal Cell Differentiation. Mol Nutr Food Res 2020; 64: e2000519 [PMID: 32926533 DOI: 10.1002/mnfr.202000519]
- 53 Sodhi CP, Wipf P, Yamaguchi Y, Fulton WB, Kovler M, Niño DF, Zhou Q, Banfield E, Werts AD, Ladd MR, Buck RH, Goehring KC, Prindle T Jr, Wang S, Jia H, Lu P, Hackam DJ. The human milk oligosaccharides 2'-fucosyllactose and 6'-sialyllactose protect against the development of necrotizing enterocolitis by inhibiting toll-like receptor 4 signaling. Pediatr Res 2021; 89: 91-101 [PMID: 32221473 DOI: 10.1038/s41390-020-0852-31
- Nolan LS, Rimer JM, Good M. The Role of Human Milk Oligosaccharides and Probiotics on the 54 Neonatal Microbiome and Risk of Necrotizing Enterocolitis: A Narrative Review. Nutrients 2020; 12 [PMID: 33036184 DOI: 10.3390/nu12103052]
- 55 Torres Roldan VD, Urtecho S M, Gupta J, Yonemitsu C, Cárcamo CP, Bode L, Ochoa TJ. Human milk oligosaccharides and their association with late-onset neonatal sepsis in Peruvian very-low-birthweight infants. Am J Clin Nutr 2020; 112: 106-112 [PMID: 32401307 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa102]
- 56 Fleming SA, Mudd AT, Hauser J, Yan J, Metairon S, Steiner P, Donovan SM, Dilger RN. Human and Bovine Milk Oligosaccharides Elicit Improved Recognition Memory Concurrent With Alterations in Regional Brain Volumes and Hippocampal mRNA Expression. Front Neurosci 2020; 14: 770 [PMID: 32903658 DOI: 10.3389/fnins.2020.00770]
- 57 Jorgensen JM, Young R, Ashorn P, Ashorn U, Chaima D, Davis JCC, Goonatilleke E, Kumwenda C, Lebrilla CB, Maleta K, Prado EL, Sadalaki J, Totten SM, Wu LD, Zivkovic AM, Dewey KG. Associations of human milk oligosaccharides and bioactive proteins with infant growth and development among Malawian mother-infant dyads. Am J Clin Nutr 2020 [PMID: 33096556 DOI: 10.1093/ajcn/nqaa272]



- 58 Arboleya S, Sánchez B, Milani C, Duranti S, Solís G, Fernández N, de los Reyes-Gavilán CG, Ventura M, Margolles A, Gueimonde M. Intestinal microbiota development in preterm neonates and effect of perinatal antibiotics. J Pediatr 2015; 166: 538-544 [PMID: 25444008 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.09.041]
- Jia J, Xun P, Wang X, He K, Tang Q, Zhang T, Wang Y, Tang W, Lu L, Yan W, Wang W, Hu T, Cai 59 W. Impact of Postnatal Antibiotics and Parenteral Nutrition on the Gut Microbiota in Preterm Infants During Early Life. JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2020; 44: 639-654 [PMID: 31452218 DOI: 10.1002/jpen.1695]
- 60 Keunen K, van Elburg RM, van Bel F, Benders MJ. Impact of nutrition on brain development and its neuroprotective implications following preterm birth. Pediatr Res 2015; 77: 148-155 [PMID: 25314585 DOI: 10.1038/pr.2014.171]
- Robertson C, Savva GM, Clapuci R, Jones J, Maimouni H, Brown E, Minocha A, Hall LJ, Clarke P. 61 Incidence of necrotising enterocolitis before and after introducing routine prophylactic Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium probiotics. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2020; 105: 380-386 [PMID: 31666311 DOI: 10.1136/archdischild-2019-317346]
- 62 van den Akker CHP, van Goudoever JB, Shamir R, Domellöf M, Embleton ND, Hojsak I, Lapillonne A, Mihatsch WA, Berni Canani R, Bronsky J, Campoy C, Fewtrell MS, Fidler Mis N, Guarino A, Hulst JM, Indrio F, Kolaček S, Orel R, Vandenplas Y, Weizman Z, Szajewska H. Probiotics and Preterm Infants: A Position Paper by the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition Committee on Nutrition and the European Society for Paediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition Working Group for Probiotics and Prebiotics. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2020; 70: 664-680 [PMID: 32332478 DOI: 10.1097/MPG.000000000002655
- Raghuram K, Yang J, Church PT, Cieslak Z, Synnes A, Mukerji A, Shah PS; Canadian Neonatal 63 Network; Canadian Neonatal Follow-Up Network Investigators. Head Growth Trajectory and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes in Preterm Neonates. Pediatrics 2017; 140 [PMID: 28759409 DOI: 10.1542/peds.2017-0216
- Taine M, Charles MA, Beltrand J, Rozé JC, Léger J, Botton J, Heude B. Early postnatal growth and 64 neurodevelopment in children born moderately preterm or small for gestational age at term: A systematic review. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2018; 32: 268-280 [PMID: 29691880 DOI: 10.1111/ppe.12468
- Hsu CT, Chen CH, Lin MC, Wang TM, Hsu YC. Post-discharge body weight and 65 neurodevelopmental outcomes among very low birth weight infants in Taiwan: A nationwide cohort study. PLoS One 2018; 13: e0192574 [PMID: 29444139 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192574]
- Chien HC, Chen CH, Wang TM, Hsu YC, Lin MC. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of infants with 66 very low birth weights are associated with the severity of their extra-uterine growth retardation. Pediatr Neonatol 2018; 59: 168-175 [PMID: 28866004 DOI: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2017.08.003]
- 67 Paviotti G, De Cunto A, Zennaro F, Boz G, Travan L, Cont G, Bua J, Demarini S. Higher growth, fat and fat-free masses correlate with larger cerebellar volumes in preterm infants at term. Acta Paediatr 2017; 106: 918-925 [PMID: 28295577 DOI: 10.1111/apa.13829]
- 68 Ramel SE, Gray HL, Christiansen E, Boys C, Georgieff MK, Demerath EW. Greater Early Gains in Fat-Free Mass, but Not Fat Mass, Are Associated with Improved Neurodevelopment at 1 Year Corrected Age for Prematurity in Very Low Birth Weight Preterm Infants. J Pediatr 2016; 173: 108-115 [PMID: 27056450 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2016.03.003]
- Frondas-Chauty A, Simon L, Flamant C, Hanf M, Darmaun D, Rozé JC. Deficit of Fat Free Mass in 69 Very Preterm Infants at Discharge is Associated with Neurological Impairment at Age 2 Years. J Pediatr 2018; 196: 301-304 [PMID: 29336797 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.12.017]
- 70 Hickey M, Georgieff M, Ramel S. Neurodevelopmental outcomes following necrotizing enterocolitis. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 2018; 23: 426-432 [PMID: 30145060 DOI: 10.1016/j.siny.2018.08.005]
- 71 Adams-Chapman I. Necrotizing Enterocolitis and Neurodevelopmental Outcome. Clin Perinatol 2018; 45: 453-466 [PMID: 30144849 DOI: 10.1016/j.clp.2018.05.014]
- Hsiao CC, Tsai ML, Chen CC, Lin HC. Early optimal nutrition improves neurodevelopmental 72 outcomes for very preterm infants. Nutr Rev 2014; 72: 532-540 [PMID: 24938866 DOI: 10.1111/nure.12110]
- 73 So S, Patterson C, Gold A, Rogers A, Belza C, de Silva N, Avitzur Y, Wales PW. Neurodevelopmental outcomes of infants with intestinal failure at 12 and 26 mo corrected age. Early Hum Dev 2019; 130: 38-43 [PMID: 30660017 DOI: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2018.12.020]
- Lucas A, Morley R, Cole TJ. Randomised trial of early diet in preterm babies and later intelligence 74 quotient. BMJ 1998; 317: 1481-1487 [PMID: 9831573 DOI: 10.1136/bmj.317.7171.1481]
- Hiltunen H, Löyttyniemi E, Isolauri E, Rautava S. Early Nutrition and Growth until the Corrected 75 Age of 2 Years in Extremely Preterm Infants. Neonatology 2018; 113: 100-107 [PMID: 29131014 DOI: 10.1159/0004806331
- 76 Strodtbeck F. The role of early enteral nutrition in protecting premature infants from sepsis. Crit Care Nurs Clin North Am 2003; 15: 79-87 [PMID: 12597043 DOI: 10.1016/s0899-5885(02)00043-6]
- 77 Hay WW. Optimizing nutrition of the preterm infant. Zhongguo Dangdai Erke Zazhi 2017; 19: 1-21 [PMID: 28100316]
- Kwok TC, Dorling J, Gale C. Early enteral feeding in preterm infants. Semin Perinatol 2019; 43: 78 151159 [PMID: 31443906 DOI: 10.1053/j.semperi.2019.06.007]
- 79 Ng DV, Brennan-Donnan J, Unger S, Bando N, Gibbins S, Nash A, Kiss A, O'Connor DL. How



Close Are We to Achieving Energy and Nutrient Goals for Very Low Birth Weight Infants in the First Week? JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr 2017; 41: 500-506 [PMID: 26160253 DOI: 10.1177/0148607115594674]



Baishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

W J M

World Journal of Methodology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Methodol 2021 November 20; 11(6): 294-301

DOI: 10.5662/wjm.v11.i6.294

ISSN 2222-0682 (online)

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

Retrospective Study

Comparison of indirect immunofluorescence and western blot method in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections

Tatjana Vilibic-Cavlek, Ljubo Barbic, Vladimir Stevanovic, Vladimir Savic, Anna Mrzljak, Maja Bogdanic, Irena Tabain

ORCID number: Tatjana Vilibic-Cavlek 0000-0002-1877-5547; Ljubo Barbic 0000-0002-5170-947X; Vladimir Stevanovic 0000-0002-9572-8760; Vladimir Savic 0000-0003-0398-5346; Anna Mrzljak 0000-0001-6270-2305; Maja Bogdanic 0000-0002-8236-3205; Irena Tabain 0000-0002-2518-522X.

Author contributions: Vilibic-

Cavlek T made contributions to the conception and design of the study and was involved in drafting and revising the manuscript; Stevanovic V, Savic V, Mrzljak A, and Bogdanic M were involved in collecting data and drafting and writing the manuscript; Barbic L and Tabain I revised the manuscript critically; All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Institutional review board

statement: The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Croatian Institute of Public Health, No. 030-02/17-10/1.

Informed consent statement: All study participants or their legal guardian provided informed written consent about personal and medical data collection prior to

Conflict-of-interest statement: All

Tatjana Vilibic-Cavlek, Anna Mrzljak, School of Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Tatjana Vilibic-Cavlek, Maja Bogdanic, Irena Tabain, Department of Virology, Croatian Institute of Public Health, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Ljubo Barbic, Vladimir Stevanovic, Department of Microbiology and Infectious Diseases with Clinic, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Zagreb, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Vladimir Savic, Poultry Centre, Croatian Veterinary Institute, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Anna Mrzljak, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, University Hospital Zagreb, Zagreb 10000, Croatia

Corresponding author: Tatjana Vilibic-Cavlek, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Virology, Croatian Institute of Public Health, Rockefellerova 12, Zagreb 10000, Croatia. tatjana.vilibic-cavlek@hzjz.hr

Abstract

BACKGROUND

Serologic cross-reactivity between hantaviruses often complicates the interpretation of the results.

AIM

To analyze the diagnostic value of indirect immunofluorescence assay (IFA) and western blot (WB) in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections.

METHODS

One hundred eighty-eight serum samples from Puumala (PUUV) and Dobrava (DOBV) orthohantavirus infected patients were analyzed. Serology was performed using commercial tests (Euroimmun, Lübeck, Germany).

RESULTS

Using IFA, 49.5% of acute-phase samples showed a monotypic response to PUUV, while 50.5% cross-reacted with other hantaviruses. The overall cross-reactivity was higher for immunoglobulin G (IgG) (50.0%) than for immunoglobulin M (IgM) (25.5%). PUUV IgM/IgG antibodies showed low/moderate reactivity with orthohantaviruses Hantaan (12.3%/31.5%), Seoul (7.5%/17.8%), DOBV (5.4%/



study enrolment.

authors declare no conflict of interest.

Data sharing statement: No sharing data.

Open-Access: This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: htt p://creativecommons.org/License s/by-nc/4.0/

Provenance and peer review:

Invited article; Externally peer reviewed

Specialty type: Medical laboratory technology

Country/Territory of origin: Croatia

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

Received: January 2, 2021 Peer-review started: January 2, 2021

First decision: July 8, 2021 Revised: July 16, 2021 Accepted: August 31, 2021 Article in press: August 31, 2021 Published online: November 20, 2021

P-Reviewer: Khan S S-Editor: Fan JR L-Editor: Filipodia P-Editor: Guo X



28.1%), and Saaremaa (4.8%/15.7%). Both DOBV IgM and IgG antibodies were broadly reactive with Hantaan (76.2%/95.2%), Saaremaa (80.9%/83.3%), and Seoul (78.6%/85.7%) and moderate with PUUV (28.5%/38.1%). Using a WB, serotyping was successful in most cross-reactive samples (89.5%).

CONCLUSION

The presented results indicate that WB is more specific than IFA in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections, confirming serotype in most IFA cross-reactive samples.

Key Words: Hantaviruses; Serology; Cross-reactivity; Indirect immunofluorescence; Western blot

©The Author(s) 2021. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Core Tip: Serologic cross-reactivity among hantaviruses often complicates the interpretation of the results. The overall cross-reactivity is generally higher for immunoglobulin G antibodies than for immunoglobulin M antibodies. Western blot seems to be a more specific serology method than indirect immunofluorescence assay in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections, confirming serotype in the majority of cross-reactive samples detected by indirect immunofluorescence assay.

Citation: Vilibic-Cavlek T, Barbic L, Stevanovic V, Savic V, Mrzljak A, Bogdanic M, Tabain I. Comparison of indirect immunofluorescence and western blot method in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections. *World J Methodol* 2021; 11(6): 294-301 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/2222-0682/full/v11/i6/294.htm

DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.5662/wjm.v11.i6.294

INTRODUCTION

Hantaviruses represent a group of serologically related rodent-borne RNA viruses that belong to the genus *Orthohantavirus* of the family *Hantaviridae*. Two different diseases, hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) and hantavirus pulmonary syndrome (HPS), are caused by hantaviruses in humans[1]. Orthohantaviruses Hantaan (HTNV), Dobrava (DOBV), Puumala (PUUV), Seoul (SEOV), and Saaremaa (SAAV) cause HFRS with varying degrees of severity. While HTNV and DOBV cause a severe form of HFRS in Asia and Europe, SEOV causes less severe disease worldwide[2,3]. SAAV is also found to be responsible for a relatively mild human disease in Europe[4]. PUUV is a causative agent of nephropathia epidemica, the mildest form of the disease, endemic in Western Europe and Scandinavia[2].

Diagnostic methods for hantavirus infections include serology, reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), immunohistochemistry, and virus isolation [5].

[5]. Vero E6 cell culture has been used to isolate hantaviruses causing HFRS and HPS. Hantaviruses usually are not cytopathic in cultured cells; therefore, the detection of infection is confirmed using an immunofluorescence antibody test for viral antigen. Virus isolation is not performed as part of routine hantavirus diagnostics, since it is laborious and time-consuming and requires biosafety level 3 and 4 laboratories[6].

Serology is the main method for the diagnosis due to the hazardous nature of hantaviruses and a short-term viremia in infected humans[7,8]. Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and indirect immunofluorescence assay (IFA) are broadly used serologic tests used for detection of hantavirus immunoglobulin M (IgM) and immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies[9]. Immunoblot tests [western blot (WB) and line immunoassay] are also used in some laboratories[10].

Hantavirus nucleocapsid (N) protein is the major antigen in early humoral response in patients with hantavirus infection[11,12]. N protein is highly cross-reactive between different hantaviruses due to its conserved nature[11,13]. Overall, serologic crossreactivity within the genus *Orthohantavirus* is the highest among viruses associated with (phylo)genetically closely related rodent species. DOBV is genetically and antigenetically related to other orthohantaviruses transmitted by *Murinae* rodents (Old

World mice and rats) such as HTNV, SEOV, and SAAV. PUUV is more distantly related to this group since its reservoirs belong to the *Arvicollinae* rodents (voles and lemmings)[14-16]. The interpretation of serology results is often complicated by the cross-reactivity, especially in areas where different hantaviruses co-circulate. Virus neutralization test is still the gold standard serologic test. Since this test has to be performed in biosafety level 3 laboratory, it is confined mainly to the reference laboratories[17].

Molecular diagnostic methods, including classic and real-time RT-PCR, are also widely used for the diagnosis of hantaviruses. Hantavirus RNA is detectable in blood early after the onset of symptoms; therefore, RT-PCR is a sensitive method for detecting hantavirus infections before the appearance of IgM antibodies. Primers specific for the hantavirus S and M segments have been used in different studies. The advantage of the molecular methods is that the RT-PCR product may be sequenced to identify the virus and perform phylogenetic analysis[5,18].

In Croatia, PUUV and DOBV have been demonstrated in humans[19-23], while SAAV and Tula orthohantavirus were also documented in rodents[24,25]. This study aimed to analyze the diagnostic value of IFA and WB methods in the diagnosis of hantavirus infections.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A total of 188 serum samples from patients with serologically confirmed acute hantavirus infection (2015-2019) tested at the National Reference Laboratory for Arboviruses and Hantaviruses, Croatian Institute of Public Health were included in the study. Serologic tests were performed using a commercial IFA (Hantavirus mosaic; Euroimmun, Lübeck, Germany) to detect IgM/IgG antibodies of the most common hantaviruses: PUUV, DOBV, HTNV, SEOV, and SAAV. A fluorescence occurring as fine droplets in the cytoplasm of infected cells in a dilution 1:100 was considered a positive result.

Cross-reactive samples were further tested for hantavirus IgG antibodies using a WB (Euroline Hantavirus profile, Euroimmun). WB test strips were coated with nucleocapsid PUUV; DOBV and HTNV antigens. Band signal intensity at least as of IgG control was considered a positive result. According to the band intensity, results were interpreted as follows: strong positive-very strong band (+++); positive-medium to strong band (+/++); borderline-very weak band (+/-).

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Croatian Institute of Public Health (Decision number: 030-02/17-10/1). Informed consent was obtained from all subjects included in the study.

RESULTS

PUUV was confirmed in 146 (77.6%) and DOBV in 42 (32.4%). Using IFA, 93 (49.5%) of 188 acute-phase serum samples reacted only with the homologous PUUV antigen, while in 95 (50.5%) samples, cross-reactive IgM and/or IgG antibodies were found. The overall cross-reactivity was higher for IgG antibodies (94/188; 50.0%) than for IgM antibodies (48/188; 25.5%). Among 95 cross-reactive samples, 55 (57.9%) were confirmed as PUUV and 30 (31.6%) samples as DOBV using a WB.

Cross-reactive patterns to different hantavirus antigens in PUUV- and DOBVinfected patients detected using IFA are presented in Figures 1 and 2. Among PUUV positive samples, a low/very low IgM reactivity was observed with HTNV (18/146; 12.3%), SEOV (11/146; 7.5%), DOBV (8/146; 5.4%), and SAAV (7/146; 4.8%). PUUV IgG antibodies showed a moderate reactivity with HTNV (46/146; 31.5%) and DOBV (41/146; 28.1%), while reactivity with SEOV and SAAV was low (26/146; 17.8% and 23/146; 15.7%, respectively).

In DOBV positive samples, both IgM and IgG antibodies showed a high degree of cross-reactivity. Among IgM positive samples, the highest cross-reactivity was observed with SAAV (34/42; 80.9%), 33/42 (78.6%) with SEOV, and 32/42 (76.2%) with HTNV. In 12 samples (28.5%), cross-reactive antibodies with PUUV were found. DOBV IgG antibodies showed the highest reactivity with HTNV (40/42; 95.2%). Almost equally high reactivity was found with SEOV and SAAV (36/42; 85.7% and 35/42, 83.3%, respectively), and moderate reactivity was found with PUUV (16/42; 38.1%). The majority of DOBV-positive samples (IgM 24/42, 57.1%; IgG 35/42; 83.3%) showed reactivity with all three hantavirus antigens (HTNV + SEOV + SAAV).





Figure 1 Cross-reactive patterns of hantavirus immunoglobulin M and immunoglobulin G antibodies in Puumala-infected patients by indirect immunofluorescence assay. PUUV: Puumala; DOBV: Dobrava; HTNV: Hantaan; SEOV: Seoul; SAAV: Saaremaa; Ig: Immunoglobulin.



Figure 2 Cross-reactive patterns of hantavirus immunoglobulin M and immunoglobulin G antibodies in Dobrava-infected patients by indirect immunofluorescence assay. PUUV: Puumala; DOBV: Dobrava; HTNV: Hantaan; SEOV: Seoul; SAAV: Saaremaa; Ig: Immunoglobulin.

> Forty-six of 172 (24.5%) IgG-positive samples cross-reacted with other hantaviruses by WB. However, based on signal intensity, a very strong band to the homologous viral antigen was observed in most cross-reactive samples compared to a weak/medium band of the related hantavirus antigens (Figure 3). Among PUUV positive samples, 8 (5.5%) tested borderline to HTNV and 10 (6.8%) to DOBV. Among DOBV positive samples, 19 (45.2%) tested positive/borderline to HTNV and 5 (9.5%) to PUUV. Only 8 PUUV positive samples (5.5%) showed a very strong band to PUUV and DOBV antigens. Additionally, two DOBV positive samples (4.7%) showed a very strong band to both DOBV and HTNV antigens (Table 1). The detection of PUUV and DOBV IgM antibodies by IFA in these samples indicated acute PUUV and DOBV infection, respectively.

DISCUSSION

Results of this study indicated broadly cross-reactive patterns of hantaviruses detected by IFA, which were found to be much higher for DOBV compared to PUUV. One published multicenter study on the simultaneous detection of hantaviruses showed a high cross-reactivity of serum samples from DOBV-infected patients with SAAV, HTNV, and SEOV (60%-100%), while cross-reactivity with PUUV was moderate (up to



Table 1 Cross-reactive patterns of hantavirus immunoglobulin G antibodies by western blot					
Band intensity	PUUV	HTNV	DOBV		
PUUV-infected patients (<i>n</i> = 146)					
Strong positive $(+++)^1$	-	0 (0%)	8 (5.5%)		
Positive $(+, ++)^2$	-	0 (0%)	0 (0%)		
Borderline (+/-) ³	-	8 (5.5%)	10 (6.8%)		
DOBV-infected patients ($n = 42$)					
Strong positive (+++) ¹	0 (0%)	2 (4.7%)	-		
Positive $(+, ++)^2$	1 (2.4%)	8 (19.0%)	-		
Borderline $(+/-)^3$	4 (9.5%)	11 (26.2%)	-		

¹Very strong band.

²Medium to strong band.

³Very weak band.

PUUV: Puumala; DOBV: Dobrava; HTNV: Hantaan.



Figure 3 Western blot analysis of Puumala and Dobrava- infected patients. The test strips were coated with the affinity purified nucleocapsid Puumala (PUUV); Dobrava (DOBV) and Hantaan (HTNV) antigen. A correctly performed test for immunoglobulin (Ig)G antibodies against hantavirus antigens is indicated by a positive reaction of the control band and the IgG band. Some samples (strips 1, 3, 5, 6, 8-10) cross-reacted with other hantaviruses, however, based on signal intensity, a very strong band to the homologous virus antigen was detected compared to a very weak/weak band of the related hantavirus antigens.

> 43%) using IFA[26]. This study observed a remarkably high cross-reactivity for both DOBV IgM/IgG antibodies with SAAV, HTNV, and SEOV antigens (IgM 76.2%-80.9%, IgG 83.3%-95.2%). In addition, 57.1% IgM and 83.3% IgG positive samples crossreacted with all three hantavirus antigens. These results are in accordance with the phylogenetic relatedness of hantaviruses. However, a substantial cross-reactivity was also found with PUUV (IgM 28.5%, IgG 38.1%), although PUUV is phylogenetically

distantly from DOBV.

IgM/IgG antibodies of PUUV-infected Croatian patients reacted moderately with HTNV (12.3%/31.5%). In a study by Lederer *et al*[26], even higher cross-reactivity between PUUV and HTNV IgM/IgG was found (49%/79%), while the reactivity to other tested hantaviruses was low, similar to our results.

In this study, a lower degree of cross-reactivity was also found by WB (24.5%). However, in all but 8 samples, differentiation of hantavirus serotype was possible based on powerful signal intensity to homologous antigen compared to weak/medium signal intensity to heterologous antigens. Some other studies which used WB for result confirmation showed similar results[27,28].

Since the clinical course and prognosis differ in PUUV and DOBV infection, the determination of hantavirus serotype is important for diagnosing acute HFRS cases. In addition, due to specific rodent hosts, identification of currently circulating hantavirus serotype is also useful for planning rodent control programs. Using IFA, serotype identification in seroepidemiological studies is often difficult because of extensive cross-reactivity among IgG antibodies. In DOBV infected individuals, considerable cross-reactivity was also observed between IgM antibodies. Using WB, differentiation of hantavirus serotype was possible in most cases by comparing the signal intensity in most IFA cross-reactive samples.

CONCLUSION

Although cross-reactivity among hantaviruses was detected in both IFA and WB, the results of this study showed that WB seems to be more specific than IFA, confirming hantavirus serotype in 89.5% of cross-reactive samples detected by IFA.

ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS

Research background

The cross-reactivity among hantaviruses often complicates the interpretation of serology results, especially in areas where different hantaviruses co-circulate.

Research motivation

Data on the comparison of different serologic methods in the diagnosis of hantaviruses are scarce.

Research objectives

This study aimed to analyze the diagnostic value of indirect immunofluorescence (IFA) and western blot (WB) methods in diagnosing hantavirus infections.

Research methods

A commercial IFA was used to detect immunoglobulin M (IgM)/immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies to the most common orthohantaviruses: Puumala (PUUV), Dobrava (DOBV), Hantaan (HTNV), Seoul (SEOV), and Saaremaa (SAAV). Cross-reactive samples were additionally tested by a commercial WB using PUUV, DOBV, and HTNV antigens.

Research results

Using IFA, 49.5% of acute-phase serum samples reacted only with the homologous PUUV antigen, while in 50.5% samples, cross-reactive IgM and/or IgG antibodies were found. PUUV IgM/IgG antibodies cross-reacted with HTNV (12.3%/31.5%), SEOV (7.5%/17.8%), DOBV (5.4%/28.1%), and SAAV (4.8%/15.7%). Both DOBV IgM and IgG antibodies were broadly reactive with HTNV (76.2%/95.2%), SAAV (80.9%/83.3%), and SEOV (78.6%/85.7%) and moderate with PUUV (28.5%/38.1%). Using a WB, serotyping was successful in 89.5% cross-reactive samples.

Research conclusions

WB seems to be more specific than IFA, confirming hantavirus serotype in the majority of cross-reactive samples detected by IFA.

aishideng® WJM | https://www.wjgnet.com

Research perspectives

Further studies on a large sample caused by different hantavirus serotypes are needed.

REFERENCES

- 1 Manigold T, Vial P. Human hantavirus infections: epidemiology, clinical features, pathogenesis and immunology. Swiss Med Wkly 2014; 144: w13937 [PMID: 24652684 DOI: 10.4414/smw.2014.13937
- Fulhorst CF, Bowen MD. Hantaviruses. In: Versalovic J, Carroll KC, Funke G, Jorgensen JH, 2 Landry ML, Warnock DW, editors. Manual of Clinical Microbiology. DC, Washington: ASM Press, 2011: 1504-13
- Heyman P, Baert K, Plyusnina A, Cochez C, Lundkvist A, Esbroeck MV, Goossens E, Vandenvelde C, Plyusnin A, Stuyck J. Serological and genetic evidence for the presence of Seoul hantavirus in Rattus norvegicus in Flanders, Belgium. Scand J Infect Dis 2009; 41: 51-56 [PMID: 18821445 DOI: 10.1080/00365540802459994
- Plyusnin A, Vaheri A, Lundkvist A. Saaremaa hantavirus should not be confused with its dangerous relative, Dobrava virus. J Clin Microbiol 2006; 44: 1608-9; author reply 1609 [PMID: 16597913 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.44.4.1608-1611.20061
- Mattar S, Guzmán C, Figueiredo LT. Diagnosis of hantavirus infection in humans. Expert Rev Anti 5 Infect Ther 2015; 13: 939-946 [PMID: 26091780 DOI: 10.1586/14787210.2015.1047825]
- Galeno H, Mora J, Villagra E, Fernandez J, Hernandez J, Mertz GJ, Ramirez E. First human isolate of Hantavirus (Andes virus) in the Americas. Emerg Infect Dis 2002; 8: 657-661 [PMID: 12095430 DOI: 10.3201/eid0807.010277]
- Hujakka H, Koistinen V, Kuronen I, Eerikäinen P, Parviainen M, Lundkvist A, Vaheri A, Vapalahti 7 O, Närvänen A. Diagnostic rapid tests for acute hantavirus infections: specific tests for Hantaan, Dobrava and Puumala viruses vs a hantavirus combination test. J Virol Methods 2003; 108: 117-122 [PMID: 12565162 DOI: 10.1016/s0166-0934(02)00282-3]
- Meisel H, Wolbert A, Razanskiene A, Marg A, Kazaks A, Sasnauskas K, Pauli G, Ulrich R, Krüger 8 DH. Development of novel immunoglobulin G (IgG), IgA, and IgM enzyme immunoassays based on recombinant Puumala and Dobrava hantavirus nucleocapsid proteins. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2006; 13: 1349-1357 [PMID: 17021245 DOI: 10.1128/CVI.00208-06]
- Biel SS, Donoso Mantke O, Lemmer K, Vaheri A, Lundkvist A, Emmerich P, Hukic M, Niedrig M. 9 Quality control measures for the serological diagnosis of hantavirus infections. J Clin Virol 2003; 28: 248-256 [PMID: 14522063 DOI: 10.1016/s1386-6532(03)00009-x]
- 10 Oldal M, Németh V, Madai M, Kemenesi G, Dallos B, Péterfi Z, Sebők J, Wittmann I, Bányai K, Jakab F. Identification of hantavirus infection by Western blot assay and TaqMan PCR in patients hospitalized with acute kidney injury. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2014; 79: 166-170 [PMID: 24703877 DOI: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2014.01.032]
- Kallio-Kokko H, Leveelahti R, Brummer-Korvenkontio M, Lundkvist A, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O. 11 Human immune response to Puumala virus glycoproteins and nucleocapsid protein expressed in mammalian cells. J Med Virol 2001; 65: 605-613 [PMID: 11596100]
- 12 Tischler ND, Rosemblatt M, Valenzuela PD. Characterization of cross-reactive and serotype-specific epitopes on the nucleocapsid proteins of hantaviruses. Virus Res 2008; 135: 1-9 [PMID: 18342973 DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2008.01.013]
- Lindkvist M, Näslund J, Ahlm C, Bucht G. Cross-reactive and serospecific epitopes of nucleocapsid 13 proteins of three hantaviruses: prospects for new diagnostic tools. Virus Res 2008; 137: 97-105 [PMID: 18620010 DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2008.06.003]
- 14 Plyusnin A. Genetics of hantaviruses: implications to taxonomy. Arch Virol 2002; 147: 665-682 [PMID: 12038679 DOI: 10.1007/s007050200017]
- 15 Yoshimatsu K, Arikawa J. Antigenic properties of N protein of hantavirus. Viruses 2014; 6: 3097-3109 [PMID: 25123683 DOI: 10.3390/v6083097]
- 16 Yoshimatsu K, Arikawa J. Serological diagnosis with recombinant N antigen for hantavirus infection. Virus Res 2014; 187: 77-83 [PMID: 24487183 DOI: 10.1016/j.virusres.2013.12.040]
- 17 Li W, Cao S, Zhang Q, Li J, Zhang S, Wu W, Qu J, Li C, Liang M, Li D. Comparison of serological assays to titrate Hantaan and Seoul hantavirus-specific antibodies. Virol J 2017; 14: 133 [PMID: 28720142 DOI: 10.1186/s12985-017-0799-0]
- Evander M, Eriksson I, Pettersson L, Juto P, Ahlm C, Olsson GE, Bucht G, Allard A. Puumala 18 hantavirus viremia diagnosed by real-time reverse transcriptase PCR using samples from patients with hemorrhagic fever and renal syndrome. J Clin Microbiol 2007; 45: 2491-2497 [PMID: 17537944 DOI: 10.1128/JCM.01902-06]
- 19 Kuzman I, Markotić A, Turcinov D, Beus I. [An epidemic of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Croatia in 1995]. Lijec Vjesn 1997; 119: 311-315 [PMID: 9658776]
- Markotić A, Nichol ST, Kuzman I, Sanchez AJ, Ksiazek TG, Gagro A, Rabatić S, Zgorelec R, 20 Avsic-Zupane T, Beus I, Dekaris D. Characteristics of Puumala and Dobrava infections in Croatia. J Med Virol 2002; 66: 542-551 [PMID: 11857535 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.2179]
- Kuzman I, Puljiz I, Turcinov D, Markotić A, Turković B, Aleraj B, Andrić Z, Petković D, Tutek V, 21



Herendić B, Iskra M, Pandak N, Misetić Z, Perić L, Jelaska D, Majetić-Sekovanić M, Ledina D, Misić-Majerus L, Radonić R. [The biggest epidemic of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Croatia]. Acta Med Croatica 2003; 57: 337-346 [PMID: 15011458]

- 22 Vilibic-Cavlek T, Furic A, Barbic L, Tabain I, Stevanovic V, Mlinaric-Galinovic G. Clinical and virological characteristics of hantavirus infections in a 2014 Croatian outbreak. J Infect Dev Ctries 2017; 11: 73-80 [PMID: 28141593 DOI: 10.3855/jidc.7987]
- 23 Lovrić Z, Kolarić B, Kosanović Ličina ML, Tomljenović M, Đaković Rode O, Danis K, Kaić B, Tešić V. An outbreak of haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome linked with mountain recreational activities in Zagreb, Croatia, 2017. Epidemiol Infect 2018; 146: 1236-1239 [PMID: 29764527 DOI: 10.1017/S0950268818001231]
- 24 Plyusnina A, Krajinović LC, Margaletić J, Niemimaa J, Nemirov K, Lundkvist Å, Markotić A, Miletić-Medved M, Avšič-Županc T, Henttonen H, Plyusnin A. Genetic evidence for the presence of two distinct hantaviruses associated with Apodemus mice in Croatia and analysis of local strains. J Med Virol 2011; 83: 108-114 [PMID: 21108346 DOI: 10.1002/jmv.21929]
- Scharninghausen JJ, Pfeffer M, Meyer H, Davis DS, Honeycutt RL, Faulde M. Genetic evidence for 25 tula virus in Microtus arvalis and Microtus agrestis populations in Croatia. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis 2002; 2: 19-27 [PMID: 12656127 DOI: 10.1089/153036602760260742]
- Lederer S, Lattwein E, Hanke M, Sonnenberg K, Stoecker W, Lundkvist Å, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O, 26 Chan PK, Feldmann H, Dick D, Schmidt-Chanasit J, Padula P, Vial PA, Panculescu-Gatej R, Ceianu C, Heyman P, Avšič-Županc T, Niedrig M. Indirect immunofluorescence assay for the simultaneous detection of antibodies against clinically important old and new world hantaviruses. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2013; 7: e2157 [PMID: 23593524 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002157]
- Escadafal C, Avšič-Županc T, Vapalahti O, Niklasson B, Teichmann A, Niedrig M, Donoso-Mantke 27 O. Second external quality assurance study for the serological diagnosis of hantaviruses in Europe. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2012; 6: e1607 [PMID: 22509420 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001607]
- 28 Engler O, Klingstrom J, Aliyev E, Niederhauser C, Fontana S, Strasser M, Portmann J, Signer J, Bankoul S, Frey F, Hatz C, Stutz A, Tschaggelar A, Mutsch M. Seroprevalence of hantavirus infections in Switzerland in 2009: difficulties in determining prevalence in a country with low endemicity. Euro Surveill 2013; 18: 20660 [PMID: 24342520 DOI: 10.2807/1560-7917.es2013.18.50.20660




Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: bpgoffice@wjgnet.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

